
County Council Meeting
Beaufort County, SC 

Hilton Head Library, 11 Beach City Road, Hilton Head, SC 29926 

Monday, January 27, 2025 
6:00 PM 

AGENDA 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
ALICE HOWARD, CHAIRMAN  ANNA TABERNIK, VICE CHAIR 
DAVID P. BARTHOLOMEW       PAULA BROWN 

  LOGAN CUNNINGHAM             GERALD DAWSON 
  YORK GLOVER         MARK LAWSON 
  LAWRENCE McELYNN  JOE PASSIMENT 
THOMAS REITZ  

1. CALL TO ORDER: Alice Howard, Chair 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION: Council Member Mark Lawson 

3. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FOIA: Alice Howard, Chair 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

6. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT: Michael Moore, Administrator 

7. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD – 30 MINUTES TOTAL

8. LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS:

 Community Services Committee

 Natural Resources Committee

 Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee

 Public Facilities Committee

9. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA (Time Sensitive Items coming forward from the Public Facilities
Committee)

10. ORDINANCES FOR THIRD READING:

a. 2025/02 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTION A.6.40
(PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT (DCP) AND SECTION A.7.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO
ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE MIXED USE DISTRICT (DMU) Item
The item was approved without objection at the Community Services and Land Use Committee
Meeting on November 12, 2024. (Recusal: Councilman Dawson)

1



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

Vote at the First Reading on December 9, 2024 - 10:0:1 (Recusal: Councilman Dawson)  
Vote at Public Hearing and Second Reading on January 13, 2024 - 9:0:1 (Recusal: Councilman Dawson) 
 

b. 2025/03 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL 
NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF RIGHT-OF-WAY OR TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION 
EASEMENTS ON REAL PROPERTY ASSOCIATED WITH THE STUART POINT ROAD SIDEWALK PROJECT 
Vote at First Reading on December 9, 2024 - 11:0 
Vote at Public Hearing and Second Reading on January 13, 2025 - 10:0 
 

c. 2025/04 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER INTO A LEASE 
AGREEMENT WITH MITCHELVILLE PRESERVATION PROJECT, INC. FOR SUITE 134 AND SUITE 142 OF 
THE COUNTY-OWNED OFFICE BUILDING LOCATED AT 539 WILLIAM HILTON PARKWAY ON HILTON 
HEAD ISLAND 
Vote at First Reading on December 9, 2024 - 11:0 
Vote at Public Hearing and Second Reading January 13, 2025 - 10:0 

11. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING: 

a. 2025/06 AN ORDINANCE PLACING LAND PURCHASED BY PROJECT MICRO INTO AN EXISTING MULTI-
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL PARK 
Vote at First Reading on January 13, 2025 - 10:0 
(Public Hearing at Third Reading on February 10th to comply 15 day requirement)  
 

b. 2025/07 AN ORDINANCE FOR BEAUFORT COUNTY TO ENTER INTO A SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE 
CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH PROJECT MICRO 
Vote at First Reading on January 13, 2025 - 10:0 
(Public Hearing at Third Reading on February 10th to comply 15 day requirement) 

12. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING: 

a. 2025/08 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE 2024/36, CONVEYING PROPERTY TO BEAUFORT 
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND MEDICAL OFFICES IN 
BLUFFTON, SC. LOCATED AT 333 & 335 BUCKWALTER PARKWAY  
 

b. 2025/09 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY 
DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY 
IDENTIFIED AS TAX MAP SERIAL NUMBER R300 028 000 128B 000, 128C, 128D AND ALSO KNOWN AS 
SEASIDE ROAD PDR  

 

c. 2025/10 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY 
DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE FEE SIMPLE PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY IDENTIFIED 
AS TAX MAP SERIAL NUMBER R600-029-000-0054-0000 AND ALSO KNOWN AS DAVIS ROAD FEE  

13. RESOLUTIONS: 

a. 2025/01 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS 
NECESSARY AND TO PROVIDE FUNDS TO THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND FOR THEIR 
PROCUREMENT OF FEE SIMPLE REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON HILTON HEAD ISLAND, KNOWN AS THE 
JONESVILLE ROAD TRACT (PIN# R510 007 000 0091 0000), NOT TO EXCEED THE APPRAISED VALUE OF 
THE PROPERTY (FISCAL IMPACT: $2,187,000 from the Green Space Program Fund Account #4706-10-
0000-54400 Land Acquisition)   
 

2



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

b. 2025/02 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS 
NECESSARY AND TO PROVIDE FUNDS TO CONTRIBUTE TO THEIR PROCUREMENT OF FEE SIMPLE REAL 
PROPERTY LOCATED ON HILTON HEAD ISLAND, KNOWN AS THE WILLIAM HILTON PARKWAY TRACTS 
(PIN# R511 007 000 0060 0000, R511 007 000 060C 0000, R511 007 000 060A 0000, R511 007 000 
060B 0000, R511 007 000 192E 0000, R511 007 000 192C 0000), NOT TO EXCEED THE APPRAISED 
VALUE OF THE PROPERTY ($1,464,200) AND THAT ANY FUNDS RECEIVED FROM FUTURE RIGHT-OF-
WAY ACQUISITION GO BACK TO THE GREEN SPACE PROGRAM FUND.  (FISCAL IMPACT: $1,464,200) 
from the Green Space Program Fund Account #4706-10-0000-54400 Land Acquisition)  

 

c. 2025/03 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT FUNDING PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA ACT 226 FY 2024-
2025 STATE APPROPRIATIONS ACT IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,200,000 FOR THE ALLJOY BOAT LANDING 
IMPROVEMENT PROJECT (Time sensitive item coming forward from the Public Facilities Committee) 

14. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

a. PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) RECEIPT OF LEGAL ADVICE WHERE THE LEGAL 
ADVICE  RELATES TO PENDING LITIGATION (CHERYL A. MUNDAY AND MARGARET DEVINE v. 
BEAUFORT COUNTY DETENTION CENTER) 
 

b. PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) RECEIPT OF LEGAL ADVICE WHERE THE LEGAL 
ADVICE RELATES TO PENDING LITIGATION (SANDRA SCHEPER v. BEAUFORT COUNTY PARKS AND 
RECREATON) 

15. MATTERS ARISING OUT OF THE EXECUTIVE SESSION 

16. ADJOURNMENT 
  

3



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 

1. APPROVAL OF A TASK ORDER TO J.H. HIERS, INC OF BEAUFORT, SC FOR HICKORY HILL DRAINAGE 
IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT  

2. APPROVAL OF A TASK ORDER TO J.H. HIERS, INC OF BEAUFORT, SC FOR TUXEDO PARK DETENTION POND 
REHABILITATION PROJECT  

3. Contract Award to Mitchell Brothers Inc for IFB # 111924 Construction / Renovation of the Administration 
Building and County Council Chambers  

4. CONTRACT AWARD TO BEAUFORT CONSTRUCTION OF SC, LLC FOR IFB# 101824 BLUFFTON COMMUNITY 
CENTER RENOVATION  

5. CONTRACT AWARD TO MITCHELL BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, INC FOR IFB #101724, BOOKER T. 
WASHINGTON COMMUNITY CENTER RENOVATION  

6. CONTRACT AWARD TO FRASER CONSTRUCTION AND COURT ATKINS GROUP FOR IFB #061824 STATION 
39 FOR THE DESIGN PORTION OF THIS DESIGN/BUILD PROJECT   

7. CONTRACT AWARD TO C.E. BOURNE & CO INC FOR IFB #050824- DETENTION CENTER STUCCO REPAIR 
AND PAINTING  

8. SOLE SOURCE CONTRACT AWARD TO PAVEMENT TECHNOLOGY INC. FOR YEAR 8 REJUVENATOR  
 

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 

TO WATCH COMMITTEE OR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETINGS OR FOR A COMPLETE LIST OF AGENDAS AND 
BACKUP PACKAGES, PLEASE VISIT: 

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

4

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


 

 

 

County Council Meeting 

Beaufort County, SC 
Council Chambers, Administration Building Beaufort County Government Robert Smalls 

Complex 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort 

Monday, December 09, 2024 
5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Watch the video stream available on the County's website to hear the Council’s discussion of a specific topic or 
the complete meeting https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/322076 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Passiment called the meeting to order. 

PRESENT 
Chairman Joseph F. Passiment 
Vice-Chairman Lawrence McElynn 
Council Member David P. Bartholomew 
Council Member Paula Brown 
Council Member Logan Cunningham 
Council Member Gerald Dawson 
Council Member York Glover 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Mark Lawson 
Council Member Anna Maria Tabernik 
Council Member Thomas Reitz 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

Chairman Passiment led the Pledge of Allegiance and Council Member Alice Howard gave the 
invocation. 

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

Chairman Passiment stated that public notice of the agenda had been published, posted, and distributed 
in compliance with the South Carolina Freedome of Information Act. 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion to Amend: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, Seconded by Council Member 
Bartholomew to amend the agenda to remove item number 6 as it is a duplicate. 

The Vote – Motion was approved without objection. 

5

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/322076


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Main Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Dawson, Seconded by Council Member Bartholomew 
to approve the agenda as amended. 

The Vote - Motion approved without objection. 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Howard, Seconded by Council Member Brown to approve 
the minutes of October 28, 2024 and November 12, 2024.  

The Vote - Motion was approved without objection. 

6. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 

Please watch the video stream on the county's website to view the full report. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/322076 

7. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD 

Citizen comments were taken. 

8. LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Please watch the video stream on the county's website to view the full report. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/322076 

9. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Lawson, Seconded by Council Member Cunningham to 
approve the consent agenda. 

The Vote - Motion approved without objection. 

10. DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS OF THE THIRD-PARTY REVIEW OF THE MITCHELVILLE APPRAISALS 
AUTHORIZED BY THE COMMUNITY SERVICES AND LAND USE COMMITTEE ON SEPTEMBER 9, 2024, 
RELATED TO THE PURCHASE OF THE MITCHELVILLE PROPERTY BY THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND 

Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Howard, Seconded by Council Member Reitz to approve 
the discussion of the results of the third-party review of the Mitchellville appraisals authorized by the 
community services and land use committee on September 9, 2024, related to the purchase of the 
Mitchellville property by the Town of Hilton Head Island. 

The Vote - Motion was approved without objection. 

11. PUBLIC HEARING AND THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FUNDS FROM THE STATE 
A-TAX FUNDS AS RECOMMENDED BY THE STATE A-TAX COMMITTEE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, Seconded by Council Member Lawson to approve 
public hearing and third reading of an ordinance appropriating funds from the state a-tax funds as 
recommended by the state a-tax committee in compliance with the requirements of South Carolina Code 
of Laws. 

Chairman opened the floor for public hearing. 

No one came foward. 

Chairman closed public hearing. 

The Vote - Motion was approved without objection. 

6

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/322076
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/322076


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

12. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BUDGET ORDINANCE 2024/25, 
TO REFLECT THE APPROVAL OF USE OF GENERAL FUND -FUND BALANCE FOR $3,300,000 FOR FLEET 
SERVICES VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT PURCHASES 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Dawson, Seconded by Council Member Lawson to approve 
public hearing and second reading of an ordinance amending budget ordinance 2024/25, to reflect the 
approval of use of general fund -fund balance for $3,300,000 for fleet services vehicle and equipment 
purchases. 

The chairman opened the floor for a public hearing. 

No one came forward. 

The chairman closed the public hearing. 

The Vote - Motion was approved without objection. 

13. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTION 
A.6.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT (DCP) AND SECTION A.7.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW 
LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE MIXED USE DISTRICT (DMU) 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Howard, Seconded by Council Member Cunningham to 
approve first reading of an ordinance amending the Community Development Code (CDC): section a.6.40 
(permitted activities) to allow lodging: short-term housing rental (STHR) in Dale Community Preservation 
District (DCP) and section a.7.40 (permitted activities) to allow lodging: short-term housing rental (sthr) in 
Dale Mixed Use District (DMU). 

Motion to Amend: It was moved by Council Member Howard, Council Member Glover that we grant the 
request for the tax amendment for the following reasons it is consistent with the goals, objectives and 
policies of the comprehensive plan; it is not in conflict with any provision of this development or the code 
of ordinances; it is required by change conditions; it does address a demonstrated community need; it is 
consistent with the purpose and intent of zones in the development code or would improve the 
compatibility among users and ensure efficient development within the county; it would result in a logical 
and orderly development pattern and it would not result in adverse impacts on the natural environment 
including but not limited to water air noise management, wildlife, vegetation, wetlands and the natural 
functioning of the environment 

Main Motion: It was moved by Council Member Howard, Seconded by Council Member Cunningham to 
approve the motion as amended. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Brown, Council 
Member Lawson, Council Member Reitz, Council Member Bartholomew, Council Member Glover, 
Council Member Howard, Council Member Cunningham, and Council Member Tabernik.  Abstaining: 
Council Member Dawson. Motion passed 10:0:1 

14. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND 
ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF RIGHT-OF-WAY OR TEMPORARY 
CONSTRUCTION EASEMENTS ON REAL PROPERTY ASSOCIATED WITH THE STUART POINT ROAD 
SIDEWALK  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Dawson, Seconded by Council Member Glover to approve first 
reading of an ordinance authorizing the county administrator to execute any and all necessary documents 
for the acceptance of right-of-way or temporary construction easements on real property associated with 
the Stuart Point Road Sidewalk Project. 

The Vote - Motion was approved without objection. 

7

Item 5.



County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

15. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER INTO A 
LEASE AGREEMENT WITH MITCHELVILLE PRESERVATION PROJECT, INC. FOR SUITE 134 AND SUITE 142 
OF THE COUNTY-OWNED OFFICE BUILDING LOCATED AT 539 WILLIAM HILTON PARKWAY ON HILTON 
HEAD ISLAND  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Reitz, Seconded by Council Member Brown to approve first 
reading of an ordinance authorizing the county administrator to enter into a lease agreement 
with Mitchellville preservation project, inc. For suite 134 and suite 142 of the county-owned office building 
located at 539 William Hilton Parkway on Hilton Head Island. 

The Vote – Motion was approved without objection. 

16. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE TO INVEST $4,300,000 FROM THE GENERAL FUND - FUND BALANCE 
IN AN INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT AT BEAUFORT EXECUTIVE AIRPORT (ARW) TO FUND 
CONSTRUCTION OF AIRCRAFT HANGERS. 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, Seconded by Council Member Bartholomew to 
approve first reading of an ordinance to invest $4,300,000 from the general fund - fund balance in an 
infrastructure development project at Beaufort Executive Airport (ARW) to fund construction of aircraft 
hangers. 

Motion to Amend: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, Seconded by Council Member Dawson to 
send back to the committee for further review. 

Motion failed.  

Main Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, Seconded by Council Member 
Bartholomew to approve first reading of an ordinance to invest $4,300,000 from the general fund - fund 
balance in an infrastructure development project at Beaufort Executive Airport (ARW) to fund 
construction of aircraft hangers. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Brown, Council 
Member Lawson, Council Member Reitz, Council Member Bartholomew, Council Member Glover, 
Council Member Howard, Council Member Cunningham, and Council Member Dawson.  Voting Nay: 
Council Member Tabernik.  The motion passed 10:1. 

17. APPROVAL OF THE PURCHASE OF LICENSE PLATE READING CAMERAS FOR THE BEAUFORT COUNTY 
SHERIFF'S OFFICE WITH ARPA FUNDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $262,291.34. 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Reitz, Seconded by Council Member Dawson to approve the 
purchase of license plate reading cameras for the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office with ARPA funds in 
the amount of $262,291.34. 
 
The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Brown, Council 
Member Lawson, Council Member Reitz, Council Member Tabernik, Council Member Glover, Council 
Member Howard, Council Member Cunningham, and Council Member Dawson.  Voting Nay: Council 
Member Bartholomew.  The motion passed 10:1. 

18. APPROVAL OF THE 2025 COUNCIL MEETING SCHEDULE  

Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Brown, Seconded by Council Member Howard to approve 
the 2025 Meeting Schedule with the changes discussed. 
 
The Vote - Motion approved without objection. 

 

8

Item 5.



County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

19. APPOINTMENT OF PATRICK MITCHELL TO THE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY BOARD FOR A 
FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH AN EXPIRATION DATE OF NOVEMBER 2028.  

Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Bartholomew, Seconded by Council Member Reitz to approve 
the appointment of Patrick Mitchell to the Stormwater Management Utility Board for a four-year term 
with an expiration date of November 2028.  

The Vote - Motion was approved without objection. 

20. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD 

 Citizen Comment was taken. 

21. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, Seconded by Council Member Brown, to go into 
Executive session for the following reasons: 

 Pursuant To S.C. Code Section 30-4-70(A)(2) receipt of legal advice where the legal advice relates 
to pending litigation (Beaufort County v Mashburn Et Al [Buckwalter Rec Center]) 

 Pursuant To S.C. Code Section 30-4-70(A)(2) to receive legal advice on matters related to a 
pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the attorney-client privilege 
(Daufuskie Island Ferry Service). 

 Pursuant To S.C. Code Section 30-04-70(A)(2) to receive legal advice regarding pending, 
threatened, or potential claims or other matters covered by the attorney-client privilege, 
settlement of legal claims, or the position of the county in adversary situations involving the 
assertion of a claim against the county. 

 Pursuant To S.C. Code Section 30-4-70(A)(2) receipt of legal advice where the legal advice relates 
to pending litigation (Maria Walls v. Beaufort County) 

 Pursuant To S.C. Code Section 30-4-70(A)(2) discussion of negotiations incident to proposed 
contractual arrangements (Okatie River Park) 

The Vote - Motion approved without objection. 

22. MATTERS ARISING OUT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION  

Motion:  It was moved by Council Member Brown, Seconded by Council Member Howard to authorize 
the deputy county attorney and our outside counsel for the case of Beaufort County vs Mashburn 
Construction, to negotiate a settlement for an amount as discussed in executive session and the county 
administrator to execute a settlement agreement for an amount as discussed in executive session. 

 The Vote - Motion approved without objection. 

23. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

BY: _____________________________________                             

            Joseph F. Passiment, Jr., Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

9

Item 5.



County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

Ratified:   

 

10

Item 5.



11

Item 7.



PROPOSED 

RESOLUTION BY THE DAUFUSKIE ISLAND COUNCIL RELATING TO 

THE PUBLIC FERRY SERVICE 

Whereas, the Low Country Ferry (LCF) contract has now been operating 
for one year; and 

Whereas, the Daufuskie Island Council has repeatedly expressed concerns 
to the Beaufort County Council and staff about a wide range of problems 
with this ferry service, including but not limited to boat and dock safety 
issues, accessibility barriers for disabled riders; climate control, 
communications problems, unreasonable cargo policies and exorbitant 
fees, and indifferent and disrespectful customer service; and 

Whereas, the many shortcomings of the current service impacts all riders 
but most especially seniors and those riders with physical limitations; and 

Whereas, the range of problems with the current system has made it more 
difficult for many of Daufuskie's residents to survive on a bridge-less 
island, as well as contributed to dangerous situations that have resulted in 
serious injuries and even life-threatening situations; and 

Whereas, the Daufuskie Council has attempted without success to 
convince the ferry operator to address issues that are most problematic for 
community riders; and 

Whereas, problems with the current ferry system, including the docks, 
have caused a dramatic drop in tourism on Daufuskie Island, creating 
financial hardships of and some closures by the island's small businesses; 
and 

Whereas, recent LCF actions including new and unreasonable fees and fee 
policies have now placed an even greater burden on the ability of 
Daufuskie residents to live on the island; and 

12

Item 7.



13

Item 7.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 
SECTION A.6.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT (DCP) AND SECTION A.7.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW 
LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE MIXED USE DISTRICT (DMU) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Community Services and Land Use Committee Meeting, November 12, 2024 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Merchant, AICP, Director, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning 

(10 minutes needed for item discussion) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

This text amendment application went before the Beaufort County Planning Commission at their October 7, 
2024 meeting. At that time, the Commission voted 5-3 to recommend denial of the proposed amendment to 
County Council. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

At the time of adoption in 2020, the short-term rental use was added as a special use to all transect and 
conventional zones except for T1 Natural Preserve and S1 Industrial. The special use was not added to any of 
the Community Preservation districts; however, DCP is consistent with transect zone districts that allow short-
term rentals. The applicant is seeking to amend the Community Development Code (CDC) to allow the use of 
Short-term Rental in Dale Community Preservation District.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Not applicable 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval and encourages that the zoning district Dale Mixed Use (DMU) also adopts the 
amendment to continue further consistency. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve, modify, or deny the application as submitted.* 

*Council’s decision must be based on the standards in Section 7.3.30 C of the Community Development Code 
(Attachment A to this AIS) and must clearly state the factors considered in making its decision and the basis or 
rationale for the decision. (7.4.90 B.3). These factors are as follows: 

1. Is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the Comprehensive Plan; 
2. Is not in conflict with any provision of this Development Code or the Code of Ordinances; 
3. Is required by changed conditions; 
4. Addresses a demonstrated community need; 
5. Is consistent with the purpose and intent of the zones in this Development Code, or would improve 

compatibility among uses and ensure efficient development within the County; 
6. Would result in a logical and orderly development pattern; and 

14

Item 10.



7.  Would not result in adverse impacts on the natural environment, including but not limited to water, 
air, noise, stormwater management, wildlife, vegetation, wetlands, and the natural functioning of the 
environment. 

 

Attachment A. 

CDC Section 7.3.30 B.7 Text Amendments provides: 

The County Council's decision shall be based on the standards in Subsection 7.3.30.C. 

 

CDC Section 7.3.30 Code Text Amendment Review Standards. 

The advisability of amending the text of this Development Code is a matter committed to the 

legislative discretion of the County Council and is not controlled by any one factor. In determining 

whether to adopt or deny the proposed text amendment, the County Council shall weigh the relevance 

of and consider whether, and the extent to which, the proposed amendment: 

1. Is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the Comprehensive Plan; 

2. Is not in conflict with any provision of this Development Code or the Code of Ordinances; 

3. Is required by changed conditions; 

4. Addresses a demonstrated community need; 

5. Is consistent with the purpose and intent of the zones in this Development Code, or would improve 

compatibility among uses and ensure efficient development within the County; 

6. Would result in a logical and orderly development pattern; and 

7. Would not result in adverse impacts on the natural environment, including but not limited to water, 

air, noise, stormwater management, wildlife, vegetation, wetlands, and the natural functioning of 

the environment. 

 

CDC Section 7.4.90 B.3 provides: 

County Council’s decision shall clearly state the factors considered in making the decision and the 

basis or rationale for the decision. 

15

Item 10.



TEXT AMENDMENT REQUESTS 

 

 

I MOVE THAT WE GRANT/(DENY) THE REQUEST FOR T H E TEXT 

AMENDMENT FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS (STATE ALL THAT 

SUPPORT YOUR MOTION). 

 

 

THE REQUEST: 

 

 

1.  IS/ (IS NOT) CONSISTENT WITH THE GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND 

POLICIES OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; 

2.  IS NOT/ (IS) IN CONFLICT WITH ANY PROVISION OF THIS 

DEVELOPMENT CODE OR THE CODE OF ORDINANCES; 
 

3. IS/ (IS NOT) REQUIRED BY CHANGED CONDITIONS; 

4. DOES/ (DOES NOT) ADDRESS A DEMONSTRATED COMMUNITY NEED; 
 

5. IS/ (IS NOT) CONSISTENT WITH THE PURPOSE AND INTENT OF THE 

ZONES IN THIS DEVELOPMENT CODE, OR WOULD IMPROVE 

COMPATIBILITY AMONG USES AND ENSURE EFFICIENT 

DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE COUNTY; 

6. WOULD/ (WOULD NOT) RESULT IN A LOGICAL AND 

ORDERLY DEVELOPMENT PATTERN; 
 

7. WOULD NOT/ (WOULD) RESULT IN ADVERSE IMPACTS ON THE 

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO 

WATER, AIR, NOISE, STORMWATER MANAGEMENT, WILDLIFE, 

VEGETATION, WETLANDS, AND THE NATURAL FUNCTIONING OF 

THE ENVIRONMENT. 

16

Item 10.



1 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

 
 

 

TO:   Alice Howard, Chair, Community Services and Land Use Committee of County Council 

FROM:  Robert Merchant, AICP, Beaufort County Planning and Zoning Department 

DATE:   November 12, 2024 

SUBJECT:  CONSIDERATION OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

CODE (CDC): SECTION A.6.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-

TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT (DCP) 

AND SECTION A.7.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM 

HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE MIXED USE DISTRICT (DMU) 

STAFF REPORT: 

A. BACKGROUND: 

Case No.  CDPA-00042-2024 

Applicant     Michael Dawson     

Proposed Amendment: Amendment to Section A.6.40 and Section A.7.40 of the 
Community Development Code  

 

B. SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND:  

The applicant seeks to revise the Dale Community Preservation District (DCP) to include short-term 
rentals as an allowable special use. The purpose of the DCP is to maintain or improve the livability 
and character of existing residential neighborhoods; to encourage infill of available lands and to 
accommodate housing types which will relate well with existing neighborhood character, scale and 
density.  

Per Ordinance 2020-32, robust short-term rental standards were established in the Community 
Development Code. At the time of adoption, the short-term rental use was added as a special use to 
all transect and conventional zones except for T1 Natural Preserve and S1 Industrial. The special use 
was not added to any of the Community Preservation districts; however, DCP is consistent with 
transect zone districts that allow short-term rentals. Therefore, the addition of short-term rentals as 
a special use to this district is appropriate. 

 

C. CODE TEXT AMENDMENT REVIEW STANDARDS: In determining whether to adopt or deny the 
proposed text amendment, the County Council shall weigh the relevance of and consider whether, 
and the extent to which, the proposed amendment: 

1. Is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the Comprehensive Plan; 

 

17

Item 10.



2 

 

Yes, the proposed text amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, which 
envisions this area to be Rural Community.  

2. Is not in conflict with any provision of this Development Code, or the Code of Ordinances;  
No, the short-term rental use is not in conflict with this Development Code. In the DCP, 
“certain structures and uses serving governmental, religious or recreational needs of such 
areas are permitted by special or conditional use subject to restrictions and requirements 
intended to preserve and protect residential neighborhood. Home uses are specifically 
provided for, if they conform to the provisions of this section. Multifamily and the planned 
residential option are limited to areas south of, but not along, Keans Neck Road. The housing 
types permitted within the Dale CP area are limited to single-family and duplexes, except 
within a planned development.”  

3. Is required by changed conditions;  
Yes, it is required by changed conditions. Per Ordinance 2020-32, short-term rental standards 
were established as a special use in the Community Development Code within transect and 
conventional zones. These standards were not added to Community Preservation Districts.  

4. Addresses a demonstrated community need;  
See 3. 

5. Is consistent with the purpose and intent of the zones in this Development Code, or would 
improve compatibility among uses and ensure efficient development within the County;  

Yes, it is consistent. See 2.   

6. Would result in logical and orderly development pattern;  
Yes, it would result in logical and orderly development. As a special use, each applicant seeking 
to establish a short-term rental property in the DCP will be required to apply to the Zoning 
Board of Appeals for approval. In addition to typical considerations, the Zoning Board of 
Appeals (ZBOA) may also establish an appropriate rental limit as a condition of approval after 
conducting the public hearing and finding that conditions exist making such a limitation 
necessary for short-term rental applications.  

7. Would not result in adverse impacts on the natural environment, including but not limited 

to water, air, noise, stormwater management, wildlife, vegetation, wetlands, and the 

natural functioning of the environment;  

Yes, it would not result in adverse impacts. Any development on the site would be required to 

adhere to the natural resource protection, tree protection, wetland protection, and 

stormwater standards in the Community Development Code and the Stormwater BMP 

Manual. 

  

D. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval. Staff also recommends that the 
amendment also be applied to the Dale Mixed Use District (DMU).  

 

 

18

Item 10.



3 

 

E. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: This text amendment went before the 
Beaufort County Planning Commission at their October 7, 2024 meeting. At that time, the 
Commission voted 5-3 to recommend denial of the proposed amendment. 

 
F.  ATTACHMENTS: 

 Map of DCP and DMU district  

 Revised DCP and DMU district use tables.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19

Item 10.



4 

 

 

20

Item 10.



5 
 

A.6.40 - Permitted Activities  

The permitted uses are primarily residential. Limited nonresidential uses are allowed generally 

subject to the special or conditional use process. Uses not listed are prohibited. The following are 

descriptions of permitted uses, permitted accessory uses and structures for the Dale CP District:  

Table A.6.40: Dale Community Preservation District Land Use 

Land Use  Use Definition  
Use 

Permission  

Agriculture  

Agriculture  
Crop (see below: Clearcutting,) and animal production, 

plant nurseries, tree farms. (NAICS 111, 112)  
P  

Forestry  

Perpetual management, harvesting and enhancement of 

forest resources for ultimate sale or use of wood 

products, requiring replanting, and subject to S.C. 

Forestry Commission BMPs. (NAICS 113)  

C  

Clearcutting  

1. Management, harvesting and use of forest or 

woodland (NAICS 113) for sale or use of wood 

products, without replanting or regeneration of the tree 

crop.  

2. Clearing, grubbing or other destruction and cutting of 

ground cover, grading or otherwise moving the topsoil, 

or burning of the vegetative cover of more than 10,000 

square feet of land. Landscaping improvements to 

private residential properties shall not be considered 

clearcutting, and shall not require a development permit.  

3. Cutting of any tree over eight inches DBH, or any 

specimen tree.  

4. Cultivation of any land as an agricultural use, and 

gardens of less than 10,000 square feet shall not be 

considered clearcutting, and shall be a permitted use.  

P  

Residential  

Single-family detached  

Detached dwelling unit intended for only one family. 

Includes any one family dwelling unit, which complies 

with the Beaufort County Building Code.  

P  

Single-family cluster  

Two or more single-family detached residential uses in a 

subdivision, or on an individual lot that include, as part 

of the subdivision or lot design, significant common 

open space that meets the standards in Table A.6.60.A.  

P  

Planned  

A development that consists of two or more of the 

following housing types: village houses, townhouses, 

duplexes, mansion apartments and apartment houses. 

Such developments shall be planned as a unit and shall 

meet all the open space standards in Table 2 A.6.60.A.  

C  

21

Item 10.



6 
 

Accessory dwelling 

unit  

A second dwelling unit, clearly subordinate to the 

principal unit, either in or added to an existing single-

family detached dwelling, or in a separate accessory 

structure on the same lot as the main dwelling, for use as 

a complete independent living facility. Maximum 

building size shall not exceed 50% of the principal unit's 

floor area.  

P  

Family compound  

Form of traditional rural development which provides 

affordable housing for family members allowing 

additional family dwelling units on, and/or subdivisions 

of, a single lot owned by the same family for at least 50 

years.  

P  

Group home  

A building that would otherwise be categorized as a 

single-family home, except for the fact that the number 

of unrelated individuals living in the unit does not 

qualify under the definition of family. The operation of a 

group home shall be a family living environment, not an 

institutional environment, where staff manages the 

living, and controls activities. If the unit would 

otherwise qualify as other types of dwelling units 

defined in this ordinance, such as apartment or attached 

housing, then the use shall be treated as such. Not 

included are co-ops, nursing homes, other institutional 

residential and boarding house types of operations since 

these are institutional or commercial lodging uses.  

P  

Home occupation  

A business, profession, occupation or trade located 

entirely within a residential dwelling, which does not 

change the essential character of the residential use.  

C  

Home business  

A business operated out of a single-family residence and 

accessory structures that permits the employment of up 

to three unrelated individuals. This includes independent 

contractors operating from the facility. Farm workers are 

not included. Uses shall be limited to office and service 

types, carpentry, upholstery, woodworking, potteries, 

glasswork, personal services and other similar uses. This 

use permits the sale of agricultural products, traditional 

home products, such as crafts, cosmetics, and baked 

goods. Hobby product sales such as coins, stamps, 

model trains and collectibles are also permitted.  

C  

Cottage industry  

Light industrial or intensive use(s) conducted on a lot 

with a residential dwelling unit. Up to six employees 

may be employed in addition to family members. Farm 

workers are not included. This use includes, but is not 

limited to, businesses related to agriculture, screened 

outdoor storage areas, trucking operations, small 

P  

22

Item 10.



7 
 

automotive repair shops, septic system service, well 

service, carpentry, upholstery, woodworking, limited 

antique sales (including finishing and repair), potteries, 

glassworks and other similar uses.  

Retail and Restaurants  

Bait shop  

Establishments engaged in wholesale and/or retail of 

fishing supplies, bait, ice and other products and services 

required for fishing. This use is limited to 1,500 square 

feet.  

C  

Road side stands  

Those activities which involve selling agricultural 

produce, home made goods or seafood from a truck, 

wagon, portable stall or tables, but not as part of, or 

sponsored by a commercial operation on site.  

C  

Offices and Services  

Adult day care  

Establishments primarily engaged in providing 

nonresidential social assistance services to improve the 

quality of life for the elderly or persons with disability. 

These establishments provide for the welfare of these 

individuals in such areas as day care, non-medical home 

care, social activities, group support, and 

companionship.  

C  

Day care, family  

A facility in a private home that is operated by one or 

more persons duly licensed or qualified to be licensed by 

the state for the purpose of providing child day care for 

one to not more than eight children at any one time, who 

are not relatives of the day care provider. (NAICS 

62441)  

P  

Lodging: Short-Term 

Housing Rental 

(STHR) 

A property with a residential dwelling where lodging is 

offered, advertised, or provided to Short-Term Rental 

Tenants (excluding family members) for a fee or any 

form of compensation with individual rental terms not 

exceeding 29 consecutive dates. See specific use 

regulations in Article 4.1.360 

S 

Recreation, Education, Safety, Public Assembly  

Public services  

These uses include emergency service, buildings, or 

garages, (e.g., ambulance, fire, police, rescue, and public 

works) or other garages or areas where vehicles are 

stored and dispatched. (NAICS 62191, 92212, 92216, 

see "Office" uses, below) This use does not include 

service garages.  

P  

Institutional residential  

1. Skilled Nursing Facility - Twenty-four hour care to 

ill persons in a controlled setting providing daily and 

medical care. Residents often have limited or no 

C  

23

Item 10.



8 
 

mobility. Requires licensing.  

2. Assisted Living Facility - Residential care facility 

catering to the frail elderly who require assistance with 

daily activities. Requires licensing.  

3. Independent Living Facility - Facility catering to 

more mobile, healthy senior adults. Individual living 

units may contain kitchens, while common dining is 

available. Planned recreation, housekeeping, 

transportation, etc may also be provided. Does not 

require licensing.  

4. Sheltered Care Facility or Group Living Facility - 

Facilities where the residents live in an institutional 

environment and are generally under the care or control 

of staff. All sheltered care, group care, and group homes, 

except emergency shelters and residential substance 

abuse facilities where total occupancy is more than 

eight, shall be considered institutional residential use. 

These residents would be members of an institution, 

have institutional care, or would be treated by staff in an 

institutional setting rather than living independently. 

(NAICS 623, 62422, 62423)  

Religious 

establishments (small)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious 

organizations, such as churches, religious temples and 

/or establishments primarily engaged in administering an 

organized religion or promoting religious activities with 

no schools (except Sunday schools occupying no more 

than 50% of the floor area) as part of the complex and 

having less than 15,000 square feet of floor area.  

S  

Religious 

establishments (large)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious 

organizations, such as churches, religious temples and 

/or establishments primarily engaged in administering an 

organized religion or promoting religious activities with 

or without schools (except Sunday schools occupying no 

more than 50% of the floor area) as part of the complex 

and having 15,000 or greater square feet of floor area 

(NAICS 813110).  

S  

Outdoor recreation  

1) Active recreational activities and supporting services 

including, but not limited to: jogging, cycling, tot lots, 

playing fields, playgrounds, outdoor swimming pools, 

and tennis courts (NAICS 7113); trapping and fishing 

clubs (NAICS 71391, 71393, 71394); marinas.  

2) Passive recreational uses including, but not limited to: 

arboretums, wildlife sanctuaries, forests, areas for 

hiking, nature areas, and other passive recreation-

oriented parks.  

3) Picnic areas and garden plots.  

C  

24

Item 10.



9 
 

Schools, neighborhood 

(elementary and middle 

schools) and 

community high 

schools)  

Institutions of learning or instruction primarily catering 

to minors, whether public or private, which are licensed 

by either the county or the State of South Carolina. The 

definition includes nursery schools, kindergarten, 

elementary schools, middle schools and senior high 

schools, or any special institution of learning under the 

jurisdiction of the State Department of Education 

catering to those age groups. This does not include 

charm schools, dancing schools, music schools or 

similar limited schools. (NAICS 6111)  

S  

Infrastructure, Transportation, Communications  

Local utility  

Utility substations or transmission and local distribution 

facilities, including telephone, and all government-

owned utilities. Not included are generation facilities, 

storage of combustibles, regional facilities, and landfills 

or mining operations. (NAICS 221122, 22121)  

S  

Temporary Uses  

Construction staging or 

plant  

A concrete or asphalt batch plant, or metal forming and 

cutting facility assembled on the site or located no more 

than one mile from the site where the construction of a 

particular road, infrastructure or building is to take 

place. Such site shall be cleared within one year.  

S  

Contractor's office  

Security guard buildings and structures, construction 

equipment sheds, contractor's trailers and similar uses 

incidental to a construction project. Limited sleeping 

and/or cooking facilities may also be permitted.  

P  

Model homes sales 

office  

A dwelling unit or modular unit in a subdivision used as 

a sales office for that subdivision.  
P  

"P" indicates a Use that is Permitted By Right.  

"C" indicates a Use that is Permitted with Conditions.  

"S" indicates a Use that is Permitted as a Special Use.  

  

  

25

Item 10.



10 
 

A.7.40 - Permitted Activities  

The permitted uses are restricted to residential uses and consumer-oriented businesses catering 

primarily to the needs of the local population. For the purpose of this section, the allowable uses 

in the DMU zoning district and are controlled by the land use development standards of this 

section, the Beaufort County Comprehensive plan, the CDC, and the chart of permitted uses 

(Table A.7.40). The following are descriptions of permitted uses, permitted accessory uses and 

structures for DMU districts:  

Table A.7.40: Dale Mixed Use District Land Use 

Land Use  Use Definition  
Use 

Permission  

Agriculture  

Agriculture  
Crop (see below: Clearcutting, #4) and animal production, 

plant nurseries, tree farms. (NAICS 111, 112)  
P  

Agricultural support 

services  

Farm supply services, equipment dealers, grain storage, 

veterinary uses for agricultural animals and seasonal 

packing sheds. (NAICS 1151, 1152, 49313, 4225, 54194)  

P  

Residential  

Single-family 

detached  

Detached dwelling unit intended for only one family. 

Includes any one-family dwelling unit, which complies with 

the Beaufort County Building Code.  

P  

Single-family 

cluster  

Two or more single-family detached residential uses in a 

subdivision, or on an individual lot that include, as part of 

the subdivision or lot design, significant common open 

space that meets the standards in Table A.7.60.A Below.  

P  

Family compound  

Form of traditional rural development which provides 

affordable housing for family members allowing additional 

family dwelling units on, and/or subdivisions of, a single lot 

owned by the same family for at least 50 years.  

P  

Group home  

A building that would otherwise be categorized as a single-

family home, except for the fact that the number of 

unrelated individuals living in the unit does not qualify 

under the definition of family. The operation of a group 

home shall be a family living environment, not an 

institutional environment, where staff manages the living, 

and controls activities. If the unit would otherwise qualify 

as other types of dwelling units defined in this ordinance, 

P  

26

Item 10.



11 
 

such as apartment or attached housing, then the use shall be 

treated as such. Not included are co-ops, nursing homes, 

other institutional residential and boarding house types of 

operations since these are institutional or commercial 

lodging uses.  

Accessory dwelling 

unit  

A second dwelling unit, clearly subordinate to the principal 

unit, either in or added to an existing single-family detached 

dwelling, or in a separate accessory structure on the same 

lot as the main dwelling, for use a s a complete, independent 

living facility. Maximum building size shall not exceed 

50% of the principal unit's floor area.  

C  

Home occupation  

A business, profession, occupation or trade located entirely 

within a residential dwelling, which does not change the 

essential character of the residential use.  

C  

Home business  

A business operated out of a single-family residence and 

accessory structures that permits the employment of up to 

three unrelated individuals. This includes independent 

contractors operating from the facility. Farm workers are 

not included. Uses shall be limited to office and service 

types, carpentry, upholstery, woodworking, potteries, 

glasswork, personal services and other similar uses. This 

use permits the sale of agricultural products, traditional 

home products, such as crafts, cosmetics, and baked goods. 

Hobby product sales such as coins, stamps, model trains and 

collectibles are also permitted.  

C  

Cottage industry  

Light industrial or intensive use(s) conducted on a lot with a 

residential dwelling unit. Up to six employees may be 

employed in addition to family members. Farm workers are 

not included. This use includes, but is not limited to, 

businesses related to agriculture, screened outdoor storage 

areas, trucking operations, small automotive repair shops, 

septic system service, well service, carpentry, upholstery, 

woodworking, limited antique sales (including finishing and 

repair), potteries, glassworks and other similar uses.  

C  

Retail and Restaurants  

Commercial retail, 

neighborhood  

These uses are retail uses that primarily serve their 

immediate neighborhoods, and include the following types:  

 1. Food and beverage stores.  

 2. Boutiques, gift shops, antique shops and drug stores.  

 3. Garden centers.  

P  

27

Item 10.



12 
 

The maximum size of any neighborhood commercial retail 

use shall be 2,000 square feet, unless otherwise specified.  

Commercial retail, 

traditional shop  

This use reflects existing small, traditional, community-

oriented necessity stores found in rural areas that sell 

mainly grocery items and household supplies, but not 

gasoline. Since these are neighborhood-oriented, their 

maximum size is 2,000 square feet.  

P  

Banquet hall  

Establishments primarily engaged in providing single event-

based food services. Examples of events catered are 

graduations, parties, wedding receptions and business or 

retirement luncheons. These facilities may also be uses by 

business incubators.  

C  

Book stores  Establishments primarily engaged in retailing books.  P  

Delicatessens and 

restaurants  

Establishment that serves food and beverages to persons 

seated within the building. Outside terrace or sidewalk 

seating is permitted subject to all other required codes. This 

use is limited to a seating capacity of 40 and does not 

include drive through service. Restaurants may have 

outdoor cafes on sidewalks or in courtyards.  

P  

Gas-convenience 

marts with no repair 

bays or facilities  

There is no towing, vehicle body, engine repair, painting, or 

exterior overnight vehicle storage permitted with this use. 

Single-bay car washes associated with a gas convenience 

mart are permitted (NAICS 811191, 811192).  

S  

Liquor stores, 

package  

Establishment that engages in retailing packaged alcoholic 

beverages, such as ale, beer, wine, and liquor.  
C  

Meat and fish 

market  

Establishments primarily engaged in retailing fresh, frozen, 

or cured meats, poultry, fish or seafood products (NAICS 

445220 and 445210).  

P  

Produce market  
Establishments primarily engaged in retailing fresh fruits 

and vegetables (NAICS44523).  
P  

Retail bakery  

Establishments primarily in retailing bread and other bakery 

products not for immediate consumption made on the 

premises (NAICS 31181).  

P  

Retail plant 

nurseries  

Establishments primarily engaged in retailing nursery and 

garden products, such as trees, shrubs, plants, seeds, bulbs, 

and sod that are predominantly grown elsewhere. These 

P  

28

Item 10.



13 
 

establishments may sell a limited amount of products they 

grow themselves. Outside storage is limited to plants. 

(NAICS 444220)  

Road side stands  

Those activities which involve selling agricultural produce, 

home made goods or seafood from a truck, wagon, portable 

stall or tables, but not as part of, or sponsored by a 

commercial operation on site.  

C  

Offices and Services  

Services  

A variety of commercial services limited to the following:  

 1. Educational services (NAICS 611, except 611512, 

61162).  

 2. Social assistance (NAICS 624).  

 3. Veterinary services (NAICS 541940).  

 4. Postal service buildings, except regional distribution 

centers, couriers and messengers (NAICS 491, 492).  

 5. Miscellaneous repair services and shops (NAICS 

44311, 8112, 8113, 8114).  

 6. Funeral homes (NAICS 81221).  

P  

Government offices  

This use is comprised of establishments primarily engaged 

in law enforcement, traffic safety, and fire protection 

(NAICS 92215 and 92216) or other facilities that are 

primarily devoted to public office uses or services. (NAICS 

921, 92211, 92213, 923)  

P  

Day care, family  

A facility in a private home that is operated by one or more 

persons duly licensed or qualified to be licensed by the state 

for the purpose of providing child day care for one to not 

more than eight children at any one time, who are not 

relatives of the day care provider. (NAICS 62441)  

P  

Day care, 

commercial  

All day care facilities not classified as "day care, family" 

and including more than eight children (NAICS 62441).  
P  

Adult day care  

Establishments primarily engaged in providing 

nonresidential social assistance services to improve the 

quality of life for the elderly or persons with disability. 

These establishments provide for the welfare of these 

individuals in such areas as day care, non-medical home 

care, social activities, group support, and companionship.  

C  

Dry-cleaning and 

laundry services  

Establishments primarily engaged in operating facilities 

with coin operated or similar self-service laundry and dry-
P  

29

Item 10.



14 
 

cleaning equipment. Does not include except linen, uniform, 

carpets and upholstery dry cleaning services.(NAICS 

812310 and 812320)  

Personal service 

establishments  

Establishments such as barber and beauty shops that provide 

appearance care services to individuals (NAICS 8121).  
P  

Professional and 

technical services  

Establishments that specialize in performing professional, 

scientific, and technical activities for others. These activities 

require a high degree of expertise and training. Activities 

performed include: legal advice and representation; 

accounting, bookkeeping and payroll services; architectural, 

engineering, and specialized design services and consulting 

services (NAICS 5411-5414). This use includes a 

contractor's office without exterior storage, and excludes 

veterinary services.  

P  

Real estate services  

Establishments that are primarily engaged in renting or 

leasing real estate to others; managing real estate for others; 

selling, buying, or renting real estate for others; and 

providing other real estate services, such as appraisal 

services. This use permits the employment of up to four real 

estate agents.  

P  

Residential storage 

facility  

A building or buildings consisting of individual, small, self-

contained units that are leased or owned for the storage of 

household goods.  

S  

Quick service oil, 

tune-up, brake and 

muffler shops  

Shops where maintenance repairs are made in fully enclosed 

bays, and where such repairs are typically completed in less 

than two hours.  

S  

Lodging: Short-

Term Housing 

Rental (STHR) 

A property with a residential dwelling where lodging is 

offered, advertised, or provided to Short-Term Rental 

Tenants (excluding family members) for a fee or any form 

of compensation with individual rental terms not exceeding 

29 consecutive dates. See specific use regulations in Article 

4.1.360 

S 

Recreation, Education, Safety, Public Assembly  

Civic and social 

organizations  

Establishments primarily engaged in promoting social 

welfare activities such as educational, scientific, cultural 

and health. (NAICS 8132-34)  

P  

Public services  These uses include emergency service, buildings, or P  

30

Item 10.



15 
 

garages, (e.g., ambulance, fire, police, rescue, and public 

works) or other garages or areas where vehicles are stored 

and dispatched. (NAICS 62191, 92212, 92216, see "Office" 

uses, below) This use does not include service garages.  

Religious 

establishments 

(Small)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious 

organizations, such as churches, religious temples and /or 

establishments primarily engaged in administering an 

organized religion or promoting religious activities with no 

schools (except Sunday schools occupying no more than 

50% of the floor area) as part of the complex and having 

less than 15,000 square feet of floor area.  

C  

Religious 

establishments 

(Large)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious 

organizations, such as churches, religious temples and /or 

establishments primarily engaged in administering an 

organized religion or promoting religious activities with or 

without schools (except Sunday schools occupying no more 

than 50% of the floor area) as part of the complex and 

having fifteen thousand or greater square feet of floor area 

(NAICS 813110).  

S  

Recreational 

institutional  

Nonprofit organizations chartered to provide community-

based recreational services.  
C  

Infrastructure, Transportation, Communications  

Commercial 

communication 

towers  

A tower, pole or similar structure which supports a 

telecommunications antenna operated for commercial 

purposes above ground in a fixed location, freestanding or 

guyed, or atop a structure. This does not include television 

antennas or satellite dishes. Towers for radio or television 

station use are regulated as regional utilities. Speculation 

towers are prohibited.  

S  

"P" indicates a Use that is Permitted By Right.  

"C" indicates a Use that is Permitted with Conditions.  

"S" indicates a Use that is Permitted as a Special Use.  

 

 

31

Item 10.



ORDINANCE 2024/  

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): 

SECTION A.6.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM 

HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT 

(DCP) AND SECTION A.7.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: 

SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE MIXED USE DISTRICT (DMU) 

WHEREAS, the Dale Community Preservation District (DCP) does not permit Short-Term 

Housing Rental (STHR) as an allowable use; and 

WHEREAS, a landowner has requested to permit Short-Term Housing Rental (STHR) as 

an allowable special use; and 

WHEREAS, the Short-Term Housing Rental (STHR) use was added as a special use to 

all transect and conventional zones except for T1 Natural Preserve, S1 Industrial, and the 

Community Preservation Districts in 2020; and 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Planning Commission considered the request on October 

7, 2024, voting 5-3 to recommend that County Council deny the request along with the denial of 

the recommendation that the changes also be applied to Dale Mixed Use District (DMU); and 

WHEREAS, Dale Community Preservation District is consistent with transect zone districts 

that allow Short-Term Housing Rental (STHR) as a special use; and 

WHEREAS, staff recommends that the amendment also be applied to the Dale Mixed Use 

District (DMU) to continue further consistency; 

WHEREAS, County Council now wishes to amend the Community Development Code 

(CDC) to permit short-term rentals as an allowable special use to Dale Community 

Preservation District (DCP) and Dale Mixed Use District (DMU). 

NOW, THEREFORE be it ordained by County Council in a meeting duly assembled as 

follows: 

The Community Development Code is hereby amended to permit Short-Term Housing Rental 

(STHR) as an allowable special use to Dale Community Preservation District (DCP) and Dale 

Mixed Use District (DMU). Sections A.6.40 and A.7.40 of the Community Development Code 

are hereby amended to reflect the language depicted in Exhibit A. 

 

              Adopted this _____ day of 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 32

Item 10.



 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
 
 
 

 

Joseph Passiment, Chairman 
 

 

 

 

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

33

Item 10.



Exhibit A 

A.6.40 - Permitted Activities  

The permitted uses are primarily residential. Limited nonresidential uses are allowed generally 

subject to the special or conditional use process. Uses not listed are prohibited. The following are 

descriptions of permitted uses, permitted accessory uses and structures for the Dale CP District:  

Table A.6.40: Dale Community Preservation District Land Use 

Land Use  Use Definition  
Use 

Permission  

Agriculture  

Agriculture  
Crop (see below: Clearcutting,) and animal production, 

plant nurseries, tree farms. (NAICS 111, 112)  
P  

Forestry  

Perpetual management, harvesting and enhancement of 

forest resources for ultimate sale or use of wood 

products, requiring replanting, and subject to S.C. 

Forestry Commission BMPs. (NAICS 113)  

C  

Clearcutting  

1. Management, harvesting and use of forest or 

woodland (NAICS 113) for sale or use of wood 

products, without replanting or regeneration of the tree 

crop.  

2. Clearing, grubbing or other destruction and cutting of 

ground cover, grading or otherwise moving the topsoil, 

or burning of the vegetative cover of more than 10,000 

square feet of land. Landscaping improvements to 

private residential properties shall not be considered 

clearcutting, and shall not require a development permit.  

3. Cutting of any tree over eight inches DBH, or any 

specimen tree.  

4. Cultivation of any land as an agricultural use, and 

gardens of less than 10,000 square feet shall not be 

considered clearcutting, and shall be a permitted use.  

P  

Residential  

Single-family detached  

Detached dwelling unit intended for only one family. 

Includes any one family dwelling unit, which complies 

with the Beaufort County Building Code.  

P  

Single-family cluster  

Two or more single-family detached residential uses in a 

subdivision, or on an individual lot that include, as part 

of the subdivision or lot design, significant common 

open space that meets the standards in Table A.6.60.A.  

P  

Planned  

A development that consists of two or more of the 

following housing types: village houses, townhouses, 

duplexes, mansion apartments and apartment houses. 

Such developments shall be planned as a unit and shall 

meet all the open space standards in Table 2 A.6.60.A.  

C  

Accessory dwelling 

unit  

A second dwelling unit, clearly subordinate to the 

principal unit, either in or added to an existing single-

family detached dwelling, or in a separate accessory 

structure on the same lot as the main dwelling, for use as 

a complete independent living facility. Maximum 

P  

34

Item 10.



building size shall not exceed 50% of the principal unit's 

floor area.  

Family compound  

Form of traditional rural development which provides 

affordable housing for family members allowing 

additional family dwelling units on, and/or subdivisions 

of, a single lot owned by the same family for at least 50 

years.  

P  

Group home  

A building that would otherwise be categorized as a 

single-family home, except for the fact that the number 

of unrelated individuals living in the unit does not 

qualify under the definition of family. The operation of a 

group home shall be a family living environment, not an 

institutional environment, where staff manages the 

living, and controls activities. If the unit would 

otherwise qualify as other types of dwelling units 

defined in this ordinance, such as apartment or attached 

housing, then the use shall be treated as such. Not 

included are co-ops, nursing homes, other institutional 

residential and boarding house types of operations since 

these are institutional or commercial lodging uses.  

P  

Home occupation  

A business, profession, occupation or trade located 

entirely within a residential dwelling, which does not 

change the essential character of the residential use.  

C  

Home business  

A business operated out of a single-family residence and 

accessory structures that permits the employment of up 

to three unrelated individuals. This includes independent 

contractors operating from the facility. Farm workers are 

not included. Uses shall be limited to office and service 

types, carpentry, upholstery, woodworking, potteries, 

glasswork, personal services and other similar uses. This 

use permits the sale of agricultural products, traditional 

home products, such as crafts, cosmetics, and baked 

goods. Hobby product sales such as coins, stamps, 

model trains and collectibles are also permitted.  

C  

Cottage industry  

Light industrial or intensive use(s) conducted on a lot 

with a residential dwelling unit. Up to six employees 

may be employed in addition to family members. Farm 

workers are not included. This use includes, but is not 

limited to, businesses related to agriculture, screened 

outdoor storage areas, trucking operations, small 

automotive repair shops, septic system service, well 

service, carpentry, upholstery, woodworking, limited 

antique sales (including finishing and repair), potteries, 

glassworks and other similar uses.  

P  

Retail and Restaurants  

Bait shop  

Establishments engaged in wholesale and/or retail of 

fishing supplies, bait, ice and other products and services 

required for fishing. This use is limited to 1,500 square 

feet.  

C  

35

Item 10.



Road side stands  

Those activities which involve selling agricultural 

produce, home made goods or seafood from a truck, 

wagon, portable stall or tables, but not as part of, or 

sponsored by a commercial operation on site.  

C  

Offices and Services  

Adult day care  

Establishments primarily engaged in providing 

nonresidential social assistance services to improve the 

quality of life for the elderly or persons with disability. 

These establishments provide for the welfare of these 

individuals in such areas as day care, non-medical home 

care, social activities, group support, and 

companionship.  

C  

Day care, family  

A facility in a private home that is operated by one or 

more persons duly licensed or qualified to be licensed by 

the state for the purpose of providing child day care for 

one to not more than eight children at any one time, who 

are not relatives of the day care provider. (NAICS 

62441)  

P  

Lodging: Short-Term 

Housing Rental 

(STHR) 

A property with a residential dwelling where lodging is 

offered, advertised, or provided to Short-Term Rental 

Tenants (excluding family members) for a fee or any 

form of compensation with individual rental terms not 

exceeding 29 consecutive dates. See specific use 

regulations in Article 4.1.360 

S 

Recreation, Education, Safety, Public Assembly  

Public services  

These uses include emergency service, buildings, or 

garages, (e.g., ambulance, fire, police, rescue, and public 

works) or other garages or areas where vehicles are 

stored and dispatched. (NAICS 62191, 92212, 92216, 

see "Office" uses, below) This use does not include 

service garages.  

P  

Institutional residential  

1. Skilled Nursing Facility - Twenty-four hour care to 

ill persons in a controlled setting providing daily and 

medical care. Residents often have limited or no 

mobility. Requires licensing.  

2. Assisted Living Facility - Residential care facility 

catering to the frail elderly who require assistance with 

daily activities. Requires licensing.  

3. Independent Living Facility - Facility catering to 

more mobile, healthy senior adults. Individual living 

units may contain kitchens, while common dining is 

available. Planned recreation, housekeeping, 

transportation, etc may also be provided. Does not 

require licensing.  

4. Sheltered Care Facility or Group Living Facility - 

Facilities where the residents live in an institutional 

environment and are generally under the care or control 

of staff. All sheltered care, group care, and group homes, 

except emergency shelters and residential substance 

abuse facilities where total occupancy is more than 

C  

36

Item 10.



eight, shall be considered institutional residential use. 

These residents would be members of an institution, 

have institutional care, or would be treated by staff in an 

institutional setting rather than living independently. 

(NAICS 623, 62422, 62423)  

Religious 

establishments (small)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious 

organizations, such as churches, religious temples and 

/or establishments primarily engaged in administering an 

organized religion or promoting religious activities with 

no schools (except Sunday schools occupying no more 

than 50% of the floor area) as part of the complex and 

having less than 15,000 square feet of floor area.  

S  

Religious 

establishments (large)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious 

organizations, such as churches, religious temples and 

/or establishments primarily engaged in administering an 

organized religion or promoting religious activities with 

or without schools (except Sunday schools occupying no 

more than 50% of the floor area) as part of the complex 

and having 15,000 or greater square feet of floor area 

(NAICS 813110).  

S  

Outdoor recreation  

1) Active recreational activities and supporting services 

including, but not limited to: jogging, cycling, tot lots, 

playing fields, playgrounds, outdoor swimming pools, 

and tennis courts (NAICS 7113); trapping and fishing 

clubs (NAICS 71391, 71393, 71394); marinas.  

2) Passive recreational uses including, but not limited to: 

arboretums, wildlife sanctuaries, forests, areas for 

hiking, nature areas, and other passive recreation-

oriented parks.  

3) Picnic areas and garden plots.  

C  

Schools, neighborhood 

(elementary and middle 

schools) and 

community high 

schools)  

Institutions of learning or instruction primarily catering 

to minors, whether public or private, which are licensed 

by either the county or the State of South Carolina. The 

definition includes nursery schools, kindergarten, 

elementary schools, middle schools and senior high 

schools, or any special institution of learning under the 

jurisdiction of the State Department of Education 

catering to those age groups. This does not include 

charm schools, dancing schools, music schools or 

similar limited schools. (NAICS 6111)  

S  

Infrastructure, Transportation, Communications  

Local utility  

Utility substations or transmission and local distribution 

facilities, including telephone, and all government-

owned utilities. Not included are generation facilities, 

storage of combustibles, regional facilities, and landfills 

or mining operations. (NAICS 221122, 22121)  

S  

Temporary Uses  

Construction staging or 

plant  

A concrete or asphalt batch plant, or metal forming and 

cutting facility assembled on the site or located no more 
S  

37

Item 10.



than one mile from the site where the construction of a 

particular road, infrastructure or building is to take 

place. Such site shall be cleared within one year.  

Contractor's office  

Security guard buildings and structures, construction 

equipment sheds, contractor's trailers and similar uses 

incidental to a construction project. Limited sleeping 

and/or cooking facilities may also be permitted.  

P  

Model homes sales 

office  

A dwelling unit or modular unit in a subdivision used as 

a sales office for that subdivision.  
P  

"P" indicates a Use that is Permitted By Right.  

"C" indicates a Use that is Permitted with Conditions.  

"S" indicates a Use that is Permitted as a Special Use.  

 

 
  

38

Item 10.



A.7.40 - Permitted Activities  

The permitted uses are restricted to residential uses and consumer-oriented businesses catering primarily 
to the needs of the local population. For the purpose of this section, the allowable uses in the DMU zoning 
district and are controlled by the land use development standards of this section, the Beaufort County 
Comprehensive plan, the CDC, and the chart of permitted uses (Table A.7.40). The following are 
descriptions of permitted uses, permitted accessory uses and structures for DMU districts:  

Table A.7.40: Dale Mixed Use District Land Use 

Land Use  Use Definition  
Use 
Permission  

Agriculture  

Agriculture  
Crop (see below: Clearcutting, #4) and animal production, plant 
nurseries, tree farms. (NAICS 111, 112)  

P  

Agricultural support 
services  

Farm supply services, equipment dealers, grain storage, veterinary 
uses for agricultural animals and seasonal packing sheds. (NAICS 
1151, 1152, 49313, 4225, 54194)  

P  

Residential  

Single-family 
detached  

Detached dwelling unit intended for only one family. Includes any 
one-family dwelling unit, which complies with the Beaufort County 
Building Code.  

P  

Single-family cluster  

Two or more single-family detached residential uses in a 
subdivision, or on an individual lot that include, as part of the 
subdivision or lot design, significant common open space that 
meets the standards in Table A.7.60.A Below.  

P  

Family compound  

Form of traditional rural development which provides affordable 
housing for family members allowing additional family dwelling 
units on, and/or subdivisions of, a single lot owned by the same 
family for at least 50 years.  

P  

Group home  

A building that would otherwise be categorized as a single-family 
home, except for the fact that the number of unrelated individuals 
living in the unit does not qualify under the definition of family. The 
operation of a group home shall be a family living environment, not 
an institutional environment, where staff manages the living, and 
controls activities. If the unit would otherwise qualify as other 
types of dwelling units defined in this ordinance, such as apartment 
or attached housing, then the use shall be treated as such. Not 
included are co-ops, nursing homes, other institutional residential 
and boarding house types of operations since these are 
institutional or commercial lodging uses.  

P  

Accessory dwelling 
unit  

A second dwelling unit, clearly subordinate to the principal unit, 
either in or added to an existing single-family detached dwelling, or 
in a separate accessory structure on the same lot as the main 
dwelling, for use a s a complete, independent living facility. 

C  
39

Item 10.



Maximum building size shall not exceed 50% of the principal unit's 
floor area.  

Home occupation  
A business, profession, occupation or trade located entirely within 
a residential dwelling, which does not change the essential 
character of the residential use.  

C  

Home business  

A business operated out of a single-family residence and accessory 
structures that permits the employment of up to three unrelated 
individuals. This includes independent contractors operating from 
the facility. Farm workers are not included. Uses shall be limited to 
office and service types, carpentry, upholstery, woodworking, 
potteries, glasswork, personal services and other similar uses. This 
use permits the sale of agricultural products, traditional home 
products, such as crafts, cosmetics, and baked goods. Hobby 
product sales such as coins, stamps, model trains and collectibles 
are also permitted.  

C  

Cottage industry  

Light industrial or intensive use(s) conducted on a lot with a 
residential dwelling unit. Up to six employees may be employed in 
addition to family members. Farm workers are not included. This 
use includes, but is not limited to, businesses related to agriculture, 
screened outdoor storage areas, trucking operations, small 
automotive repair shops, septic system service, well service, 
carpentry, upholstery, woodworking, limited antique sales 
(including finishing and repair), potteries, glassworks and other 
similar uses.  

C  

Retail and Restaurants  

Commercial retail, 
neighborhood  

These uses are retail uses that primarily serve their immediate 
neighborhoods, and include the following types:  
 1. Food and beverage stores.  
 2. Boutiques, gift shops, antique shops and drug stores.  
 3. Garden centers.  
The maximum size of any neighborhood commercial retail use shall 
be 2,000 square feet, unless otherwise specified.  

P  

Commercial retail, 
traditional shop  

This use reflects existing small, traditional, community-oriented 
necessity stores found in rural areas that sell mainly grocery items 
and household supplies, but not gasoline. Since these are 
neighborhood-oriented, their maximum size is 2,000 square feet.  

P  

Banquet hall  

Establishments primarily engaged in providing single event-based 
food services. Examples of events catered are graduations, parties, 
wedding receptions and business or retirement luncheons. These 
facilities may also be uses by business incubators.  

C  

Book stores  Establishments primarily engaged in retailing books.  P  

Delicatessens and 
restaurants  

Establishment that serves food and beverages to persons seated 
within the building. Outside terrace or sidewalk seating is 
permitted subject to all other required codes. This use is limited to 

P  
40

Item 10.



a seating capacity of 40 and does not include drive through service. 
Restaurants may have outdoor cafes on sidewalks or in courtyards.  

Gas-convenience 
marts with no repair 
bays or facilities  

There is no towing, vehicle body, engine repair, painting, or 
exterior overnight vehicle storage permitted with this use. Single-
bay car washes associated with a gas convenience mart are 
permitted (NAICS 811191, 811192).  

S  

Liquor stores, 
package  

Establishment that engages in retailing packaged alcoholic 
beverages, such as ale, beer, wine, and liquor.  

C  

Meat and fish 
market  

Establishments primarily engaged in retailing fresh, frozen, or 
cured meats, poultry, fish or seafood products (NAICS 445220 and 
445210).  

P  

Produce market  
Establishments primarily engaged in retailing fresh fruits and 
vegetables (NAICS44523).  

P  

Retail bakery  
Establishments primarily in retailing bread and other bakery 
products not for immediate consumption made on the premises 
(NAICS 31181).  

P  

Retail plant 
nurseries  

Establishments primarily engaged in retailing nursery and garden 
products, such as trees, shrubs, plants, seeds, bulbs, and sod that 
are predominantly grown elsewhere. These establishments may 
sell a limited amount of products they grow themselves. Outside 
storage is limited to plants. (NAICS 444220)  

P  

Road side stands  

Those activities which involve selling agricultural produce, home 
made goods or seafood from a truck, wagon, portable stall or 
tables, but not as part of, or sponsored by a commercial operation 
on site.  

C  

Offices and Services  

Services  

A variety of commercial services limited to the following:  
 1. Educational services (NAICS 611, except 611512, 61162).  
 2. Social assistance (NAICS 624).  
 3. Veterinary services (NAICS 541940).  
 4. Postal service buildings, except regional distribution centers, 
couriers and messengers (NAICS 491, 492).  
 5. Miscellaneous repair services and shops (NAICS 44311, 8112, 
8113, 8114).  
 6. Funeral homes (NAICS 81221).  

P  

Government offices  

This use is comprised of establishments primarily engaged in law 
enforcement, traffic safety, and fire protection (NAICS 92215 and 
92216) or other facilities that are primarily devoted to public office 
uses or services. (NAICS 921, 92211, 92213, 923)  

P  

Day care, family  
A facility in a private home that is operated by one or more persons 
duly licensed or qualified to be licensed by the state for the 
purpose of providing child day care for one to not more than eight 

P  
41

Item 10.



children at any one time, who are not relatives of the day care 
provider. (NAICS 62441)  

Day care, 
commercial  

All day care facilities not classified as "day care, family" and 
including more than eight children (NAICS 62441).  

P  

Adult day care  

Establishments primarily engaged in providing nonresidential social 
assistance services to improve the quality of life for the elderly or 
persons with disability. These establishments provide for the 
welfare of these individuals in such areas as day care, non-medical 
home care, social activities, group support, and companionship.  

C  

Dry-cleaning and 
laundry services  

Establishments primarily engaged in operating facilities with coin 
operated or similar self-service laundry and dry-cleaning 
equipment. Does not include except linen, uniform, carpets and 
upholstery dry cleaning services.(NAICS 812310 and 812320)  

P  

Personal service 
establishments  

Establishments such as barber and beauty shops that provide 
appearance care services to individuals (NAICS 8121).  

P  

Professional and 
technical services  

Establishments that specialize in performing professional, scientific, 
and technical activities for others. These activities require a high 
degree of expertise and training. Activities performed include: legal 
advice and representation; accounting, bookkeeping and payroll 
services; architectural, engineering, and specialized design services 
and consulting services (NAICS 5411-5414). This use includes a 
contractor's office without exterior storage, and excludes 
veterinary services.  

P  

Real estate services  

Establishments that are primarily engaged in renting or leasing real 
estate to others; managing real estate for others; selling, buying, or 
renting real estate for others; and providing other real estate 
services, such as appraisal services. This use permits the 
employment of up to four real estate agents.  

P  

Residential storage 
facility  

A building or buildings consisting of individual, small, self-contained 
units that are leased or owned for the storage of household goods.  

S  

Quick service oil, 
tune-up, brake and 
muffler shops  

Shops where maintenance repairs are made in fully enclosed bays, 
and where such repairs are typically completed in less than two 
hours.  

S  

Lodging: Short-

Term Housing 

Rental (STHR) 

A property with a residential dwelling where lodging is 

offered, advertised, or provided to Short-Term Rental Tenants 

(excluding family members) for a fee or any form of 

compensation with individual rental terms not exceeding 29 

consecutive dates. See specific use regulations in Article 

4.1.360 

S 

Recreation, Education, Safety, Public Assembly  

Civic and social 
organizations  

Establishments primarily engaged in promoting social welfare 
activities such as educational, scientific, cultural and health. (NAICS 

P  42

Item 10.



8132-34)  

Public services  

These uses include emergency service, buildings, or garages, (e.g., 
ambulance, fire, police, rescue, and public works) or other garages 
or areas where vehicles are stored and dispatched. (NAICS 62191, 
92212, 92216, see "Office" uses, below) This use does not include 
service garages.  

P  

Religious 
establishments 
(Small)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious organizations, such 
as churches, religious temples and /or establishments primarily 
engaged in administering an organized religion or promoting 
religious activities with no schools (except Sunday schools 
occupying no more than 50% of the floor area) as part of the 
complex and having less than 15,000 square feet of floor area.  

C  

Religious 
establishments 
(Large)  

Establishments engaged in operating religious organizations, such 
as churches, religious temples and /or establishments primarily 
engaged in administering an organized religion or promoting 
religious activities with or without schools (except Sunday schools 
occupying no more than 50% of the floor area) as part of the 
complex and having fifteen thousand or greater square feet of floor 
area (NAICS 813110).  

S  

Recreational 
institutional  

Nonprofit organizations chartered to provide community-based 
recreational services.  

C  

Infrastructure, Transportation, Communications  

Commercial 
communication 
towers  

A tower, pole or similar structure which supports a 
telecommunications antenna operated for commercial purposes 
above ground in a fixed location, freestanding or guyed, or atop a 
structure. This does not include television antennas or satellite 
dishes. Towers for radio or television station use are regulated as 
regional utilities. Speculation towers are prohibited.  

S  

"P" indicates a Use that is Permitted By Right.  
"C" indicates a Use that is Permitted with Conditions.  
"S" indicates a Use that is Permitted as a Special Use.  

 

43

Item 10.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL NECESSARY 
DOCUMENTS FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF RIGHT-OF-WAY OR TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENTS ON 

REAL PROPERTY ASSOCIATED WITH THE STUART POINT ROAD SIDEWALK PROJECT 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities & Safety Committee Meeting; November 18, 2024 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, P.E., Assistant County Administrator, Infrastructure  
(5 Minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

After the 2018 Transportation Sales Tax was approved by voters on November 6, 2018, County Council 
approved Resolution 2019/44 identifying the specific projects and authorizing the acquisition of all rights-of-
way needed by the County in order to complete the construction of projects associated with the Tax 
Referendum.  Additionally, Council approved Resolution 2021/20 establishing a right-of-way acquisition policy 
for the property associated with Tax Referendum projects. 

 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Project plans have been developed to provide for an 8-ft pathway along the north side of Stuart Point Road in 
the Seabrook area stretching for approximately 2 miles from US 21 to Delaney Circle. New right-of-way and 
temporary construction easements are needed on 38 parcels as identified in Exhibit A attached to the 
proposed Ordinance. Staff, working along side the project right-of-way agent, will negotiate directly with each 
landowner for the acquisition of necessary right-of-way and temporary construction easements in accordance 
with the thresholds identified in Resolution 2021/20. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Acquisition of right-of-way shall be at fair market value established by a licensed appraisal; Funded by the 
2018 One Percent Transportation Sales and Use Tax 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Approval to accept Right of Way interests or temporary construction easements for the parcels shown in 
Exhibit A, attached to the proposed Ordinance, that are associated with Stuart Point Road 8-ft Sidewalk  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny/amend an ordinance authorizing the County Administrator to execute any and all 
necessary documents for the acceptance of right-of-way or temporary construction easements on real 
property associated with the Stuart Point Road Sidewalk Project 

 

Next Step – three readings and a public hearing from County Council 

 

44

Item 11.



 

ORDINANCE 2024/___________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY 

AND ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF RIGHT-OF-WAY OR 

TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENTS ON REAL PROPERTY ASSOCIATED 

WITH THE STUART POINT ROAD SIDEWALK PROJECT 

 

WHEREAS, on November 6, 2018, the citizens of Beaufort County (“County”) approved the 2018 

One Cent Sales Tax Referendum to impose a One (1%) Percent Transportation Sales and Use Tax for not 

more than four (4) years, and to authorize the issue of General Obligation Bonds not to exceed One Hundred 

Twenty Million ($120,000,000) Dollars to fund transportation-related projects; hereinafter collectively 

referred to as the “Tax Referendum”; and  

 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council (“Council”) approved Resolution 2019/44 identifying the 

specific projects and authorizing the acquisition of right-of-way needed by the County in order to complete 

the construction of projects associated with the Tax Referendum.  Additionally, Council approved 

Resolution 2021/20 establishing a right-of-way acquisition policy for the property associated with Tax 

Referendum projects; and  

 

WHEREAS, the County desires to acquire the certain right-of-way and temporary construction 

easements necessary to meet the County, South Carolina Department of Transportation, and the Federal 

Highway Administration standards for the construction of an eight (8) foot wide sidewalk on Stuart Point 

Road in the Seabrook area of Beaufort County.  The acquisition area consists of the right-of-way or 

temporary construction easement areas shown in “Exhibit A” attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference. The project details provided herein and associated property described in Exhibit A are 

collectively hereinafter referred to as the “Stuart Point Road Sidewalk Project”; and 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Resolution 2019/44, Resolution 2021/20 and in order to establish 

just compensation, the County shall obtain appraisals for each of the right-of-way acquisitions.  Funds from 

the Tax Referendum shall fund the compensation to real property owners and any cost and fees associated 

with both the right-of-way acquisitions or temporary construction easements; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Council believes that it is in the best interest of its citizens to formalize the 

County’s right-of-way interest or temporary construction easements in real property, and as described in 

Exhibit A, that are associated with the Stuart Point Road Sidewalk Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Beaufort County Council hereby authorizes the 

County Administrator to execute any and all necessary documents for the acceptance of right-of-way or 

temporary construction easements on real property associated with the Stuart Point Road Sidewalk Project 

where said properties are further described in “Exhibit A”, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference.  

 

ADOPTED this _____ day of __________________, 2024. 

 

 

45

Item 11.



 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

  

  

 By: ______________________________________ 

   Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

    
 

 

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

 

Third and Final Reading: 

Public Hearing: 

Second Reading: 

First Reading: 

 

 

 

46

Item 11.



I 
Q,J 

I 
/ 

I 
Q,J 

I 

I 
rt, 

I 
I 

l 

Jo

I 
rt, 

15 

20 

NEW 52.5' TEMP. 
CONST. EASEMENT 

NEW TEMP. TRANS. 

CONST. EASEMENT 

1--

� 
8 
Lu 
<: 

� CD 
NEW 60.5' TEMP. 

CONST. EASEMENT 

25 

PRELIMINARY 

30 

r"O 

4 ® @ 

JE INFRASTRUCTURE
• CONSULTING & ENGINEERING

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION 
,_

R_EV_. N_ O�. __ B_Y_�_DA_TE� _____ DE_SC
�
R I _PT_IDN_OF_ R_EV_ ISI_ON ____ 

__, 
DESIGNED BY: �BL=W _ _ __ DATE XJ000000( 

DRAWN BY: �BL=W __ __ DATE XJ000000( 

CHECKED BY: JCH DATE Xl000<XXX SHEET 4C 

STATE COUNTY 

SC BEAUFORT 

35 

P041782 

BEAUFORT COUNTY 

ROAD /ROLJTE 

NO. 

S-70 

llJ 

:z 
:J 
:r: 

� 
� 

STUART POINT ROAD (S-70) 
SIDEWALK 

PROPERTY STRIP MAP 

SCALE: 1"-100' 

SHCIT 

"' 

4C 

EXHIBIT A, Page 1

47

Item 11.



JE INFRASTRUCTURE
• CONSULTING & ENGINEERING

PRELIMINARY ,___� -+------+----+--------------j 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION REV. NO. BY DATE DESCRIPTION OF REVISION 

DESIGNED BY: BLW DATE XJ000000( 

DRAWN BY: BLW DATE XJ000000( 

CHECKED BY: JCH DATE Xl000<XXX SHEET 4D 

STATE COUNTY PROJECT ID 

SC BEAUFORT P041782 

ROAD /ROLJTE SHEET 

NO. NO 

S-70 4D 

STUART POINT ROAD (S-70) 
SIDEWALK 

PROPERTY STRIP MAP 

SCALE: 1"-100' 

EXHIBIT A, Page 2

BEAUFORT COUNTY 

48

Item 11.



0 
'SI" 

w 
I 
(/) 

w 
w 
(/) 

70 75 

��'klf.'tisl//.tlffr 
EXISTING .3.3' R 

39•f�£W 
FILE 7.':0.� 

SEMENT 

---<. 
0 
C 
z 
Q 

J
EINFRASTRUC 

CONSULTING & ENGliE���

t10wr'ERTY LINE IS 
R/WLINE 

PRELIMINARY 
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION REV. NO. BY 

DESIGNED BY: 
DRAWN BY: 
CHECKED BY: 

BLW 
BLW 
JCH 

SC 

SHEET 4E 

ROA�6.ROLJTE 

BEAUFORT P041782 S-70 

BEAUFORT COUNTY 

STUART POINT ROAD 
SIDEWALK 

(S-?O) 

PROPERTY STRIP MAP 

SCALE: 1"-100' 

SH'IT 

"' 

4E 

EXHIBIT A, Page 3

49

Item 11.



_] 

Ip-

@?.,?;;,�-

8(u, -
NEW 37' TEMP. 

,__ ____ � _____.!cC�ON""S"'-T.-""'EA""SE!e!E£""-----.,:=-, 

r'!J 

r!l 

JE INFRASTRUCTURE
• CONSULTING & ENGINEERING

r'!J 

PRELIMINARY 
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION 1-' R

.:.:C
EV

"'-
. N=O·_L______::.:BY _ _L_.:::_DA

::.::
TE

_j_ ___ ____::c
DE=SC

:_,:
Rl
---'-
PTl=ON

'-'
O

"--
F

-"
RE=VIS=IO

-"-
N 

------l 
DES IGNED BY: �BL=W _ _ _  DATE XJ000000( 

D RAWN BY: BLW 

CHECKED BY: JCH 

DA TE XJ000000( 

DATE Xl000<XXX SHEET 4F 

STATE COUNTY PROJECT ID 

SC BEAUFORT P041782 

BEAUFORT COUNTY 

ROAD /ROLJTE 

NO. 

S-70 

STUART POINT ROAD (S-70) 
SIDEWALK 

PROPERTY STRIP MAP 

SCALE: 1"-100' 

SHCIT 

"' 

4F 

EXHIBIT A, Page 4

50

Item 11.



51

Item 11.



52

Item 11.



53

Item 11.



54

Item 11.



55

Item 11.



56

Item 11.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER INTO A 

LEASE AGREEMENT WITH MITCHELVILLE PRESERVATION PROJECT, INC. FOR 

SUITE 134 AND SUITE 142 OF THE COUNTY OWNED OFFICE BUILDING LOCATED 

AT 539 WILLIAM HILTON PARKWAY ON HILTON HEAD ISLAND 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee; November 18, 2024 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Hank Amundson – Special Assistant to the County Administrator; 5 Minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The Mitchelville Preservation Project, Inc., is a non-profit organization in Hilton Head Island that features, 
celebrates, promotes, and continues to research the rich history of the Historic Mitchelville in Beaufort 
County on Hilton Head Island. The non-profit is focused on preserving a historically significant site, known 
as the Historic Mitchelville Freedom Park, to reveal and American story of former slaves who created a 
culture of sacrifice, resistance and resilience.   

The Mitchelville Preservation Project, Inc. has occupied office space (Suite 134) at the County’s Hilton Head 
Government Center for several years without a lease in place.  Recently, due to the growth and success of 
the non-profit featuring the rich history of Mitchelville, they have requested an additional room (Suite 142).   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The ordinance will bring the existing use of the County Office space into compliance and allow the continued 
operation of the Mitchelville Preservation Project, Inc.’s administrative offices moving forward. 

The proposed lease is to include the currently occupied Suite 134 as well as Suite 142 that will be used by 
the Finance Director. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The lease rate established in accordance with the Beaufort County Lease Policy, the applicable section of 
the Policy provides:  
The administrator may in its discretion reduce the lease rate to a nominal amount if determined the use of 
the Property is a benefit to the community that would not otherwise be available with an increased lease 
rate.  The reduced lease rate described in this Section must be presented to County Council and receive a 
majority vote approval.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Approve a lease with Mitchelville Preservation Project, Inc. at a nominal rate for use of Suite 134 and 
Suite 142 at the County’s Hilton Head Government Offices located at 539 William Hilton Parkway, Hilton 
Head Island 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to disapprove. 
Move forward to Council on December 8, 2024; public hearing is required.   

 
57

Item 12.



1 
 

ORDINANCE 2024/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER 

INTO A LEASE AGREEMENT WITH MITCHELVILLE PRESERVATION PROJECT, 

INC. FOR SUITE 134 AND SUITE 142 OF THE COUNTY OWNED OFFICE BUILDING 

LOCATED AT 539 WILLIAM HILTON PARKWAY ON HILTON HEAD ISLAND 

 WHEREAS, Beaufort County (“County”) is the fee simple owner of the property located 

at 539 William Hilton Parkway, Hilton Head Island, South Carolina 29928 (“Property”); and   

 WHEREAS, Mitchelville Preservation Project, Inc. is a non-profit organization located on 

Hilton Head Island that features, celebrates, promotes, and continues to research the rich history 

of the Historic Mitchelville in Beaufort County on Hilton Head Island; and   

 WHEREAS, the County desires to lease a portion of the Property, Suite 134 and Suite 

142, to Mitchelville Preservation Project, Inc. for the operation of its administrative and finance 

offices; and  

 WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and 

residents of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to enter into a lease with Mitchelville 

Preservation Project, Inc. to occupy Suite 134 and Suite 142 in the County’s office building located 

at 539 William Hilton Parkway on Hilton Head Island at a nominal rate to include all costs.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Beaufort County Council, duly 

assembled, does hereby authorize the County Administrator to enter into a lease agreement with 

Mitchelville Preservation Project, Inc. for Suite 134 and Suite 142 of the County owned office 

building located at 539 William Hilton Parkway on Hilton Head Island.  

 

Adopted this ____ day of __________, 2024.  

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

 

BY:        

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST:  

 

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

58

Item 12.



145 
.llfEll,E 

101 

14+ 
£lfElCt 

101 

143 
lllllll: 

101 

,., 
lllm£

•o, 

140 
.llEElGE 

119 

138 
.0EEIC£ 

99 

146 
.IHllZ. 

180 

134 
� 

199 

135 
lmCE

94 

138 
� 

10! 

133 
<XHEBEHCE 89CN 

141 
.llEEl:E 

180 

= 

139 
.llEECf. 

1;)3 

137 
.llEEICE 

119 

101 
.llfEl;E; 

212 

1D1A 

w 
1!15 

1211 
.11:Ilc.: 

1+1 

105 
l.lllli%

43J 

100 
fll?Ell

139 

128A 
.llEECf. 

98 

103A 

T 
150 

104 
BREM RQCl4 

81 

103 
.llEECf. 

252 

120 
J:iE.NfflGRP<N 

356 

117 
lllli.Jl£ElC£ 

108 
.llfEllz:: 

356 

FIRST FLOOR 
8,298 SQFT 

203 
liBIWt 

519 

201 �I
ir

HVAC SJRw:E 
JBll 

SECOND FLOOR 
1,005 SQFT 

9,303 GENERAL 

SQUARE FOOTAGE 

HEERY 
5540 CENTE:RV1£Y l'Rl VE � U l"T E 4 1 6
tALtiC><7 IG1)1, ""'%"" � 

PH'llNE:i 91 '3-8�4-'3080 
F'AX• 919-B:5-<--9:)97 

_A 
Fifth Dimentia'I 

AutoCAD Services 

II� 8 
!f, 

1769 

I 
I-

ID 

::J >- N 
0 < Ol <t 
(/J 3: Ol z 

�N :; 
D a:: °' 

0::: < (.) <t 
w a.. en u 

I 

1-zo ,-
:::J Zoz D 

w f- <( V, 

U .....l....J 
>-. - (/) I_ ,-z 1-�a El

z < < u 
W::JW I-

�...JI g\ 
Z �z ':J 
O::: ai

O j

wn� "'

> LI') :i:
0 
0 

Government 
Center 
South 

Buil011ng I 49 

GSf:9,303 
539 Vllllo.r: Hilton Pkwy 

t-lH l!.
-. 

Sc 29926 

Dcita: AuQun i!, 2002 
Project f OIOJJ-00
SaCII•: NTS 

59

Item 12.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE PLACING LAND PURCHASED BY PROJECT MICRO INTO AN 
EXISTING MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL PARK 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee November 25, 2024  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

John O’Toole, Executive Director, Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation 

10 Minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Placing Project Micro into existing Multi County Industrial Park. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Placing projects in MCIP will allow the company to take advantage of an additional $1,000 job tax 
credit per net new job. These credits can be used towards the company’s corporate income tax over a 
five-year period as long as the jobs are maintained. 
 
Project Micro is locating their operations to Beaufort County into an existing facility at Garden’s 
Corner. The company is expected to invest $7.1 million and create 42 new jobs over the next five 
years.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Allocation of revenue would be 99% to Beaufort County and 1% to Jasper County in the Beaufort 
County portion of the park and 99% to Jasper County and 1% to Beaufort County in the Jasper County 
portion of the park. This project would fall within the Beaufort County portion of the park. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

The BCEDC recommends moving forward with the MCIP for Project Micro. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

1. Recommend MCIP agreement between Beaufort County and Jasper County to full County 
Council for approval. 

2. Not approve. 

 

60

Item 13.



  ____________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 5 
HSB #9550256 v1 

ORDINANCE 2025/________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AUTHORIZE AND APPROVE A MULTI-COUNTY PARK 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN BEAUFORT COUNTY AND JASPER COUNTY 
(PROJECT MICRO); TO REQUIRE THE PAYMENT OF A FEE IN LIEU OF AD 
VALOREM TAXES BY BUSINESSES AND INDUSTRIES LOCATED IN THE PARK; 
TO PROVIDE FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OF PARK REVENUES WITHIN 
BEAUFORT COUNTY; AND TO ADDRESS OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 
 
Be it ordained by the Council of Beaufort County, South Carolina: 
 
Section 1. Findings and Determinations; Purpose. 
 
 (a) The Council finds and determines that: 
  (1) the County is authorized by art. VIII, section 13(D) of the South Carolina 
Constitution and by Sections 4-1-170, -172 and -175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 
1976, as amended, to jointly develop, in conjunction with contiguous counties, industrial and 
business parks (“multi-county parks”); 
  (2) the use of multi-county parks is important in attracting and encouraging the 
investment and retention of capital and the retention and creation of jobs in the County. 

(b) It is the purpose of this ordinance to authorize and approve a multi-county park 
agreement with Jasper County (the “Park”). 
 
Section 2. Approval of Park Agreement; Authority of Officials. 
 
 (a) The Council Chair is authorized, empowered and directed, in the name of and on 
behalf of Beaufort County, to execute, acknowledge, and deliver a Multi-County Park 
Agreement between Beaufort County, South Carolina and Jasper County, South Carolina 
(Project Micro) (the “Park Agreement”).  The Clerk to Council is authorized to attest the 
execution of the Park Agreement by the Council Chair.  The form of the Park Agreement is 
attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A and all terms, provisions and conditions of the Park 
Agreement are incorporated into this ordinance as if the Park Agreement were set out in this 
ordinance in its entirety.  By adoption of this ordinance, Council approves the Park Agreement 
and all of its terms, provisions and conditions.  The Park Agreement is to be in substantially the 
form as attached to this ordinance and hereby approved, or with such changes therein as the 
Council Chair determines, upon advice of counsel, necessary and that do not materially change 
the matters contained in the form of the Park Agreement. 
 (b) Prior to the execution of the Park Agreement as provided in subsection (a) of this 
Section 2, the Council Chair is authorized and directed to remove any property from the schedule 
of properties proposed to be included in the Park if at such time the property is located inside the 
boundaries of a municipality and the municipality has not consented to the creation of the Park as 
required by Section 4-1-170(C) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, unless 
the property was previously included in another multi-county park. 
 (c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section 2, the Council 
Chair is authorized to execute the Park Agreement only upon the public announcement, 

61

Item 13.



  ____________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 5 
HSB #9550256 v1 

including revelation of the company name, by the Company of its intentions to locate and 
develop the project on the property described in the Park Agreement. 
 
Section 3. Payment of Fee in Lieu of Tax. 
 
The businesses and industries located in the Park must pay a fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes as 
provided for in the Park Agreement.  With respect to properties located in the Beaufort County 
portion of the Park, the fee paid in lieu of ad valorem taxes shall be paid to the Treasurer of 
Beaufort County and the portion of fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes allocated pursuant to the Park 
Agreement to Jasper County shall be thereafter paid by the Treasurer of Beaufort County to the 
Treasurer of Jasper County within forty-five (45) business days of receipt for distribution in 
accordance with the Park Agreement.  With respect to properties located in the Jasper County 
portion of the Park, the fee paid in lieu of ad valorem taxes shall be paid to the Treasurer of 
Jasper County and the portion of the fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes allocated pursuant to the 
Park Agreement to Beaufort County shall thereafter be paid by the Treasurer of Jasper County to 
the Treasurer of Beaufort County within forty-five (45) business days of receipt for distribution 
in accordance with the Park Agreement.  The provisions of Section 12-2-90, Code of Laws of 
South Carolina 1976, as amended, or any successor statutes or provisions, apply to the collection 
and enforcement of the fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes. 
 
Section 4. Applicable Ordinances and Regulations. 
 
Any applicable ordinances and regulations of Beaufort County concerning zoning, health and 
safety, and building code requirements shall apply to the Park properties in Beaufort County 
unless the properties are within the boundaries of a municipality in which case the municipality’s 
applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply.  Any applicable ordinances and regulations of 
Jasper County concerning zoning, health and safety, and building code requirements shall apply 
to the Park properties in Jasper County unless the properties are within the boundaries of a 
municipality in which case the municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply. 
 
Section 5. Law Enforcement Jurisdiction. 
 
Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and power within the boundaries of the 
Park properties in Beaufort County is vested with the Sheriff’s Department of Beaufort County.  
Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and power within the boundaries of the 
Park properties in Jasper County is vested with the Sheriff’s Department of Jasper County.  If 
any of the Park properties located in either Beaufort County or Jasper County are within the 
boundaries of a municipality, then jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise law enforcement 
jurisdiction is vested with the law enforcement officials of the municipality. 
 
Section 6. Distribution of Revenue. 
 
 (a) Revenues generated from industries or businesses located in the Beaufort County 
portion of the Park to be retained by Beaufort County shall be distributed within Beaufort 
County in accordance with this subsection: 
  (1)  First, unless Beaufort County elects to pay or credit the same from only those 

62

Item 13.



  ____________________________________ 
 

Page 3 of 5 
HSB #9550256 v1 

revenues which Beaufort County would otherwise be entitled to receive as provided under item 
(3) below, to pay annual debt service on any special source revenue bonds issued by Beaufort 
County pursuant to, or to be utilized as a credit in the manner provided in Section 4-1-175, Code 
of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended; 
  (2) Second, at the option of Beaufort County, to reimburse Beaufort County for 
any expenses incurred by it in the administration, development, operation, maintenance and 
promotion of the Park or the industries and businesses located therein or for other economic 
development purposes of Beaufort County; and 
  (3) Third, to those taxing entities in which the property is located, in the same 
manner and proportion that the millage levied for the taxing entities would be distributed if the 
property were taxable for that year. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section: 
  (1) all taxing entities which overlap the applicable properties within the Park shall 
receive at least some portion of the revenues generated from such properties; and 
  (2) all revenues receivable by a taxing entity in a fiscal year shall be allocated to 
operations and maintenance and to debt service as determined by the governing body of the 
taxing entity. 
 
Section 7. Conflicting Provisions. 
 
To the extent this ordinance contains provisions that conflict with provisions contained 
elsewhere in the Beaufort County Code or other Beaufort County orders, resolutions and 
ordinances, the provisions contained in this ordinance supersede all other provisions and this 
ordinance is controlling. 
 
Section 8. Severability. 
 
If any section of this ordinance is, for any reason, determined to be void or invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, it shall not affect the validity of any other section of this ordinance which 
is not itself void or invalid. 
 
Section 9. Effective Date. 
 
This ordinance is effective upon third reading. 
 

SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE. 
 

63

Item 13.



  ____________________________________ 
 

Page 4 of 5 
HSB #9550256 v1 

Adopted this ____ day of __________, 2025.  
 

 
      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
 
 
      By: __________________________________ 
       Joseph Passiment, Chair 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 
  
First Reading:   ___________, 2024 
Second Reading:  ___________, 2024   
Public Hearing:  ___________, 2024 
Third and Final Reading: ___________, 2024 
 
 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

64

Item 13.



  ____________________________________ 
 

Page 5 of 5 
HSB #9550256 v1 

Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 2024/ ____ 
 

Multi-County Park Agreement 
(Project Micro) 

between 
Beaufort County, South Carolina and Jasper County, South Carolina 

 
See attached. 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

 
 

65

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

MULTI-COUNTY PARK AGREEMENT 

(PROJECT MICRO) 

 

between 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

and 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

Dated as of ______________, 2024 

 

 

66

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 
2 

Multi-County Park Agreement 

Project Micro 

 

This MULTI-COUNTY PARK AGREEMENT (Project Micro) is made and entered into as of the 

__ day of ___________, 2024, by and between BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“Beaufort 

County”) and JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“Jasper County”) (collectively, Beaufort County 

and Jasper County are the “Parties”), each a body politic and corporate, a political subdivision of the State 

of South Carolina (“Park Agreement”). 

 

In consideration of the mutual agreements, representations and benefits contained in this Park 

Agreement and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 

acknowledged, Beaufort County and Jasper County agree as follows: 

 

1. Effective Date.  This Park Agreement is effective at 12:00 a.m. (midnight), 

[___________}, 2024 (the “Effective Date”). 

 

2. Authorization.  Article VIII, section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution and Sections 

4-1-170, -172, and -175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “MCP Law”), 

authorizes contiguous counties to jointly develop industrial and business parks within the geographical 

boundaries of one or more of the participating counties.  Beaufort County authorized and approved this 

Park Agreement by passage of Ordinance No. _____________ and Jasper County authorized and approved 

this Park Agreement by passage of Ordinance No. _____________. 

 

3. Purpose.  The purpose of this Park Agreement is to (i) provide for the establishment of a 

multi-county park in accordance with the MCP Law and (ii) encourage the investment of capital and the 

creation of jobs in Beaufort County and Jasper County.  

 

4. Agreement to Develop Park.  The Parties agree to jointly develop an industrial and business 

park in accordance with the MCP Law and the terms and conditions of this Park Agreement (the “Park”). 

 

5. The Park.  (A)  Location.  The Park consists of certain property located in Beaufort County 

as further identified in Exhibit A (Beaufort County) to this Park Agreement, and property located in Jasper 

County, as further identified in Exhibit B (Jasper County), to this Park Agreement.  The Park may consist 

of non-contiguous properties within each county.  The Parties acknowledge that on the Effective Date, the 

Park does not contain any property located in Jasper County. 

 

(B)  Addition and Removal of Property.    

 

(1) County Action.  Property may be added to or removed from the Park by 

ordinance of the county in which the subject property is located, provided that the host county shall provide 

notice to the non-host county as well as revised exhibits pursuant to subsection (2) below.     

 

(2) Revised Exhibits.  If property is added to or removed from the Park, this 

Park Agreement is deemed amended and a revised Exhibit A (Beaufort County) or Exhibit B (Jasper 

County), as applicable, shall be prepared by the county in which the added or removed property is located.  

The revised exhibit must contain a description or other identification of the properties included in the Park, 

after the addition or removal.  A copy of the revised exhibit shall be provided to the Administrator, Clerk 

to Council, Assessor, Auditor and Treasurer of Beaufort County and Jasper County. 

 

(3) Public Hearings and Notice.  Prior to the adoption by either county of an 

ordinance authorizing the removal of property from the Park, the county council in the county in which the 

67

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 
3 

property to be removed is located, shall hold a public hearing.  The county that will conduct the public 

hearing must give notice of the public hearing by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

county in which the public hearing will be held at least once and not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the 

public hearing.  Notice of the public hearing shall also be served in the manner of service of process at least 

fifteen (15) days prior to the public hearing upon the owner of the real property and, if applicable and 

known, the lessee of any real property which would be removed from the Park. 

 

6. Fee in Lieu of Taxes.  Pursuant to article VIII, section 13(D), of the South Carolina 

Constitution, all property located in the Park is exempt from all ad valorem taxation.  The owners or lessees 

of any property situated in the Park shall pay in accordance with this Park Agreement and the MCP Law 

an amount equivalent to the ad valorem property taxes or other in-lieu-of payments that would have been 

due and payable but for the location of the property within the Park (“Fee in Lieu of Taxes” or “FILOT”). 

 

7. Allocation of Expenses.  Beaufort County and Jasper County shall bear the expenses for 

the development, operation, maintenance and promotion of the Park and the cost of providing public 

services, in the following proportions: 

 

If property is in the Beaufort County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County   100% 

(2) Jasper County        0% 

 

If property is in the Jasper County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County       0% 

(2) Jasper County    100% 

 

8. Allocation of Revenues.  Beaufort County and Jasper County shall receive an allocation of 

revenue generated by the Park through payment of Fee in Lieu of Taxes (net of any special source revenue 

bond payments or special source revenue credits) in the following proportions: 

 

If property is in the Beaufort County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County   99% 

(2) Jasper County         1% 

 

If property is in the Jasper County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County     1% 

(2) Jasper County    99% 

 

9. Revenue Allocation Within Each County.   

 

(A)  Host County.  Revenues generated by the Park through the payment of Fee in Lieu of 

Taxes shall be distributed to Beaufort County and to Jasper County, as applicable, according to the 

proportions established by Paragraph 8 of this Park Agreement.  With respect to revenues allocable to 

Beaufort County or Jasper County by way of FILOT generated within the respective county (the “Host 

County”), such revenue shall be distributed within the Host County in the manner provided by ordinance 

of the council of the Host County; provided, that (i) all taxing districts which overlap the applicable revenue-

generating portion of the Park shall receive at least some portion of the revenues generated from such 

portion, and (ii) with respect to amounts received in any fiscal year by a taxing entity, the governing body 

68

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 
4 

of the taxing entity shall allocate the revenues received between operations and debt service of the taxing 

entity.  Each Host County is specifically authorized to use a portion of the revenue for economic 

development purposes as permitted by law and as established by ordinance of the council of the Host 

County. 

 

(B)  Non-Host County.  Revenues allocable to Beaufort County by way of FILOT generated 

within Jasper County shall be distributed solely to Beaufort County.  Revenues allocated to Jasper County 

by way of FILOT generated within Beaufort County shall be distributed solely to Jasper County. 

 

10. Fees In Lieu of Taxes Pursuant to Title 4 and Title 12 Code of Laws of South Carolina.  

The Parties agree that the entry by Beaufort County into any one or more fee in lieu of tax agreements 

pursuant to Title 4 or Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“Negotiated Fee-

in-Lieu of Tax Agreements”), with respect to property located within the Beaufort County portion of the 

Park and the terms of those agreements shall be at the sole discretion of Beaufort County.  The Parties 

further agree that entry by Jasper County into any one or more Negotiated Fee-in-Lieu of Tax Agreements 

with respect to property located within the Jasper County portion of the Park and the terms of those 

agreements shall be at the sole discretion of Jasper County. 

 

11. Assessed Valuation.  For the purpose of calculating the bonded indebtedness limitation and 

for the purpose of computing the index of taxpaying ability pursuant to Section 59-20-20(3) of the Code of 

Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, allocation of the assessed value of property within the Park to 

Beaufort County and Jasper County and to each of the taxing entities within the participating counties shall 

be identical to the allocation of revenue received and retained by each of the counties and by each of the 

taxing entities within the participating counties, pursuant to Paragraphs 8 and 9 of this Park Agreement. 

 

12. Applicable Regulations.  Any applicable ordinances and regulations of Jasper County 

concerning zoning, health and safety, and building code requirements shall apply to the Park properties in 

Jasper County unless the properties are within the boundaries of a municipality in which case the 

municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply.  Any applicable ordinances and 

regulations of Beaufort County concerning zoning, health and safety, and building code requirements shall 

apply to the Park properties in Beaufort County unless the properties are within the boundaries of a 

municipality in which case the municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply. 

 

13. Law Enforcement Jurisdiction.  Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and 

power within the boundaries of the Park properties in Jasper County is vested with the Sheriff’s Department 

of Jasper County.  Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and power within the boundaries 

of the Park properties in Beaufort County is vested with the Sheriff’s Department of Beaufort County.  If 

any of the Park properties located in either Jasper County or Beaufort County are within the boundaries of 

a municipality, then jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise law enforcement jurisdiction is vested with 

the law enforcement officials of the municipality. 

 

14. Severability.  If any provision or any part of a provision of this Park Agreement is held 

invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 

unenforceable the remainder of that provision or any other provision or part of a provision of this Park 

Agreement. 

 

15. Amendments.  The provisions of this Park Agreement may be modified or amended only 

in a writing signed by the Parties. 

 

16. Headings and Catch Lines.  The headings of the paragraphs and subparagraphs of this Park 

Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Park Agreement. 

69

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 
5 

 

17. Governing Law.  This Park Agreement, and all documents executed in connection with it, 

shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

 

18. Counterparts.  This Park Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and 

all of the counterparts taken together constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

19. Binding Agreement.  This Park Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit 

of the respective Parties. 

 

20. Merger.  This Park Agreement, and all documents executed in connection with it, express 

the entire understanding and all agreements of the Parties with each other, and neither Beaufort County nor 

Jasper County has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any representation to the other party which 

is not expressly set forth in this Park Agreement. 

 

21. Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition 

of this Park Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party.  The failure or delay on the part of 

any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof, 

nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, power, or remedy preclude any other or further 

exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, or remedy hereunder.  No waiver of any provision 

hereof shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the waiving party hereto. 

 

22. Termination.   

 

(A)  Duration and Renewal.  This Park Agreement commences on the Effective Date and 

shall continue with respect to each parcel included in the Park for at least the duration of any special source 

revenue credits applicable to such parcel. 

 

(B)  Mutual Termination.  Notwithstanding the provisions of subparagraph (A) of this 

Paragraph 22, the Parties may mutually agree to terminate this Park Agreement at any time upon passage 

of an ordinance to that effect by each county and after conducting a public hearing and giving notice as set 

forth in subparagraph (B)(3) of Paragraph 5 of this Park Agreement. 

  
SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE. 

 

70

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 
6 

WITNESS our hands and seals as of the date first above written. 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

  By:       

  Joseph Passiment, Chair, County Council 

 

 

   

ATTEST: 

 

      

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

 

[Additional Signature Page Follows] 

 

  

  

71

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 
7 

 JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 By:       

  L. Martin Sauls, IV, Chair, County Council 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Wanda Simmons, Clerk to Council 

 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

  

72

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 
8 

EXHIBIT A (Beaufort County) 

 

Beaufort County Property 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

 

 

73

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 

PROJECT MICRO 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

[_________] 

 
 

  

74

Item 13.



HSB #9550282 v1 

 

EXHIBIT B (Jasper County) 

 

Jasper County Property 

 

NONE AS OF [___________], 2024 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

 

 

75

Item 13.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR BEAUFORT COUNTY TO ENTER INTO A SPECIAL SOURCE 
REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH PROJECT MICRO 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee – November 25, 2024 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

John O’Toole, Executive Director, Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation 

10 Minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Providing a Special Source Revenue Credit (SSRC) to Project Micro. This SSRC will act as a 
base FILOT equivalent – allowing the company to pay the equivalent of a 6% tax rate over a 
20-year period. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Project Micro is locating their operations to Beaufort County into an existing facility at Garden’s 
Corner. The company is expected to invest $7.1 million and create 42 new jobs over the next five 
years. 
 
Due to the facility being existing versus new construction, they are not eligible for a FILOT agreement. 
In order to offer benefits on par with a base FILOT, the BCEDC would like to pursue a special source 
revenue credit that is the tax equivalent to a base FILOT – 6% tax rate over a 20-year period. This will 
be added to an existing MCIP with Jasper County. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Company will be offered equivalent to base FILOT – 6% over 20-year period. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

The BCEDC recommends moving forward with the SSRC for Project Micro. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

1. Recommend SSRC agreement to full County Council for approval. 
2. Not approve. 

 

76

Item 14.



 1 
HSB #9549877 v1 

 

ORDINANCE 2025/_____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A SPECIAL 

SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND AMONG BEAUFORT COUNTY, 

SOUTH CAROLINA AND PROJECT MICRO, PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 

THERETO. 

 

 WHEREAS, Beaufort County (the “County”), a public body corporate and politic under 

the laws of the State of South Carolina, and Project Micro (the “Company”) desire to enter into a 

Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement (the “SSRC Agreement”), for a project qualifying 

under the provisions of Section 4-29-68 and Title 1, Chapter 4, Sections 170 through 175 of the 

Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Act”), concerning the establishment of 

its headquarters, as well as a warehousing and assembly facility supporting the aerospace, defense 

and space industry in the County through the acquisition of a building and related improvements 

thereon and/or therein; the construction of additional improvements; and/or the acquisition of 

personal property, including, but not limited to, all equipment, machinery, and/or furnishings, the 

cost of which is estimated to be $7,109,000 over five years, and which is anticipated to create 

approximately 42 new, full-time jobs in the County (the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Project is expected to provide significant economic benefits to the County 

and surrounding areas; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Company to locate the Project in the County, the 

County has agreed to make available to the Company certain benefits intended by the Act; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Company has caused to be prepared and presented to the Beaufort County 

Council, the governing body of the County (the “County Council”), the SSRC Agreement, a copy 

of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and  

 WHEREAS, it appears that the SSRC Agreement is an appropriate instrument to be 

executed and delivered or approved by the County for the purposes intended.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council in meeting duly 

assembled as follows: 

Section 1.  The County Council has made and hereby makes the following 

findings: 

 

(a) It is anticipated that the Project will benefit the general public welfare of the 

County by providing services, employment and other public benefits not otherwise adequately 

provided locally; 

 

(b) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and 

public purposes; 

77

Item 14.



 2 
HSB #9549877 v1 

 

(c) It is anticipated that the cost of planning, designing, acquiring, constructing and 

completing the Project will require expenditures of not less than $7,109,000;  

 

(d) The benefits of the Project to the public are greater than the costs to the public; 

 

(e) Neither the Project nor any documents or agreements entered into by the County 

in connection therewith will give rise to any pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated 

municipality or to any charge against its general credit or taxing power. 

 

Section 2. In order to promote industry, develop trade and utilize the manpower, 

products, and natural resources of the State of South Carolina, the form, terms, and provisions of the 

SSRC Agreement which is attached hereto are hereby approved, and all of the terms, provisions and 

conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if the SSRC Agreement was set 

out in this Ordinance in its entirety.  The Chairman of County Council and the Clerk to County 

Council are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the 

SSRC Agreement to the Company, together with such changes as are not materially adverse to the 

County. 

 

Section 3. The Chair of County Council and the Clerk to County Council, for and on 

behalf of the County, are hereby each authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary to 

effect the execution and delivery of the SSRC Agreement and the performance of all obligations of 

the County under and pursuant to the SSRC Agreement. 

 

Section 4. The consummation of all transactions contemplated by the SSRC 

Agreement is hereby approved. 

 

Section 5.  This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with 

the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

 

Section 6. The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and 

if any section, phrase or provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the 

remainder of the sections, phrases and provisions hereunder.   

 

Section 7. All orders, resolutions, ordinances and parts thereof in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed and this Ordinance shall take effect and be in full 

force from and after its passage and approval. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Beaufort County Council, duly 

assembled, does hereby authorize the County Administrator to execute and deliver a special source 

revenue credit agreement by and among Beaufort County, South Carolina and Project Micro, 

providing for the issuance of special source revenue credits and other matters related thereto. 

 

 

78

Item 14.



 3 
HSB #9549877 v1 

 

Adopted this ____ day of __________, 2025.  

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

BY:        

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

ATTEST:  

   _____  

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

 

 

 

 

 

  

        

79

Item 14.



 4 
HSB #9549877 v1 

EXHIBIT A 

SSRC AGREEMENT 

80

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 

 

by and between 

 

 

PROJECT MICRO 

 

 

and 

 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 

 

 

[_______], 2024 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

81

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 2 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 

 This SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT (“Credit Agreement”) is 

made and entered into as of [______], 2024, by and among BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH 

CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of 

South Carolina (“State”), acting by and through the Beaufort County Council (“County Council”) 

as the governing body of the County and PROJECT MICRO, a [_______] limited liability 

company (“Company”).  

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 4, Section 1, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 

amended (“MCIP Act”), the County is authorized to develop multi-county industrial parks with 

other qualifying counties and, in its discretion, include within the boundaries of such parks the 

property of qualifying industries.  The County has created or will create with Jasper County, South 

Carolina a multi-county industrial park (“Park) pursuant to a multi-county industrial park 

agreement (“Park Agreement”) entered into pursuant to the terms of the MCIP Act; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in accordance with Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 

Constitution, real and personal property having a situs in a multi county industrial park, are exempt 

from all ad valorem taxation, however, the owners or lessees of such real and personal property 

are obligated to make, or cause to be made, annual payments in lieu of taxes to the County in the 

total amount equivalent to the ad valorem property taxes or other fee-in-lieu-of-taxes that would 

have been due and payable with respect to such real and personal property but for the location of 

such real and personal property within such park (each, a “Fee Payment”); and 

  

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council is authorized by Title 

4, Chapter 1 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, including Sections 4-1-170 

and 4-1-175 thereof, and Title 4, Chapter 29 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 

amended, including Section 4-29-68 (collectively, the “SSRC Act”), and Article VIII, Section 13 

of the South Carolina Constitution (i) to provide credits (“Special Source Revenue Credits” 

(“SSRC”)) for the purpose of defraying certain costs, including, without limitation, the cost of 

designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the infrastructure serving the County 

or the Project (defined herein) and for improved and unimproved real estate and personal property, 

including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 

commercial enterprise, all to enhance the economic development of the County; and (ii) to expand, 

in conjunction with one or more other counties, a multi-county industrial park in order to facilitate 

the grant of SSRCs; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Company is planning an investment consisting of the expenditure of 

approximately $7,109,000 in taxable investment (“Investment”) in connection with the acquisition 

by construction, lease, and/or purchase of certain land, buildings, furnishings, fixtures, and/or 

equipment and the creation of approximately 42 new, full-time jobs for the purpose of establishing 

its headquarters, as well as a warehousing and assembly facility supporting the aerospace, defense 

and space industry in the County (collectively, the “Project”); and  

 

82

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 3 

 WHEREAS, the Project will be located on real property located entirely in the County of 

Beaufort, with improvements thereon, which is described more fully in Exhibit A, attached hereto 

(“Project Site”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the County Council has determined that the Credit Agreement is an 

appropriate instrument to induce the Company to invest in the Project and create jobs in the 

County. 

  

 NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 

agreements contained in this Credit Agreement, the parties agree to the following: 

 

 Section 1. Representations of the Company and County.  

 

 Section 1.1 The Company makes the following representations and warranties as the basis 

for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

 

 (a) The Company is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing, and 

in good standing, under the laws of the State of [______], has power to enter into this Credit 

Agreement, and by proper corporate action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this 

Credit Agreement. 

 

 (b) The Company is or intends to become the owner of the Project Site. 

 

 (c) This Credit Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and 

constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with 

its terms except as enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws 

affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally. 

 

 (d) Neither the execution and delivery of this Credit Agreement, the consummation of 

the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and 

conditions of this Credit Agreement, will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, 

or provisions of any corporate restriction or any agreement or instrument to which the Company 

is now a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute a default under any of the foregoing, or 

result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever 

upon any of the property or assets of the Company, other than as may be created or permitted by 

this Credit Agreement. 

 

 (e) The agreement of the County to enter into this Credit Agreement and provide the 

SSRCs has been instrumental in inducing the Company to make the Investment in the Project. 

 

 Section 1.2 The County makes the following representations and warranties as the basis 

for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State 

which acts through the County Council as its governing body and by the provision of the Act is 

authorized and empowered to enter into the transactions contemplated by the Credit Agreement 

and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The County has duly authorized the execution and 

delivery of this Credit Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein or therein. 

83

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 4 

 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Credit Agreement, the consummation of 

the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and 

conditions of this Credit Agreement, will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, 

or provisions of any agreement or instrument to which the County is now a party or by which it is 

bound, or will constitute a default under any of the foregoing  

 

 Section 2. Fee Payments and SSRCs. 

 

 (a)  The County grants an annual 12% SSRC to the Company (and any assignee or 

Sponsor Affiliate compliant with the provisions of Section 12), for a period of twenty (20) years 

(“Credit Period”) against each annual Fee Payment due for Investments made in the Project that 

have been placed into service beginning in 2024 and by December 31, 2029 (“Investment Period”).  

Any SSRC provided under this Credit Agreement shall be used to reimburse the Company (and 

any assignee or Sponsor Affiliate, as applicable) for eligible expenditures, as permitted by the 

SSRC Act, which includes the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding 

the infrastructure serving the Project and Project Site, for improved or unimproved real estate, or 

for machinery and equipment. In no event shall the aggregate amount of SSRCs received as of any 

point in time exceed the amount of the aggregate amount of expenses toward such eligible 

expenditures as of such time by the Company (and any assignee or Sponsor Affiliate).  SSRCs 

shall first be deemed to apply to all Project expenses other than machinery and equipment, 

notwithstanding any statutory presumption to the contrary. 

 

(b) The Company (and any assignee or Sponsor Affiliate, as applicable) will file 

separate schedules with its annual PT-300 filing (or successor form), which shall include only 

assets placed in service from 2024 to 2029, with the South Carolina Department of Revenue to 

include only assets placed in service in the Investment Period described above.  This separate 

schedule should be clearly and unambiguously designated as “BEAUFORT COUNTY 2024 SSRC 

ASSETS,” and a copy of the schedules should be provided to the County Auditor each year.  

Failure to file a separate schedule and to provide a copy of such schedule to the County Auditor 

on or before August 1 of each year results in a waiver of any SSRCs due for the year of such 

failure. 

 

(c) The County shall credit the annual SSRCs against the payments in lieu of tax due 

to the County from the Company (and any assignee or Sponsor Affiliate, as applicable). 

 

 Section 3. Minimum Investment 

 

(a)  In the event the Company does not make and maintain an Investment of at least 

$2.5 million in the Project (including the investment of any assignee or Sponsor Affiliate as 

described in Section 12 below) within and as of the end of the Investment Period, the SSRCs as 

described in Section 2(a) above shall terminate both prospectively and retroactively, and the 

Company shall repay to the County any shortfall in the Net Fee Payments made under this Credit 

Agreement and the payments that would have been due and payable had this Credit Agreement 

not been in effect. 

 

(b)  Any amounts determined to be owing pursuant to this Section 3 shall be subject to 

interest at the rates in effect for the late payment of ad valorem taxes and shall be due within 180 

84

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 5 

days after the last day of the Investment Period. 

 

 Section 4.    Project Shall Remain in the Park. The County shall use its best efforts to 

ensure that the Project, once placed in the Park, will remain in the Park for a period not less than 

20 years.  If, for any reason, the Park Agreement is modified to exclude the Project, or is otherwise 

terminated, then the County will use its best efforts to ensure that the Project shall be immediately 

placed into another multi-county park arrangement to which the County is party and that would 

enable the Company to receive the SSRCs set forth in this Credit Agreement. 

 Section 5.    Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to 

be provided under this Credit Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named 

below or three business days after deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, 

return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or addressed to such other address 

as any party may subsequently furnish, in writing to the other party), except where the terms hereof 

require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such provision shall control: 

 

AS TO THE COUNTY: Beaufort County, South Carolina 

Attn: County Administrator 

100 Ribaut Road 

Beaufort, SC 29902 

 

WITH A COPY TO:  Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 

    Attn: Will Johnson 

    P.O. Box 11889 

Columbia, SC  29211-1889 

Wjohnson@hsblawfirm.com 

 

AS TO THE COMPANY: Project Micro 

 Attn:  President 

 [__________] 

 [__________] 

 

WITH A COPY TO:  [__________] 

    [__________] 

[__________] 

 

 Section 6. Binding Effect. This Credit Agreement is binding, in accordance with its 

terms, upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its respective successors and assigns. In 

the event of the dissolution of the County or the consolidation of any part of the County with any 

other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of the County to any other such political 

subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements of this Credit Agreement 

shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any entity, 

officer, board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of 

the County has been transferred. 

 

 Section 7. Counterparts. The parties may execute this Credit Agreement in any 

number of counterparts, in original or by PDF, facsimile, or electronic means, and all of the 

counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

85

Item 14.

mailto:Wjohnson@hsblawfirm.com


HSB #9549764 v4 6 

 

 Section 8. Governing Law. This Credit Agreement and all documents executed in 

connection with this Agreement are construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the 

State of South Carolina. To the extent of any conflict between the provisions of this Credit 

Agreement and the SSRC Act, the SSRC Act controls. 

 

 Section 9. Amendments. The parties may modify or amend this Credit Agreement 

only in a writing signed by the parties. 

 

 Section 10. Further Assurance. From time to time, the County shall execute and 

deliver to the Company any additional instruments as the Company reasonably requests to 

evidence or effectuate the purposes of this Credit Agreement, subject to any approvals required to 

be obtained from County Council. 

 

 Section 11. Severability. If any provision of this Credit Agreement is illegal, invalid, 

or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions remain unimpaired and any illegal, 

invalid, or unenforceable provision are reformed to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and 

enforceable intent and to afford the Company with the maximum benefits to be derived under this 

Credit Agreement and the SSRC Act, it being the intention of the County to offer the Company 

the strongest inducement possible to encourage the Company to proceed with the Project in the 

County. 

 

 Section 12. Assignment. This Credit Agreement may be assigned in whole or in part 

only with the prior written consent or subsequent written ratification of the County, except than an 

assignment to an “Affiliate” shall not require consent (but shall require written notice to the 

County).  An “Affiliate” is an entity or person that controls, is controlled by, or is under common 

control with another entity or person.  Control shall be defined as greater than 50% of the 

ownership interests or voting interests in an entity.  Provided, any assignee must execute a Joinder 

Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B and provide copies of its annual property tax 

filing to the County Auditor in the time period described in Section 2(b) above in order to receive 

SSRCs hereunder. 

 

 Upon execution of a Joinder Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, any 

Sponsor Affiliate duly executing such Joinder Agreement shall be entitled to all of the benefits of 

this Credit Agreement, and its investments shall be aggregated with the investments of the 

Company for purposes of Section 3 above, provided that the Sponsor Affiliate must provide copies 

of its annual property tax filing to the County Auditor in the time period described in Section 2(b) 

above in order to receive SSRCs hereunder. 

 

Section 13. Limited Obligation. THIS CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE SPECIAL 

SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS BECOMING DUE HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED 

OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY SOLELY FROM THE FEE 

PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNTY FOR THE PROJECT PURSUANT TO THE PARK 

AGREEMENT, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE A GENERAL 

OBLIGATION OR AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY 

WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE 

PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE X, SECTION 14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA 

CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY LIMITATION AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER 

86

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 7 

CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR ANY 

MUNICIPALITY OR A CHARGE AGAINST THEIR GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING 

POWER. THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR ANY 

MUNICIPALITY ARE NOT PLEDGED FOR THE SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS. 

(Signature Page Follows) 

  

  

87

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 8 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has 

caused this Credit Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County 

Council and to be attested by the Clerk to County Council as of the day and year first above written. 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

Signature:       

Name:  Joseph Passiment 

Title:  Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST: 

Signature:       

Name:  Sarah W. Brock 

Title:  Clerk to County Council 

 

88

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 9 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Credit Agreement to be executed 

in its name and on its behalf by its authorized officer as of the day and year first above written. 

 

PROJECT MICRO 

Signature:       

Name:        

Title:        

 

89

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 10 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
All those certain pieces, parcels or tracts of land, situate, lying and being in Sheldon Township, 
Beaufort County, South Carolina, consisting of 12.2 acres, more or less, and being shown on a 
plat prepared by George A.Z. Johnson, Sr., Surveyor, dated February 12, 1988, and as Parcels 
R-700-020-00-008, R700-020-00-009 and R700-020-00-009A and recorded in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds for Beaufort County, South Carolina in Plat Book 35 at Page 241. 

 

  

90

Item 14.



HSB #9549764 v4 11 

EXHIBIT B 

JOINDER AGREEMENT 
 

Reference is hereby made to (i) that certain Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement dated 

___________, 2024 (“Credit Agreement”) between Beaufort County, South Carolina (“County”) 

and a company identified as Project Micro (“Company”). 

 

1. Joinder to Credit Agreement.  The undersigned hereby (a) joins as a party to, and agrees 

to be bound by and subject to all of the terms and conditions of, the Credit Agreement; (b) 

acknowledges and agrees that (i) in accordance with Section 12 of the Credit Agreement, the 

undersigned has been designated as a Sponsor Affiliate by the Company for purposes of the Project 

and such designation has been consented to by the County in accordance with the Credit 

Agreement; and (ii) the undersigned shall have all of the rights and obligations of a Sponsor 

Affiliate as set forth in the Credit Agreement.  Provided, the Sponsor Affiliate must provide copies 

of its annual property tax filing to the County Auditor in the time period described in Section 2(b) 

of the Credit Agreement in order to receive SSRCs thereunder. 

 

2. Capitalized Terms.  All capitalized terms used but not defined in this Joinder Agreement 

shall have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement. 

 

3. Governing Law.  This Joinder Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of South Carolina, without regard to principles of choice of 

law.  

 

4. Notice.   Notices under Section 5 of the Credit Agreement shall be sent to: 

 

[                                 ] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be 

effective as of the date set forth below.  

 

_______________   _____________________________________  

Date      Name of Entity 

 

Signature: ____________________________        

Name:  ____________________________ 

Title:  ____________________________       

    

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company consents to the addition of the above-named 

entity becoming a Sponsor Affiliate under the Credit Agreement as of the date set forth above.  

 

Signature: ____________________________        

Name:  ____________________________ 

Title:  ____________________________       

Date:  ____________________________ 

91

Item 14.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO ORDINACE 2024/36, CONVEYING PROPERTY TO BEAUFORT 
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORBABLE HOUSING AND MEDICAL OFFICES IN 
BLUFFTON, SC. LOCATED AT 333 & 335 BUCKWALTER PARKWAY.  

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Community Services and Land Use Committee,  JANUARY 13, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Russel Baxley, BMH CEO & Hank Amundson, Special Assistant to the County Administrator (10 mins.)  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

In 2023, County Council approved the purchase of the 10.1 +/- acres located at 333 & 335 Buckwalter Parkway 
for the purpose of facilitating the development of affordable/workforce housing.  (See Ordinance Attached) 

In late 2023, with communication and assistance from the Town of Bluffton, the County began the process of 
partnering with Beaufort Memorial Hospital in this effort, as BMH has taken a leadership role in workforce 
housing in an effort to help their own workforce.  Additionally, the Town desires increased access to 
healthcare/medical services for its residents, so the partnership seemed to be a perfect one.   

As an additional support to the project, the seller, St. Andrew By-the-Sea United Methodist Church discounted 
the properties purchase price in order to help make the development feasible. 

Beaufort Memorial Hospital then applied for Low Income Housing Tax Credits from the State of South Carolina 
in late 2023/early 2024.  They have now been awarded these credits, making the project viable. 

The Town has assisted the County in the process of working toward acquiring Residential Dwelling Units for the 
property from the Town’s bank as they continue to express support for the project producing workforce 
housing units, improved access to healthcare services, and the reduction on commercial units on the site.  

The project has continued to progress, however, the language in our original ordinance to convey was a bit 
vague. BMH has requested some minor changes to the conveyance requirements to facilitate moving this 
project to reality.  

 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The proposed amendment takes the period of restriction to 30 years and spells out what happens if there is a 
failure to comply.   Mr. Baxley will explain in person. 
These changes help ensure the project’s viability and still protect the county’s financial interest. 
 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

This amendment to the ordinance conveying property has no fiscal impact. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of an amendment to the ordinance to convey the property to Beaufort Memorial 
Hospital for the development of affordable/workforce housing.  

92

Item 15.



 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

MOTION TO APPROVE/DENY “RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO AMEND ORDINACE 2024/36 
CONVEYING PROPERTY TO BEAUFORT MEMORIAL HOSPITAL FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORBABLE 
HOUSING AND MEDICAL OFFICES IN BLUFFTON, SC. LOCATED AT 333 & 335 BUCKWALTER PARKWAY.”   

(Motion to approve/deny recommendation and Move forward to County Council for first reading) 

MOVE FORWARD TO COUNCIL FOR FIRST READING ON JANUARY 27, 2025? 

 

93

Item 15.



ORDINANCE 2025/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ORDINANCE 2024/36 AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS TO CONVEY REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 333 & 335 BUCKWALTER PARKWAY FOR DEVELOPMENT OF 

WORKFORCE AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND MEDICAL FACILITIES; AND OTHER 

MATTERS RELATED THERETO  

   

WHEREAS, Beaufort County (“County”) recognizes that workforce and affordable housing is a 

serious public health and safety concern throughout the County, which places stress on individual families 

and communities at large from a lack of diversity in neighborhoods, a separation of the workforce from 

workplaces, imbalances in educational opportunities and community amenities, adverse impacts on child 

development, and a higher incidence of violent crime that affect low-income neighborhoods; and 

WHEREAS, Beaufort Memorial Hospital (“BMH”) has a goal to provide workforce and affordable 

housing for both healthcare employees and the public, and provide additional medical services throughout 

the County; and the Town of Bluffton (“Town”) has expressed a desire to support the goal of establishing 

affordable and workforce housing in the Town; and 

 WHEREAS, the County has identified two parcels of real property, owned by the County, located 

in southern Beaufort County in the Town, the parcels collectively consist of approximately 10.1 acres with 

TMS No.  R610 030 000 0712 0000, and with addresses of 333 and 335 Buckwalter Parkway; collectively 

hereinafter referred to as the “Property”.  The Property is conveniently located near grocery options, retail 

shopping, medical services, and multiple employment options, as well as public transit, which will further 

promote the County’s goal of providing citizens with much needed workforce and affordable housing and 

improved access to healthcare; and     

WHEREAS, the County desires to support BMH and the Town’s goals by conveying the Property 

to BMH for One and 00/100 ($1.00) Dollars for the purpose of developing workforce and affordable 

housing, and developing medical facilities to increase access to healthcare and medical in the area; and  

WHEREAS, the County will 1) ensure the conveyance of the Property is contingent on the Town 

approving the issuing of the necessary approvals and the residential dwelling units for the development of 

workforce and affordable housing on the Property; 2) place contractual obligations on BMH to ensure that 

the residential housing constructed on the Property is dedicated to workforce and affordable housing; 3) 

place contractual obligations on BMH to ensure that a maximum of 6,000 sq ft of medical facilities will be 

constructed on the Property and the maximum number of residential housing units will be constructed on 

the remaining Property; 4) place contractual obligations on BMH to ensure that development of the Property 

commences within three (3) years of the conveyance of the property; and 5) ensure the conveying deed for 

the Property shall include terms restricting the use of the Property to the purposes stated herein otherwise 

the Property, including all infrastructure thereon, shall revert back to the County; 5) ensure the conveying 

deed for the Property shall include terms restricting the use of the Property to the above-described 

Workforce housing and medical facilities for a period of thirty (30) years; and 6) ensure that if, at any time 

during the thirty-year period the Property ceases to be used for the above-described Workforce housing and 

medical facilities, the County shall have the options of (a) purchasing the Property from the Property’s 

owner for an amount equal to the fair market value of the improvements to the Property or (b) rescinding 

the covenants and restrictions affecting the Property in exchange for an amount equal to the fair market 

value of the Property at that time less the fair market value of the improvements thereon;  and 

 WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and 

residents of Beaufort County to convey the Property to BMH to develop workforce and affordable housing 

as well as improved access to healthcare.   

94

Item 15.

http://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/site_authlink.asp?p=%25R610%20030%20000%200712%200000%25&r=webgis.bcgov.net


 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by Beaufort County Council, duly assembled, 

authorizes the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents to convey the real property located 

at 333 & 335 Buckwalter Parkway for development of workforce and affordable housing and medical 

facilities pursuant to the terms and conditions described above.  

 

DONE this ____ day of ___________ 2025.  

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

 

 

BY:        

      Alice Howard, Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

95

Item 15.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE 
THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS PURCHASE OF REAL 
PROPERTY IDENTIFIED AS TAX MAP SERIAL NUMBER R300 028 000 128B 000, 128C, 128D AND ALSO 
KNOWN AS SEASIDE ROAD PDR 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Community Services and Land Use Committee, January 13, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Amanda Flake, Natural Resource Planner 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Rural and Critical Land Preservation Board recommended approval for due diligence on 11/9/23, CSLU 
recommended due diligence January 8, 2024, RCLP recommended purchase of PDR/Conservation easement 
on 11/14/24 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Seaside Road PDR is recommended for purchased conservation easement.   Seaside Road PDR would protect 
9.36 acres of active farmland, inland marsh migration and farming corridor off Seaside Road, near Club Bridge 
road and existing protected property (Sanders, Longwood).  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

$374,000 Beaufort County Rural and Critical Land Preservation Program Bond Referendum (Account # 4500) 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve PDR/Conservation Easement on Seaside Road 

Motion to modify PDR/Conservation Easement on Seaside Road 

Motion to reject PDR/Conservation Easement on Seaside Road  

If approved by committee, move to County Council on January 27, 2025 for first reading 

 

96

Item 16.



1 
 

ORDINANCE 2025/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE 

NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE PURCHASE OF TAX MAP 

SERIAL NUMBER TMS# R300 028 000 128B 0000, 128C, 128D AND ALSO KNOWN AS 

SEASIDE ROAD PDR. 

 

 WHEREAS, Seller wishes to sell and Purchaser wishes to purchase the development rights on 

property currently identified as TMS# R300 028 000 128B 0000, 128C, 128D of +/- 9.36 acres and also 

known as Seaside Road PDR; collectively hereinafter “Seaside Road” and 

 

 WHEREAS, the purchase of development rights of Seaside Road has been demonstrated to meet 

the Critical Lands Criteria of the Rural and Critical Lands Program (“RCLP”); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is within unincorporated Beaufort County and would protect active 

farmland and inland marsh migration and is located near two Rural and Critical Land Preservation 

Program properties, Longwood PDR and Sanders PDR,  

 WHEREAS, the proposal to purchase development rights for Seaside Road is for a conservation 

easement with a purchase price up to $374,000 plus closing costs; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed purchase of Seaside Road was presented to the Rural and Critical Land 

Preservation Board (RCLPB) at the November 14, 2024 meeting and the RCLPB unanimously 

recommended approval of the purchase; and  

 WHEREAS, the proposed purchase of Seaside Road was presented to the Community Services 

and Land Use Committee on January 13, 2025 meeting at which time it was referred to County Council; 

and 

WHEREAS, County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and residents of 

Beaufort County for the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents for the purchase of 

development rights on Seaside Road; 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Beaufort County Council, duly assembled, does 

hereby authorize the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents and provide funding up to 

$374,000 plus closing costs for the purchase of development rights on real property identified as TMS# 

R300 028 000 128B 0000, 128C, 128D and also known as Seaside Road.  

Adopted this ____ day of ______________, 2025.  

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

 

BY:        

             Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

ATTEST:  

 

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

97

Item 16.



  1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
     ) GRANT OF CONSERVATION EASEMENT 
COUNTY OF BEAUFORT  ) 

 
 
THIS GRANT OF CONSERVATION EASEMENT (hereinafter “Easement”) is made 

this ______ day of_____, by Luke Inabinett (hereinafter “Grantor”, having an address at 1034 
Seaside Road, St Helena South Carolina 29920 in favor of the Beaufort County Open Land Trust 
(hereinafter “Grantee”), a South Carolina charitable corporation and a publicly supported 
corporation organized and operated under §501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (hereinafter the “Code”) and not a private foundation under Code §509, with a business 
address at P. O. Box 75, Beaufort, SC 29901. 

 
WHEREAS, Grantor is the sole owner in fee simple of certain real property known as 

“Seaside Road” containing approximately nine and thirty six hundredths (9.36) acres, identified 
as a portion of Beaufort County TMS# R200 023 000 128C 0000, R300 023 000 128B 0000, 
R300 023 000 128D more particularly described in Exhibits “A” and incorporated herein by this 
reference (hereinafter the “Protected Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Protected Property possesses significant ecological and natural 
resources, and open space and scenic value, and historic or cultural values of great importance to 
Grantor, to Grantee and to the people of South Carolina and this nation, the protection of which 
will yield significant public benefit; and 

 
WHEREAS, in particular, the Protected Property in its existing relatively natural condition 

contributes very little nonpoint source pollution to the adjacent creeks and waterways due 
unobstructed wetlands and uplands surrounding all watercourses that provide for nutrient uptake 
and sediment deposition as well as the low percentage of impervious surface that reduces sources of 
pollution and nutrient loading; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property contains a diversity of relatively natural habitats including 

active and fallow agricultural fields, maritime forest,  all of which can support a variety of floral 
and faunal species; and  

WHEREAS the Protected Property consists of priority coastal plain bird stopover, 
foraging, and breeding habitat named in the regional South Atlantic Migratory Bird Initiative 
Plan including early successional habitat, managed pine forests of various successional stages, 
and longleaf pine forests; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Protected Property provides habitat or contains habitat with the potential 

to support numerous game and non-game mammals including, but not limited to white-tailed 
deer (Odocoileus virginianus), bobcat (Lynx rufus), fox squirrel (Sciurus niger), and numerous 
other avian, reptile, amphibian, insect, arachnid and mammal species that are of great importance 
to the public; and,   

 
WHEREAS, the Protected Property provides habitat or contains habitat with the potential 

to support wildlife habitat functions for neotropical migratory songbirds, wading birds, and 

98

Item 16.



  2 

diversity of game and non-game avian species including, but not limited to mourning dove 
(Zenaida macroura), wild turkey (Meleagris gallopavo), bald eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus), 
and barred owl (Strix varia); and  
 

WHEREAS, more specifically, the Protected Property contains habitat with the potential to 
support rare, threatened or endangered species and species of concern which have known 
occurrences in Beaufort County including but not limited to Spotted Turtle (Clemmys guttata),  the 
Eastern Diamondback Rattlesnake (Croatalus adamanteus), the Broad-striped Dwarf Siren 
(Pseudobranchus striatus), Woolly Dutchman’s-pipe (Aristolochia tomentosa), the Long-Horn 
Orchid (Habenaria quinqueseta), Creeping St. John’s-wort (Hypericum adpressum), Boykin’s 
Lobelia (Lobelia boykinii), Bluff Oak (Quercus austrina), Harper Beakrush (Phynchospora harperi)  
and Acid-swamp Yellow-eyed Grass (Xyris serotina);  and 

 
WHEREAS, all of the above fauna and flora in the list of threatened or endangered species 

and species of concern are listed as priority species for the South Carolina State Wildlife Action 
Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Protected Property is within the St Helena Island 8-digit HUC 

Watershed, and is part of a system supporting numerous high-quality wetland plant communities 
and highly intact, extensive riparian habitats;  

WHEREAS, the Protected Property will provide critical habitat linkages to nearby 
protected lands, including Longwood, and Sanders Farm; and  

 
WHEREAS, Preservation of the Protected Property is pursuant to federal, state and local 

governmental conservation policy and may achieve a significant public benefit towards the 
fulfillments of these conservation policies, specifically:   
 

i. The protection of this property is pursuant to the SC right-to-farm law (SC Code §46-45-
10) which states in part “The policy of the State is to conserve, protect, and encourage the 
development and improvement of its agricultural land and facilities for the production of 
food and other agricultural products” including silviculture or forestry; and 

ii. Beaufort County Comprehensive Plan and Greenprint Plan, adopted in 2020, identifying 
properties in rural areas, including the Protected Property, as important for the 
agricultural value, soil health, and contribution to a working rural landscape; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Protected Property has approximately xx acres of Soils of Statewide 

Importance as determined by USDA National Resources Conservation Service; and  
 

WHEREAS, by act of the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina, as enacted in 
South Carolina Code Ann. (1976, as amended) (hereinafter the “SC Code”) §48-59-10, et. Seq. 
(The South Carolina Conservation Bank Act of 2002) (hereinafter the “Bank”), South Carolina 
recognizes “There is a critical need to fund the preservation of, and public access to, wildlife 
habitats, outstanding natural areas, sites of unique ecological significance, historical sites, 
forestlands, farmlands, watersheds, and open space, and urban parklands as an essential element 
in the orderly development of the State” and “The protection of open space by acquisition of 
interests in real property from willing sellers is essential to ensure that the State continues to 

99

Item 16.



  3 

enjoy the benefits of wildlife habitats, forestlands, farmlands, parks, historical sites, and healthy 
streams, rivers, bays, and estuaries; for recreational purposes, for scientific study, for aesthetic 
appreciation, for protection of critical water resources, to maintain the state's position as an 
attractive location for visitors and new industry, and to preserve the opportunities of future 
generations to access and benefit from the existence of the state's outstanding natural and 
historical sites” is of great importance; and  
  

WHEREAS, the specific Conservation Values, as detailed in the Recitals above and 
outlined in Paragraph 1 below, are summarized hereunder and documented in a report on file at 
the Grantee’s office and incorporated herein by this reference (hereinafter the “Baseline 
Documentation”) and attached as Exhibit B, which consists of maps, reports and photographs 
(including aerial imagery and on-site photographs taken by a representative of the Grantee), and 
property review occurs prior to easement, and the parties agree that the Baseline Documentation 
provides, collectively, an accurate representation of the Protected Property at the time of this 
Easement and is intended to serve as an objective point of reference from which Grantee shall 
monitor and enforce compliance with the terms of this Easement; and 

 
WHEREAS, Grantor believes that through this Easement, the natural resources, habitat, 

beauty and unique ecological character of the Protected Property can be protected in a manner 
that permits continuing private ownership of land and its continued use and enjoyment; and 

 
WHEREAS, Grantor intends to preserve and protect the Conservation Values, as 

detailed in the Recitals above and outlined in Paragraph 1 below, in perpetuity; and 
 
WHEREAS, Grantor is willing to forego forever the right to fully exploit the financial 

potential of the Protected Property by encumbering the Protected Property with this Easement; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, by act of the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina, as enacted in 

South Carolina Code Ann. (1976, as amended) (hereinafter the “SC Code”) §27-8-10, et. seq. 
(The South Carolina Conservation Easement Act of 1991) (hereinafter the “Act”), South 
Carolina recognizes and authorizes the creation of conservation restrictions and easements; and 

 
WHEREAS, this Easement contains the conservation purposes pursuant to the Act, as 

outlined therein and stated below:  
(A) “retaining or protecting natural, scenic, or open-space aspects of real property”;  
(B) “ensuring the availability of real property for agricultural, forest, recreational, 

educational, or open-space use”;  
(C) “protecting natural resources”;  
(D) “maintaining or enhancing air or water quality” and 
 
WHEREAS, Grantor and Grantee recognize the natural, scenic, aesthetic, and special 

character and opportunity for enhancement of the Protected Property, and have the common 
purpose of the conservation and protection in perpetuity of the Protected Property pursuant to 
Code §170(h) and in the regulations promulgated thereunder by the United States Department of 
the Treasury (hereinafter “Treasury Regulations”) as follows: 

100

Item 16.



  4 

 
(I) Preservation of open space (including farmland and forest land) within the 

meaning of Code §170(h)(4)(A)(iii)(I) for the scenic enjoyment of the general public 
which will yield a significant public benefit, including the opportunities for scenic 
enjoyment and the public benefits described in the recitals to this Easement; and  

 
(II)  Preservation of open space (including farmland and forest land) within 

the meaning of Code §170(h)(4)(A)(iii)(II) pursuant to clearly delineated Federal, state, 
or local governmental conservation policies which will yield a significant public 
benefit, including the policies and public benefits described in the recitals to this 
Easement; 

 
WHEREAS, Grantor and Grantee agree these purposes can be accomplished by the 

Grantor voluntarily placing perpetual restrictions upon the use of the Protected Property and by 
providing for the transfer from the Grantor to the Grantee of affirmative rights for the 
protection of the Protected Property so as to be considered a “qualified conservation 
contribution” as such term is defined in Code §170(h) and the Treasury Regulations promulgated 
thereunder; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Grantee is a corporation of which its purposes and powers include one 

or more of the purposes set forth in SC Code §27-8-20(1); and Grantee is a holder of 
conservation easements as conservation easements are defined by the Act; and, Grantee is a 
publicly supported, tax-exempt, nonprofit corporation organized and operated under Code 
§501(c)(3) dedicated to the preservation of the irreplaceable natural and historical resources of 
the South Carolina Lowcountry landscape by protecting significant lands, waters and vistas and 
is not a private foundation under Code §509; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above and three hundred and seventy four 
thousand dollars ($374,000) and in further consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, 
conditions and restrictions contained herein, and pursuant to §§170(h) and 2031(c) of the Code 
and pursuant to the laws of the State of South Carolina, the Grantor hereby voluntarily grants 
and conveys to Grantee this Easement in perpetuity over the Protected Property of the nature 
and character and to the extent hereinafter set forth. Grantor herein declares that the Protected 
Property shall be held, transferred, sold, conveyed and occupied subject to the covenants, 
conditions, and restrictions hereinafter set forth, which covenants, conditions, and restrictions 
shall be deemed to run with the land in perpetuity and to be a burden on the Protected Property in 
perpetuity. 
 
1. Purpose.  The purpose of this Easement (hereinafter the “Purpose”) is to protect the 
Conservation Values (detailed in the Recitals above and outlined below) and to preserve the 
Protected Property for the continuation of historic and traditional uses and activities, as well as 
other limited uses, provided no such uses significantly impair or degrade the Conservation 
Values.  The Conservation Values of the Protected Property include the following: 
 

1) Relatively natural habitat and biological diversity,  
2) Open space for agricultural or forestry use, 

101

Item 16.



  5 

3) Preservation or enhancement of downstream water quality in Station Creek, and the 
St Helena Sound;  

4) Scenic views of the Protected Property from Seaside Road and public vantage points. 
 
The protection of these Conservation Values by stewardship, enforcement, and 

monitoring in perpetuity is set forth in this Easement.  
 
This Purpose is to ensure that the Protected Property will be retained in perpetuity 

predominantly in its relatively natural and scenic condition for conservation purposes and 
to prevent any use of the Protected Property that would significantly impair or interfere 
with the Conservation Values of the Protected Property, while allowing for limited low-
impact rural residential, recreational, agricultural, forestry and other open-space uses of 
the Protected Property that are compatible with and not destructive of those Conservation 
Values.   It is the intent of the parties that Grantor will not perform, nor knowingly allow 
others to perform, any act on or affecting the Protected Property that is inconsistent with 
the Purpose of this Easement.  Grantor understands that nothing in this Easement relieves 
Grantor of any obligation or restriction on the use of the Protected Property imposed by 
law.   
 
2. Definitions.  For the purposes of this Easement, Grantor and Grantee agree that those 
bold-faced terms that appear throughout this Easement shall be defined as follows: 

. 
Agricultural Activities shall be defined as activities directly related to the 

production of plant or animal products on the Protected Property including crop 
production, animal husbandry, floriculture and horticulture, in a manner that preserves 
the long-term productivity of the soil.  Permitted activities shall not include Feedlots, 
intensive livestock production facilities nor any type of large-scale operation where 
animals are unnecessarily confined to maximize intensive large-scale production; 
however, non-intensive small-scale farming uses for the benefit of Grantor, Grantor’s 
family or local agriculture shall be allowed which may include fences, pens and similar 
containment methods. Notwithstanding the above, commercial aquaculture and/or 
mariculture activities must have Approval. 

 
Agricultural Structure shall be defined as any building designed to be used or 

currently used in conjunction with permitted Agricultural Activities or Forest 
Management Practices, not including any structure used as a dwelling for human beings.  

 
Approval shall be defined as the prior written consent of the Grantee to permit 

Grantor to exercise certain rights described in Paragraphs 4 and 5, or to undertake any 
activity otherwise permitted as described in Paragraph 10. The rationale for requiring the 
Grantor to receive Approval is to afford Grantee an adequate opportunity to evaluate 
the activities in question to confirm if they are designed and will be carried out in a 
manner that is not inconsistent with the Purpose of this Easement.  Approval does not 
relieve Grantor of the obligation to obtain all other necessary permits, consents and 
approvals. 

 

102

Item 16.



  6 

Building Height shall be measured, for the purposes of any permitted Residential 
Structure, from ground elevation or the legal building elevation within a Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (or successor agency) flood zone, whichever is greater, 
to the top of the highest structural component, excluding chimneys, antennas and weather 
vanes. 

 
Conservation Values shall mean those values outlined in recitals to this 

Easement.  
 
Designated Building Area shall be defined as those three (3) areas, each no 

larger than approximately one (1) acres in size, designated for the siting of all 
Residential Structures the location and configuration of which shall be as set forth in 
Exhibit B to this Conservation Easement and subject to 150’ setback from jurisdictional 
wetlands.  Once a Designated Building Area is selected for reserved rights, remaining 
Designated Building areas are eliminated from future use.   

 
Feedlot shall be defined as any confined area or facility for feeding livestock for 

commercial purposes, or within which the land is not grazed or cropped at least annually, 
or which is used to receive livestock that have been raised off the Protected Property for 
feeding and fattening for market. 

 
Forest Management Plan shall be defined as a written plan subject to periodic 

updates, on file with the Grantee and agreed upon by both Grantor and Grantee, which 
outlines Forest Management Practices on the Protected Property. The Forest 
Management Plan shall be compatible with the terms of this Easement and shall not 
significantly impair or degrade any of the Conservation Values of the Protected Property 
at the property level. 

 
Forest Management Practices shall be defined as the production, improvement 

and maintenance of pine and hardwood forest lands for timber production and 
commercial harvesting, wildlife management, aesthetics or any other purpose.  Forest 
Management Practices include silvicultural practices, which are used to control the 
establishment, growth, composition, health, quality and utilization of forestlands for 
multiple-use purposes and include, but are not limited to, harvesting, thinning, 
reforestation, competition control, prescribed fire or fire breaks. Forest Management 
Practices shall follow best management practices of the SC Forestry Commission or 
successor agency and be compatible with the terms of this Easement and shall not 
significantly impair or degrade any of the Conservation Values of the Protected Property 
at the property level. 

 
Grantee shall be defined as the above-named §501(c)(3) South Carolina 

charitable corporation, designated as the holder of this Easement, and its successors and 
assigns. 

 

103

Item 16.



  7 

Grantor shall be defined as the original donor of this Easement and his (or her, 
their or its) personal representatives, heirs, successors, assigns, and subsequent owners of 
record. 

 
Greentree Reservoir shall be defined as a forested wetland that can be 

temporarily and periodically flooded.  
 
Impervious Surface shall be defined as a hard surface area which either prevents 

or significantly retards the entry of water into the soil mantle at a rate lower than that 
present under natural conditions prior to development.  Impervious surfaces can include, 
but are not limited to, roof tops, walkways, patios and decking, enclosed and unenclosed 
porches, paved driveways, paved parking lots, covered storage areas, concrete or asphalt 
paving, swimming pools, or other surfaces which similarly impede the natural infiltration 
of surface and stormwater runoff.  Impervious Surface specifically excludes ground 
surfaces covered with sand, gravel, shell sand, crushed stone, or other similar traditional 
permeable materials.   

 
Notice shall be defined as a written communication, not a request for Approval, 

prior to undertaking a permitted activity, as defined in Paragraph 26.  
 

Recreational Structure shall be defined as any building designed or used in 
conjunction with recreational activities on the property, and shall not include any 
structure used as a permanent or temporary Residential Structure. 

 
Related Outbuilding shall be defined as any auxiliary structure customarily used 

as an accessory to a private Residential Structure in the South Carolina Lowcountry, 
including but not limited to utility sheds, detached garages.    

 
Request for Approval shall be defined as a written request by Grantor for 

Approval by Grantee of a defined activity proposed by the Grantor. 
 
Residential Structure shall be defined as any dwelling having sleeping quarters, 

sanitary facilities, and cooking facilities, all three of which must be present, which 
constitutes temporary or permanent residential use or occupancy on the Protected 
Property by the Grantor, permitted lessee, and guests or employees of the Grantor or 
permitted lessee.     

 
Significant Tree shall be defined as any cypress, Southern Magnolia (Magnolia 

grandiflora or Live Oak (Quercus virginiana) having a diameter at breast height of 
twelve (12) inches or greater.  

               
Subdivided Tract shall be defined as a legally divided, transferable parcel of 

land having a unique tax identification number according to Beaufort County real 
property tax records. 

 

104

Item 16.



  8 

Subdivision shall be defined as the permitted creation of a Subdivided Tract 
after the date of this Easement. 

 
Upland Impoundments shall be defined as non-wetland fields with water control 

structures and dikes, created to control the water levels within the field. 
 

Water Line shall be defined as the edge of a waterway or waterbody which is 
either the critical line as defined by S.C Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource 
Management or, if no critical line has been established, the mean high water line as 
defined by the Army Corps of Engineers or established by a surveyor employing the 
regulatory standards then in effect for its determination.  If the critical line or the mean 
high water line cannot be established or are no longer used to define the edge of a 
waterway or waterbody, then the comparable defining line as defined by successor 
entities of the above named agencies shall be used. 

 
Wetlands shall be defined as “those areas that are inundated or saturated by 

surface or ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under 
normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in 
saturated soil conditions,” as stated in the United States Army Corps of Engineers 
Wetlands Delineation Manual (1987, or as amended).  

 
3. Rights of Grantee.  Grantor hereby conveys the following rights to the Grantee: 

 
(A) Right of Visual Access.  To have visual access to the Protected Property, provided 

that such right shall not be construed to permit general public access over or upon the Protected 
Property; 

 
(B) Right to Monitor.  To enter upon the Protected Property in a reasonable manner, 

at reasonable times, with reasonable notice, to monitor compliance with this Easement and to 
further document natural and manmade features of the Protected Property. The Grantee shall 
limit entry to annual visits (after completion of the Baseline Documentation) unless the Grantee 
has reason to believe there is a violation of the terms of this Easement. Grantee shall not 
unreasonably interfere with Grantor’s quiet use and enjoyment of the Protected Property; 

 
(C) Right to Prevent Inconsistent Uses.  To prevent Grantor or third parties from 

conducting any activity or use inconsistent with the Purpose; 
 
(D) Right to Require Restoration.  To require Grantor to restore such Conservation 

Values that may be damaged by any uses or activities prohibited by this Easement, or any 
activity or use inconsistent with the Purpose to include third party activities. 
 
4. Reserved Rights.  Grantor reserves all the rights, uses and activities (collectively, the 
“Reserved Rights”) inherent in fee simple ownership of the Protected Property in its entirety, 
subject to the specific Restrictions and Limitations of Paragraph 5, which are included to 
accomplish the Purpose of this Easement stated in Paragraph 1.   In addition, the exercise of all 

105

Item 16.



  9 

Reserved Rights shall be in full accordance with all applicable local, state and federal laws and 
regulations, as well as in accordance with the Purpose of this Easement stated in Paragraph 1.  
 
5.   Restrictions and Limitations.  Grantor will not perform or permit or will perform or 
permit, as specified below, the following acts or uses on, over or under the Protected Property: 
 

(A) Subdivision.  The Protected Property is currently composed of three (3) tracts, 
which is a portion of Beaufort County R300 023 000 128C 0000, R200 023 000 128B 0000, 
R300 023 000 128D 0000.  

 
Subdivision is limited to the reconfiguration of three existing parcels only.  No additional 

subdivision may occur.  The configuration of each such Subdivided Tract shall be at the 
Grantor’s discretion.  Grantor shall allocate Reserved Rights among such Subdivided Tracts 
at the time of each Subdivision with such allocation being specifically described and noted in 
the deed transferring ownership of any Subdivided Tract, specifically quantitative Reserved 
Rights including allowances for Impervious Surface, Residential Structures, Docks, or any 
other Reserved Rights as applicable within this Easement.  Grantor shall give Notice to 
Grantee of any Subdivision or reconfiguration of a Subdivided Tract.  

 
(B) Structural Limitations.  The construction, enlargement, removal and replacement 

of Residential Structures, Related Outbuildings, Recreation/Education Structures, 
Agricultural Structures and all other structures, are subject to the following limitations: 

 
I.   Total Impervious Surface on the Protected Property shall not exceed a 

maximum of five thousand (5,000) square feet in the aggregate.  
            
II. No Residential Structure, Related Outbuilding, Recreational 

Structure or Agricultural Structure shall exceed forty (40) feet in Building Height.  
 
III. No more than three (3) Residential Structures may exist for 

permanent/long-term residency, which may be rebuilt and repaired as needed. Grantor is 
required to obtain Approval from Grantee prior to the construction, enlargement, 
removal and replacement of any permitted Residential Structures.  Related 
outbuildings may include utility sheds, one detached garage, a paved parking area, 
patios, paved entry roads and walkways, and one swimming pool per Residential 
Structure.   

 
IV. Related Outbuildings, Recreational Structures and Agricultural 

Structures shall be permitted, provided that the square footage of all Impervious 
Surface on the Protected Property does not exceed the allowance stated in Paragraph 
5(B)(I). 

 
IV. All permitted Residential Structures, shall be located within a permitted 

Designated Building Area to be consistent with Exhibit B.  Prior to beginning 
construction of any Residential Structure, Grantor shall select a Designated Building 

106

Item 16.

http://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/site_authlink.asp?p=%25R300%20023%20000%20128C%200000%25&r=webgis.bcgov.net


  10 

Area by providing Grantee with signed written Notice of the selected DBA.  The 
selection of a DBA shall be irrevocable. 

. 
V. Other than permitted Residential Structures and their permitted guest 

cottage, no other structure on the Protected Property shall be used as a temporary or 
permanent dwelling for human beings. 

 
VII. Towers.  There shall be no towers on the Protected Property, including, 

but not limited to, radio, microwave, broadcast, communication and cellular towers.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, (i) Grantor retains the right to construct, maintain, 

improve, repair and replace wildlife observation towers; such towers shall not exceed 35 
feet in height and shall not be visible from off the Protected Property when viewed from 
ground elevation.  

 
(C) Buffers.  Buffer Areas, as shown in Exhibit B, the Baseline Documentation 

Report, shall be subject to the following restrictions: 
 

“Setback” Road Buffer. In order to protect the scenic view along public roadways, 
there shall be no Impervious Surface, structures (other than mailboxes, fencing and 
gates, including those with columns and fenceposts, utility and service lines for any 
permitted use under the terms of this Easement, boardwalks, or other structures existing 
at the time of this Easement as documented in the Baseline Documentation), nor new 
roads (other than those necessary to access the permitted Subdivided Tracts) on that 
portion of the Protected Property within one hundred and fifty (150) feet of the legal or 
established right-of-way along Seaside Road.    Grantor reserves the right to engage in 
Agriculture Practices and Forest Management Practices, provided there shall be no 
clearcutting and no activities that endanger the health or survival of Significant Trees 
without Approval.   Set back road buffer can occur from the property line and include a 
firebreak.    

 
Notwithstanding the above, Grantor reserves the right to cut any tree, in 

accordance with applicable governmental laws and regulations, when it is necessary to 
salvage timber damaged by natural causes, when cutting is necessary to prevent further 
such damage or personal injury, or when a permitted structure is in danger. 

 
“Waterfront buffers” In order to protect the scenic view from public vantage 

points along the waterway, as well as to provide an ecological transition zone for wildlife 
and water quality protection along the waterway, there shall be no Impervious Surface, 
Agricultural Activities, structures (other than fencing and gates, utility and service lines 
for any permitted use under the terms of this Easement, permitted docks or boat ramps, 
boardwalks, or other structures) nor new roads (other than those necessary to access the 
permitted Subdivided Tracts) on that portion of the Property within one hundred (100) 
feet of the OCRM critical line, existing ponds and impoundments.  Grantor reserves the 
right to engage in limited Forest Management Practices, provided there shall be no 
clearcutting and no activities that endanger the health or survival of Significant Trees.  
Tree density within the buffer must remain at or above 50 basal area. 

107

Item 16.



  11 

 
(D) Industrial Uses.  There shall be no industrial uses, activities, or structures.  No 

right of passage, across or upon the Protected Property shall be allowed or granted if that right of 
passage is used in conjunction with any industrial uses or activities. 

 
(E) Commercial Uses.  There shall be no commercial uses, activities or structures 

permitted; with exceptions to include home-based business that do not impair the Conservation 
Values.  Any such home-based business requires prior Approval by the Grantee.  No right of 
passage across or upon the Protected Property shall be allowed or granted if that right of passage 
is used in conjunction with any commercial uses or activities not permitted in this Easement. For 
the purposes of this Easement, Agricultural Activities, Forest Management Practices and the 
leasing of hunting, trapping and fishing rights, and seasonal daily “pay-to-hunt” activities 
traditional to the Lowcountry shall not be considered commercial uses. However, to qualify this 
Easement for treatment under §2031(c)(8)(B) of the Code, any use of the Protected Property for 
more than a de minimis use for a commercial recreational activity is prohibited. 
 

(F) Services.  Construction of water wells, septic systems, and utility services is 
limited to serve the allowed uses in Paragraph 4, subject to the Restrictions and Limitations of 
Paragraph 5, and subject to all applicable governmental laws and regulations. It is permitted to 
drill water wells of sufficient size and nature for on-site irrigation. 

  
Fuel storage tanks are limited to aboveground or underground gaseous (not liquid) fuel 

storage tanks and/or aboveground liquid fuel storage tanks to serve the allowed uses in Paragraph 
4, subject to the Restrictions and Limitations of Paragraph 5, subject to all applicable 
governmental laws and regulations. 
 

 (G) Roads and Driveways.  Roads shall be limited to those required to facilitate the 
uses permitted by this Easement, provided there shall be no road or driveways constructed or 
covered with Impervious Surface.  Maintenance of driveways, roads and roadside ditches shall 
be limited to standard practices for non-paved roads.  
 

(H) Docks: One dock currently exists and may be rebuilt and repaired. No future 
docks may be built. All repair is subject to state, local and federal permitting requirements.  

 
(I)  Landscaping.   Landscaping shall be limited to the management of vegetation 

associated with the uses allowed by this Easement, including but not limited to, mowing, 
pruning, trimming, and gardening.  Structural elements of landscaping, including but not limited 
to walkways and patios, shall be subject to Impervious Surface restrictions and limitations as 
provided for in this Easement.  
           

(J) Signs.  Signs visible from off the Protected Property shall be limited to a 
maximum of eight (8) square feet in size.  Billboards are expressly prohibited. Signs shall be 
placed so as to minimally impact the scenic view as seen from the public roadway. 

 
(K) Archeological and Paleontological Excavations.   Grantor shall give Notice to 

Grantee prior to undertaking archeological or paleontological excavation.  Any archeological or 

108

Item 16.



  12 

paleontological site shall, upon completion of any excavation, be returned to, or as close as 
possible to, its previous state, unless the site is to be maintained in an excavated condition for 
interpretive purposes related to education.   

 
(L) Forestry Uses.  A Forest Management Plan prepared by a Registered Forester is 

required for the Protected Property when deemed appropriate by the Grantee. Forestry Uses are 
limited to those Forest Management Practices defined in the Forest Management Plan or 
recommended by the South Carolina Forestry Commission or successor agency. Timber harvests 
require prior Approval by the Grantee. Forest Management Practices specifically permitted 
under the terms of this easement include clearing small patch openings and wildlife food plots.   
 

Notwithstanding the above, Grantor reserves the right (i) to cut any tree, in accordance 
with applicable governmental laws and regulations, when it is necessary to salvage timber 
damaged by natural causes, when cutting is necessary to prevent further such damage or personal 
injury, or when a permitted structure is in danger.   
 

(M) Agricultural Uses.  Agricultural Activities are restricted to the recommended or 
accepted practices recommended by the South Carolina Cooperative Extension Service, the 
United States Natural Resources Conservation Service, their successors or other entities mutually 
acceptable to the Grantor and Grantee.    Grantor shall have the right to utilize Pond(s), center 
pivot irrigation, and/or wells to irrigate for Agricultural Uses. Grantor and Grantee recognize 
that changes in agricultural technologies, including accepted management practices, may result 
in an evolution of Agricultural Activities.  Such evolution shall be permitted so long as it is 
consistent with the Purpose of this Easement. 

              
(N) Significant Trees.    There shall be no activities that endanger the health or survival 

of Significant Trees without Approval.   
             

(O) Mining.  Mining and recovery of any oil, gas or minerals are restricted to extraction 
methods in accordance with Code §170(h)(5)(B) prohibiting surface mining.  

 
(P) Topography and Hydrology.  There shall be no adverse material alteration of the 

topography or hydrology, unless otherwise provided for in Paragraphs 4 or 5. Exceptions for 
wildlife management, as permitted by local, state, and federal authorities, are allowed.  

 
  (Q) Refuse.  There shall be no placing of refuse on the Protected Property of vehicle 
bodies or parts or refuse not generated on the Protected Property.  Temporary piles for collection 
of refuse generated on the Protected Property established between regular removals are permitted 
provided such piles do not contain hazardous substances, pollutants, or wastes and do not impair 
the Conservation Values of the Protected Property. 

 
(R) Right to Lease.  Subject to the other provisions of this Conservation Easement, 

Grantor reserves the right to lease all or a portion of the Protected Property for any purpose 
permitted under this Conservation Easement, including permitted Commercial Uses.   

 

109

Item 16.



  13 

(S) Eligibility for Conservation Programs.  Grantor reserves the right to participate 
in conservation, preservation, or mitigation programs existing now or permitted in the future for 
any activity or use permitted (or restricted, as the case may be) on the Protected Property under 
this Easement, including but not limited to carbon sequestration credits and greenhouse gas 
credits.            

 
(T) Adverse or Inconsistent Uses.  There shall be no other use or activity that is 

inconsistent with the Purpose of this Easement as stated in Paragraph 1.   
 
6. Third Party Activities.  The Grantor shall keep the Grantee reasonably informed as to 
activities being conducted on the Protected Property which are within the scope of this Easement 
and as to the identity of any third parties who are conducting or managing such activities.  The 
Grantor shall ensure that all third parties who are conducting activities relating to permitted uses 
of the Protected Property are fully and properly informed as to the restrictions and covenants 
contained within this Easement which relate to such uses, including without limitation, the 
provisions of this Paragraph and of Paragraphs 4 and 5. 

 
7. Grantee’s Remedies.  If Grantee determines that Grantor is in violation of the terms of 
this Easement or that a violation is threatened, the Grantee shall notify the Grantor of the 
violation (hereinafter, “First Notice”) and request voluntary compliance.  In the event that 
voluntary compliance is not agreed upon within ninety (90) days of receipt of First Notice, the 
Grantee shall give written notice to Grantor of such violation (hereinafter, “Second Notice”) 
and demand corrective action sufficient to cure the violation and, where the violation involves 
injury to the Protected Property resulting from any use or activity inconsistent with the Purpose, 
to restore the portion of the Protected Property so injured.  

 
If Grantor fails to cure the violation within sixty (60) days after receipt of Second 

Notice thereof from Grantee (or under circumstances where the violation cannot reasonably be 
cured within a sixty (60) day period, if Grantor shall fail to begin curing such violation within 
said sixty (60) day period, or shall fail to continue diligently to cure such violation until finally 
cured), Grantee may bring an action at law or in equity in a court of competent jurisdiction to 
enforce the terms of this Easement, to enjoin the violation ex parte as necessary, by temporary or 
permanent injunction, to recover any damages to which it may be entitled for violation of the 
terms of this Easement, including damages for the loss of the Conservation Values, and to 
require the restoration of the Protected Property to the condition that existed prior to any such 
injury. Without limiting Grantor’s liability therefore, Grantee, in its sole discretion, may either 
apply any damages recovered to the cost of undertaking any corrective action on the Protected 
Property or may apply any damages recovered towards activities relating to monitoring and 
enforcing compliance with the terms of this Easement and other similar conservation easements.  

 
If Grantee, in its sole discretion, determines that circumstances require immediate action 

to prevent or mitigate significant damage to the Conservation Values, Grantee shall give 
immediate notice of the circumstances to Grantor, as described in Paragraph 26, and may 
immediately pursue its legal and equitable remedies under this Paragraph without waiting for the 
period provided for cure to expire. Grantor agrees that if such emergency arises, Grantee may 
obtain injunctive relief without the necessity of posting a bond. 

110

Item 16.



  14 

 
Grantee’s rights under this Paragraph apply equally in the event of either actual or 

threatened violations of the terms of this Easement.  Grantor agrees that if Grantee’s remedies 
at law for any violation of the terms of this Easement are inadequate, the Grantee shall be 
entitled to seek the injunctive relief described in this Paragraph, both prohibitive and mandatory 
in addition to such other relief to which Grantee may be entitled, including specific performance 
of the terms of this Easement, without the necessity of proving either actual damages or the 
inadequacy of otherwise available legal remedies, and without the necessity of posting a bond.  
Grantee’s remedies described in this Paragraph shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to 
all remedies now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. 
 
8. Costs of Enforcement.  If Grantee prevails in any action to enforce the terms of this 
Easement, any costs incurred by Grantee in enforcing the terms of this Easement against 
Grantor, including without limitation, costs of suit (which includes reasonable attorneys’ fees), 
and any reasonable costs of restoration necessitated by Grantor’s violation of the terms of this 
Easement, shall be borne by Grantor.  If Grantor prevails in any action to enforce the terms of 
this Easement, any costs incurred by Grantor, including without limitation Grantor’s cost of 
the suit (which includes reasonable attorneys’ fees) shall be borne by Grantee. 
 
9. Successors; Benefits and Burdens.  The covenants, terms, conditions, easements, benefits, 
and burdens of this Easement shall be binding upon and inure to the parties hereto and their 
respective successors, personal representatives, heirs, and assigns and shall continue as a 
restriction running in perpetuity with the Protected Property.  An owner of the Protected Property 
shall only be responsible for those violations first occurring on the Protected Property during 
such owner’s ownership, and while still an owner of the Protected Property (although 
notwithstanding the foregoing, a subsequent owner may also be held responsible for those 
violations first occurring during another’s prior ownership of the Protected Property unless an 
estoppel certificate or compliance certificate was obtained from Grantee prior to or at the time 
of the transfer of the Protected Property’s ownership to such subsequent owner). Any of the 
rights herein reserved to Grantor may be exercised by any owner of the Protected Property. 
   
10. Compliance Certificates.  Upon request by Grantor, Grantee shall within thirty (30) 
days execute and deliver to Grantor any document that may be requested by Grantor, including 
an estoppel certificate or compliance certificate, to certify to the best of Grantee’s knowledge 
Grantor’s compliance with any obligation of Grantor contained in this Easement or otherwise 
to evidence the status of this Easement.   
   
11. Representation of Authority.  Each signatory to this Easement represents and warrants 
that he or she is duly authorized to enter into and execute the terms and conditions of this 
Easement and to legally bind the party he or she represents. 

 
12. Forbearance Not a Waiver.  Any forbearance by Grantee to exercise its rights under this 
Easement in the event of any breach of any terms of this Easement by Grantor shall not be 
deemed or construed to be a waiver by Grantee of such term or of any subsequent breach of the 
same or any other term of this Easement or of any of Grantee’s rights under this Easement.  No 

111

Item 16.



  15 

delay or omission by Grantee in the exercise of any right or remedy upon any breach by 
Grantor shall impair such right or remedy or be construed as a waiver. 
 
13. Reasonableness Standard.  Grantor and Grantee shall follow a reasonableness standard 
and shall use their best efforts to make any determinations that are necessary or are contemplated 
to be made by them (either separately or jointly) under this Easement in a timely manner, and 
shall cooperate with one another and shall take all other reasonable action suitable to that end. 
 
14.  Grantor’s Environmental Warranty.  The Grantor warrants that Grantor has no 
knowledge of the existence or storage of hazardous substances, pollutants, or wastes on the 
Protected Property or a release or threatened release of hazardous substances, pollutants or 
wastes on the Protected Property and promises to defend and indemnify the Grantee against all 
litigation, claims, demands, penalties, and damages, including reasonable attorney’s fees, arising 
from breach of this warranty. 

 
15. Acts Beyond Grantor’s Control.  Nothing contained in this Easement shall be construed 
to entitle Grantee to bring any action against Grantor for any injury to or change in the 
Protected Property resulting from causes beyond Grantor’s control, including but not limited to 
trespass, fire, hurricane, flood, storm and earth movement, or from any prudent action taken by 
Grantor under emergency conditions to prevent, abate or mitigate significant injury to the 
Protected Property resulting from such causes. 

 
16. Access. No right of public access to any portion of the Protected Property is conveyed by 
this Easement, except as expressly provided herein. 
 
17. Costs, Liabilities, and Taxes.  Grantor retains all responsibilities and shall bear all costs 
and liabilities of any kind related to the ownership, operation, upkeep and maintenance of the 
Protected Property, including, but not limited to, clean up or remediation costs due to chemical 
contamination and payment of taxes. Furthermore, if the Grantor maintains general liability 
insurance coverage for the Protected Property, Grantor will be responsible for such costs. 

 
Each party agrees to release, hold harmless, defend and indemnify the other from any and 

all liabilities including, but not limited to, injury, losses, damages, judgments, costs, expenses 
and fees that the indemnified party may suffer or incur as a result of or arising out of wrongful or 
negligent activities of the indemnifying party on the Protected Property. 

 
18. Transfer Fee.  There shall be assessed by the Grantee a transfer fee equal to one (1) 
percent of the sales price and/or other consideration paid in connection with the transfer of any 
freehold or fee simple interest in the Protected Property, including but not limited to any 
conveyance by warranty deed, limited warranty deed, or quitclaim deed, sale, mortgage 
foreclosure, or conveyance in lieu of foreclosure.  The transfer fee shall be paid to the Grantee 
on the date of the closing of the transfer. 

 
 
 
 

112

Item 16.



  16 

Exemptions from assessment of transfer fee: 
(A) The sale of timber rights or products produced from permitted Forest 

Management Practices and/or permitted Agricultural Activities of such 
Protected Property.  

(B) Any transfer subsequent to the conveyance of this Easement: 
I. Without consideration, or 
II. To a spouse, a lineal descendant, an ancestor or ancestors, a spouse of a 

lineal descendent (collectively, “Immediate Family Members”), or 
III. To or from a trust whose beneficiaries or presumptive beneficiaries are the 

Grantor or Immediate Family Member, or both, or  
IV. To an entity at least 50% of the equity interest of which is owned by 

Grantor or Immediate Family Member, or 
V. If the Grantor of this Easement is a corporation, limited liability company 

or a partnership, to an owner/partner/member of such entity or to an 
Immediate Family Member thereof, or 

VI. To a charitable organization which is tax exempt under §501(c)(3), or 
VII. Any transfer under a will, or 
VIII. Any transfer implemented or effected by court order, except foreclosure, 

or 
IX. Any transfer that corrects, modifies, or confirms a transfer previously 

made.  
 
(C) If a creditor purchases the Protected Property at a foreclosure sale or takes title to 
the Property in lieu of foreclosure, the transfer fee shall be due and paid at the time the 
creditor takes title. The transfer fee shall be based on the total bid for the Protected 
Property if purchased at a foreclosure sale or on the amount of the accrued indebtedness 
if the creditor accepts a deed in lieu of foreclosure.  An additional transfer fee shall be 
due if the creditor who takes title through foreclosure or a deed in lieu of foreclosure sells 
the Protected Property for an amount higher than the amount subject to the transfer fee at 
the time the creditor took title; the additional transfer fee due shall be based on the 
additional amount alone, not the entire sales price. Creditor for purposes of this 
Paragraph shall include an assignee of the creditor who purchases the Protected Property 
at a foreclosure sale or takes a deed in lieu of foreclosure.   
 
An exchange of properties pursuant to Code §1031, or similar statute, shall be deemed to 

be for consideration based on the market value of the property plus boot, if applicable, received 
at the time of such transfer. Market value of the Protected Property shall be determined by 
agreement of the Grantor and the Grantee, or in the absence of such agreement by a South 
Carolina certified appraiser selected by the Grantee, whose appraisal fee shall be paid by the 
Grantee.   
 

Grantor grants Grantee a lien against the Protected Property for all or any part of the 
transfer fee that is unpaid at the time of the conveyance or assignment triggering the transfer fee. 
Grantee’s lien shall be subordinate to this Easement and to the lien of any first mortgage on the 
Protected Property. Grantee shall have the right to record a notice of lien for such unpaid 
transfer fee.  Any such lien may be enforced and/or foreclosed in accordance with the laws of the 

113

Item 16.



  17 

State of South Carolina.  Grantee may require the Grantor and/or any subsequent purchaser to 
provide reasonable written proof of the applicable sales price, such as executed closing 
statements, contracts of sale, copies of deeds or other such evidence. 
 
19. Extinguishment, Condemnation and Fair Market Value.  If circumstances arise in the 
future that render the Purpose of this Easement impossible to accomplish, this Easement can only 
be terminated or extinguished, whether in whole or in part, by judicial proceedings in a court of 
competent jurisdiction.  As required by §1.170A-14(g)(6)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations, in the 
event of any extinguishment or termination of this Easement, any sale, exchange, or involuntary 
conversion of the Protected Property entitles Grantee to a percentage of the gross sale proceeds, 
equal to the ratio of the appraised value of this Easement to the unrestricted fair market value of 
the Protected Property established as of the date donated. 

 
If all or a part of the Protected Property is taken by exercise of the power of eminent 

domain, Grantor and Grantee shall be respectively entitled to compensation in accordance with 
applicable law and as provided in this Paragraph.  Grantor and Grantee shall divide the net 
proceeds after the payment of all expenses of the condemnation in accordance to the ratio of the 
appraised value of this Easement to the fair market value of the Protected Property unrestricted 
by the Easement established as of the date conveyed. 
 

For the purpose of the above Paragraphs, the parties hereto stipulate that the value of this 
Easement and the value of the restricted fee interest in the Protected Property each represent a 
percentage interest in the fair market value of the Protected Property.  The percentage interests 
shall be determined by the ratio of the value of this Easement to the value of the Protected 
Property, without reduction for the value of this Easement. All such proceeds received by 
Grantee shall be used in a manner consistent with Grantee’s mission.  This provision is not 
intended to violate the provision required by Code §170(h)(2)(C) that requires this Easement to 
be granted in perpetuity. 
 
20. Limitations on Extinguishment.  If a sudden or unexpected change in the conditions 
surrounding the Protected Property have made impossible or impractical the continued use of the 
Protected Property for conservation purposes, this Easement can only be terminated or 
extinguished, whether with respect to all or part of the Protected Property, by judicial 
proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction.  Unless otherwise required by applicable law at 
the time, in the event of any sale of all or a portion of the Protected Property (or any other 
property received in connection with an exchange or involuntary conversion of the Protected 
Property) after such termination or extinguishment, and prior to the payment of any costs or 
expenses associated with such sale, Grantee shall be entitled to an amount no less than 
Grantee’s proportionate share of the gross proceeds of such sale, as such proportionate share is 
determined under the provisions of Paragraph 21, adjusted, if necessary, to reflect a partial 
termination or extinguishment of this Easement.  If sufficient funds are not available for Grantee 
to be paid its entire proportionate share out of such proceeds, or if for any other reason Grantee 
is not paid its entire proportionate share, Grantee has the right to recover such deficiency 
(including the right to record a lien to secure its recovery of such deficiency) from the record 
owner of the Protected Property at the time of such sale.  All such proceeds received by Grantee 
shall be used by Grantee in a manner consistent with the conservation purposes of this Easement 

114

Item 16.



  18 

as of the effective date of this grant.  In the event of extinguishment of this Easement in whole or 
in part, the provisions of this Paragraph 20 shall survive such extinguishment. 
 
21. Percentage Interests.  Grantor and Grantee hereby confirm that the donation of this 
Easement gives rise to a property right immediately vested in Grantee, with a value for purposes 
of this Paragraph 21 determined as follows. The parties hereto stipulate that as of the effective 
date of this grant the Easement and the restricted fee interest in the Protected Property each 
represent a percentage interest in the fair market value of the Protected Property (Grantee’s 
percentage interest is referred to herein as Grantee’s “proportionate share”).  For the purposes of 
this paragraph, Grantee’s proportionate share of the fair market value of the Protected Property 
shall remain constant.  
 
22. Condemnation.  If all or any part of the Protected Property is taken under the power of 
eminent domain by public, corporate, or other authority, or otherwise acquired by such authority 
through a purchase in lieu of a taking, Grantor and Grantee shall join in appropriate 
proceedings at the time of such taking to recover the full fair market value (without regard to any 
diminution in value attributable to the Easement) of the interests in the Protected Property 
subject to the taking and all incidental or direct damages resulting from the taking.  Prior to the 
payment of any expenses reasonably incurred by the parties to this Easement in connection with 
such taking, Grantee shall be entitled to its proportionate share from the recovered proceeds in 
conformity with the provisions of Paragraphs 19 and 21 (with respect to the allocation of 
proceeds).  The respective rights of Grantor and Grantee set forth in this Paragraph 22 shall be 
in addition to, and not in limitation of, any rights they may have at common law.  All such 
proceeds used by Grantee shall be used by Grantee in a manner consistent with the 
conservation purposes of this Easement as of the effective date of this grant. 
 
23. Assignment.  The benefits of this Easement shall not be assignable by the Grantee, 
except if as a condition of any assignment, (i) the Grantee requires that the terms and conditions 
of this Easement continue to be carried out in full as provided herein, (ii) the assignee has a 
commitment to protect the Purpose and the resources to enforce the restrictions contained herein, 
and (iii) if the assignee, at the time of assignment, qualifies under §170(h) of the Code, and 
applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, and under State of South Carolina law 
as an eligible donee to receive this Easement directly. In the event that Grantee ceases to exist or 
exists but no longer as a tax-exempt, nonprofit corporation, qualified under §§501(c)(3) and 
170(h)(3) and not a private foundation under §509(a) of the Code, then this easement shall be 
assigned to Beaufort County or a tax-exempt, nonprofit organization, qualified under 
§§501(c)(3) and 170(h)(3) and not a private foundation under §509(a) of the Code, which has a 
mission of protecting open lands or natural resources in the South Carolina Lowcountry. 

 
24. No Extinguishment Through Merger.  Grantor and Grantee herein agree that should 
Grantee come to own all or a portion of the fee interest in the Protected Property, (i) Grantee as 
successor in title to Grantor shall observe and be bound by the obligations of Grantor and the 
restrictions imposed upon the Protected Property by this Easement; (ii) this Easement shall not 
be extinguished, in whole or in part, through the doctrine of merger in view of the public interest 
in its enforcement; and (iii) Grantee as promptly as practicable shall assign the Grantee 
interests in this Easement of record to another holder in conformity with the requirements of this 

115

Item 16.



  19 

Paragraph 24.  Any instrument of assignment of this Easement or the rights conveyed herein 
shall refer to the provisions of this Paragraph 24 and shall contain language necessary to 
continue it in force.   
 
25. Transfers.  Grantor agrees to incorporate by reference the terms of this Easement in any 
deed or other legal instrument by which Grantor transfers any interest in all or a portion of the 
Protected Property, including, without limitation, a leasehold interest. The Grantor shall give 
the Grantee Notice of any change of possession, ownership or control of the Protected Property 
within thirty (30) days after such change takes place, including without limitation notice of any 
transfer, lease, or sale of all or a part of the Protected Property.  The failure of Grantor to 
perform any act required by this Paragraph shall not impair the validity of this Easement or limit 
its enforceability in any way.  
 
26. Approvals; Notice; Breach. 
  
 (A) Grantee’s Approval or Withholding of Approval. When Grantee Approval is 
required, Grantee shall grant or withhold its approval in writing within sixty (60) days of receipt 
of Grantor’s written request therefor.  In the case of withholding of Approval, Grantee shall 
notify Grantor in writing with reasonable specificity of the reasons for withholding of 
Approval, and the conditions, if any, on which Approval might otherwise be given.  Failure of 
Grantee to respond in writing within such sixty (60) days shall be deemed to constitute denial by 
Grantee of any such Request for Approval. 
 
 (B) Approval by Grantee of Sites or Activities.  The exercise of any right to engage 
in the specified activities permitted by the provisions of Paragraphs:  
   
  2  Impervious Surfaces;  
  5(B)(III)  Residential Structures;   
  5(B(IV) Designated Building Area; 
  5(E)   Commercial Uses;  
  5(G)   Roads;  
  5(L)  Forestry Uses;  
  5(N)   Significant Trees; 
  5(O)  Ponds; 
 
shall be subject to the prior Approval by Grantee of the activity and/or of the site for such 
proposed activity, as the case may be.  Grantor shall request such Approval in writing and shall 
include therewith information identifying the proposed site or activity with reasonable 
specificity, evidencing conformity with the requirements of the applicable paragraphs under 
which the right is reserved hereunder, and, when applicable, evidencing conformity with existing 
land use regulations. Grantee’s Approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, shall take 
into account the following criteria: 
 

I. The extent to which use of the site and/or the proposed activity would 
impair the scenic qualities of the Protected Property that are visible from public roads or 
waterways; 

116

Item 16.



  20 

 
II. The extent to which use of the site and/or the proposed activity would 

destroy an important habitat or would have a material adverse effect on the movement of 
wildlife; 

 
III. The extent to which use of the site for the proposed activity would impair 

water quality; 
 
IV. In the case of any proposal to build new structures or roads, the extent to 

which the scenic quality of the Protected Property may be adversely impacted; and 
   
V. The extent to which the proposed activity or use of the site for the 

proposed activity would otherwise significantly impair the Conservation Values.  
Grantor and Grantee shall cooperate and shall act in good faith to arrive at agreement in 
connection with any determinations that are necessary to be made by them (either 
separately or jointly) under this Paragraph 26.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Grantee’s 
Approval of a proposed site or activity shall be withheld if the site for the proposed 
activity would interfere with the essential scenic quality of the Protected Property. 

 
 (C) Notice to Grantee.   Following the receipt of Grantee’s Approval when required 
under Paragraph 26(B) and not less than thirty (30) days prior to commencing activity requiring 
Approval or any activity where Notice is required, including Paragraphs:  
 
  5(A) Subdivision; 
  5(K) Archeological and Paleontological Excavations; and  
  26 Transfer of Property  
 
Grantor agrees to provide Notice to Grantee in writing of the intention to exercise such right.  
The Notice shall describe the nature, scope, location, timetable, and any other material aspect of 
the proposed activity in sufficient detail to permit Grantee to monitor such activity.  When such 
information was not provided to Grantee under the requirements of Paragraph 27(B), the Notice 
shall also include information evidencing the conformity of such activity with the requirements 
of the applicable paragraphs under which the right is reserved hereunder, and, when applicable, 
evidencing conformity with existing land use regulations.  At Grantee’s sole discretion, 
Grantee may permit commencement of the activity less than thirty (30) days after receiving 
Grantor’s Notice.  See also Paragraph 26, with respect to Grantor’s written notice to Grantee 
concerning a transfer of any interest in all or a portion of the Protected Property. 
 
 (D) Notice.  As required by Treasury Regulations 1.170A-14(g)(5)(ii). 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Easement, Grantor must notify Grantee, in writing, 
before exercising any reserved right which may have an adverse impact on the Conservation 
Values of this Easement.   
 
 (E)  Breach.  Failure to secure such Approval or give such Notice as may be required 
by this Paragraph 26 shall be a material breach of this Easement notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Easement and shall entitle Grantee to such rights or remedies as may be 

117

Item 16.



  21 

available under Paragraph 7. 
 

27. Communication.  All Requests for Approvals shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
sufficiently given or rendered only when acknowledged in writing by Grantee. All Notices and 
other communications to Grantee may be communicated by United States Postal Service first 
class mail, hand courier, electronic mail or facsimile, and shall be deemed sufficiently given or 
rendered and effective only when acknowledged in writing by Grantee. All such correspondence 
and communications shall be addressed as follows: 
 

  If to Grantor:    
 

  If to Grantor’s Attorney:      
    

  If to Grantee:   Beaufort County Open Land Trust 
      P. O. Box 75 
      Beaufort, SC  29901 
      Attn:  Executive Director 
      info@openlandtrust.com 
      (843) 521-2175 (office) 
      (843) 521-1946 (fax) 
 

or to such other person or place as a party may designate by correspondence as aforesaid.  
Correspondence by mail or overnight courier service shall be deemed given on the date of receipt 
as shown on the return receipt, or receipt or records of the courier service, as the case may be.  In 
the event any such correspondence is mailed via the United States Postal Service or shipped by 
overnight delivery service to a party in accordance with this Paragraph and is returned to the 
sender as undeliverable, then such correspondence shall be deemed to have been delivered or 
received on the third day following the deposit of such correspondence in the United States Mail 
or the delivery of such correspondence to the overnight delivery service.  Grantor has the 
responsibility of promptly notifying Grantee of Grantor’s current address and other contact 
information. Grantor shall promptly notify Grantee of (i) any changes of Grantor’s address or 
other changes in Grantor’s contact information, and (ii) the name, address, and contact 
information of any transferee of the Protected Property if Grantor conveys the Protected 
Property. Any communications or Correspondence by Grantee to or with Grantor sent to the 
last address provided by Grantor shall be deemed sufficient to provide notice to Grantor.  
 
28. Recordation.  Grantor or Grantee shall record this instrument in timely fashion in the 
Register of Deeds Office for Beaufort County, South Carolina, and may re-record it at any time 
as may be required to preserve its rights in this Easement. 

 
29. Effective Date.  Grantor and Grantee intend that the restrictions arising hereunder take 
effect on the day and year this Easement is recorded in the Register of Deeds Office for Beaufort 
County, South Carolina, after all required signatures have been affixed hereto. 

 
30. Controlling Law.  The interpretation and performance of this Easement shall be governed 
by the laws of South Carolina. 

118

Item 16.



  22 

 
31. Liberal Construction.  Any general rule of construction to the contrary notwithstanding, 
this Easement shall be liberally construed in favor of this Easement to uphold the Purpose as 
stated in Paragraph 1.  If any provision in this instrument is found to be ambiguous, an 
interpretation consistent with the Purpose that would render the provision valid should be 
favored over any interpretation that would render it invalid. 

 
32. Severability.  If any provision of this Easement or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstance is found to be invalid, the remainder of the provisions of this Easement shall not be 
affected thereby. 

 
33. Entire Agreement.  The covenants, terms, conditions and restrictions of this Easement 
shall be binding upon, and inure to, the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective personal 
representatives, heirs, successors and assigns and shall continue as a servitude running in 
perpetuity with the Protected Property.  All terms used in this Easement, regardless of the 
number or gender in which they are used, shall be deemed and construed to include any other 
number, singular or plural, and any other gender, masculine, feminine, or neuter, as the context 
or sense of this Easement, any Paragraph, Subparagraph, or clause herein may require as if such 
terms had been fully and properly written in such number or gender. 

 
. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Easement interests herein described unto Grantee 
forever. 

 
By execution of this Easement, the Grantee accepts this Easement and the rights and 

obligations recited herein. 
 
GRANTOR HEREBY WARRANTS and represents that the Grantor is seized of the 

Protected Property in fee simple and has the right to grant and convey this Easement, that the 
Protected Property is free and clear of any and all encumbrances, except existing easements of 
record and prescriptive easements, if any, and that the Grantee shall have the use of and enjoy 
all of the benefits derived from and arising out of this Easement. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor and Grantee have set their hands to this original 

copy of this Easement under seal on the day and year first above written. 
 

THE REST OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

119

Item 16.



  23 

 
WITNESSES:     GRANTOR: 
 
      Luke Inabinett 
       
 

 
      By:       
     
 
      Its:       
 
 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
     ) ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF BEAUFORT  ) 
  

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged this _____ day of _____________, 2024, 
before me the undersigned Notary, and I do hereby certify that the above named Grantor 
personally appeared before me and acknowledged the due execution of the foregoing instrument. 

 
 
___________________________________________     

(Signature of Notary) 
Notary Public for the State of South Carolina  
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
Printed Name of Notary: _______________________________ 
 

 
 

120

Item 16.



  24 

WITNESSES:     GRANTEE: 
 
     BEAUFORT COUNTY OPEN LAND TRUST 
     

      By:       
 
      Its:       
 
 
 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
     ) ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF BEAUFORT  ) 
   

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged this _____ day of __________, 2024, 
before me the undersigned Notary, and I do hereby certify that the above named duly authorized 
officer of the Grantee personally appeared before me and acknowledged the due execution of 
the foregoing instrument. 

 
         

 ___________________________________________  
  (Signature of Notary) 
Notary Public for the State of South Carolina  
My commission expires: _______________ 

121

Item 16.



  25 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description and Derivation of Protected Property 
 

 
 

Beaufort County Tax Map#  
 

 
Grantee’s Address: P. O. Box 75 
   Beaufort, SC  29901 

122

Item 16.



  26 

EXHIBIT B 
 

Baseline Documentation Report 

123

Item 16.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
 

 

Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
 

 
 

St. Helena Easement - Inabinett 
1047 Seaside Road 

St. Helena, SC  29920 
 
 

Parcel # Beaufort County TMS # Acres 

1 R300 023 000 128B 0000 3.46 

2 R300 023 000 128C 0000 2.90 

3 R300 023 000 128D 0000 3.00 

 Total Acreage 9.36 

 
Submitted to and for the Use of: 

Open Land Trust 
PO Box 75 

Beaufort, SC  29901 
 

Submitted by: 
SRC Environmental 
108 Charping Lane 

Anderson, SC  29621 
 

Original Submittal Date:  October 21, 2024 

124

Item 16.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
October 21, 2024 
 
 
Open Land Trust 
Attn: Ms. Kate Schaefer 
448 W. Cheves Street  
Beaufort, SC  29901 
 
 
Re:  St. Helena Easement - Inabinett 

1047 Seaside Road 
St. Helena, SC  29920 

 
Ms. Schaefer: 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide environmental services for you.  It is our commitment to 
provide our clients with the most efficient, timely, and cost-effective approach to environmental 
issues. 
 
As requested, SRC, Inc. has completed a current Phase I Environmental Site Assessment for the 
subject property that consists of three contiguous parcels totaling 9.36 GIS acres, and is located 
at 1047 Seaside Road in St. Helena, SC.  The current Phase I was designed to meet the 
standards and guidelines of the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM E1527-21), 
including All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) while providing an environmental site assessment of the 
project site.  
 
The enclosed Phase I ESA was prepared for the exclusive use of the Open Land Trust, and/or 
their Assigns, for use in the assessment and evaluation of the environmental condition of the 
subject property at the time the report was completed based on reasonably ascertainable 
information, and within the scope and limitations of the ASTM E1527-21 guidelines. 
  
The current Phase I ESA, in conformance with the scope and limitations of ASTM 
guidelines, has revealed no evidence of existing or historical recognized environmental 
conditions (RECs) associated with the site, or adjacent sites. No further investigation is 
recommended. 
 
SRC welcomes the opportunity to serve you.  If you have any questions, or require any additional 
information, please feel free to contact me at 864-376-2864. 
 
  
Sincerely, 

 
Michael Whaley 
President 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 
 
Enclosures 

125

Item 16.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Section     Subject     Page 
 
1.0  Executive Summary       1 
2.0  Introduction         2 

2.1 Purpose        2 
2.2 Detailed Scope-of-Services     2 
2.3 Significant Assumptions      3 
2.4 Limitations and Expectations     3 
2.5 Special Terms and Conditions     4 
2.6 User Reliance       4 

3.0 Subject Property Description      5 
  3.1 Location and Legal Description     5 

3.2 Subject property and Vicinity General Characteristics 5 
3.3 Current Use of Property      6 
3.4 Description of Structures, Roads, Other Improvements 6 
3.5 Current Uses of the Adjoining Properties   6 

4.0  User Provided Description      7 
4.1 Title Records       7 
4.2 Environmental Liens or Activity and Use Limitations 8 
4.3 Specialized Knowledge      8 
4.4 Commonly Known or Reasonably Ascertainable Information 8 
4.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues  8 
4.6 Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information 8 
4.7 Reason for Performing Phase I     9 
4.8 Other         9 

5.0  Records Review        10 
5.1 Standard Environmental Record Sources   10 
5.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources   10 
5.3 Physical Setting Sources      10 
5.4 Historical Use Information on the Property   10 
5.5 Historical Use Information on Surrounding Properties 10 

6.0  Subject Property Reconnaissance     11 
6.1 Methodology and Limiting Conditions    11 
6.2 General Site Setting      11 
6.3 Exterior Observations      12 
6.4 Interior Observations      13

126

Item 16.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
Section     Subject     Page 
 
7.0 Interviews         14 

7.1 Interview with Owner      14 
7.2 Interview with Site Manager     14 
7.3 Interviews with Occupants     14 
7.4 Interviews with Local Government Officials   14 
7.5 Interviews with Others      14 

8.0 Additional Services/Non-Scope Considerations   15 

9.0 Findings         16 

9.1 Federal RCRA Generators List     17 

9.2 Toxic Release Inventory (TRI) List    18 

9.3 Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST)   19 

9.4 Underground Storage Tank (UST)    20 

9.5 SC Drycleaners List      21 

9.6 Historical Cleaners      22 

10.0 Opinion         24 
11.0 Data Gaps         24 
12.0 Conclusions        24 
13.0 Deviations         24 
14.0 References         25 
15.0 Signature of Environmental Professional    25 
16.0 Qualifications of Environmental Professional   26 

 
Appendix A:  Figure 1: Location Map 
Appendix B:  Figure 2: Topographical Maps 

Appendix C:  Figures 3A, 3B & 3C: Age Progression Aerials 

Appendix D:  Figure 4: Wetlands Map 

Appendix E:  Figure 5: Soils Map 
Appendix F:  Site Photographs 
Appendix G:  NETR Background Database Report 
Appendix H:  Deed Information and Title Insurance (if available) 
Appendix I:  Property Documents 
Appendix J:  UST Registry Information 
Appendix K:  Questionnaire  
 
 
 

127

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 1 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

1.0  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) by Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. (SRC) is designed to identify existing historical, visual, or physical 
evidence of recognized environmental conditions (RECs), historical recognized 
environmental conditions (HRECs), controlled recognized environmental conditions 
(CRECs), or potential risks at the St. Helena Area Fee Park Purchase site located at 1047 
Seaside Road in St. Helena, SC.  The subject property consists of three contiguous 
parcels totaling 9.36 GIS acres and is listed with Beaufort County TMS #s R300 023 000 
128B 0000, R300 023 000 128C 0000, and R300 023 000 128D 0000. 
 
The subject property is developed with an approximately 1,700 ft2 manufactured home 
on a permanent foundation, an approximately 1,000 ft2 manufactured home on cement 
blocks, an approximately 1,200 ft2 storage building, an approximately 700 ft2 open shed, 
a pen for domesticated birds, a dock, and dirt surfaced roads.  The residences and dock 
were in place as of 1985.  The storage building was built in 2008, and the open shed was 
built in 2022.  Aerial photography dating back to 1951 and topographic maps back to 1944 
sourced from www.historicaerials.com were reviewed and indicated the subject property 
was used for agriculture until the current structures were built.  Agriculture is still practiced 
on a smaller scale.  A 1984 aerial shows what appears to be two small trailers on the 
easternmost section of the subject property.   
 
Mr. Michael Whaley, Environmental Professional (EP) of SRC, conducted the on-site 
inspection on October 6, 2024.  The inspection of the subject property and directly 
adjacent sites did not visually or physically identify sources of improper use, treatment, 
storage, generation, or disposal of hazardous substances that resulted in environmental 
contamination of the subject property.  No sources of surface contamination were 
physically observed.  There were no leaking drums or containers visually or physically 
observed which might contain hazardous substances.  There were no strong or pungent 
odors associated with the subject property that would indicate the presence of additional 
hazardous substances.   
 
Current and past use of the subject property did not indicate sources of environmental 
contamination that have had an adverse environmental impact on the subject property. 
No current or past uses of directly adjacent properties appear to have involved the use, 
treatment, storage, or disposal of hazardous materials that resulted in environmental 
contamination of the subject property.  There were no limitations or significant data gaps 
encountered during this investigation that are considered to have hindered SRC’s ability 
to evaluate or identify recognized environmental conditions associated with the subject 
property. 
 
In the ESA, reviews of pertinent Federal and State records regarding the potential 
environmental concerns include but are not limited to:  NPL Listings, RCRA CORRACTS 
and RCRA Permitted TSD Facility Listings, CERCLIS/NFRAP Listings, ERNS Listings, 
State Equivalent SPL Listings, Registered UST and LUST Facilities, State Waste 
Landfills, Incinerators, or Transfer Stations Listings, and RCRA Generators Listings.  The 
Federal and State environmental databases did not indicate the presence of current 
facilities or sites located within a 1-mile radius of the subject property.   

128

Item 16.

http://www.historicaerials.com/


Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 2 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 
2.1 Purpose 
Ms. Kate Schaefer, of the Open Land Trust, requested that SRC conduct this ESA for the 
subject property.  This ESA was conducted to determine the potential for environmental 
impact to the subject property and is intended to fulfill the due diligence clause of the 
“innocent landowner defense” and “bona fide prospective buyer” clause of the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA). 
 
2.2  Detailed Scope-of-Services 
This ESA was conducted in general accordance with the guidelines set forth in the 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Standard E1527-21, “Standard 
Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
Process,” and consisted of the tasks listed below. 
 

• Inspections of the subject property and surrounding properties 

• Examination of historical documents 

• Interviews with individuals and public officials familiar with the site’s history 

• Examination of State and Federal regulatory agency records 
 
The purpose of the assessment was to identify Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) connected to the subject property. 
 

• A REC is defined as the presence of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products in, on or at the subject property due to a release to the environment; (2) 
the likely presence of hazardous substances or petroleum products in, on or at the 
subject property due to a release or likely release to the environment; or (3) the 
presence of hazardous substances or petroleum products in, on or at the subject 
property under conditions that pose a material threat of a future release to the 
environment. 
 
• An Historical REC (HREC) is defined as a previous release of hazardous 
substances or petroleum products affecting the subject property that has been 
addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority or authorities 
and meeting unrestricted use criteria established by the applicable regulatory 
authority or authorities, without subjecting the property to any controls (for example 
activity and use limitations, or other property use limitations). 
 
• A controlled REC (CREC) is a REC affecting the subject property that has been 
addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority or authorities 
with hazardous substances or petroleum products allowed to remain in place 
subject to implementation of required controls (for example, activity and use 
limitations or other property use limitations).   
 
• De minimis conditions are conditions a condition related to a release that 
generally does not present a threat to human health or the environment and that 
generally would not be the subject of an enforcement action if brought to the 
attention of appropriate governmental agencies. 

129

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 3 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

• A business environmental risk (BER) is the presence of a condition which can 
have a material environmental impact that is not the result of those environmental 
issues required to be investigated in ASTM E1527-21 practice.  BERs often involve 
non-scope considerations such as: asbestos, lead paint, lead in drinking water, 
radon, wetlands, ecological resources, endangered species, cultural and historic 
resources, regulatory compliance, industrial hygiene, health and safety, indoor air 
quality, biological agents, and mold. 
 
• De minimis conditions and BERs are not considered RECs and were not 
addressed during this ESA and were beyond the defined scope of work. 

 
ASTM standards attempt to facilitate high quality, standardized environmental site 
assessments; ensure that the standard of appropriate inquiry is practical and reasonable; 
and clarify industry standards for appropriate inquiry.  The ESA should provide: a Federal 
and State regulatory records review which may help to identify recognized environmental 
conditions; a site background description, which includes a history of previous uses of the 
property and adjoining properties which describes recognized environmental conditions; 
an on-site inspection which evaluates the environmental setting and existence of potential 
hazardous substances, petroleum products, storage tanks, PCBs, waste disposal; 
interviews; and findings and conclusions.  In addition, SRC provides non-scope services 
including wetland review, lead-based paints, asbestos, and other contamination sources 
and conditions of concern in connection with the property only upon request.  

 
2.3 Significant Assumptions 
Conclusions regarding the potential environmental impact of nearby, off-site facilities on 
the subject property are based on readily available information from the environmental 
databases and geologic and hydrogeologic conditions reported for the subject property 
vicinity.  As a basis for the conclusions regarding adjacent and nearby contaminated 
properties, we have assumed the surface-water flow and groundwater flow directions to 
be generally in the down-gradient direction of the surface topography, which was 
determined from our field observations, review of available topographic maps, and use of 
NETR.  In respect to the migration of vapors resulting from volatile organic compounds 
released to the environment, we have assumed that vapor may migrate in any vertical or 
horizontal direction depending on geological and hydrogeological as well as man-made 
conditions in the area of the subject property. There were no significant data gaps that 
interfered with the Environmental Professional’s ability to properly perform the site 
assessment. 
 
2.4 Limitations and Exceptions 
The application of the ASTM guidelines is limited to certain environmental conditions that 
may exist on the property and are practically reviewable.  This approach is site-specific 
in that it relates to the assessment of recognized environmental conditions on a specific 
parcel of commercial real estate.  As such, this practice does not specifically address 
additional issues in the transaction such as business entities or assets that may involve 
environmental liabilities.  No ESA can wholly eliminate uncertainty regarding the potential 
for recognized environmental conditions in connection with a parcel.  However, proper 
application is intended to reduce this uncertainty.  Appropriate inquiry does not imply 

130

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 4 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

exhaustive assessment of clean property as there is a point at which the cost of information 
obtained, or the time required to gather it outweighs the usefulness of the information.   
 
Finally, the ESA is limited by the extent of physical obstructions including existing structures, 
ecological barriers, buildings, asphalt, and other paved sites, as well as availability of 
appropriate land use records.  As such, there may be certain environmental conditions that 
could not be identified within the general scope of the Phase I Environmental Site 
Assessment.  The current ESA should be considered comprehensive and reliable in its scope 
within the limitations described above and is valid for a period of 180 days from the date of 
the report, or a 1-year time period if five specific components (interviews, searches for 
recorded environmental cleanup liens, review of government records, site reconnaissance of 
the subject property, and the Environmental Professional (EP) Declaration) are updated.  The 
180 day or 1-year time period begins with the date upon which the first of these components 
was completed.    
 
2.5 Special Terms and Conditions 
The specific terms and conditions referenced in this report are consistent with the general 
reference, use and definitions provided in the ASTM E1527-21 Standard Practice. 
 
2.6 User Reliance 
Based on the ASTM guidelines, an environmental professional is not required to verify 
independently the information provided but may rely on information provided unless he or she 
has actual knowledge that certain information is incorrect, or unless it is obvious that certain 
information is incorrect based on other information obtained in the Phase I Environmental 
Site Assessment, or actually known to the environmental professional. 
 
The current Phase I Environmental Site Assessment was prepared under the guidelines 
provided by ASTM. The results of the records review, on-site inspection, and interviews are 
considered to be reliable within the general limitations described by ASTM guidelines.  The 
records review, on-site inspection, and interviews were conducted in concert with each other 
and support the findings and conclusions.  Since there is no knowledge or reason to believe 
that any of the information is incorrect, SRC has concluded that the current ESA is reliable 
within the general limitations described in ASTM guidelines and is valid for a period of 180 
days from the date of the report. 
 
This report entitled “Phase I Environmental Site Assessment,” has been prepared at the 
request of Ms. Kate Schaefer and for the exclusive use of: 
 

Open Land Trust 
448 W. Cheves Street 
Beaufort, SC  29901 

 
- and/or their assigns - 

 
Reliance cannot be transferred without the permission of the above, and only if the other party 
agrees to the same limitations.  

131

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 5 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

3.0     TRACT DESCRIPTION 
3.1 Location and Legal Description 
The subject property consists of three contiguous parcels totaling 9.36 GIS acres and is 
listed with Beaufort County TMS #s R300 023 000 128B 0000, R300 023 000 128C 0000, 
and R300 023 000 128D 0000. 
 
The location of this subject property is shown in Figure 1, which contains screenshots 
from LandID.  Figure 2 contains excerpts from the 1958, and 2020 United States Geologic 
Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute quadrangle maps (St. Phillips Island, SC quadrangle) in 
Beaufort County, South Carolina.   
 
3.2  Subject Property and Vicinity General Characteristics 
The subject property and vicinity are that of a rural setting on the South Carolina coast 
that is experiencing growth in residential development.  
 
  

132

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 6 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

3.3  Current Use of the Subject Property 
The subject property is used as a residence with some limited agriculture.   
 
3.4 Descriptions of Structures, Roads, Other Improvements on the Subject 

Property 
The subject property is developed with an approximately 1,700 ft2 manufactured home 
on a permanent foundation, an approximately 1,000 ft2 manufactured home on cement 
blocks, an approximately 1,200 ft2 storage building, an approximately 700 ft2 open shed, 
a pen for domesticated birds, a dock, and dirt surfaced roads.  The residences and dock 
were in place as of 1985.  The storage building was built in 2008, and the open shed was 
built in 2022.   
 
3.5  Current Uses of the Adjoining Properties 
  

Direction Usage 

North Unnamed saltwater creek and residential 

East Seaside Road and residential 

Southeast Seaside Road and undeveloped 

West Undeveloped and agricultural  

 
There are no recognized environmental conditions (RECs) associated with the adjacent 
sites. 
  

133

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 7 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

4.0  USER PROVIDED INFORMATION 
4.1  Title Records 
Title information was collected from the Beaufort County Assessor’s Office.  The current 
owner is listed as: 
 

Luke H. Inabinett, Sr. 
10 Chiquita Point 
St. Helena Island, SC  29920 
 

 
  

134

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 8 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

4.2   Environmental Liens or Activity and Use Limitations 
Legal or physical restrictions are often in place on contaminated properties. These 
restrictions, which may include institutional and/or engineering controls, are intended to 
prevent adverse impacts to individuals or populations that may be exposed to hazardous 
substances and petroleum products in the soil, soil vapor, groundwater, and/or surface 
water on an environmentally impacted property. 
 
There were no legal or physical restrictions or limitations on the use of, or access to, the 
subject property identified during this ESA.  Available county electronic and hardcopy real 
property files were searched for land use restrictions, environmental liens, or similar 
documents concerning the subject property. No such documents were identified during 
this assessment. The Superfund Lien database was searched during this assessment, 
and the subject property was not listed. 
 
4.3  Specialized Knowledge 
No known specialized knowledge has been transferred to the environmental professional. 
The purchase price being paid for this property reasonably reflects the fair market value. 
 
4.4 Commonly Known or Reasonably Ascertainable Information 
The user provided commonly known or reasonable ascertainable information that would 
assist SRC with identifying conditions indicative of RECs in connection with the property. 
 
4.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues 
No known valuation reduction has been transferred to the environmental professional due 
to historic environmental issues that may have been in place prior to the findings of this 
report. 
 
4.6  Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information 
The current ownership and property manager is Mr. Luke Inabinett.  Occupants include 
Mr. Inabinett and various relatives. 
 
 
  

135

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 9 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

4.7  Reason for Performing Phase I 
The environmental professional performed the ESA on the subject property due to a 
commercial real estate transaction. 
 
This ESA was conducted to make “all appropriate inquiry into the previous ownership and 
uses of the property consistent with good commercial or customary practice” as defined 
by CERCLA §101(35), 42 U.S.C. §9601(35), for the bona fide prospective purchaser 
exception or the innocent landowner defense to CERCLA liability.  
 
4.8  Other 
No other information is applicable to this subject property or the environmental conditions 
therein.  

136

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 10 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

5.0  RECORDS REVIEW 
5.1  Standard Environmental Record Sources 
Available Federal and State record sources of environmental concern on or near the subject 
property were reviewed to determine if there was evidence of recognized environmental 
conditions or risks that may have an adverse environmental impact on the subject property.  
The records reviewed included the files of the Groundwater, Wastewater, and Solid & 
Hazardous Waste Management offices of the South Carolina Department of Environmental 
Services (DES).  In addition to site-specific files, the following DES documents, which are 
updated regularly and accessed by a subcontracted information service, National 
Environmental Title Research, LLC. (NETR), were reviewed for reference to the subject 
property and surrounding properties.  Any site identified on the NETR list was cross-
referenced with any available DES file.  A copy of the radius search conducted by NETR is 
attached.   
 
5.2  Additional Environmental Record Sources 
No other environmental record sources were available at the time of this review. 
 
5.3  Physical Setting Source(s) 
A 7.5-minute USGS topographic map (St. Phillips Island, SC quadrangle) was referenced for 
the physical setting of the subject property in relation to its surroundings (Appendix A). 
 
5.4  Historical Use Information on the Property 
Historical use of the property, where available, was determined through review of USGS 7.5 
Minute topographic maps, aerial photography, GIS Mapping websites, USDA Field Office, 
and Google Earth Pro.  Zoning, land use records, deeds, surveys, and tax maps were 
resourced via the Beaufort County Government website. 
 
The subject property was historically used for agriculture.  It was developed beginning in 1985 
with an approximately 1,700 ft2 manufactured home on a permanent foundation, an 
approximately 1,000 ft2 manufactured home on cement blocks, an approximately 1,200 ft2 
storage building, an approximately 700 ft2 open shed, a pen for domesticated birds, a dock, 
and dirt surfaced roads.  The residences and dock were in place as of 1985.  The storage 
building was built in 2008, and the open shed was built in 2022.  Aerial photography dating 
back to 1951 and topographic maps back to 1944 sourced from www.historicaerials.com were 
reviewed and indicated the subject property was used for agriculture until the current 
structures were built.  Agriculture is still practiced on a smaller scale.  A 1984 aerial shows 
what appears to be two small trailers on the easternmost section of the subject property.   
 
5.5  Historical Use Information on Adjoining Properties 
Historical use of the adjacent properties, where available, was determined through review of 
USGS 7.5 Minute topographic maps, aerial photography, GIS Mapping websites, USDA Field 
Office, and Google Earth Pro.  Zoning, land use records, deeds, surveys, and tax maps were 
resourced via the Hampton County and Jasper County Government websites. 
 
According to readily available information the adjoining properties were also used for 
agricultural purposes.  The site to the southeast across Seaside Road was also developed 
with a residence.  There may have been a residential structure to the southwest according to 
historical topographic maps, but it is not visible on aerials.  The EP does not consider this to 
represent a REC.    

137

Item 16.

http://www.historicaerials.com/


Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 11 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

6.0  TRACT RECONNAISSANCE 
6.1  Methodology and Limiting Conditions 
The subject property and surrounding properties, shown in Appendix A, were inspected 
by the EP for evidence of potential sources of environmental impact to the groundwater 
and soil of the subject property by using a grid pattern and walking several transects to 
ensure complete coverage of the subject property. Drone reconnaissance was also used.  
Physical obstructions included the wetland areas, and residential structures.  There were 
no other limiting conditions such as weather. 
 
6.2 General Subject Property Setting  
The subject property is representative of the coastal zone and consists of forested land 
with large areas of wetlands.  Agricultural activities are common in the area.  Residential 
development has increased in the recent years. 
  

138

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 12 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

6.3  Exterior Observations 
Exterior observations of the subject property and adjacent sites by the Environmental 
Professional (EP) did not visually or physically observe, or identify from the interviews or 
records review, any of the following:  
 

• Pits, Ponds, or Lagoons on the property used in connection with waste disposal 
or waste treatment 

• Wastewater 

• Stained Soil or Pavement (other than de minimis) 

• Stressed Vegetation 

• Wells (groundwater monitoring wells) 

• Septic Systems 

• Solid Waste (including trash, demolition debris or construction debris) 
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
 
  

139

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 13 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

6.4  Interior Observations 
Interior observations of the residential structures were not conducted due to privacy.   
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
  

140

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 14 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

7.0  INTERVIEWS 
7.1  Interview with Owner 
Mr. Inabinett provided information pertaining to the subject property.  He has owned the 
parcels since 1985.  They have been used for residential and agricultural purposes.  The 
EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
7.2  Interview with Subject Property Manager 
See 7.1. 
 
7.3  Interviews with Occupants   
Mr. Inabinett and various members of his family have occupied the property. 
 
7.4  Interviews with Local Government Officials 
The Beaufort office of the SCDES Bureau of Coastal Management was contacted.  There 
was no specific knowledge pertaining to recognized environmental conditions associated 
with the subject property, or the adjoining properties. The EP does not consider this to 
represent a REC.  
 
The Beaufort County Assessor’s Office headed by Ms. Ebony Sanders was contacted. 
Guidance was provided on researching the property’s value.  There was no specific 
knowledge pertaining to recognized environmental conditions at the subject property.  
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
The Beaufort County Register of Deeds office was contacted.  Their website was down, 
and online deed research was not available. Available access to the website was not 
known. The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
Ms. Bridgette Hackler with the SCDES UST Registry Division was contacted concerning 
the Williams Garage and Service Station site to the northeast.  She confirmed a release 
was reported in 1999 and a Letter of No Further Action (NFA) was issued in 2008.  Also, 
two USTs were abandoned by removal in 1999.  The EP does not consider this to 
represent a REC. 
 
7.5  Interviews with Others 
No other interviews were conducted.  
  

141

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 15 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
8.0 ADDITIONAL SERVICES/NON-SCOPE CONSIDERATIONS 
No additional services, or non-scope considerations were provided.  These include: 
asbestos, lead paint, lead in drinking water, radon, wetlands, ecological resources, 
endangered species, cultural and historic resources, regulatory compliance, industrial 
hygiene, health and safety, indoor air quality, biological agents, and mold. 
 
  

142

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 16 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.0  FINDINGS 
The subject property was not listed in any of the searched regulatory databases. 
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
Note: all database searches were less than four months old according to information 
provided by NETR (see attached).   

143

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 17 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.1 Federal RCRA Generators List 
RCRA-SQG: RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to 
data supporting the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the 
Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984. The database includes 
selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or dispose of 
hazardous waste as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 
Small quantity generators (SQGs) generate between 100 kg and 1,000 kg of hazardous 
waste per month.  
 
There were no RCRA Generators within the search radius. 
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
  

144

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 18 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.2 US Toxic Release Inventory 
The Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) is a publicly available EPA database that contains 
information on toxic chemical releases and other waste management activities reported 
annually by certain covered industry groups as well as federal facilities. TRI reporters for 
all reporting years are provided in the file. 
 
There were no TRI sites listed within the search radius.  
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC.   
   

145

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 19 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.3 Leaking Underground Storage Tanks (LUST) 
The Leaking Underground Storage Tank Incident Reports contain an inventory of 
reported leaking underground storage tank incidents. The data come from the SC 
Department of Environmental Services (SCDES) Leaking UST list. 
 
The Williams Garage & Service Station site to the northeast was present on the LUST 
list.  A minor release was reported on 10-6-99.  It was listed with a low Risk Based 
Corrective Action score of 3AA.  A letter of No Further Action (NFA) was issued on 9-22-
08.  
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC.   
 

 
 
  

146

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 20 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.4 Underground Storage Tank (UST) 
The Underground Storage Tank database contains registered USTs. USTs are regulated 
under Subtitle I of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). The data come 
from the SC Department of Environmental Services (SCDES) list: Comprehensive 
Underground Storage Tanks (UST). 
 
There were no UST sites listed within the search radius.  
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC.   
 

  

147

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 21 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.5 SC Drycleaner Facilities 
Environmental contamination at a dry cleaner site can occur from spills and leaks of 
solvent. Drycleaners that are operating and have registered with the South Carolina 
Department of Revenue (SCDOR) are subject to inspection by the South Carolina 
Department of Environmental Services (SCDES). However, not all Drycleaners in 
operation have registered with the SCDOR, therefore this coverage is not a complete 
representation of the state's drycleaners.. 
 
There were no dry cleaner sites within the search radius. 
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
  

148

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 22 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

10.0  OPINION 
I offer the following opinion as to whether the all appropriate inquiry conducted in 
accordance with 40 CFR Part 312 and/or 33 CFR 137 has identified conditions indicative 
of releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances, pollutants, contaminants, 
petroleum and petroleum products, and controlled substances on, at, in, or to the subject 
property. 
 
SRC has performed a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment in conformance with the 
scope and limitations of ASTM Practice E1527-21 of the subject property located at 1047 
Seaside Road in St. Helena, SC.  There are no historical or current recognized 
environmental conditions associated with the subject property, or adjacent properties.  It 
is the opinion of the EP that no further investigation is necessary.   
 
11.0  DATA GAPS 
I am identifying the following data gaps (as defined in 40 CFR Part 312.10) in the 
information developed as part of the all appropriate inquiry that affects my ability as an 
environmental professional to identify conditions indicative of releases or threatened 
releases of hazardous substances, pollutants, contaminants, petroleum and petroleum 
products, and controlled substances on, at, in, or to the subject property.  I am also 
including comments regarding the significance of said data gaps on my ability as an 
environmental professional to provide an opinion as to whether the all appropriate inquiry 
has identified conditions indicative of releases and threatened releases. 
 
A significant data gap is defined by E1527–21 as a data gap that affects the ability of the 
environmental professional to identify a REC.  There were no limitations or significant 
data gaps encountered during this investigation that are considered to have hindered the 
EP’s ability to evaluate or identify recognized environmental conditions associated with 
the subject property. 
 
12.0  CONCLUSIONS 
Generally, a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment considers visual, physical, and 
historical evidence of environmental contamination on and adjacent to a subject property. 
 
There are no indications of current or historical recognized environmental conditions on 
the subject property or adjacent sites.  The EP does not consider this to represent a REC 
and does not recommend further investigation. 
 
13.0  DEVIATIONS 
No deviations were performed from the ASTM Designation E1527–21 “Standard Practice 
for Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I Environmental Assessment Process”.  All 
available sources were referenced to obtain the necessary information outlined in ASTM 
E1527-21 to perform a qualified environmental opinion and conclusion.  

149

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 23 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

14.0  REFERENCES 
ASTM Designation E1527-21 “Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: 
Phase I Environmental Assessment Process” 
 
15.0  SIGNATURE OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROFESSIONAL 
This report, entitled “Phase I Environmental Site Assessment,” has been prepared in 
accordance with guidelines set forth in the American Society for Testing and Materials 
(ASTM) Standard E1527-21, “Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: 
Phase I Environmental Site Assessment Process”. 
 
I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition 
of Environmental Professional as defined in §312.10 of 40 CFR 312” and 12.13.2. 
 
I have the specific qualifications based on education, training, and experience to assess 
a property of the nature, history, and setting of the subject property.  I have developed 
and performed the all appropriate inquiries in conformance with the standards and 
practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 312. 
 
 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 
 

 
Michael W. Whaley, M.S. 
 
October 21, 2024 

Date  

150

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 24 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

16.0 Qualifications (Resume) of Environmental Professional 

 
MICHAEL WAYNE WHALEY, B.Sc., M.Sc. 

108 Charping Lane (864) 376-2864 
Anderson, SC  29621 mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
 
PROFILE 

• Eighteen years progressively responsible experience in Environmental, Health and Safety program 
management with medium to large-scale organizations. 

• Thorough knowledge of current environmental and safety legislation at the state and federal level, 
including RCRA, Title V Permitting, and the Clean Water Act. 

• Proficient in assessing needs, managing multiple projects, and meeting deadlines. 

• Proven successful in forming and leading effective safety teams to reduce accidents and injuries. 

• Skilled instructor and facilitator; outstanding oral and written communication skills. 

• Experienced in consulting and manufacturing settings (i.e., vinyl production and printing, metals 
fabrication, and a Tier 1 supplier to the automotive industry). 

 
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

Program Management 

• Composed and implemented Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasures Plan (SPCC), Stormwater 

Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), OSHA Emergency Response Plan, and RCRA Contingency Plan. 

• Developed and utilized monitoring plans to meet all requirements of Title V Air Permit, and National 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit. 

• Conducted regular self-audits and managed insurance-based on-site audits to maintain compliance. 

• Formed and led effective safety teams that reduced overall injuries by 20% and reduced recordable 

injury rates well below industry average. 

• Managed Worker’s Compensation claims for staff of 200 and reduced claims by 25% annually. 

• Emergency Preparedness and Right to Know Coordinator for facilities with 200-735 full-time 

employees. 

 

Research, Analysis and Evaluation 

• Managed and conducted industrial hygiene and/or environmental testing and developed and 

implemented options for compliance. 

• Modeled wastewater discharges into riverine systems to determine toxicity requirements and mixing 

zone size. 

• Conducted Phase I Environmental Site Assessments for industrial and commercial clients. 

• Performed Job Hazard Analyses and Hazard Assessments, articulating complex issues and formulating 
strategies for change.  

• Managed all records associated with health and safety issues including OSHA 200, Worker’s 
Compensation, and Accident/Near-miss tracking; analyzed and evaluated emerging trends. 

• Analyzed water usage trends and reduced purchased water usage and wastewater generation by 
over 25%.  

151

Item 16.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 21, 2024 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinett, 1047 Seaside Road, St. Helena, SC  29920  Page 25 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

Written and Verbal Communication 

• Provided expert advice and consultation to senior management and industry associates on a wide 
range of environmental, safety and compliance issues. 

• Generated and submitted monthly, quarterly, and annual reports for air quality, wastewater, hazardous 

waste, infectious waste, Form R, Tier II, and stormwater according to local, state, and federal 

regulations for a Large Quantity Hazardous Waste Generator with RCRA Part B Permit. 

• Trained employees in all areas of safety and environmental regulations with consistently positive 

feedback. 

• Developed and presented information to Key Operating Indicator (KOI) Team about EHS issues relating 

to productivity and profit.  

• Produced written compliance procedures and trained plant personnel according to OSHA Safety 

Programs, and US DOT, US EPA, and SC DES regulations. 

• Published author. 

 
EMPLOYMENT HISTORY 

Owner           2002 - Current 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Anderson, SC 
Science Department Adjunct Professor      2015 - Current 
Tri-County Technical College, Pendleton, SC 
Science Department Educator        2017 - Current 
Anderson School District 4 
Science Department Educator        2015 - 2017 
Anderson School District 1 
Science Department Educator        2006 - 2015 
Anderson School District V 
EHS/Facilities & Security Supervisor       2005 - 2006 
AFCO, Anderson, SC 
Environmental Specialist        2003 - 2005 
Michelin N.A., Anderson, SC 
Safety and Environmental Manager       2001 - 2003 
AVX Corporation, Myrtle Beach, SC 
Safety and Environmental Coordinator      1998 - 2001 
VyTech Industries, Inc., Anderson, SC 
Safety and Environmental Engineer       1994 - 1998 
The Torrington Co., Union, SC 
Project Scientist         1992 - 1994 
RMT, Inc., Greenville, SC 
Research Specialist         1991 - 1992 
The Institute for Wildlife and Environmental Toxicology, Pendleton, SC 
 
EDUCATION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

M.Sc., Biological Sciences        2014 
Clemson University, Clemson, SC 
M.Sc., Aquatic Toxicology (Fisheries and Wildlife)     1991 
Clemson University, Clemson, SC 
B.Sc., Biology          1987 
The Citadel, Charleston, SC 
 

• 24-hour OSHA 1910.120 Hazardous Waste Operators Health and Safety Emergency Response 
Training 

• OSHA Programs Training including, but not limited to Ergonomics, Bloodborne Pathogens, CPR and 
First Responder, Lockout/Tagout, Emergency Response, and Fire Prevention and Control 

• RCRA Hazardous Waste Management Training 

152

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

153

Item 16.



 

 
 

 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 1 
Location Map 

St. Helena Easement - Inabinet 
1047 Seaside Road 

St. Helena, SC  29920 

 154

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

155

Item 16.



 
 

 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 2 
Topographical Map 1:24,000 Scale 

St. Philips Island, SC Quadrangle – 1958 & 2020 
St. Helena Easement - Inabinet 

1047 Seaside Road 
St. Helena, SC  29920 

 156

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

157

Item 16.



 

1955 (NETR Historical Aerials) 

 

 

1984 (NETR Historical Aerials)  
 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 3A 
1955 & 1984 Aerials 

St. Helena Easement - Inabinet 
1047 Seaside Road 

St. Helena, SC  29920 

 
158

Item 16.



 

1994 (Google Earth Pro)  

 

 

2005 (Google Earth Pro)  
 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 3B 
1994 & 2005 Aerials 

St. Helena Easement - Inabinet 
1047 Seaside Road 

St. Helena, SC  29920 

 
159

Item 16.



 

 

 2015 (Google Earth Pro)   

 

 

2021 (Google Earth Pro)  
 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 3C 
2015 & 2021 Aerials 

St. Helena Easement - Inabinet 
1047 Seaside Road 

St. Helena, SC  29920 

 
160

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D 

161

Item 16.



 

 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 4 
Wetlands Map 

St. Helena Easement - Inabinet 
1047 Seaside Road 

St. Helena, SC  29920 

 162

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

163

Item 16.



 

 

  

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 5 
Soils Map 

St. Helena Easement - Inabinet 
1047 Seaside Road 

St. Helena, SC  29920 

 164

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX F 

165

Item 16.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1: Seaside Road – Northeast View 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 2: Residence #1  

166

Item 16.



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 3: Residence #2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 4: Garage and Storage Building 
 
  

167

Item 16.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 5: Equipment Shed 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 6: Bird Coop 
 
 
 
 
 
 

168

Item 16.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 7: Diesel Fuel AST  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 8: Scrapped Car, Washing Machine, and Trailer   
 
 
 
 
 
 

169

Item 16.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 9: Antique Farm Equipment 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 10: Adjoining Property East (Owned by Mr. Inabinet) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

170

Item 16.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 11: Live Oaks 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 12: North View to Creek 
 
 
 
 
 
 

171

Item 16.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 13: West View from Dock 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 14: East View Towards Seaside Road   

172

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G 

173

Item 16.



Site Name: St. Helena Easement - Inabinet
Location: 1047 Seaside Road St. Helena, SC
Prepared for: SRC, Inc.
Ref: Kate - Open Land Trust
Center Coordinates: 32.359808296551584,-80.57119846343996
Prepared Date: Sun Oct 20 2024 18:26:39 GMT+0000 (Coordinated Universal Time)

ENVIRONMENTAL
RADIUS REPORT

ASTM E1527-21

2055 E. Rio Salado Pkwy, Tempe, AZ 85381 | 480-967-6752

174

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Summary

Federal < 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1

Lists of Federal NPL (Superfund) sites 0 0 0

Lists of Federal Delisted NPL sites 0 0 0

Lists of Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and CERCLA orders 0 0 0

Lists of Federal CERCLA sites with NFRAP 0 0 0

Lists of Federal RCRA facilities undergoing Corrective Action 0 0 0

Lists of Federal RCRA TSD facilities 0 0 0

Lists of Federal RCRA generators 0 0 0

Federal institutional control/engineering control registries 0 0 0

Federal ERNS list 0 0 0

State < 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1

Lists of state and tribal Superfund equivalent sites 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal hazardous waste facilities 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal landfills and solid waste disposal facilities 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal registered storage tanks 0 0 0

State and tribal institutional control/engineering control registries 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal voluntary cleanup sites 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal brownfields sites 0 0 0

Other < 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1

State and/or tribal lists of sites requiring further investigation / remediation 0 0 0

State list of Significant Environmental Hazards (SEH) 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal mine sites requiring further investigation and/or remediation 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of spills and spill responses 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of emergency responses 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of dry cleaners 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of clandestine laboratory cleanups 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of scrap/used tire processing facilities 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of underground injection control sites 0 0 0

State and/or tribal listings of permitted drywells 0 0 0

Automobile salvage yards 0 0 0

Livestock Waste Control sites 0 0 0

Controlled Animal Feeding Operations (CAFOs) 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of registered aboveground storage tanks (ASTs) 0 0 0

C.A.A. Permitted Facilities 0 0 0

NPDES Permitted Facilities 0 0 0

Onsite Wastewater Treatment sites 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of permitted facilities 1 0 0

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act Information (RCRAInfo) 0 0 0

U.S. EPA Enforcement, Compliance History Online (ECHO) 0 0 0

U.S. EPA Underground Storage Tanks (UST) 1 0 0

U.S. EPA Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) database 0 0 0

U.S. EPA Toxic Release Inventory System (TRIS) 0 0 0

175

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal NPL (Superfund) sites

The National Priorities List (NPL) is the list of sites of national priority among the known releases or threatened releases of hazardous
substances, pollutants, or contaminants throughout the United States and its territories. The NPL is intended primarily to guide the EPA in
determining which sites warrant further investigation. The NPL is updated periodically, as mandated by CERCLA.
There were no Federal NPL sites found within a one-mile radius of the target property.

176

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal Delisted NPL sites

The EPA may delete a final NPL site if it determines that no further response is required to protect human health or the environment.
Under Section 300.425(e) of the NCP (55 FR 8845, March 8, 1990), a site may be deleted when no further response is appropriate if EPA
determines that one of the following criteria has been met: 1) EPA, in conjunction with the state, has determined that responsible parties
have implemented all appropriate response action required, 2) EPA, in consultation with the state, has determined that all appropriate
Superfund-financed responses under CERCLA have been implemented and that no further response by responsible parties is appropriate,
3) A remedial investigation/feasibility study (RI/FS) has shown that the release poses no significant threat to public health or the
environment and, therefore, remedial measures are not appropriate.
There were no Federal Delisted NPL sites found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

177

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and CERCLA orders

CERCLA identifies the classes of parties liable under CERCLA for the cost of responding to releases of hazardous substances. In
addition, CERCLA contains provisions specifying when Federal installations must report releases of hazardous substances and the
cleanup procedures they must follow. Executive Order No. 12580, Superfund Implementation, delegates response authorities to EPA and
the Coast Guard. Generally, the head of the Federal agency has the delegated authority to address releases at the Federal facilities in its
jurisdiction.
There were no Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and/or orders found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

178

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal CERCLA sites with NFRAP

No Further Remedial Action Planned (NFRAP) is a decision made as part of the Superfund remedial site evaluation process to denote that
further remedial assessment activities are not required and that the facility/site does not pose a threat to public health or the environment
sufficient to qualify for placement on the National Priorities List (NPL) based on currently available information. These facilities/sites may
be re-evaluated if EPA receives new information or learns that site conditions have changed. A NFRAP decision does not mean the
facility/site is free of contamination and does not preclude the facility/site from being addressed under another federal, state or tribal
cleanup program.
There were no Federal CERCLA sites with No Further Remedial Action Planned (NFRAP) decisions found within a half-mile
radius of the target property.

179

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal RCRA facilities undergoing Corrective Action

Corrective action is a requirement under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) that facilities that treat, store or dispose of
hazardous wastes investigate and cleanup hazardous releases into soil, ground water, surface water and air. Corrective action is
principally implemented through RCRA permits and orders. RCRA permits issued to TSDFs must include provisions for corrective action
as well as financial assurance to cover the costs of implementing those cleanup measures. In addition to the EPA, 44 states and territories
are authorized to run the Corrective Action program.
There were no Federal RCRA facilities undergoing corrective action(s) found within a one-mile radius of the target property.

180

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal RCRA TSD facilities

The final link in RCRA's cradle-to-grave concept is the treatment, storage, and disposal facility (TSDF) that follows the generator and
transporter in the chain of waste management activities. The regulations pertaining to TSDFs are more stringent than those that apply to
generators or transporters. They include general facility standards as well as unit-specific design and operating criteria.
There were no Federal RCRA treatment, storage and disposal facilities (TSDFs) found within a half-mile radius of target property.

181

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal RCRA generators

A generator is any person who produces a hazardous waste as listed or characterized in part 261 of title 40 of the Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR). Recognizing that generators also produce waste in different quantities, EPA established three categories of generators
in the regulations: very small quantity generators, small quantity generators, and large quantity generators. EPA regulates hazardous
waste under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) to ensure that these wastes are managed in ways that protet human
health and the environment. Generators of hazardous waste are regulated based on the amount of hazardous waste they generate in a
calendar month, not the size of their business or facility.
There were no Federal RCRA generators found at the target property and/or adjoining properties.

182

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Federal institutional control/engineering control registries

Institutional Controls (IC) are defined as non-engineered and/or legal controls that minimize the potential human exposure to
contamination by limiting land or resource use. Whereas, Engineering Controls (EC) consist of engineering measures (e.g, caps,
treatment systems, etc.) designed to minimize the potential for human exposure to contamination by either limiting direct contact with
contaminated areas or controlling migration of contaminants through environmental media.
There were no Federal institutional or engineering controls found at the target property.

183

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Federal ERNS list

The Emergency Response Notification System (ERNS) is a database used to store information on notification of oil discharges and
hazardous substances releases. The ERNS program is a cooperative data sharing effort encompassing the National Response Center
(NRC), operated by the US Coast Guard, EPA HQ and EPA regional offices. ERNS data is used to analyze release notifications, track EPA
responses and compliance to environmental laws, support emergency planning efforts, and assist decision-makers in developing spill
prevention programs.
There were no Federally recorded releases of oil and/or hazardous substances at the target property.

184

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal Superfund equivalent sites

In order to maintain close coordination with the states and tribes in the NPL listing decision process, the EPA's policy is to determine the
position of states and tribes on sites that EPA is considering for listing. Consistent with this policy, since 1996, it has been the EPA's
general practice to seek the state or tribe's position on sites under consideration for NPL listing by submitting a written requiest to the
governor/state environmental agency or tribe. Various states may have their own program for identifying, investigating and cleaning up
sites where consequential amounts of hazardous waste may have been disposed that work in conjunction with the EPA's Superfund
remedial program.
There were no State and/or tribal Superfund equivalent sites found within a one-mile radius of target property.

185

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal hazardous waste facilities

EPA established basic hazardous waste management standards for businesses who produce hazardous waste and categorized three
businesses based on the volume of hazardous waste produced in a calendar month. On the federal level, there are three generator
categories: large quantity generator, small quantity generator, and conditionally exempt small quantity generator. Some states are
authorized to establish generator categories that are different from those that federal EPA set up. State regulatory requirements for
generators of hazardous waste may be more stringent than the federal program.
There were no State and/or tribal hazardous waste facilities found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

186

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal landfills and solid waste disposal facilities

Title 40 of the CFR parts 239 through 259 contain the regulations for non-hazardous solid waste programs set up by the states. EPA has
requirements for state solid waste permit programs, guidelines for the processing of solid waste, guidelines for storage and collection of
commercial, residential and institutional solid waste, and the criteria for municipal solid waste landfills. State solid waste programs may be
more stringent than the federal code requires.
There were no State and/or tribal landfills or solid waste disposal facilities found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

187

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks

A typical leaking underground storage tank (LUST) scenario involves the release of a fuel product from an underground storage tank
(UST) that can contaminate surrounding soil, groundwater, or surface waters, or affect indoor air spaces. Once a leak is confirmed,
immediate response actions must be taken to minimize or eliminate the source of the release and to reduce potential harm to human
health, safety, and the environment. Each state has unique requirements for initiating responses to a release, and it is up to the UST
owner or operator to conduct actions in compliance with his/her local rules.
There were no State and/or tribal leaking storage tanks found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

188

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal registered storage tanks

EPA initially issued UST regulations in 1988. In 2015, EPA modified the UST regulation, which was effective October 13, 2015 in Indian
Country and states without State Program Approval. EPA recognizes that, because of the size and diversity of the regulated community,
state and local governments are in the best position to oversee USTs: 1) State and local authorities are closer to the situation in their
domain and are in the best position to set priorities, 2) Subtitle I of the Solid Waste Disposal Act allows state UST programs approved by
EPA to operate in lieu of the federal program, 3) the state program approval (SPA) regulations set criteria for states to obtain the authority
to operate in lieu of the federal program. State programs must be at least as stringent as EPA's. A complete version of the law that
governs USTs can be found in U.S. Code, Title 42, Chapter 82, Subchapter IX.
There were no State and/or tribal registered storage tanks found at subject and adjoining properties.

189

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and tribal institutional control/engineering control registries

Institutional controls are non-engineered instruments such as administrative and legal controls that help minimize the potential for human
exposure to contamination and/or protect the integrity of the remedy. Engineering controls consist of engineering measures (e.g, caps,
treatment systems, etc.) designed to minimize the potential for human exposure to contamination by either limiting direct contact with
contaminated areas or controlling migration of contaminants through environmental media. It is EPA's expectation that treatment or
engineering controls will be used to address principal threat wastes and that groundwater will be returned to its beneficial use whenever
practicable.
There were no State and/or tribal institutional and/or engineering controls found filed against the target property.

190

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal voluntary cleanup sites

State cleanup programs play a significant role in assessing and cleaning up contaminated sites. State cleanup programs typically are
programs authorized by state statutes to address brownfields and other lower-risk sites that are not of federal interest. The EPA has
historically supported the use of state cleanup programs and continues to provide grant funding to establish and enhance the programs.
This approach was codified in 2002 as Section 182 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act
(CERCLA).
There were no State and/or tribal voluntary cleanup sites found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

191

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal brownfields sites

Since its inception in 1995, EPA's Brownfields and Land Revitalization Program has grown into a proven, results-oriented program that
has changed the way communities address and manage contaminated property. The program is designed to empower states, tribes,
communities, and other stakeholders to work together to prevent, assess, safely clean up, and sustainably reuse brownfields. Beginning in
the mid-1990s, EPA provided small amounts of seed money to local governments that launched hundreds of two-year Brownfields pilot
projects and developed guidance and tools to help states, communities and other stakeholders in the cleanup and redevelopment of
brownfields sites.
There were no State and/or tribal brownfields sites found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

192

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of sites requiring further investigation / remediation

No records found

193

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State list of Significant Environmental Hazards (SEH)

No records found

194

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal mine sites requiring further investigation and/or
remediation

No records found

195

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of spills and spill responses

No records found

196

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of emergency responses

No records found

197

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of dry cleaners

No records found

198

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of clandestine laboratory cleanups

No records found

199

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of scrap/used tire processing facilities

No records found

200

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of underground injection control sites

No records found

201

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal listings of permitted drywells

No state and/or tribal permitted drywells were found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

202

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Automobile salvage yards

No records found

203

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Livestock Waste Control sites

No records found

204

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Controlled Animal Feeding Operations (CAFOs)

No records found

205

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of registered aboveground storage tanks (ASTs)

No records found

206

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

C.A.A. Permitted Facilities

No records found

207

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

NPDES Permitted Facilities

No records found

208

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Onsite Wastewater Treatment sites

No records found

209

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of permitted facilities

SOUTH CAROLINA - ENVIRONMENTAL FACILITY INFORMATION SYSTEM
The SC-EFIS is the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) Environmental Facility Information System
that integrates information on environmental facilities, permits, violations, enforcement actions, and compliance activities needed to
support regulatory requirements and target environmental quality improvements for the water, air, solid waste, and hazardous waste
program areas.

center: 32.359808296551584,-80.57119846343996 0.5 Miles 1.0 Miles

210

Item 16.



WILLIAMS GARAGE & SERVICE STA
1002 SEASIDE RD

Registry ID: 110017148308
Name: WILLIAMS GARAGE & SERVICE STA
Address: 1002 SEASIDE RD
City: SAINT HELENA ISLAND
Site Type: STATIONARY
Program Acronyms: SC-EFIS:SC0000069483
Interest Type: STATE MASTER
Point of Reference Description: CENTER OF A FACILITY OR STATION
Date Created: 11-MAR-04
Date Updated: 12-FEB-08
FRS Facility Detail Report URL: Link
Distance From Center (Miles): 0.1865
Site Source: last updated from FACILITY REGISTRY SERVICE

1

211

Item 16.

https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110017148308


environmental.netronline.com

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act Information (RCRAInfo)

No records found

212

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Enforcement, Compliance History Online (ECHO)

No records found

213

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Underground Storage Tanks (UST)

EPA - UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS
Approximately 542,000 underground storage tanks (USTs) nationwide store petroleum or hazardous substances. The greatest potential
threat from a leaking UST is contamination of groundwater, the source of drinking water for nearly half of all Americans. EPA, states,
territories, and tribes work in partnership with industry to protect the environment and human health from potential releases. EPA
developed UST Finder, a mapping application containing a comprehensive, state-sourced national map of UST and leaking UST data. It
provides attributes and locations of active and closed USTs, UST facilities, and LUST sites from states as of 2018-2019 and from Tribal
lands and US territories as of 2020-2021. This data set was searched to return all records regarding the target and/or adjoining properties.

center: 32.359808296551584,-80.57119846343996 0.5 Miles 1.0 Miles

214

Item 16.



WILLIAMS GARAGE & SERVICE STA
1002 SEASIDE RD

Facility ID: SC12746
Name: WILLIAMS GARAGE & SERVICE STA
Address: 1002 SEASIDE RD
City: SAINT HELENA ISLAND
County:
State: South Carolina
ZIP Code: 29920
Latitude: 32.36047363
Longitude: -80.56817627
Open USTs: 0
Closed USTs: 2
Temporarily Out of Service USTs: 0
Facility Status: Closed UST(s)
Land Use:
Population Within 1,500ft:
Private Wells Within 1,500ft: 5
Within Source Water Protection Area (SPA): No
SPA Public Water System & Facility ID:
WHPA Public Water System & Facility ID:
Within Groundwater Wellhead Protection Area (WHPA): No
Within 100-Year Floodplain: No
SPA Water Type:
SPA Facility Type:
Distance From Center (Miles): 0.1822
Site Source: last updated 11-18-2020 from USEPA-UST

1

215

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) database

No records found

216

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Toxic Release Inventory System (TRIS)

No records found

217

Item 16.



environmental.netronline.com

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice
This report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR). It cannot be
concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and surrounding properties does not exist from other sources. NO WARRANTY EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS
MADE WHATSOEVER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. NATIONWIDE ENVIRONMENTAL TITLE RESEARCH, LLC SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF ANY
SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER.
IN NO EVENT SHALL NATIONWIDE ENVIRONMENTAL TITLE RESEARCH, LLC, BE LIABLE TO ANYONE, WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS,
NEGLIGENCE, ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OF DAMAGE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR
EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF NATIONWIDE ENVIRONMENTAL TITLE RESEARCH, LLC, IS STRICTLY LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT
PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this report "AS-IS". Any analyses, estimates, ratings, environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this report are provided for
illustrative purposes only, and are not intended to provide, nor should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction or forecast of, any environmental risk for any
property. Only a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any property.
Additionally, the information provided in this Report is not to be construed as legal advice.
Copyright 2024 by Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR). All rights reserved. Reproduction in any media or format, in whole or in part, of any report or map of
Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC, or its affiliates, is prohibited without prior written permission.
Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR) and its logos are trademarks of Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC or its affiliates. All other trademarks used herein
are the property of their respective owners.

218

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX H 

219

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX I 

220

Item 16.



221

Item 16.



222

Item 16.



223

Item 16.



224

Item 16.



225

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

226

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

227

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

228

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D 

229

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

230

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX F 

231

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G 

232

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX H 

233

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX I 

234

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX J 

235

Item 16.



236

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX K 

237

Item 16.



 

 

PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE 

 

The following questionnaire is required by the ASTM Standard E1527-21, which adheres to the 

All Appropriate Inquiries (AAI) Rule (United States Environmental Protection Agency) (40 CFR 

312).  

As defined by ASTM, the User of the report is the “party seeking to use Practice E 1527 to 
complete an environmental site assessment of the property.  A user may include, without 
limitation, a potential purchaser of property, a potential tenant of property, an owner of property, 
a lender, or a property manager.  The user has specific obligations for completing a successful 
application of this practice.”  

  

PROPERTY NAME: St. Helena Easement - Inabinett 

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 1047 Seaside Road 

PROPERTY CITY, STATE ZIP:  St. Helena, SC  29920 

  

1. Environmental liens that are filed or recorded against the property (40 CFR 312.25)  

Did a search of recorded land title records (or judicial records) identify any environmental 

liens filed or recorded against the property under federal, tribal, state or local law?  

  ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Activity and use limitations (AULs) that are in place on the property or that have been 

filed or records against the property (40 CFR 312.26(a)(1)(v) and (vi))  

Did a search of recorded land title records (or judicial records) identify any AULs, such as 

engineering controls, land use restrictions or institutional controls that are in place at the 

property and/or have been filed or recorded against the property under federal, tribal, state 

or local law?  

  ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

238

Item 16.



 

 

 

3. Specialized knowledge or experience of the person seeking to qualify for the LLP (40 

CFR 312.28)  

Do you have any specialized knowledge or experience related to the property or nearby 

properties? For example, are you involved in the same line of business as the current or 

former occupants of the property or an adjoining property so that you would have specialized 

knowledge of the chemicals and processes used by this type of business?  

  ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Relationship of the purchase price to the fair market value of the property if it were not 

contaminated (40 CFR 312.29)  

Does the purchase price being paid for this property reasonably reflect the fair market value 

of the property? If you conclude that there is a difference, have you considered whether the 

lower purchase price is because contamination is known or believed to be present at the 

property? 

  ☒ YES ☐  NO 

 

 

 

 

5. Commonly known or reasonably ascertainable information about the Property (40 CFR 

312.30)  

Are you aware of commonly known or reasonably ascertainable information about the 

property that would help the environmental professional to identify conditions indicative of 

releases or threatened releases? 

  ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

239

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

a. Do you know of the past uses of the property? 

 ☒ YES ☐  NO 

Agriculture and residential. 

 

 

 

 

b. Do you know of specific chemicals that are present or once were present at the 

property? 

 ☒ YES ☐  NO 

Pesticides, herbicides, and petroleum products. 

 

 

 

 

 

c. Do you know of spills or other chemical releases that have taken place at the 

property? 

 ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

d. Do you know of any environmental cleanups that have taken place at the 

property? 

 ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

240

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

e. Do you have any prior knowledge that the property was developed as a gas 

station, dry cleaner, manufacturing/industrial facility in the past? 

 ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

f. Are you aware of historical use of hazardous materials or petroleum products 

used or present on the property? 

 ☒ YES ☐  NO 

Pesticides, herbicides, fertilizers, and petroleum products.  Used properly 

according to manufacturers directions 

 

 

 

 

g. Do you know if the property is currently or was formerly equipped with 

underground storage tanks (USTS) or septic tanks? 

 ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

h. Do you know of any past, threatened or pending lawsuits or administrative 

proceedings concerning a release of threatened release of any hazardous 

substance or petroleum products involving the property by any owner or 

occupant of the property? 

 ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

  

241

Item 16.



 

 

6. The degree of obviousness of the presence or likely presence of contamination at the 

property, and the ability to detect the contamination by appropriate investigation (40 

CFR 312.31)  

Based on your knowledge and experience related to the property are there any obvious 

indicators that point to the presence or likely presence of releases at the property?  

  ☐ YES ☒  NO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Signature of User/Person Interviewed: Luke Inabinett 

 

Name of User/Person Interviewed: Luke Inabinett 

 

Title/Relationship to Property: Owner 

 

Phone Number/Email: 843-263-1334 

 

Date: 10-6-24 

  

 

Contact for additional information:  

 

Name: ______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Relationship to Property:_________________________________________________ 

 

242

Item 16.



 

South Carolina - Charleston, Greenwood, Greenville, Moncks Corner & Walterboro 

Georgia – Blackshear, Soperton & Statesboro 

Office (843) 538-6814 ∙ Fax (843) 538-6112 ∙ Website www.compasssouthappraisals.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appraisal Report 
 

1034 Seaside Road 

St. Helena Island, SC 29920 

Beaufort County 

 Report Date: May 16, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Client: 

Open Land Trust 

Attn: Kate Schaefer 

Beaufort County Rural  

& Critical Land Program 

kate@openlandtrust.org 

 

 

 

Compass South File Number: 2024-169 
 

243

Item 16.

http://www.compasssouthappraisals.com/


 

 

P.O. Box 1766 ∙ Walterboro, South Carolina 29488 

Office (843) 538-6814 ∙ Fax (843) 538-6112 ∙ Website www.compasssouthappraisals.com 

May 16, 2024 

 

Open Land Trust 

Attn: Kate Schaefer 

Beaufort County Rural & Critical Lands Program 

kate@openlandtrust.org 

 

Re: 1034 Seaside Road, St. Helena Island SC 29920 in Beaufort County 

 

Dear Mrs. Schaefer: 

 

In fulfillment of the agreement outlined in our engagement letter dated January 23, 

2024, we are pleased to present the attached appraisal report for the above referenced 

property as of Monday, April 22, 2024.  The report, which was qualified by the 

definitions, limitations and certifications set forth therein, states our opinion of the 

subject property's difference between the fair market value of 9.36 acres before and after 

the granting of the proposed restrictions and the fee simple value of 1.37 acres are as 

follows:   

 
 

This report is specifically prepared for Open Land Trust and is intended for use only by 

that person or entity, its associates, professional advisers and appropriate regulatory 

authorities, if applicable.  It may not be distributed to or relied upon by any other 

persons or entities without our prior written permission.  

 

 

 

TMS Parcel # Acreage Before Easement After Easement

Proposed Easement 

Donation

R300-023-000-128B-0000 3.46 $346,000 $208,000

R300-023-000-128C-0000 2.90 $290,000 $174,000

R300-023-000-128D-0000 3.00 $300,000 $180,000

9.36 $936,000 $562,000 $374,000

TMS Parcel # Acreage Fee Simple Value

R300-023-000-128A-0000 1.37 $164,000 N/A N/A

 Overall Summary - 1034 Seaside Road, St. Helena Island

244

Item 16.

http://www.compasssouthappraisals.com/


 

 

P.O. Box 1766 ∙ Walterboro, South Carolina 29488 

Office (843) 538-6814 ∙ Fax (843) 538-6112 ∙ Website www.compasssouthappraisals.com 

 

If you have any questions concerning this report, please contact the undersigned. 

 

    
Travis Lee Avant, ASA, ARM-RP, R/W-AC   

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 4749 

Office: (843) 538-6814 

travis@compasssouth.com 

 

 

245

Item 16.

http://www.compasssouthappraisals.com/
mailto:travis@compasssouth.com


Compass South Appraisals  Table of Contents 

 

 
 

 

Table of Contents 

Table of Contents ......................................................................................................................... 1 

Summary Information ................................................................................................................. 1 

Identity of Client ...................................................................................................................... 1 

Effective Date of the Appraisal .............................................................................................. 1 

Appraised Value of the Proposed Easement Donation ...................................................... 1 

Summary Description of the Subject Property .................................................................... 1 

Type of Report .......................................................................................................................... 2 

Date of the Report .................................................................................................................... 2 

Real Property Interest Appraised .......................................................................................... 2 

Intended Use of the Appraisal ............................................................................................... 2 

Intended User(s) ....................................................................................................................... 2 

Type and Definition of Value ................................................................................................. 3 

Property Specific Information .................................................................................................... 4 

The Subject Real Estate ............................................................................................................ 4 

The Owner(s) of Record(s) ...................................................................................................... 5 

Tax Map Parcel(s)..................................................................................................................... 5 

Sales History ............................................................................................................................. 5 

South Carolina Property Taxes .............................................................................................. 5 

Site Characteristics ................................................................................................................... 6 

Existing Use of the Property ................................................................................................... 9 

Title Description ....................................................................................................................... 9 

Compliance with Treasury Regulations ............................................................................... 9 

Aerial(s) ................................................................................................................................... 10 

Photographs of the Subject Property .................................................................................. 11 

Work Performed ......................................................................................................................... 13 

United States Economy ......................................................................................................... 13 

The State Market and Economy – South Carolina ............................................................ 15 

Local Market Conditions ...................................................................................................... 17 

Highest and Best Use ............................................................................................................. 21 

As Vacant Land .................................................................................................................. 21 

The Scope of Work ................................................................................................................. 23 

The Sales Approach – No Conservation Easement ............................................................... 25 

246

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Table of Contents 

 

 
 

Value of the Subject ............................................................................................................... 25 

Appraised Value before Granting the Restriction for 3.46-, 2.9- and 3-acre parcels 

totaling 9.36 acres ................................................................................................................... 38 

Appraised Fee Simple Value of the 1.37-acre parcel......................................................... 38 

Conservation Easements and the Bundle of Rights .......................................................... 39 

Sales Approach - Subject to Conservation Easement ........................................................... 40 

Summary of the Loss in Value Arising from Granting the Easement (9.36 acres) ....... 52 

Reconciliation ............................................................................................................................. 53 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions .................................................................................. 54 

Extraordinary Assumptions and Hypothetical Conditions ............................................ 57 

Certification and Qualifications of the Appraiser ................................................................. 58 

Certification Statement .......................................................................................................... 58 

Addenda ...................................................................................................................................... 67 

 

 

247

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Summary Information 

 

 
1 

 

Summary Information 

 

Identity of Client 

This appraisal is prepared for and on behalf of Open Land Trust. 

 

Effective Date of the Appraisal 

Monday, April 22, 2024 

 

Appraised Value of the Proposed Easement Donation 

In our opinion, based on the scope of work, methodologies and analysis performed, and 

set forth herein, the fair market value of the 9.36 acres before and after the granting of 

the proposed restrictions and the fee simple value of 1.37 acres are as follows:   

 

 
 

I understand that my appraisal will be used in connection with a return or claim for 

refund. I also understand that, if there is a substantial or gross valuation misstatement 

of the value of the property claimed on the return or claim for refund that is based on 

my appraisal, I may be subject to a penalty under section 6695A of the Internal Revenue 

Code, as well as other applicable penalties. I affirm that I have not been at any time in 

the three-year period ending on the date of the appraisal barred from presenting 

evidence or testimony before the Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue 

Service pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 330(c) 

 

 

 

 

Summary Description of the Subject Property 

TMS Parcel # Acreage Before Easement After Easement

Proposed Easement 

Donation

R300-023-000-128B-0000 3.46 $346,000 $208,000

R300-023-000-128C-0000 2.90 $290,000 $174,000

R300-023-000-128D-0000 3.00 $300,000 $180,000

9.36 $936,000 $562,000 $374,000

TMS Parcel # Acreage Fee Simple Value

R300-023-000-128A-0000 1.37 $164,000 N/A N/A

 Overall Summary - 1034 Seaside Road, St. Helena Island

248

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Summary Information 

 

 
2 

The property is comprised of three tax map parcels containing 9.36 acres located at 1034 

Seaside Road on the northern side of the roadway on St. Helena Island and 1.37 acres on 

the southern side of Seaside Road immediately across the street. 

 

Type of Report 

This appraisal is prepared as an 'Appraisal Report', as defined by the Uniform 

Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP).  Accordingly, this report 

summarizes our analysis and the rationale for our conclusion(s). 

 

Date of the Report 

May 16, 2024 
 

Real Property Interest Appraised 

Tax map parcels R300-023-000-128B-0000, R300-023-000-128C-0000 and R300-023-000-

128D-0000 have been appraised on the understanding that the owner's interest is 'fee 

simple', which is 'an absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 

subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of taxation, 

eminent domain, police power, and escheat'.  [Source: Appraisal Institute, The Dictionary 

of Real Estate Appraisal, 7th ed. (Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2022).] 

 

Tax map parcel R300-023-000-128A-0000 has been appraised on the understanding that 

the owner's interest is 'fee simple', which is 'an absolute ownership unencumbered by 

any other interest or estate, subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental 

powers of taxation, eminent domain, police power, and escheat'.  [Source: Appraisal 

Institute, The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 7th ed. (Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 

2022).] 

 

Intended Use of the Appraisal 

We have been informed that the intended user expects to employ the information 

contained in this appraisal report for the purpose of establishing a conservation 

easement value on 9.36 acres of the property and the fee simple market value on 1.37 

acres.  Accordingly, this appraisal was prepared for income tax purposes as defined by 

Treasury Reg. 1.170-A-13(c)(3)(G). 

 

Intended User(s) 

On the basis of instructions received at the time of the assignment, Open Land Trust is 

recognized as the intended user(s) of this appraisal report and it is intended for use only 

by that person or entity, its associates, professional advisers and appropriate regulatory 

249

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Summary Information 

 

 
3 

authorities, if applicable.  It may not be distributed to or relied upon by any other 

persons or entities without Compass South Appraisals prior written permission. 

 

Type and Definition of Value 

The subject property is appraised at 'market value', which is defined as 'the most 

probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market under 

all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and 

knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in 

this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of 

title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:  

 

o Buyer and seller are typically motivated;  

o Both parties are well informed or well advised and acting in what they consider 

their own best interests;  

o A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;  

o Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 

arrangements comparable thereto; and  

o The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected 

by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone 

associated with the sale.' 

 

This definition is from regulations published by federal regulatory agencies pursuant to 

Tile XI of the Financial Institution Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act (FIRREA) of 

1989, between July 5, 1990 and August 24, 1990, by the Federal Reserve System (FRS), 

National Credit Union Administration, (NCUA), Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation (FDIC) and the Office of Comptroller of Currency (OCC). The definition is 

also referenced in regulations jointly published by OCC, FRS, and FDICI on June 1994, 

and the Interagency Appraisal and Evaluations Guideline, as revised and updated 

December 2010 (Interagency Appraisal and Evaluation Guidelines, 75 F.R. 77450, 77453 

& 77472 (Dec. 10, 2010)). 

250

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
4 

 

Property Specific Information 

 

The Subject Real Estate 

The property is comprised of four tax map parcels located at 1034 Seaside Road, St. 

Helena Island, SC 29920. TMS# R300-023-000-128A-0000 contains 1.37 acres and is 

situated on the southern side of Seaside Road.  The site is unimproved and rectangular 

in shape. It is mostly cleared having an expansive lawn with live oak and other 

indigenous trees along its borders of the marshes of Harbor River.  We were instructed 

to appraise this portion of the property under fee simple estate. 

 

The other three parcels, totaling 9.36 acres, are situated across the street on the northern 

side of Seaside Road.  Parcel R300-023-000-128B-0000 (3.46 acres) has frontage on the 

marshes and tidal creek off of Harbor River.  This parcel is improved with a 1985 mobile 

home (2,451 SF) with attached carport (252 SF), an older single-wide mobile home (1,050 

SF) a 4’x150’ dock with 10x20’ pierhead and floater on the tidal creek with shallow-

water craft access.  There are two wells and two septic systems.  The land is irregularly 

shaped with a lush, manicured lawn near the mobile homes. Live oaks and other 

indigenous trees run primarily along the banks of the marsh. 

 

Both parcels R300-023-000-128C-0000 (2.90 acres) and R300-023-000-128D-0000 (3 acres) 

have northern frontage on the marshes off of Harbor River with northwestern views.  

The front portions of the sites are comprised of a green lawns, one of which has been 

planted with young pecan trees.  Rear acreages have a large canopy of live oaks with a 

grass beneath.  Parcel ending in 128C is improved with an old metal, shed structure.  

Parcel ending in 128D is improved with a pole-framed, 20’x28’ tractor shed with metal 

roof, siding and dirt floor.  

 

The owner intends to encumber The three parcels, totaling 9.36 acres with a 

conservation easement in favor of Open Land Trust.   The specific terms of the easement 

are set forth in an Addendum to this report but, in general, subject to certain 'Reserved 

Rights' of the donor, the property's future use will be limited.  Most notable restrictions 

include: 

 

• The property exists as three parcels right now.  There would be no further 

subdivision.  Based upon zoning, the property could be subdivided as many as 

251

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
5 

five times at 9 acres total, or if individually sold, each parcel (appx. 3 acres) could 

be subdivided further.  

• Only three total permanent residential structures can be built.  

• No new docks permitted; one exists.  

• Road/Marsh Buffers: 200’ from public roads, gates and mailboxes can occur 

within the buffer but no structures.  100’ from marsh and river, existing homes 

grandfathered unless rebuilt. 

• Roads shall be limited to those required to facilitate the uses permitted by this 

easement, provided there shall be no road construction or covered with 

impervious surface except as otherwise necessary.  Existing roads will be 

recorded in the easement baseline, and typical easements require no new roads 

be built if existing roads can meet the needs of the property. 

 

The Owner(s) of Record(s) 

Luke H. Inabinett, Sr. 

 

Tax Map Parcel(s) 

The property is identified in the county records of Beaufort as falling under the 

following tax map parcel(s): R300-023-000-128A-0000, R300-023-000-128B-0000, R300-

023-000-128C-0000 and R300-023-000-128D-0000 

 

Sales History 

Research of the applicable public records, private data services and an interview of the 

current owner, revealed that the subject is not under current agreement or option and 

was not offered for sale on the open market.  Additionally, according to these sources, 

the subject has not transferred during the past three years. 

 

South Carolina Property Taxes 

Properties in South Carolina are exposed to the “ATI Law”, which means the fair 

market value of a parcel of real property and any improvements thereon as determined 

by appraisal at the time the parcel last underwent an assessable transfer of interest.  In 

this law, “fair market value" means the fair market value of a parcel of real property 

and any improvements thereon as determined by the property tax assessor by an initial 

appraisal, by an appraisal at the time the parcel undergoes an assessable transfer of 

interest, and as periodically reappraised pursuant to Section 12-43-217. 

 

252

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
6 

When real estate is subject to the six percent assessment ratio provided pursuant to 

Section 12-43-220(e) and is currently subject to property tax undergoes an assessable 

transfer of interest after 2010, there is allowed an exemption from property tax in an 

amount equal to 25% of ATI fair market value of the parcel.  If the ATI fair market value 

of the parcel is less than the current fair market value, the exemption otherwise allowed 

pursuant to this section does not apply.  The exemption allowed does not apply unless 

the owner of the property, or the owner's agent, notifies the county assessor that the 

property will be subject to the six percent assessment ratio before January 31st for the 

tax year for which the owner first claims eligibility for the exemption. 

 

South Carolina law also limits the increase in the taxable value of real property 

attributable to the countywide reassessments to fifteen percent. Market value may 

increase more than 15%, but if it does, the taxable value is limited or capped. The 15% 

reassessment cap is not a cap on taxes. The “15% Cap” reduces the value on which some 

properties are taxed creating a taxable value.  

More information can be found here: 

 

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t12c037.php 

 

The most recent taxes on the subject are $393.07 and are reported as paid as of the 

effective date of this appraisal.  Under the state’s law governing assessable transfers of 

interest, when real property is sold the sales price becomes the assessed value for 

property tax purposes.  The property presently has an assessed value of $585,400; 

accordingly, should the property transfer for our estimated market value, the property 

taxes could increase.   

 
 

Site Characteristics 

Location 

The property is located at 1034 Seaside Road, St. Helena Island, SC 29920 and was 

surrounded by recreational, agricultural tracts and other residential properties. It is 

located adjacent to 660 +/- acres formerly known as Henry Farms. 

 

TMS Parcel # Assessed Tax Amount Pymt Status

R300-023-000-128A-0000 $90,100 $7.44 Paid

R300-023-000-128B-0000 $184,700 $364.70 Paid

R300-023-000-128C-0000 $120,800 $6.50 Paid

R300-023-000-128D-0000 $189,800 $14.43 Paid

Total $585,400 $393.07

2023 Property Taxes

253

Item 16.

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t12c037.php


Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
7 

Shape and Topography  

The site was irregular in shape with a relatively flat topography.  The property has 

marsh and some tidal creek frontage along tributaries of Harbor River. Surveys are 

recorded in plat book 13 at page 40 and book 76 at page 114, copies of which are located 

in the Addenda. 

 

Zoning 

The property is zoned Rural (T2R) by Beaufort County.  The Rural (T2R) Zone is 

intended to preserve the rural character of Beaufort County.  This Zone applies to areas 

that consist of sparsely settled lands in an open or cultivated state.  It may include large 

lot residential, farms where animals are raised or crops are grown, parks, woodland, 

grassland, trails, and open space areas. A copy of zoning regulations is located in the 

Addenda. Based upon zoning, the property could be subdivided as many as five times 

at 9 acres total, or if individually sold, each parcel (appx. 3 acres) could be subdivided 

further.   

 

 
Restrictions and Covenants 

The site had no known restrictions or covenants currently in place apart from zoning 

regulations. 

 

Access 

Each of the four parcels are fronted along Seaside Road, a two-lane, paved and county-

maintained roadway.  

254

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
8 

Utilities 

The property is connected to electricity and is improved with two wells and two septic 

tank systems.  The working order of these systems is unknown. 

 

Flood Zone 

The subject property appears to lie in the 100-year flood plain, which is an area 

adjoining a river, stream, or watercourse covered by water in the event of a 100-year 

flood. The flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in 

magnitude in any given year.   Factors which may be affected by properties located in 

such a flood plain include building permits, environmental regulations, and flood 

insurance.  A flood plain map for the area is found in an Addendum to this report.  

 

Environmental Issues 

We are qualified to detect the existence of hazardous materials but have no knowledge 

of the existence of such material on or in the property. This appraisal is predicated on 

the assumption that there are no such materials on or in the property that could create a 

loss in value. 

 

Earthquake Hazard Zone 

According to the US Geological Survey’s seismic hazard map, there is only one area in 

the southeastern United States in which earthquake peak ground acceleration (PGA) 

has a 2% chance of being exceeded in 50 years at a value of over 80%g, and that is in the 

Lowcountry of South Carolina.  Talwani and Schaeffer from the University of South 

Carolina used evidence from previous earthquakes to determine how often earthquakes 

like the 1886 earthquake have occurred in the Charleston/Coastal area. They 

determined that earthquakes in the Charleston area appear to occur about every 400-500 

years and the possibility that large earthquakes may occur in Georgetown and Bluffton 

on average 2,000-year cycles. Unfortunately, their data set is limited to only the last 

6,000 years because of changes in groundwater levels, which affect the formation of 

earthquake features. Therefore, it seems unlikely that a large earthquake will occur 

anytime soon in the Lowcountry. Statistically, there is a 1/400 chance that a large 

earthquake will occur each year in this area, and a significantly smaller chance in other 

areas across the southeast.  Further information can be found 

here:  https://www.usgs.gov/ 

 

 

 

 

255

Item 16.

https://www.usgs.gov/


Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
9 

Strengths and Weaknesses 

The property has no outstanding weaknesses.  The tract has an abundant live oak tree 

canopy and other plants indigenous to the Lowcountry of South Carolina; considered to 

be a strength to the aesthetics of the property. Frontage along the marshes and tidal 

creeks of Harbor River are considered to be significant strengths. 

 

Conclusion about the Site 

Based on the foregoing analysis and the site inspection, in our opinion, the subject 

property is located on a site that is comparable to that of other marsh front residential 

properties in the immediate area.  Additionally, there is no apparent disadvantage(s) to 

the site from the perspective of marketability. 

 

Existing Use of the Property 

The subject property is used as a residential property. 

 

Title Description 

A copy of the primary page of the current, recorded title description can be found in the 

Addenda to this report. 

 

Compliance with Treasury Regulations 

According to the IRS's Treasury Regulation §1.170A‐14 (h)(3)(i), the amount of the 

deduction for a charitable contribution of a perpetual conservation restriction covering 

a portion of the contiguous property owned by a donor and the donor’s family is the 

difference between the fair market value of the entire contiguous parcel of property 

before and after the granting of the restriction. The IRS defines the donor’s family as his 

brothers and sisters, spouse, ancestors, and lineal descendants.  

 

In the subject property case, there are no contiguous properties owned by the donor or 

the donor’s family.  Thus, this regulation, is not applicable.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

256

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
10 

 

Aerial(s) 

 

 

 
Tax map parcels R300-023-000-128B-0000, R300-023-000-128C-0000 & R300-023-000-128D-0000 are located 

on the northern side of Seaside Road. 

Tax map parcel R300-023-000-128A-0000 is located on the southern side. 

 

 

 

 

 

257

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
11 

 

Photographs of the Subject Property 

  

 
Northern view of marsh from 9.36 acres 

 

 
Live oaks on the 9.36 acres 

258

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Property Specific Information 

 

 
12 

 

 
Pecan trees and grassy lawn on southern side of 9.36 acres 

 

 
1.37-acre site with frontage along marshes of the Harbor River (shown on left of image) 

Note: Additional photographs are located in an Addendum to this report. 

259

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
13 

 

Work Performed 

United States Economy 

According to a CoStar report, ‘The U.S. economy strengthened in the third quarter, with 

estimates of real GDP growth ranging from better than 3% (on a seasonally adjusted 

annual rate) to above 4%. Market watchers have pushed back expectations of a mild 

recession but still expect to see one beginning later this year or early next year, as 

consumers and businesses slow purchases and investments in the face of higher 

borrowing costs brought about by the Fed's rate hiking program. 

 

The Federal Reserve raised its overnight lending rate by 525 basis points since March of 

last year, when it was near zero, pushing its policy rate to its highest level in 22 years, 

the most aggressive tightening program in history. The Fed's actions were motivated by 

surging inflation in 2021 caused by pandemic-fueled spending, which outpaced the 

ability of producers to supply goods and services after having been impacted by 

COVID-related shutdowns and clogged transportation systems. 

 

Recent data confirm a slowdown in some activity. Manufacturers report new orders for 

their products have fallen, leading to a contraction in factory activity for 11 consecutive 

months, and the housing market has seen sales plummet over the past year as higher 

mortgage loan rates and still elevated prices erode affordability. However, the services 

sector has been tenacious, with demand for travel, entertainment, and dining out 

keeping that sector in expansion. 

 

The Fed has made some headway in its attempt to tamp inflation down. The personal 

consumption expenditures (PCE) price index, the Federal Reserve's preferred measure 

of inflation, eased from its peak of 7.1% in June 2022 to 3.5% in August of this year, but 

core PCE, which excludes food and energy prices, has been slower to retreat and still 

sits at 3.9%, almost twice the Federal Reserve's target. Moreover, so-called "super-core” 

inflation, which excludes shelter costs and reflects the prices of labor-intensive services, 

has lingered in the 4% to 5% range for about two years, suggesting there is more work 

to do to bring inflation back to pre-pandemic rates. 

 

The labor market remains relatively solid. Job gains have been strong, with 336,000 

positions added in September. Data from the prior two months were revised higher, 

yielding a three-month moving average of 266,000 jobs gained, almost four times the 

70,000 positions the Federal Reserve considers would bring the labor market into 

260

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
14 

balance. Both initial and continuing claims for unemployment benefits remain subdued, 

and the unemployment rate, at 3.8%, remains near its historic low. But there are signs 

that the labor market is easing. Wage growth has been moderating and, while layoffs 

are not rising yet, quit rates are down to pre-pandemic levels. Employers are cutting 

back on hours and are hiring fewer temporary workers, an early sign that demand for 

labor is pulling back. 

 

Recent revisions to economic data show that households have been spending at a 

slower pace than previously reported, and business investment weakened more, in 

response to higher borrowing costs. Real disposable income, earlier reported as still 

growing, has slowed meaningfully and fell in the past two months. These trends are 

expected to continue, slowing the economy in coming months.’ 

 

 
 

According to Outlook for U.S. Agricultural Trade: August 2023, written by Bart Kenner 

and Hui Jiang and published by the United States Department of Agriculture on 

August 31, 2023, ‘the global economic outlook for calendar years (CYs) 2023 and 2024 

remains positive despite several economic challenges. These include continued inflation 

concerns in the United States and elsewhere, uncertainty regarding monetary policies, 

macroeconomic issues in China, and Black Sea grain trade disruptions due to the 

Ukraine war.  

 

Recent data from the U.S. Department of Labor’s Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) 

suggest that inflation remains persistent, though at lower levels than the highs of the 

past year. Monetary policy to manage inflation has not dampened Gross Domestic 

261

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
15 

Product (GDP) growth as initially feared, and growth estimates for CY 2023 have 

largely been adjusted upward from the previous quarter.  

 

In the United States, BLS data indicate inflation is moderating but continues to be 

closely monitored by the U.S. Federal Reserve for any signs of trend changes. However, 

inflation rates in the United States continue to move toward baseline but remain above 

the U.S. Federal Reserve’s 2-percent target.  

 

Despite moderate increases in the monthly personal savings rate, consumer spending 

continues to prove resilient in the United States as headline inflation has declined. The 

July 2023 Consumer Price Index (CPI) showed prices increased by 3.2 percent over the 

past 12 months, 0.2 percent higher than the previous monthly year-over-year mark of 

3.0 percent in June. Notably, food-price inflation increased by 4.9 percent over the 

period. The unemployment rate remains a positive economic indicator, last measured at 

3.5 percent in July by BLS.  

 

World real GDP is projected to grow by 3.0 percent in both 2023 and 2024, an upward 

revision for 2023 from 2.8 percent in the previous forecast as global economies and 

consumer spending have proven resilient in the face of inflationary pressures. Similarly, 

projected growth for the United States’ real GDP in 2023 is raised to 1.8 percent from 

the previous estimate of 1.6 percent. Growth in 2024 is expected to moderate to around 

1.0 percent.  

 

Real GDP in North America is expected to grow by a projected 1.8 percent in 2023, 

raised from 1.6 percent previously as forecasts for all three countries have improved. In 

2024, North America’s total real GDP is projected to grow 1.0 percent. The real GDP 

forecast for Canada in 2023 is raised to 1.7 from 1.5 percent previously, and growth in 

2024 is projected to be 1.4 percent. The forecast for Mexico in 2023 is raised to 2.6 from 

1.8 percent. Mexico’s economy has proven resilient, and strong trade figures with the 

United States have helped stimulate export sectors. 

 
https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/outlooks/107311/aes-125.pdf?v=9072.3  

 

The State Market and Economy – South Carolina 

The subject property is located in county (or counties) of Beaufort, South Carolina.  The 

state, which is roughly triangular in shape and spread over 32,020 square miles, is 

bordered by North Carolina to the north, the Atlantic Ocean to the east, and Georgia to 

262

Item 16.

https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/outlooks/107311/aes-125.pdf?v=9072.3


Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
16 

the west and south.  South Carolina has 5.1 million people, 46 counties, and 187 miles of 

coastline. 

 

Historically, the state's economy was driven by cotton and textiles, but most of the mills  

have now closed.  Today, agribusiness, advanced manufacturing, advanced materials, 

and tourism drive the state’s economy.  Agribusiness, which consists of both agriculture 

and forestry, has a significant agricultural economic impact on the state at $41.7 billion 

(South Carolina Business Climate, 2017 Ed. & www.sccommerce.com).  Over the past 

ten years, agribusiness has grown at 23%, which is one of South Carolina’s fasting 

growing industries.   

 

The state’s largest agribusiness sector, forestry, generates an annual economic impact of 

$21 billion.  Forests comprise approximately 70% of South Carolina’s land and directly 

employ 35,000 workers across the state.  Major forest product producers, such 

as International Paper, Kapstone, Resolute, and Sonoco accounted for approximately 

67% of forestry’s contribution to the state’s economy.  In regard to agriculture, there are 

over 25,000 farms in the state, which encompass approximately 4.5 million acres.  

Poultry is the state’s top commodity (South Carolina Business Climate, 2017 Ed.).  

Recently, there was an announcement for a $314 million investment for an Agriculture 

Technology Campus in Hampton County by Mastronardi, Clear Water Farms, LiDestri 

Food and Drink, and the GEM Opportunity Zone Fund.  This 1,000-acre campus will 

consist of greenhouses, a 150,000-square-foot distribution center, and a co-packing 

facility for locally grown and sourced products.  This campus is to begin operations in 

2022 and will create 1,500 jobs in 5 years. 

 

According to the Division of Research at the Darla Moore School of Business and South 

Carolina Department of Commerce, advanced manufacturing has been the major 

industrial force in the state’s robust economic growth, and employment in this sector 

has grown 18% over the past 10 years.  The state is number one in the nation for export 

sales of tires and passenger vehicles.  The automotive industry, advanced materials 

industry, and aerospace industry generate an annual economic impact $27 billion, $21.9 

billion, and $19 billion (including military facilities), respectively.   The state is 

considered to be a leader in foreign direct investment with more than 1,200 operations.  

Major global companies including Boeing, Volvo Cars, BMW, Mercedes-Benz Vans, Giti 

Tire, Continental, Michelin, Bridgestone, and Bosch have operations throughout the 

state.   

 

263

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
17 

Business development in the state can largely be attributed to the state’s pro-business 

environment.  Area Development Magazine ranks South Carolina as one of the top 

states to do business in the nation because of its overall low cost of doing business, 

incentives, cooperative state government, low taxes, and speed of permitting.  Other 

factors that promote a friendly business environment include its status as a right-to-

work state, low industrial power rates which are 12% lower than the national average, 

and ease of transportation.   

 

Companies have many modes of transportation with approximately 846 miles of 

interstate; 2,300 miles of railroads served by CSX Transportation, Norfolk Southern, and 

eight independent lines; and two international airports, the Greenville-Spartanburg 

International Airport and the Charleston International Airport.  The state also had two 

public marine terminals at the Port of Georgetown and the Port of Charleston, which 

will be the deepest harbor on the east coast when dredging is complete, as well as two 

inland ports in Greer and Dillion.  Based on the “The Economic Impact of the South 

Carolina Ports Authority” written by the Division of Research at USC’s Moore School of 

Business, South Carolina Ports have a $63.4-billion annual economic impact on South 

Carolina, over half of which is felt in the upstate due to the number of manufacturers 

located there.  The economic impact for the state translates into about $1.1 billion in 

annual tax revenue and 224,963 jobs.  According to the South Carolina Ports Authority, 

the ports create 1 in 10 jobs in South Carolina which pay approximately 32% higher 

wages a year than the state average.   

 

Local Market Conditions 

County Description 

Beaufort County, in the south-east part of the state, borders the Atlantic and covers just 

over 900 square miles – of which almost 38%, or 350 square miles, is water, surrounding 

hundreds of 'Sea Islands', big and small.  The county is part of the area known as South 

Carolina's 'Lowcountry', and forms part of the environmentally important 350,000-acre 

wetland and riverine system known as the 'ACE basin'.  Until the middle of the 20th. 

century, the county was dominated by the county seat of Beaufort, chartered in 1711 

and often cited as one of the most attractive and desirable southern towns in the United 

States, both for its location and its well-preserved ante-bellum homes.  

 

Starting in the late 1950s, Beaufort's dominance over the county began to be challenged 

by the development of Hilton Head Island as a major destination resort aimed at both 

seasonal visitors and retirees.  In 1950, the county population was approximately 27,000.  

264

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
18 

Since then, it has grown more than seven-fold, with the population estimated to be 

195,368 in 2020.  While Hilton Head Island was the dominant force in this growth for 

many years, over the past two decades Sun City Hilton Head, the Town of Bluffton and 

the commercial corridor along US Highway 278 have played increasingly important 

roles in that growth.  The consequence is a somewhat bifurcated county, with the 

northern 'old-school' Beaufort part of the county frequently over-shadowed by the 

relative size and affluence of Hilton Head Island and its neighboring communities in 

the southern part of the county. 

 

The City of Beaufort is the county seat of Beaufort County and was founded in 1711.  

The downtown area borders the Beaufort River, with the Henry C. Chambers 

Waterfront Park as its central feature.  The City has one of the nation’s largest National 

Historic Landmark Districts.  The prominent role of the City and the surrounding sea 

islands led to the establishment of the federal Reconstruction Era National Monument 

in 2017.  There are several military bases in the area, including the Marine Corps Air 

Station-Beaufort within the city limits as well as the nearby Parris Island Marine Corps 

Recruit Depot and the US Naval Hospital; both in nearby Port Royal.  The City’s 

population was 13,607 according to the 2020 US Census.  

 

The Local Market & Economy 

The Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), a part of the U.S. Census Bureau, collects and 

reports data on per capita and median household income using a five-year average, 

with unemployment and population data also being available from the BLS.  Using the 

most recent data available, the average, per capita income, median household income as 

well as unemployment for the applicable areas for this report were as follows: 

 

265

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
19 

 
 

 
 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Sales Approach - Median HH Income & Population for Comparables

2012 2012.4 1.65%

2013 2013.1 1.98%

2013 2013.2 1.93%

2013 2013.3 2.74%

3.6%
3.5%

2.8%

0

1

2

3

4

5

May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 U
n

e
m

p
lo

y
e

d

Month-Year

Unemployment Rate - Not Seasonally Adjusted
USA SC Beaufort

Source: www.bls.gov

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

SC SC SC SC SC

497 497 497 497 497

Beaufort Beaufort Beaufort Beaufort Beaufort

7 7 7 7 7

$72,661 $72,661 $72,661 $72,661 $72,661

187,819 187,819 187,819 187,819 187,819

Cost Approach - Median HH Income & Population for Comparables

St. Helena IslandSt. Helena IslandSt. Helena IslandSt. Helena IslandSt. Helena Island 2012 2012.4 1.65%

2013 2013.1 1.98%

2013 2013.2 1.93%

2013 2013.3 2.74%

$64,994

$35,384

$57,216

$30,727

$72,661 $72,142

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

Median Household Per Capita

In
co

m
e

Type of Income

Comparative Income Chart USA SC Beaufort

Sources: bls.gov & stlouisfed.org

266

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
20 

 
 

This data indicates that the area in which the subject property is located was in a 

comparatively better position, economically, than the state as a whole. Apart from this 

statistical data, we also specifically addressed the market for the subject property.  

Based on discussion with local market participants familiar with the area, the market for 

properties such as the subject was found to be noticeably improved on the prior year.  

That same source observed that the market for such properties is likely to improve over 

the coming year. 

 

Conclusion on the Market for the Subject Property 

Based on the foregoing, in our opinion, the market for the subject property is relatively 

strong and likely to remain so for the foreseeable future - and our report on market 

value reflected that conclusion. 

 

Most Probable Buyer 

Based on the type of property and current market conditions, in our opinion, the most 

probable buyer of the subject property would be an owner occupier. 

 

Foreclosure Activity 

Based on a review of the general market area of the subject property, as well as 

discussions with a local lender, foreclosure activity in the area is at normal levels. 

 

 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Income Approach - Median HH Income & Population for Comparables

2012 2012.4 1.65%

2013 2013.1 1.98%

2013 2013.2 1.93%

2013 2013.3 2.74%

165,000

170,000

175,000

180,000

185,000

190,000

195,000

200,000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Year

County Population

Beaufort

Source: www.bls.gov

267

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
21 

Exposure & Reasonable Marketing Times 

In determining whether or not there is a market for the property, we considered two 

periods of time – one prior to the appraisal date and the other following that date.  The 

first, known as 'the exposure time', is the estimated length of time the property would 

have been offered on the market prior to a hypothetical sale at market value on the date 

of the appraisal.  The second, known as 'the reasonable marketing time', is an estimate 

of the amount of time it might take to sell the property at the estimated market value 

during the period immediately after the date of an appraisal.  In the instant case, we 

determined, based on a study and review of market conditions, particularly those 

demonstrated by these comparable sales, that the 'exposure time' needed to 

consummate a sale prior to the appraisal would have been approximately 6-12 months. 

Using a similar approach, we then determined the 'reasonable marketing time' to be 

approximately 6-12 months. 

 

Highest and Best Use 

This appraisal is prepared under the assumption that the property's value should reflect 

its 'highest and best use'.  This term means ‘the reasonably probable use of property that 

results in the highest value. The four criteria that the highest and best use must meet are 

legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility, and maximum 

productivity. [Source: Appraisal Institute, The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 7th ed. 

(Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2022).] 

 

The subject property must meet four 'highest and best use' criteria, it must be: 

Physically Adaptable; Legally Permissible; Financially Feasible; and Maximally 

Productive. 

 

As Vacant Land 

 

Physically Adaptable 

Size, shape, area, and terrain affect the use to which land may be developed.  The 

subject property's underlying land is sufficiently regular in shape to allow for many 

forms of utilization.  Surface water runoff is adequate and, based on our site 

inspection, the soil or sub-soil has no apparent irregularities that would restrict the 

property from being used in any reasonable manner.  

 

Legally Permissible 

The property is zoned Rural (T2R) by Beaufort County.  The Rural (T2R) Zone is 

intended to preserve the rural character of Beaufort County.  This Zone applies to areas 

268

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
22 

that consist of sparsely settled lands in an open or cultivated state.  It may include large 

lot residential, farms where animals are raised or crops are grown, parks, woodland, 

grassland, trails, and open space areas. A copy of zoning regulations is located in the 

Addenda. Based upon zoning, the property could be subdivided as many as five times 

at 9 acres total, or if individually sold, each parcel (appx. 3 acres) could be subdivided 

further.    The site had no known restrictions or covenants currently in place apart from 

zoning regulations. 

  

 
 

Financially Feasible 

The financial feasibility of a property is best determined by comparing its market 

value with its acquisition and improvement costs, if any.  In the case of the subject’s 

vacant land, such feasibility is not an issue until such time as consideration is  given 

to developing the property. 

 

Maximally Productive 

The maximally productive use of the subject must be considered in the light of how it 

is used, who uses it and the time or period of its use.  In this case, the subject property, 

as vacant land, is best suited for residential use. 

 

Conclusion as to Highest and Best Use  

Based on the preceding discussion, and particularly our determination of its maximally 

productive use, in our opinion, the highest and best use of the subject property, whether 

269

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
23 

as vacant or as improved, was residential, which will be the same use after the easement 

is in place as well. 

 

The Scope of Work 

There are three main approaches to appraisal valuation: sales, cost and income.  In 

order to properly perform the necessary work, the appraiser must first determine which 

approaches are applicable.  Having made that determination, the appraiser will then 

undertake appropriate research of both the subject property and its market area. The 

research performed may include reviews of publicly available data, such as 

governmental tax and property records; review of proprietary records, such as Multiple 

Listing and other subscription services; inspection of proprietary data maintained by 

the appraiser; consideration and inspection of comparable properties, whether sold or 

listed for sale; and, interviews with participants in the appropriate market place, such as 

owners, brokers and other appraisers. 

 

As noted above, the first step in this process is the determination of which approach to 

valuation is appropriate in the circumstances.  This is addressed below for each of the 

three main approaches. 

 

Sales Approach 

In the case of residential properties, such as the subject property, the sales approach is a 

commonly used and accepted method.  This is because there is usually a reasonable 

availability of comparable sales data and because many residential properties are priced 

and sold on the basis of such data.  In the case of the subject property, reasonable data is 

available, which we identified and analyzed.  The detail of those comparables, and an 

analysis of how their adjusted values led us to a determined value for the subject, is 

found further on in this report. 

 

As noted above, this report was being prepared for the purposes of establishing the 

value of the donation of a conservation easement, which requires the appraiser to 

determine two fair market values: without and with the easement.  Accordingly, the 

analysis under this comparable sales approach identifies and analyses two types of 

property: first, those without a comparable conservation easement; and, second, those 

with such an easement.   

 

Cost Approach 

This approach is frequently used for buildings and other improvements, particularly in 

the case of newer properties.  In the case of the subject property, there are 

270

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Work Performed 

 

 
24 

improvements on the site; however, in our opinion these added little overall value to 

the property.  Therefore, we determined that the use of this approach for the subject 

property would not be appropriate. 

 

Income Approach 

This approach is generally reserved for appraising income productive properties and is 

based on the Principal of Anticipation, which reasons that there is value in the 

expectation of benefits (income) to be received in the future, and that this value may be 

defined as the present value of all rights to such future benefits.  In the immediate case, 

we utilized a process commonly referred to as direct capitalization, which is a method 

used to convert an estimate of a single year's income expectancy into an indication of 

value in one direct step.  This is typically achieved by dividing the net income estimate 

by an appropriate capitalization rate, which is determined either by a band-of-

investments, journals or market extraction. 

 

The subject is not an income productive  property.  Therefore, we determined that this 

approach was not applicable. 

271

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
25 

 

The Sales Approach – No Conservation Easement 

 

As noted above, a primary method of determining the market value of a property is 

through the identification and analysis of comparable sales, and if appropriate, listings 

and contracts, of property within reasonable proximity and with reasonable 

comparability to the subject property.  This approach, sometimes called the 'market 

data' approach is based under a tripartite assumption that: (a) there is a market for a 

particular property; (b) that both buyers and sellers are fully informed as to the market 

and state of the market for that type of property; and, (c) that the property will be 

exposed in the open market for a reasonable period of time. 

 

Value of the Subject 

On the following pages are the properties that we identified as suitable comparables for 

the purpose of establishing market value for the subject property.  This data was then 

analyzed, summarized and adjusted to reflect the variations within those properties 

that would tend to affect such value.   

 

  

272

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
26 

 

 

 

ID 27819 Tax ID R300-012-000-0161-0000

Transaction Type Closed Sale Grantor Bernard Wilson

Property Rights Fee Simple Grantee Stephen Derek Freeman and Leslie Ann Freeman

Address 185 Fripp Point Road Price $135,000

City St. Helena Island Current Use Residential Lot

County Beaufort Book/Page 4211/496

State SC Verification Public Records, Secondary Sources

Zip 29920 Distance 6.29

Date 1/9/2023

Acres 2.72 Land SF 118,483.20

Price Per Acre $49,632 Price Per Land SF $1.14

Timber Value per Acre  Improvements Value  

Controlled Waterflow  

Marshland Tidal Acres  

Marshland Tidal Value  

Land Comparable 1

Comments

This is the sale of a 2.72-acre with the physical address of 185 Fripp Point Road on St. Helena Island, SC on the marshes of Wallace Creek.  

There are no HOA fees for the property.  According to the mls listing, deep water may be possible with limited access; the dock permit in 

associated docs has expired.   A survey is recorded in plat book 118 at 60. The property sold for $135,000 on January 9, 2023 and had been 

on the market for 649 days.

Values

General Information

273

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
27 

 

ID 27818 Tax ID R300-016-000-0005-0000

Transaction Type Closed Sale Grantor Horace H. Sibley and Beverly B. Sibley

Property Rights Fee Simple Grantee Mary Hecker McDowell

Address 161 J. Stevens Path Price $180,000

City St. Helena Island Current Use Residential Lot

County Beaufort Book/Page 4234/605

State SC Verification Public Records, Secondary Sources

Zip 29920 Distance 3.46

Date 4/17/2023

Acres 1.93 Land SF 84,070.80

Price Per Acre $93,264 Price Per Land SF $2.14

Timber Value per Acre  Improvements Value $35,000

Controlled Waterflow  

Marshland Tidal Acres  

Marshland Tidal Value  

Land Comparable 2

Comments

Values

General Information

This is the sale of a 1.93-acre with the physical address of 161 J. Stevens on St. Helena Island, SC.  There are no HOA fees for the property. 

The site has marsh and tidal creek frontage on Jenkins Creek.  There is a dock suitable for kayaks and a well in place; with contributing 

values of approximately $35,000.  The site is located approximately one mile down a dirt road off of Sea Island Parkway.  The lot faces 

westerly with sunset views with a live oak canopy, Palmetto, pecan and fig trees.  A survey is recorded in plat book 111 at 102. The property 

sold for $180,000 on April 17, 2023 and had been on the market for 43 days.

274

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
28 

 

ID 27816 Tax ID R300-019-000-0009-0000

Transaction Type Closed Sale Grantor Patrick B. Greaser and Eloise C. Greaser

Property Rights Fee Simple Grantee David Hazen Reed and Pamela Kay Reed

Address 95 Harbor Oaks Lane Price $98,000

City St. Helena Island Current Use Residential Lot

County Beaufort Book/Page 4281/3256

State SC Verification Public Records, Secondary Sources

Zip 29920 Distance 5.60

Date 10/4/2023

Acres 1.07 Land SF 46,522.08

Price Per Acre $91,760 Price Per Land SF $2.11

Timber Value per Acre  Improvements Value  

Controlled Waterflow  

Marshland Tidal Acres  

Marshland Tidal Value  

Land Comparable 3

This is the sale of a 1.068-acre lot known as Lot 2 of Harbor Oaks Subdivision with the physical address of 95 Harbor Oaks Lane on St. 

Helena Island, SC.  There are no HOA fees for the property. The site has marsh frontage of Harbor River and faces toward the eastern 

marshes of Hunting Island. A survey is recorded in plat book 54 at 172. The property sold for $98,000 on October 4, 2023 and had been on 

the market for 58 days.

Values

Comments

General Information

275

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
29 

 

ID 27820 Tax ID R300-013-000-0010-0000

Transaction Type Closed Sale Grantor Dustin S. Carroll and Kelly R. Carroll

Property Rights Fee Simple Grantee Richard Hudak and Cynthia Hudak

Address 306 Fripp Point Road Price $250,000

City St. Helena Island Current Use Residential Lot

County Beaufort Book/Page 4296/3283

State SC Verification Public Records, Secondary Sources

Zip 29920 Distance 7.00

Date 11/16/2023

Acres 2.17 Land SF 94,525.20

Price Per Acre $115,207 Price Per Land SF $2.64

Timber Value per Acre  Improvements Value $7,000

Controlled Waterflow  

Marshland Tidal Acres  

Marshland Tidal Value  

General Information

Land Comparable 4

Comments

This is the sale of a 2.17-acre with the physical address of 306 Fripp Point Road on St. Helena Island, SC on the marshes of Coffin Creek.  

There are no HOA fees for the property.  The site is partially cleared and has electricity and a septic tank in place contributing an estimated 

$7,000 to the transfer.  The property sold for $173,000 on December 5, 2022 and then sold again for $250,000 approximately one year later 

on November 16, 2023. This is an increase in value 45% or 3.8% per month.

Values

276

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
30 

 
  

ID 27822 Tax ID R300-013-000-0382-0000

Transaction Type Closed Sale Grantor George Patrick Stevenson

Property Rights Fee Simple Grantee Dustin S. Carroll and Kelly R. Carroll

Address 314 Fripp Point Road Price $165,000

City St. Helena Island Current Use Residential Lot

County Beaufort Book/Page 4308/2986

State SC Verification Public Records, Secondary Sources

Zip 29920 Distance 7.07

Date 2/5/2024

Acres 1.10 Land SF 47,916.00

Price Per Acre $150,000 Price Per Land SF $3.44

Timber Value per Acre  Improvements Value $35,000

Controlled Waterflow  

Marshland Tidal Acres  

Marshland Tidal Value  

Values

Comments

Land Comparable 5

This is the sale of a 1.10-acre with the physical address of 314 Fripp Point Road on St. Helena Island, SC on the marshes of Coffin Creek.  

There are no HOA fees for the property.  The site has a garage with electricity, well, septic tank  and RV hookup in place contributing an 

estimated $35,000 to the transfer.  The property sold for $165,000 on February 5, 2024 and had been on the market for 22 days.

General Information

277

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
31 

Location Map 

The following map shows the relative position of these comparables to the subject 

property (subject is the yellow pin). 

 

 
 

 
  

278

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
32 

Adjustments & Summary 

The following table identifies each of these comparables, by number, in summary form 

designed to show the value of each.  That value is then been adjusted up or down, in 

percentage terms, for a variety of factors intended to improve the comparability of that 

property with the subject property, as discussed below. 

 

 
 

Comparable 1 2 3 4 5

ID 27819 27818 27816 27820 27822

Date 1/9/2023 4/17/2023 10/4/2023 11/16/2023 2/5/2024

Price $135,000 $180,000 $98,000 $250,000 $165,000

Acres 2.720 1.930 1.068 2.170 1.100

Improvements $0 $35,000 $0 $7,000 $35,000

1 2 3 4 5

Value per Acre $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Transaction adjustments

Property rights

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Finance or Concessions 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Conditions of sale 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Post Acqn. Costs 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Market Timing 26% 20% 11% 9% 4%

As adjusted $62,537 $90,155 $101,854 $122,060 $122,909

Property adjustments

Proximity to beaches (14%) 0% (14%) (14%) (14%)

Site 33% 33% 33% 20% 20%

Adjustments 19% 33% 19% 6% 6%

As adjusted value $74,419 $119,907 $121,206 $129,384 $130,284

Relative size (10%) (15%) (10%) (15%)

Total net adjustments 19% 23% 4% (4%) (9%)

As adjusted price $74,419 $107,916 $103,025 $116,445 $110,741

Adjustment Grid - 3.46, 2.90 and 3 acres parcels

279

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
33 

  

Comparable 1 2 3 4 5

ID 27819 27818 27816 27820 27822

Date 1/9/2023 4/17/2023 10/4/2023 11/16/2023 2/5/2024

Price $135,000 $180,000 $98,000 $250,000 $165,000

Acres 2.720 1.930 1.068 2.170 1.100

Improvements $0 $35,000 $0 $7,000 $35,000

1 2 3 4 5

Value per Acre $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Transaction adjustments

Property rights

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Finance or Concessions 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Conditions of sale 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Post Acqn. Costs 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As adjusted $49,632 $75,130 $91,760 $111,982 $118,182

Market Timing 26% 20% 11% 9% 4%

As adjusted $62,537 $90,155 $101,854 $122,060 $122,909

Property adjustments

Proximity to beaches (14%) 0% (14%) (14%) (14%)

Site 33% 33% 33% 20% 20%

Adjustments 19% 33% 19% 6% 6%

As adjusted value $74,419 $119,907 $121,206 $129,384 $130,284

Relative size 20% (5%) 10% (5%)

Total net adjustments 39% 33% 14% 16% 1%

As adjusted price $89,303 $119,907 $115,146 $142,322 $123,769

Adjustment Grid - 1.37 acre parcel

280

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
34 

Transactional Adjustments 

The preceding summary addresses a series of factors affecting property value. Price 

adjustments including potential property rights, financing, sales conditions, 

expenditures, and market conditions can impact the per unit value of the property. As a 

result, we examined all comparable sales for any potential price adjustments. Based on 

the analysis of the comparable sales, we determined that multiple transactional 

adjustments are warranted. 

 

In order to determine the bare land values of the comparable sales, it was necessary to 

subtract contributing values of any improvements that existed. 

 

Sale 4 sold for $173,000 on December 5, 2022 and then sold again for $250,000 

approximately one year later on November 16, 2023.  This is an increase in value of 45% 

or 3.8% per month in market appreciation.  Since the fall of 2023 there has been 

somewhat of a decrease in market appreciation due to higher interest rates.  Sale 5 is 

very near Sale 4 and considered similar to that property with the exception of 

improvements and acreage size.  It’s per acre unit value increased by approximately 6% 

as compared to Sale 4 in a three-month period that equates to 2% per month in market 

appreciation. We have chosen an average market timing adjustment of 20% annually 

(1.6667%/month) for marsh front land sites in the immediate area. 

 

Location Adjustments 

The location of properties can have a significant impact on their perceived and actual 

value.  In considering the subject property and the multiple comparables, we looked at 

multiple locational factors that, in our opinion, could influence and affect value.  In 

order to establish relative values for these factors, we assigned each of the properties, 

for each factor, a value on a scale from 1 to 5, with 5 being the highest. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Poor 1

Below average 2

Average 3

Above average 4

Good 5

281

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
35 

Proximity to Beaches 

Research indicates that similar property types in closer proximity to the beaches, such 

as Hunting Island are selling slightly higher than sites farther away.  Thus, sales 1, 3, 4 

and 5 were ranked between average and above average for this factor.  The subject and 

Sale 3 were ranked as average. The adjustments are computed by mathematically 

relating the comparables and the subject.  We determine their ratio to the subject 

property, and then multiplying that ratio against the subject property's scale value. 

 

Summary 

The following table brings these elements together and establishes what, in our opinion, 

is a reasonably objective determination of the relative differences in value attributable 

to each comparable by virtue of its locational difference from the subject property: 

 

 
 

Site Adjustments 

The physical attributes of a property can impact their perceived and actual value.  In 

considering the subject property and the comparables, we looked at physical factors 

that, in our opinion, influence and affect value.  In order to establish relative values for 

these factors, we have assigned for each of the properties, for each factor, a value on a 

scale from 1 to 5, with 5 being the highest.  These ratings were not intended to imply 

that a particular factor is considered poor or underperforming but is intended to 

illustrate that a particular factor is inferior or superior in comparison to the subject.  The 

following table identifies the elements for the subject property and the comparables and 

establishes what, in our opinion, is a reasonably objective determination of the relative 

differences in value attributable to each comparable by virtue of its differences from the 

subject property.   

 

Ease of access onto site 

The property as well as sales 1, 2, 4 and 5 have frontage along paved roads and were 

ranked as above average for this characteristic.  Sale 3 is accessed via a dirt road and 

was ranked as average. 

 

Marsh frontage 

Subject 1 2 3 4 5

Proximity to beaches 3.0 3.5 3.0 3.5 3.5 3.5

3.0 3.5 3.0 3.5 3.5 3.5

Location adjustment (14%) 0% (14%) (14%) (14%)

Location Adjustment

282

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
36 

The subject has significantly greater marsh frontage than that of the comparable sales.  

All of the sales were ranked as average, while the subject was rated as good for its 

superior marsh frontage. 

 

Shape 

Comparable sales 1 and 2 are long and narrow is shape with less usability to the sites.  

These two sales were ranked as below average for this factor.  The subject and the other 

sales were given an average ranking. 

 

Please note that for each of these ratings, which were to some extent subjective, we have 

allowed for marginal attributions by assigning less than whole numbers to a category 

where we deemed appropriate: 

 

 
 

Relative Size 

In general, it is an established probability that the larger a property, the lower its per 

unit value. For that reason, it is important that small properties not be relied upon to 

value large properties.  In this selected group of comparables, we have attempted to 

address this issue by selecting only those sales that were reasonably comparable, among 

other things, by reference to their relative size.  However, as these comparables do vary 

in size, we did perform a test, using simple linear regression analysis, to determine 

whether or not they exhibited any reasonable level of correlation between their size and 

their as-adjusted values.   

 

The size adjustment represents the final factor that could, possibly, affect value.  For 

such an adjustment to be made, it is necessary to first determine that there is, indeed, 

some reasonable correlation between values and size.  In our opinion, to make that 

determination properly, only the as-adjusted values should be considered.  To do 

otherwise would make any such determination of correlation invalid because factors 

outside of size would not have been adjusted for and could, accordingly, corrupt the 

correlation.  Thus, in our analysis, we have first adjusted for all other factors.  Then, 

Subject 1 2 3 4 5

Ease of access onto site 4.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 4.0 4.0

Marsh Frontage 5.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Shape 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

12.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 10.0 10.0

Site adjustment 33% 33% 33% 20% 20%

Site Adjustment

283

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
37 

using the as-adjusted values, we determined, using regression analysis, whether or not 

there was reasonable evidence of a correlation between size and value.  In the case of 

the subject property, we concluded that such a correlation did exist.  Accordingly, we 

have adjusted to properly align their as-adjusted values with their related size.   

 

Linear Regression for 3.46, 2.90- and 3-acre parcels 

 

 
 

 

Linear Regression for 1.37-acre parcel 

 

 
 

 

284

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
38 

The same comparable sales were used for the analysis of both portions of the subject 

property.  The only change in adjustments was based upon acreage size differences. 

 

Appraised Value before Granting the Restriction for 3.46-, 2.9- and 3-acre parcels 

totaling 9.36 acres 

We placed the most weight on Comparables 1, 4 and 5.  Sales 1 and 4 are most similar in 

size to the three parcels that make up this portion of the subject property.  Sale 5 is the 

most recent sale.  Equal but lesser weight was placed on the remaining sales.  Therefore, 

in our opinion the value of the subject was as follows (without a conservation easement 

in place): 

 
 

Appraised Fee Simple Value of the 1.37-acre parcel 

We placed the most weight on Comparables 2, 3 and 5 as these parcels were most 

similar in acreage size to this portion of the subject property. Sale 5 is the most recent 

sale.  Equal but lesser weight was placed on the remaining sales.  Therefore, in our 

opinion the value of the subject was as follows: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total Acreage Size 9.36

Value/unit $100,000

Total Value $936,000

Rounded $936,000

Value Indication - Before CE

Acreage Size 1.37

Value/unit $120,000

Total Value $164,400

Rounded $164,000

Value Indication - Fee Simple

285

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
39 

Conservation Easements and the Bundle of Rights 

The 'bundle of rights' is a metaphor intended to demonstrate the legal relations between 

property owners and others.  The metaphor has been in use since the early 20th. century 

and those 'rights' are probably best enumerated by the legal scholar A.M. Honoré, 

writing in 1961, who identified eleven components or 'sticks' in the bundle – eight 

positive and three negatives.  

 

In the context of determining the value of the grant of a conservation easement, 

appraisers have frequently resorted to the use of some version of the bundle of rights in 

an attempt to identify and quantify the rights being relinquished.  While this approach 

may have some validity it also has some significant weaknesses - the most obvious of 

which is the arbitrary allocation of relative value to each 'stick' in the bundle.  That said, 

the following table attempts to do just that and allocate relative values to each of the 

eleven sticks, both before the granting of the easement and after:  

 

 
 

As noted, this allocation of before and after values is arbitrary.  However, it does serve 

to highlight the possible impact on the various ownership rights that the subject 

property's proposed easement entails.  Our purpose in including this tabular 

presentation is not to rely upon it for determining value but rather to allow it to act as 

the backdrop, and partial corroboration, for what we believe to be more reliable 

indicators of the loss in value attributable to a conservation easement, which are the 

sales of encumbered properties, discussed and analyzed in the following section. 

 

 

 

 

Before After

1. The right to possess - exclusive physical control 20% 10%

2. The right to use - personal enjoyment and use 25% 20%

3. The right to manage - who gets to use it and how 15% 10%

4. The right to the income - that does or could flow from the property 20% 10%

5. The right to capital - the power to consume, waste or modify 20% 10%

6. The right to security - nobody can take it from you 5% 5%

7. The power of transmissibility - the power to devise or bequeath 5% 5%

8. The absence of term - the indeterminate length of one's ownership 5% 5%

9. The prohibition of harmful use - you cannot use to harm others -5% -5%

10. Liability to execution - it could be taken to satisfy a debt -5% -5%

11. Residuary character - the property could revert to the government -5% -5%

100% 60%

286

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
40 

 

Sales Approach - Subject to Conservation Easement 

 

Previously in this report determined an appraised fair market value for the property as 

if there were no restrictions on its use.  This section performs a similar review of 

comparable sales, but this time for properties encumbered with a set of conservation 

easement restrictions similar to those proposed for the subject property.   

 

Based on the preceding analysis and discussion of the restrictions imposed by the 

proposed easement, and the effect of the usage of the land, we identified sales of 

comparable property that had similar restrictions. Because these types of sales are 

relatively infrequent, we considered a wider market area and a greater time frame that 

might otherwise have been the case. The comparable properties are as follows:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

287

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
41 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 1 

Location   Liberty County, GA 

TMS#    005 001 

Grantor   The Conservation Fund 

Grantee   Jamie M. McGowan, Sr. 

Date of Sale   January 30, 2014 

Sales Price   $198,000 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 1810 Page 700 

Size of Tract   242.80 +/- Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $815.00 per acre 

Verified by    Deed, Inspection, & Buyer 

 

Remarks   This property was subject to a 2012 conservation easement 

(Deed book/page 1728/565) held by the Georgia Land Trust.  In 2014, the property was 

transferred for $198,000; in 2011, without the easement in place, the subject property 

and adjoining property totaling 513.90 +/- acres was sold at $1,452 per acre, a 

diminution in value of approximately 44%.  

 

 

  

288

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
42 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 2 

Location   Long County, GA  

TMS#    042 0002 

Grantor   The Conservation Fund 

Grantee   St George Timberland Holdings, Inc. 

Date of Sale   April 24, 2013 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 411 Page 328 

Acres    500.1 

Total price   $507,000 

Unit Sales Price  $1,014 

Verified by                      Public records, Seller 

 

Remarks   This property is located in northeast Long and northwest Liberty 

counties, this sale consisted of one continuous parcel which adjoined Fort Stewart. In 

2013, the property was transferred for $507,000; in 2011, without the easement in place, 

the property and adjoining properties totaling 1,214.62 +/- acres were sold at $1,975 

per acre, a diminution in value of approximately 49%.  

  

289

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
43 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 3 

Location   Jasper County, SC 

TMS#    015-00-01-066  

Grantor   Cypress Creek Company, LLC 

Grantee   Black Swamp, LLC 

Date of Sale   September 6, 2013 

Sales Price   $617,512.50 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 864, Page 800 

Size of Tract   274.45 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $2,250 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Deed and Grantee  

 

Remarks    This was the sale of a small tract located in rural Jasper County. 

This property was covered by a 2005 conservation easement held by Lowcountry Open 

Land Trust, Inc. (deed book 336 on page 11-23) at the time of its sale.  Based on our 

market research, unencumbered acreage in this immediate market area would have 

sold at an average price of $3,370 per acre at the time of the transfer.  Therefore, the 

diminution in value attributable to the easement is deemed to be approximately $1,120, 

or approximately 33%. 

  

290

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
44 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 4 

Location   Jasper County, SC 

TMS#    015-00-01-056 (portion of)  

Grantor   Cypress Creek Company, LLC 

Grantee   BPB Creek Company, LLC 

Date of Sale   January 14, 2014 

Sales Price   $1,463,920 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 866, Page 039 

Size of Tract   731.96 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $2,000 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Deed and Grantee  

 

Remarks     This was the sale of a tract located in rural Jasper County. 

This property was covered by a 2005 conservation easement held by Lowcountry Open 

Land Trust, Inc. (deed book 336 on page 11-23) at the time of its sale.  Based on 

information provided to us, this easement had similar restrictions to those of the subject 

property.  Based on our in-house data and market research comparable, unencumbered 

acreage in this market area would have sold at an average price of $3,370 per acre at the 

time of the transfer.  Therefore, the diminution in value attributable to the easement is 

deemed to be approximately $1,370, or approximately 41%. 

  

291

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
45 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 5 

Location   Williamsburg County, SC 

TMS#    45-070-025  

Grantor   Raymond & Judith Dominici 

Grantee   Carl C. Causey 

Date of Sale   December 12, 2017 

Sales Price   $289,000 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 487, Page 054 

Size of Tract   462.71 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $625 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Public Records, Secondary Source, Broker 

 

Remarks     This was the sale of a tract located in Williamsburg County. 

This property was covered by conservation easement at the time of its sale.  Based on 

our market research comparable, unencumbered acreage in this market area would 

have sold at an average price of $2,093 per acre at the time of the transfer.  Therefore, 

the diminution in value attributable to the easement is deemed to be approximately 

$1,467, or approximately 70%. 

  

292

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
46 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 6 

Location   Dorchester County, SC 

TMS#    166-00-00-005 

Grantor   Roy Walker 

Grantee   Cynthia Jackson, et al. 

Date of Sale   August 20, 2018 

Sales Price   $110,000 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 11542, Page 268 

Size of Tract   37.00 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $2,973 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Public Records, Secondary Source, Broker, Inspection 

 

Remarks     This was the sale of a tract located in Dorchester County. 

This property was covered by certain covenants and restrictions dated May 1, 2018 

(Deed Book 113322, Page 277).  The site is also subject to the Development Agreement 

by and between Dorchester County, South Carolina and MWV-East Edisto Dorchester, 

LLC dated December 12, 2012 (Deed Book 8601, Page 1).  This agreement has been 

modified and amended.  The site is further restricted by covenants by MWV-East Edisto 

Summers Corner, LLC dated October 9, 2017 (Deed Book 11039, Page 168).  Based on 

our market research comparable, unencumbered acreage in this market area would 

have sold at an average price of $5,249 per acre at the time of the transfer.  Therefore, 

the diminution in value attributable to the easement is deemed to be approximately 

$2,276, or approximately 43%. 

  

293

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
47 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 7 

Location   Berkeley County, SC 

TMS#    052-00-00-002 

Grantor   Joseph R. West, Jr. 

Grantee   Kellie L. Swoyer 

Date of Sale   May 28, 2020 

Sales Price   $220,000 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 3372, Page 843 

Size of Tract   85.21 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $2,582 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Public Records, Secondary Source, Broker, Inspection 

 

Remarks     This was the sale of a tract located in Berkeley County. This 

property is subject to conservation easement dated November 17, 2011 and held by The 

Lord Berkeley Conservation Trust.  This easement is recorded with Berkeley County in 

Deed Book 9212 at Page 1.  This was amended on October 9, 2019 and recorded with 

Berkeley County in Deed Book 3158 at Page 55.  Based on our market research 

comparable, unencumbered acreage in this market area would have sold at an average 

price of $3,591 per acre at the time of the transfer.  Therefore, the diminution in value 

attributable to the easement is deemed to be approximately $1,009, or approximately 

28%.  

  

294

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
48 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 8 

Location   Richland County, SC 

TMS#    R35600-01-03 

Grantor   The Congaree Land Trust 

Grantee   Chris & Sharri Edwards 

Date of Sale   March 04, 2021 

Sales Price   $85,000 

Deed Recorded  2592/1010 

Size of Tract   34 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $2,500 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Public records, aerial, sales agent, inspection, appraisal 

 

Remarks     This was the sale of a 34 +/- acre recreational tract located at 

the intersection of Highway 601 (McCords Ferry Road) and Leesburg Road across from 

the Columbia Fire Department Station 31 in eastern Richland County.  The site was 

clear-cut approximately 10 years before this transfer and allowed to naturally 

regenerate the existing timber stand.  It sold on 4/29/2019 from Harvey J. Rosen to The 

Congaree Land Trust for $95,200 and is recorded in deed book 2389 at page 1571.  The 

purchaser placed a conservation easement on the site and immediate placed it back on 

the market to sell with Billy Cate of Rural Land Investments for $95,200.  The most 

notable restrictions on the site were no industrial or commercial uses, no subdivision of 

the site and one single-family residence can be built.  This decrease in value is 

approximately 10.71%.  

295

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
49 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 9  

Location   Berkeley County, SC 

TMS#    074-00-01-044 

Grantor   Evening Post Publishing Company 

Grantee   Wee Nee Santee, LLC 

Date of Sale   March 29, 2021 

Sales Price   $1,440,000 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 3768, Page 882 

Size of Tract   769.649 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $1,871 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Public Records, Secondary Source, Broker, Inspection 

 

Remarks     This was the sale of a tract located in Berkeley County. This 

property was covered by a 2006 conservation easement held by The Nature 

Conservancy. (Deed Book 9212 on Page 1) at the time of its sale.  Based on our market 

research comparable, unencumbered acreage in this market area would have sold at an 

average price of $2,338 per acre at the time of the transfer.  Therefore, the diminution in 

value attributable to the easement is deemed to be approximately $1,038, or 

approximately 44%. 

  

296

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
50 

Comparable Encumbered Land Sale 10  

Location   Berkeley County, SC 

TMS#    098-00-00-017 

Grantor   LBCT Trade Property LLC 

Date of Sale   April 15, 2021 

Sales Price   $350,000 

Deed Recorded  Deed Book 3785, Page 519 

Size of Tract   1,424.45 Acres 

Unit Sales Price  $246 per acre (Land & Timber) 

Verified by   Public Records, Secondary Source, Grantor 

 

Remarks     This was the sale of a tract located in Berkeley County. This 

property was covered by a 2002 conservation easement held by Lord Berkeley 

Conservation Trust. (Deed Book 03262 on Page 1) at the time of its listing.  Based on our 

market research comparable, unencumbered acreage in this market area would have 

sold at an average price of $1,280 per acre at the time of the transfer.  Therefore, the 

diminution in value attributable to the easement is deemed to be approximately $1,035, 

or approximately 81%. 

  

297

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
51 

The following map shows the relative position of these comparables. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

298

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  The Sales Approach 

 

 
52 

The following table summarizes the discussion information detailed earlier:  

 

 
 

The preceding table shows an average diminution in value attributable to the 

imposition of a conservation easement of 44%.  While the range is relatively significant, 

in our opinion the average value is higher than what may be attributable to the subject 

property given its rural location. Based on discussions with knowledgeable third 

parties, the sales price of encumbered land will typically range from 35-40% below that 

of similar but unencumbered property, before consideration of any collateral benefit, 

which will be discussed later in this report.  

 

Summary of the Loss in Value Arising from Granting the Easement (9.36 acres) 

We recognize the above sales are much larger in acreage size than that of the subject.  

As well, we are of the opinion, the most unfavorable consequence to the imposition of 

the proposed restrictions would be no further subdivision of the 9.36 acres.  Rural (T2R) 

by Beaufort County zoning district currently allows the property to be subdivided as 

many as five times, or if individually sold, each parcel (appx. 3 acres) could be 

subdivided further.   

 

The proposed restrictions indicate the property, which exists as three parcels right now, 

can have no further subdivision. Considering the whole 9.36 acres, current subdivision 

of five minus the restricted subdivision of three equates to a remaining value of 60%, 

thus, resulting in a diminution of value of approximately 40% as a result of the 

imposition of the conservation easement. 

# County/State Year Acres Verified Difference

1 Liberty, GA 2014 243.00 Grantee 44%

2 Long, GA 2013 500.00 Grantee 49%

3 Jasper, SC 2013 274.00 Grantee 33%

4 Jasper, SC 2014 732.00 Grantee 41%

5 Williamsburg, SC 2017 462.71 Broker 70%

6 Dorchester, SC 2018 37.00 Broker 43%

7 Berkeley, SC 2020 85.00 Broker 28%

8 Richland, SC 2021 34.00 Appraisal 11%

9 Berkeley, SC 2021 769.65 Broker 44%

10 Berkeley, SC 2021 1,424.45 Grantor 81%

44%

44%

81%

11%

High

Low

Summary

Mean

Median

299

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Reconciliation 

 

 
53 

 

Reconciliation 

 

This report has determined two values for the subject property: first, the value as 

presently constituted, with no restrictive covenants for both the 9.36 acres tract and the 

1.37 acres site and second, the value once the proposed conservation easement is 

granted on the 9.36 acres tract. 

 

For the 9.36 acres, the difference between these two, representing the difference 

between the fair market value of the property before and after the granting of the 

restriction was $374,000 and was the loss in value attributable to the granting of the 

easement as of Monday, April 22, 2024. 

 

 

TMS Parcel # Acreage Before Easement After Easement

Proposed Easement 

Donation

R300-023-000-128B-0000 3.46 $346,000 $208,000

R300-023-000-128C-0000 2.90 $290,000 $174,000

R300-023-000-128D-0000 3.00 $300,000 $180,000

9.36 $936,000 $562,000 $374,000

TMS Parcel # Acreage Fee Simple Value

R300-023-000-128A-0000 1.37 $164,000 N/A N/A

 Overall Summary - 1034 Seaside Road, St. Helena Island

300

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

 

 
54 

 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

 

General Assumptions 

This appraisal report is based on the following assumptions: 

 

That title to the property is good and marketable unless otherwise stated.   

 

The property is under responsible ownership and management. 

 

The property is free of all liens and encumbrances, including material easements and 

rights of way, unless otherwise stated. 

 

That the facts, estimates and opinions furnished to us by others were given in good faith 

and were honestly expressed. 

 

Any data or information provided by the owners or their agents are substantially correct.   

 

There are no hidden or other unapparent conditions in or on the property that would 

change the appraised value.   

 

That structural and mechanical conditions which visually appear to be sufficient for their 

intended purpose are indeed so.  

 

That the owner has maintained the property in compliance with all applicable federal, 

state and local regulations and laws, including the payment of any related taxes, unless 

otherwise stated. 

  

That all applicable zoning, use regulations and restrictions have been complied with. 

 

That all required licenses, certificates, legislated or administrative consents from any local, 

state or national governmental or private entity or organization have been or can be 

obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimated in this report is based. 

 

That the utilization of the land and any improvements is within the boundaries or 

property lines of the property, unless noted within the report.  

 

301

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

 

 
55 

That revenue stamps placed on deeds, used to indicate comparable sales, were in the 

correct amount to reflect the true and actual money consideration involved; and that the 

information secured from brokers or interested parties to verify the transactions, is in 

conformity with the facts. 

 

Limiting Conditions 

This report is made expressly subject to the following stipulations and conditions: 

 

No responsibility is assumed for any legal descriptions or for any matter requiring legal 

competence. 

 

Any sketches, plans or drawings are provided only to assist the reader in visualizing the 

property.  

 

We specifically accept no responsibility for damage from termites, woodborers or any 

other wood-infesting insects.   

 

No responsibility is assumed for any adverse condition that would only be discoverable 

by an inspection performed by a qualified engineer or similar specialist.  

 

We are not qualified to detect the existence of hazardous material but have no knowledge 

of the existence of such materials on or in the property.  This appraisal is predicated on the 

assumption that there are no such materials on or in the property that could cause a loss in 

value, unless so noted.  

 

No responsibility is assumed by us for matters that are legal in nature, or for auditing or 

engineering opinions, nor is any opinion of the title rendered herewith.   

 

Possession of this report or any copy does not carry with it the right of publication, nor 

may the report, or any portion thereof, be used for any purpose by any but the Client 

without the previous written consent of the appraiser.  

 

This property has not been surveyed to establish the facts of legal description and 

dimensions; these are presumed to be substantially as stated in information provided to 

us. 

 

302

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

 

 
56 

The provision of this report does not obligate us to voluntarily give sworn testimony with 

reference to the property evaluated.  If given, such testimony would be contingent upon 

both appropriate compensation and the opportunity to review the appraisal report in light 

of market change.   

 

This report is an opinion of value and does not constitute any form of guarantee of that 

value.  

 

To the best of our knowledge, the presence of Radon has not been detected on this 

property or, if detected, has been determined that the level is considered safe according to 

the standards established by the Environmental Protection Agency.  We do not, however, 

make any guarantees or warranties that the property has been tested for the presence of 

Radon, or, if tested, that the tests were conducted pursuant to EPA approved procedures. 

 

The property was not reviewed to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the 

various requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended.  It is 

possible that a compliance survey could determine that the subject property does not 

conform to one or more of the requirements of the ADA.  If so, this fact could have a 

negative effect on the market value of the subject property.   

 

The names and qualifications of the appraiser or appraisers who materially assisted in 

the preparation of this report are found below.  For the sake of simplicity and 

consistency, the use of the terms 'we' or 'us', rather than the first person singular, has 

been used throughout this report to reflect the possibility that more than one appraiser 

participated in the work performed for this report.  

  

303

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

 

 
57 

Extraordinary Assumptions and Hypothetical Conditions 

An extraordinary assumption is 'an assumption, directly related to a specific 

assignment as of the effective date regarding uncertain information used in an analysis 

which, if found to be false, could alter the appraiser’s opinions or conclusions.’ (USPAP 

2024-2025) 

 

A hypothetical condition is 'a condition, directly related to a specific assignment, which 

is contrary to what is known by the appraiser to exist on the effective date of the 

assignment results, but is used for the purpose of analysis.' (USPAP 2024-2025) 

 

There are no extraordinary assumptions or hypothetical conditions in this report. 

 

304

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
58 

 

Certification and Qualifications of the Appraiser 

 

Certification Statement 

• I, Travis Lee Avant, certify to the best of my knowledge and belief: 

 

• I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief: 

 

• I hold myself out to the public as an appraiser or perform appraisals on a regular 

basis; 

 

• Because of my appraiser’s qualifications as described in this appraisal, that I am 

qualified to make appraisals of the type of property being valued; 

 

• I am not the donor or taxpayer who claims or reports a deduction under section 

170 for the property that is being appraised, a party to the transaction in which 

the donor acquired the property being appraised, or the donee of the appraised 

property; 

 

• I understand that an intentionally false or fraudulent overstatement of the value 

of the property described in the qualified appraisal or appraisal summary may 

subject we to a civil penalty under section 6701 for the aiding and abetting an 

understatement of tax liability, and, moreover, we may have appraisals 

disregarded pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 330 (c); and 

 

• I understand that a substantial or gross valuation misstatement resulting from 

an appraisal of the value of property that we know, or reasonably should have 

known, would be used in connection with a return or claim for refund, may 

subject we to a civil penalty under section 6695A. 

 

• This certification is made with respect to the appraisal I made of property 

described in the attached report. The property is to be contributed by Luke H. 

Inabinett, Sr. (Grantor) to Open Land Trust (Grantee). 

  

305

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
59 

• I hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge and belief: 

 

• I am Certified General Real Estate Property Appraiser for the state in which the 

Property is located, as that term is defined by us Qualifications Board under 

authority of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act 

of 1989 (FIRREA); 

 

• My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and my appraisal 

report relating to the Property was prepared in conformity with the Uniform 

Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Foundation and 

the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and the Standards of 

Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Section of the National 

Association of Realtors. 

 

• In making the appraisal of the Property, I applied generally accepted 

professional appraisal standards, including, if applicable, those established for 

gifts of qualified conservation contributions as defined under section 170(h) of 

the Internal Revenue Code as more fully described under section 1.170A-

14(h)(3)(i) and (ii); 

 

• This appraisal of the Property satisfies all requirements for a “qualified 

appraisal” as that term is defined under section IRC § 170(f)(11)(C) and (E)(i)(II). 

This appraisal report is in compliance with this regulation.  

 

• The term “qualified appraiser”, as defined in IRC § 170(f)(11)(E)(ii), means an 

individual who: (1) Has earned an appraisal designation from a recognized 

professional appraiser organization or met minimum education and experience 

requirements as set forth in the regulations, (2) Regularly performs appraisals 

for which the individual receives compensation, and (3) Meets such other 

requirements as prescribed by the Secretary in regulations or other guidance. 

This appraiser has met these qualifications.  

 

• This appraisal was prepared by a qualified appraiser in accordance with 

generally accepted appraisal standards.  

 

• I have the expertise and experience to make appraisals of Conservation 

Easements and Conservation Lands; 

306

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
60 

 

• I have not been barred from presenting evidence or testimony in any 

administrative proceedings before the Department of the Treasury or the 

Internal Revenue Service or other administrative bodies; 

 

• The appraisal of the Property has taken into account any increase in value to 

nearby real property owned by the Grantor or a party related to the Grantor, 

resulting from the contribution of the Property to Open Land Trust; 

 

• I have been advised that the Grantor (Luke H. Inabinett, Sr.) is not, a “covered 

person” as defined below; 

 

• Covered Person: All employees, Board members, Chapter Trustees/Advisors, 

and, as defined below, close relatives, major donors, related organizations, and 

other insiders. 

 

• Close Relatives: Spouse, child (natural or adopted), parent and step-parent, in-

laws, grandchild, grandparent, brother or sister of a covered person, and any 

person with whom a covered person shares living quarters under circumstances 

that closely resemble a marital relationship or who is financially dependent 

upon the covered person. 

 

• Major Donor: An individual, corporation, or foundation that makes a gift or 

pledge of    $100,000 or more at any one time or cumulatively within a 5-year 

period prior to the occurrence of the conflict either in cash, appreciated 

securities, other assets or in land, casement, or bargain sale value. 

 

• Other Insiders: Individuals, such as former board of director’s members, former 

Chapter Trustees, members of Conservation advisory boards or committees, 

volunteers or former employees who, by their continued involvement with the 

Trust, either have access to inside information that could place them within a 

conflict situation or could give the appearance of such persons having the ability 

to unduly influence the Trust. Depending on the facts and circumstances, an 

independent contractor may be an “other insider” where that person or entity 

has access to inside information. 

 

307

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
61 

• Inside Information: Any material information that is identified as confidential 

and proprietary, pertaining to the business and affairs of the Trust, whether 

related to a specific transaction or to matters pertaining to the Trust’s interest, 

activities, and policies. 

 

• Related Organizations: Any organization in which a covered person directly or 

indirectly: 

 

• Owns or controls a 5% or more of any voting security; or is a director, executive 

officer, executor, administrator, trustee, beneficiary, controlling partner, or 

otherwise serves in a fiduciary capacity or holds a substantial beneficial interest; 

or has legal or de facto power to control the election of a majority of directors; 

or has legal or de facto power to exercise a controlling influence over the 

management or policies. “Organization” includes a corporation, partnership, 

trust, estate, joint venture, and unincorporated affiliation of any kind as well as 

public boards and commissions and not-for-profit organizations. 

 

• The existence (or absence) of a relationship between Donor and Conservation 

Trust; did not influence our conclusion of fair market value on the property that 

is the subject of this appraisal report. 

 

• I understand that this certification will be provided to Conservation Trust; as 

part of its procedures relating to accepting donations of conservation and land 

conservation easements. 

 

• The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the 

reported assumptions and limiting conditions and is my personal, impartial and 

unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

 

• I have no present or prospective interest in or bias with respect to the property 

that is the subject of this report and have no personal interest in or bias with 

respect to the parties involved. 

 

• We have not previously appraised the real property which is the subject of this 

appraisal within the three-year period immediately preceding acceptance of this 

assignment. 

 

308

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
62 

• I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to 

the parties involved in the assignment. 

 

• My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or 

reporting predetermined results. 

 

• My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the 

development of reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that 

favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of 

a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the 

intended use of this appraisal. 

 

• I have made a personal inspection of the subject property. 

 

• Also certify that I have attended or remotely studied the Conservation 

Transactions Seminar sponsored by the Bank on October 19, 2022, which I further 

acknowledge is required to perform appraisal services in association with a 

Bank-funded real estate transaction. 

 

• Compass South Tax ID is #30-0410310. 

 

 

Professional Associations 

 

• The report analysis, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report 

has been prepared in conformity with the Principles of Appraisal Practice and 

Code of Ethics of the American Society of Appraisers. 

 

• As of this date of this report, I am in good standing, completed the continuing 

educational requirements and in compliance with programs of the Accredited 

Senior Appraiser (ASA) and Appraisal Review Management (ARM) of the 

American Society of Appraisers.  

 

• As of this date of this report, I am in good standing, completed the continuing 

educational requirements and in compliance with the program as designated 

member of the International Right-of-Way Association. 

 

309

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
63 

• The report analysis, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report 

has been prepared in conformity with the Code of Professional Ethics and 

Standards of Professional Practices of the Appraisal Institute. 

 

• The use of the report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute 

relating to review by its duly authorized representatives. 

 

• As of this date of this report, I am in good standing with the Appraisal Institute 

and a General Review Candidate on the AI-GRS designation path and have 

completed that Standards and Ethics Education Requirements. 

 

 
__________________________________________ 

Travis Lee Avant, ASA, ARM-RP, R/W-AC 

SC Certified General Real Estate Appraiser CG 4749 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

310

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
64 

Statement of Qualifications of the Appraiser 

Travis Lee Avant 

 
ASA -Accredited Senior Appraiser Designation and Appraisal Review RP Designation 

 

Employment History 

1983 to 1986       United States Army 

1986 to 2000 Law Enforcement, Colleton Co. SC, including six years as elected Sheriff 

2000 to 2003 Criminal Investigator, SC Law Enforcement Division -SLED  

2003 to 2007 General Appraiser, Hartnett & Co, Charleston, SC 

2007 to 2009 Summary Court Magistrate in Colleton County (parttime) 

2011 to 2013 Colleton County Election Commission Board Director  

2007                     Current- Present founder and co-owner of CSI and principal and team lead appraiser of  

                             Compass South Appraisals   

 

Education 

1987  Graduate of Trident Tech College, AS Public Service 

1994  Graduate, the F.B.I. National Academy, Quantico, VA  

1996  National Sheriff’s Institute Administrators Academy, Colorado 

2000  Graduate, The University of South Carolina, AS and Bachelor of Science 

 

Current Business and Professional Affiliations 

ASA - Designated Accredited Senior Appraisers and Appraisal Review  

ASA - Representative of the Ethics Committee 

Board President, Palmetto Rural Telecommunication   

Board Director, South Carolina Broad Band Association 

Board Director, Executive Committee, SC Palmetto Agribusiness Council 

Board Director with a Community Bank 

 

Current State Certified General Real Estate Appraiser License  

Active: Alabama, Georgia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia – temporary licenses 

in past – Texas, Arkansas, Mississippi and Florida. 

  

Brokers Real Estate License 

 
Accredited Buyers Representation - ABR® designee of NAR. Real Estate organization that encourages the 

highest standard of ethical business practices. 

 

Appraisal Experience   

Twenty years as an appraiser with extensive experience appraising various types of rural and commercial 

and residential properties. To include commercial, industrial, office and retail uses, c-stores hotels, 

residential subdivision and a variety of special purposes type properties. Experience includes timberland, 

recreational property, historical plantations, venues, and agricultural products, such as poultry, and 

311

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
65 

orchards. I have completed over one hundred appraisal assignments involving conservation and 

preservation easements.  

 

I have completed over hundreds of eminent domain assignments with litigation experience. Eminent 

Domain clients include condemnor and condemnee for property owners, several counties and municipal 

governments, utility companies and law firms across South Carolina. I have experience in appraisal 

review; completed over 100 hours of training with emphasis on appraisal review training and have 

experience providing technical, UASFLA and USPAP compliance appraisal reviews. I have testified as a 

witness in Federal, State, Family, Master of Equity, Common/Civil and Criminal Court.  

 

Articles and Presentations 

Contributor for the TAQEEM appraisal review manual was recently published by the American Society 

of Appraisers. TAQEEM is a Saudi Authority for Accredited Valuations for the government of a Middle 

Eastern country. I have served a few times as a guest instructor for ASA regarding Appraisal Review 

courses as well as providing instructions to a few organizations on the appraisal process.  

 

Appraisal Education 

Eminent Domain, SCDOT, 2024 

SC Land Use, Seminar Group, 2024 

Conservation Easements: Legal, Appraisal, Accounting, and Ethical Issues, Appraisal institute 2023 

Business Practice and Ethics, Appraisal institute, 2023 

Appraising Environmentally Contaminated Properties, 2023 

Conservation Transactions: Legal and Appraisal Matters, SCCB 2022 

Comprehensive Appraisal Overview, Appraisal Institute, 2022 

Appraisal Review Theory, Appraisal Institute, 2021 

Easement Valuation, IRWA, 2021 

Supervisory - Trainee Course, 2021 

Code of Ethics, IRWA, 2021 

Eminent Domain, IRWA, 2020 

Comprehensive Appraisal Overview, Appraisal Institute, 2020 

Appraisal Review Theory, Appraisal Institute, 2019 

Realtors ® Appraisal Code of Ethics, 2018 

Cost Approach Certificate, Core Logic, 2018  

The Law and Litigation with Eminent Domain, SC Bar, 2018 

Uniform Standards, USPAP, every year and current 

Eminent Domain and Condemnation, Appraisal Institute, 2018 

Expert Witness / Scope of Work / Going Concern, Appraisal Society Appraisers 2017 

Forest Valuation II, Appraisal Institute, 2017 

Principals of Real Estate Appraisals, IRWA 2017 

Uniform Appraisal Standards for Federal Land Acquisitions, 2016, 2017 

Ethics and the Right of Way Profession, IRWA, 2016 

Appraisal Review Management, Appraisal Society Appraisers, 2015, 2016 

Accredited Buyers Representation - ABR® designee, NAR, 2015  

Standards of Practice for the Right of Way Professional, IRWA 2015 

The Valuation of Partial Acquisitions, IRWA 2015 

312

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Certification(s) and Qualification(s) 

 

 
66 

Real Estate Finance, Statistics Valuation Modeling, Appraisal Institute, 2013 

General Appraisal Report Writing and Case Studies, Appraisal Institute, 2013  

Hypothetical and Extraordinary Conditions, Appraisal Institute, 2012 

Conservation Easements, 2006, 2012, 2013, 2015 

Business Practice & Ethics, Appraisal Institute, 2012 

Fundamentals of Separating Real Property, 2012  

Appraising the Appraiser, Appraisal Institute, 2012 

Applied Forest Finance, FORISK, 2010  

Advanced Sales and Cost Approach, Appraisal Institute, 2009 

Advanced Income Capitalization, Appraisal Institute, 2009 

Commercial Real Estate Analysis, CCIM, 2006 

The Professional Guide to URAR- Secondary Mortgages, 2005 

Appraisal Principles, Appraisal Institute, 2005 

Discounted Cash Flow, 2004 

Applied Income Property Valuation, 2003 

Advanced Income Capitalization Procedures, 2003 

Introduction to Income Property Appraisal, 2003 

Financial Cash Flow, 2003, 2013 

Appraising Single family Residences, 2003 

Applied Property Valuation Case study 2003  

Principals of Real Estate Appraisals, 2003 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

313

Item 16.



Compass South Appraisals  Addenda 

 

 
67 

 

Addenda 

 

Addendum A  County Information on Subject 

 

Addendum B  Easement Terms Sheet 

 

Addendum C  Photos 

 

Addendum D  Flood Map 

 

  

314

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:12 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305903%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 1/2

Beaufort County, South Carolina generated on 1/23/2024 2:12:11 PM EST

Property ID (PIN) Alternate ID (AIN) Parcel Address Data refreshed as
of Assess Year Pay Year

R300 023 000 128A 0000 00305903 1047 SEASIDE RD, 1/19/2024 2023 2024

Current Parcel Information

Owner INABINETT LUKE H SR
Owner Address 10 CHIQUITA POINT

ST HELENA ISL SC 29920

Property Class Code AgVac NonClassified
Acreage 1.3700

Legal Description PARCEL B PB13 PG40 PB76 PG114 *T ACCT 89 INCORRECT OWNER PLAT ATT TO JR#76150 AC ADJUSTED BY PLAT SUBJ TO ROLLBACK
TAX LIEN

Historic Information
Tax Year Land Building Market Taxes Payment

2023 $90,100 $90,100 $7.44 $7.44

2022 $60,100 $60,100 $7.71 $7.71

2021 $60,100 $60,100 $7.54 $7.54

2020 $60,100 $60,100 $7.36 $7.36

2019 $60,100 $60,100 $7.28 $7.28

2018 $60,100 $60,100 $7.03 $7.03

2017 $84,600 $84,600 $7.22 $7.22

2016 $84,600 $84,600 $7.11 $7.11

2015 $84,600 $84,600 $33.66 $33.66

2014 $84,600 $84,600 $33.60 $33.60

315

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:12 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305903%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 2/2

 
Sales Disclosure 

Grantor Book & Page Date Deed Vacant Sale Price 
FREEMAN HAROLD HARMON CONNIE FREEMAN 2450 1378 9/27/2006 Fu $75,000  
FREEMAN ANNA 7 6150 5/1/1989 Sp $0  
FREEMAN ANNA 110 162 1/1/1980 Fu $0  
  12/31/1776 Or $0  
 

Improvements 

Building Type Use Code
Description Constructed Year Stories Rooms Square Footage Improvement Size 

 

316

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:07 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305912%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 1/2

Beaufort County, South Carolina generated on 1/23/2024 2:07:04 PM EST

Property ID (PIN) Alternate ID (AIN) Parcel Address Data refreshed as
of Assess Year Pay Year

R300 023 000 128B 0000 00305912 10 CHIQUITA PT, 1/19/2024 2023 2024

Current Parcel Information

Owner INABINETT LUKE H
Owner Address 10 CHIQUITA PT

ST HELENA ISLAND SC 29920-9802

Property Class Code AgImp Forest
Acreage 3.4600

Legal Description 1985 MASCOT/GREY/SER#MHG1821/52X24/SUBJ TO ROLLBACK TAX LIEN~2/11 0.26 AC ADDED FM 23/350

Historic Information
Tax Year Land Building Market Taxes Payment

2023 $158,000 $26,700 $184,700 $364.70 $364.70

2022 $105,000 $13,900 $118,900 $305.40 $305.40

2021 $105,000 $13,900 $118,900 $296.53 $296.53

2020 $105,000 $13,900 $118,900 $293.39 $293.39

2019 $105,000 $13,900 $118,900 $286.66 $286.66

2018 $105,000 $13,900 $118,900 $280.21 $280.21

2017 $166,700 $12,800 $179,500 $644.83 $644.83

2016 $166,700 $12,800 $179,500 $629.37 $629.37

2015 $166,700 $12,800 $179,500 $615.13 $615.13

2014 $166,700 $12,800 $179,500 $600.76 $600.76

317

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:07 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305912%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 2/2

Sales Disclosure 
Grantor Book & Page Date Deed Vacant Sale Price 
INABINETT LUKE H FLORENCE 463 931 10/1/1986 Fu $0  
FRIPP JOSEPH 353 725 8/1/1982 Fu $41,900  
FRIPP CALVIN 353 721 7/1/1982 Fu $0  
FRIPP CALVIN 3 9421 8/1/1971 Sp $0  
  12/31/1776 Or $0  
 

Improvements 
Building Type Use Code Description Constructed Year Stories Rooms Square Footage Improvement Size 

R01 MHOME Manufactured Home 1985 0 0   
R01 BOATD Waterfront Boat Dock 1950 0 0  128
R01 PIER Waterfront Pier 1950 0 0  400

 

318

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:08 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305921%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 1/2

Beaufort County, South Carolina generated on 1/23/2024 2:08:26 PM EST

Property ID (PIN) Alternate ID (AIN) Parcel Address Data refreshed as
of Assess Year Pay Year

R300 023 000 128C 0000 00305921 1034 SEASIDE RD, 1/19/2024 2023 2024

Current Parcel Information

Owner INABINETT LUKE H SR
Owner Address 10 CHIQUITA POINT

ST HELENA ISLAND SC 29920

Property Class Code AgVac Forest
Acreage 2.9000

Legal Description PARCEL A2 PB13 PG40 PG76 PG114 *SEE 2002 TX ACCT #10478219 AC ADJUSTED BY PLAT *T ACCT 89 INCORRECT OWNER SUBJ TO
ROLL BACK TAX LIEN

Historic Information
Tax Year Land Building Market Taxes Payment

2023 $120,800 $120,800 $6.50 $6.50

2022 $83,600 $83,600 $6.77 $6.77

2021 $83,600 $83,600 $6.60 $6.60

2020 $83,600 $83,600 $6.42 $6.42

2019 $83,600 $83,600 $6.34 $6.34

2018 $83,600 $83,600 $6.09 $6.09

2017 $88,200 $88,200 $6.28 $6.28

2016 $88,200 $88,200 $6.17 $6.17

2015 $88,200 $88,200 $10.89 $10.89

2014 $88,200 $88,200 $10.83 $10.83

319

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:08 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305921%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 2/2

 
Sales Disclosure 

Grantor Book & Page Date Deed Vacant Sale Price 
INABINETT LUKE H SR 11 8561 7/16/2002 Sp $0  
FREEMAN HAROLD JR PHILLIS W 1545 1087 2/6/2001 Fu $60,000  
WALKINSHAW JOSEPHINE 526 1713 3/1/1989 Fu $0  
WALKINSHAW JOSEPHINE 110 161 1/1/1980 Fu $0  
  12/31/1776 Or $0  
 

Improvements 

Building Type Use Code
Description Constructed Year Stories Rooms Square Footage Improvement Size 

 

320

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:10 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305930%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 1/2

Beaufort County, South Carolina generated on 1/23/2024 2:10:08 PM EST

Property ID (PIN) Alternate ID (AIN) Parcel Address Data refreshed as
of Assess Year Pay Year

R300 023 000 128D 0000 00305930 1042 SEASIDE RD, 1/19/2024 2023 2024

Current Parcel Information

Owner INABINETT LUKE H SR
Owner Address 10 CHIQUITA POINT

ST HELENA ISL SC 29920

Property Class Code AgVac Forest
Acreage 3.0000

Legal Description MOBILE HOME SITE SUBJ TO ROLL BACK TAX LIEN

Historic Information
Tax Year Land Building Market Taxes Payment

2023 $189,800 $189,800 $14.43 $14.43

2022 $126,600 $126,600 $14.97 $14.97

2021 $126,600 $126,600 $14.62 $14.62

2020 $126,600 $126,600 $14.26 $14.26

2019 $126,600 $126,600 $14.12 $14.12

2018 $126,600 $126,600 $13.61 $13.61

2017 $185,200 $185,200 $13.99 $13.99

2016 $185,200 $185,200 $13.80 $13.80

2015 $185,200 $185,200 $11.53 $11.53

2014 $185,200 $185,200 $13.14 $25.27

321

Item 16.



1/23/24, 2:10 PM Beaufort County, South Carolina

https://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/agency/sc-beaufort-county/tab_summary_report.asp?PrintView=True&r_nm=tab_report&t_wc=revobjid%3D305930%7Cparcelid%3DR300+023+000+128… 2/2

Sales Disclosure 
Grantor Book & Page Date Deed Vacant Sale Price 
FREEMAN HAROLD JR WEBB ANNETTE 1920 2278 2/2/2004 Fu $60,000  
FREEMAN HAROLD JR WEBB ANNETTE 11 8561 7/16/2002 Sp $0  
SCOTT GLADYS 1282 54 4/10/2000 QC $10  
SCOTT GLADYS PINCKNEY JOSEPH JR ANNA FREEMAN 564 1571 10/17/1990 QC $1  
SCOTT GLADYS PINCKNEY JOSEPH JR ANNA FREEMAN 110 160 1/1/1980 Ot $0  
  12/31/1776 Or $0  
 

Improvements 

Building Type Use Code
Description Constructed Year Stories Rooms Square Footage Improvement Size 

 

322

Item 16.



323

Item 16.



324

Item 16.



325

Item 16.



326

Item 16.



327

Item 16.



328

Item 16.



329

Item 16.



330

Item 16.



331

Item 16.



332

Item 16.



333

Item 16.



334

Item 16.



335

Item 16.



336

Item 16.



Open Land Trust
Conservation Easement Term Sheet

Ownership Information:
Property Name: Inabinett
Landowner Name/Grantor: Luke Inabinett
Property Address: 1034 Seaside Road, St Helena Island SC 29920
County: Beaufort
PIN #: R300 023 000 128C 0000, 128B, 128D
Acreage: 9.36
Deed Info (date, Bk & Pg):
Survey Info (date, Bk & Pg):

Controlling Law:
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, §170(h) (as amended) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.
South Carolina Code Ann. (1976), as amended) §27 8 10, et. seq. (The South Carolina Conservation Easement Act
of 1991)

Conservation Purposes Under Federal Law:

1. The preservation of land areas for outdoor recreation by, or the education of, the general public,
2. The protection of a relatively natural habitat of fish, wildlife, or plants, or similar ecosystem,
3. The preservation of open space (including farm land and forest land) where such preservation is—

a. For the scenic enjoyment of the general public, or
b. Pursuant to a clearly delineated Federal, State, or local governmental conservation policy, and

will yield a significant public benefit, or
c. The preservation of a historically important land area or a certified historic structure.

Conservation Purposes Under State Law:

1. Retaining or protecting natural, scenic, or open space aspects of real property;
2. Ensuring the availability of real property for agricultural, forest, recreational, educational, or open space

use
3. Protecting natural resources;
4. Maintaining or enhancing air or water quality.

337

Item 16.



Restrictions and Limitations:

Subdivision: The property exists as three parcels right now. There would be no further
subdivision.

Base zoning nuance for your information: Using small lot subdivision standards
found here:
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/community_development_
code?nodeId=ART2MUTSILOCOSCDE_DIV2.7DEWIRUAR_2.7.30RUSMLOSU
The property could be subdivided at many as 5 times at 9 acres total, or if
individually sold, each parcel (appx 3 acres) could be subdivided further.

Impervious Surface
Limitation:

impervious surface square footage is ½ 1% of total parcel size.

Residential Structures: 3 total for permanent residency

Building Height: Typically in line with neighborhood vernacular, 35 40 feet.

Docks: No new docks permitted, one exists.

Boardwalks: Subject to all OCRM/ACOE standards.

Towers: No 100+ towers. Wildlife observation towers permitted

Road/Marsh Buffers: 200 from public roads, gates and mailboxes can occur within the buffer but no
structures. 100 from marsh and rive, existing homes grandfathered unless rebuilt.

Industrial Uses: All industrial uses, activities, structures, or rights of passage are prohibited.

Commercial Uses: All commercial uses, activities, structures, or right of passage are prohibited. For the
purposes of many easements, Agricultural Activities, Forest Management Practices
and the leasing of hunting, trapping and fishing rights shall not be considered
Commercial Uses.

Services: Construction of water wells, septic systems, and utility services is limited to serve
allowed uses and subject to all restrictions and limitations and all applicable
governmental laws and regulations.

Roads: Roads shall be limited to those required to facilitate the uses permitted by this
Easement, provided there shall be no road constructed or covered with Impervious
Surface except as otherwise necessary.

Existing roads will be recorded in the easement baseline, and typical easements
require no new roads be built if existing roads can meet the needs of the property.

Landscaping: Landscaping is permitted around the residential structures and natural/native
vegetation is encouraged. Otherwise, we encourage the property to exist in a working
manner (forestry, agriculture, native grasses) rather than a prescriptive landscape.

Signs: Limited to 8 square feet in size. No outside signage like new billboards, existing
billboard leases may be grandfathered but the easement will provide language for
their removal.

338

Item 16.



Archeological and
Paleontological
Excavations:

Typical language is as follows: “Notice required for archeological or paleontological
excavation. Sites shall be returned to, or as close as possible to, its previous state,
unless to be maintained for interpretive purposes related to education.” This is a
common form of research and/or public access on protected properties.

Forestry Uses: Permitted and must follow best practices, to include replanting, rotations, etc. Burn
notice required to several parties and must follow SC Forestry Commission.

Agricultural Uses: Permitted and general follows best management practices.

Ponds: None permitted

Impoundments: None permitted
Mining: Surface mining prohibited. U.S.C. 170(h)(5),

Topography and
Hydrology:

No adverse material alteration of the topography or hydrology, unless otherwise
provided for in the Easement (e.g. if a new pond was created).

Significant Tree
Protection:

Live oaks, cypress and magnolia trees with DBH of 12 inches or greater protected

339

Item 16.



340

Item 16.



341

Item 16.



342

Item 16.



 

343

Item 16.



344

Item 16.



 

 

 

 

Project Analysis: Seaside Road PDR 
 

PROPOSAL FOR:  Due Diligence PDR  

• PROPERTY ID:   TMS#  R300 023 000 128B 0000,  R300 023 000 128C 0000, 
R300 023 000 128D 0000 and  

• OWNER:   Luke Inabinett 
• ACREAGE:   9.36 acres total  
• PARTNERS:    OLT holds easement 
• TOTAL PRICE:   $374,000 
• PRICE Negotiated/Acre:  $36,000/a 
• RCLPP FUNDS:   $374,000 
• APPRAISED VALUE:  $374,000 
• ZONING:   T2-Rural CPO 
• COUNCIL DISTRICT:     3 (Glover) 
• LOCATION:   1047 Seaside Road, St Helena 

 

Project Location and Attributes: 

 Property is located off Seaside road, adjacent to 660 acres formerly known as “Henry Farms” 

 Current pecan grove 

 High resilience benefit at corner of Club Bridge and Seaside Road in marsh migration corridor 

 Under small lot subdivision standards for St Helena, the property could be subdivided at many 

as 5 times at 9 acres total, or if individually sold, each parcel (appx 3 acres) could be subdivided 

further 

 

Easement attributes: 

 CE on 9.36 acres, one house and one dock exists.  

 Two more houses could be built, impervious surface cannot exceed 8,000 in aggregate 

 KPS score: 5.22; AHF score 5.03 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

345

Item 16.

http://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/site_authlink.asp?p=%25R300%20023%20000%20128B%200000%25&r=webgis.bcgov.net
http://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/site_authlink.asp?p=%25R300%20023%20000%20128C%200000%25&r=webgis.bcgov.net
http://sc-beaufort-county.governmax.com/svc/site_authlink.asp?p=%25R300%20023%20000%20128D%200000%25&r=webgis.bcgov.net


 

 

 

 

346

Item 16.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE 
THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE FEE SIMPLE PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY 
IDENTIFIED AS TAX MAP SERIAL NUMBER R600-029-000-0054-0000 AND ALSO KNOWN AS DAVIS ROAD FEE 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Community Services and Land Use Committee January 13, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Amanda Flake, Natural Resources Planner 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Rural and Critical Land Preservation Board recommended to pursue due diligence on 8/11/22, NRC voted to 
approval due diligence on September 6, 2022.  Lengthy negotiations ensued.  With staff recommendation, 
RCLP recommended to purchase at 10% above appraised value on 11/14/24 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Davis Road Fee property consists of 40.7 acres, located between the RCLP New Leaf and RCLP Okatie Preserve 
properties in Bluffton in the headwaters acre of the Okatie River.  The property has access from Davis Road 
off Highway 170 and currently includes majority uplands and a large borrow pit (formerly mined).  In 2019, it 
was pursued for purchase by the RCLP program and appraised for $1,200,000 but sold to an outside buyer 
just prior to county approvals to purchase.  Again in 2022, it was pursued for purchase by RCLP program and 
appraised for $770,000.  Staff recommended the RCLP board consider offering 10% above appraised value 
due to contiguity to other parcels and previous appraisals.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

$858,000 fees Beaufort County Rural and Critical Land Preservation Program Bond Referendum (Account # 
4500) 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommended approval.   

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve purchase of Davis Road Fee 

Motion to modify purchase of Davis Road Fee 

Motion to reject purchase of for Davis Road Fee 

 

 

347

Item 17.



1 
 

ORDINANCE 2025/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE 

NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE PURCHASE OF TAX MAP 

SERIAL NUMBER TMS# R600 029 000 0054 0000 AND ALSO KNOWN AS DAVIS ROAD FEE. 

 

 WHEREAS, Seller wishes to sell and Purchaser wishes to purchase the fee simple interest on 

property currently identified as TMS# R600 029 000 0054 0000 of +/- 40.7 acres and also known as 

Davis Road Fee; collectively hereinafter “Davis Road” and 

 

 WHEREAS, the purchase of fee simple interest of Davis Road has been demonstrated to meet the 

Critical Lands Criteria of the Rural and Critical Lands Program (“RCLP”); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is within unincorporated Beaufort County and is located between two 

Rural and Critical Land Preservation Program properties, Evergreen and Okatie Regional Preserve, and is 

within the headwaters of the Okatie River,  

 WHEREAS, the proposal to purchase Davis Road is for a fee simple acquisition with a purchase 

price up to $858,000 plus closing costs; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed purchase of Davis Road was presented to the Rural and Critical Land 

Preservation Board (RCLPB) at the November 14, 2024 meeting and the RCLPB unanimously 

recommended approval of the purchase; and  

 WHEREAS, the proposed purchase of Davis Road was presented to the Community Services and 

Land Use Committee on January 13, 2025 meeting at which time it was referred to County Council; and 

WHEREAS, County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and residents of 

Beaufort County for the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents for the fee simple 

acquisition and purchase of Davis Road; 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Beaufort County Council, duly assembled, does 

hereby authorize the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents and provide funding up to 

$858,000 plus closing costs for the purchase of real property identified as TMS# R600 029 000 0054 0000 

and also known as Davis Road.  

 

Adopted this ____ day of ______________, 2025.  

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

 

BY:        

             Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

ATTEST:  

 

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

348

Item 17.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
 

 

Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
 

 
 

Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 
Davis Road 

Bluffton, SC  29910 
 

Beaufort County TMS # 
R600 029 000 0054 0000 

 
Submitted to and for the Use of: 

Open Land Trust 
PO Box 75 

Beaufort, SC  29901 
 

Submitted by: 
SRC Environmental 
108 Charping Lane 

Anderson, SC  29621 
 

Original Submittal Date:  October 16, 2024 

349

Item 17.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
October 16, 2024 
 
 
Open Land Trust 
Attn: Ms. Kate Schaefer 
448 W. Cheves Street  
Beaufort, SC  29901 
 
 
Re:  Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 

Davis Road 
 Bluffton, SC  29910 
 
Ms. Schaefer: 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide environmental services for you.  It is our commitment to 
provide our clients with the most efficient, timely, and cost-effective approach to environmental 
issues. 
 
As requested, SRC, Inc. has completed a current Phase I Environmental Site Assessment for the 
subject property that consists of one parcel totaling 40.07 GIS acres, and is located at Davis Road 
in Bluffton, SC.  The current Phase I was designed to meet the standards and guidelines of the 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM E1527-21), including All Appropriate Inquiry 
(AAI) while providing an environmental site assessment of the project site.  
 
The enclosed Phase I ESA was prepared for the exclusive use of the Open Land Trust, and/or 
their Assigns, for use in the assessment and evaluation of the environmental condition of the 
subject property at the time the report was completed based on reasonably ascertainable 
information, and within the scope and limitations of the ASTM E1527-21 guidelines. 
  
The current Phase I ESA, in conformance with the scope and limitations of ASTM 
guidelines, has revealed no evidence of existing or historical recognized environmental 
conditions (RECs) associated with the site, or adjacent sites. No further investigation is 
recommended. 
 
SRC welcomes the opportunity to serve you.  If you have any questions, or require any additional 
information, please feel free to contact me at 864-376-2864. 
 
  
Sincerely, 

 
Michael Whaley 
President 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 
 
Enclosures 

350

Item 17.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Section     Subject     Page 
 
1.0  Executive Summary       1 
2.0  Introduction         2 

2.1 Purpose        2 
2.2 Detailed Scope-of-Services     2 
2.3 Significant Assumptions      3 
2.4 Limitations and Expectations     3 
2.5 Special Terms and Conditions     4 
2.6 User Reliance       4 

3.0 Subject Property Description      5 
  3.1 Location and Legal Description     5 

3.2 Subject property and Vicinity General Characteristics 5 
3.3 Current Use of Property      6 
3.4 Description of Structures, Roads, Other Improvements 6 
3.5 Current Uses of the Adjoining Properties   6 

4.0  User Provided Description      7 
4.1 Title Records       7 
4.2 Environmental Liens or Activity and Use Limitations 8 
4.3 Specialized Knowledge      8 
4.4 Commonly Known or Reasonably Ascertainable Information 8 
4.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues  8 
4.6 Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information 8 
4.7 Reason for Performing Phase I     9 
4.8 Other         9 

5.0  Records Review        10 
5.1 Standard Environmental Record Sources   10 
5.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources   10 
5.3 Physical Setting Sources      10 
5.4 Historical Use Information on the Property   10 
5.5 Historical Use Information on Surrounding Properties 10 

6.0  Subject Property Reconnaissance     11 
6.1 Methodology and Limiting Conditions    11 
6.2 General Site Setting      11 
6.3 Exterior Observations      12 
6.4 Interior Observations      13

351

Item 17.



 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
Section     Subject     Page 
 
7.0 Interviews         14 

7.1 Interview with Owner      14 
7.2 Interview with Site Manager     14 
7.3 Interviews with Occupants     14 
7.4 Interviews with Local Government Officials   14 
7.5 Interviews with Others      14 

8.0 Additional Services/Non-Scope Considerations   15 

9.0 Findings         16 

9.1 Federal RCRA Generators List     17 

9.2 Toxic Release Inventory (TRI) List    18 

9.3 Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST)   19 

9.4 Underground Storage Tank (UST)    20 

9.5 SC Drycleaners List      21 

9.6 Historical Cleaners      22 

10.0 Opinion         24 
11.0 Data Gaps         24 
12.0 Conclusions        24 
13.0 Deviations         24 
14.0 References         25 
15.0 Signature of Environmental Professional    25 
16.0 Qualifications of Environmental Professional   26 

 
Appendix A:  Figure 1: Location Map 
Appendix B:  Figure 2: Topographical Maps 

Appendix C:  Figures 3A, 3B & 3C: Age Progression Aerials 

Appendix D:  Figure 4: Wetlands Map 

Appendix E:  Figure 5: Soils Map 
Appendix F:  Site Photographs 
Appendix G:  NETR Background Database Report 
Appendix H:  Deed Information and Title Insurance (if available) 
Appendix I:  Property Documents 
 
 

352

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 1 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

1.0  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) by Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. (SRC) is designed to identify existing historical, visual, or physical 
evidence of recognized environmental conditions (RECs), historical recognized 
environmental conditions (HRECs), controlled recognized environmental conditions 
(CRECs), or potential risks at the Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase site located at Davis 
Road in Bluffton, SC.  The subject property consists of one parcel totaling 40.07 GIS 
acres and is listed with Beaufort County TMS # R600 029 000 0054 0000. 
 
The subject property is undeveloped.  Two ponds were created during the time period 
beginning in the 2000s when the site was used as a sand mine by Cleland Site Prep, Inc.   
Wetlands cover approximately 33% of the subject property.  Aerial photography dating 
back to 1951 and topographic maps back to 1920 sourced from www.historicaerials.com 
were reviewed and indicated the subject property was never developed.   
 
Mr. Michael Whaley, Environmental Professional (EP) of SRC, conducted the on-site 
inspection on October 6, 2024.  The inspection of the subject property and directly 
adjacent sites did not visually or physically identify sources of improper use, treatment, 
storage, generation, or disposal of hazardous substances that resulted in environmental 
contamination of the subject property.  No sources of surface contamination were 
physically observed.  There were no leaking drums or containers visually or physically 
observed which might contain hazardous substances.  There were no strong or pungent 
odors associated with the subject property that would indicate the presence of additional 
hazardous substances.   
 
Current and past use of the subject property did not indicate sources of environmental 
contamination that have had an adverse environmental impact on the subject property. 
No current or past uses of directly adjacent properties appear to have involved the use, 
treatment, storage, or disposal of hazardous materials that resulted in environmental 
contamination of the subject property.  There were no limitations or significant data gaps 
encountered during this investigation that are considered to have hindered SRC’s ability 
to evaluate or identify recognized environmental conditions associated with the subject 
property. 
 
In the ESA, reviews of pertinent Federal and State records regarding the potential 
environmental concerns include but are not limited to:  NPL Listings, RCRA CORRACTS 
and RCRA Permitted TSD Facility Listings, CERCLIS/NFRAP Listings, ERNS Listings, 
State Equivalent SPL Listings, Registered UST and LUST Facilities, State Waste 
Landfills, Incinerators, or Transfer Stations Listings, and RCRA Generators Listings.  The 
Federal and State environmental databases did not indicate the presence of current 
facilities or sites located within a 1-mile radius of the subject property.   

353

Item 17.

http://www.historicaerials.com/


Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 2 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 
2.1 Purpose 
Ms. Kate Schaefer, of the Open Land Trust, requested that SRC conduct this ESA for the 
subject property.  This ESA was conducted to determine the potential for environmental 
impact to the subject property and is intended to fulfill the due diligence clause of the 
“innocent landowner defense” and “bona fide prospective buyer” clause of the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA). 
 
2.2  Detailed Scope-of-Services 
This ESA was conducted in general accordance with the guidelines set forth in the 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Standard E1527-21, “Standard 
Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
Process,” and consisted of the tasks listed below. 
 

• Inspections of the subject property and surrounding properties 

• Examination of historical documents 

• Interviews with individuals and public officials familiar with the site’s history 

• Examination of State and Federal regulatory agency records 
 
The purpose of the assessment was to identify Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) connected to the subject property. 
 

• A REC is defined as the presence of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products in, on or at the subject property due to a release to the environment; (2) 
the likely presence of hazardous substances or petroleum products in, on or at the 
subject property due to a release or likely release to the environment; or (3) the 
presence of hazardous substances or petroleum products in, on or at the subject 
property under conditions that pose a material threat of a future release to the 
environment. 
 
• An Historical REC (HREC) is defined as a previous release of hazardous 
substances or petroleum products affecting the subject property that has been 
addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority or authorities 
and meeting unrestricted use criteria established by the applicable regulatory 
authority or authorities, without subjecting the property to any controls (for example 
activity and use limitations, or other property use limitations). 
 
• A controlled REC (CREC) is a REC affecting the subject property that has been 
addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority or authorities 
with hazardous substances or petroleum products allowed to remain in place 
subject to implementation of required controls (for example, activity and use 
limitations or other property use limitations).   
 
• De minimis conditions are conditions a condition related to a release that 
generally does not present a threat to human health or the environment and that 
generally would not be the subject of an enforcement action if brought to the 
attention of appropriate governmental agencies. 

354

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 3 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

• A business environmental risk (BER) is the presence of a condition which can 
have a material environmental impact that is not the result of those environmental 
issues required to be investigated in ASTM E1527-21 practice.  BERs often involve 
non-scope considerations such as: asbestos, lead paint, lead in drinking water, 
radon, wetlands, ecological resources, endangered species, cultural and historic 
resources, regulatory compliance, industrial hygiene, health and safety, indoor air 
quality, biological agents, and mold. 
 
• De minimis conditions and BERs are not considered RECs and were not 
addressed during this ESA and were beyond the defined scope of work. 

 
ASTM standards attempt to facilitate high quality, standardized environmental site 
assessments; ensure that the standard of appropriate inquiry is practical and reasonable; 
and clarify industry standards for appropriate inquiry.  The ESA should provide: a Federal 
and State regulatory records review which may help to identify recognized environmental 
conditions; a site background description, which includes a history of previous uses of the 
property and adjoining properties which describes recognized environmental conditions; 
an on-site inspection which evaluates the environmental setting and existence of potential 
hazardous substances, petroleum products, storage tanks, PCBs, waste disposal; 
interviews; and findings and conclusions.  In addition, SRC provides non-scope services 
including wetland review, lead-based paints, asbestos, and other contamination sources 
and conditions of concern in connection with the property only upon request.  

 
2.3 Significant Assumptions 
Conclusions regarding the potential environmental impact of nearby, off-site facilities on 
the subject property are based on readily available information from the environmental 
databases and geologic and hydrogeologic conditions reported for the subject property 
vicinity.  As a basis for the conclusions regarding adjacent and nearby contaminated 
properties, we have assumed the surface-water flow and groundwater flow directions to 
be generally in the down-gradient direction of the surface topography, which was 
determined from our field observations, review of available topographic maps, and use of 
NETR.  In respect to the migration of vapors resulting from volatile organic compounds 
released to the environment, we have assumed that vapor may migrate in any vertical or 
horizontal direction depending on geological and hydrogeological as well as man-made 
conditions in the area of the subject property. There were no significant data gaps that 
interfered with the Environmental Professional’s ability to properly perform the site 
assessment. 
 
2.4 Limitations and Exceptions 
The application of the ASTM guidelines is limited to certain environmental conditions that 
may exist on the property and are practically reviewable.  This approach is site-specific 
in that it relates to the assessment of recognized environmental conditions on a specific 
parcel of commercial real estate.  As such, this practice does not specifically address 
additional issues in the transaction such as business entities or assets that may involve 
environmental liabilities.  No ESA can wholly eliminate uncertainty regarding the potential 
for recognized environmental conditions in connection with a parcel.  However, proper 
application is intended to reduce this uncertainty.  Appropriate inquiry does not imply 

355

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 4 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

exhaustive assessment of clean property as there is a point at which the cost of information 
obtained, or the time required to gather it outweighs the usefulness of the information.   
 
Finally, the ESA is limited by the extent of physical obstructions including existing structures, 
ecological barriers, buildings, asphalt, and other paved sites, as well as availability of 
appropriate land use records.  As such, there may be certain environmental conditions that 
could not be identified within the general scope of the Phase I Environmental Site 
Assessment.  The current ESA should be considered comprehensive and reliable in its scope 
within the limitations described above and is valid for a period of 180 days from the date of 
the report, or a 1-year time period if five specific components (interviews, searches for 
recorded environmental cleanup liens, review of government records, site reconnaissance of 
the subject property, and the Environmental Professional (EP) Declaration) are updated.  The 
180 day or 1-year time period begins with the date upon which the first of these components 
was completed.    
 
2.5 Special Terms and Conditions 
The specific terms and conditions referenced in this report are consistent with the general 
reference, use and definitions provided in the ASTM E1527-21 Standard Practice. 
 
2.6 User Reliance 
Based on the ASTM guidelines, an environmental professional is not required to verify 
independently the information provided but may rely on information provided unless he or she 
has actual knowledge that certain information is incorrect, or unless it is obvious that certain 
information is incorrect based on other information obtained in the Phase I Environmental 
Site Assessment, or actually known to the environmental professional. 
 
The current Phase I Environmental Site Assessment was prepared under the guidelines 
provided by ASTM. The results of the records review, on-site inspection, and interviews are 
considered to be reliable within the general limitations described by ASTM guidelines.  The 
records review, on-site inspection, and interviews were conducted in concert with each other 
and support the findings and conclusions.  Since there is no knowledge or reason to believe 
that any of the information is incorrect, SRC has concluded that the current ESA is reliable 
within the general limitations described in ASTM guidelines and is valid for a period of 180 
days from the date of the report. 
 
This report entitled “Phase I Environmental Site Assessment,” has been prepared at the 
request of Ms. Kate Schaefer and for the exclusive use of: 
 

Open Land Trust 
448 W. Cheves Street 
Beaufort, SC  29901 

 
- and/or their assigns - 

 
Reliance cannot be transferred without the permission of the above, and only if the other party 
agrees to the same limitations.  

356

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 5 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

3.0     TRACT DESCRIPTION 
3.1 Location and Legal Description 
The subject property consists of one parcel totaling 40.07 GIS acres and is listed with 
Beaufort County TMS # R600 029 000 0054 0000. It is located at Davis Road in Bluffton, 
SC. 
 
The location of this subject property is shown in Figure 1, which contains screenshots 
from LandID.  Figure 2 contains excerpts from the 1972, and 2020 United States Geologic 
Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute quadrangle maps (Jasper, SC quadrangle) in Beaufort 
County, South Carolina.   
 
3.2  Subject Property and Vicinity General Characteristics 
The subject property and vicinity are that of a rural setting on the coast that is experiencing 
rapid growth in residential development.  
 
  

357

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 6 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

3.3  Current Use of the Subject Property 
The subject property is currently not used for any purposes.   
 
3.4 Descriptions of Structures, Roads, Other Improvements on the Subject 

Property 
There are no improvements on the subject property.   
 
3.5  Current Uses of the Adjoining Properties 
  

Direction Usage 

North Undeveloped 

East Undeveloped, utility easement, and residential 

South Residential 

West Undeveloped 

 
There are no recognized environmental conditions (RECs) associated with the adjacent 
sites. 
  

358

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 7 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

4.0  USER PROVIDED INFORMATION 
4.1  Title Records 
Title information was collected from the Beaufort County Assessor’s Office.  The current 
owner is listed as: 
 

Land Development of Georgia, LLC 
1978 Hatch Parkway South 
Baxley, GA  31513 
 

 
  

359

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 8 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

4.2   Environmental Liens or Activity and Use Limitations 
Legal or physical restrictions are often in place on contaminated properties. These 
restrictions, which may include institutional and/or engineering controls, are intended to 
prevent adverse impacts to individuals or populations that may be exposed to hazardous 
substances and petroleum products in the soil, soil vapor, groundwater, and/or surface 
water on an environmentally impacted property. 
 
There were no legal or physical restrictions or limitations on the use of, or access to, the 
subject property identified during this ESA.  Available county electronic and hardcopy real 
property files were searched for land use restrictions, environmental liens, or similar 
documents concerning the subject property. No such documents were identified during 
this assessment. The Superfund Lien database was searched during this assessment, 
and the subject property was not listed. 
 
4.3  Specialized Knowledge 
No known specialized knowledge has been transferred to the environmental professional. 
The purchase price being paid for this property reasonably reflects the fair market value. 
 
4.4 Commonly Known or Reasonably Ascertainable Information 
The user provided commonly known or reasonable ascertainable information that would 
assist SRC with identifying conditions indicative of RECs in connection with the property. 
 
4.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues 
No known valuation reduction has been transferred to the environmental professional due 
to historic environmental issues that may have been in place prior to the findings of this 
report. 
 
4.6  Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information 
The current ownership and property management group is Land Development of Georgia, 
LLC.  There are no occupants. 
 
 
  

360

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 9 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

4.7  Reason for Performing Phase I 
The environmental professional performed the ESA on the subject property due to a 
commercial real estate transaction. 
 
This ESA was conducted to make “all appropriate inquiry into the previous ownership and 
uses of the property consistent with good commercial or customary practice” as defined 
by CERCLA §101(35), 42 U.S.C. §9601(35), for the bona fide prospective purchaser 
exception or the innocent landowner defense to CERCLA liability.  
 
4.8  Other 
No other information is applicable to this subject property or the environmental conditions 
therein.  

361

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 10 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

5.0  RECORDS REVIEW 
5.1  Standard Environmental Record Sources 
Available Federal and State record sources of environmental concern on or near the 
subject property were reviewed to determine if there was evidence of recognized 
environmental conditions or risks that may have an adverse environmental impact on the 
subject property.  The records reviewed included the files of the Groundwater, 
Wastewater, and Solid & Hazardous Waste Management offices of the South Carolina 
Department of Environmental Services (DES).  In addition to site-specific files, the 
following DES documents, which are updated regularly and accessed by a subcontracted 
information service, National Environmental Title Research, LLC. (NETR), were reviewed 
for reference to the subject property and surrounding properties.  Any site identified on 
the NETR list was cross-referenced with any available DES file.  A copy of the radius 
search conducted by NETR is attached.   
 
5.2  Additional Environmental Record Sources 
No other environmental record sources were available at the time of this review. 
 
5.3  Physical Setting Source(s) 
A 7.5-minute USGS topographic map (Jasper, SC quadrangle) was referenced for the 
physical setting of the subject property in relation to its surroundings (Appendix A). 
 
5.4  Historical Use Information on the Property 
Historical use of the property, where available, was determined through review of USGS 
7.5 Minute topographic maps, aerial photography, GIS Mapping websites, USDA Field 
Office, and Google Earth Pro.  Zoning, land use records, deeds, surveys, and tax maps 
were resourced via the Beaufort County Government website. 
 
Aerial photography dating back to 1951 and topographic maps back to 1920 sourced from 
www.historicaerials.com were reviewed and indicated the subject property was never 
developed.  It was used as a sand mine and the excavations created two ponds. 
 
5.5  Historical Use Information on Adjoining Properties 
Historical use of the adjacent properties, where available, was determined through review 
of USGS 7.5 Minute topographic maps, aerial photography, GIS Mapping websites, 
USDA Field Office, and Google Earth Pro.  Zoning, land use records, deeds, surveys, 
and tax maps were resourced via the Hampton County and Jasper County Government 
websites. 
 
According to readily available information the adjoining properties were partially logged.  
Residential development to the south occurred in the 2000s.  The utility easement to the 
east was constructed between 1984 and 1994.  The EP does not consider this to 
represent a REC.   
  

362

Item 17.

http://www.historicaerials.com/


Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 11 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

6.0  TRACT RECONNAISSANCE 
6.1  Methodology and Limiting Conditions 
The subject property and surrounding properties, shown in Appendix A, were inspected 
by the EP for evidence of potential sources of environmental impact to the groundwater 
and soil of the subject property by using a grid pattern and walking several transects to 
ensure complete coverage of the subject property. Drone reconnaissance was also used.  
Physical obstructions included the wetland areas, heavy brush, and water impoundments.  
There were no other limiting conditions such as weather. 
 
6.2 General Subject Property Setting  
The subject property is representative of the coastal zone and consists of forested land 
with large areas of wetlands.  Residential development has increased in the recent years. 
  

363

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 12 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

6.3  Exterior Observations 
Exterior observations of the subject property and adjacent sites by the Environmental 
Professional (EP) did not visually or physically observe, or identify from the interviews or 
records review, any of the following:  
 

• Pits, Ponds, or Lagoons on the property used in connection with waste disposal 
or waste treatment 

• Wastewater 

• Stained Soil or Pavement (other than de minimis) 

• Stressed Vegetation 

• Wells (groundwater monitoring wells) 

• Septic Systems 
 
The EP did observe:  
 

• Solid Waste (including trash, demolition debris or construction debris) 
 
A small amount of trash associated with fishing activities was observed, but did not consist 
of petroleum products or hazardous materials.  
 
The EP does not consider either of those to represent a REC. 
 
 
  

364

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 13 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

6.4  Interior Observations 
NA 
  

365

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 14 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

7.0  INTERVIEWS 
7.1  Interview with Owner 
The owner was not available at the time of the release of this report.  If contact is made 
the report will be amended, as necessary.   
 
7.2  Interview with Subject Property Manager 
See 7.1. 
 
7.3  Interviews with Occupants   
NA 
 
7.4  Interviews with Local Government Officials 
The Beaufort office of the SCDES Bureau of Coastal Management was contacted.  There 
was no specific knowledge pertaining to recognized environmental conditions associated 
with the subject property, or the adjoining properties. The EP does not consider this to 
represent a REC.  
 
The Beaufort County Assessor’s Office headed by Ms. Ebony Sanders was contacted. 
Guidance was provided on researching the property’s value.  There was no specific 
knowledge pertaining to recognized environmental conditions at the subject property.  
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
The Beaufort County Register of Deeds office was contacted.  Assistance was provided 
in locating and downloading the deed for the property.  There was no specific knowledge 
pertaining to recognized environmental conditions at the subject property.  The EP does 
not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
Ms. Nadine Mooers with the SCDES Mining and Reclamation was contacted.  She 
provided information that the site had been closed out and the property was reclaimed.  
The bond was released.   
  
7.5  Interviews with Others 
No other interviews were conducted. 
  

366

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 15 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

 
8.0 ADDITIONAL SERVICES/NON-SCOPE CONSIDERATIONS 
No additional services, or non-scope considerations were provided.  These include: 
asbestos, lead paint, lead in drinking water, radon, wetlands, ecological resources, 
endangered species, cultural and historic resources, regulatory compliance, industrial 
hygiene, health and safety, indoor air quality, biological agents, and mold. 
 
  

367

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 16 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.0  FINDINGS 
The subject property was listed in the South Carolina Environmental Facility Information 
System.  The listing was due to the former use as a sand mine by Cleland Site Prep, Inc.  
No violations were linked to the site, and it has been officially reclaimed.  
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
Note: all database searches were less than four months old according to information 
provided by NETR (see attached).   

368

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 17 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.1 Federal RCRA Generators List 
RCRA-SQG: RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to 
data supporting the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the 
Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984. The database includes 
selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or dispose of 
hazardous waste as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 
Small quantity generators (SQGs) generate between 100 kg and 1,000 kg of hazardous 
waste per month.  
 
There were no RCRA Generators within the search radius. 
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
  

369

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 18 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.2 US Toxic Release Inventory 
The Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) is a publicly available EPA database that contains 
information on toxic chemical releases and other waste management activities reported 
annually by certain covered industry groups as well as federal facilities. TRI reporters for 
all reporting years are provided in the file. 
 
There were no TRI sites listed within the search radius.  
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC.   
   

370

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 19 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.3 Leaking Underground Storage Tanks (LUST) 
The Leaking Underground Storage Tank Incident Reports contain an inventory of 
reported leaking underground storage tank incidents. The data come from the SC 
Department of Environmental Services (SCDES) Leaking UST list. 
 
There were no LUST sites listed within the search radius.  
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC.   
 
 
 
  

371

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 20 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.4 Underground Storage Tank (UST) 
The Underground Storage Tank database contains registered USTs. USTs are regulated 
under Subtitle I of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). The data come 
from the SC Department of Environmental Services (SCDES) list: Comprehensive 
Underground Storage Tanks (UST). 
 
There were no UST sites listed within the search radius.  
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC.   
 

  

372

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 21 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

9.5 SC Drycleaner Facilities 
Environmental contamination at a dry cleaner site can occur from spills and leaks of 
solvent. Drycleaners that are operating and have registered with the South Carolina 
Department of Revenue (SCDOR) are subject to inspection by the South Carolina 
Department of Environmental Services (SCDES). However, not all Drycleaners in 
operation have registered with the SCDOR, therefore this coverage is not a complete 
representation of the state's drycleaners.. 
 
There were no dry cleaner sites within the search radius. 
 
The EP does not consider this to represent a REC. 
 
  

373

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 22 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

10.0  OPINION 
I offer the following opinion as to whether the all appropriate inquiry conducted in 
accordance with 40 CFR Part 312 and/or 33 CFR 137 has identified conditions indicative 
of releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances, pollutants, contaminants, 
petroleum and petroleum products, and controlled substances on, at, in, or to the subject 
property. 
 
SRC has performed a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment in conformance with the 
scope and limitations of ASTM Practice E1527-21 of the subject property located at Davis 
Road in Bluffton, SC.  There are no historical or current recognized environmental 
conditions associated with the subject property, or adjacent properties.  It is the opinion 
of the EP that no further investigation is necessary.   
 
11.0  DATA GAPS 
I am identifying the following data gaps (as defined in 40 CFR Part 312.10) in the 
information developed as part of the all appropriate inquiry that affects my ability as an 
environmental professional to identify conditions indicative of releases or threatened 
releases of hazardous substances, pollutants, contaminants, petroleum and petroleum 
products, and controlled substances on, at, in, or to the subject property.  I am also 
including comments regarding the significance of said data gaps on my ability as an 
environmental professional to provide an opinion as to whether the all appropriate inquiry 
has identified conditions indicative of releases and threatened releases. 
 
A significant data gap is defined by E1527–21 as a data gap that affects the ability of the 
environmental professional to identify a REC.  There were no limitations or significant 
data gaps encountered during this investigation that are considered to have hindered the 
EP’s ability to evaluate or identify recognized environmental conditions associated with 
the subject property. 
 
12.0  CONCLUSIONS 
Generally, a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment considers visual, physical, and 
historical evidence of environmental contamination on and adjacent to a subject property. 
 
There are no indications of current or historical recognized environmental conditions on 
the subject property or adjacent sites.  The EP does not consider this to represent a REC 
and does not recommend further investigation. 
 
13.0  DEVIATIONS 
No deviations were performed from the ASTM Designation E1527–21 “Standard Practice 
for Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I Environmental Assessment Process”.  All 
available sources were referenced to obtain the necessary information outlined in ASTM 
E1527-21 to perform a qualified environmental opinion and conclusion.  

374

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 23 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

14.0  REFERENCES 
ASTM Designation E1527-21 “Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: 
Phase I Environmental Assessment Process” 
 
15.0  SIGNATURE OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROFESSIONAL 
This report, entitled “Phase I Environmental Site Assessment,” has been prepared in 
accordance with guidelines set forth in the American Society for Testing and Materials 
(ASTM) Standard E1527-21, “Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: 
Phase I Environmental Site Assessment Process”. 
 
I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition 
of Environmental Professional as defined in §312.10 of 40 CFR 312” and 12.13.2. 
 
I have the specific qualifications based on education, training, and experience to assess 
a property of the nature, history, and setting of the subject property.  I have developed 
and performed the all appropriate inquiries in conformance with the standards and 
practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 312. 
 
 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 
 

 
Michael W. Whaley, M.S. 
 
October 16, 2024 

Date  

375

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 24 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

16.0 Qualifications (Resume) of Environmental Professional 

 
MICHAEL WAYNE WHALEY, B.Sc., M.Sc. 

108 Charping Lane (864) 376-2864 
Anderson, SC  29621 mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
 
PROFILE 

• Eighteen years progressively responsible experience in Environmental, Health and Safety program 
management with medium to large-scale organizations. 

• Thorough knowledge of current environmental and safety legislation at the state and federal level, 
including RCRA, Title V Permitting, and the Clean Water Act. 

• Proficient in assessing needs, managing multiple projects, and meeting deadlines. 

• Proven successful in forming and leading effective safety teams to reduce accidents and injuries. 

• Skilled instructor and facilitator; outstanding oral and written communication skills. 

• Experienced in consulting and manufacturing settings (i.e., vinyl production and printing, metals 
fabrication, and a Tier 1 supplier to the automotive industry). 

 
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

Program Management 

• Composed and implemented Spill Prevention Control and Countermeasures Plan (SPCC), Stormwater 

Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), OSHA Emergency Response Plan, and RCRA Contingency Plan. 

• Developed and utilized monitoring plans to meet all requirements of Title V Air Permit, and National 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit. 

• Conducted regular self-audits and managed insurance-based on-site audits to maintain compliance. 

• Formed and led effective safety teams that reduced overall injuries by 20% and reduced recordable 

injury rates well below industry average. 

• Managed Worker’s Compensation claims for staff of 200 and reduced claims by 25% annually. 

• Emergency Preparedness and Right to Know Coordinator for facilities with 200-735 full-time 

employees. 

 

Research, Analysis and Evaluation 

• Managed and conducted industrial hygiene and/or environmental testing and developed and 

implemented options for compliance. 

• Modeled wastewater discharges into riverine systems to determine toxicity requirements and mixing 

zone size. 

• Conducted Phase I Environmental Site Assessments for industrial and commercial clients. 

• Performed Job Hazard Analyses and Hazard Assessments, articulating complex issues and formulating 
strategies for change.  

• Managed all records associated with health and safety issues including OSHA 200, Worker’s 
Compensation, and Accident/Near-miss tracking; analyzed and evaluated emerging trends. 

• Analyzed water usage trends and reduced purchased water usage and wastewater generation by 
over 25%.  

376

Item 17.



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  October 16, 2024 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase, Davis Road, Bluffton, SC  29910  Page 25 

Commercial Real Estate Services 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Inc. 

www.srcenvironmental.com 
864-376-2864 

Written and Verbal Communication 

• Provided expert advice and consultation to senior management and industry associates on a wide 
range of environmental, safety and compliance issues. 

• Generated and submitted monthly, quarterly, and annual reports for air quality, wastewater, hazardous 

waste, infectious waste, Form R, Tier II, and stormwater according to local, state, and federal 

regulations for a Large Quantity Hazardous Waste Generator with RCRA Part B Permit. 

• Trained employees in all areas of safety and environmental regulations with consistently positive 

feedback. 

• Developed and presented information to Key Operating Indicator (KOI) Team about EHS issues relating 

to productivity and profit.  

• Produced written compliance procedures and trained plant personnel according to OSHA Safety 

Programs, and US DOT, US EPA, and SC DES regulations. 

• Published author. 

 
EMPLOYMENT HISTORY 

Owner           2002 - Current 
Southeastern Regulatory Compliance, Anderson, SC 
Science Department Adjunct Professor      2015 - Current 
Tri-County Technical College, Pendleton, SC 
Science Department Educator        2017 - Current 
Anderson School District 4 
Science Department Educator        2015 - 2017 
Anderson School District 1 
Science Department Educator        2006 - 2015 
Anderson School District V 
EHS/Facilities & Security Supervisor       2005 - 2006 
AFCO, Anderson, SC 
Environmental Specialist        2003 - 2005 
Michelin N.A., Anderson, SC 
Safety and Environmental Manager       2001 - 2003 
AVX Corporation, Myrtle Beach, SC 
Safety and Environmental Coordinator      1998 - 2001 
VyTech Industries, Inc., Anderson, SC 
Safety and Environmental Engineer       1994 - 1998 
The Torrington Co., Union, SC 
Project Scientist         1992 - 1994 
RMT, Inc., Greenville, SC 
Research Specialist         1991 - 1992 
The Institute for Wildlife and Environmental Toxicology, Pendleton, SC 
 
EDUCATION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

M.Sc., Biological Sciences        2014 
Clemson University, Clemson, SC 
M.Sc., Aquatic Toxicology (Fisheries and Wildlife)     1991 
Clemson University, Clemson, SC 
B.Sc., Biology          1987 
The Citadel, Charleston, SC 
 

• 24-hour OSHA 1910.120 Hazardous Waste Operators Health and Safety Emergency Response 
Training 

• OSHA Programs Training including, but not limited to Ergonomics, Bloodborne Pathogens, CPR and 
First Responder, Lockout/Tagout, Emergency Response, and Fire Prevention and Control 

• RCRA Hazardous Waste Management Training 

377

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

378

Item 17.



 

 
 

 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 1 
Location Map 

Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 
Davis Road 

Bluffton, SC  29910 

 379

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

380

Item 17.



 
 

 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 2 
Topographical Map 1:24,000 Scale 

Jasper, SC Quadrangle – 1958 & 2020 
Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 

Davis Road 
Bluffton, SC  29910 

 381

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

382

Item 17.



 

1955 (NETR Historical Aerials)  

 

 

1984 (NETR Historical Aerials)  
 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 3A 
1955 & 1984 Aerials 

Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 
Davis Road 

Bluffton, SC  29910 

 
383

Item 17.



 

1994 (Google Earth Pro)  

 

 

2005 (Google Earth Pro)  
 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 3B 
1994 & 2005 Aerials 

Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 
Davis Road 

Bluffton, SC  29910 

 
384

Item 17.



 

 

 2015 (Google Earth Pro)   

 

 

2021 (Google Earth Pro)  

 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 3C 
2015 & 2021 Aerials 

Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 
Davis Road 

Bluffton, SC  29910 

 
385

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D 

386

Item 17.



 

 

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 4 
Wetlands Map 

Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 
Davis Road 

Bluffton, SC  29910 

 387

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

388

Item 17.



 

 

  

Southeastern Regulatory 
Compliance, Inc. 

 

mikew@srcenvironmental.com 
www.srcenvironmental.com 

864.376.2864 

FIGURE 5 
Soils Map 

Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase 
Davis Road 

Bluffton, SC  29910 

 389

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX F 

390

Item 17.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1: Subject Property – North Aerial View 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 2: Subject Property – East Aerial View  

391

Item 17.



 
 

 

 

 

 
Figure 3: Subject Property – South Aerial View 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 4: Path Along West Bank of Larger Pond 
  

392

Item 17.



 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 5: Representative Vegetation 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 6: Representative Vegetation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

393

Item 17.



 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 7: Pines and Brush  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 8: Clearing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

394

Item 17.



 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 9: Chair and Bank of Larger Pond 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 10: Miscellaneous Trash 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

395

Item 17.



 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 11: Stand of Pine Trees 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 12: Smaller Pond to the West and Larger Pond to the East 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

396

Item 17.



 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 13: Live Oak on Pond Dike 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 14: Interior View North of Pond   

397

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G 

398

Item 17.



Site Name: Bluffton Area Fee Park Purchase
Location: Davis Road Bluffton SC 29910
Prepared for: SRC, Inc.
Ref: Kate - Open Land Trust
Center Coordinates: 32.27595774986225,-80.9416437149048
Prepared Date: Mon Oct 14 2024 16:35:45 GMT+0000 (Coordinated Universal Time)

ENVIRONMENTAL
RADIUS REPORT

ASTM E1527-21

2055 E. Rio Salado Pkwy, Tempe, AZ 85381 | 480-967-6752

399

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Summary

Federal < 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1

Lists of Federal NPL (Superfund) sites 0 0 0

Lists of Federal Delisted NPL sites 0 0 0

Lists of Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and CERCLA orders 0 0 0

Lists of Federal CERCLA sites with NFRAP 0 0 0

Lists of Federal RCRA facilities undergoing Corrective Action 0 0 0

Lists of Federal RCRA TSD facilities 0 0 0

Lists of Federal RCRA generators 0 0 0

Federal institutional control/engineering control registries 0 0 0

Federal ERNS list 0 0 0

State < 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1

Lists of state and tribal Superfund equivalent sites 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal hazardous waste facilities 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal landfills and solid waste disposal facilities 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal registered storage tanks 0 0 0

State and tribal institutional control/engineering control registries 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal voluntary cleanup sites 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal brownfields sites 0 0 0

Other < 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1

State and/or tribal lists of sites requiring further investigation / remediation 0 0 0

State list of Significant Environmental Hazards (SEH) 0 0 0

Lists of state and tribal mine sites requiring further investigation and/or remediation 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of spills and spill responses 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of emergency responses 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of dry cleaners 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of clandestine laboratory cleanups 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of scrap/used tire processing facilities 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of underground injection control sites 0 0 0

State and/or tribal listings of permitted drywells 0 0 0

Automobile salvage yards 0 0 0

Livestock Waste Control sites 0 0 0

Controlled Animal Feeding Operations (CAFOs) 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of registered aboveground storage tanks (ASTs) 0 0 0

C.A.A. Permitted Facilities 0 0 0

NPDES Permitted Facilities 0 0 0

Onsite Wastewater Treatment sites 0 0 0

State and/or tribal lists of permitted facilities 1 0 0

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act Information (RCRAInfo) 0 0 0

U.S. EPA Enforcement, Compliance History Online (ECHO) 0 0 0

U.S. EPA Underground Storage Tanks (UST) 0 0 0

U.S. EPA Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) database 0 0 0

U.S. EPA Toxic Release Inventory System (TRIS) 0 0 0

400

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal NPL (Superfund) sites

The National Priorities List (NPL) is the list of sites of national priority among the known releases or threatened releases of hazardous
substances, pollutants, or contaminants throughout the United States and its territories. The NPL is intended primarily to guide the EPA in
determining which sites warrant further investigation. The NPL is updated periodically, as mandated by CERCLA.
There were no Federal NPL sites found within a one-mile radius of the target property.

401

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal Delisted NPL sites

The EPA may delete a final NPL site if it determines that no further response is required to protect human health or the environment.
Under Section 300.425(e) of the NCP (55 FR 8845, March 8, 1990), a site may be deleted when no further response is appropriate if EPA
determines that one of the following criteria has been met: 1) EPA, in conjunction with the state, has determined that responsible parties
have implemented all appropriate response action required, 2) EPA, in consultation with the state, has determined that all appropriate
Superfund-financed responses under CERCLA have been implemented and that no further response by responsible parties is appropriate,
3) A remedial investigation/feasibility study (RI/FS) has shown that the release poses no significant threat to public health or the
environment and, therefore, remedial measures are not appropriate.
There were no Federal Delisted NPL sites found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

402

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and CERCLA orders

CERCLA identifies the classes of parties liable under CERCLA for the cost of responding to releases of hazardous substances. In
addition, CERCLA contains provisions specifying when Federal installations must report releases of hazardous substances and the
cleanup procedures they must follow. Executive Order No. 12580, Superfund Implementation, delegates response authorities to EPA and
the Coast Guard. Generally, the head of the Federal agency has the delegated authority to address releases at the Federal facilities in its
jurisdiction.
There were no Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and/or orders found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

403

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal CERCLA sites with NFRAP

No Further Remedial Action Planned (NFRAP) is a decision made as part of the Superfund remedial site evaluation process to denote that
further remedial assessment activities are not required and that the facility/site does not pose a threat to public health or the environment
sufficient to qualify for placement on the National Priorities List (NPL) based on currently available information. These facilities/sites may
be re-evaluated if EPA receives new information or learns that site conditions have changed. A NFRAP decision does not mean the
facility/site is free of contamination and does not preclude the facility/site from being addressed under another federal, state or tribal
cleanup program.
There were no Federal CERCLA sites with No Further Remedial Action Planned (NFRAP) decisions found within a half-mile
radius of the target property.

404

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal RCRA facilities undergoing Corrective Action

Corrective action is a requirement under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) that facilities that treat, store or dispose of
hazardous wastes investigate and cleanup hazardous releases into soil, ground water, surface water and air. Corrective action is
principally implemented through RCRA permits and orders. RCRA permits issued to TSDFs must include provisions for corrective action
as well as financial assurance to cover the costs of implementing those cleanup measures. In addition to the EPA, 44 states and territories
are authorized to run the Corrective Action program.
There were no Federal RCRA facilities undergoing corrective action(s) found within a one-mile radius of the target property.

405

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal RCRA TSD facilities

The final link in RCRA's cradle-to-grave concept is the treatment, storage, and disposal facility (TSDF) that follows the generator and
transporter in the chain of waste management activities. The regulations pertaining to TSDFs are more stringent than those that apply to
generators or transporters. They include general facility standards as well as unit-specific design and operating criteria.
There were no Federal RCRA treatment, storage and disposal facilities (TSDFs) found within a half-mile radius of target property.

406

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of Federal RCRA generators

A generator is any person who produces a hazardous waste as listed or characterized in part 261 of title 40 of the Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR). Recognizing that generators also produce waste in different quantities, EPA established three categories of generators
in the regulations: very small quantity generators, small quantity generators, and large quantity generators. EPA regulates hazardous
waste under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) to ensure that these wastes are managed in ways that protet human
health and the environment. Generators of hazardous waste are regulated based on the amount of hazardous waste they generate in a
calendar month, not the size of their business or facility.
There were no Federal RCRA generators found at the target property and/or adjoining properties.

407

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Federal institutional control/engineering control registries

Institutional Controls (IC) are defined as non-engineered and/or legal controls that minimize the potential human exposure to
contamination by limiting land or resource use. Whereas, Engineering Controls (EC) consist of engineering measures (e.g, caps,
treatment systems, etc.) designed to minimize the potential for human exposure to contamination by either limiting direct contact with
contaminated areas or controlling migration of contaminants through environmental media.
There were no Federal institutional or engineering controls found at the target property.

408

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Federal ERNS list

The Emergency Response Notification System (ERNS) is a database used to store information on notification of oil discharges and
hazardous substances releases. The ERNS program is a cooperative data sharing effort encompassing the National Response Center
(NRC), operated by the US Coast Guard, EPA HQ and EPA regional offices. ERNS data is used to analyze release notifications, track EPA
responses and compliance to environmental laws, support emergency planning efforts, and assist decision-makers in developing spill
prevention programs.
There were no Federally recorded releases of oil and/or hazardous substances at the target property.

409

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal Superfund equivalent sites

In order to maintain close coordination with the states and tribes in the NPL listing decision process, the EPA's policy is to determine the
position of states and tribes on sites that EPA is considering for listing. Consistent with this policy, since 1996, it has been the EPA's
general practice to seek the state or tribe's position on sites under consideration for NPL listing by submitting a written requiest to the
governor/state environmental agency or tribe. Various states may have their own program for identifying, investigating and cleaning up
sites where consequential amounts of hazardous waste may have been disposed that work in conjunction with the EPA's Superfund
remedial program.
There were no State and/or tribal Superfund equivalent sites found within a one-mile radius of target property.

410

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal hazardous waste facilities

EPA established basic hazardous waste management standards for businesses who produce hazardous waste and categorized three
businesses based on the volume of hazardous waste produced in a calendar month. On the federal level, there are three generator
categories: large quantity generator, small quantity generator, and conditionally exempt small quantity generator. Some states are
authorized to establish generator categories that are different from those that federal EPA set up. State regulatory requirements for
generators of hazardous waste may be more stringent than the federal program.
There were no State and/or tribal hazardous waste facilities found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

411

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal landfills and solid waste disposal facilities

Title 40 of the CFR parts 239 through 259 contain the regulations for non-hazardous solid waste programs set up by the states. EPA has
requirements for state solid waste permit programs, guidelines for the processing of solid waste, guidelines for storage and collection of
commercial, residential and institutional solid waste, and the criteria for municipal solid waste landfills. State solid waste programs may be
more stringent than the federal code requires.
There were no State and/or tribal landfills or solid waste disposal facilities found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

412

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks

A typical leaking underground storage tank (LUST) scenario involves the release of a fuel product from an underground storage tank
(UST) that can contaminate surrounding soil, groundwater, or surface waters, or affect indoor air spaces. Once a leak is confirmed,
immediate response actions must be taken to minimize or eliminate the source of the release and to reduce potential harm to human
health, safety, and the environment. Each state has unique requirements for initiating responses to a release, and it is up to the UST
owner or operator to conduct actions in compliance with his/her local rules.
There were no State and/or tribal leaking storage tanks found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

413

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal registered storage tanks

EPA initially issued UST regulations in 1988. In 2015, EPA modified the UST regulation, which was effective October 13, 2015 in Indian
Country and states without State Program Approval. EPA recognizes that, because of the size and diversity of the regulated community,
state and local governments are in the best position to oversee USTs: 1) State and local authorities are closer to the situation in their
domain and are in the best position to set priorities, 2) Subtitle I of the Solid Waste Disposal Act allows state UST programs approved by
EPA to operate in lieu of the federal program, 3) the state program approval (SPA) regulations set criteria for states to obtain the authority
to operate in lieu of the federal program. State programs must be at least as stringent as EPA's. A complete version of the law that
governs USTs can be found in U.S. Code, Title 42, Chapter 82, Subchapter IX.
There were no State and/or tribal registered storage tanks found at subject and adjoining properties.

414

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and tribal institutional control/engineering control registries

Institutional controls are non-engineered instruments such as administrative and legal controls that help minimize the potential for human
exposure to contamination and/or protect the integrity of the remedy. Engineering controls consist of engineering measures (e.g, caps,
treatment systems, etc.) designed to minimize the potential for human exposure to contamination by either limiting direct contact with
contaminated areas or controlling migration of contaminants through environmental media. It is EPA's expectation that treatment or
engineering controls will be used to address principal threat wastes and that groundwater will be returned to its beneficial use whenever
practicable.
There were no State and/or tribal institutional and/or engineering controls found filed against the target property.

415

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal voluntary cleanup sites

State cleanup programs play a significant role in assessing and cleaning up contaminated sites. State cleanup programs typically are
programs authorized by state statutes to address brownfields and other lower-risk sites that are not of federal interest. The EPA has
historically supported the use of state cleanup programs and continues to provide grant funding to establish and enhance the programs.
This approach was codified in 2002 as Section 182 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act
(CERCLA).
There were no State and/or tribal voluntary cleanup sites found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

416

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal brownfields sites

Since its inception in 1995, EPA's Brownfields and Land Revitalization Program has grown into a proven, results-oriented program that
has changed the way communities address and manage contaminated property. The program is designed to empower states, tribes,
communities, and other stakeholders to work together to prevent, assess, safely clean up, and sustainably reuse brownfields. Beginning in
the mid-1990s, EPA provided small amounts of seed money to local governments that launched hundreds of two-year Brownfields pilot
projects and developed guidance and tools to help states, communities and other stakeholders in the cleanup and redevelopment of
brownfields sites.
There were no State and/or tribal brownfields sites found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

417

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of sites requiring further investigation / remediation

No records found

418

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State list of Significant Environmental Hazards (SEH)

No records found

419

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Lists of state and tribal mine sites requiring further investigation and/or
remediation

No records found

420

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of spills and spill responses

No records found

421

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of emergency responses

No records found

422

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of dry cleaners

No records found

423

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of clandestine laboratory cleanups

No records found

424

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of scrap/used tire processing facilities

No records found

425

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of underground injection control sites

No records found

426

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal listings of permitted drywells

No state and/or tribal permitted drywells were found within a half-mile radius of the target property.

427

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Automobile salvage yards

No records found

428

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Livestock Waste Control sites

No records found

429

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Controlled Animal Feeding Operations (CAFOs)

No records found

430

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of registered aboveground storage tanks (ASTs)

No records found

431

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

C.A.A. Permitted Facilities

No records found

432

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

NPDES Permitted Facilities

No records found

433

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Onsite Wastewater Treatment sites

No records found

434

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

State and/or tribal lists of permitted facilities

SOUTH CAROLINA - ENVIRONMENTAL FACILITY INFORMATION SYSTEM
The SC-EFIS is the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) Environmental Facility Information System
that integrates information on environmental facilities, permits, violations, enforcement actions, and compliance activities needed to
support regulatory requirements and target environmental quality improvements for the water, air, solid waste, and hazardous waste
program areas.

center: 32.27595774986225,-80.9416437149048 0.5 Miles 1.0 Miles

435

Item 17.



CLELAND CONSTRUCTION-CLOSED
DAVIS ROAD

Registry ID: 110007215147
Name: CLELAND CONSTRUCTION-CLOSED
Address: DAVIS ROAD
City: BLUFFTON
Site Type: STATIONARY
Program Acronyms: AIR:SC00003600019, AIRS/AFS:4501300019, EIS:2912811, ICIS:2656128, NPDES:SCG730645, SC-EFIS:SC0000000824
Interest Type: AIR EMISSIONS CLASSIFICATION UNKNOWN, AIR MAJOR, FORMAL ENFORCEMENT ACTION, ICIS-NPDES NON-MAJOR, STATE
MASTER
Point of Reference Description: ENTRANCE POINT OF A FACILITY OR STATION
Date Created: 01-MAR-00
Date Updated: 01-JUN-17
FRS Facility Detail Report URL: Link
Distance From Center (Miles): 0.2183
Site Source: last updated from FACILITY REGISTRY SERVICE

1

436

Item 17.

https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110007215147


environmental.netronline.com

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act Information (RCRAInfo)

No records found

437

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Enforcement, Compliance History Online (ECHO)

No records found

438

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Underground Storage Tanks (UST)

No records found

439

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) database

No records found

440

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

U.S. EPA Toxic Release Inventory System (TRIS)

No records found

441

Item 17.



environmental.netronline.com

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice
This report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR). It cannot be
concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and surrounding properties does not exist from other sources. NO WARRANTY EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS
MADE WHATSOEVER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. NATIONWIDE ENVIRONMENTAL TITLE RESEARCH, LLC SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF ANY
SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER.
IN NO EVENT SHALL NATIONWIDE ENVIRONMENTAL TITLE RESEARCH, LLC, BE LIABLE TO ANYONE, WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS,
NEGLIGENCE, ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OF DAMAGE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR
EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF NATIONWIDE ENVIRONMENTAL TITLE RESEARCH, LLC, IS STRICTLY LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT
PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this report "AS-IS". Any analyses, estimates, ratings, environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this report are provided for
illustrative purposes only, and are not intended to provide, nor should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction or forecast of, any environmental risk for any
property. Only a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any property.
Additionally, the information provided in this Report is not to be construed as legal advice.
Copyright 2024 by Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR). All rights reserved. Reproduction in any media or format, in whole or in part, of any report or map of
Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC, or its affiliates, is prohibited without prior written permission.
Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR) and its logos are trademarks of Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC or its affiliates. All other trademarks used herein
are the property of their respective owners.

442

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX H 

443

Item 17.



444

Item 17.



445

Item 17.



446

Item 17.



447

Item 17.



448

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX I 

449

Item 17.



450

Item 17.



451

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, SC 

 

 

 

APPRAISAL REPORT 

OF 

A 40.07 ACRE LAND PARCEL 

 

LOCATED AT 

DAVIS ROAD 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

PREPARED 

FOR 

BEAUFORT COUNTY OPEN LAND TRUST 

 

AS OF 

DECEMBER 28, 2022 

 

PREPARED 

BY 

BRIAN F. CONSIDINE, MAI, SRA 

& 

PAIGE M. COUPER 

CONSIDINE & COMPANY 
  

452

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, SC 

 

 
 

 

January 5, 2023 

 

Kate Schaefer 

Director of Land Protection 

Beaufort County Open Land Trust  

1001 Bay Street 

Beaufort, SC 29902 

 

RE: 40.07 acres Vacant Land Tract located at Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton area, 

Beaufort County, South Carolina 

 

Dear Client: 

 

Per your written request, we have estimated the market value of the fee simple interest of the 

referenced property as of December 28, 2022, the date of inspection of the property by Brian F. 

Considine, MAI. 

 

The appraisal conforms to the standards of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 

Practice (USPAP).   

 

Extraordinary Assumptions (assumptions which if found false could change the value 

conclusion): 

 

• No formal wetlands study was provided.  Wetlands were estimated from tax assessor 

information including wetland overlays from their online plat maps.  The value is based 

on a price per usable upland acre.  If a formal survey reveals a different amount of usable 

land area, the value conclusion would change.  The client provided a screen shot from 

NWI, National Wetlands Inventory, that showed a somewhat different configuration from 

the assessor’s overlays.  A formal delineation is recommended.   

 

Hypothetical Conditions (a condition contrary to the actual condition which is assumed for 

analysis purposes): 

 

• None noted. 

 
 

453

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, SC 

 

Other Specific Conditions and Assumptions paramount to the valuation are: 

• We have not been provided with a current Environmental Site Assessment (ESA), 

engineering reports or any documentation addressing the existence of hazardous material 

or contamination. The appraised value assumes there is no contamination on the subject 

property.  

• Present or future employment of Considine & Company was not conditional upon our 

producing a specified value or a value within a given range.   

• We have no interest, direct or indirect, financial, bias or otherwise, in the subject property.  

We have not provided appraisal or consulting services on this property in the last 3 years. 

 

Based on the following analysis, it is our opinion that the Market Value of the Fee Simple 

Interest, as of December 28, 2022, and subject to the Assumptions and Limiting Conditions is: 

 

SEVEN HUNDRED EIGHTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($780,000) 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to assist you in this matter.  Please let us know if we can be of 

further assistance at (912)355-5522. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 

 

 

Brian F. Considine, MAI  

Georgia Certified General Appraiser No. 1176 

South Carolina Certified General Appraiser No.  3956 

 

 

 
 __________________________________________                                                           

Paige M. Couper, Associate Appraiser 

Georgia Certified Property Appraiser # 007373 

South Carolina Certified Property Appraiser #006138 

  

454

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, SC 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

LOCATION: Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton, Beaufort 

County, SC 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD: The subject is located east of Highway 170.  The area is 

characterized by residential subdivision development 

with several large-scale subdivisions in proximity to the 

subject including Bayard Park, Sun City, Seagrass 

Station, and Island West.  The Sun City commercial area 

fronts Highway 170 just northwest of the subject.   

 

CURRENT OWNER: Land Development of Georgia, LLC 

 

TAX I.D.:  R600 029 000 0054 0000 

   

ZONING:  T2R, Rural 

 

SITE SIZE:  40.07 acres gross with an estimated upland size of 11.48 

acres, 8 acres ponds, 20.18 acres estimated wetlands, 

0.41 acre cemetery.   

   

FLOOD ZONE:  AE and X – north part of subject appears to be in a flood 

zone 

 

BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS: NA - Vacant Land  

 

DATE OF VALUATION: December 28, 2022   

   

DATE OF REPORT: January 2, 2023 

 

PROPERTY RIGHTS  

APPRAISED: “As-Is” Market Value  

 

VALUE CONCLUSION:   

Sales Comparison Approach: $780,000 

  

455

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, SC 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 
PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION .......................................................................................................................... 1 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION ....................................................................................................................................... 1 
REGION MAP ....................................................................................................................................................... 2 
AERIAL MAP ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 
PURPOSE AND DATE OF THE APPRAISAL ................................................................................................... 7 
SCOPE OF APPRAISAL ...................................................................................................................................... 7 
INTENDED USE AND INTENDED USERS OF THE APPRAISAL ................................................................. 8 
MARKET VALUE DEFINED .............................................................................................................................. 8 
PROPERTY RIGHTS APPRAISED ..................................................................................................................... 9 
HISTORY OF THE PROPERTY ........................................................................................................................ 10 
OTHER LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS............................................................................................................... 29 
HIGHEST AND BEST USE ............................................................................................................................... 42 
EXPOSURE TIME .............................................................................................................................................. 43 
THE VALUATION PROCESS ........................................................................................................................... 43 
SALES COMPARISON APPROACH ................................................................................................................ 45 
QUALIFICATIONS OF PAIGE M. COUPER, ASSOCIATE APPRAISER ..................................................... 60 
 

  

456

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, SC 

 

LIMITING CONDITIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 

This appraisal is made subject to the following Assumptions and Limiting Conditions: 

 

1. It is assumed that the legal description as obtained from public records or as furnished is correct 

and no responsibility is assumed for matters of a legal nature.   No opinion is rendered as to 

title, as it is assumed to be good, marketable and in fee simple unless otherwise noted and 

discussed. 

 

2. The information contained in this report is obtained from sources deemed reliable.  However, 

no warranty is given as to its accuracy.  Competent management and responsible ownership 

are assumed. 

 

3. The property is appraised as though free and clear of any or all liens or encumbrances except 

as noted herein. 

 

4. Any plot plans, sketches, drawings, or other exhibits in this report are included only to assist 

the reader in visualizing the property.   I have made no survey for this report and assume no 

responsibility for its presentation within. 

 

5. Possession of this report or a copy thereof does not carry with it the right of publication nor 

may it be used for any purpose by any but the applicant without the previous written consent 

of the appraiser and the applicant and then only with proper identification. 

 

6. The appraiser herein by reason of this appraisal is not required to give future consultation, 

testimony or be in attendance in court with reference to the property in question unless 

arrangements have been previously made. 

 

7. The distribution, if any, of the total valuation in the report between land and improvements 

applies only under the existing program of utilization.  The separate allocations for land and 

improvements must not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal and are invalid if so 

used. 

 

8. The appraiser assumes, and the user of this report agrees, that the appraiser has no liability for 

 existing physical condition of the building and all parties agree that the purpose of this appraisal 

is to estimate value as though the superstructure is structurally sound.  Likewise, it is assumed 

and all parties agree that the appraiser has no responsibility for subsurface or hazardous waste 

conditions, including asbestos.   

 

9. Unless otherwise noted herein, it is assumed that there are no encroachments, zoning or other 

 violations of any regulations affecting the subject property, including off street parking.  As of 

the date of this appraisal, no survey had been prepared to identify encroachments or easements.  

The appraiser assumes, and the user of this report agrees that the appraised value is prepared 

457

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, SC 

 

as though no encroachments, liens or other violations of any regulations affecting the subject 

property exist, unless otherwise noted.  

 

10. The value estimates reported herein apply to the entire property and any proration or division 

of the total into fractional interest will invalidate the value estimate unless such proration or 

division of interest is set forth in the report.  No statement as to the value in use to the property 

owner has been made.  Only the value of the property, if exposed for sale on the open market, 

has been estimated. 

 

11. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report shall be conveyed to the public through 

advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media, without the prior written consent and 

approval of the author; this pertains particularly to valuation conclusions, the identity of the 

appraiser or firm with which the appraiser is associated with and any reference to the Appraisal 

Institute or to the SRA or MAI designations. 

 

12. This appraisal will not take into consideration the possibility of the existence of  asbestos, 

PCB transformers, or other toxic, hazardous, or contaminated substances and/or underground 

storage tanks (hazardous material), or the cost of encapsulation or removal thereof, unless 

otherwise requested.  Should the client have concern over the existence of such substances on 

the property, the appraiser considers it imperative for the client to retain the services of a 

qualified, independent engineer or contractor to determine the existence and extent of any 

hazardous materials, as well as the cost associated with any required or desirable treatment or 

removal thereof, and the client shall transmit the findings to the appraiser so that he may adjust 

the value conclusion herein, if needed. 

 

13. See "Other Legal Considerations ". 

 

14. See special assumptions and limiting conditions in the Letter of Transmittal.  

 

 

458

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  1 

 

PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION 

 

The property appraised consists of a 40.07-acre site located at Davis Road, Unincorporated 

Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, South Carolina. The property is identified by the Beaufort County 

Tax Assessor’s Office as PIN# R600 029 000 0054 0000.  It is legally described as follows: 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION  

 

 
The above legal description is from the most recent deed.    Various maps and plats of the subject 

are reproduced on the following pages.   

 

459

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  2 

 

REGION MAP  

 

NEIGHBORHOOD MAP 

 

  

Subject 

Subject 

Baynard 

Park 

Island 

West 
Seagrass 

Station  

Sun 

City 

Sun City 

Commercial 

460

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  3 

 

STREET MAP 

 

  

Subject 

461

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  4 

 

ASSESSOR’S MAP OF PROPERTY R600 029 000 0054 0000 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Subject 40.07-

acre vacant land 

parcel 

462

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  5 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 
  

463

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  6 

 

PLAT BOOK 61, PAGE 114 

  
  

464

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  7 

 

2018 DRAFT PLAT BY GASQUE AND ASSOCIATES 

 
 

PURPOSE AND DATE OF THE APPRAISAL 

 

The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the “As Is” Market Value of the fee simple interest as 

of December 28, 2022.   

 

SCOPE OF APPRAISAL 

As a part of this appraisal, a number of independent investigations and analyses were conducted.  

In addition to the data I compile on a regular basis, the investigation undertaken, and major data 

sources used are listed below. 

 

AREA NEIGHBORHOOD ANALYSIS -   A personal inspection of the neighborhood was made 

as of the appraisal date.  Several sources to include public records, real estate brokerage firms, the 

Beaufort County Tax Assessor’s office, and other appraisers were the basis of a continuing data 

source for identifying recent sales and trends in the area.  

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS – Information pertaining to the subject property 

was obtained from the property inspection and the Beaufort County Tax Assessor’s website.   

 

465

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  8 

 

COST APPROACH –   Vacant land is not typically valued using a cost approach.  Omission of 

this approach does not impact the reliability of the value conclusion. 

 

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH - I researched the market for sales of other vacant land tracts 

in the Greater Beaufort County MSA.  After reviewing all data, only those sales considered to be 

the most applicable to the subject were utilized in the report.  The sales were analyzed based on a 

price per acre basis.   

 

INCOME APPROACH – The subject is not considered income producing property. 

 

INTENDED USE AND INTENDED USERS OF THE APPRAISAL 

The intended use of this report will be to aid the client, Beaufort County Open Land Trust, in 

determining the amount to be paid for a fee simple purchase of the subject property.  The client 

is the sole intended users of this report.  The appraiser has not identified any other purchaser, 

buyer, or seller (property owner) as an intended user of this appraisal and no such party should 

use or rely on this appraisal for any purpose.  Such parties are advised to obtain an appraisal from 

an appraiser of their own choosing if they require an appraisal for their own use.  The appraisal 

was not prepared for mortgage lending purposes and should not be utilized in lending decisions.   

 

PROBLEM TO BE SOLVED 

The problem to be solved is determining the As Is market value of the property.  The value is 

identified as of December 28, 2022, the date of most recent inspection.  The property is 40.07 

acres located in an unincorporated part of Bluffton.  The parcel is partly wooded with a pond and 

zoned T2R, which permits low-density single-family development.  The Beaufort County Land 

Trust proposes to acquire the property in fee.  The problem to be solved is determining the current 

market value of the property given its physical characteristics and permitted use.   

 

MARKET VALUE DEFINED 

The purpose of this report as previously stated is to estimate the market value of the subject 

property’s As Is Fee Simple Interest.   

Market Value1 is defined as: 

 
1 Source: Office of the Comptroller of the Currency under 12 CFR, Part 34, and Subpart C - Appraisals, 34.42 

Definitions (f). 

 

466

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  9 

 

 

“… the most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market 

under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently, 

knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in this 

definition is consummation of a sale as of a specified date and passing of title from seller to buyer 

under conditions whereby: 

 

• Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 

 

• Both parties are well informed or well advised and each acting in what they consider their 

own best interest; 

 

• A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 

 

• Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial arrangements 

comparable thereto; and 

 

• The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special 

or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale.” 

 

This definition seeks a value estimate in terms of cash or its equivalent.  The terms of comparable 

transactions are being identified, analyzed and reported in reasonable detail.  If financing terms 

or concessions influenced any sales utilized as comparable, they were adjusted to their cash 

equivalence.  Units of comparison were extracted from these sales and reflect the cash equivalent 

price. 

 

PROPERTY RIGHTS APPRAISED 

 

The 14th Edition of The Appraisal of Real Estate, published by The Appraisal Institute in 2013,  

provides the following definition for the ownership interests considered in this appraisal: 

 

The Fee Simple Estate is "...absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate.  

A fee simple estate is subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of 

taxation, eminent domain, police power, and escheat." 

 

  

467

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  10 

 

5 YEAR OWNERSHIP STATUS AND HISTORY OF THE PROPERTY 

 

Per deed records, the property is currently under the ownership of Land Development of Georgia, 

LLC.   The current owner obtained title from Cleland Site Prep, Inc. on May 28, 2019 as shown in 

Beaufort County Deed Book 3763, beginning on Page 156.  Tax stamps on the deed indicate that 

consideration of $1,400,000 was paid for the property.  The deed memorializing the sale is 

reproduced below: 

 

 
 

Analysis of Recent Sales, Purchase Offers, or Current Contracts: The most recent sale price of 

$1,400,000 equates to $34,939 per gross acre and $121,951/usable acre.  It is our understanding 

from the property owner’s attorney that the proposed use as of the sale date was multifamily.  There 

was reportedly an announcement prior to the sale regarding the local option sales tax, indicating 

that part of the proceeds would be used to pave the road leading to the property and extend 

infrastructure, which did not turn out to be correct.  Although the sale is relatively recent, it is noted 

that the property has over 50% wetlands and a low-density zoning, which limits development 

options on the site.  For these reasons, the sale price may not be indicative of a current value based 

on more recent sales.   

 

468

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  11 

 

It is our understanding that there was a Rural and Critical Application at the time the property was 

owned by the previous owner, Cleland Site Prep.  There were some title issues being worked out 

when the then owner received the offer from Land Development of Georgia, which was accepted.  

It is noted that the Rural and Critical Application does not hinder the property owner from accepting 

other offers during the due diligence period, allowing the land owner to accept the higher offer at 

that time.   

 

AREA/NEIGHBORHOOD DATA 

 

The subject is located on the north side of Davis Road, east of Highway 170, in an unincorporated 

area of Bluffton, Beaufort County, South Carolina.  The three major cities in Beaufort County 

are Hilton Head, Bluffton, and Beaufort.  Hilton Head is home to many high-end plantation style 

neighborhoods as well as a number of historic Gullah neighborhoods.   

 

Bluffton, South Carolina’s estimated population is 33,627 according to the most recent United 

States census estimates. Bluffton, South Carolina is the 15th largest city in South Carolina based 

on official 2020 estimates from the US Census Bureau.  It is the fastest growing municipality in 

South Carolina, according to the city’s webpage.   

The population density is 647 people/square mile 

The overall median age is 37.5 years, 38.8 years for males, and 35.5 years for females. 

The average household income in Bluffton is $102,318 with a poverty rate of 3.93%. The median 

rental costs in recent years comes to $1,747 per month, and the median house value is $290,800. 

 

Amenities: Bluffton has a designated cultural district and is home to the Geechee Gullah 

Cultural Heritage trail, May River Theater, and the Heyward House Museum.  The Shell Art 

Trail has 21 giant painted oyster shells placed throughout Bluffton.  There are numerous public 

parks throughout the city, offering outdoor recreation activities.   

 

Hilton Head has at least 24 championship golf courses (see list below), world class tennis 

facilities, six marinas, one of which can accommodate yachts, and 13 miles of beach front on 

the Atlantic Ocean.  It has 3,000 hotel rooms, 6,000 villas, 150,000 square feet of meeting space, 

and resort/convention space that can host gatherings up to 2,000.  There are 8 beach parks and 

12 recreational parks (basketball, soccer, etc.) on the island.  In recent years, Hilton Head Island 

has been showcased as a top island vacation destination by Convention South, Trip Advisor, 

Fodor’s, Travelchannel, and Parent’s Magazine.  The island offers silver level bicycling (the 

highest in the state) and a rowing and sailing center is currently under construction.  The island 

offers Broadway Theater at the Performing Arts center, a symphony orchestra, a Coastal 

Discovery museum, a Heritage Library, and numerous art galleries.  Hilton Head hosts the RBC 

Heritage Pro golf tournament annually.    

  

469

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  12 

 

 
  

 

Neighborhood Boundaries: The neighborhood boundaries are Highway 170 to the west, 

Highway 278 to the north, Bluffton Parkway to the south, and Buckwalter Parkway to the east.   

  

Predominant Type of Development: The predominant type of development is residential.  The 

subject is surrounded by single family development including Baynard Park (gated amenity 

community) to the east, Seagrass Station (mixed use) to the north, and Bull Hill Plantation 

(mobile home community) to the south.  To the west is a vacant tract owned by Beaufort County.  

There is also a vacant county owned tract to the north.  Other notable large-scale developments 

in the area include Sun City, across Highway 170 to the west, Island West to the northeast, and 

Palmetto Bluff to the south.  Other nearby properties include River Ridge Academy, a Pre-K 

through 8th grade school on the south side of Davis Road and NHC Healthcare, a rehab and 

assisted living facility located on the northeast corner of Davis Road and Highway 170.  Most 

commercial properties in the area are along Highway 278 or Buckwalter Parkway.   

  

  

470

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  13 

 

Percent Built Out: The following excerpt from Bluffton’s Comprehensive Plan discusses how 

much of the area is built out.  “Bluffton encompasses approximately 54.04 square miles 

(approximately 34,584 acres) in land area, approximately 10.71% of Beaufort County’s 579 

square miles. This was a significant change from the one square mile town in 1990. The 1990 

population density was 1.15 persons per acre. Once a majority of the land was annexed, the 

population density dropped to 0.19 persons per acre because little of the annexed area was 

developed. At the time of the 2010 Census, Bluffton’s geographical boundary was 51.03 square 

miles resulting in 244.2 persons per square mile. Assuming Bluffton’s current 54.04 square mile 

geographic boundary and an estimated “build-out” population of 63,653, the Town’s resulting 

population density is calculated at 1,178 persons per square mile within the Town’s limits. But 

population projections from development agreement schedules would support a “build-out” 

population of 47,310 by 2025, resulting in a density of 1.38 persons per acre for the land 

currently with Town limits. By comparison, Hilton Head Island encompasses nearly 34.2 square 

miles, with a 2010 population density of 896.9 persons per acre that the US Census Bureau 

estimates increased slightly to 927.61 persons per acre by 2012.” 

 

Immediately Adjoining Properties: Seagrass Station and Owner’s Association property to the 

north, vacant land owned by Beaufort County to the west and northeast, Baynard Park, Parkside, 

and Baynard Park owner’s association property to the east, and a 2.8 acre strip of land owned 

by JLJ Holdings, LLC to the south, beyond which is Bull Hill Plantation mobile home park. It 

is noted that the Beaufort County owned lands to the west and northeast are part of the Rural 

and Critical Lands’ Okatie Regional Preserve Project (shown in blue on the map below).  The 

Okatie River runs along the subject’s north boundary.  

 
  

  

Subject 

Okatie 

Regional 

Preserve Okatie 

Regional 

Preserve 

471

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  14 

 

Neighborhood Life Cycle and Trends:  Neighborhoods typically evolve through four stages 

of development: growth, stability, decline, and revitalization.  Bluffton is considered in the 

growth stage with substantial annexations having taken place to accommodate population 

growth.   

  

Demographics including population, income data, and nearby traffic counts in the area of the 

subject are shown below: 

 

472

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  15 

 

 

 

 

 
  

SITE DESCRIPTION  
 

The property is located at the north end of Davis Road, north of Bull Hill Plantation Road and 

has 40.07 total acres per the legal description and the county tax records. It is identified by the 

tax assessor as PIN# R600 029 000 0054 0000. 

 

Road Frontage: The property does not have direct road frontage and is accessed via 

several easements from Davis Road (see below). 

 

Vehicular Access/Exposure:  The property is accessed via a 50’, 10’ and 15’ access easement.  

See Plat Excerpt Below with easements highlighted in yellow: 

473

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  16 

 

 
Land Size:  40.07-acre gross size; 11.89 acre estimated upland size (see 

wetlands discussion in following paragraph). The usable size is 

estimated at 11.48 acres in consideration that the 0.41 acre 

cemetery located in the southeast corner of the site is also not likely 

usable and does not appear to fall within the wetland area.   

 

   

Gross Size: 40.07 acres 100%

Ponds: 8 acres 20%

Wetlands: 20.18 acres 50%

Cemetery: 0.41 acres 1%

Usable Size: 11.48 acres 29%

ACREAGE SUMMARY CHART

 
    

   As shown, the site has 50% wetlands, 20% ponds, and 1% 

cemetery.  The usable size is estimated at 29% of the total site size.   

 

Wetlands:  The US Army Corps of Engineers is the authority for formally 

delineating wetlands.  No formal wetland delineation was provided, 

and the appraiser estimated the wetlands on the tract based on the 

following sources: 1) National Wetlands Inventory, 2) Google 

Earth’s NWI overlay, and 3) the Tax Assessor’s online GIS map 

wetland overlay and measuring tool.  NWI was given primary 

reliance when possible.     

 

   NWI showed three ponds of 5.66 acres, 2.02 acres, and 0.32 acre.  

Total ponds are 8 acres.  These would likely be treated as wetlands 

by the Corps of Engineers.   

    

   NWI also identified a 7.76-acre wetland and a 0.42 acre wetland.  

The wetlands on the north end of the tract also extend over other 

474

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  17 

 

parcel #s, so the NWI map, which only shows the total size of the 

wetland, could not be used.  This wetland is estimated to cover 

around 12 acres based on the Google Earth measuring tool and the 

NWI overlay.  Total wetlands is around 20.18 acres.  Wetlands plus 

ponds totals 28.18 acres.   

 

   A map showing the NWI totals is shown below followed by the 

Assessor’s wetlands overlay map, which shows a different total 

amount.  We have relied on the NWI numbers as being the more 

reliable source.  If wetlands are a concern, a formal survey is 

recommended to determine the exact amount of developable 

upland area.   

  

475

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  18 

 

NWI Wetland Map 

 
 

  

Estimated 12 

acre wetland 

5.66 acre 

pond 

2.02 acre 

pond 7.76 acre 

wetland 

0.42 acre 

wetland 

0.32 acre 

pond 

North boundary of 

tract is Okatee 

River Canal 

476

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  19 

 

Assessor’s Wetland Overlap with Size Determined Using Measurement Tool 

 
 

Municipal Boundaries: The subject is in an unincorporated area; however, most of the 

surrounding property is in the Town of Bluffton (shaded in 

purple). 

 

 
  

Subject 

477

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  20 

 

Site Shape:   Irregular/Rhomboid 

 

Drainage/Topography: The property is gently sloping with the higher elevations along the 

south and east portions, sloping down towards the north and west.  

The tract has a combination of ponds, wooded, and cleared areas 

with some areas of young, planted pines which are not considered 

large enough to have any merchantable value.  Based on the 

assessor’s online maps, the site has a large pond with an estimated 

size of around 5.66 acres and a ± 12-acre wetland on the site’s north 

end with other ponds and wetlands scattered throughout the tract as 

shown in a previous section.  Drainage would be assumed to occur 

towards the larger pond and wetland areas to the north.   The site is 

traversed by several cleared paths including one which encircles 

the pond and is presumably used for dirt biking.   

 

Flood Zone:   Based on a review of the tax assessor’s flood map overlay shown 

below, the property appears to be partly in zones AE and X with a 

portion having a 0.2% annual chance of flooding.   

 
Utilities:   We assume water and sewer are not currently to the to the site.  

The subject is in proximity to several relatively dense large-scale 

478

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  21 

 

development.  Utilities may be in reasonable proximity.   

Annexation into Bluffton may be required to access these utilities.  

Cost of extending infrastructure to the site was not provided and 

estimating such cost is outside the scope of this appraisal.  

 

Easements/Encroachments: Previously noted access easements.  The plat shows an 0.41-acre 

cemetery near the southern property line.  There is an overhead 

powerline easement to the east that does not appear to be on the 

property.  

 
 

Zoning: The subject is zoned T2R according to the tax assessor’s GIS 

website.  See zoning map below: 

0.41 acre 

cemetery 

479

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  22 

 

 
 

 

The following excerpt from the zoning ordinance describes the T2R zoning district.   

 
As shown below, specifically permitted uses within the T2R zoning district include agriculture and 

crop harvesting, agricultural support services, forestry, single family detached residence, group 

home, day care (up to 8 clients), community public safety facility, park, playground or other 

outdoor recreation area, golf course, primitive campground, or semi-developed campground.  

Other uses on the list are conditional or require special use permit.   

480

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  23 

 

 

 

481

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  24 

 

 

 

482

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  25 

 

 

 
 

Development Standards within the T2R zoning classification are shown below: 

483

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  26 

 

 

 

484

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  27 

 

 

 

Density = 0.34 

DU per acre 

485

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  28 

 

 

  

Conclusion: The following are the appraiser’s conclusions of the positive and 

negative features of the site.   

  

 Positive features: The subject site is well located near Highway 

170 and in proximity to commercial services and large-scale 

subdivisions.   

 

 Negative features: The subject lacks visibility from a major 

fronting street and access is via unpaved easements.  The site is 

heavily impacted by wetlands, which limits development potential 

as development within wetland areas is not typically permitted.  

The T2R zoning is fairly restrictive in regard to lot size and density 

with the minimum lot size being ½ acre and gross density limited 

to 0.34 DUs (developable units) per acre.  Based on this restriction, 

the number of permitted units is only 13 (40.07 gross acres x 0.34 

DU/Acre = 13.6 units).  Relatively few alternate uses are allowed 

within this district without conditional approval or special permit.  

.   

 

  

486

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  29 

 

OTHER LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The opinions of value expressed within this appraisal report are made contingent upon the tract 

being free of any and all types of contamination, i.e. hazardous substances, including without 

limitations, petroleum leakage, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyl’s, agricultural chemicals, urea 

formaldehyde or other environmental conditions.  The appraiser is not qualified to test for or 

identify such substances or conditions.  Subsequently, if the presence of such substances or 

conditions is determined to exist, I reserve the right to adjust my conclusions of value accordingly.  

 

It is assumed that there are no adverse easements or encroachments located on the property.  If so 

identified by survey or title search there may be a resulting change in property value.  The users of 

this report agree to so supply the appraiser with any such encumbrances once they are identified 

and agree to permit a revaluation without prejudice or demand for damages. 

 

To my knowledge, there are no legal encumbrances, restrictions, covenants, easements, or 

encroachments, which would negatively affect the use, marketability or value reported. 

 

  

  

487

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  30 

 

PROPERTY PHOTOS 

  
View of interior of subject 

 
View along Davis Road 

488

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  31 

 

 
View of interior of tract 

 
View of tract interior 

489

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  32 

 

 
Overhead powerline easement  to east of subject 

 
Interior of subject 

490

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  33 

 

 
Interior of tract 

 
Interior of subject – cleared area 

491

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  34 

 

 
Interior of tract 

 
Interior of tract showing very young planted pines 

492

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  35 

 

 
Interior of tract 

 
Interior of tract 

493

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  36 

 

 
Interior of tract 

 
Interior of tract – cleared area 

494

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  37 

 

 
Interior showing dirt bike path 

 
View of tract 

495

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  38 

 

 
View of tract 

 
View of tract 

496

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  39 

 

 
View along Bull Hill Plantation Road 

 
View along Bull Hill Plantation Road 

497

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  40 

 

 
View along Bull Hill Plantation Road 

  

498

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  41 

 

REAL ESTATE TAX 

 

The Beaufort County Tax Assessor's Office prepares all appraisal reports in Beaufort County 

utilized for taxing purposes. The subject’s tax card and estimated taxes are shown below: 

 

 

 
The assessor’s value for the property is $1,406,300, similar to the recent sale price.  Annual taxes 

are shown on the tax card as $21,608.64.   

  

499

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  42 

 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 

 

Highest and Best Use is defined in "The Appraisal of Real Estate", 13th Edition, Appraisal 

Institute, 2014, as: “the reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, 

which is physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and that results in the 

highest value.” 

 

The determination of highest and best use includes identifying the motivation of probable 

purchasers. The highest and best use of the subject is related to supply and demand factors, while 

also considering legal limitations on use imposed by the zoning ordinance.   

 

Highest and Best Use - As If Vacant  

 

The highest and best use of the site as though vacant is the use that brings the highest return to the 

land after the three other agents of production, labor, capital and coordination have been 

compensated. In the highest and best use as if vacant analysis the following criteria will be 

addressed: legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility, and maximum 

profitability. 

 

Legally Permissible:   The subject’s zoning district encourages low to moderate density residential 

development and allows for a fairly narrow variety of uses as discussed.  Permitted uses include 

agriculture and crop harvesting, agricultural support services, forestry, single family detached 

residence, group home, day care (up to 8 clients), community public safety facility, park, 

playground or other outdoor recreation area, golf course, primitive campground, or semi-developed 

campground.   

 

Physically possible:   The size, shape, topography and availability of public utilities impose physical 

constraints upon the types of uses possible for any site.   The site is of sufficient size to 

accommodate most types of development within the permitted uses.  The wetlands including ponds, 

and the cemetery likely hinder development of around 71% of the site.   

 

Financially Feasible:    Any use of the site which provides a financial return to the land in excess 

of that required to satisfy operating expenses, financial yields on capital, and capital amortization 

is considered financially feasible, albeit such performance may be less than that available from 

alternative financial investments.  Development trends set the agenda for the type of use that would 

be feasible for the site.  Observation of the subject’s neighborhood reveals a mix of varying density 

residential uses.  Therefore, based on the existing land uses in the subject’s neighborhood, 

development of the site for residential use is concluded to be the most probable and financially 

feasible of potential uses.     

 

Maximally Productive:  The use which has the most probable prospect of producing the greatest 

amount of monetary profit is the Highest and Best Use of the site given the constraints sketched 

above as limitations upon those uses which would be considered. 

500

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  43 

 

Based on the surrounding land uses and current zoning of the property, the Highest and Best Use 

of the site as vacant would most likely be in the form of residential use.  Current zoning limits the 

density to around 13 units total.   

 

EXPOSURE TIME 

 

In USPAP, the Comment to Standards Rules 1-2(c)2 states: 

 

“When the purpose of an assignment is to develop an opinion of market value, the 

appraiser must also develop an opinion of reasonable exposure time linked to the 

value opinion.” 

 

The USPAP Statement on Appraisal Standards No. 6 goes on to define exposure time as: 

 

“The estimated length of time the property interest being appraised would have been 

offered on the market prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale at market 

value on the effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective opinion based on an 

analysis of past events assuming a competitive and open market.” 

 

Based on sales histories of similar properties, statistical information about days on the market 

and interviews with market participants, it is our opinion that a reasonable exposure time for the 

subject property is 6-18 months; the Marketing Time is considered the same.  

 

 

THE VALUATION PROCESS 

 

The valuation process requires the understanding of the social, economic, governmental, and 

environmental influences that affect the subject property. The descriptive sections of this report, 

i.e., area analysis, neighborhood analysis, site analysis, highest and best use, etc., relate how these 

forces affect the subject property, and build a framework for solving the appraisal problem. There 

are three approaches that may be used in the appraisal of real property. These approaches to value 

include the Cost Approach, the Sales Comparison Approach and the Income Approach. Although 

each of the three approaches is interrelated, each offers a separate indication of value. 

 

The Cost Approach is that approach in appraisal analysis that is based on value derived by adding 

the estimated value of the land to the reproduction or replacement cost of the improvements, minus 

any depreciation related to the property from all causes.  It is particularly applicable when the 

property being appraised involves relatively new improvements that represent the highest and best 

use of the land or when relatively unique or specialized improvements are located on the site in 

which there exists no comparable properties on the market.   The principle of substitution is basic 

 
2 USPAP 2004 Edition, ©The Appraisal Institute 

501

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  44 

 

to the cost approach. The principle of substitution generally states that a prudent purchaser would 

pay no more for a property than the cost of acquiring an equally desirable substitute property.   The 

property is vacant land and the cost approach is not considered meaningful and therefore omitted.   

 

The Sales Comparison Approach is a direct comparison of known market transactions of similar 

properties. This approach is considered the most reliable when sufficient information is available 

in order to make a unit comparison, and a supportable value indication can be obtained. The most  

significant factor within the Sales Comparison Approach is the Principle of Substitution, which 

generally states that a prudent purchaser would pay no more for a property than the cost of 

acquiring an equally desirable substitute property.  This approach is considered the most 

applicable approach to value vacant land providing that adequate comparables can be located.  A 

Sales Comparison Approach was performed. 

 

The Income Approach is that procedure in the appraisal analysis that is based upon known or 

projected earnings, less proper deductions for vacancy allowance and operating expenses. This net 

income is then capitalized into an indication of value by utilizing actual capitalization rates taken 

from the market. This approach to value is considered most reliable when a sufficient amount of 

income and expense data is available.  The principle of anticipation is fundamental to the income 

approach. The principal of anticipation is the perception that value is created by the expectation of 

benefits to be derived in the future.  We have not performed an income approach as it is not 

applicable to the valuation of this vacant land. 

 

 

  

502

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  45 

 

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 

 

 

The Sales Comparison Approach to Value is a process of comparing market data; that is, the price 

paid for similar properties, prices asked by owners, and offers made by prospective purchasers 

willing to buy, rent, or lease.  Market Data is good evidence of value because it represents the 

actions of users and investors.  The Sales Comparison Approach is based on the principle of 

substitution which states that a prudent person will not pay more to buy or rent a property than it 

will cost him to buy a comparable substitute property.  The Sales Comparison Approach recognizes 

that the typical buyer will compare asking prices and work through the most advantageous deal 

available.  In the Sales Comparison Approach, the appraiser is an observer of the buyer’s actions.  

The buyer is comparing those properties which constitute the market for a given type and class. 

 

We have made a search for comparable properties that have sold which are representative of the 

actions of buyers and sellers in the market for this particular property type. The subject is 40.07 

acres with 11.48 acres of estimated usable area.  We have chosen sales that are estimated to have 

a similar residential highest and best use which range from 10.5 acres to 56 acres in order to bracket 

the subject’s size.  The sales occurred in 2021 to 2022 and we have also included two current 

listings.  The sales are presented as follows: 

  

503

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  46 

 

LAND SALE 1 

 
 

LOCATION:   60 Gaston Plantation Road 

    Beaufort County, South Carolina    

    PIN#: R600 009 000 0113 0000  

             

GRANTOR:   K&R Development, LLC 

GRANTEE:             C3 Golf, LLC 

SALE DATE:   March 29, 2022 

SALE PRICE:   $2,800,000 

DEED REFERENCE:  4131/1719 

FINANCING:   Cash to seller; no effect on price. 

 

LAND SIZE:   56 acres with around 46.3 usable acres 

ZONING:   T2R 

 

PRICE PER ACRE:  $60,475/upland acre 

    $50,000/gross acre 

 

COMMENTS: This property was advertised on Loopnet as Phase 2 of a 

campground; however, the buyer’s name suggests a possible golf 

course, which is also an allowable use under the zoning.   

  

504

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  47 

 

LAND SALE 2 

 
 

LOCATION:    Lake Pointe Drive at Buckwalter Parkway 

     Beaufort County, SC 

     PIN# R600 029 000 2410 0000  

              

GRANTOR:   Grande Oaks II, LLC 

GRANTEE:               University Investments, LLC 

SALE DATE:   June 2, 2021 

SALE PRICE:   $625,000 

DEED REFERENCE:  4019/1098 

FINANCING:   Cash to seller; no effect on price. 

 

LAND SIZE:   10.5 acres with around 7.5 upland acres per marketing brochure 

ZONING:   PUD 

 

PRICE PER ACRE:  $83,333/upland acre 

    $59,524/gross acre 

 

COMMENTS:   This site is located at Lake Point Drive just off of Buckwalter 

Parkway in an unincorporated area of Beaufort County near Bluffton known as Pritchardville.    

 

505

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  48 

 

 

LAND SALE 3 

 
 

LOCATION:    Pritcher Point Road 

     Beaufort County, SC 

     PIN# R600 013 000 0489 0000  

              

GRANTOR:   LCP, III, LLC 

GRANTEE:               Pulte Home Company, LLC 

SALE DATE:   January 6, 2021 

SALE PRICE:   $1,620,333 

DEED REFERENCE:  3956/311 

FINANCING:   Cash to seller; no effect on price. 

 

LAND SIZE:   40.706 acres 

UPLAND SIZE:  ± 30 acres 

ZONING:   PUD 

 

PRICE PER ACRE:  $39,806/acre 

    $54,011/upland acre 

 

COMMENTS:   This sale represents Phase 2 of a takedown of 121 acres by Pulte 

Homes.  The tract appears to have around 10 acres wetlands based on Google Earth wetland 

overlays.   

506

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  49 

 

LAND SALE 4 

 
 

LOCATION:    East of Highway 170 at Cherry Point Road 

     Beaufort County, SC  

     PIN# R600 013 000 008C 0000 

              

GRANTOR:   BBII Holding Company, LLC 

GRANTEE:               Village Park Communities 

SALE DATE:   June 16, 2021 

SALE PRICE:   $1,500,000 

DEED REFERENCE:  4025/1422 

FINANCING:   Cash to seller; no effect on price. 

 

LAND SIZE:   20.005 acres 

ZONING:   PUD 

 

PRICE PER ACRE:  $74,981/acre – appears all usable 

 

COMMENTS:   This sale represents Phase 2 of the Cherry Point Area of Okatie.  

The site appears to be all usable uplands.   

  

507

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  50 

 

LAND FOR SALE 5 

 
 

LOCATION:    76 May River Road 

     Beaufort County, SC  

     PIN# R600 036 000 0013 0000 

              

OWNER:   State Forestry Commission 

GRANTEE:               NA 

SALE DATE:   Current Listing 

LIST PRICE:   $1,130,000 

DEED REFERENCE:  NA 

FINANCING:   Cash to seller; no effect on price. 

 

LAND SIZE:   10 acres, appears to be all uplands 

ZONING:   PUD 

 

PRICE PER ACRE:  $113,000/acre 

 

COMMENTS:   This is a listing of a former fire tower site located on May River 

Road aka Highway 46, just east of Highway 170.  It has been on the market 573 days and is 

reportedly under contract, price not disclosed.   

  

508

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  51 

 

LAND FOR SALE 6 

 
 

LOCATION:    3105, 3119, and 40 Davis Court 

     Beaufort County, SC  

     PIN# R600 036 000 0013 0000 

              

OWNER:   Various 

GRANTEE:               NA 

SALE DATE:   Current Listing 

LIST PRICE:   $2,230,000 

DEED REFERENCE:  NA 

FINANCING:   Cash to seller; no effect on price. 

 

LAND SIZE:   12.6 acres with 2.2 acres, 3.7 acres, and 6.7 acres respectively  

POND:   1.06 acres 

USABLE SIZE:  11.54 acres 

ZONING:   T2R 

 

PRICE PER ACRE:  $176,984/gross acre 

    $193,241/upland acre 

 

COMMENTS:   These sites have 650’ combined frontage on the east side of 

Highway 170.    The three parcels are also available to be purchased separately; however, the 

listing does not seem to differentiate the list price between the frontage versus the rear parcel nor 

make any adjustment for the ponds sites. It is noted that NWI only classifies the smaller of the 

two ponds as a wetland.   

Included in 

listing 

Included in 

listing 

509

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  52 

 

 LAND SALE MAP 

 
 

LAND SALES ADJUSTMENTS 

 

Property Rights Conveyed - are discussed in “The Appraisal of Real Estate”, Twelfth Edition, 

Appraisal Institute, as follows: “In the valuation process adjustments must be made to reflect 

the difference between properties leased at market rent and those leased at rent either below 

or above market levels.  None of the sales utilized in this analysis required adjustment for 

property rights conveyed. 

 

510

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  53 

 

Financing Terms - “The transaction price of one property may differ from that of an identical 

property due to different financing arrangements.”  No adjustments for financing are required. 

 

Conditions of Sale - “When nonmarket conditions of sale are detected in a transaction the 

conditions must be adequately disclosed in the appraisal.  Although conditions of sale are 

often perceived as applying only to sales that are not arm’s length transactions, some arm’s 

length sales may reflect atypical motivations or sales conditions due to unusual tax 

considerations, lack of exposure to the open market.  If the sales used in the sales comparison 

approach reflect unusual situations, an appropriate adjustment must be made for motivation 

or conditions of sale.”  Comparables 5 and 6 are “for sale”.  Property does not always sell at 

full asking price and these comparables are adjusted down for this factor.     

 

Expenditures Made Immediately After Purchase – “A knowledgeable buyer considers 

expenditures that will have to be made upon purchase of a property because these costs affect 

the price the buyer agrees to pay.  Such expenditures may include the cost to demolish and 

remove any buildings, cost to petition for a zoning change, or cost to remediate environmental 

contamination.”  No adjustment needed.   

 

Market Conditions - “Although the adjustment for market conditions is often referred to as a 

“Time” adjustment, time is not the cause of the adjustment.  Market conditions which shift 

over time create the need for an adjustment, not time itself.  If market conditions have not 

changed, no adjustment is required even though time may have elapsed.  The sales are all 

reasonably current 2021 or 2022 sales.  Sale 3 is the oldest sale having occurred in January 

2021 and sold for the lowest per unit price.  This sale is adjusted up for changing market 

conditions over time.   

 

Location – “An adjustment for location may be required when the locational characteristics of 

a comparable property are different from those of the subject property.  Sale 1 is located in a 

more rural, remote part of Bluffton, and is adjusted up by 20% for this factor.  Comparables 

5, 6, and 7 have direct frontage on a major roadway and are adjusted down by 20% for this 

factor.   

 

Size – Larger properties often sell for a lower “per unit” value indicating something of a 

quantity discount can be demanded by the market.  Comparables 2, 5, and 6 are 7.5 acres, 10 

acres, and 12.6 acres, gross size, respectively.  These sales are adjusted down by 10% for 

their smaller size.     

 

Access – The subject does not have paved road frontage and is accessed via a series of 

easements.  The other sales have some exposure or frontage on a public roadway.  All are 

adjusted down by 5% to account for this factor.   

 

511

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  54 

 

LAND SALES SUMMARY 
Sale No. 1 Sale No. 2 Sale No. 3 Sale No. 4 For Sale 5 For Sale 6

Date: 3/29/2022 6/2/2021 1/6/2021 6/16/2021 Current Current

Gross Acres: 56 10.5 40.706 20.005 10 12.60

Upland Acres: 46.30 7.50 30.00 20.005 10.00 11.54

Price: $2,800,000 $625,000 $1,620,333 $1,500,000 $1,130,000 $2,230,000

Zoning: T2R PUD PUD PUD T2R T2R

Price/Acre Gross: $50,000 $59,524 $39,806 $74,981 $113,000 $176,984

Price/Upland Acre: $60,475 $83,333 $54,011 $74,981 $113,000 $193,241

Property Rights: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financing : 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale Conditions: 0 0 0 0 -11,300 -19,324

Market Conditions: 0.00 0 5,401 0.00 0.00 0.00

Sub-Total: $60,475 $83,333 $59,412 $74,981 $101,700 $173,917

Size: -$             (8,333)$         -$           -$           (10,170)$    (17,392)$    

Location 12,095$       -$              -$           -$           (20,340)$    (34,783)$    

Access/Exposure: (3,024)$        (4,167)$         (2,971)$      (3,749)$      (5,085)$      (8,696)$      

Sub-Total: 9,071$         (12,500)$       (2,971)$      (3,749)$      (35,595)$    (60,871)$    

Adjusted Price: $69,546 $70,833 $56,442 $71,232 $66,105 $113,046

All Sales Excl. Comp 6

Mean: $74,534 $66,832

Median: $70,190 $69,546  
 

ADJUSTMENT PROCESS: 

 

The sales presented occurred from January 2021 to present.  The sales demonstrate a range of 

adjusted prices from $56,442/acre to $113,046/upland acre.  The average, or mean is 

$74,534/acre and the median, or mid-point is $70,190/acre.  It is noted that “For Sale 6” is 

something of an outlier and may be priced too high.  Excluding this comparable, the range is 

much tighter at $56,442/upland acre to $71,232/upland acre.  The mean is $66,832/upland acre 

and the median is $69,546/upland acre.   The subject’s value is considered well supported at 

$68,000/usable acre, within the range of the measures of central tendency.  The value conclusion 

is shown in the following chart. 

 

 

Subject Size (Acres) x Price/Acre = Value

11.48 acres $68,000 per acre $780,640

Rounded to: $780,000

VALUE CONCLUSION CHART

 
 

Our opinion of total market value as of the date of valuation, subject to the limiting conditions 

and assumptions, is therefore: 

512

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  55 

 

SEVEN HUNDRED EIGHTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($780,000) 

 

 
  

513

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  56 

 

CERTIFICATION 

 

I certify that to the best of my knowledge and belief: 

 

1.) the statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 
 
2.) the reported analyses, opinions, and conclusion are limited only by the reported assumptions and 

limiting conditions, and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and 
conclusions. 

 
3.) I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report, and I have no 

personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 
 

4.) I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved with 
this assignment. 

 
5.) my engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined 

results. 
 

6.) my compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or reporting 
of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value 
opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to 
the intended use of this appraisal. 

 
7.) my analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, in 

conformity with the Uniform Standards or Professional Appraisal Practice. 
 
8.) I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.  

 
9.) no one provided significant professional assistance to the person signing this report. 

 
10.) that the use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by 

its duly authorized representatives. 
 

11.) to the best of my knowledge and belief this report is in compliance with the Code of Professional Ethics 
and Standards of Professional Practice of the Appraisal Institute. 

 
12.) I certify that the use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 

review by its duly authorized representatives. 
 

13.) As of the date of this report, Brian Considine has completed the requirements of the continuing 
education program of the Appraisal Institute. 

 

14.) The appraisal was developed and the appraisal report prepared in conformance with the Appraisal Standards 

Board’s Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 

 

15.) The appraiser has made a physical inspection of the property appraised and the property owner was given the 

opportunity to accompany the appraiser on the property inspection and did take the opportunity to do so.   

 

514

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  57 

 

                                                                           

BRIAN F. CONSIDINE, SRA, MAI                                                                                                

Georgia Certified General Appraiser No. 1176                                                  

South Carolina Certified General Appraiser No3956 

 

 

 
 __________________________________________                                                           

Paige M. Couper, Associate Appraiser 

Georgia Certified General Property Appraiser # 007373 

South Carolina Certified General Appraiser No. 6138 

 

 

 

  

515

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  58 

 

QUALIFICTIONS OF BRIAN F. CONSIDINE, SRA, MAI 

 

Education: 

Armstrong Atlantic State University graduated in 1974 Bachelor of Business Administration with major in Finance. 

 

Certification: 

MAI, Member Appraisal Institute, Number 8847, 1991 

SRPA, Senior Real Property Appraiser, Society of Real Estate Appraisers, 1989 

SRA, Senior Residential Appraiser, Society of Real Estate Appraisers, 1984 

Georgia General Certified Appraiser No. 001176 

President, Savannah Area Chapter of the Appraisal Institute, 2000 

National Board of Directors, Appraisal Institute (1991 to 1993) 

Vice Governor, District 12, Society of Real Estate Appraisers (1986 to 1989) 

President, Savannah Chapter 182, Society of Real Estate Appraisers (1984 to1986) 

Instructed Extension Course 101 and 102, Society of Real Estate Appraisers 

Visiting Instructor, Armstrong State College, Residential Appraisal Courses 

Instructed Salesman and Broker's pre licensing course for GA Real Estate Commission. 

Appraiser IV Certification, Georgia Department of Revenue, 1974 

State of Georgia Real Estate Brokers License, #43554, 1975 

State of Georgia Real Estate Salesman's License, 1972 

 

Experience: 

President, Considine & Company Appraisals 

Chief Commercial Appraiser, Chatham County, 1974-1979 

Real Estate Associate Broker since 1975 

Real Estate Salesman since 1972 

 

Qualified as Expert Witness in: 

U.S. Congress, Subcommittee on Commerce, Consumer and Monetary Affairs of the House Government Operations 

Committee, Superior Court, State Court, Federal Court, Special Masters Hearings, and Bankruptcy Court 

 

Courses: 

101 Society of Real Estate Appraisers (residential course) 

R-2 Society of Real Estate Appraisers (residential narrative appraisal) 

I-B Institute of Real Estate Appraisers (income course) 

Introduction to 101, Society of Real Estate Appraisers (residential course) 

Introduction to 102, Society of Real Estate Appraisers (income course) 

Leasehold Valuation, Society of Real Estate Appraisers (income course) 

Course I, The Georgia Department of Revenue (income course) 

Course II, The Georgia Department of Revenue (income course) 

Income Property Valuation, The Georgia Department of Revenue 

Basic Money Market and Economic Analysis 

Course II, Institute of Real Estate Appraisers (income course) 

Investment Feasibility Analysis (income course seminar) 

Narrative Report Writing Seminar, Society of Real Estate Appraisers 

Tax Considerations in Real Estate Transactions, Society of Real Estate Appraisers 

Commercial Investment Course 101, Realtors National Marketing Institute  

Application of Market Extractions, Society of Real Estate Appraisers 

Course 202, Society of Real Estate Appraisers, 1990 

Subdivision Analysis, Society of Real Estate Appraisers, 1990 

Litigation Valuation, Appraisal Institute, 1993 

Architecture Design & House Inspections, Appraisal Institute, 1994 

Marshall Valuation Services Commercial & Residential, Appraisal Institute, 1995 

516

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  59 

 

Standards of Professional Practice A, B & C, Appraisal Institute, 1991, 1997, 1999 

Appraising from Blueprints and Specifications, 1999 

Appraising Nonconforming Uses, 1999 

 

Clients: 

County of Chatham BB&T 

City of Savannah  Eastern Savings Bank 

Georgia Department of Transportation  Norfolk Southern Railroad 

CSX Railroad  Relocation Companies 

Wachovia Bank  Mortgage Companies 

Bank of America  Attorneys and Accountants 

SunTrust Bank  Individuals 

National Bank of Commerce  Fortune 500 Companies 

 

Assignments: 

Vacant Land  Apartments 

Office Buildings  Marinas and Boatyards 

Motels & Hotels  Condemnations (with Damages) 

Shopping Centers  Partial Interest Valuations 

Industrial Buildings Property Tax Analysis/Appeals 

Subdivisions  Consultations 

  

517

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  60 

 

QUALIFICATIONS OF PAIGE M. COUPER, ASSOCIATE APPRAISER 
EDUCATION: 

 

Wake Forest University, 1985-1989, Bachelor of Arts degree in English. 

Georgia Southern University, 1990- 1993, Masters degree in Special Education. 

 

APPRAISAL INSTITUTE COURSES: 

110 - Principles of Real Estate Appraisal 

120 - Procedures of Real Estate Appraisal 

310 - Basic Income Capitalization 

410 - Standards of Professional Practice, Part A 

420 - Standards of Professional Practice, Part B 

510 – Advanced Income Capitalization 

520 – Highest and Best Use 

530 – Advanced Cost and Sales Approach 

540 – Narrative Report Writing 

550 – Advanced Applications 

 

CERTIFICATION: 

State of Georgia Certified General Property Appraiser No. 007373 

State of South Carolina Certified General Property Appraiser No. 006138 

 

EXPERIENCE: 

12/99-Present, Associate Appraiser, Considine & Company 

7/98-12/99, Appraisal Trainee, Crisler and Associates, Inc. 

8/95-6/96 English as a Second Language Teacher, British International School, Moscow, Russia 

8/90-6/95 and 8/96-6/98 Special Education Teacher, Chatham County Public School System 
 

QUALIFIED AS EXPERT WITNESS IN: 

Superior Court, Tax Appeal Hearings, and U.S. Bankruptcy Court 

 

CLIENTS: 

BB&T      The Heritage Bank 

City of Savannah     Regions Bank 

Security Real Estate    International Paper 

Sea Island Company    First National Bank 

Yukon Properties     ILUKA  

Bank of America     Attorneys and Accountants 

Georgia Dept of Technical & Adult Ed  Individuals 

SunTrust     First Chatham Bank 

     

Assignments: 

Vacant Land     Apartments 

Office Buildings     Condemnations (with Damages) 

Shopping Centers     Property Tax Analysis/Appeals 

Subdivisions     Consultations 

Gas Stations     Conservation Easements 

 

  

518

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  61 

 

ADDENDA 

519

Item 17.



CONSIDINE & COMPANY 

 

Davis Road, Unincorporated Bluffton Area, Beaufort County, 

SC  62 

 

ENGAGEMENT 

 
 

520

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

Project Analysis: Davis Road Fee 
 

PROPOSAL FOR:  Due Diligence on Fee purchase 

PROPERTY ID:   TMS# R600-029-000-0054-0000 
OWNER:   Land Development of Georgia LLC 
ACREAGE:   40.7 acres 
PARTNERS:   n/a 
TOTAL PRICE:   $858,000 
PRICE Negotiated/Acre:  $21,081/acre 
RCLPP FUNDS:   $858,000 
APPRAISED VALUE:  $780,000 – see notes 
ZONING:   TR Rural  
COUNCIL DISTRICT:     5 
LOCATION:   Davis Road, Adjacent to New Leaf RCLP property 
 

Project Location and Attributes: 

 Located adjacent to New Leaf LLC property (RCLP purchase) and Okatie Regional Preserve (181 

acres, 2004) linking the two properties 

 Large borrow pit on site 

 Previously sought after by RCLP program for public access opportunities, sold to current buyer 

before RCLP process could conclude 

 

Purchase and Cost Structure: 

 Fee purchase with price expectation set at 10% above appraised value. Rationale: property 

appraised in July 10 2018, $925,000; purchased by current owner in 2019 for $1.4m 

 
RCLP Attributes: 

 Connectivity to protected properties:  New Leaf, Okatie Regional Preserve 

 Potential for public access and connectivity to existing public access properties 

 Water quality protection – wetlands are sensitive for Okatie headwaters 

 KPS Score 6.78 

521

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Location Map, Davis Road Fee 

Figure 2: National Wetlands Inventory, Davis Road Fee 

522

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Zoning Map (T2R) Davis Road Fee 

 

Figure 4: Aerial Photograph, Davis Road Fee 

523

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5: Composite Greenprint Davis Road Fee 

 

524

Item 17.



 

 

Figure 6: SA Conservation Blueprint, Davis Road Fee 

525

Item 17.



 

 
 
 

Project Analysis: Davis Road Fee 
 

PROPOSAL FOR:  Due Diligence on Fee purchase 

PROPERTY ID:   TMS# R600-029-000-0054-0000 
OWNER:   Land Development of Georgia LLC 
ACREAGE:   40.7 acres 
PARTNERS:   n/a 
TOTAL PRICE:   $858,000 
PRICE Negotiated/Acre:  $21,081/acre 
RCLPP FUNDS:   $858,000 
APPRAISED VALUE:  $780,000 – see notes 
ZONING:   TR Rural  
COUNCIL DISTRICT:     5 
LOCATION:   Davis Road, Adjacent to New Leaf RCLP property 
 
Project Location and Attributes: 

• Located adjacent to New Leaf LLC property (RCLP purchase) and Okatie Regional Preserve (181 
acres, 2004) linking the two properties 

• Large borrow pit on site 
• Previously sought after by RCLP program for public access opportunities, sold to current buyer 

before RCLP process could conclude 
 
Purchase and Cost Structure: 

• Fee purchase with price expectation set at 10% above appraised value. Rationale: property 
appraised in July 10 2018, $925,000; purchased by current owner in 2019 for $1.4m 

 
RCLP Attributes: 

• Connectivity to protected properties:  New Leaf, Okatie Regional Preserve 
• Potential for public access and connectivity to existing public access properties 
• Water quality protection – wetlands are sensitive for Okatie headwaters 
• KPS Score 6.78 

526

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Location Map, Davis Road Fee 

527

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Zoning Map (T2R) Davis Road Fee 

Figure 2: National Wetlands Inventory, Davis Road Fee 

528

Item 17.



 

 

Figure 4: Aerial Photograph, Davis Road Fee 

 

 

 

529

Item 17.



 

 

Figure 5: Composite Greenprint Davis Road Fee 

 

530

Item 17.



 

 

Figure 6: SA Conservation Blueprint, Davis Road Fee 

531

Item 17.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND COUNCIL APPROVE A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS NECESSARY AND TO PROVIDE 

FUNDS TO THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND FOR THEIR PROCUREMENT OF 

FEE SIMPLE REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON HILTON HEAD ISLAND, KNOWN AS THE 

JONESVILLE ROAD TRACT (PIN# R510 007 000 0091 0000), NOT TO EXCEED THE 

APPRAISED VALUE OF THE PROPERTY ($2,187,000) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Community Services and Land Use Committee, Monday, January 13, 2025  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Mr. Mike McShane, Chair of the Green Space Advisory Committee (5 minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The Town of Hilton Head Island submitted a Green Space Program Fee Simple application on behalf 

of the landowner for consideration. On March 11, 2024, the Community Services and Land Use 

Committee approved due diligence and negotiations of the application. On December 6, 2024, the 

Green Space Advisory Committee (GSAC) met, reviewed existing due diligence, and voted to 

recommend approval for the contribution of funds not to exceed the appraised value of the property 

($2,187,000). The (GSAC) vote was unanimous. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The Jonesville Road Tract is a 6.65 +/- acre property located on Hilton Head Island. The Town of 

Hilton Head Island applied to the Green Space Program requesting 100% funding, offering no 

municipal match/partnership contribution, and without having the property under contract/letter of 

intent to purchase. A preservation outcome for this property would achieve several goals of the Green 

Space Program, including preservation of an intact natural habitat for plants and animals, protection 

of water quality, preservation of an established maritime forest and freshwater wetland, 

environmental resilience, and protection of areas with known cultural significance.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

($2,187,000) from the Green Space Program Fund Account #4706-10-0000-54400 (Land Acquisition) 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL: 

Green Space Advisory Committee (GSAC) recommends approval to fund the application, not to 

exceed the appraised value of the property ($2,187,000).  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve, modify, or deny a Resolution to expend funds in the amount of ($2,187,000) from 

the Green Space Program Fund to contribute to the procurement of a fee simple acquisition of the 

Jonesville Road Tract located on Hilton Head Island.  

 

532

Item 18.



 

RESOLUTION 2025/_____ 

RECOMMEND COUNCIL APPROVE A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS NECESSARY AND TO 

PROVIDE FUNDS TO THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND FOR THEIR 

PROCUREMENT OF FEE SIMPLE REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON HILTON HEAD 

ISLAND, KNOWN AS THE JONESVILLE ROAD TRACT (PIN# R510 007 000 0091 0000), 

NOT TO EXCEED THE APPRAISED VALUE OF THE PROPERTY ($2,187,000) 

 

WHEREAS, the Jonesville Road Tract (the “Property”) is located along the banks of Jarvis 

Creek and is undeveloped in nature; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Property possesses freshwater wetlands, marsh edges, and intact tree 

canopy, providing considerable naturally occurring water quality and other ecosystem services 

associated with these habitats; and  

 

WHEREAS, the waterfront edges of the Property supports improved resilience of the 

immediate area by providing space for marsh migration and capacity to absorb sea level rise; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Council recognizes the need to preserve land that 

provides scenic, natural, environmental, recreational, rural, and open space character which is 

deemed essential to the County’s economic viability, environmental resilience, and overall quality 

of life; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County staff received a Fee Simple Application from the 

Town of Hilton Head Island requesting 100% funding from the Green Space Program which was 

presented to the Green Space Advisory Committee at their March 4, 2024 meeting, where the 

GSAC voted to recommend due diligence and negotiations to the Community Services and Land 

Use Committee; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Community Services and Land Use Committee 

authorized staff to engage in due diligence and negotiations during their March 11, 2024 

meeting; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County staff began conducting due diligence and negotiations 

to further evaluate the property and application against the Beaufort County Green Space 

Program Criteria to calculate the procurement benefits and overall value; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County staff presented the existing due diligence documents 

and their project evaluation and recommendation to the Green Space Advisory Committee during 

their December 6, 2024 meeting; and 

 

533

Item 18.



 

WHEREAS, the Green Space Advisory Committee (GSAC) met, reviewed the staff 

evaluation and existing due diligence, and voted to recommend approval for the contribution of 

funds not to exceed the appraised value of the property. The (GSAC) vote was unanimous; and 

  

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens 

and residents of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to execute the documents necessary 

to contribute to funding for the procurement of a government owned fee simple acquisition of real 

property for the purposes of purchasing development rights and providing public benefits through 

preserved open space, natural habitats, and ecosystem services in perpetuity; and 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Beaufort County Council, duly assembled, does 

hereby authorize a Resolution authorizing the County Administrator to execute the documents 

necessary and to provide funds from the Green Space Program Fund to contribute to the 

procurement by the applicant, the Town of Hilton Head Island, of fee simple real property located 

on Hilton Head Island, known as the Jonesville Road Tract (PIN# R510 007 000 0091 0000), not 

to exceed the appraised value of the property ($2,187,000). 

 

 

 

 

Adopted this ____ day of ____________, 2025.  

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

BY:        

       Alice Howard, Chairman 

 

ATTEST:      

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

534

Item 18.



Jonesville road TracT – Fee simple 
applicanT – Town oF HilTon Head island 

6.58 Acres 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
MAP KEY 

            Town of HHI Lands 

            Municipal/State Parks 

            County Passive Parks 

            Jonesville Road Tract 

 

535

Item 18.



Jonesville TracT – Fee simple 
 

MAP KEY 

                Town of HHI Lands 

                Jonesville Road Tract 

 

536

Item 18.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND COUNCIL APPROVE A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS NECESSARY AND TO PROVIDE FUNDS TO 

THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND FOR THEIR PROCUREMENT OF FEE SIMPLE REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED ON HILTON HEAD ISLAND, KNOWN AS THE WILLIAM HILTON 

PARKWAY TRACTS (PIN# R511 007 000 0060 0000, R511 007 000 060C 0000, R511 007 000 060A 0000, 

R511 007 000 060B 0000, R511 007 000 192E 0000, R511 007 000 192C 0000), NOT TO EXCEED THE 

APPRAISED VALUE OF THE PROPERTY ($1,464,200) AND THAT ANY FUNDS RECEIVED FROM 

FUTURE RIGHT-OF-WAY ACQUISITION BE PAID BACK TO THE GREEN SPACE PROGRAM 

FUND 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Community Services and Land Use Committee, Monday, January 13, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Mr. Mike McShane, Chair of the Green Space Advisory Committee (5 minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The Town of Hilton Head Island submitted a Green Space Program Fee Simple application on behalf of the 

landowners for consideration. On March 11, 2024, the Community Services and Land Use Committee approved due 

diligence and negotiations of the application. On December 6, 2024, the Green Space Advisory Committee (GSAC) 

met, reviewed existing due diligence, and voted to recommend approval for the contribution of funds not to exceed the 

appraised value of the property ($1,464,200) with the condition that all funds received from future right-of-way 

acquisitions be used to reimburse the Green Space Program. The (GSAC) vote was unanimous. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The William Hilton Pkwy Tracts are comprised of 6 properties totaling approximately 3.44 +/- acres located 

along William Hiton Parkway on the north end of Hilton Head Island. There are multiple owners across the six 

properties. The Town of Hilton Head Island applied to the Green Space Program requesting 100% funding 

without having the properties under contract/letter of intent to purchase. To assist with application partnership, 

the Town has made previous investments in the immediate area preserving 1.42 acres of neighboring property. A 

preservation outcome for these properties in combination with the previous Town acquired properties (totaling 

4.86 +/- acres) would achieve several goals of the Green Space Program, including preservation and restoration 

of habitat for plants and animals, protection of water quality and salt marsh edges, arterial road corridor 

preservation, environmental resilience, and protection of areas with known cultural significance. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

($1,464,200) from the Green Space Program Fund Account #4706-10-0000-54400 (Land Acquisition) 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL: 

Green Space Advisory Committee (GSAC) recommends approval to fund the application not to exceed the 

appraised value of the property ($1,464,200) with the condition that any funds received for future right-of-way 

acquisition go back to the Green Space Program fund. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve, modify, or deny a Resolution to expend funds in the amount of ($1,464,200) from the Green 

Space Program Fund to contribute to the procurement of a fee simple acquisition of the William Hilton Parkway 

Tracts located on Hilton Head Island. 

 537

Item 19.



 

 

RESOLUTION 2025/_____ 

RECOMMEND COUNCIL APPROVE A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS NECESSARY AND TO 

PROVIDE FUNDS TO THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND FOR THEIR 

PROCUREMENT OF FEE SIMPLE REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON HILTON HEAD 

ISLAND, KNOWN AS THE WILLIAM HILTON PARKWAY TRACTS (PIN# R511 007 

000 0060 0000, R511 007 000 060C 0000, R511 007 000 060A 0000, R511 007 000 060B 0000, 

R511 007 000 192E 0000, R511 007 000 192C 0000), NOT TO EXCEED THE APPRAISED 

VALUE OF THE PROPERTY ($1,464,200) AND THAT ANY FUNDS RECEIVED FROM 

FUTURE RIGHT-OF-WAY ACQUISITION BE PAID BACK TO THE GREEN SPACE 

PROGRAM FUND 

 

WHEREAS, the William Hilton Parkway Tracts (the “Properties”) are located along the 

gateway to Hilton Head Island where incompatible development of the property would create 

negative impacts to William Hilton Parkway; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Properties are within a portion of William Hilton Parkway that are 

scheduled for transportation improvements and require future right-of-way acquisitions; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Properties are located on the salt marshes of Skull Creek where they can 

support improved resilience of the adjacent roadway, salt marsh, and surrounding areas by 

absorbing sea level rise, providing space for marsh migration, and offering refuge for migrating 

populations of flora and fauna; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Hilton Head Island has made conservation investments in the 

immediate area, purchasing approximately 1.42 acres of neighboring properties for preservation; 

and  

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Council recognizes the need to preserve land that 

provides scenic, natural, environmental, recreational, rural, and open space character which is 

deemed essential to the County’s economic viability, environmental resilience, and overall quality 

of life; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County staff received a Fee Simple Application from the 

Town of Hilton Head Island requesting 100% funding from the Green Space Program which was 

presented to the Green Space Advisory Committee at their March 4, 2024, meeting, where the 

GSAC voted to recommend due diligence and negotiations to the Community Services and Land 

Use Committee; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Community Services and Land Use Committee 

authorized staff to engage in due diligence and negotiations during their March 11, 2024 

meeting; and  

538

Item 19.



 

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County staff began conducting due diligence and negotiations 

to further evaluate the property and application against the Beaufort County Green Space 

Program Criteria to calculate the procurement benefits and overall value; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County staff presented the existing due diligence documents 

and their project evaluation and recommendation to the Green Space Advisory Committee during 

their December 6, 2024 meeting; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Green Space Advisory Committee (GSAC) met, reviewed the staff 

evaluation and existing due diligence, and voted to recommend approval for the contribution of 

funds not to exceed the appraised value of the property. The (GSAC) vote was unanimous; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Green Space Advisory Committee additionally recommended that all 

funds acquired from future right-of-way acquisitions be used solely to reimburse the Green 

Space Program; and     

  

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens 

and residents of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to execute the necessary documents 

to contribute to funding for the procurement of a government-owned fee simple acquisition of real 

property for the purposes of purchasing development rights and providing public benefits through 

preserved open space, corridor viewsheds, and ecosystem services in perpetuity; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Beaufort County Council, duly assembled, does 

hereby authorize a Resolution authorizing the County Administrator to execute the documents 

necessary and to provide funds from the Green Space Program Fund to contribute to the 

procurement by the applicant, the Town of Hilton Head Island, of fee simple real property located 

on Hilton Head Island, known as the William Hilton Parkway Tracts (PIN# R511 007 000 0060 

0000, R511 007 000 060C 0000, R511 007 000 060A 0000, R511 007 000 060B 0000, R511 007 

000 192E 0000, R511 007 000 192C 0000), not to exceed the appraised value of the property 

($1,464,200), subject to the stipulation that any funds received by the Town of Hilton Head from 

future right-of-way acquisition be paid back to the Green Space Program Fund. 

 

Adopted this ____ day of ____________, 2025.  

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

BY:        

       Alice Howard, Chairman 

 

ATTEST:      

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

539

Item 19.



William Hilton ParkWay tracts – Fee simPle 
aPPlicant – toWn oF Hilton Head island 

3.44 Acres +/- .25 acres 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MAP KEY 

            Town of HHI Lands 

            Municipal/State Parks 

            County Passive Parks 

            County/Municipal Parks 

            WHP Tracts 

 

540

Item 19.



William Hilton ParkWay tracts – Fee simPle 
 

MAP KEY 

             Town of HHI Lands 

             WHP Tracts 

 

541

Item 19.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

A Resolution to Accept Funding Pursuant to South Carolina Act 226 FY 2024-2025 State Appropriations Act in 
the amount of $1,200,000 for the Alljoy Boat Landing Improvement Project. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee – January 21, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Bryan Bauer, Director of Engineering  

(5 mins) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The state of South Carolina has appropriated $1,200,000 in funding from Act 226 FY 2024-2025 State 
Appropriations Act to Beaufort County for the Alljoy Boat Landing Improvements. These funds will leverage 
local dollars for the repairs and expansion of the parking lot.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Beaufort County acquired property adjacent to the Alljoy Boat Landing in Bluffton. Additional parking is 
needed at the current landing, as well as a site redesign due to locations of the current entrance and exit 
occurring along a roadway curve.  Improvements are also needed for the landing itself.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

N/A  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approving A Resolution to Accept Funding Pursuant to South Carolina Act 226 FY 2024-
2025 State Appropriations Act in the amount of $1,200,000 for the Alljoy Boat Landing Improvement Project. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny A Resolution to Accept Funding Pursuant to South Carolina Act 226 FY 2024-2025 
State Appropriations Act in the amount of $1,200,000 for the Alljoy Boat Landing Improvement Project. 

Next Step: Move to Council to approve/deny A Resolution to Accept Funding Pursuant to South Carolina Act 
226 FY 2024-2025 State Appropriations Act in the amount of $1,200,000 for the Alljoy Boat Landing 
Improvement Project. 

 

542

Item 20.



RESOLUTION 2025 /__ 

 

A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT FUNDING PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA ACT 226 FY 

2024-2025 STATE APPROPRIATIONS ACT IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,200,000 FOR THE 

ALLJOY BOAT LANDING IMPROVEMENT PROJECT. 

 

WHEREAS the State of South Carolina under the provisions of Act 226 FY 2024-2025 State 

Appropriations Act, has allocated funds to Beaufort County for the Alljoy Boat Landing improvements; 

and  

  

WHEREAS the Alljoy Boat Landing improvements are needed to allow the citizens a safe public access 

to the May River; and 

  

WHEREAS Beaufort County was allocated $1,200,000 from South Carolina Act 226 FY 2024-2025 State 

Appropriations Act for the improvements; and  

 

WHEREAS Beaufort County has determined that the acceptance of these funds is in the best interest of 

the public asset and citizens; and  

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, THAT THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT 

COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA hereby approves to $1,200,000 from South Carolina Act 226 FY 2024-

2025 State Appropriations Act for the Alljoy Boat Landing Improvements. 

 

Adopted this ____ day of ____________, 2025. 

 

 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

      BY:        

             Alice Howard, Chair 

  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

543

Item 20.



689 STATUTES AT LARGE (No. 226 
General and Permanent Laws--2024 

SECTION 118 - X910 - STATEWIDE REVENUE 
 

      (f) Dorchester County  
         Community Outreach – Homeless 
          Shelter Relocation and  
           Expansion $ 1,255,000; 
      (g) Oconee County Habitat for  
         Humanity - Pointe Place 
          Expansion $ 700,000; 
      (h) Parish House Community  
         Development Corporation – 
          Property Restoration $ 200,000; 
      (i)  St. Francis Center on  
         St. Helena Island -  
          Home Repair Program $ 100,000; 
   (83) P160 - Department of Agriculture 
      The FARM Center in Oconee County $ 985,000; 
   (84) P240 - Department of Natural Resources 
      (a) Beaufort County - Alljoy  
         Boat Landing Improvements $ 1,200,000; 
      (b) Cross Chapter #45 of Wildlife  
         Action, Inc - Updates to 
          Wildlife Community Center $ 20,000; 
      (c) DNR - Waddell Mariculture  
         Center Hatchery Support $ 250,000; 
      (d) SC Hunters for the Hungry  $ 350,000; 
      (e) Sumter County - Rimini  
         Sparkleberry Landing 
          Resurfacing $ 385,000; 
   (85) P280 - Department of Parks,  
         Recreation and Tourism 
      (a) African American Tourism  
         Institute - Development and 
          Tourism Marketing $ 50,000; 
      (b) Aiken Steeplechase Association –  
         Infrastructure Improvements $ 500,000; 
      (c) Alvin Community Center -  
         HVAC Replacement and 
          Facility Upgrades $ 100,000; 
      (d) Amazing Grace Park Foundation -  
         Completion of 
          Amazing Grace Park $ 500,000; 

544

Item 20.



Amount

$1,200,000.00

Entity Name Contact Name

Address Position/Title

City/State/Zip Telephone

Website Email

Tax ID#

Entity Type

Budget

$0.00

P240 - Department of Natural Resources Alljoy Boat Landing Improvements

Organization Information Organization Contact Information

Plan/Accounting of how these funds will be spent:

State of South Carolina Request for Contribution Distribution 
This form is designed to collect the information required by South Carolina in accordance with Proviso 117.21 of the appropriations act and Executive Order 2022-19.  This 

form must be submitted to the state agency that is providing the contribution for the designated organization. The state agency providing the contribution should use this 

form to collect information from the designated organization.  The information must be collected from the designated organization before the funds can be disbursed.

Contribution Information
State Agency Providing the Contribution Purpose

Description

Please explain how these funds will be used to provide a public benefit:

Grand Total

Explanation

Last updated: August 2022

545

Item 20.



Organization Signature Title

Printed Name Date

Agency Head Signature Date

Printed Name

1)  Organization hereby gives assurance that no person shall, upon the grounds of race, creed, color, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefit of, or be 

otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program or activity for which this organization is responsible.

2)  Organization certifies that it will provide quarterly spending reports to the Agency Providing Contribution listed above.

3)  Organization certifies that it will provide an accounting at the end of the fiscal year to the Agency Providing Contribution listed above.

4)  Organization certifies that it will allow the State Auditor to audit or cause to be audited the contributed funds.

Organization Certifications

Certifications of State Agency Providing Contribution
1)  State Agency certifies that the planned expenditure aligns with the Agency's mission and/or the purpose specified in the appropriations act.

2)  State Agency certifies that the Organization has set forth a public purpose to be served through receipt of the expenditure.

3)  State Agency certifies that it will make distributions directly to the organization.

4)  State Agency certifies that it will provide the quarterly spending reports and accounting received from the organization to the Senate Finance Committee, House Ways and Means 

Committee, and the Executive Budget Office by June 30, 2025.

5)  State Agency certifies that it will publish on their website any and all reports, accountings, forms, updates, communications, or other materials required by Proviso 117.21 of the 

appropriations act.

6)  State Agency will certify to the Office of the Governor that it has complied with the requirements of Executive Order 2022-19 by June 30, 2025.

Last updated: August 2022

546

Item 20.



Amount

$1,200,000.00

Entity Name Name

Address Position/Title

City/State/Zip Telephone

Website Email

Tax ID#

Entity Type

Reporting Period

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Signature Title

Printed Name Date

Grand Total

The Organization certifies that the funds have been expended in accordance with the Plan provided to the Agency Providing the Distribution and for a public purpose.

State of South Carolina Contribution Expenditure Report
This form is designed to collect the quarterly and annual expenditure reports required by South Carolina in accordance with Proviso 117.21 of the appropriations act and Executive Order 

2022-19.  This form must be submitted to the state agency that is providing the contribution to the designation organization at the end of year quarter and by June 30, 2025.

State Agency Providing the Contribution

P240 - Department of Natural Resources

Organization Information

Reporting Period

Budget

Purpose

Expenditure Certification

Contribution Information

Explanation of any unspent funds (to be provided only if unspent funds remain at the end of the fiscal year) :

Accounting of how the funds have been spent:

Organization Contact Information

Expenditures

Balance

Description

 (Attach additional detail for subgrantees and affiliated nonprofits)

Alljoy Boat Landing Improvements

547

Item 20.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A TASK ORDER TO J.H. HIERS, INC OF BEAUFORT, SC FOR HICKORY HILL 
DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT ($303,831.00) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee Meeting January 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, P.E., Assistant County Administrator – Infrastructure (5 minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County Public Works performed a drainage study of St. Helena. The Hickory Hill drainage system was 
assessed as requiring upsizing of pipes in an existing County drainage system. Beaufort County Public Works 
received a proposal from our on-call contractor J.H. Hiers (RFQ 110422).   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Hickory Hill Drainage Improvement Project – the scope of this project is to improve drainage by installing 470 
linear feet of 48” reinforced concrete pipe, clearing and grubbing the drainage system and stabilizing post-
construction with traffic control and asphalt repairs as necessary.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

This project will be funded by Stormwater Utility, from account code 5025-90-9020-54420. Available funds: 
$1,671,495.87 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of a task order contract to J.H. Hiers, INC of Beaufort, SC for Hickory Hill Drainage 
Improvements project in the amount of $276,210.00 plus a 10% contingency, for a total of $303,831.00. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve /deny the task order contract to J.H. Hiers, Inc for the Hickory Hill Drainage Improvement 
Project in the amount of $276,210.00 plus a 10% contingency, for a total of $303,831.00. 

Recommended to APPROVE task order contract to J.H. Hiers 

Next Step – Move forward to County Council for Approval  

 

548

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 

 

 

Scope of Work for Drainage  Improvement Project 

 

1. Mobilization 

 Quantity: 6 EA 
 Unit Price: $1,250.00 
 Total Price: $7,500.00 
 Description: Mobilization of equipment and personnel required for project initiation and 

setup. 

2. Survey 

 Quantity: 1 LS (Lump Sum) 
 Unit Price: $4,200.00 
 Total Price: $4,200.00 
 Description: Complete site survey, including topographical and boundary surveys for 

design and construction layout. 

3. Clearing 

 Quantity: 1acre 
 Unit Price: $21,000.00 
 Total Price: $21,000.00 
 Description: Clearing of vegetation and debris from the construction site, ensuring 

proper access for construction work. 

4. Muck/Fill Existing Drainage Ditch (Fill Haul Included) 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $68,000.00 
 Total Price: $68,000.00 
 Description: Excavation of muck and removal of debris from the existing drainage ditch, 

followed by fill material placement. Hauling included. 

5. Traffic Control/Road Plates 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $8,200.00 
 Total Price: $8,200.00 

549

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 

 

 Description: Provision of traffic control measures, including road plates, signage, and 
safety barriers to protect workers and traffic. 

6. Structures 

 Quantity: 2 EA 
 Unit Price: $8,500.00 
 Total Price: $17,000.00 
 Description: Installation of precast drainage structures, including one GI at the road 

crossing and one GI at the end of the existing ditch. 

7. Demolition of Existing Pipe & Structures 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $7,200.00 
 Total Price: $7,200.00 
 Description: Removal and disposal of existing pipes and associated structures from the 

project area. 

8. Flow Fill at Hickory Hill Crossing 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $7,500.00 
 Total Price: $7,500.00 
 Description: Installation of flow fill material at the Hickory Hill Crossing as part of the 

drainage improvement works. 

9. Haul Debris 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $3,800.00 
 Total Price: $3,800.00 
 Description: Removal and transport of debris and construction waste from the site to a 

proper disposal facility. 

10. Install New 48" RCP @ Hickory Hill Rd 

 Quantity: 470 LF 
 Unit Price: $147.00 
 Total Price::$69,090.00 
 Description: Installation of a new 48-inch Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP) at the 

Hickory Hill Road crossing. 

11. Install New 48" RCP @ Bible Camp Rd 

550

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 

 

 Quantity: 32 LF 
 Unit Price: $147.00 
 Total Price: $4,704.00 
 Description: Installation of a new 48-inch RCP at Bible Camp Road. 

12. 2" Asphalt Patch @ Hickory Hill Rd 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $12,500.00 
 Total Price: $12,500.00 
 Description: Application of a 2-inch asphalt patch at the Hickory Hill Road trench area, 

ensuring smooth road restoration. 

13. Fine Grading Roadway Patch/Easement 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $27,000.00 
 Total Price: $27,000.00 
 Description: Fine grading of the patched roadway and easement area, preparing for final 

paving. 

14. Dewatering 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $7,500.00 
 Total Price::$7,500.00 
 Description: Installation of dewatering systems to manage groundwater and ensure dry 

conditions for construction work. 

15. 57 Stone 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $8,500.00 
 Total Price: $8,500.00 
 Description: Placement of 57 stone to facilitate proper drainage and stabilization within 

the construction area. 

16. GABC (Graded Aggregate Base Course) 

 Quantity: 1 LS 
 Unit Price: $2,516.00 
 Total Price: $2,516.00 
 Description: Placement of GABC material for subgrade stabilization and foundation 

preparation. 

551

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 

 

17. Erosion Control Silt Fence 

 Quantity: 1000lf 
 Unit Price: $3.00 
 Total Price: $3,000.00 
 Description: Install silt fence around the perimeter of the work site to prevent erosion.  

18. Total Price:  

 Total Price: $279,210.00 

 

 

Notes: 

 RCP: The 48" Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP) will be provided by Beaufort County. 
 Fill Dirt: Fill dirt required for the project will be provided by Beaufort County; hauling 

of fill dirt is included in the scope. 
 Clearing: All clearing of vegetation is included in the scope. 
 Mill/Overlay: Milling and overlay of the affected roadway are included as part of the 

project. 
 2" Asphalt Patch: Included in the pipe trench restoration at Hickory Hill Rd. 
 Rip Rap Basin: Installation of rip rap at the outfall will be part of the scope. 
 Traffic Control: Traffic control, including road plates and safety barriers, is included. 
 Exclusions:  

o Utility relocations are not included. 
o Landscaping, seeding, and stabilization are to be handled by others. 
o Arborist services are not included. 
o Geotechnical testing services are provided by others. 
o Bond pricing is not included. 

 Owner Responsibilities:  
o The owner is responsible for all testing and coordination with JHH (likely a 

coordinating party or entity). 

 

This Scope of Work outlines the key tasks and responsibilities for the drainage and road 
improvement project, as well as clarifications on materials, exclusions, and owner 
responsibilities. 

 

 

552

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 

 

 

553

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 
 

Scope of Work for Drainage a Improvement Project 

Red denotes in-house estimate. 

 

1. Mobilization 

• Quantity: 6 EA 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Mobilization of equipment and personnel required for project initiation and 

setup.    $9,000 

2. Survey 

• Quantity: 1 LS (Lump Sum) 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Complete site survey, including topographical and boundary surveys for 

design and construction layout.  $5,000.00 

3. Clearing 

• Quantity: 1acre 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Clearing of vegetation and debris from the construction site, ensuring 

proper access for construction work. $21,625.00 

4. Muck/Fill Existing Drainage Ditch (Fill Haul Included) 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Excavation of muck and removal of debris from the existing drainage ditch, 

followed by fill material placement. Hauling included.  $71,300.00 

5. Traffic Control/Road Plates 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Provision of traffic control measures, including road plates, signage, and 

safety barriers to protect workers and traffic.  $9,000.00 

554

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 
6. Structures 

• Quantity: 2 EA 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Installation of precast drainage structures, including one GI at the road 

crossing and one GI at the end of the existing ditch.  $20,000.00 

7. Demolition of Existing Pipe & Structures 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Removal and disposal of existing pipes and associated structures from the 

project area.   $37,650.00 

8. Flow Fill at Hickory Hill Crossing 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Installation of flow fill material at the Hickory Hill Crossing as part of the 

drainage improvement works.  $10,000.00 

9. Haul Debris 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Removal and transport of debris and construction waste from the site to a 

proper disposal facility.  $3,000.00 

10. Install New 48" RCP @ Hickory Hill Rd 

• Quantity: 470 LF 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price: 

• Description: Installation of a new 48-inch Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP) at the 

Hickory Hill Road crossing.  $69,000.00 

11. Install New 48" RCP @ Bible Camp Rd 

• Quantity: 32 LF 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Installation of a new 48-inch RCP at Bible Camp Road.  $4,736.00 

555

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 
12. 2" Asphalt Patch @ Hickory Hill Rd 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Application of a 2-inch asphalt patch at the Hickory Hill Road trench area, 

ensuring smooth road restoration.  $20,000.00 

13. Fine Grading Roadway Patch/Easement 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Fine grading of the patched roadway and easement area, preparing for final 

paving.  $15,000.00 

14. Dewatering 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price: 

• Description: Installation of dewatering systems to manage groundwater and ensure dry 

conditions for construction work.  $10,000.00 

15. 57 Stone 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Placement of 57 stone to facilitate proper drainage and stabilization within 

the construction area.  $10,000.00 

16. GABC (Graded Aggregate Base Course) 

• Quantity: 1 LS 

• Unit Price:  

• Total Price:  

• Description: Placement of GABC material for subgrade stabilization and foundation 

preparation.  $5,000.00 

17. Erosion Control Silt Fence 

• Quantity: 1000lf 

• Unit Price: 

• Total Price: 

• Description: Install silt fence around the perimeter of the work site to prevent erosion. 

$4,200.00 556

Item 1.



Hickory Hill/Bible Camp Road Drainage 
Improvements 
 

 

Notes: 

• RCP: The 48" Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP) will be provided by Beaufort County. 

• Fill Dirt: Fill dirt required for the project will be provided by Beaufort County; hauling 

of fill dirt is included in the scope. 

• Clearing: All clearing of vegetation is included in the scope. 

• Mill/Overlay: Milling and overlay of the affected roadway are included as part of the 

project. 

• 2" Asphalt Patch: Included in the pipe trench restoration at Hickory Hill Rd. 

• Rip Rap Basin: Installation of rip rap at the outfall will be part of the scope. 

• Traffic Control: Traffic control, including road plates and safety barriers, is included. 

• Exclusions:  

o Utility relocations are not included. 

o Landscaping, seeding, and stabilization are to be handled by others. 

o Arborist services are not included. 

o Geotechnical testing services are provided by others. 

o Bond pricing is not included. 

• Owner Responsibilities:  

o The owner is responsible for all testing and coordination with JHH (likely a 

coordinating party or entity). 

 

This Scope of Work outlines the key tasks and responsibilities for the drainage and road 

improvement project, as well as clarifications on materials, exclusions, and owner 

responsibilities. 

Total Estimated Cost: $324,871.00 

Beaufort Regional Multiplier: 0.85 

Adjusted Estimated Cost: $276,140.35 

 

 

557

Item 1.



558

Item 1.



559

Item 1.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A TASK ORDER TO J.H. HIERS, INC OF BEAUFORT, SC FOR TUXEDO PARK 
DETENTION POND REHABILITATION PROJECT ($474,590.88) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee Meeting January 2025  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, P.E., Assistant County Administrator – Infrastructure (5 minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County Public Works accepted a drainage and maintenance easement of a detention pond in the 
Tuxedo Park neighborhood of northern Lady’s Island on April 2, 1997. The scope of responsibility is to remove 
any accumulated silt within the pond. Beaufort County put this item out to bid twice and was unsuccessful with 
procuring a contract due to costs as proposals exceeded budget for both fiscal years. Beaufort County Public 
Works received a proposal from our on-call contractor J.H. Hiers (RFQ 110422) that was recommended for 
approval by the SWUB on June 19th, 2024.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Tuxedo Park Detention Pond Rehabilitation project – the scope of this project is to remove accumulated 
sediment from the existing detention pond on Northern Ladys Island. The sediment will need to be dewatered 
on site, and then removed by contractor. Due to equipment needed to complete the job, this work will also 
involve restoring any damaged roadways as part of the work.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

This project will be funded by Stormwater Utility, from account code 5025-90-9020-54420. Available balance: 
$1,671,495.87 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of a task order contract to J.H. Hiers, INC of Beaufort, SC for Tuxedo Park 
Rehabilitation project in the amount of $431,446.25 plus a 10% contingency, for a total of $474,590.88. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve /deny the task order contract to J.H. Hiers, Inc for the Tuxedo Park Detention Pond 
Rehabilitation Project in the amount of $431,446.25 plus a 10% contingency, for a total of $474,590.88. 

Recommended to APPROVE task order contract to J.H.Hiers 

(Next Step – Move forward to County Council for Approval).  

 

560

Item 2.



Proposal
Number 1
Date 5/20/2024
Page 1

J.H. Hiers Construction, LLC
509 Carteret
Beaufort SC, 29910
843.379.3262

TO: Job Name:
Bradley Harriot Tuxedo Pond Improvements

Beaufort County Stormwater Emergency On Call Beaufort SC

Description Qty. UM Price Each Amount

Sediment Removal 6317 CY 51.25$             323,746.25$        
Dewatering 1 LS 7,500.00$        7,500.00$            
Erosion Control/Stabilization 1 LS 9,600.00$        9,600.00$            

Asphalt Allowances
1 1/2" Mill and Overlay Allowance 2700 SY 26.00$             70,200.00$          
Asphalt Patching Allowance 400 SY 51.00$             20,400.00$          

*Notes
Landscaping by others
All removed sediment to be hauled to Beaufort County Lay Down
JHH to provide as-builts once completed
JHH is not responsible for exsisting control structures
JHH is not responsible for any tree protection or damaged trees
Redressing areas affected by construction included
Seeding included

TOTAL 431,446.25$       

GRADING – PAVING – UTILITIES - HAULING
561

Item 2.



PRELIMINARY BID TABULATION
PURCHASING DEPARTMENT

Project Name: Tuxedo Park Pond Dredging
Project Number: IFB 071822
Project Budget:
Bid Opening Date: July 18 2022
Time: 3:00:00 PM
Location: Beaufort County
Bid Administrator: Dave Thomas
Bid Recorder: Victoria Moyer

The following bids were received for the above referenced project:

BIDDER 
BID     

FORM BID   BOND

ALL 
ADDE
NDA

SCH OF 
VALUES SUB LISTING SMBE DOCS Grand Total Price 

Noble Environmental X X X X Self Performing

494,219.37$                                                          

Contractor Service of Kershaw X X X X Self Performing X 682,668.95$                                                          

Bid Administrator Signature Bid Recorder

Beaufort County posts PRELIMINARY bid tabulation information within 2 business days of the advertised bid opening.  Information on the PRELIMINARY bid tabulation is posted 
as it was read during the bid opening.  Beaufort County makes no guarantees as to the accuracy of any information on the PRELIMINARY tabulation.  The bid results indicated 
here do not necessarily represent the final compliance review by Beaufort County and are subject to change. After the review, the final award will be made by Beaufort County 
Council and a certified bid tab will be posted online. 

Note: it is not clear if the total cost is the total cost 
as there are other per gal/ton/yd costs under the 
total.

7/18/2022
562

Item 2.



PRELIMINARY BID TABULATION
PURCHASING DEPARTMENT

Project Name: Tuxedo Park Pond Dredging
Project Number: IFB 040822
Project Budget:
Bid Opening Date: April 8 2022
Time: 3:00:00 PM
Location: Beaufort County
Bid Administrator: Dave Thomas
Bid Recorder: Victoria Moyer

The following bids were received for the above referenced project:

BIDDER 
BID     

FORM BID   BOND

ALL 
ADDE
NDA

SCH OF 
VALUES SUB LISTING SMBE DOCS Grand Total Price 

L-J X X N/A X X X
568,805.00$                                                        

ERI X X N/A X Self Performing X 413,121.95$                                                        

Bid Administrator Signature Bid Recorder

Beaufort County posts PRELIMINARY bid tabulation information within 2 business days of the advertised bid opening.  Information on the PRELIMINARY bid tabulation is 
posted as it was read during the bid opening.  Beaufort County makes no guarantees as to the accuracy of any information on the PRELIMINARY tabulation.  The bid results 
indicated here do not necessarily represent the final compliance review by Beaufort County and are subject to change. After the review, the final award will be made by Beaufort 
County Council and a certified bid tab will be posted online. 

4/8/2022
563

Item 2.



564

Item 2.



565

Item 2.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of Contract Award to Mitchell Brothers Inc for IFB # 111924 Construction / Renovation 
of the Administration Building and County Council Chambers ($1,043,059.61) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee – January 21,2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Gecy, Interim Director, Capital Projects (5 mins) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

On November 26, 2024, we received a bid of $817,158.36 from Mitchell Brothers Inc for the Construction / 
Renovation of the Administration Building and County Council Chambers, with 3 Alternates for a total of 
$907,008.36. Staff & the project Architect have reviewed the bid submittal and found the price to be fair and 
reasonable.  The Architects Probable Cost Estimate for the work was $852,667.62 without alternates. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

This project would include the renovation of the Admin Hall, Council chambers and planning department to 
include new flooring, paint, lighting, ceilings, and woodwork. It would also add new, much needed, office 
spaces to the administration wing, and a remodel of the current staff and public restrooms on the first and 
second floor.  

The total funds requested are the bid amount (plus 15% contingency) ($907,008.36 + $136,051.25 = 
$1,043,059.61) 

Purchasing has not submitted a draft contract to Legal.  This will occur after the contract award.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Funding comes from Parks and Recreation Capital Fund, 1040-80-1600-54420.   Current account balance is 
$9,658,107.06. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of contract to Mitchell Brothers Inc for IFB # 111924 Construction / Renovation of 
the Administration Building and County Council Chambers ($1,043,059.61) 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of award Mitchell Brothers Inc for IFB # 111924 Construction / 
Renovation of the Administration Building and County Council Chambers. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award Mitchell Brothers Inc for IFB # 111924 Construction / 
Renovation of the Administration Building and County Council Chambers. 

 

566

Item 3.



PROJECT SUMMARY 
 

Project Title: (Bid number, Beaufort County Administration Building Interior Renovation) 

 

Project Descriptions  

 

 Interior demolition and renovation work of the Council Chambers, Executive leadership suite, and 

Community Development offices.  

 

Scope of Work 

 
 The Project is limited to interior demolition and renovation work and includes removal and replacement 
of existing interior finishes, gypsum board and metal stud walls, ceilings, light fixtures, flexible ductwork 
and wood millwork. New work includes gypsum board and metal stud walls, solid core wood doors in 
hollow metal frames, suspended acoustical tile ceilings, luxury vinyl tile flooring, broadloom carpet, 
rubber base, new LED light fixtures and new HVAC flexible ductwork, grilles and diffusers. Although the 
existing building will remain open and fully operational, the Project Area will be vacated for the duration 
of the work.  
Telecommunications, data and other low voltage work will be by the County and/or the County's 
vendor. The general contractor will be required to coordinate his work and the overall construction 
schedule with this and other Owner provided work.  
The existing building does not include asbestos containing materials. 

 

 

Project Administration:  

Eric Larson, CIP Director 

 

Contract Type: Lump Sum with Bid Alternate and Unit prices for incidental work. 

 

Contract Time:   120 Calendar Days. 
 

567

Item 3.



 

Beaufort County, SC 

Capital Projects 
Hank Amundson, Special Assistant to County Administrator 

PO Box 1228, Beaufort, SC 29902 
 

 

 

EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 

Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
RESPONSE DEADLINE: November 26, 2024 at 3:00 pm 

Report Generated:  Wednesday, January 8, 2025 
 
SELECTED VENDOR TOTALS   

Vendor Total 

Mitchell Brothers Inc $1,004,319.36 

Beaufort Construction of 
SC, LLC 

$1,138,793.00 

 

SCHEDULE OF VALUES   

Schedule of Values Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of Measure Quantity Unit Cost Total Quantity Unit Cost Total 

X 1 General Conditions/Misc sqft 1 $81,320.00 $81,320.00 12102 $6.33 $76,605.66 

X 2 Remove existing carpet 
and/or vinyl composition 
flooring and install new 

luxury vinyl tile (LVT) 
flooring. 

sqft 2301 $11.00 $25,311.00 1871 $13.54 $25,333.34 

X 3 Remove existing carpet 
and/or vinyl composition 
flooring and install new 

broadloom carpet. 

sqft 9540 $10.00 $95,400.00 8612 $10.45 $89,995.40 

X 4 Patch, prime and paint 
existing gypsum board 

ceilings, soffits and 
bulkheads. 

sqft 1 $34,600.00 $34,600.00 29070 $2.1449 $62,352.243 

568

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 2 

Schedule of Values Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of Measure Quantity Unit Cost Total Quantity Unit Cost Total 

X 5 Remove existing 
suspended acoustical tile 

ceiling tiles, convert 
existing ceiling grid from 
2x4 to 2x2, paint grid and 

install new 2x2 ceiling 
tiles. 

sqft 10800 $9.00 $97,200.00 12102 $5.5631 $67,324.6362 

X 6 Remove existing wall base 
and install new 4" rubber 

base. 

Linear Foot 800 $1.50 $1,200.00 3230 $2.3808 $7,689.984 

X 7 Council Chamber 
Furniture, Lectern and 2 

Desks 

total 1 $25,360.00 $25,360.00 3 $5,704.67 $17,114.01 

X 8 Carpentry - Council 
Chambers (Material & 

Labor) 

total 1 $29,740.00 $29,740.00 1 $51,750.00 $51,750.00 

X 9 Doors and Hardware each 1 $63,200.00 $63,200.00 32 $2,433.47 $77,871.04 

X 10 Cabinetry (Break Room 
Cabinets) 

total 1 $42,240.00 $42,240.00 3 $9,551.00 $28,653.00 

X 11 Painting sqft 1 $41,230.00 $41,230.00 29070 $2.2784 $66,233.088 

X 12 Electrical - 
Labor/Conduit/Devices/etc 

total 1 $130,510.00 $130,510.00 1 $13,000.00 $13,000.00 

X 13 Lighting Fixtures each 304 $160.00 $48,640.00 266 $294.7368 $78,399.9888 

X 14 Low Voltage/Data each 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 1 $15,326.00 $15,326.00 

X 15 Mechanical/HVAC total 1 $81,001.00 $81,001.00 11 $1,527.27 $16,799.97 

X 16 Mechanical/Plumbing total 1 $52,350.00 $52,350.00 1 $10,524.00 $10,524.00 

569

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 3 

Schedule of Values Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of Measure Quantity Unit Cost Total Quantity Unit Cost Total 

X 17 Plumbing Fixtures each 1 $18,900.00 $18,900.00 21 $1,805.00 $37,905.00 

X 18 Mechanical/Misc total 1 $61,516.00 $61,516.00 1 $7,800.00 $7,800.00 

X 19 Specialties total 1 $38,470.00 $38,470.00 4 $9,326.25 $37,305.00 

X 20 Disposal total 1 $11,230.00 $11,230.00 1 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 

X 21 Misc Site Conditions total 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 1 $16,987.00 $16,987.00 

Total   $990,418.00   $810,969.36 
 

ALTERNATES   

Alternates Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X ALT-01 Repair all existing wood trim, door and window casing, wall panels and similar 
millwork and woodwork in the existing Council Chambers. remove and replace all 
wood laminate and veneer wall panels. Chemically strip and sand all existing wood 

trim, door and window casing, and similar millwork and woodwork. All new and 
existing millwork and woodwork shall be stained to match the existing and shall be 

finished with two (2) coats of polyurethane. Add Alternate 01 is exclusive of Add 
Alternate 02. 

Total $31,700.00 $51,750.00 

570

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 4 

Alternates Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X ALT-02 Remove and replace all wood trim, door and window casing, wall panels and similar 
millwork and woodwork in the existing Council Chambers. All wood shall be red oak 

to match the existing and all profiles and details shall match the existing. All new 
millwork and woodwork shall be stained to match the existing and shall be finished 
with two (2) coats of polyurethane. Add Alternate 02 is exclusive of Add Alternate 

01. 

Total $46,675.00 $51,750.00 

X ALT-03 This alternate shall be to renovate the 2nd floor Men’s and Women’s Restrooms to 
according to the specifications outlined in Addendum #3 and shown on 

Architectural Bulletin Drawings ABD-01 and ABD-02. 

Total $70,000.00 $89,850.00 

Total $148,375.00 $193,350.00 
 

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE PASS/FAIL 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Certification Pass Pass 

Contact information of authorized representative? Pass Pass 

Please Provide Licenses and Certificate of Insurance Pass Pass 

100% Labor and Material Payment Bond Pass Pass 

Bidder Confirmation Pass Pass 

Communications Pass Pass 

Are you submitting this bid as a local vendor? Pass Pass 

Local Vendor Preference - Participation Affidavit Pass Pass 

Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder Pass Pass 

571

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 5 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Will you be using subcontractors? Pass Pass 

Non-Collusion Affidavit of Subcontractor Pass Pass 

Certification By Contractor Regarding Non-
Segregated Facilities 

Pass Pass 

Consent of Surety Pass Pass 

Business Organization   

Type of Business Organization: Pass Pass 

If you selected "Other" for your type of business, 
please explain: 

Pass Pass 

If applicable, please provide name of partners and 
additional information below: 

Pass Pass 

If your agency is a Corporation: Pass Pass 

Are you a Subchapter S Corporation? Pass Pass 

Please provide Subchapter S Shareholders: Pass Pass 

If individually owned: Pass Pass 

Have you ever operated under another name? Pass Pass 

Please provide all other business names and 
addresses of principal place of business for each 

business: 

No Response No Response 

Bonding   

Please provide the Bonding information: Pass Pass 

Do you intend to use any alternative form of 
security 

Pass Pass 

572

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 6 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Indicate the form of security you intend to use and 
the name, address, point of contact, and telephone 

number of the banks, savings and loan, or surety 
you intend to use. (NOTE: Prequalification will not 

assure acceptance of any form of security.) 

No Response No Response 

Have any Performance or Payment Bond claims 
ever been paid by any surety on behalf of your 

organization? 

Pass Pass 

State the name of the project(s); the date; the 
name, address, telephone number, and contact 

person for the claimant; the surety satisfying the 
claim; the size of the claim; and the circumstances 

giving rise to the claim. 

No Response No Response 

Have you ever arbitrated or litigated a claim with an 
Owner, Architect, or Engineer in the last five years? 

Pass Pass 

State the name of the project(s); the date; the 
name, address, telephone number, and contact 

person for the claimant; the surety satisfying the 
claim; the size of the claim; and the circumstances 

giving rise to the claim. (Provide attachments if 
necessary.) 

No Response No Response 

Have you or any officer, partner, or owner of your 
organization, in any state or territory of the United 
States, or with respect to any agency of the Federal 

government: 

  

In the last in the last five years, received any fines 
or citations for building code violations which were 

unrelated to design? 

Pass Pass 

573

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 7 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

Ever been found to be guilty of charges relating to 
conflicts of interest: 

Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

Ever been convicted on charges related to any 
criminal activity relating to construction means, 

methods, or techniques; bidding or bid rigging; or 
bribery? 

Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

In the last five years, been found guilty of any 
minority contracting law violations? 

Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

In the last five years, pleaded no contest in any 
criminal proceeding related to contracting? 

Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

Ever been disbarred from doing Federal, state, or 
local government work for any reason? 

Pass Pass 

574

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 8 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

Ever been terminated on a contract due to your 
default? 

Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

In the last five years, paid liquidated damages for 
being late on a project? 

Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

In the last five years, been subject to tax collection 
proceedings? 

Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

In the last seven years, filed for bankruptcy? Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone number, 
contact person, and circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response 

Under what chapter of bankruptcy did you file? No Response No Response 

If you filed under Chapter 11 Reorganization, how 
long did you operate under this status? 

No Response No Response 

Are you operating under Chapter 11 status now? No Response No Response 

Safety   

575

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 9 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Have you, in the last three years, been cited for 
willful violations for failure to abate, or for repeated 
violations, by the United States Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration or by the South Carolina 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration or 

by any other governmental body? 

Pass Pass 

State date, name, address, telephone number, and 
contact person for agency issuing citation and the 
nature of the violation. Also, advise the amount of 
fines paid, if any. Provide attachments if necessary. 

No Response No Response 

List your worker’s compensation experience 
modifier for the last three years. 

No Response No Response 

References   

Provide at least two references from each industry 
group listed. Provide other references as requested. 

Provide current names, addresses, telephone 
numbers, and contacts. 

Pass Pass 

Certification regarding Debarment, Suspension, 
Ineligibility, and Voluntary Exclusion: 

  

The contractor certifies: Pass Pass 

Explain fully if it has been involved in any litigation 
involving performance. 

No Response No Response 

Small and Minority Business Participation Program   

Are you a Small or Minority Business ? Pass Pass 

Upload your Small/Minority Documentation No Response Pass 

Are you self-performing 100%? Pass Pass 

Self-Performing 100% Affidavit No Response No Response 

576

Item 3.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. 111924 
Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Administration Building & Council Chambers Renovation 
Page 10 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Good Faith Agencies Distribution List Pass Pass 
 

577

Item 3.



100 RIBAUT ROAD
BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA, 29902

BEAUFORT COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING
INTERIOR RENOVATION

SCOPE OF WORK:
A. THE PROJECT CONSISTS OF INTERIOR RENOVATION ON THE FIRST FLOOR OF THE EXISTING

BEAUFORT COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING LOCATED ON THE BEAUFORT COUNTY GOVERNMENT
COMPLEX AT 100 RIBAUT ROAD, BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA 29902

1. FIRST FLOOR AREAS NOT INCLUDED IN THE SCOPE OF WORK (NOT IN CONTRACT) ARE IDENTIFIED
ON THE FLOOR PLAN DRAWINGS WITH A DIAGONAL HATCH PATTERN.  THESE SPACES AND THE
ENTIRE SECOND FLOOR WILL REMAIN  OCCUPIED AND FULLY OPERATIONAL FOR THE DURATION
OF THE PROJECT.  IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE DUST
BARRIERS AND PROTECTIVE MEASURES THROUGHOUT THE DURATION OF THE PROJECT.

2. THE PROJECT AREA WILL BE VACANT FOR THE DURATION OF THE PROJECT.

3. THIS PROJECT DOES NOT INCLUDE PHASED CONSTRUCTION.

B. PROJECT DELIVERY METHOD: DESIGN - PUBLIC BID - BUILD.

C. EXISTING FLOOR FINISHES AND WALL BASE WILL BE REMOVED AND WILL BE REPLACED WITH
LUXURY VINYL TILE WITH 4" RUBBER BASE.

D. EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD WALLS WILL BE PATCHED AND REPAIRED, PRIMED AND PAINTED.

E. EXISTING HOLLOW SOLID CORE WOOD DOORS WILL BE REPAIRED, SANDED AND FINISHED WITH
POLYURETHANE. FRAMES WILL BE PAINTED.

F. EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING TILES WILL BE REMOVED AND THE EXISTING GRID
WILL BE CONVERTED FROM A 2X4 GRID TO A 2X2 GRID.  NEW AND EXISTING GRID MEMBERS WILL BE
PAINTED AND NEW CEILING TILES WILL BE PROVIDED.

G. ALL CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES ARE TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN THE RENOVATED
SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING.  THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING A FIRE
WATCH AT ANY TIME THAT THE FIRE SPRINKLER AND FIRE ALARM SYSTEM ARE NOT ACTIVE.

H. EXISTING CEILING MOUNTED (LAY-IN TYPE) FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES WILL BE REPLACED WITH
NEW LED LIGHT FIXTURES ON A ONE-FOR-ONE BASIS WITH NEW FIXTURES OF THE SAME SIZE TYPE
AND LOCATION AS THE EXISTING.

I. THE PROJECT INCLUDES THE CONSTRUCTION OF FOUR (7) NEW OFFICES, ONE (1) RECEPTION AND
WAITING AREA AND ONE (1) TELECOM ROOM.  THIS WORK INCLUDES GYPSUM BOARD AND METAL
STUD WALLS, SOLID CORE WOOD DOORS IN HOLLOW METAL FRAMES, NEW HVAC SUPPLY AND
RETURN DEVICES UTILIZING FLEXIBLE DUCT CONNECTED TO EXISTING SHEET METAL DUCT AND NEW
LED LIGHT FIXTURES.

J. EXISTING WOODWORK AND MILLWORK IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS IS TO BE REPAIRED.  SEE
DRAWINGS A-401, AD-101 AND A-202 FOR BASE BID SCOPE OF WORK

1. A-401, ENLARGED COUNCIL CHAMBERS FLOOR PLAN.

2. AD-101, COUNCIL CHAMBERS EXISTING CONDITIONS FLOOR PLAN.

3. A-202, COUNCIL CHAMBER INTERIOR ELEVATIONS AND DETAILS.

GENERAL CONSTRUCTION NOTES:

DESIGN TEAM

ABBREVIATIONS

R#

P

GENERAL
G-101 COVER SHEET, SHEET INDEX AND SCOPE OF WORK
G-102 2021 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE SUMMARY
G-103 LIFE SAFETY PLAN
G-104 TYPICAL ACCESSIBILITY DETAILS
G-105 SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 
G-106 TYPICAL INTERIOR WALL AND PARTITION DETAILS

LOCATION MAP VICINITY MAP
NN

MECHANICAL
M-101 MECHANICAL FLOOR PLAN

ELECTRICAL
AE-101 ELECTRICAL AND TELE/DATA OUTLET FLOOR PLAN

(this sheet will be issued by addendum)

SHEET INDEX:

ARCHITECTURAL
AC-101 SITE ACCESS, STAGING AND LAYDOWN PLAN
AD-101 EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION FLOOR PLAN
AD-102 EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION REFLECTED CEILING
AD-901 EXISTING CONDITIONS PHOTOGRAPHS
A-101 PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN
A-102 PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN
A-201 COUNCIL CHAMBERS EXISTING CONDITIONS PHOTOGRAPHS
A-202 COUNCIL CHAMBERS INTERIOR ELEVATIONS
A-203 COUNCIL CHAMBERS EXISTING DAIS ELEVATIONS AND DETAILS
A-204 COUNCIL CHAMBERS PODIUM ELEVATIONS AND DETAILS
A-205 COUNCIL CHAMBERS DESK ELEVATIONS AND DETAILS
A-401 ENLARGED COUNCIL CHAMBERS FLOOR PLAN
A-402 ENLARGED OFFICE AND BREAKROOM FLOOR PLANS AND DETAILS
A-403 ENLARGED RESTROOM FLOOR PLANS
A-404 RESTROOM INTERIOR ELEVATIONS AND DETAILS
A-501 TYPICAL CEILING DETAILS
A-601 ROOM FINISH, DOOR SCHEDULES AND DETAILS
A-602 FLOOR PATTERNS

ARCHITECT
BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD, LLC.

2 FIRE STATION LANE,
SEABROOK, SC, 29940

P. 843.466.3664

MECHANICAL,
ELECTRICAL AND FIRE

PROTECTION ENGINEER
TBD

1. ALL WORK SHALL BE CARRIED OUT ACCORDING TO GOOD CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES

2. ALL WORK SHALL BE CARRIED OUT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING CODES AND
STANDARDS

2.1. BUILDING: 2021 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE

2.2. MECHANICAL: 2021 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE

2.3. ELECTRICAL: 2020 NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE

2.4. PLUMBING: 2021 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE

2.5. FIRE CODE: 2021 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE

2.6. ENERGY CODE: 2009 INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE

2.7. NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION: NFPA 13

2.8. ICC A11.7-2017 AND THE AMERICAN WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA)

2.9. SOUTH CAROLINA STATE FIRE MARSHAL RULES, REGULATIONS, AND POLICIES

3. ALL WORK SHALL BE UNDERTAKEN AND MANAGED IN ACCORDANCE WITH OSHA STANDARDS FOR
THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY

4. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL LIFE SAFETY ELEMENTS INCLUDING BUT NOT
LIMITED TO EXIT SIGNAGE, FIRE EXTINGUISHERS AND FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEMS NECESSARY TO
SATISFY LOCAL, STATE AND FEDERAL STANDARDS, CODES AND GUIDELINES

5. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL PERMITS AND FEES

6. GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL REPORT, TO THE ARCHITECT, ANY AND ALL DISCREPANCIES
REGARDING EXISTING CONDITIONS OR WITHIN THE DRAWINGS AND THE SPECIFICATIONS. FAILURE
TO DO SO WILL RELIEVE THE ARCHITECT OF ANY RESPONSIBILITY REGARDING ANY
CONSEQUENCES THAT MIGHT RESULT FROM SUCH DISCREPANCIES

7. GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT, FOR OWNER AND ARCHITECT APPROVAL, SAMPLES AND
PRODUCT DATA FOR ANY SUBSTITUTED PRODUCTS AND / OR SYSTEMS

8. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATION OF ALL DISCIPLINES AND
TRADES AND THEIR POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE PROJECT

9. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING , BETWEEN TRADES, ALL CUTTING
AND PATCHING RESPONSIBILITIES

10. DUE TO MANUFACTURER VARIATIONS ON TYPE AND SIZES OF EQUIPMENT, CASEWORK, FIXTURES,
ETC., ALL DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS SHALL BE FIELD VERIFIED BY THE GENERAL
CONTRACTOR AND APPROPRIATE COORDINATE WITH THE SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS

11. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, INSTALL CONTINUOUS TREATED, NON-COMBUSTILBLE 2X6 WOOD
BLOCKING FOR ALL CASEWORK, COUNTERS, GRAB BARS, WALL MOUNTED EQUIPMENT,
ACCESSORIES , FIXTURES, TELEVISIONS, ETC

12. CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER SPECIFICATIONS, LARGE SCALE DETAILS
TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER PLANS AND ELEVATIONS AND ENGINEERING DRAWINGS TAKE
PRECEDENCE OVER ARCHITECTURAL GRAPHIC REPRESENTATIONS

13. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVAL OF ALL CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS AND
FINAL CLEANING

14. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING WITH TENANT FACILITIES FOR
LOCATION OF TEMPORARY RESTROOM, DUMPSTER OTHER TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND
EQUIPMENT

15. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR KNOWING AND COMPLYING WITH ALL LOCAL
ORDINANCES REGARDING NOISE, WORK HOURS, ETC

ABBREVIATIONS

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

THIS IMAGE SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY

EXISTING TWO- STORY
BEAUFORT COUNTY
ADMINISTRATION BUILDING

IN ADDITION TO THIS SET OF DRAWINGS,
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS INCLUDE THE

PROJECT MANUAL PREPARED BY
BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD, LLC AND

DATED MAY 20, 2023 AND ALL
ADDENDUM ISSUED DURING THE BID

PERIOD

THIS PROJECT IS LIMITED TO THE FIRST
FLOOR OF THE EXISTING BUILDING.

THERE IS NO WORK ON THE EXISTING
SECOND FLOOR

THIS PROJECT DOES NOT ALTER THE
EXISTING OCCUPANCY TYPE OR LOAD,

EGRESS ROUTES, DISTANCES OR
WIDTHS OR ANY OTHER LIFE SAFETY

COMPONENTS OR SYSTEMS

EXISTING BUILDING IS FULLY
FIRE SPRINKLERED

COVER SHEET, 
SHEET INDEX AND
SCOPE OF WORK

G-101
578

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A/C AIR CONDITIONER(ING) AIR CONDITIONER(ING) AFF ABOVE FINISH(ED) FLOOR ABOVE FINISH(ED) FLOOR ASTM AMERICAN SOCIETY  FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS AMERICAN SOCIETY  FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS BOT BOTTOM BOTTOM CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT CONT CONTINUOUS  CONTINUOUS  CLG CEILING CEILING DHEC DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL DEMO DEMOLITION / DEMOLISH DEMOLITION / DEMOLISH DP DESIGN PRESSURE DESIGN PRESSURE EIFS EXTERIOR INSULATION FINISH SYSTEMS  EXTERIOR INSULATION FINISH SYSTEMS  EQUIP EQUIPMENT EQUIPMENT EX EXISTING OR EXTERIOR EXISTING OR EXTERIOR EXT EXTERIOR EXTERIOR FE FIRE EXTINGUISHER FIRE EXTINGUISHER FIN FINISH FINISH FL FLOOR FLOOR GWB GYPSUM WALL BOARD GYPSUM WALL BOARD IBC INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE ICC INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL LFT LINEAR FEET LINEAR FEET MFR MANUFACTURER MANUFACTURER MIN MINIMUM  MINIMUM  N/A NOT APPLICABLE NOT APPLICABLE NFPA NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION CONT. NUMBER NUMBER OC ON CENTER ON CENTER OSB ORIENTED STRAND BOARD ORIENTED STRAND BOARD PSF POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT  POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT  SF SQUARE FEET (FOOT) SQUARE FEET (FOOT) TYP TYPICAL TYPICAL V.I.F. VERIFY IN FIELD VERIFY IN FIELD # NUMBERNUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AX.XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
000.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN FLOOR ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
X###

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOILET ACCESSORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING EQUIPMENT SYMBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
#

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMN LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOM NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
X-101

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENLARGED DETAIL OR PLAN DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
X-101

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARTITION TYPE INDICATOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEIGHT ABOVE FIN FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPOT ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEWORK OR MILLWORK ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
(CORRESPONDS WITH ROOM NUMBER)

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEWORK OR MILLWORK ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
X-101

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONDITIONS PHOTOGRAPH

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING KEYNOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAUFORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH CAROLINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
85

AutoCAD SHX Text
85

AutoCAD SHX Text
95

AutoCAD SHX Text
95

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIBAUT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAY ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUKE ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAGGETT ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENE ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAMMER ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SYCAMORE ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
100 RIBAUT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAUFORT, SC 29902 

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



Architectural:

DESIGNER FIRM NAME LICENSE # TELEPHONE #

Civil:

Electrical:

Fire Alarm:

Plumbing:

Mechanical:

Sprinkler-Standpipe:

Structural:

Other

EMAIL

Retaining Walls >5' High:

2021  BUILDING CODE:

CONTACT:

ENERGY SUMMARY 

Door R-values:
Projection Factor:
Solar hear gain coefficient:
U-Value of assembly:

Openings (windows or doors with glazing)
R-Value of insulation:
U-Value of total assembly:
Description of assembly:

Exterior Walls (each assembly)

Total square footage of skylight in each assembly
U-Value of skylight:

Skylights in each assembly
R-Value of insulation:
U-Value of total assembly:
Description of assembly:

Roof/Ceiling Assembly (each assembly)

Existing building envelope complies with code:

The following data shall be considered minimum and any special attribute required to meet the North Carolina
Energy Conservation Code shall also be provided.  Each Designer shall furnish the required portions of the project
information for the plan data sheet.  If performance method, state the annual energy cost for the standard reference
design vs. annual energy cost for the proposed design.

ENERGY REQUIREMENTS:

Climate Zone:

THERMAL ENVELOPE: (Prescriptive method only)

R-Value of insulation:
U-Value of total assembly:
Description of assembly:

Walls below grade (each assembly)

R-Value of insulation:
U-Value of total assembly:
Description of assembly:

Floors over unconditioned space (each assembly)

R-Value of insulation:
U-Value of total assembly:
Description of assembly:

Floors slab on grade

Horizontal/vertical requirement: 
Slab heated:

Description of unit:

Summer dry bulb:
Winter dry bulb:

Thermal Zone

MECHANICAL SYSTEMS, SERVICE SYSTEMS AND EQUIPMENT

Summer dry bulb:
Winter dry bulb:

Interior design conditions

Relative humidity:

Building heating load:
Building cooling load:
Mechanical Spacing Conditioning System

Unitary

Heating efficiency:

Cooling efficiency:

Size category of unit:

Size category. If oversized, state reason:

Boiler

Size category. If oversized, state reason:

Chiller

Method of compliance:

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM AND EQUIPMENT

Lighting Schedule (each fixture type)

Lamp type required in fixture

Number of lamps in fixture

Ballast type used in the fixture

Number of ballasts in fixture

Total wattage per fixture

Total interior wattage specified vs. allowed
(whole building or space by space)

Total exterior wattage specified vs. allowed

C406.2 More Efficient HVAC Equipment Performance

C406.3 Reduced Lighting Power Density

C406.4 Enhanced Digital Lighting Controls

C406.5 On-Site Renewable Energy

C406.6 Dedicated Outdoor Air System

C406.7 Reduced Energy Use in Service Water Heating

List equipment efficiencies:

Name of Project:

Address:

Owner or Authorized Agent: Phone #:

Owned By:

Code Enforcement Jurisdiction:

Zip Code:

E-Mail

(“Other” should include firms and individuals such as truss, precast, pre-engineered, interior designers, etc.)

2021  EXISTING BUILDING CODE:
CONSTRUCTED: (date) CURRENT OCCUPANCY(S) (Ch.3)

(date) PROPOSED OCCUPANCY(S) (Ch.3)RENOVATED: 
OCCUPANCY CATEGORY (Table 1604.5): Current: Proposed:

BASIC BUILDING DATA
Construction Type: 
Sprinklers:
Standpipes:
Primary Fire District:

Special Inspections Required: 
Floor Hazard Area: 

GROSS BUILDING AREA TABLE

FLOOR NEW (SQ FT) COMMENTS

6th Floor

TOTAL

5th Floor

4th Floor

3rd Floor

2nd Floor

2nd Floor Balcony

1st Floor

Basement

RENOVATEDEXISTING (SQ FT)

ALLOWABLE AREA
Primary Occupancy Classification(s):
Accessory Occupancy Classification(s):
Incidental Uses (Table 509):
Special Uses (Chapter 4 – List Code Sections):
Special Provisions: (Chapter 5 – List Code Sections):
Mixed Occupancy: Separation: Exception:

1.00

1.00

...

Allowable Area of Occupancy B
Actual Area of Occupancy B

Allowable Area of Occupancy A
Actual Area of Occupancy A

Frontage increase is based on the unsprinklered area value in Table 506.2.5

The maximum area of open parking garages must comply with Table 406.5.4. The maximum area of air traffic control towers must comply
with Table 412.3.1.

4

Maximum Building Area = total number of stories in the building x D (maximum3 stories) (506.2).3

2 Unlimited area applicable under conditions of Section 507.

1

f (%)e.   Percent of frontage increase  I   = 100 [F/P - 0.25] x W/30 =

(W)d.  Minimum width of public way (W) =

(F/P)c.  Ratio (F/P) =

(P)b.  Total Building Perimeter (P) =

(F)a.  Perimeter which fronts a public way or open space having 20 feet minimum width =
Frontage area increases from Section 506.2 are computed thus:

2,3
1,5

4

ALLOWABLE HEIGHT

Building Height in Stories (Table 504.4)

Building Height in Feet (Table 504.3)

CODE REFERENCESHOWN ON PLANSALLOWABLE

Stories:

Feet:

Stories:

Feet:

Provide code reference if the "Shown on Plans" quantity is not based on Table 504.3 or 504.4.1

(A)
BLDG AREA
PER STORY
(ACTUAL)

(B)
ALLOWABLE

AREA
TABLE 506.2

STORY
NO.

DESCRIPTION AND
USE

(C)
AREA FOR
FRONTAGE
INCREASE

(D)
ALLOWABLE

AREA PER
STORY OR

UNLIMITED

FIRE PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS (CHAPTER 7)

REQUIRED
RATING TABLE 601

BUILDING ELEMENT

Bearing Walls

Tenant Separation

Smoke Barrier Separation

Party/Fire Wall Separation

Corridor Separation

Interior

South

West

East

North

Exterior

Nonbearing Walls and Partitions

Interior

South

West

East

North

Exterior

Shaft Enclosures - Exit

Shaft Enclosures - Other

Incidental Separation

* Indicate section number permitting reduction  

Structural Frame
including columns,
girders, trusses

SHEET #
FOR RATED

JOINTS

SHEET #
FOR RATED
PENETRATION

DESIGN #
FOR RATED
ASSEMBLY

DETAIL #
AND

SHEET #
PROVIDED
(W/_______*

REDUCTION)

FIRE
SEPARATION

DISTANCE
(FEET)

Floor Construction
including supporting
beams and joists

Roof Construction
including supporting
beams and joists

FIRE PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS (CONT.)

Floor Ceiling Assembly

Columns Supporting Floors

Roof Ceiling Assembly

Columns Supporting Roof

REQUIRED
RATING

BUILDING ELEMENT
SHEET #

FOR RATED
JOINTS

SHEET #
FOR RATED
PENETRATION

DESIGN #
FOR RATED
ASSEMBLY

DETAIL #
AND

SHEET #
PROVIDED
(W/_______*

REDUCTION)

FIRE
SEPARATION

DISTANCE
(FEET)

Occupancy/Fire Barrier
Separation

PERCENTAGE OF WALL OPENING CALCULATIONS

ACTUAL SHOWN ON PLANS
(%)

ALLOWABLE AREA
(%)

DEGREE OF OPENING
PROTECTION
(TABLE 705.8)

FIRE SEPARATION
DISTANCE (FEET) FROM

PROPERTY LINES

LIFE SAFETY SYSTEMS REQUIREMENTS 
Emergency Lighting:
Exit Signs:
Fire Alarm:
Smoke Detection Systems:
Carbon Monoxide Detection:

LIFE SAFETY PLAN REQUIREMENTS 

Fire and /or smoke rated wall locations (Chapter 7)
Assumed and real property line locations (if not on the site plan)
Exterior wall opening area with respect to distance to assumed property lines (705.8)
Occupancy Use for each area as it relates to occupant load calculation (Table 1004.5)
Occupant load for each area
Exit access travel distances (1017)
Common path of travel distances (Tables 1006.2.1 & 1006.3.2(1))
Dead end lengths (1020.4)
Clear exit widths for each exit door

Actual occupant load for each exit door

Location of doors with panic hardware (1010.1.10)
Location of doors with delayed egress locks and the amount of delay (1010.1.9.7)
Location of doors with electromagnetic egress locks (1010.2.14)
Location of doors equipped with hold-open devices
Location of emergency escape windows (1030)
The square footage of each fire area (202)
The square footage of each smoke compartment for Occupancy Classification I-2 (407.5)
Note any code exceptions or table notes that may have been utilized regarding the items above

Maximum calculated occupant load capacity each exit door can accommodate based on egress
width (1005.3)

A separate schematic plan indicating where fire rated floor/ceiling and/or roof structure is
provided for purpose of occupancy separation

ACCESSIBLE DWELLING UNITS
(SECTION  1108)

TOTAL
ACCESSIBLE UNITS

PROVIDED

TYPE B
UNITS

PROVIDED

TYPE B
UNITS

REQUIRED

TYPE A
UNITS

PROVIDED

TYPE A
UNITS

REQUIRED

ACCESSIBLE
UNITS

PROVIDED

ACCESSIBLE
UNITS

REQUIRED

TOTAL
UNITS

PROVIDEDREQUIRED VAN SPACES WITH
# OF ACCESSIBLE SPACES PROVIDEDTOTAL # OF PARKING SPACES

TOTAL

LOT OR PARKING
AREA

TOTAL #
ACCESSIBLE
PROVIDED

ACCESSIBLE PARKING
(SECTION  1106)

REGULAR WITH
5' ACCESS AISLE 132" ACCESS

AISLE
8' ACCESS

AISLE

FEMALEMALE

WATERCLOSETS

TOTAL PROVIDED

USE URINALS LAVATORIES DRINKING FOUNTAINS

FEMALEMALE

TOTAL REQUIRED

Life Safety Plan Sheet #: 

PLUMBING FIXTURES REQUIREMENTS
(TABLE 2902.1)

UNISEX UNISEX

SERVICE
SINK

REGULAR ACCESSIBLE

Special approval: (Local Jurisdiction, Department of Insurance, OSC, DPI, DHHS, ICC, etc., describe below)

SPECIAL APPROVALS

Exempt Building:

Method of Compliance:
(If “Other” specify source here)

DESIGN LOADS:

Importance Factors:

Live Loads:

Wind Load:

Wind (Iw)

Snow (Is)

Seismic (Ie)

Roof:

Floor:

Floor:

psf

psf

psf

Ground Snow Load:

%g

Basic Wind Speed:

Exposure Category:

SEISMIC DESIGN CATEGORY:

Provide the following Seismic Design Parameters: 

Basic Structural System (Check one)

Spectral Response Acceleration: Ss %gS1

Data Source:

Analysis Procedure:

Architectural, Mechanical, Components anchored? 

Occupancy Category: (Table 1604.5)

LATERAL DESIGN CONTROL:

SOIL BEARING CAPACITIES:

Pile sizes, type, and capacity
psf

Occupancy Category: (Table 1604.5)

mph (ASCE-7)

Site Classification (ASCE 7)

STRUCTURAL DESIGN
(PROVIDE ON THE STRUCTURAL SHEETS IF APPLICABLE)

psf

MECHANICAL DESIGN
(PROVIDE ON THE MECHANICAL SHEETS IF APPLICABLE)

MECHANICAL SUMMARY

ELECTRICAL DESIGN
(PROVIDE ON THE ELECTRICAL SHEETS IF APPLICABLE)

ELECTRICAL SUMMARY

Additional Efficiency Package Options
(When using the 2018 NCECC; not required for ASHRAE 90.1)

TABLE 705.8

2021 APPENDIX B
BUILDING CODE SUMMARY FOR ALL COMMERCIAL PROJECTS

(EXCEPT 1 AND 2-FAMILY DWELLINGS AND TOWNHOUSES)

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

** EXISTING BUILDING IS FULLY SPRINKLER PER TABLE 1020.1  

EXIST
FACP

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

A5
NTS

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

THIS PROJECT DOES NOT CHANGE OR ALTER THE
EXISTING BUILDING OCCUPANCY, OCCUPANT LOAD,
CONSTRUCTION TYPE, LIFE SAFETY SYSTEMS, FIRE

RATED ASSEMBLIES OR EXIT/ EGRESS
COMPONENTS

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

BUILDING STRUCTURE

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

MECHANICAL SYSTEM

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM

NO CHANGE TO EXISTING

BUILDING THERMAL

ENVELOPE

2021 INTERNATIONAL
BUILDING CODE
SUMMARY

G-102
FIRST FLOOR PLAN
OCCUPANCY DIAGRAM

B5
NTS

SECOND FLOOR PLAN
OCCUPANCY DIAGRAM

1

sq. ft.

DESCRIPTION
SPACE

OR
AREAUSE GROUP AREA PER

OCCUPANT
(TABLE 1004.1.1)

TOTAL =

BUILDING:
OCCUPANT LOAD SUMMARY
2021 IBC SECTION 1004, TABLE 1004.5

150 GROSS

CALCULATED
OCCUPANT

LOAD
(a/b)

11,150 SF 78

STORAGE/SERVICE (S) 300 GROSS344 SF 2

BUSINESS (B)

RESTROOMS -518 SF -

15 NET 370 SF 26

CIRCULATION / UNOCCUPIED -4,327 SF -

FIRST FLOOR

SUBTOTAL FIRST FLOOR:

SECOND FLOOR

SUBTOTAL SECOND FLOOR:

NOTES:
1. CORRIDORS, RESTROOMS AND OTHER SIMILAR SPACES ARE CONSIDERED

UNOCCUPIED. WHEN OCCUPIED, THE OCCUPANTS ARE TRANSIENT AND HAVE
VACATED ANOTHER OCCUPIED SPACE THEREFORE, THE BUILDING OCCUPANT
LOAD DOES NOT CHANGE

2. PER IBC SECTION 1004.6 OCCUPANT LOADS FOR AREAS WITH FIXED SEATING
ARE CALCULATED BY THE NUMBER OF PROVIDED FIXED SEATS

172

101

273

150 GROSS14,602 SF 99

STORAGE/SERVICE  (S) 300 GROSS523 SF 2

BUSINESS (B)

RESTROOMS -446 SF -

CIRCULATION / UNOCCUPIED -2,611 -

NOTE 21,621 SF 45
COUNCIL CHAMBER

ASSEMBLY (A) W/ FIXED SEATS

5 NET 102 SF 21

ASSEMBLY (A)
UNCONCENTRATED

ASSEMBLY (A)
STANDING SPACE

18,432

18,182

579

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAUFORT COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING INTERIOR RENOVATION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
100 RIBAUT ROAD BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF BEAUFORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DANIEL C. SALTRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
7155

AutoCAD SHX Text
(704) 618-1302

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAN@BEAUFORTDESIGNBUILD.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DANIEL C. SALTRICK, AIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
(843) 466-3664

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAN@BEAUFORTDESIGNBUILD.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
29902  

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DANIEL C. SALTRICK, AIA - BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD LLC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1989 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUSINESS (B)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
II

AutoCAD SHX Text
II

AutoCAD SHX Text
IIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
?

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,982

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,982

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,982

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,982

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
(B) BUSINESS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
**

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
YES

AutoCAD SHX Text
YES

AutoCAD SHX Text
YES

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO CHANGE TO THE PARKING COUNT AND ACCESSIBLE PARKING ASSOCIATED WITH THE EXISTING BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUSINESS  (B)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO SPECIAL APPROVALS REQUIRED

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
ComCheck

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
2021 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO LIMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAUFORT COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/100

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH 0'-0

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST >33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST >33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH 0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO LIMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO LIMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO LIMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUSINESS (B)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,982 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST FLOOR - BUSINESS (B)

AutoCAD SHX Text
23,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/25 FIRST 50 1/50 REM 50

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/40 FIRST 80 1/80 REM 80

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



BUILDING DIAGONAL

EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL DISTANCE

START OF TRAVEL DISTANCE / COMMON PATH
OF EGRESS TRAVEL

END OF COMMON PATH OF EGRESS TRAVEL
POINT AT WHICH TWO EXIT PATHS ARE
AVAILABLE

EXIT DISCHARGE
· SINGLE OR DOUBLE DOOR WITH A

MINIMUM 34" CLEAR OPENING
· CEILING MOUNTED  ILLUMINATED EXIT

SIGN
· ILLUMINATED EXIT SIGN AND EMERGENCY

EXIT LIGHT COMBO ON INSIDE AND
EMERGENCY LIGHT ON OUTSIDE. 90
MINUTE BATTERY BACKUP ON ALL

ROOM TAG
· ROOM NAME
· ROOM NUMBER
· ROOM SQ FT / GROSS OR NET PER

NUMBER OF OCCUPANTS

INTERIOR EMERGENCY EGRESS LIGHT AND
EXIT SIGN WITH 90 MIN. EMERGENCY BATTERY
BACKUP.

EXTERIOR EMERGENCY EGRESS LIGHT WITH
90 MIN EMERGENCY BATTERY BACKUP

LED EXIT SIGN WITH LED EMERGENCY
"LIGHT PIPE"
PROVIDE WITH 90 MINUTE BATTERY BACKUP
AND PUSH TO TEST SWITCH.  ARROW
INDICATES DIRECTION OF EGRESS TRAVEL

PORTABLE HAND HELD TYPE K FIRE
EXTINGUISHER MOUNTED TO WALL IN
MANUFACTURER PROVIDED BRACKET.

NOTE:  PROVIDE BLOCKING IN WALL AND
MOUNT IN ACCORDANCE WITH
MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS/
MOUNTED WITH TOP NO MORE THAN 5'-0"
AFF. REVIEW EXTINGUISHER TYPES AND
LOCATIONS WITH LOCAL FIRE MARSHALL
PRIOR TO INSTALLING BLOCKING.
EXTINGUISHER AND INSTALLATION PER
NFPA 10

NAME
NAME
NAME
###

### SF / GROSS-NET
@ ### SF PER =

## PERSONS

FE

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO CHANGES TO
EXISTING CONDITIONS

EXISTING - 2 HOUR FIRE RATED WALL

GENERAL NOTES:

LEGEND:

A. ALL EXIT DOORS SHALL BE EQUIPPED WITH EXIT SIGNS AND EMERGENCY
EGRESS LIGHT.

B. COORDINATE FIRE EXTINGUISHER TYPES AND LOCATIONS WITH FIRE MARSHALL
PRIOR TO INSTALLING.

SHEET KEY NOTES:
1. EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL DISTANCE MEASURED TO PUBLIC WAY

2. KNOX BOX - COORDINATE REQUIREMENT AND INSTALLATION LOCATION WITH
FIRE MARSHAL

2021 IBC EGRESS REQUIREMENTS:
OCCUPANT LOAD: 273 PEOPLE

BUILDING IS FIRE SPRINKLERED YES

OCCUPANCY TYPE: BUSINESS (B) ASSEMBLY (A3)

EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL DISTANCE : 300'-0" (ACTUAL = 198'-0")

MAXIMUM DEAD END CORRIDOR: 50'-0" (ACTUAL = 15'-6")

MINIMUM NUMBER OF EXITS: 4 (ACTUAL = 6)

MINIMUM CORRIDOR WIDTH: 44" (ACTUAL =48")

EGRESS NOTES:

1. BUILDING DIAGONAL IS = 200'-4"

2. REQUIRED DISTANCE BETWEEN  EXIT DOORS IS 66'-10" (1/3 OF DIAGONAL).
ACTUAL DISTANCE IS 98'-8"

3. ALL EGRESS DOORS ARE 36" WIDE AND PROVIDE A MINIMUM 34" CLEAR OPENING

4. PRIMARY OCCUPANCY IS: BUSINESS  (B)

INTERIOR FINISH CLASSIFICATION:
· INTERIOR EXIT STAIR WALLS AND RAMPS AND EXIT PASSAGEWAYS: FLAME CLASS

"B" FLAME SPREAD INDEX 26-76; SMOKE DEVELOPED INDEX 0-450

· CORRIDORS AND ENCLOSURE FOR EXIT ACCESS STAIRWAYS AND RAMPS: FLAME
CLASS "C" FLAME SPREAD INDEX 76-200; SMOKE DEVELOPED INDEX 0-450

· ROOMS AND ENCLOSED SPACES:  FLAME CLASS "C" FLAME SPREAD INDEX 76-200;
SMOKE DEVELOPED INDEX 0-450

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

ENTRY
VESTIBULE

101

CORRIDOR
102

CO
RR

ID
OR

10
5

OFFICE 03
106

CORRIDOR
111

STORAGE
109

CORRIDOR
123

WORK
137

OFFICE
136

BREAKROOM
133

CONFERENCE
130

COUNCIL
CHAMBER

124

RECEPTIONIST
104

OFFFICE
103

MEN'S
RESTROOM

135

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

134

STORAGE
129

STORAGE
126

CORRIDOR
123

OFFICE 07
140

OFFICE 08
139

OFFICE 09
138

CONFERENCE
141

OFFICE 01
112

OFFICE 01
113

OFFICE 01
114

OFFICE 01
115

OFFICE 01
116

OFFICE 01
117

OFFICE 01
118

OFFICE 01
121

OFFICE 01
122

OFFICE 01
120

CORRIDOR
119

STORAGE
127

MEN'S
RESTROOM

131
WOMEN'S

RESTROOM
132

CO
RR

ID
OR

14
2

WORK
AREA
143 OFFICE

144

OFFICE
145

OFFICE
146

OFFICE
147

OFFICE
149

VESTIBULE
150

WORK
AREA
148

OFFICE
151

OFFICE
152

OFFICE
153

OFFICE
154

OFFICE
156

PAYMENTS
157

OFFICE
158

OPEN
OFFICE

159

STORAGE
125

ELECTRICAL
160

EXIST
FACP

TELECOM
155

OFFICE 01
110

OFFICE 01
108

CORRIDOR
161

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

BUILDING DIAGONAL =200'-4"

15
'-6

"

5'
-7

"

14'-10"

16
'-5

"

EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL DISTANCE = 144'-7"

COMMON PATH OF EGRESS TRAVEL = 82'-0"

EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL DISTANCE = 128'-7"

CLEAR 34"

CLEAR 68"CLEAR 68"

CLEAR 34"

4'
-0

"

CLEAR 34"

CLEAR 34"

OCCUPANCY: (B)
3,771 SF/GROSS

150 SF x PERSON =
26 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (B)
3,588 SF/GROSS

150 SF x PERSON =
24 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (B)
1,215 SF/GROSS

150 SF x PERSON =
9 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (B)
814 SF/GROSS

150 SF x PERSON =
6 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (B)
1,112 SF/GROSS

150 SF x PERSON =
8 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (B)
650 SF/GROSS

150 SF x PERSON =
5 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (A)
1,621 SF/NET

(IBC 1004.6 Fixed Seats)=
45 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (A)
285 SF/NET

15 SF x PERSON =
19 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (A)
149 SF/NET

15 SF x PERSON =
10 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (S)
TOTAL OF 344 SF/GROSS

300 SF x PERSON =
2 PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (A)
102 SF/NET

5 SF x PERSON =
20 PEOPLE

EX
IT

 A
C

C
ES

S 
TR

AV
EL

 D
IS

TA
N

C
E 

= 
10

4'
-0

"

EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL DISTANCE = 123'-5"

CLEAR 68"

CLEAR 68" CLEAR 68"

4'-0"

OCCUPANCY: (A)
52 SF/NET 15 SF

x PERSON = 4
PEOPLE

OCCUPANCY: (A)
33 SF/NET 15 SF

x PERSON = 3
PEOPLE

EXISTING BUILDING IS
FULLY FIRE SPRINKLERED

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

LIFE SAFETY PLAN

G-103LIFE SAFETY FIRST FLOOR PLAN A2
0 4' 8' 16'1/8" = 1'-0"

MAXIMUM CALCULATED
OCCUPANT LOAD DISCHARGE

CAPACITY THROUGH DOOR=  170
ACTUAL OCCUPANT LOAD

CAPACITY= 32

MAXIMUM CALCULATED
OCCUPANT LOAD DISCHARGE

CAPACITY THROUGH DOOR=  340
ACTUAL OCCUPANT LOAD

CAPACITY= 32

MAXIMUM CALCULATED
OCCUPANT LOAD DISCHARGE

CAPACITY THROUGH STAIR=  113
ACTUAL OCCUPANT LOAD

CAPACITY= 51

MAXIMUM CALCULATED
OCCUPANT LOAD DISCHARGE

CAPACITY THROUGH DOOR=  340
ACTUAL OCCUPANT LOAD

CAPACITY= 45

MAXIMUM CALCULATED
OCCUPANT LOAD DISCHARGE

CAPACITY THROUGH DOOR=  170
ACTUAL OCCUPANT LOAD

CAPACITY= 32

MAXIMUM CALCULATED
OCCUPANT LOAD DISCHARGE
CAPACITY THROUGH DOOR=  340
ACTUAL OCCUPANT LOAD
CAPACITY= 32

MAXIMUM CALCULATED
OCCUPANT LOAD DISCHARGE
CAPACITY THROUGH STAIR=  113
ACTUAL OCCUPANT LOAD
CAPACITY= 51

580

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



36" MIN

X>
24

"

27
" M

IN

8" MIN

X 
> 

80
"

4" MAX

X 
> 

27
"

43
" M

IN

43" MIN X<52" 43" MIN

60
" M

IN

36" MIN

54
" M

IN

42" MIN 42
" M

IN
24" MIN

48
" M

IN
 *

42
" M

IN
 *

24" MIN

60" MIN 60" MIN

34
" -

 3
8"

 A
FF

12" MIN

12" MIN

x

12" MIN

x

34
" M

AX

304 WHEELCHAIR TURNING SPACE

Circular Turning Space-
New Buildings Size and Overlap

Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 304.3.1.1

67" MIN

Forward Approach
Clear Floor Space
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 305.5 (A) Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 305.5 (B)

Parallel Approach
Clear Floor Space

305 CLEAR FLOOR SPACE

Maneuvering Clearance for a
Forward Approach to an Alcove
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 305.7.2

Maneuvering Clearance for a
Parallel Approach to an Alcove
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017 Fig. 305.7.1

306 KNEE & TOE CLEARANCE; 606 LAVATORIES & SINKS;
902 SEATING AT TABLES, COUNTERS, & WORK SURFACES

Toe Clearance - Elevation
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 306.2(A) & 606.3

Knee Clearance
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 306.3(A) & 606.3

34
" M

AX

307 PROTRUDING OBJECTS

Limits of Protruding Objects
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 307.2

Single Post-Mounted
Protruding Object
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 307.3 (A)

4" 4"

X>
27

" A
N

D
 <

80
"

Multiple Post-Mounted
Protruding Objects
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 307.3 (B)

27
" M

AX
.

X>12 >2
7"

 A
N

D
 <

80
"

X<12

27
" M

AX
. X 

< 
80

"

Reduced Vertical Clearance
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 307.4

403 ACCESSIBLE ROUTES

Clear Width of an Accessible Route
New Buildings- Interior
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.1(A)

36" MIN

24
" M

AX
.

52
" M

IN
24

" M
AX

36" MIN

32" MIN

Clear Width at 180-Degree Turn
New Buildings- Option 3
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.2.1(C)

404 DOORS AND DOORWAYS

 Hinge Approach, Pull Side
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (D)

Hinge Approach, Pull Side
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (E)

Hinge Approach, Push Side
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (F)

 Latch Approach, Pull Side
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (G)

Latch Approach, Push Side
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (H)

48"MIN64" MIN

Two Doors in Series- New Buildings
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.5 (C)

Two Doors in Series- New Building
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.5 (A)

Ramp Landing at Straight Run
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 405.7 (A)

60" MIN

60
" M

IN

Ramp Landing at Turn
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 405.7 (B)

Extended Surface
Ramp Edge Protection
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 405.9.1

12" 12"

Extended Surface
Ramp Barrier Protection
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 405.9.2.2

< 
 4

"

405 RAMPS

Clear Width
of Hinged Door
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017
       Fig. 404.2.2 (A)

Clear Width
of Sliding Door
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017
       Fig. 404.2.2 (B)

Clear Width
of Folding Door
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017
       Fig. 404.2.2 (C)

32" MIN

90
°

504 STAIRWAYS

Stair Nosing's
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 504.5

Treads and Risers for Accessible Stairways
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 504.2

11" MIN

505 HANDRAILS

Top and Bottom Handrail
Extensions and Height at Stairs
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 505.4 (A),
       Fig. 505.10.2, and Fig. 505.10.3

Top and Bottom Handrail
Extensions and Height at Ramps
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 505.4 (B)
       & Fig. 505.10.1

4"-6 1/4" PERIMETER 2-1/4" MAX

Handrail Clearance and Cross Section
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 505.5 & Fig. 505.7 (A-C)

308 REACHING RANGES

15
" M

IN

48
" M

AX

Unobstructed
Forward Reach
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017,
       Fig. 308.2.1

20" Max. Obstructed
High Forward Reach

48
" M

AX

20" MAX

44
" M

AX

>20" - 25"

20-25" Max. Obstructed
High Forward Reach

Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017,
       Fig. 308.2.2 (A)

Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017,
       Fig. 308.2.2 (B)

Unobstructed
Side Reach
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017,
       Fig. 308.3.1

10" Max. Obstructed
High Side Reach

24" Max. Obstructed
High Side Reach

Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017,
       Fig. 308.3.2 (A)

Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017,
       Fig. 308.3.2 (B)

15
" M

IN

48
" M

AX

34
" M

AX

34
" M

AX

34
" M

AX

48
" M

AX

34
" M

AX

46
" M

AX

10" MAX
>10"-24"

MAX

60
" M

IN

18" MIN

52
" M

IN12" MIN *

Front Approach, Pull Side
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (A)

Front Approach, Push Side
New Buildings
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (B)

60" MIN.

30°

* Note: Where closer and latch are provided

12" MIN

12" MIN

27
" M

AX

60"

17
"-

19
" A

FF

36" Min Clear

3'-6"

17
"-

19
" A

FF

36" Min Clear

3'-9"

2"
 C

ur
b

17
"-

19
" A

FF

36" Min Clear

3'-6"

17
"-

19
" A

FF

12" 12"

Passing Space-
New Building 60x60 Option
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.4.1(A)

60" MIN

36
" M

IN
52

" M
IN

32" MIN
32" MIN

1/2"RADIUS

10
" M

AX

Circular Turning Space-
Existing Buildings Size and Overlap

Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 304.3.1.2

60" MIN

25
" M

AX

T-shaped Turning Space
New Buildings - Option 1
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 304.3.2.1(A)

68" MIN

36
" M

IN

60
" M

IN

36" MIN

24
"M

IN

16" 16"

8"

8"

T-shaped Turning Space
New Buildings - Option 2
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 304.3.2.1(B)

64" MIN

38
" M

IN

42" MIN11" 11"

60
" M

IN

22
" M

IN

T-shaped Turning Space
New Buildings - Option 3
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 304.3.2.1(C)

40
" M

IN

40" MIN12" 12"

60
" M

IN

20
" M

IN

30
" M

IN

Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 305.3.1 Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 305.3.2

Size of Clear Floor Space
Existing Buildings

48" MIN

30
" M

IN

Size of Clear Floor Space
New Buildings

52" MIN

X>
15

"

9"
 M

IN
6" MAX 11" MIN

9"
 M

IN

SIGN

POST

4"

>8
0"

X<12

4"

UNLIMITED

 UNLIMITED

 UNLIMITED

10" MAX

Clear Width of an Accessible Route
Existing Buildings- Interior
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.1(C)

36" MIN

24
" M

AX
48

" M
IN

24
" M

AX

36" MIN

32" MIN

32" MIN 32" MIN

60
" M

IN

36" MIN X<52" 36" MIN

Clear Width at 180-Degree Turn
New Buidings- Option 1
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.2.1(A)

48
" M

IN

42" MIN X<52" 42" MIN

Clear Width at 180-Degree Turn
New Buildings- Option 2
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.2.1(B)

48
" M

IN

42" MIN X<48" 42" MIN

Clear Width at 180-Degree Turn
Existing Buildings
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.2.2(A)

Passing Space-
New Building T-Turn Option
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.4.1(B)

64" MIN

36" MIN 52" MIN

36
" M

IN 60
" M

IN

T-Turn
Complying
with Section
304.3.2.1

Passing Space-
Existing Building 60x60 Option
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.4.2(A)

60" MIN

36
" M

IN
48

" M
IN

Passing Space-
New Building T-Turn Option
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 403.5.4.2(B)

36" MIN 48" MIN

36
" M

IN 60
" M

IN

T-Turn
Complying
with Section
304.3.2.2

Clear Width
Within Doors
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017
       Fig. 404.2.2 (D)

36" MIN

>2
4"

48
" M

IN12" MIN *

Front Approach, Push Side
Exiting Buildings
Ref: ICC/ANSI A117.1-2017, Fig. 404.2.3.2 (C)

* Note: Where closer and latch are provided

22" MIN

* Note: 48 MIN If Both closer and latch provided

* Note: 54 MIN If  Closer is provided * Note: 48 MIN If  Closer is provided

4"
M

IN
 - 

7"
M

AX

1-1/2" MAX 1-1/2" MAX

4"
M

AX17
"-

19
" A

FF

1-1/4"MIN- 2"MAX

1-1/2"MIN 1-1/2"MIN 1-1/2"MIN

36"MIN CLEAR
1-1/2" CLEAR

34
"-

38
" A

FF

36"MIN CLEAR
1-1/2" CLEAR

34
"-

38
" A

FF

34
"-

38
" A

FF

36"MIN CLEAR
1-1/2" CLEAR

36"MIN CLEAR
1-1/2" CLEAR

34
"-

38
" A

FF

4"
M

AX

404 DOORS AND DOORWAYS (CONTINUED)

60
"M

IN

DOOR WIDTH

60
"M

IN

505 HANDRAILS (CONTINUED)

36
"M

IN
 C

LE
AR

34
" -

 3
8"

52
" M

IN

30
" M

IN

52" MIN

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

TYPICAL 
ACCESSIBILITY
DETAILS

G-104
581

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAMP RUN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAMP RUN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAMP RUN

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

G-105
ASBESTOS ANALYSIS REPORTA2

PUT SUMMARY PAGE FROM ASBESTOS
REPORT HERE

ASBESTOS REPORT IS PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL AND
PERMITTING PURPOSES ONLY.  ANY ASBESTOS CONTAINING
MATERIALS REQUIRED TO BE REMOVED FOR EXECUTION OF

THE WORK WILL BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF BY THE
OWNER.  IF THE CONTRACTOR ENCOUNTERS MATERIALS
THAT ARE SUSPECTED OF CONTAINING ASBESTOS, SUCH

MATERIALS ARE TO BE LEFT IN PLACE AND THE OWNER AND
THE ARCHITECT ARE TO BE NOTIFIED IMMEDIATELY

582

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



BA C

LOCATION

INTERIOR PARTITION
INTERIOR PARTITION
INTERIOR PARTITION
INTERIOR PARTITION GREATER THAN 12'-0"

UP TO 12'-0"
UP TO 10'-0"
UP TO 8'-0"

STUD LENGTH

SEE STRUCTURAL
16 GAUGE
18 GAUGE
18 GAUGE

STUD GAUGE

METAL STUD GAUGES

25 GAUGE
20 GAUGE
SEE DETAILS

UP TO 6'-0"
UP TO 8'-0"
GREATER THAN 8'-0"BULKHEAD

BULKHEAD
BULKHEAD

20 GAUGE
25 GAUGE

UP TO 8'-0"
UP TO 4'-0"

SOFFIT
SOFFIT

GREATER THAN 8'-0""SOFFIT SEE DETAILS

ALLDOOR/WINDOW
HEAD AND JAMB

(2) 16 GAUGE

16 GAUGEALLBEHIND/SUPPORTING
CASEWORK AND COUNTERTOPS

NOTES:
1. STRUCTURAL AND UL DETAIL REQUIREMENTS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER

REQUIREMENTS OUTLINED BELOW
2. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, ALL STUDS ARE 4"

3 5/8" METAL STUDS AT 16"
O.C., TYPICAL

1-HOUR WALL ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-1

TAPE AND JOINT COMPOUND,
TYPICAL

0-HOUR RATED WALL
ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-2

3 5/8" METAL STUDS AT 16"
O.C., TYPICAL

0-HOUR WALL ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-2

TAPE AND JOINT COMPOUND,
TYPICAL

1-RATED WALL ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-1

2-HOUR WALL ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-1

TAPE AND JOINT COMPOUND,
TYPICAL

3 5/8" METAL STUDS AT 16"
O.C., TYPICAL

1-HOUR WALL ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-2

1-HOUR WALL ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-2

TAPE AND JOINT COMPOUND,
TYPICAL

2-HOUR WALL ASSEMBLY
PRIORITY-1

3 5/8" METAL STUDS AT 16"
O.C., TYPICAL

1. 4-HOUR
2. 2-HOUR FIRE/SMOKE
3. 2-HOUR FIRE
4. 1-HOUR FIRE/SMOKE

5. 1-HOUR FIRE
6. NON-RATED SMOKE
7. NON-RATED

PARTITION PRIORITIES (HIGHEST TO LOWEST):

SEE PLANS
FOR RATINGS

4"
 M

IN
.

ONE-HOUR
FIRE WALL

8'-0" MINIMUM
ONE STENCIL EACH ROOM

SEE PLANS
FOR RATINGS

4"
 M

IN
.

AT CONTINUOUS
RATED WALL

AT NON-CONTINUOUS
RATED WALL

ONE-HOUR
FIRE WALL

ONE-HOUR
FIRE WALL

NON- RATED
WALL

NEW OR EXISTING 5/8"
GYPSUM BOARD ON

METAL STUDS

PAINT CONTROL JOINT
TO MATCH WALL

AT EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD
CRACK, SAW-CUT FOR
INSTALLATION OF NEW JOINT

NEW PREFABRICATED
ALUMINUM CONTROL JOINT
TRIM WHERE SPECIFIED ON
FLOOR PLAN AND INTERIOR
ELEVATION DRAWINGS

JOINT COMPOUND
EACH SIDE OF
JOINT

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

TYPICAL INTERIOR
WALL AND 
PARTITION DETAILS

G-106TYPICAL ANCHOR / BLOCKING DETAILSA1

TYPICAL CORNER FRAMING DETAILSB1TYPICAL INTERIOR DOOR FRAMINGB2

METAL STUD GAUGESD1

PARTITION PRIORITIESE1

FIRE RATED WALL LABELINGD2

GYPSUM BOARD CONTROL JOINTE2
NTS

NTS

NTS

NTS

NTS

NTS

583

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
58" GYPSUM BOARD OR AS OTHERWISE SCHEDULED

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2) TREATED 2x12 WOOD BLOCKING CENTERED ON ANCHORS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL STUD - SIZE, SPACING AND GAUGE AS SCHEDULED OR SPECIFIED

AutoCAD SHX Text
18 GAUGE ANCHOR PLATE CUT FROM METAL STUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FASTEN EACH END WITH MIN (4) 4" TAPPING SCREWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL STUD - SIZE, SPACING AND GAUGE AS SCHEDULED OR SPECIFIED

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL STUD - SIZE, SPACING AND GAUGE AS SCHEDULED OR SPECIFIED

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN (3)  " POP RIVETS OR SELF 18" POP RIVETS OR SELF TAPPING SCREWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
20 GAUGE ANCHOR PLATE AS SCHEDULED OR SPECIFIED OR AS RECOMMENDED BY MANUFACTURER OF SUPPORTED ITEMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL MOUNTED LAVATORIES AND GRAB BARS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASEWORK AND EQUIPMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTROOM AND BREAK ROOM ACCESSORIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: ALL BLOCKING (TYPE A, B OR C) IS IDENTIFIED IN SECTION DRAWINGS WITH THE SYMBOL;      OR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROSS INTERSECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
"Y" CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
45%%D CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
END

AutoCAD SHX Text
"T" CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
90%%D CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNER BEAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
20ga. METAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUPPORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MODIFIED

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNER BEAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAPE AND

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAPE AND

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/8" GYPSUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL STUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAPE AND JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREATED WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAPE AND JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAPE AND JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/8" GYPSUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
16 GAUGE METAL STUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
16 GAUGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL STUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE 1:

AutoCAD SHX Text
OMIT BRACE WHEN "D" DIMENSION IS LESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
THAN 2'-0" [610mm] FOR GYP. WALLBD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OR 16" [400mm] FOR PLASTER PARTITION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
[152mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USECTION  B

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERTICAL STUDS @ 2'-0" [610mm] MAX.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/GYPSUM WALLBD. 1'-4" [406mm] W/GYPSUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
LATH & PLASTER DOUBLE STUDS FOR SUPPORTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. BACKER BOARD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE CONTINUOUS BRACING WHEN STUDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEED 10'-0" [3048mm] & ARE FINISHED BOTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDES

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAMB ANCHOR CLIPS 3 PER SIDE -

AutoCAD SHX Text
COORDINATE W/HINGE REINFORCEMENT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UDETAIL D

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
[13mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUNNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHEDULE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHIM AS

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQ'D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UB

AutoCAD SHX Text
GYPSUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALLBD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UISOMETRIC OF CONSTR. JT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UELEVATION AT DOOR FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UDETAIL D

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEADENING

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHERE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQ'D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANCHOR CLIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHIM AS

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQ'D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UDETAIL C

AutoCAD SHX Text
[13mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAMB

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANCHOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USECTION A

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UDETAIL C

AutoCAD SHX Text
  1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UJAMB ANCHORS

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%U(FURNISHED WITH FRAME)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQ.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQ.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
MET. DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" MAX.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
[13mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
[13mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRIPPLE STUD DO

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT ANCHOR TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEARING STUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQ

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQ

AutoCAD SHX Text
[19mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIDTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINUS 3/16" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
[5mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAMB DEPTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
[19mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
[19mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIDTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINUS 3/16

AutoCAD SHX Text
[5mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINUS 3/16

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
[5mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"MIN. [13mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/8"MAX. [16mm]

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



EX. WET POND

EX. WET POND

EX. 2-STORY COURTHOUSE BLDG
16,570 SqFt

FFE=21.0

MARSH ROAD

RIBAUT ROAD

EX. 2-STORY
ADMINISTRATION BLDG

15,940 SqFt
FFE=18.50'

RIBAUT ROAD

EXISTING BUILDING

GENERAL NOTES:

SHEET KEY NOTES:

A. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY
ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS

B. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO CARRYOUT ALL DEMOLITION
AND DISPOSAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LOCAL, STATE AND
FEDERAL REGULATIONS

C. ALL EXISTING VEGETATION AT BUILDING PERIMETER IS TO BE PROTECTED
DURING DEMO AND CONSTRUCTION. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE
FOR REMEDIATION OF REPLACEMENT OF ALL DAMAGED PLANTING

D. ALL EXISTING EGRESS ROUTES, MEAN OF EGRESS AND EXITS ARE TO BE KEPT
FREE AND CLEAR FOR THE DURATION OF DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION

E. CONTRACTOR SHALL DOCUMENT ALL EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS PRIOR TO
BEGINNING WORK.  SIDEWALKS, ASPHALT PAVING, LANDSCAPING, ETC.
DAMAGED BY STORAGE AND/OR MOVEMENT OF MATERIALS AND/OR
EQUIPMENT INTO THE BUILDING, REMOVAL OF DEMOLITION MATERIALS, ETC.
SHALL BE REPAIRED OR REPLACED AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE

LEGEND:

1. MAINTAIN ACCESS TO EXISTING DUMPSTER

2. TEMPORARY RESTROOM TO BE LOCATED INSIDE CONSTRUCTION FENCING

3. EXISTING ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES.  DO NOT BLOCK

4. CONSTRUCTION DUMPSTER TO BE LOCATED INSIDE CONSTRUCTION FENCING.
DUMPSTER SHALL BE EMPTIED WHEN IT IS FILLED TO THE TOP.  DO NOT ALLOW
TO OVERFLOW

5. EXISTING TRAFFIC CONTROL GATE

6. CONSTRUCTION FENCING AND GATE BY CONTRACTOR

7. EXISTING CONCRETE SIDEWALK

8. ALL CONSTRUCTION  TRAFFIC IS TO ACCESS THE SITE VIA MARSH ROAD

EXISTING CONCRETE SIDEWALK

FENCED CONSTRUCTION  PARKING LAYDOWN, STAGING
AND STORAGE AREA.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR SECURING AND MAINTAINING IN  A
CLEAN AND ORDERLY MANNER

CONSTRUCTION SITE ACCESS AND EXIT SHALL BE VIA
MARSH ROAD.  ALL OTHER ACCESS POINTS ARE OFF
LIMITS

EXISTING BUILDING EXIT DISCHARGE.  MAINTAIN FREE
AND CLEAR AT ALL TIMES

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

STAGING AND LAYDOWN PLANA2
1/32"  = 1'-0" 0 12' 24' 48'

CONTRACTOR SHALL
PHOTOGRAPH AND DOCUMENT
ALL EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS

BEFORE BEGINNING WORK.
DAMAGED LANDSCAPING,
PAVING, SIDEWALKS AND

OTHER SITE CONDITIONS NOT
DOCUMENTED WILL BE

REPAIRED BY THE
CONTRACTOR AT NO EXPENSE

TO THE OWNER

NO CONSTRUCTION
TRAFFIC

NO CONSTRUCTION
TRAFFIC

SITE ACCESS,
STAGING AND
LAYDOWN PLAN

AC-101

2

1

3

45

6

6

6
6

7

7

77

7

7

7

SITE ACCESS,

8

3 3

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

EXISTING PARKING LOT IS OFF LIMITS TO
CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL AND SHALL NOT
BE USED FOR PARKING, STORAGE, STAGING
OR ANY OTHER CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

584

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEAN HIGH WATER = 4.31' (NGVD29)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCRM CRITICAL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM=2.0±NWL= 4.85±TOB=8.5±

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM=2.0±NWL= 5.8±TOB=10.5±

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

EXIST
FACP

ENTRY
VESTIBULE

101

CORRIDOR
102

CO
RR

ID
OR

10
5

OFFICE 01
110

CORRIDOR
123

RECEPTION
137

WAITING
136

OFFICE
133

CONFERENCE
130

COUNCIL
CHAMBER

124

RECEPTIONIST
104

MEN'S
RESTROOM

135

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

134

STORAGE
129

STORAGE
126

STORAGE
125

CORRIDOR
123

OFFICE 09
138

CONFERENCE
141

OFFICE 01
112

OFFICE 01
113

OFFICE 01
114

OFFICE 01
115

OFFICE 01
116

OFFICE 01
117

OFFICE 01
118

OFFICE 01
121

OFFICE 01
122

OFFICE 01
120

CORRIDOR
119

STORAGE
127

MEN'S
RESTROOM

131

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

132

CO
RR

ID
OR

14
2

WORK
AREA
143 OFFICE

144

OFFICE
145

OFFICE
146

OFFICE
147

OFFICE
149

VESTIBULE
150

WORK
AREA
148

OFFICE
151

OFFICE
152

OFFICE
153

OFFICE
154

TELECOM
155

OFFICE
156

PAYMENTS
157

OFFICE
158

OPEN
OFFICE

159

1

A

1.1 2 3 3.1 4 5 5.1 6 7 7.1

B

B.1

B.2

C

D

KITCHENETTE
128

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

K-4920-T BRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

9'-7"

LEGEND:

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO WORK

EXISTING ONE-HOUR FIRE RATED PARTITION

EXISTING  WALL, PORTION OF WALL DOOR,
CASEWORK, WINDOW, ETC. TO BE DEMOLISHED AND
REMOVED AS SHOWN

EXISTING  WALL TO REMAIN

EXISTING  CONDITIONS PHOTOGRAPH STATION POINT
AND DIRECTION

1. REMOVE ALL CARPET AND VINYL COMPOSITION (VCT) FLOORING AND WALL BASE

2. REMOVE EXISTING CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND BASE IN VESTIBULE (101) AND
CLEAN AND PREPARE EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB AND GYPSUM BOARD
WALLS FOR NEW CERAMIC TILE AND BASE

3. REMOVE DOORS, FRAMES AND WALLS AS INDICATED WITH DASHED LINE

4. REMOVE  ALL WOOD TRIM, DOOR AND WINDOW CASING, WALL PANELS AND
SIMILAR MILLWORK AND WOODWORK IN THE EXISTING COUNCIL CHAMBERS.

5. REMOVE EXISTING CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND BASE IN ALL RESTROOMS. PREPARE
EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB AND GYPSUM BOARD WALLS FOR NEW
CERAMIC TILE AND BASE.

6. REMOVE EXISTING WALL TILE IN RESTROOMS AND REPLACE DAMAGED GYPSUM
BOARD WITH NEW MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD

7. IF PRESENT, ASBESTOS CONTAINING MATERIALS WILL BE REMOVED BY THE
OWNER BEFORE DEMOLITION WORK BEGINS.  IF THE CONTRACTOR ENCOUNTERS
MATERIALS SUSPECTED OF CONTAINING ASBESTOS, SUCH MATERIALS SHALL BE
LEFT IN-PLACE AND THE OWNER AND ARCHITECT ARE TO BE NOTIFIED
IMMEDIATELY

8. THIS PROJECT DOES NOT INCLUDE DEMOLITION OR MODIFICATION OF EXISTING
STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS

9. PROTECT EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM, FIRE ALARM SYSTEM AND SMOKE
DETECTORS FROM ACCIDENTAL DISCHARGE

10. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING A FIRE WATCH AT ANY TIME THAT
THE EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM OR FIRE ALARM SYSTEM IS SHUT DOWN.
COORDINATE WITH THE LOCAL FIRE MARSHALL FOR REQUIREMENTS

11. DEMOLISH EXISTING KITCHENETTE IN ITS ENTIRETY AND PATCH AND REPAIR
REMAINING SOUTH AND EAST WALLS

12. REMOVE EXISTING SINK AND CAP WATER PIPING AND SANITARY SEWER PIPING IN
WALL

DEMOLITION SCOPE OF WORK:

SHEET KEY NOTES:
1. EXISTING WALL TO BE REMOVED TO THE EXTENTS SHOWN

2. EXISTING DOOR AND FRAME TO BE REMOVED

3. EXISTING FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL TO BE PROTECTED AT ALL TIMES

4. EXISTING FLOORING, BASE AND SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING TILES TO
BE REMOVED THROUGHOUT THE PROJECT AREA (EXCEPT IN EXISTING
RESTROOMS)

5. EXISTING TEMPORARY PARTITION TO REMAIN.  MOVE AND RE-INSTALL AS
NECESSARY TO ACCOMMODATE FLOORING AND CEILING WORK

6. NO WORK ON EXISTING STOREFRONT WINDOWS OR DOORS

7. MAINTAIN EXISTING EXIT DISCHARGE FREE AND CLEAR AT ALL TIMES

8. REMOVE PORTION OF EXISTING WALL AS REQUIRED FOR NEW DOOR AND FRAME

9. REMOVE EXISTING DOOR.  MAINTAIN EXISTING HOLLOW METAL FRAME

10. REMOVE EXISTING CERAMIC TILE AND BASE IN VESTIBULE AND CLEAN AND
PREPARE EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB AND GYPSUM BOARD WALLS FOR
NEW CERAMIC TILE AND BASE.  REMOVE EXISTING WALK-OFF MAT (MAINTAIN
ALUMINUM FRAME FOR NEW MAT INSTALLATION)

11. REMOVE EXISTING CERAMIC FLOOR TILE, WALL TILE AND BASE THROUGHOUT
AND CLEAN AND PREPARE EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB AND GYPSUM
BOARD WALLS FOR NEW CERAMIC TILE AND BASE.

12. EXISTING COLUMN TO BE REMOVED

13. EXISTING PARTITION TO BE REMOVED BY OWNER AFTER CONSTRUCTION OF NEW
WALLS

14. EXISTING WOOD PANELS TO BE REMOVED

15. REMOVE EXISTING WINDOW

16. REMOVE EXITING CASEWORK

17. REMOVE EXISTING CHAIR RAILING

18. REMOVE EXISTING STORE FRONT DOOR IN CORRIDOR 102

GENERAL NOTES:
A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE

ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. EXISTING TEMPORARY PARTITIONS AROUND TELECOM EQUIPMENT TO BE
REMOVED BY OWNER

C. ALL MULTI MEDIA EQUIPMENT IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS TO BE REMOVED BY
OWNER

NEW OR EXISTING SPRINKLER
HEAD

SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE
OR GYPSUM BOARD CEILING

PLASTIC SPRINKLER HEAD PROTECTOR
WITH REMOVABLE FOAM OR MAGNETIC
ATTACHMENT TO SPRINKLER HEAD

UTILIZE AS NECESSARY TO PREVENT
DAMAGE FROM PAINTING AND AS
APPROPRIATE TO PREVENT ACCIDENTAL
DISCHARGE

SIGNS ARE THE MINIMUM THAT ARE TO BE POSTED AT
TEMPORARY BARRICADES AND ACCESS POINTS TO

CONSTRUCTION AREA.  THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE
FOR THE RESTRICTION OF ACCESS TO CONSTRUCTION AREAS

AND COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE OSHA REQUIREMENTS

SEAL BETWEEN POLE
AND WALL

PREFABRICATED
MAGNETIC DOOR

SPRING LOADED POLE SPACED
AS RECOMMENDED BY
BARRIER MANUFACTURER

EXISTING SUSPENDED
ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING

4 MIL FLAME-RESISTANT
PLASTIC SHEATHING

EXISTING GYPSUM
BOARD AND METAL
STUD PARTITION

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 C

EI
LI

N
G

 H
EI

G
H

T

NOTE:
1.     IN ADDITION TO DUST BARRIERS, CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE

CONSTRUCTION WALK-OFF (TACKY) MAT AT ALL CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE AND EXIT POINTS. REPLACE MATS AS OFTEN AS
NECESSARY TO CONTROL THE SPREAD OF DUST AND DEBRIS

EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB

EXISTING LVT, CARPET OR
CERAMIC TILE TO BE REMOVED

CUT EXISTING RUBBER BASE FREE
FROM WALL AT EDGE USING A
SHARP UTILITY KNIFE

EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD ON
METAL STUDS

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION FLOOR PLANA2

EXISTING
CONDITIONS
AND DEMOLITION
FLOOR PLAN

AD-1010 4' 8' 16'1/8" = 1'-0"

HEAD PROTECTIOND2
NTS

EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER
CONSTRUCTION WARNING SIGNSD3
NTS

MINIMUM DEMOLITION AND
TEMPORARY DUST BARRIERD4
NTS

8

1

1

1

1

9

2

2

22

9
9

3

4

4

4

4

4
4 4

4
44

44
4

4

4

4

4

4
4

4

44

4

4 4
4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

1

13

5

6

6 10

66

6

6

SEE DRAWING A-401,
ENLARGED COUNCIL

CHAMBERS PLAN FOR
SCOPE OF WORK IN

COUNCIL CHAMBERS

7

7

7

7

7

7

8

EXISTING BASE REMOVALD5
NTS

1

9

9

9 9 9 9
9 9

9 9

2

2

1

11

11

2

8

1

1

2

4'
-0

"

2

12

14 14

11
11

15

16 16

A-403

A5

A-403

A4

A-403

A2

17

14

9

9

18

585

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
AD-101

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

EXIST
FACP

1

A

1.1 2 3 3.1 4 5 5.1 6 7 7.1

B

B.1

B.2

C

D

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

K-4920-T BRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

A

GWB 9'-11½"

ACT 10'-8½"A A A

A

A

ACT 10'-8½"A A A A

ACT 10'-11"

C

A

A

A

A

A
IT

IT

C

SD SD

SD SD

SD

C

SD

C

IT

C

CCA

C

A

C

CCAA AA

IT

ITC

GENERAL NOTES:

LEGEND:

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. ALL EXISTING FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES IN THE PROJECT AREA ARE TO BE
REPLACED WITH NEW LED LIGHT FIXTURES, ON A ONE-FOR-ONE BASIS.  THIS
PROJECT DOES NOT INCREASE THE NUMBER OF LIGHT FIXTURES AND BY
REPLACING FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES WITH NEW LED LIGHT FIXTURES, IT
REDUCES THE TOTAL WATTAGE REQUIRED FOR LIGHTING THE BUILDING

C. ALL EXISTING CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES ARE TO BE REMOVED AND
RE-INSTALLED IN THE RENOVATED SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING

1. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, DEVICES ARE TO BE CENTERED IN NEW 2x2
CEILING TILES.  CUT TILES WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED

SHEET KEY NOTES:
1. EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING, LIGHT FIXTURE AND HVAC

DEVICES TO BE REMOVED, RE-INSTALLED AND RENOVATED IN THE SAME MANNER
AS OTHER SPACES IN THE PROJECT AREA

2. REMOVE EXISTING BULK HEAD TO THE EXTENTS SHOWN

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO WORK

EXISTING ONE-HOUR FIRE RATED PARTITION

EXISTING  WALL, PORTION OF WALL DOOR,
CASEWORK, WINDOW, ETC. TO BE DEMOLISHED AND
REMOVED AS SHOWN

EXISTING  WALL TO REMAIN

EXISTING  CONDITIONS PHOTOGRAPH STATION POINT
AND DIRECTION

EXISTING  2x4 SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING.
REMOVE CEILING TILES AND PREPARE GRID FOR
CONVERSION TO 2x2

EXISTING  PAINTED GYPSUM BOARD CEILING, BULKHEAD OR
SOFFIT TO REMAIN

EXISTING 2x4 FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURE TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING 1x4 SURFACE MOUNTED FLUORESCENT LIGHT
FIXTURE TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING EXIT SIGN TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN
RENOVATED CEILING OR ON PAINTED WALL AS REQUIRED AT
EACH CONDITION

EXISTING EXIT SIGN  WITH EMERGENCY EGRESS LIGHTS TO
BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN RENOVATED CEILING OR
ON PAINTED WALL AS REQUIRED AT EACH CONDITION

EXISTING HVAC SUPPLY AND RETURN GRILLES AND
DIFFUSERS TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN
RENOVATED CEILING.  ALL SUCH DEVICES ARE TO BE
CLEANED BEFORE RE-INSTALLING IN RENOVATED CEILING.
SEE DETAIL ON THIS SHEET

EXISTING FIRE ALARM DEVICE

EXISTING SECURITY DEVICE

EXISTING DOME SECURITY CAMERA

EXISTING SPEAKER

EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER HEAD

EXISTING EXHAUST FAN

EXISTING INTERNET ROUTER

EXISTING THERMOSTAT

EXISTING DOME MIRROR

EXISTING WALL MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURE

EXISTING SECURITY CAMERA

THE FOLLOWING CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES ARE TO BE
REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN THE RENOVATED CEILING.  ALL
EXISTING DEVICES MIGHT NOT BE SHOWN ON THE EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION REFLECTED CEILING PLAN.  THE
CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL
EXISTING CONDITIONS AND FOR COORDINATING WITH THE
APPROPRIATE SUBCONTRACTORS FOR REMOVAL AND
RE-INSTALLATION OF ALL DEVICES

EXISTING 2x2 FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURE TO BE REMOVED

1. REMOVE AND RE-INSTALL EXISTING CEILING MOUNTED ALARM, SECURITY, SMOKE
DETECTOR AND SIMILAR DEVICES AS REQUIRED FOR CEILING DEMOLITION AND
NEW CEILING WORK

2. REMOVE ALL EXISTING 2X4 SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING TILES AND
PREPARE EXISTING 2X4 GRID FOR CONVERSION TO 2X2

3. REMOVE, CLEAN AND RE-INSTALL (IN RENOVATED CEILING) EXISTING HVAC
SUPPLY AND RETURN GRILLES AND DIFFUSERS

4. REMOVE ALL EXISTING 2X4 LIGHT FIXTURES

5. REMOVE AND RE-INSTALL (IN RENOVATED CEILING) EXISTING EXIT SIGNS

6. WORK ON THE EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM IS LIMITED TO RELOCATION OF
EXISTING SPRINKLER HEADS TO ACCOMMODATE NEW WALLS

7. PROTECT EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM, FIRE ALARM SYSTEM AND SMOKE
DETECTORS FROM ACCIDENTAL DISCHARGE

8. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING A FIRE WATCH AT ANY TIME THAT
THE EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM OR FIRE ALARM SYSTEM IS SHUT DOWN.
COORDINATE WITH THE LOCAL FIRE MARSHALL FOR REQUIREMENTS

DEMOLITION SCOPE OF WORK:

STEP 3: SOAK DEVICES IN HOT
WATER AND WASH WITH DISH
SOAP. USE A BRUSH OR
SPONGE TO WASH BETWEEN
SLATS

STEP 4: LET DEVICES AIR DRY
THEN RE-INSTALL

STEP 1: REMOVE SUPPLY
DIFFUSER OF RETURN AIR

GRILL

STEP 2: USE A DAMP CLOTH TO
WIPE THE INSIDE OF THE

DUCT. USE WATER ONLY AND
WIPE TO ARM'S LENGTH. IF

DUCT IS EXCESSIVELY DIRTY,
NOTIFY ARCHITECT

VISIBLE CUTS IN NEW
CEILING TILES WILL NOT
BE ACCEPTED

NONO

DISCONNECT AND
REMOVE EXISTING DEVICE

CUT NEW CEILING TILE
AROUND EXISTING DEVICE

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

EXISTING CONDITIONS REFLECTED CEILING PLANA2

EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND
DEMOLITION 
REFLECTED CEILING

AD-1020 4' 8' 16'1/8" = 1'-0"

HVAC DEVICE CLEANINGD2
NTS

NOTES:
1. NOTIFY ARCHITECT IF MOLD, EXCESSIVE DIRT, ANIMAL DEBRIS OR OTHER

CONTAMINANTS ARE PRESENT
2. USE CAUTION WHEN CLEANING. IF FINISH COMES OFF, USE A SOFTER BRUSH OR

SPONGE
3. EXCEPT AS INDICATE, DO NOT USE CLEANING PRODUCT DO NOT USE BLEACH

RE-INSTALL IN NEW CEILING TILED3
NTS

CEILING MOUNTED DEVICE

2

2

586

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
FA

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
OS

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
IT

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
##

AutoCAD SHX Text
AD-101

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



GENERAL NOTES:
A. SEE DRAWING A-602, COUNCIL CHAMBERS EXISTING CONDITIONS PHOTOGRAPHS

FOR DEMOLITION AND PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS

SHEET KEY NOTES:
1. EXISTING WALL TO BE REMOVED TO THE EXTENTS SHOWN

2. EXISTING DOOR AND FRAME TO BE REMOVED

3. EXISTING FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL TO BE PROTECTED AT ALL TIMES

4. EXISTING FLOORING, BASE AND SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING TILES TO
BE REMOVED THROUGHOUT THE PROJECT AREA (EXCEPT IN EXISTING
RESTROOMS)

5. EXISTING TEMPORARY PARTITION TO REMAIN.  MOVE AND RE-INSTALL AS
NECESSARY TO ACCOMMODATE FLOORING AND CEILING WORK

6. NO WORK ON EXISTING STOREFRONT WINDOWS OR DOORS

7. MAINTAIN EXISTING EXIT DISCHARGE FREE AND CLEAR AT ALL TIMES

8. REMOVE EXISTING CABINETS AND COUNTERTOP

9. REMOVE PORTION OF EXISTING WALL AS REQUIRED FOR NEW DOOR AND FRAME

10. REMOVE EXISTING DOOR.  MAINTAIN EXISTING HOLLOW METAL FRAME

11. REMOVE EXISTING CERAMIC TILE AND BASE IN VESTIBULE AND CLEAN AND
PREPARE EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB AND GYPSUM BOARD WALLS FOR
NEW CERAMIC TILE AND BASE

12. EXISTING RESTROOM CEILINGS IN PUBLIC RESTROOMS (131 AND 132) TO REMAIN.
PATCH, PRIME AND PAINT EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD.  EXISTING CEILINGS IN
STAFF RESTROOMS (134 AND 135) TO BE RENOVATED AS INDICATED FOR OTHER
SPACES IN THE PROJECT AREA

13. EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING, LIGHT FIXTURE AND HVAC
DEVICES IN THE EXISTING ENTRY VESTIBULE ARE TO BE REMOVED, RE-INSTALLED
AND RENOVATED IN THE SAME MANNER AS OTHER SPACES IN THE PROJECT
AREA

14. ALL GYPSUM BOARD WALLS IN THE PROJECT AREA ARE TO BE PATCHED AND
REPAIRED AS NECESSARY, PRIMED AND PAINTED

15. ALL EXISTING HOLLOW METAL DOOR FRAMES IN THE PROJECT AREA ARE TO BE
SCRAPED AND SANDED AS NECESSARY, PRIMED AND PAINTED.  DOOR FRAMES
AT THE EXISTING PUBLIC CORRIDOR AND SHOWN AS NOT IN THE PROJECT AREA /
NOT IN CONTRACT ARE TO BE REFINISHED ON BOTH SIDES

16. ALL EXISTING SOLID CORE WOOD DOORS IN THE PROJECT AREA, THAT ARE NOT
SPECIFIED FOR REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT, ARE TO BE CLEANED, LIGHTLY
SANDED AND PROVIDED WITH TWO (2) COATS OF CLEAR POLYURETHANE.
DOORS AT THE EXISTING PUBLIC CORRIDOR AND SHOWN AS NOT IN THE
PROJECT AREA / NOT IN CONTRACT ARE TO BE REFINISHED ON BOTH SIDES

17. ALL EXISTING PAINTED WOOD AND HOLLOW METAL DOORS IN THE PROJECT
AREA ARE TO BE SCRAPED AND SANDED AS NECESSARY, PRIMED AND PAINTED

18. COORDINATE WITH OWNER TO RELOCATE EXISTING METAL DETECTOR

19. EXISTING TELEVISION AND RADIO STUDIO EQUIPMENT TO BE REMOVED BY
OWNER PRIOR TO THE START OF WORK

EXISTING
CONDITIONS
PHOTOGRAPHS

AD-901

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

A2

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

B2

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

C2

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

D2

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

A3

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

B3

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

C3

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

D3

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

A4

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

B4

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

C4

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

D4

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

A5

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

B5

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

C5

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

D5

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

A6

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

E4 EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALE

E3 EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO
NOT TO SCALEE2

16

16

16

16

16

17

18

4

4

4

4

44

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4 4

4

4

4

4

5

5
5

6

6 6

6

14

14

14

14
14

14

14

14

1414
14

14

14

14

14

14
14

14

19

19

19
19

19

19

19

THE OWNER WILL REMOVE
ALL FURNITURE, EQUIPMENT,

ARTWORK, ETC. FROM THE
PROJECT AREA PRIOR TO

THE START OF WORK

1515

15

15

15

15

15

15

587

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL



K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

ENTRY
VESTIBULE

101

CORRIDOR
102

CO
RR

ID
OR

10
5

OFFICE 03
106

CORRIDOR
111

STORAGE
109

CORRIDOR
123

WORK
137

OFFICE
136

BREAKROOM
133

CONFERENCE
130

COUNCIL
CHAMBER

124

RECEPTIONIST
104

OFFFICE
103

MEN'S
RESTROOM

135

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

134

STORAGE
129

STORAGE
126

CORRIDOR
123

OFFICE 07
140

OFFICE 08
139

OFFICE 09
138

CONFERENCE
141

OFFICE 01
112

OFFICE 01
113

OFFICE 01
114

OFFICE 01
115

OFFICE 01
116

OFFICE 01
117

OFFICE 01
118

OFFICE 01
121

OFFICE 01
122

OFFICE 01
120

CORRIDOR
119

STORAGE
127

MEN'S
RESTROOM

131
WOMEN'S

RESTROOM
132

CO
RR

ID
OR

14
2

WORK
AREA
143 OFFICE

144

OFFICE
145

OFFICE
146

OFFICE
147

OFFICE
149

VESTIBULE
150

WORK
AREA
148

OFFICE
151

OFFICE
152

OFFICE
153

OFFICE
154

OFFICE
156

PAYMENTS
157

OFFICE
158

OPEN
OFFICE

159

STORAGE
125

ELECTRICAL
160

1

A

1.1 2 3 3.1 4 5 5.1 6 7 7.1

B

B.1

B.2

C

D

EXIST
FACP

TELECOM
155

OFFICE 01
110

OFFICE 01
108

CORRIDOR
161

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

ETR

11'-6" 23'-10" 8'-8" 5'-0" 10'-7" 10'-1" 11'-4" 11'-9" 11'-0" 10'-0" 14'-1"

ETR

ETR ETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

ETRETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

ETRETRETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

ETR ETR ETR

ETRETR

ETR

ETR

126125

ETR

ETR

122

121

133
ETR

ETR

120 118
ETR

117
ETR

116 115 114

113 112

ETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

141A

106

104

103

ETR

ETR

10
'-9

"
15

'-0
"

12
'-0

"
11

'-1
"

14
'-0

"
11

'-7
"

13
'-8

"

13'-7"11'-7"11'-4"11'-10"11'-7"11'-2"6'-6"

35'-10"

47
'-6

"
1'

-9
"

12
'-8

"

18'-1" 14'-0" 10'-1" 9'-7"

10'-0" 12'-2" 12'-2"

15'-2"

15
'-1

"

7'
-5

"
8'

-7
"

1'
-6

"

4'-0"

10'-0"

ETR ETR

ETR

ETR

ETR

CG

CG CG

CG

CG

CG

CG

CG

CG CG

CG

CG

CG

27'-9"

10
'-1

"

124A 124B

155

108

110

111

140A139A

138A

CG

CG

3'
-8

"

4'
-8

"

10'-7"

11
'-7

"

16
'-8

"

12
'-0

"
6'

-0
"

2'-4"

10'-7"

9'-11"

CG

CG

CG

CG

CG

CG

CGCG

140B139B138B

CG

109

CGCG

141B

GENERAL NOTES:

LEGEND:

1. INSTALL NEW CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND BASE IN EXISTING VESTIBULE

2. REPLACE EXISTING 3'-0" x 6'-0" RECESSED ROLLUP WALK OFF MAT IN EXISTING
METAL FRAME.  CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY LENGTH, WIDTH AND DEPTH.  SEE
DETAIL D5/A-101 (THIS SHEET)

3. NO WORK ON EXISTING STOREFRONT WINDOWS OR DOORS

4. NEW ACCESS CONTROL CARD READER

5. PATCH AND REPAIR ALL EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD WALLS IN PROJECT AREA AS
REQUIRED, PRIME AND PAINT

6. REMOVE EXISTING DOOR AND FRAME AND INFILL EXISTING WALL WITH LIKE
MATERIALS

7. 3 5/8" METAL STUDS AT 16" ON CENTER WITH INSULATION AND  5/8" GYPSUM
BOARD. EXTEND 6" (MINIMUM) ABOVE CEILING GRID AND BRACE TO
STRUCTURE ABOVE REMOVE EXISTING TEMPORARY PARTITION TO BE REMOVED
BY OWNER AFTER CONSTRUCTION OF NEW WALLS

8. REMOVE WINDOW AND INFILL EXISTING WALL WITH LIKE MATERIAL

9. NEW SELF SERVICE KIOSK TO BE PROVIDED BY OWNER

10. NEW WATER COOLER WITH BOTTLE FILLER

11. EXISTING SYSTEMS FURNITURE TYPE PARTITIONS/PANELS TO BE REMOVED BY
OWNER PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION

12. EXISTING SERVICE WINDOW.  PAINT HOLLOW METAL FRAME ON BOTH SIDES OF
WALL

13. NEW FLOOR TO CEILING WALL AT EXISTING TELECOM EQUIPMENT.  CONSTRUCT
NEW WALLS AROUND EXISTING TEMPORARY PARTITIONS.  AFTER COMPLETION
OF NEW WALLS, THE OWNER WILL RELOCATE EXISTING EQUIPMENT AND REMOVE
TEMPORARY PARTITIONS.  SHEATHING ON INTERIOR OF NEW WALLS TO BE
INSTALLED BY OWNER AS PART OF EQUIPMENT RELOCATION

14. NEW LVT FLOORING THROUGHOUT

15. NEW CHAIR RAILING TO BE INSTALLED

16. REPLACE ALL WOOD TRIM, DOOR AND WINDOW CASING, WALL PANELS AND
SIMILAR MILLWORK AN WOODWORK IN THE EXISTING COUNCIL CHAMBERS.  ALL
WOOD SHALL BE RED OAK TO MATCH THE EXISTING.

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES.

B. NEW LVT FLOORING MAY BE CUT AROUND EQUIPMENT RACKS THAT ARE
PERMANENTLY ANCHORED TO THE EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB

C. DO NOT SAND OR CUT GYPSUM BOARD IN TELECOM ROOM

D. OWNER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING UNUSED TELECOM EQUIPMENT PRIOR
TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
COORDINATING WITH OWNER FOR PROTECTION OF REMAINING EQUIPMENT

E. THE OWNER'S IT DEPARTMENT HAS ADVISED THAT ADDITIONAL COOLING IS NOT
REQUIRED IN THE NEW TELECOM ROOM.  NEW DOOR SHALL BE UNDERCUT 3" TO
ALLOW FOR RETURN AIR

SHEET KEY NOTES:

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO WORK

EXISTING ONE-HOUR FIRE RATED PARTITION

EXISTING  WALL TO REMAIN

NEW PARTITION: 3 5/8" METAL STUDS (OR, AT INFILL,  AS REQUIRED
TO MATCH EXISTING) AT 16" ON CENTER WITH 5/8" GYPSUM BOARD
(OR, AT INFILL, AS REQUIRED TO MATCH EXISTING).  EXTEND 6"
(MINIMUM) ABOVE CEILING GRID AND BRACE TO STRUCTURE
ABOVE

NEW SOLID CORE WOOD DOOR (MATCH EXISTING) IN HOLLOW
METAL FRAME (MATCH EXISTING).  SEE DOOR AND FRAME
SCHEDULE FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

###

EXISTING DOOR, FRAME AND HARDWARE TO REMAIN (DOORS AND
FRAMES UNDER DIAGONAL "NO WORK" HATCH PATTERN ARE ALSO
EXISTING TO REMAIN)  ALL  EXISTING PAINTED HOLLOW METAL
DOOR FRAMES IN THE PROJECT AREA ARE TO BE SCRAPED AND
PAINTED AS REQUIRED, PRIMED AND PAINTED

ETR

1. THE FOLLOWING SCOPE OF WORK IS NOT ALL INCLUSIVE.  IT IS THE
CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO REVIEW AND UNDERSTAND THE WORK
ILLUSTRATED AND SPECIFIED IN THE FULL SET OF DRAWINGS AND THE PROJECT
MANUAL

2. THE FOLLOWING SCOPE OF WORK APPLIES TO ALL ROOMS AND SPACES IN THE
PROJECT AREA.  THIS WORK IS NOT REQUIRED IN THE ROOMS AND SPACES
IDENTIFIED (WITH DIAGONAL HATCH PATTERN) AS "NOT IN CONTRACT"

3. CONSTRUCT NEW WALLS, DOORS AND FRAMES AS SHOWN.  PROVIDE NEW
HARDWARE ON ALL NEW DOORS

4. REMOVE AND REPLACE ALL EXISTING FLOOR FINISHES AND BASE.

5. IN EXISTING RESTROOMS, REMOVE AND REPLACE ALL CERAMIC TILES

6. REPLACE EXISTING CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND BASE IN ENTRY VESTIBULE (101)

7. REMOVE ALL EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL CEILING TILES, ADD CROSS
"TEEs" TO CHANGE GRID FROM 2x4 TO 2x2, PAINT NEW AND EXISTING GRID AND
INSTALL NEW 2x2 TILES

8. PAINT ALL GYPSUM BOARD CEILINGS, BULKHEADS AND SOFFITS

9. PAINT ALL GYPSUM BOARD WALLS: PATCH AND REPAIR AS NECESSARY, PRIME
AND PROVIDE TWO (2) COATS OF PAINT

10. INSTALL CORNER GUARDS AS SHOWN

11. REPLACE EXISTING FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES WITH NEW LED FIXTURES

12. REPLACE EXISTING WALL MOUNTED LIGHT SWITCHES AND ELECTRICAL OUTLETS
WITH NEW DEVICES AND COVER PLATES

13. EXTEND EXISTING DUCTWORK TO NEW AND RE-CONFIGURED ROOMS AND
SPACES AND PROVIDE NEW SUPPLY AND RETURN AIR DEVICES

14. CLEAN ALL EXISTING HVAC SUPPLY AND RETURN DIFFUSERS AND GRILLES

15. REPLACE ALL EXISTING RESTROOM ACCESSORIES IN EXISTING RESTROOMS

16. INSTALL NEW DOOR SIGNS AT ALL DOORS (NEW AND EXISTING)

17. REPLACE COUNTERTOP, CABINETS AND SINK IN KITCHENETTE (128)

18. PROVIDE DATA OUTLETS, CONDUIT AND WIRING IN NEW OFFICES AS SHOWN ON
DRAWING AE-101, ELECTRICAL AND TELE/COM DEVICES PLAN

19. REPLACE ALL WOOD TRIM, DOOR AND WINDOW CASING, WALL PANELS AND
SIMILAR MILLWORK AN WOODWORK IN THE EXISTING COUNCIL CHAMBERS.  ALL
WOOD SHALL BE RED OAK TO MATCH THE EXISTING.  ALL NEW MILLWORK AND
WOODWORK SHALL BE STAINED AND SHALL BE FINISHED WITH TWO (2) COATS
OF POLYURETHANE.

SCOPE OF WORK:

CG 48" TALL PREFABRICATED SOLID CORNER GUARD.  SEE
DETAIL D4/-101 (THIS SHEET)

JOINT W = JOINT D
TOOLED SEALANT

PREMOLDED BACKER
ROD

JOINT W

JO
IN

T 
D

NOTES:
1. DETAIL IS APPLICABLE TO RE-SEALING EXISTING PLUMBING FIXTURES AND

SIMILAR CONDITIONS
2. THOROUGHLY CLEAN ALL JOINTS, REMOVING ALL FOREIGN MATTER

INCLUDING DUST, PAINT, OIL WATERPROOFING OR REPELLANT, WATER,
SURFACE DIRT AND FROST

3. PROVIDE MASKING TAPE WHERE REQUIRED ON VISIBLE SURFACE TO PROVIDE
A CLEAN AND SMOOTH JOINT WITHOUT SMEARS

4. DO NOT TWIST OR BRAID BACKER ROD
5. INSTALL SEALANT SO AS TO ELIMINATE AIR POCKETS

COMPRESSIBLE
JOINT FILLER

SUBSTRATE VARIES

FIN FLR - SEE FINISH
SCHEDULE FOR FLOOR
FINISH AND BASE

PROVIDE ACCUSTICAL
SEALANT ON BOTH
SIDES OF RUNNER

3-5/8" MTL RUNNER

BATT INSULATION FOR
SOUND ATTENUATION

5/8" GYP BD EACH SIDE
EXTEND TO 6" ABOVE FIN
CEILING3-5/8" MTL

STUDS @ 16" OC

SECURE TOP OF STUD
TO STRUCTURE ABOVE

NOTE:
PROVIDE INTERMEDIATE
HORIZONTAL BRACING @ 4'-0"
OC VERTICALLY

5"

5/8" GYP BD EACH SIDE
EXTEND TO 6" ABOVE FIN

CEILING

EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL
TILE CEILING.  SEE DRAWINGS AD-102
AND A-102 FOR GRID AND CEILING
IMPROVEMENTS. MODIFY GRID AS
REQUIRED TO ALLOW NEW WALL TO
EXTEND 6" ABOVE GRID

NEW OR EXISTING 5/8"
GYPSUM BOARD ON

METAL STUDS

3"

FASTENER SECURED
THROUGH METAL STUDS

CORNER GUARD SPECIFICATIONS

A. SUBMITTALS: MANUFACTURER LITERATURE, DATA, WARRANTY AND COLOR
CHART

B. WARRANTY: FIVE (5) YEAR MINIMUM

C. SURFACE MOUNTED, 48" TALL

D. EXTRUDED ALUMINUM IMPACT ABSORBING RETAINER CLIP

E. PROVIDE FACTORY FABRICATED END CLOSURE CAPS AT TOP AND BOTTOM

F. SOLID RESILIENT MATERIAL COVER:

1. IMPACT RESISTANT EXTRUDED ACRYLIC VINYL, POLYVINYL CHLORIDE OR
INJECTION MOLDED THERMAL PLASTIC

2. MINIMUM IMPACT RESISTANCE: 18 FT-LBS PER SQ INCH

3. CLASS 1 FIRE RATING

4. SELF-EXTINGUISHING WHEN TESTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM D635

5. UNDERWRITERS LABORATORY TESTED AND RATED

6. INTEGRAL COLOR WITH EMBOSSED TEXTURE

E. ACCEPTABLE MANUFACTURERS:

1. InPro CORPORATION

2. CONSTRUCTION SPECIALTIES, INC

3. KOROSEAL INTERIOR PRODUCTS, LLC

EXTRUDED ALUMINUM
RETAINER CLIP

48" TALL CORNER GUARD 1/4" RADIUS

NEW CERAMIC TILE

EXISTING ALUMINUM
FRAME TO REMAIN

ALUMINUM TREAD

CARPET INSERT OR AS
OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

CONTINUOUS RIGID
VINYL HINGE

VI
F

NOTE:
FIELD VERIFY ALL
EXISTING DIMENSIONS

WALK-OFF MAT SPECIFICATIONS

A. SUBMITTALS: MANUFACTURER LITERATURE, DATA, WARRANTY, SHOP
DRAWINGS, SAMPLES OF EXPOSED MATERIALS AND COLOR CHART

B. WARRANTY: TWO (2) YEAR MINIMUM

C. RECESSED: 7/16 / FIELD VERIFY EXISTING CONDITIONS

D. MAT INSERTS: EXTRUDED 6063-T52 ALLOY, SERRATED ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR
MILL FINISH

E. FRAME: EXISTING TO REMAIN. FIELD VERIFY LENGTH, WIDTH AND DEPTH

F. ROLLING LOAD: 350 POUND WHEEL RATING (TESTED WITH 1,000 PASSES), ASTM
F2753

G. SLIP RESISTANCE: ASTM C1028 COEFFICIENT OF FRICTION, MINIMUM 0.60
(ACCESSIBLE ROUTE)

H. CORROSION RESISTANCE: SURPASS PPS 1001 CORROSION RESISTANCE

I. TREAD RAILS: ALUMINUM WITH CO-EXTRUDED SOFT-DUROMETER CUSHIONS,
WITH CLEAR MIL FINISH

J. PROTECT FROM CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC UNTIL THE PROJECT AREA IS
TURNED OVER TO OWNER

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANA2

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

A-401

A2

PROPOSED
FLOOR PLAN

A-1010 4' 8' 16'1/8" = 1'-0"

TYPICAL JOINT CONFIGURATIOND3
6"3"0 1'1-1/2" = 1'-0"

A-402

A2

12

11

11
11

11

6

13

13

A-402

B2

NEW PARTITION CONSTRUCTIOND2
6"3"0 1'1-1/2" = 1'-0"

CORNER GUARD DETAILD4
NTS

2

WALK-OFF MAT DETAILD5
NTS

1

6

13

6

6

14

6

4
4

A-403

C5

A-403

C4

A-403

C2

8

A-402

A6

79

10

15

3

33

3

3

3

3

55 5 5 5 5

5

5

5 5

5

5
5

5

5

5
5

55
55

5
5

5

5

5
5 5

5

5

5

16
14

14

14

14

P-3

P-3

P-3

P-3

P-3

P-2

P-2

P-1
P-2

P-3P-3P-3P-3P-3P-3P-3P-3

P-3P-3
P-2

P-3

P-2

P-1

P-3

P-3

P-3

P-3 P-3 P-3 P-3 P-3 P-3

P-3

P-3

P-2

P-2

P-2

P-2

P-2

P-3P-3P-3

P-2

P-3

588

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

1

A

1.1 2 3 3.1 4 5 5.1 6 7 7.1

B

B.1

B.2

C

D

EXIST
FACP

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

A

A A A

A

A

A A A A

C

A

A

A

A

A
IT

IT

C

SD SD

SD SD

SD

C

SD

C

C

CCA

C

A

C

CCAA AA

IT

ITC

GENERAL NOTES:

1. PATCH, REPAIR, PRIME AND PAINT EXISTING BULKHEADS THROUGHOUT COUNCIL
CHAMBERS

2. CONVERT EXISTING 2x4 SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING TO 2x2
THROUGHOUT PROJECT AREA

SHEET KEY NOTES:

LEGEND:

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO WORK

EXISTING ONE-HOUR FIRE RATED PARTITION

EXISTING CEILING GRID CONVERTED TO 2x2, PAINTED AND
PROVIDED WITH NEW ACOUSTICAL CEILING TILES

EXISTING  PAINTED GYPSUM BOARD CEILING, BULKHEAD OR
SOFFIT TO REMAIN

NEW 2x4 LED LIGHT FIXTURE TO REPLACE EXISTING
FLUORESCENT FIXTURE ON A ONE-FOR-ONE BASIS

EXISTING EXIT SIGN TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN
RENOVATED CEILING OR ON PAINTED WALL AS REQUIRED AT
EACH CONDITION

EXISTING EXIT SIGN  WITH EMERGENCY EGRESS LIGHTS TO
BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN RENOVATED CEILING OR
ON PAINTED WALL AS REQUIRED AT EACH CONDITION

EXISTING HVAC SUPPLY AND RETURN GRILLES AND
DIFFUSERS TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN
RENOVATED CEILING.  ALL SUCH DEVICES ARE TO BE
CLEANED BEFORE RE-INSTALLING IN RENOVATED CEILING.
SEE DRAWING M-101, MECHANICAL FLOOR PLAN FOR
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

EXISTING FIRE ALARM DEVICE

EXISTING SECURITY DEVICE

EXISTING DOME SECURITY CAMERA

EXISTING SPEAKER

EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER HEAD

EXISTING EXHAUST FAN

EXISTING INTERNET ROUTER

EXISTING THERMOSTAT

EXISTING DOME MIRROR

EXISTING WALL MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURE

EXISTING SECURITY CAMERA

THE FOLLOWING CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES ARE TO BE
REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN THE RENOVATED CEILING.  ALL
EXISTING DEVICES MIGHT NOT BE SHOWN ON THE EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION REFLECTED CEILING PLAN.  THE
CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL
EXISTING CONDITIONS AND FOR COORDINATING WITH THE
APPROPRIATE SUBCONTRACTORS FOR REMOVAL AND
RE-INSTALLATION OF ALL DEVICES

1. REMOVE ALL EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING TILES

2. ADD "TEES" TO EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING GRID AS
REQUIRED TO CONVERT EXISTING 2x4 GRID TO 2x2

3. PROVIDE SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING HANGER WIRE, STIFFENER
CHANNELS, SEISMIC BRACING, ETC. AS REQUIRED TO MEET CODE AND AS
REQUIRED TO PROVIDE A SQUARE AND RIGID INSTALLATION

4. PAINT NEW AND EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING GRID MEMBERS
WHITE

5. INSTALL NEW 2x2 SQUARE EDGE ACOUSTICAL TILES.  TILES TO HAVE RANDOM
FISSURED PATTERN

6. EXTEND EXISTING CEILING IN CONFERENCE ROOM TO SOUTHEAST CORNER OF
CONFERENCE ROOM

7. REMOVE AND RE-INSTALL ALL CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES AS REQUIRED

8. INSTALL NEW ESCUTCHEON RINGS AT ALL EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER HEADS

9. REMOVE, CLEAN AND RE-INSTALL ALL HVAC SUPPLY AND RETURN GRILLES AND
DIFFUSERS

10. REMOVE ALL EXISTING CEILING MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURES AND REPLACE WITH
NEW LED LIGHT FIXTURES ON A ONE-FOR-ONE BASIS.  MAINTAIN EXISTING
CIRCUITS

11. PATCH, REPAIR, PRIME AND PAINT ALL EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD BULKHEADS
AND SOFFITS

12. PATCH, REPAIR, PRIME AND PAINT EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD CEILINGS IN
EXISTING PUBLIC RESTROOMS

13. EXTEND EXISTING CEILING IN COUNCIL CHAMBERS TO THE WEST SIDE OF THE
COUNCIL CHAMBERS

CEILING RENOVATION SCOPE OF WORK:

NEW 2x2 LED LIGHT FIXTURE TO REPLACE EXISTING
FLUORESCENT FIXTURE ON A ONE-FOR-ONE BASIS

NEW 1x4 SURFACE MOUNTED STRIP LED LIGHT FIXTURE TO
REPLACE EXISTING FLUORESCENT FIXTURE ON A
ONE-FOR-ONE BASIS

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. SEE DRAWING A-501, TYPICAL CEILING DETAILS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

C. MAINTAIN EXISTING CEILING HEIGHTS

D. SEE DRAWING AD-102, EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION REFLECTED
CEILING FOR HVAC DEVICE CLEANING AND CEILING MOUNTED DEVICE
RE-INSTALLATION DETAILS

1. FIRE SPRINKLER CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE SHOP DRAWINGS AND, IF REQUIRED,
HYDRAULIC CALCULATIONS, FOR RELOCATED AND NEW FIRE SPRINKLER HEADS
TO ACCOMMODATE NEW OFFICES

2. FIRE SPRINKLER CONTRACTOR TO COMPLETE, SIGN AND SEAL THE SOUTH
CAROLINA STATE FIRE MARSHALL, FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM SPECIFICATION
SHEET (FSSS)

3. FIRE SPRINKLER CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT SHOP DRAWINGS, HYDRAULIC
CALCULATIONS AND FSSS TO THE CITY OF BEAUFORT AND THE SC STATE FIRE
MARSHALL OFFICE.  CONTRACTOR SHALL REVISE DOCUMENTS AS REQUIRED TO
OBTAIN APPROVALS FROM EACH OFFICE

4. RELOCATED FIRE SPRINKLER HEADS ARE TO BE CENTERED IN NEW CEILING TILES

5. EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER HEADS THAT FALL ON NEW SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL
TILE CEILING GRID MEMBERS SHALL BE RELOCATED AS NECESSARY

6. PROVIDE NEW ESCUTCHEON RINGS ON ALL EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER HEADS

7. IF THE CONTRACTOR IDENTIFIES DEFICIENCIES WITH THE EXISTING FIRE
SPRINKLER SYSTEM, THE OWNER AND ARCHITECT ARE TO BE NOTIFIED BEFORE
WORK CONTINUES IN THE AREA OF CONCERN

EXISTING FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM:

EXPLODED VIEW75Ømm 

20.6mm MAX 

52.4mm 

HEAD

RETAINER

SPRINKLER

SPRING

RECESSS CUP

90° ELBOW

CLOSE NIPPLE

DROP NIPPLE

REDUDER COUPLING
SPRING

RETAINER

RECESS CUP
SPRINKLER HEAD

NOTE:
BUSHINGS ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE

BRANCH
LINE

DROP CEILING TILE

CEILING COVER PLATE

SPRINKLER HEAD
VICTUALIC MODEL V38
OR APPROVED

MAXIMUM
TOTAL OF 3

BENDS

2.5" MIN
FROM ENDSMIN RADIUS= 7"

BRAIDED AQUAFLEX FLEXIBLE
HOSE SPRINKLER ASSEMBLIES

FOR CONCEALED PENDENT
SPRINKLERS

CEILING LINE

EXISTING BRACH
CIRCUIT CONDUIT

SCREW THE RECESSED
FIXTURES TO ACOUSTICAL
CEILING GRID AT EACH EDGE

NEW ACOUSTICAL
CEILING TILE

RENOVATED SUSPENDED
ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING
SYSTEM

NEW LAY-IN TYPE
RECESSED LED FIXTURE

FOR EACH FIXTURE, PROVIDE
FOUR STEEL CEILING WIRE

SUPPORT TO STRUCTURE AT
EACH CORNER OF THE FIXTURE

NEW /  EXISTING FLEXIBLE CONDUIT TO
ALLOW FOR RELOCATION AS REQUIRED,
INCLUDE GROUND WIRE. ALL
CONDUCTORS #12 AWG COPPER.
MAXIMUM OF THREE (3) FLEX RUNS PER
JUNCTION BOX

EXISTING JUNCTION BOX
ATTACHED TO STRUCTURE

NOTE:
ALL RECESSED DOWNLIGHT
FIXTURES TO HAVE AT LEAST
ONE STEEL CEILING WIRE
SUPPORT TO STRUCTURE

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN A2
0 4' 8' 16'1/8" = 1'-0"

PROPOSED
REFLECTED
CEILING PLAN

A-102

TOTAL
FIXTURE

WATTAGE
DESCRIPTION AND SYMBOL LAMP BALLAST / DRIVER

6" RECESSED LED DOWNLIGHT INTEGRAL LED DRIVERD1

TYPE

LIGHT FIXTURE SCHEDULE

19.2 WLED

VOLTAGE MANUFACTURER MODEL REMARKS

UNIV PHILIPS
PATHWAY
JUNO
COOPER
SPECTRUM

C6RN-C6L10835 MZ 10UC6DLCL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL

6" APERATURE
1000 LUMEN PACKAGE
MINIMUM 10% DIMMING
3500K

4" RECESSED LED DOWNLIGHTD2 10.3 WLED UNIV GOTHAM
PATHWAY
JUNO
COOPER
SPECTRUM

EVO 35 07 4AR LD MVOLT
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL

4" APERATURE
MINIMUM 750 LUMEN PACKAGE
MINIMUM 10% DIMMING
MATT DEFFUSER
3500K

INTEGRAL LED DRIVER

2X4 LED LAY-IN TROFFERR1 24 WLED UNIV LITHONIA
WILLIAMS
CORONET
COOPER

STAK 2X4 3000LM 80CRI 40K COL MVOLT
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL

4000K
MINIMUM 3000 LUMEN
UL LISTED DAMP LOCATIONS
120-277V
CURVED OPAL LENS

INTEGRAL LED DRIVER
(STANDARD 0-10V

DIMMING)

2X2 LED LAY-IN TROFFERR2 42.1 WLED UNIV LITHONIA
WILLIAMS
CORONET
COOPER

STAK 2X2 5000LM 80CRI 40K COL MVOLT
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL

4000K
MINIMUM 5000 LUMEN
UL LISTED DAMP LOCATIONS
CURVED OPAL LENS

INTEGRAL LED DRIVER
(STANDARD 0-10V

DIMMING)

1X4 STRIP LIGHTS1 31 WLED UNIV DAY-BRITE
COLUMBIA
LITHONIA
COOPER

FSS 4 40L 835 UNV DIM
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL

PROVIDE CHAIN FOR PENDANT MOUNT
MINIMUM 4000 LUMEN

INTEGRAL LED DRIVER

CAST EXITEX 2.5 WLED UNIV SURE LITES
HUBBELL
PHILIPS
COOPER

CX61(2)WHG
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL

AC ONLY WHITE FINISH GREEN LETTERSINTEGRAL LED DRIVER

6"

4"

1

1
1

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

FIRE SPRIKLER HEADE5
NTS

TYPICAL BEND AT
PENDANT HEAD WITH ESCUTCHEONE6
NTS

TYPICAL FIRE SPRINKLER

1. REPLACE ALL EXISTING LIGHT FIXTURES IN THE PROJECT AREA ON A ONE-FOR-ONE BASIS.
2. CHANGING FLUORESCENT FIXTURES TO LED FIXTURES REPRESENTS A REDUCTION IN WATTAGE OF APPROXIMATELY 45%
3. THIS PROJECT DOES NOT INCREASE THE QUANTITY OF FIXTURES
4. THIS PROJECT DOES NOT CHANGE OR INCREASE THE NUMBER OF LIGHT FIXTURE CIRCUITS.  ALL NE W FIXTURES ARE TO BE CONNECTED TO

THE EXISTING CIRCUIT FOR THE FIXTURES THAT THEY REPLACE
5. REPLACE EXISTING SWITCHES AND SWITCH PLATE COVERS
6. ALL NEW LIGHT FIXTURES ARE TO BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE

NOTES:

FIXTURE MOUNTING DETAILA5
NTS

NEW LED LIGHT

2

W1 8.8 WLED UNIV GOTHAM
HUBBELL
PHILIPS
COOPER

EVO4WW 40/10 AR LSS
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL
APPROVED EQUAL

INTEGRAL LED DRIVER4" RECESSED LED WALL WASH

4"

4" APERATURE
MINIMUM 1000 LUMEN PACKAGE
80CRI
SEMI-SPECULAR
4000K

589

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
FA

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
OS

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
IT

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I



GENERAL NOTES:
A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE

ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

SHEET KEY NOTES:
1. NO CHANGE TO EXISTING SIGN

2. REMOVE AND REPLACE EXISTING SOLID CORE WOOD DOOR.  NEW DOOR TO
MATCH EXISTING.  SEE DRAWING A-101, PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN AND DOOR
SCHEDULE ON DRAWING A-601, ROOM FINISH AND DOOR SCHEDULE FOR
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  EXISTING DOOR FRAME TO REMAIN

3. NO CHANGE TO EXISTING STOREFRONT WINDOWS OR DOORS

4. PATCH, REPAIR PRIME AND PAINT ALL EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD WALLS, COLUMNS
AND BULKHEADS THROUGHOUT COUNCIL CHAMBERS

5. REMOVE EXISTING CARPET AND INSTALL NEW CARPET FLOORING THROUGHOUT
COUNCIL CHAMBERS. REMOVE CARPET ADHESIVE AND PREPARE EXISTING
CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LVT FLOORING
MANUFACTURER'S REQUIREMENTS.

6. SEE DRAWING AD-102, EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION REFLECTED
CEILING PLAN AND A-102, PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN FOR WORK ON
EXISTING CEILING.  EXISTING 2x4 FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES TO BE REPLACED
ON A ONE FOR ONE BASIS WITH NEW LED FIXTURES.  OTHER EXISTING CEILING
MOUNTED DEVICES TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN RENOVATED CEILING

7. REMOVE EXISTING PLASTIC LAMINATE COUNTERTOP AND INSTALL NEW SOLID
SURFACE COUNTERTOP ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS.  FIELD VERIFY ALL
DIMENSIONS

8. REPLACE EXISTING ELECTRICAL, TELE/DATA DEVICES AND COVER PLATES
THROUGHOUT COUNCIL CHAMBERS

9. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD BASE AND INSTALL NEW WOOD BASE

10. REMOVE EXISTING ALUMINUM THRESHOLD AND RE-INSTALL AFTER INSTALLATION
OF NEW LVT FLOORING.  SET IN FULL BE OF ADHESIVE

11. EXISTING LVT FLOORING IN EXISTING CORRIDOR TO REMAIN

12. SAND AND RE-FINISH EXISTING WOOD STAIR AND RISER.  MATCH EXISTING FINISH

13. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD VENEER ON COUNCIL DAIS AND INSTALL NEW WOOD
VENEER STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

14. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD PANELS AND INSTALL NEW GYPSUM BOARD

15. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD PANELS AND REPLACE WITH NEW WOOD VENEER
STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

16. EXISTING OPERABLE WALL PANEL

17. SAND AND REFINISH ACCESS DOOR AND DAMAGED AREA OF WOOD WALL PANEL

18. REMOVE EXISTING COUNTY SEAL AND RE-INSTALL AT COMPLETION OF ALL
WOODWORK AND MILLWORK REPAIR AND FINISHING

19. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD TRIM AROUND DOORS AND WINDOWS AND REPLACE
WITH NEW WOOD TRIM.

20. REMOVE WOOD BASE AND CHAIR RAILING AND INSTALL NEW CHAIR RAILING
STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

21. NEW CHAIR RAILING TO BE INSTALLED AND STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

22. EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS LOCATION

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
EXISITING
CONDITIONS
PHOTOGRAPHS

A-201A2
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

B2
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

C2
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

D2
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

E2
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

A3
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

B3
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

C3
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

D3
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

E3
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

A4
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

B4
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

C4
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

D4
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

E4
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

A5
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

C5
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

D5
NTS

EXIST. CONDITIONS PHOTO

2

2

2

2

2

2

3 3 3

3

3

3

3

3

2

2

2

2 2

2
2

4

4

44

4

4

4 4

4

4

44

4

4

4

4

4

4
4

4

4

5

5
5

5 5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

6

6

6

6

6

6

6 6

6

6

66

7

7

7

7

7

7

8

13

14

13

14

14 14

9

20
13

9

13

14

10

9

20

1514

13

14

14

20

20

14

20

11

12

12

12

17

16

16

18

18

18

10

1

1

19 19

1919

19

19

19

19

19

19

19
19

19

19

19 19

19
19

19

590

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



GENERAL NOTES:
A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE

ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

SHEET KEY NOTES:
1. NO CHANGE TO EXISTING SIGN

2. REMOVE AND REPLACE EXISTING SOLID CORE WOOD DOOR.  NEW DOOR TO
MATCH EXISTING.  SEE DRAWING A-101, PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN AND DOOR
SCHEDULE ON DRAWING A-601, ROOM FINISH AND DOOR SCHEDULE FOR
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  EXISTING DOOR FRAME TO REMAIN

3. NO CHANGE TO EXISTING STOREFRONT WINDOWS OR DOORS

4. PATCH, REPAIR PRIME AND PAINT ALL EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD WALLS, COLUMNS
AND BULKHEADS THROUGHOUT COUNCIL CHAMBERS

5. REMOVE EXISTING CARPET AND INSTALL NEW CARPET FLOORING THROUGHOUT
COUNCIL CHAMBERS. REMOVE CARPET ADHESIVE AND PREPARE EXISTING
CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LVT FLOORING
MANUFACTURER'S REQUIREMENTS.

6. SEE DRAWING AD-102, EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION REFLECTED
CEILING PLAN AND A-102, PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN FOR WORK ON
EXISTING CEILING.  EXISTING 2x4 FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES TO BE REPLACED
ON A ONE FOR ONE BASIS WITH NEW LED FIXTURES.  OTHER EXISTING CEILING
MOUNTED DEVICES TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN RENOVATED CEILING

7. REMOVE EXISTING PLASTIC LAMINATE COUNTERTOP AND INSTALL NEW SOLID
SURFACE COUNTERTOP ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS.  FIELD VERIFY ALL
DIMENSIONS

8. REPLACE EXISTING ELECTRICAL, TELE/DATA DEVICES AND COVER PLATES
THROUGHOUT COUNCIL CHAMBERS

9. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD BASE AND INSTALL NEW WOOD BASE

10. REMOVE EXISTING ALUMINUM THRESHOLD AND RE-INSTALL AFTER INSTALLATION
OF NEW LVT FLOORING.  SET IN FULL BE OF ADHESIVE

11. EXISTING LVT FLOORING IN EXISTING CORRIDOR TO REMAIN

12. SAND AND RE-FINISH EXISTING WOOD STAIR AND RISER.  MATCH EXISTING FINISH

13. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD VENEER ON COUNCIL DAIS AND INSTALL NEW WOOD
VENEER STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

14. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD PANELS AND INSTALL NEW GYPSUM BOARD

15. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD PANELS AND REPLACE WITH NEW WOOD VENEER
STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

16. EXISTING OPERABLE WALL PANEL

17. SAND AND REFINISH ACCESS DOOR AND DAMAGED AREA OF WOOD WALL PANEL

18. REMOVE EXISTING COUNTY SEAL AND RE-INSTALL AT COMPLETION OF ALL
WOODWORK AND MILLWORK REPAIR AND FINISHING

19. REMOVE EXISTING WOOD TRIM AROUND DOORS AND WINDOWS AND REPLACE
WITH NEW WOOD TRIM.

20. REMOVE WOOD BASE AND CHAIR RAILING AND INSTALL NEW CHAIR RAILING
STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

21. NEW CHAIR RAILING TO BE INSTALLED AND STAINED TO MATCH DAIS

22. EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS LOCATION

T T T T 

10
'-8

 1
/2

"

T T 

CURVED WALL

9'
-8

"

10
'-8

 1
/2

"

1'
-0

"

CURVED WALL

7'
-0

"10
'-8

 1
/2

"

9'
-8

"

1'
-0

"

T 

CURVED WALL

9'
-8

"

10
'-8

 1
/2

"

7'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
INTERIOR 
ELEVATIONS

A-202

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

A2 COUNCIL CHAMBERS INTERIOR ELEVATION
3/8" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 4'

B2 COUNCIL CHAMBERS INTERIOR ELEVATION
3/8" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 4'

C2 COUNCIL CHAMBERS INTERIOR ELEVATION
3/8" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 4'

E2 COUNCIL CHAMBERS INTERIOR ELEVATION
3/8" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 4'

EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS NOT SHOWN FOR CLARITY

22

22

2
2

3 3

33

44

4

4

4

4

4
444

5

5 5
5

5
5

5
5 5

6

6

6

6

18

1

1 1

21 2121

21

2121

21

9 99

99

9

15

2 2

19 19

19

19

19
19

19
19

591

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL



1. REMOVE EXISTING PLASTIC LAMINATE COUNTERTOP AND INSTALL NEW SOLID 
SURFACE COUNTERTOP ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS.  FIELD VERIFY ALL
DIMENSIONS

2. REPLACE EXISTING ELECTRICAL, TELE/DATA DEVICES AND COVER PLATES
THROUGHOUT COUNCIL CHAMBERS

3. SAND AND RE-FINISH EXISTING WOOD STAIR AND RISER.  MATCH EXISTING FINISH

4. REMOVE EXISTING NAME PLATE AND RE-INSTALL AFTER WOODWORK AND
MILLWORK REPAIR AND FINISHING.  TYPICAL OF 11

5. REMOVE EXISTING SOLID WOOD WALL CAP AND INSTALL NEW SOLID SURFACE
COUNTERTOP

6. REMOVE EXISTING SOLID WOOD TRIM AND INSTALL NEW SOLID WOOD TRIM

7. WOOD VENEER PANEL

8. EXISTING TWO -DRAWER WOOD CABINET

9. SOLID WOOD VERTICAL SUPPORT / DIVIDER.  REMOVE TO ALLOW FOR
CONTINUOUS INSTALLATION OF NEW CARPET FLOORING AND RE-INSTALL ON TOP
OF NEW FLOORING

10. SOLID WOOD BASE

11. EXISTING PLYWOOD SUB-FLOOR

12. EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB

13. REMOVE EXISTING CARPET AND INSTALL NEW CARPET FLOORING THROUGHOUT
COUNCIL CHAMBERS. REMOVE CARPET ADHESIVE AND PREPARE EXISTING
CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LVT FLOORING
MANUFACTURER'S REQUIREMENTS

GENERAL NOTES:
A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE

ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

SHEET KEY NOTES:
2'

-4
"2'
-1

0"
1'

-0
"

27'-9"

2'
-4

"2'
-1

0"
1'

-0
"

OPENOPENOPENOPENOPEN OPEN OPEN OPEN OPEN OPENOPEN

27'-9"

2'
-1

0"
1'

-0
"

10'-1"

2'
-4

"2'
-1

0"
1'

-0
"

10'-1"

2'-6"

2'
-4

3'
-1

0 
1/

2"

6 
1/

2"

1'
-0

"

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
EXISTING DAIS
ELEVATIONS AND
DETAILS

A-203

1

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

A2 COUNCIL DAIS EAST ELEVATION
3/4" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 3'

B2 COUNCIL DAIS WEST ELEVATION
3/4" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 3'

C2 COUNCIL DAIS SOUTH ELEVATION
3/4" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 3'

D2 COUNCIL DAIS NORTH ELEVATION
3/4" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 3'

1 1

1

1

4

2 22 2

3

3

33

4

5
5

6

7

5

6

7 5

1
2

21

88

9

9

9

9

555

666

6

10

10

10 10

10

C4 EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS SECTION
1" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 3'

1

9

9

55

7

2

6

7

7

13

12

11

7

7

10

10

592

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL



GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB

2. TWO (2) LAYERS 3/4" PLYWOOD LEDGER

3. SOLID WOOD TRIM TO MATCH TRIM ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS

4. SOLID WOOD BASE TO MATCH BASE ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS

5. SOLID SURFACE TOP TO MATCH COUNCIL DAIS

6. WOOD VENEER PANEL TO MATCH VENEER ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS

7. SOLID SURFACE TOP ON 3/4" PLYWOOD SHEATHING

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

SHEET KEY NOTES:

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

A2 NEW PODIUM WEST ELEVATION

B5 SECTION THROUGH PODIUM B2 SOUTH ELEVATION
NEW PODIUM

A4 NEW PODIUM EAST ELEVATION

B6 SECTION THROUGH PODIUM

B5
A-204

B6
A-204

B2 NORTH ELEVATION
NEW PODIUM

0 1' 2'1-1/2" = 1'-0"0 1' 2'1-1/2" = 1'-0"

0 1' 2'1-1/2" = 1'-0"0 1' 2'1-1/2" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2'1-1/2" = 1'-0"0 1' 2'1-1/2" = 1'-0"

4 444

4 444

5

5

5

55 5

5 5

6

6

6 6
6 6

6

6

6

3
3

333

33 3 3

1

1

27

3'
-8

 1
/4

"

1'-7"

555

5

5

3'
-0

"

1'-2 3/4"

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
PODIUM
ELEVATIONS AND 
DETAILS

A-204
593

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



GENERAL NOTES:

1. SOLID WOOD TRIM TO MATCH TRIM ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS

2. SOLID WOOD BASE TO MATCH BASE ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS

3. WOOD VENEER PANEL TO MATCH VENEER ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS

4. SOLID SURFACE TOP ON 3/4" PLYWOOD SHEATHING

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

SHEET KEY NOTES:

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

A2 NEW DESK WEST ELEVATION

B5 DESK THROUGH PODIUM B2 SOUTH ELEVATION
NEW DESK

A4 NEW DESK EAST ELEVATION

B3 NORTH ELEVATION
NEW DESK

0 1' 2' 3'1" = 1'-0"0 1' 2' 3'1" = 1'-0"

0 1' 2' 3'1" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 3'1" = 1'-0"0 1' 2' 3'1" = 1'-0"

B5
A-205

11

1 11

11

1 1

2222

2 22 2 2

3

3
3

3

4 4

444

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
DESK
ELEVATIONS AND
DETAILS

A-205
594

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



GENERAL NOTES:

LEGEND:

1. DOOR TO REMAIN

2. NO CHANGE TO EXISTING STOREFRONT WINDOWS OR DOORS

3. PATCH AND REPAIR ALL EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD WALLS IN PROJECT AREA AS
REQUIRED, PRIME AND PAINT

4. NEW CARPET FLOORING THROUGHOUT

5. SEE DRAWING AD-102, EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DEMOLITION REFLECTED
CEILING PLAN AND A-102, PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN FOR WORK ON
EXISTING CEILING.  EXISTING 2x4 FLUORESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES TO BE
REPLACED ON A ONE FOR ONE BASIS.  OTHER EXISTING CEILING MOUNTED
DEVICES TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN RENOVATED CEILING

6. NEW SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP ON EXISTING COUNCIL DAIS

7. CHAIRS SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY

8. NO WORK IN EXISTING STORAGE ROOM

9. EXISTING OPERABLE PANEL

10. LVT FLOORING MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD VINYL OR RUBBER TRANSITION
STRIP AT INTERSECTION OF NEW AND EXISTING LVT FLOORING.  PROVIDE SAME
DETAIL AT ALL SIMILAR CONDITIONS

11. EXISTING LVT FLOORING IN EXISTING CORRIDOR TO REMAIN

12. SAND AND RE-FINISH EXISTING WOOD STAIR AND RISER.  MATCH EXISTING FINISH

13. REMOVE AND REPLACE ALL WOOD TRIM, DOOR AND WINDOW CASING, WALL
PANELS AND SIMILAR MILLWORK AN WOODWORK IN THE EXISTING COUNCIL
CHAMBERS.  ALL WOOD SHALL BE RED OAK TO MATCH THE EXISTING.  ALL NEW
MILLWORK AND WOODWORK SHALL BE STAINED AND SHALL BE FINISHED WITH
TWO (2) COATS OF POLYURETHANE.   EXISTING

14. EXISTING FLOOR BOX

15. NEW FLOOR BOX

16. NEW SOLID CORE WOOD DOOR (MATCH EXISTING). SEE SHEET A-101, PROPOSED
FLOOR PLAN AND DOOR SCHEDULE ON SHEER A-601, ROOM FINISH AND DOOR
SCHEDULE FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  EXISTING DOOR FRAME TO REMAIN

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. MILLWORK, CASEWORK AND OTHER BUILT-IN FURNISHING MUST COMPLY WITH
ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT,
TITLE III AND THE INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL A117.1

C. PROVIDE EPOXY PAINT IN ALL RESTROOMS, BREAK ROOMS, AND AT ALL
DRINKING FOUNTAINS

SHEET KEY NOTES:

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO WORK

EXISTING  WALL TO REMAIN

NORTH

A-403

SOUTH

WEST EAST INTERIOR ELEVATION

CONFERENCE
130

COUNCIL
CHAMBER

124

STORAGE
129

STORAGE
126

OFFICE 01
122

STORAGE
127

STORAGE
125

27'-9"

10
'-1

"

COUNCIL CHAMBER FLOOR PLANA2

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

ENLARGED
COUNCIL CHAMBERS
FLOOR PLAN

A-4010 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

16

1

1

1

1

1

1

1
1

16
16

9

2

2

2

3

3

5

5

5

3

5 3

5

3

4

4

4
4

4

4

5

4

3

3

4

4

4

4
4

3

5

5

5

5 5

44

4

6

6

6

7

7

7

7

7

8
8

10 10

1111

1212

E2

A-202

A2

B2 C2

12'-2" RADIUS AT INSIDE OF
EXISTING COUNTERTOP
FIELD VERIFY

15'-2" RADIUS AT
OUTSIDE OF

EXISTING
COUNTERTOP
FIELD VERIFY

5

34 5

A-204

A2

A-205

A2

13

13

13

1414

15

595

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



CO
RR

ID
OR

10
5

OFFICE 03
106

CORRIDOR
111

STORAGE
109

RECEPTIONIST
104 OFFFICE

103

OFFICE 01
110

OFFICE 01
108

15
'-0

"
12

'-0
"

11
'-1

"

1'
-6

"

4'-0"

10'-0"

10'-7"

12
'-0

"
6'

-0
"

2'-4"

10'-7"

9'-11"10'-2"

15
'-0

"

8'
-8

"

6'
-1

"

5'
-5

"

CORRIDOR
123

WORK
137

OFFICE
136

OFFICE 07
140

OFFICE 08
139

OFFICE 09
138

EXIST
FACP

CORRIDOR
161

10'-1" 9'-7" 10'-0" 12'-2" 12'-2"

3'
-8

"

4'
-8

"

11
'-7

"

GENERAL NOTES:

LEGEND:

1. EXISTING DOOR TO REMAIN

2. NO CHANGE TO EXISTING STOREFRONT WINDOWS OR DOORS

3. NEW CARPET FLOORING THROUGHOUT

4. NEW LUXURY VINYL TILE THROUGHOUT

5. NEW GYPSUM BOARD AND METAL STUD PARTITION.  SEE DETAIL D2/A-101

6. NEW SOLID CORE WOOD DOOR TO MATCH EXISTING.  SEE DRAWING A-101,
PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN AND DOOR SCHEDULE ON DRAWING A-601, ROOM
FINISH AND DOOR SCHEDULE FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  INSTALL IN NEW
HOLLOW METAL FRAME

7. REMOVE EXISTING ELECTRIC WATER COOLER AND INSTALL NEW HIGH LOW
WATER COOLER WITH BOTTLE FILLER

8. EXISTING FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL TO BE PROTECTED DURING DEMOLITION
AND CONSTRUCTION

9. EXISTING FIRE EXTINGUISHER CABINET (NO WORK)

10. REPLACE EXISTING ROLLUP RECESSED WALK-OFF MAT, CERAMIC FLOOR TILE,
CERAMIC TILE WALL BASE IN EXISTING VESTIBULE.  CONVERT EXISTING 2x2
SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING TO 2x2 AND PATCH, REPAIR, PRIME AND
PAINT EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD IN EXISTING VESTIBULE

11. NEW ACCESS CONTROL CARD READER

12. APPLIANCES TO BE PROVIDED BY OWNER

13. NEW WITH SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP

14. PROVIDE METAL STUD FRAMING AND MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD
TO CREATE FLUSH WALL CONDITION IN FRONT OF EXISTING COLUMN

15. NEW SELF SERVICE KIOSK TO BE PROVIDED BY OWNER

16. BULKHEAD: 5/8" GYPSUM BOARD ON 3 5/8 METAL STUD AT 16" ON CENTER

17. NEW PLASTIC LAMINATE BASE CABINETS WITH ADJUSTABLE SHELVES AND WIRE
PULLS

18. NEW PLASTIC LAMINATE WALL CABINETS WITH ADJUSTABLE SHELVES AND WIRE
PULL

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. MILLWORK, CASEWORK AND OTHER BUILT-IN FURNISHING MUST COMPLY WITH
ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT,
TITLE III AND THE INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL A117.1

C. PROVIDE EPOXY PAINT IN ALL RESTROOMS, BREAK ROOMS, AND AT ALL
DRINKING FOUNTAINS

SHEET KEY NOTES:

EXISTING  WALL TO REMAIN

NEW PARTITION: 3 5/8" METAL STUDS (OR, AT INFILL,  AS
REQUIRED TO MATCH EXISTING) AT 16" ON CENTER WITH 5/8"
GYPSUM BOARD (OR, AT INFILL, AS REQUIRED TO MATCH
EXISTING).  EXTEND 6" (MINIMUM) ABOVE CEILING GRID AND
BRACE TO STRUCTURE ABOVE

CG 48" TALL PREFABRICATED SOLID CORNER GUARD

NORTH

A-403

SOUTH

WEST EAST INTERIOR ELEVATION

BREAKROOM
133

133

ETR

SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE
CEILING, SEE CEILING PLANS FOR

HEIGHTS

3 5/8" METAL STUDS W/ TOP AND
BOTTOM RUNNER AND 5/8" GYPSUM

BOARD EA SIDE, PROVIDE SOLID
WOOD BLOCKING AT CABINET

ATTACHMENT

ADJUSTABLE SHELVES

MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM
BOARD BEHIND ALL SINKS

4" HIGH 1" PARTICLE BOARD
BACKSPLASH W/ PLASTIC LAMINATE

FINISH

1" MONOLITHIC PARTICLE BOARD W/
PLASTIC LAMINATE FINISH

DIMENSIONAL LUMBER BASE,
BACKPRIME ALL WOOD IN CONTACT

W/ MASONRY

4" RUBBER BASE
TOE SPACE

2'
-1

0"
1'

-8
"

1'
-0

" @
 A

C
C

ES
SI

BL
E 

U
N

IT
2'

-6
"

2'
-0

"

9'
-0

"  
(V

IF
)

4"

ADJUSTABLE SHELVING

1"
1'-2"

1"

25"

1/2" WHITE MELAMINE DRAWER
SIDES, 3/4" WHITE MELAMINE INNER

FRONT & BACK 1/4" WHITE
TEMPERED HARDBOARD BOTTOM

DOOR & DRAWER FRONT TO BE HPL
ON 3/4" HIGH DENSITY P.B. W/ HPL

EDGE BANDING

METAL STUD AND GYPSUM BOARD
BULKHEAD ABOVE WALL CABINET  TO

EXTEND 1" BEYOND CABINET FACE.
SEE INTERIOR ELEVATION DRAWINGS

AND ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS FOR
UNDER - CABINET LIGHTS

1'-6"
1'-0"
(VIF)

1'-0"
(VIF)

3'
-3

"

BOTTLE FILLER

FRONT VIEW SIDE VIEW

1'-7"

3'
-1

"

ACTIVATION
SENSOR

2'
-7

"

4'
-4

"

ENLARGED PLAN AT NEW OFFICESA2

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

ENLARGED OFFICE
AND BREAKROOM
FLOOR PLANS
AND DETAILS

A-4020 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

ENLARGED PLAN AT NEW OFFICESB2
0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

66

6 6

6 6

2

2

2

22

CG

CG

CG

CGCG

8

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

7
9

10

D5
A-101

A-402

B6

TYPICAL AT ALL
CORNER GUARDS

6

6

66

11

11

5 5

18

6

6

66

5
1

6

1

PROVIDE TWO (2) COATS OF
EPOXY PAINT ON ALL WALLS /
FLOOR TO CEILING IN ALCOVE

AT NEW WATER COOLERS

ENLARGED PLAN AT NEW OFFICESA6
0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

16
'-4

"

14'-0"

1414

12

13

A-402

B5

CG CG

CG

CG

CG CG

D5
A-402

CG CG
15

B5
BREAKROOM
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

1413

31

13

16

1218

17

0903

D5
TYPICAL CABINET AND
COUNTER TOP SECTION

0 1' 2'6"0 1' 2'6"1" = 1'-0"

HIGH/LOW DRINKING FOUNTAIN WITH
BOTTLE FILLER INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

CG

CG

CG

CGCG

CG

CGCG

D5
A-402

B6

A-101

D4

1413

3

3

3

3

4

4

4

5

6

1

43

4

3

4

3

3

596

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



DESCRIPTION NO.

01 TOILET PAPER HOLDER

COMMENTSMANUFACTURER MODEL

02
03

40" WIDE x 5'-0" TALL MIRROR

04
SOAP DISPENSER
PAPER TOWEL / TRASH RECEPT 

BY OWNER

BY OWNER
CUSTOM

EXISTING

-
-
-
-

NOTES

10 UNDER-MOUNT SINK

XX

DESCRIPTION NO. COMMENTSMANUFACTURER MODEL

1. MANUFACTURES AND MODEL NUMBERS ARE BASIS OF
DESIGN. OTHER PRODUCTS MAY BE SUBSTITUTED, AS
APPROVED BY OWNER

2. SEE G-104 FOR MOUNTING HEIGHTS

3. PROVIDE TREATED SOLID WOOD BLOCKING AT ALL
RESTROOM ACCESSORIES

4. ACCESSORIES IDENTIFIED AS "BY OWNER" ARE PROVIDED
BY OWNER'S VENDOR(S) AND INSTALLED BY
CONTRACTOR

5. PATCH, REPAIR AND FINISH GYPSUM BOARD AS
NECESSARY AFTER INSTALLATION OF BLOCKING AND
HANGERS

-

RESTROOM ACCESSORY SCHEDULE

PLUMBING FIXTURE SCHEDULE

AMERICAN STANDARD11 FAUCET 6055164.002
-

05
06
07

BOBRICK B-6806X4242" SIDE WALL GRAB BAR
36" REAR WALL GRAB BAR 
18" VERTICAL GRAB BAR 

BOBRICK B-6806X36
BOBRICK B-6806X18

08 COAT HOOK BOBRICK B-549

WELDED FRAME
-

REMOVE AND RE-INSTALL
-
-
-
DOUBLE HOOK

AMERICAN STANDARD FLOOR MOUNTED12 TOILET 288AA.114.020

AMERICAN STANDARD 0496221.020
TOUCHLESS / BATTERY OPERATED
-

09 PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER BY OWNER - -

AMERICAN STANDARD13 BREAK ROOM SINK 22SB.6252284S
AMERICAN STANDARD14 BREAK ROOM FAUCET 7074000
AMERICAN STANDARD15 URINAL 6581001EC.020

GENERAL NOTES:

1. NEW SOLID SURFACE COUNTER TOP WITH UNDER-MOUNT SINK.
PROVIDE WITH 4" BACK SPLASH AND TURNED DOWN FRONT EDGE. FIELD
VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS PRIOR TO FABRICATION

2. PROVIDE NEW MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD WHERE CERAMIC
WALL TILE AND BASE ARE REMOVED.  FINISH ALL GYPSUM BOARD WITH
PRIMER AND TWO (2) COATS OF EPOXY PAINT WITH EGGSHELL FINISH

3. PAINT ALL GYPSUM BOARD WALLS: PATCH AND REPAIR AS NECESSARY,
PRIME AND PROVIDE TWO (2) COATS OF PAINT

4. NEW CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND COVE BASE ON ALL WALLS AND ON
VANITY SUPPORT WALL IN WOMEN'S RESTROOM.

5. ALL EXISTING PLUMBING FIXTURES TO BE REMOVED
6. REMOVE EXISTING CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND BASE THROUGHOUT

7. NEW SOLID PLASTIC TOILET PARTITION AND DOORS

8. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE NOTED, ALL EXISTING GRAB BARS AND OTHER
RESTROOM ACCESSORIES TO BE REMOVED BY OWNER PRIOR TO THE
START OF CONSTRUCTION (PAPER TOWEL / WASTE RECEPTACLE TO BE
RE-USED)

9. THINSET MARBLE THRESHOLD
10. REMOVE EXISTING RECESSED PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER AND TRASH

RECEPTACLE AND RE-INSTALL IN PATCHED AND REPAIRED METAL STUD
AND GYPSUM BOARD PARTITION

11. REMOVE EXISTING TOILET PARTITION AND DOOR
12. REMOVE EXISTING WALL MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURE AND RE-INSTALL

CENTERED OVER NEW MIRROR

LEGEND:

EXISTING WALL, FIXTURE OR EQUIPMENT TO BE
REMOVED

CG
48" TALL CORNER GUARD.  SEE DETAIL D4/A-101

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE
ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. MILLWORK, CASEWORK AND OTHER BUILT-IN FURNISHING MUST COMPLY WITH
ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT,
TITLE III AND THE INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL A117.1

C. PROVIDE MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD BEHIND ALL PLUMBING
FIXTURES, EXTENDING NO LESS THAN 6'-0" BEYOND THE OUTERMOST EDGE
OF EACH FIXTURE, IN ALL DIRECTIONS

D. PROVIDE EPOXY PAINT IN ALL RESTROOMS, BREAK ROOMS, AND AT ALL
DRINKING FOUNTAINS

E. PROVIDE SOLID WOOD BLOCKING IN WALL FOR ALL RESTROOM ACCESSORIES,
INCLUDING THOSE PROVIDED BY OWNER'S VENDOR

F. SEE G-104 FOR RESTROOM ACCESSORY MOUNTING HEIGHTS
G. PROVIDE TWO (2) COATS OF EPOXY PAINT ON ALL WALL IN RESTROOMS

CLEAR FLOOR AREA AT PLUMBING FIXTURE:
67" DIAMETER TURNING RADIUS

30"x42" AT LAVATORY

NORTH

A-403

SOUTH

WEST EAST INTERIOR ELEVATION

SHEET KEY NOTES:

MEN'S
RESTROOM

135

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

134

ETR

ETR

CGCG

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

132
ETR

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

MEN'S
RESTROOM

131

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

ETR

MEN'S
RESTROOM

135

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

134

K-4920-TBRANHAM C_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

132

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

MEN'S
RESTROOM

131

K-4920-T BRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

EXISTING METAL STUD AND GYPSUM
BOARD PARTITION PATCH AND

REPAIR AS NECESSARY TO INSTALL
NAILERS AND BLOCKING

TREATED 2x6 SOLID WOOD
BLOCKING

CONTINUOUS TREATED 2x4
LEDGER AT BACK AND EACH

SIDE OF VANITY SOLID SURFACE VANITY TOP WITH 4" BACK
SPLASH

VANITY SUPPORT: 5/8'
MOISTURE RESISTANT

GYPSUM BOARD EACH SIDE
OF 3 5/8" METAL STUDS. PRIME

AND PAINT WITH TWO (2)
COATS OF EPOXY PAINT

UNDER-MOUNT SINK MOUNTED TO
UNDERSIDE OF SOLID SURFACE TOP

TOUCHLESS / AUTO-SENSING FAUCET WITH
HOT AND COLD LEVER CONTROLS

40" WIDE x 5'-0" TALL MIRROR WITH WELDED
FRAME, CENTERED OVER SINK

ADA COMPLIANT INSULATION KIT
AT SANITARY SEWER PIPING
AND HOT AND COLD WATER

PIPING

CERAMIC TILE COVE
BASE

CERAMIC FLOOR TILE ON
EXISTING CONCRETE
FLOOR  SLAB

3/4"EXTERIOR GRADE PLYWOOD

ENLARGED RESTROOM PLANC2

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

ENLARGED RESTROOM
FLOOR PLANS

A-403

0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

RESTROOM PLANC4
0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

C5
0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

ENLARGED WOMEN'S
RESTROOM PLAN
ENLARGED MEN'S

01

06

01

06

06 1

10
12

10

4

4

2

2

04

07

7

07

01

03

03

9

9

04

08

08

08

02

3

3

11

11

02

12

12

06

1212121212

777 7

1011 1011 1011 11011 1011 1011 1

151212

7

7

7

15

2

3

4

2

3

8'
-7

"

8'-1"

2'
-7

"
4'

-5
"

5'-8" 6'-7"

2'
-0

"
9'

-1
"

5'
-7

"

9'-5"

1'
-1

1"

6'-6"

1'
-1

1"

E4
A-403

A-404

C4

A-404

A5

A-404

D5

A-404

B5

DEMOLITION RESTROOM PLANA2
0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

WOMEN'S RESTROOM PLANA4
0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

A5
0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

ENLARGED DEMOLITION
RESTROOM PLAN
ENLARGED MEN'S ENLARGED 

8

5

85

5

58

10

10
11

12

6

6

58 12

5 5 5
555

555555 555

66

A1

C5 C2

D2

D4

B2

B4

A4

E4 TYPICAL VANITY DETAIL
0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

8

8

8

8

10

10

10

10

11

1111111111

11

12
1288

8 8 8

13'-9"

7'
-8

"

12
'-4

"

11'-0"

12
'-4

"

7'
-8

"

4

597

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



GENERAL NOTES:
A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR REFERENCE

ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. MILLWORK, CASEWORK AND OTHER BUILT-IN FURNISHING MUST COMPLY WITH
ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT,
TITLE III AND THE INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL A117.1

C. PROVIDE MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD BEHIND ALL PLUMBING
FIXTURES, EXTENDING NO LESS THAN 6'-0" BEYOND THE OUTERMOST EDGE
OF EACH FIXTURE, IN ALL DIRECTIONS

D. PROVIDE EPOXY PAINT IN ALL RESTROOMS, BREAK ROOMS, AND AT ALL
DRINKING FOUNTAINS

E. PROVIDE SOLID WOOD BLOCKING IN WALL FOR ALL RESTROOM ACCESSORIES,
INCLUDING THOSE PROVIDED BY OWNER'S VENDOR

F. SEE G-104 FOR RESTROOM ACCESSORY MOUNTING HEIGHTS
G. PROVIDE TWO (2) COATS OF EPOXY PAINT ON ALL WALL IN RESTROOMS

1. NEW SOLID SURFACE COUNTER TOP WITH UNDER-MOUNT SINK.
PROVIDE WITH 4" BACK SPLASH AND TURNED DOWN FRONT EDGE. FIELD
VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS PRIOR TO FABRICATION

2. 4" X 4" GLAZED CERAMIC TILES
3. CERAMIC TILE COVE BASE
4. 5/8"  MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD W/ (2) COATS OF EPOXY

PAINT
5. NEW SOLID PLASTIC TOILET PARTITION AND DOOR22.
6. VANITY SUPPORT 5/8' MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD EACH SIDE

OF 3 5/8" METAL STUDS. PRIME AND PAINT WITH TWO (2) COATS OF
EPOXY PAINT

SHEET KEY NOTES:

2'-8"2'-8"2'-9"

15
"

15
"

2'-11"

12"42"

41
"

18
"

8'-0" 6'-3"4'-6" 6'-6"

9'-5" 4'-6"

12" 42"

41
"

18
"

K-4301HIGHCRESTC_TOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

6'-3" 8'-0" 3'-0"2'-8"2'-8"2'-8"

15
"

15
"

15
"

15
"

15
"

2'-9"

40
"

34
"

15
"

36"

42"

3'-4" 3'-4"

12" 42"

41
"

18
"

K-4301 HIGHCREST C_TOILETS VITREOUS CHINA

8'-7"

34
"

5'-2" 3'-5"

12"42"

41
"

18
"

K-4301HIGHCRESTC_TOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

6'-7" 5'-8"2'-8"4'-6"

34
"

15
"

36"
42"

11'-1"

34
"

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

RESTROOM 
INTERIOR
ELEVATIONS
AND DETAILS

A-404

B2
MEN'S RESTROOM (131)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
B4

MEN'S RESTROOM (131)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
B5

MEN'S RESTROOM (131)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

D2
WOMEN'S RESTROOM (132)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
D4

WOMEN'S RESTROOM (132)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
D5

WOMEN'S RESTROOM (132)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

1212121212
1011 1011 1011

1011

1011 1011 1011

10 11

15 15

12

12

02

01

05 06

07
09 03

01

0101 01 01 01

0903

C2
WOMEN'S RESTROOM (132)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
C4

WOMEN'S RESTROOM (132)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
C5

WOMEN'S RESTROOM (132)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

A2
MEN'S RESTROOM (131)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
A4

MEN'S RESTROOM (131)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"
A5

MEN'S RESTROOM (131)
INTERIOR ELEVATION

0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

12 12

12

12

1011
1011

1011

101107
07 07

07

07

05

05
05

06

06

01
01

01 01 01

09

09 03

03

02
02

02

02

06

12

07

05

01

06

12

0506

06
06

4 4 4

4 4

444

32
32

32 32

323232

3 2

3 2

3 2 3 23 2

4 44

5 5 5 5 5

5

5 5 5 5

1
1

1

1

1

1

1

02 02

02

4

REFER TO A-403
FOR RESTROOM ACCESSORIES AND

PLUMBING SCHEDULE

6

01 12

598

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



1"

8"

1/2"

4"

WALL ANGLE SET IN
CONT BEAD OF CAULK

ACOUSTICAL
CEILING PANEL

MAIN/ CROSS
RUNNERS

MIN. 3 TURNS

12 GA. HANGER
WIRE

STIFFENER CHANNEL
-SECURE W/CHIPS

WALL CONNECTION
-ANCHOR TOSTRUCTURAL
ELEMENT

3" = 1'-0"
A2

DETAIL @ WALL AND
TYP HANGER

41.63°

42
.1

8°
41

.99
°

43.45°

EXTEND TUBE TO BE TIGHT
TO CEILING GRID AND

STRUCTURE ABOVE-THEN
INSTALL BOLT TO SECURE
ONE TUBE TO THE OTHER

TUBES SHALL LAP ONE
ANOTHER AT LEAST 4" IN

FULLY EXTENDED POSITION

#12 GAGE SPLAY WIRE(4) IN PLANE OF EACH
RUNNER-VERTICAL ANGLE APPROX. 45°D-ALL
WIRES SECURED TO RUNNERS APPROX. 2"
FROM INTERSECTIONS CROSS RUNNER

MAIN RUNNER

#12 GAGE VERTICAL WIRE
HANGER IN TUBING -
LEVEL CEILING GRID
PRIOR TO SETTING TUBE

UNDERSIDE OF
FLOOR OR ROOF
STRUCTURE ABOVE

1/2" ELECTRIC
CONDUIT-THIN WALL

3/4" ELECTRIC
CONDUIT-THIN WALL

DRILL 5/32" HOLE &
INSTALL 1/8" BOLT &
LOCKING NUT

3" = 1'-0"
A1

METHOD FOR BRACING
AGAINST UPLIFT

3" = 1'-0"
A3

DETAILS @ STEEL DECK

3" = 1'-0"
B3

DETAILS @ STEEL BEAM
3" = 1'-0"

B2
DETAILS @ STEEL JOIST

WEB MEMBERS

BOTTOM CHORD

VERTICAL
HANGER WIRE

SPLAYED SEISMIC
BRACING WIRES

STRUCTURE
ABOVE

STEEL STRAP

SPLAYED SEISMIC
BRACING WIRE

VERTICAL
HANGAR WIRE

HILTI CEILING
CLIP OR EQUAL

STEEL DECK

BRACING WIRE

(2) #8 X 1/2" METAL SELF
TAPPING SCREWS

STEEL STRAPS
3"W X 4"L X 12GA

1-1/2" = 1'-0"
C1

DETAIL @
COUNCIL CHAMBER

10'- 8 ½"

8 
1/

2"

24" x 24" SUSPENDED
ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING

WITH TEGULAR EDGE TILES

5/8" GYPSUM BOARD,
PRIMED AND PAINTED

(2 COATS)

6" METAL FRAMED BULKHEAD

1-1/2" = 1'-0"
D1

DETAIL @ BULKHEAD
TYPICAL

9'- 0"

24" x 24" SUSPENDED
ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING
WITH SQUARE EDGE TILES

6" M
IN

5/8" GYPSUM BOARD,
PRIMED AND PAINTED

(2 COATS)

6" METAL FRAMED BULKHEAD

6" = 1'-0"
C3 CONTROL JOINT DETAIL

2"

3/4" 1 1/4"

1/2"

3/
4"

6" = 1'-0"
C2 REVEAL JOINT DETAIL

1/2"

3/
4"

5/8" GYPSUM BOARD,
PRIMED AND PAINTED

(2 COATS) 5/8" GYPSUM BOARD,
PRIMED AND PAINTED
(2 COATS)

5/8" GYPSUM BOARD,
PRIMED AND PAINTED

(2 COATS) 5/8" GYPSUM BOARD,
PRIMED AND PAINTED
(2 COATS)

MAIN CROSS RUNNERS

MAIN CROSS RUNNERS

1"

1'-1" CABINET

1-1/2" = 1'-0"
D2

DETAIL @ BULKHEAD
WALL CABINET

2'
- 0

"

7'- 0" (VIF)

METAL STUD AND GYPSUM
BOARD BULKHEAD ABOVE WALL

CABINET  TO EXTEND 1" BEYOND
CABINET FACE. SEE INTERIOR

ELEVATION DRAWINGS AND
ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS FOR

UNDER - CABINET LIGHTS

24" x 24" SUSPENDED
ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING
WITH SQUARE EDGE TILES

5/8" GYPSUM BOARD,
PRIMED AND PAINTED

(2 COATS)

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

TYPICAL
CEILING DETAILS

A-503
599

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



7'
-0

"

3'-0"

DOOR  "D1" DOOR  "D2"
7'

-0
"

STAINED SOLID CORE WOOD
TO MATCH EXISTING

STAINED SOLID CORE WOOD
TO MATCH EXISTING

3'-0"

T 

DOOR  "D3"

3'-0"

7'
-0

"

PAINTED SOLID CORE WOOD

T 

PAINTED HOLLOW METAL
FRAME  "F1"

2"
3'-0"

2"

7'
-2

"
2"

7'
-0

"
2"

2"
6'-0"

2"

PAINTED HOLLOW METAL
FRAME  "F2"

1. SIGNS SHALL BE INSTALLED ON THE WALL ADJACENT TO THE LATCH SIDE OF THE DOOR. WHERE THERE IS NO WALL SPACE
ON THE LATCH SIDE OF THE DOOR, INCLUDING DOUBLE LEAF DOORS, SIGNS SHALL BE INSTALLED ON THE NEAREST
ADJACENT WALL

2. MOUNTING HEIGHT SHALL BE 60" (5'-0") ABOVE FINISH FLOOR TO THE CENTERLINE OF THE SIGN

3. MOUNTING LOCATION SHALL BE SUCH THAT A PERSON MAY APPROACH WITHIN 3" OF THE SIGN WITHOUT ENCOUNTERING
PROTRUDING OBJECTS OR STANDING WITHIN THE SWING OF THE DOOR

CHARACTER
SIGNAGE

BRAILLE
SIGNAGE

5'
-0

"

4" OR IF WALL IS LESS THAN 18" WIDE
CENTER SIGNAGE ON WALL

CL

CHARACTER
SIGNAGE

BRAILLE
SIGNAGE

5'
-0

"

4" OR IF WALL IS LESS THAN 18" WIDE
CENTER SIGNAGE ON WALL

CL CL

SIGN MAY BE MOUNTED ON
EITHER SIDE OF DOORS

34
" (

M
IN

) T
O

 4
8"

 (M
AX

)

HINGE
DOORS 7'-0" OR LESS
PROVIDE 3 HINGES,
DOORS TALLER THAN 7'-0"
PROVIDE 4 HINGES
A=B=1'-10" MAX

JAMB ANCHOR
DOORS 7'-0" OR LESS
PROVIDE 3 HINGES,
DOORS TALLER THAN 7'-0"
PROVIDE 4 HINGES
A=B=1'-10" MAX

THRESHOLD, SILL, OR
REDUCER STRIP 9WHERE
INDICATED) 1/2" MAX
(HEIGHT ABOVE FINISHED
FLOOR0 OR 1:12 SLOPE

B
EQ

U
AL

EQ
U

AL
A

LEVER, PUSH PULL OF
PANIC DEVICE

1.        SIGNS SHALL COMPLY WITH THE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING
CODE CHAPTER 11 - ACCESSIBILITY AND THE INTERNATIONAL
CODE COUNCIL A117.1-2009 - ACCESSIBLE AND USABLE
BUILDINGS AND FACILITIES

2.        TEXT/COPY SHALL BE SansSerif, RAISED 1/32" AND SHALL BE 5/8"
HIGH, UPPER CASE

3.        PICTOGRAMS SHALL BE RAISED 1/3" AND SHALL BE 3" HIGH
UNLESS SHOWN OR NOTED OTHERWISE

4.        EACH SIGN SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH GRADE 2 BRAILLE

5.        SIGNS SHALL BE 1/8" THICK MELAMINE PLASTIC, SINGLE PIECE
CONSTRUCTION (APPLIED CHARACTERS WILL NOT BE
ACCEPTED)

6.        TEXT AND PICTOGRAM SHALL BE WHITE.  BACKGROUND SHALL
BE SELECTED FROM MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD
CONTRASTING COLORS

7.        SIGNS SHALL BE MOUNTED WITH MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD
VINYL FOAM TAPE

8.        SIGN IMAGES SHOW TO THE LEFT ARE EXAMPLES.  SIGN TEXT
TO BE PROVIDED BY TENANT.  PICTOGRAM TO MATCH TEXT

SIGN SPECIFICATIONS:

PI
C

TO
G

R
AM

 H
EI

G
H

T
TO

 B
E 

3"
 M

IN
TE

XT
H

EI
G

H
T 

5/
8"

TEXT AND PICTOGRAMS ARE FOR
DEMONSTRATION OF GRAPHIC

REQUIREMENTS ONLY

JAMB J-1

HEAD H-1

HEADER
7'-0"

5/8" GYP BOARD
EACH SIDE

(2) 6" 12 GAUGE METAL
HEADER

HEAD TRACK

SEALANT ALL SIDES

WELDED HALLOW
METAL DOOR FRAME
REFER TO FINISH
SCHEDULE FOR PAINT

SOLID WOOD CORE
DOOR, REFER TO FINISH
SCHEDULE FOR FINISH

HEIGHT

3-5/8" 12 GAUGE METAL
STUD @ 16" O.C.

5/8" GYP BOARD
EACH SIDE
3-5/8" 12 GAUGE METAL
STUD W/ (KING)
STUDS &  (1) JACK STUD

WELDED HOLLOW
METAL DOOR FRAME
REFER TO FINISH
SCHEDULE FOR PAINT

SOLID WOOD CORE
DOOR, REFER TO FINISH
SCHEDULE FOR FINISH

NEW LVTEXISTING LVT

LVT MANUFACTURER'S
STANDARD RUBBER OR
VINYL TRANSITION AT
NEW AND EXISTING LVT

SILL S-1

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

ROOM
NUMBER

WALLS FINISH / PAINT COLOR

REMARKS

-
-
-
-
-

GWB GWB GWB

SOUTH EAST WEST

ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE

ROOM NAME

NORTH MATERIAL

CEILING BASE

ACT

ACT

GWB - GWB
GWB GWB GWB
GWB GWB GWB

-GWB GWB GWBGWB
-

-
-

ACT

-

ACT

ACTGWB GWB GWB
ACT
ACTGWB GWBGWB
ACTGWB GWBGWB

- GWB GWB- ACT

-

ACT

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

ACTGWB GWBGWB
ACT
ACT

GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
ACTGWB GWBGWB
ACTGWB GWBGWB
ACTGWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

ALUM ALUMINUM
EXIST EXISTING
GL TEMPERED GLASS
HM HOLLOW  METAL
SM INSULATED METAL
MFR MANUFACTURER
SCW SOLID CORE WOOD
HCW HOLLOW CORE WOOD
HCW-L HOLLOW CORE WOOD LOUVERED
CONC REINFORCED CONCRETE SLAB

VPT VINYL PLANK TILE EPB FLOORING
GWB 5/8" TYPE X GYPSUM WALL BOARD 

SHEATHING
WD WOOD
SF ALUMINUM STOREFRONT
WT WALL TILE / WALL FINISH 1
W# PAINT COLOR
EPP EPOXY WALL PAINT
CPT CARPET
SC SEALED CONCRETE

VCT VINYL COMPOSITE TILE
RBR RUBBER BASE
ACT ACOUSTICAL CEILING TILE
PT-GB PAINTED GYPSUM BOARD
EXP EXPOSED
ST STONE
OPEN OPEN TO STRUCTURE
CMU-P PAINTED CMU

-CT CT- GWB GWB-
-

DOOR AND FRAME SCHEDULE

ROOM NAMEDOOR
NUMBER

DOOR
TYPE SIZE GLAZING FRAME

TYPE HEAD JAMB SILL REMARKSFRAME TYPE
(MAT)

DOORS FRAME

HARDWARE
SETS

D3 3'-0"x7'-0" HMF1
HM

GWB GWBGWB
-GWB GWBGWB
-

FRAME TYPESB5 DOOR TYPESB3

MATERIAL

FLOOR

MATERIAL

ACT
ACT

ACT

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB

GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB

ALL NEW WALLS ARE TO BE PRIMED AND
PAINTED

ALL EXISTING WALLS ARE TO BE PATCHED,
REPAIRED, PRIMED AND PAINTED

NOTE:
SCRAPE AND SAND ALL DOOR
DOORS AS NECESSARY AND PAINT

D2
D3
D1

C4

NOT TO SCALE
A5 INTERIOR SIGNAGE

DOOR HARDWARE MOUNTING
NOT TO SCALE

TEMP
N/A

TEMP

TEMP

TEMP
TEMP

N/A

0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0" 0 1' 2' 4'3/8" = 1'-0"

ROOM FINISH,
DOOR SCHEDULES
AND DETAILS

A-601

101
102
103
104
105
106
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127

GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB

GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB

GWB GWB GWB GWB129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140

151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158

149
150

141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148

ENTRY VESTIBULE
CORRIDOR

OFFICE
RECEPTIONIST

CORRIDOR
OFFICE
OFFICE

STORAGE
OFFICE

CORRIDOR
OFFICE
OFFICE

OFFICE
OFFICE

STORAGE

OFFICE

COUNCIL CHAMBER

STORAGE

CORRIDOR

CORRIDOR

OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE

STORAGE

OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE

OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE

OFFICE

OFFICE

CORRIDOR

STORAGE
CONFERENCE

MEN'S RESTROOM
WOMEN'S RESTROOM

BREAKROOM
WOMEN'S RESTROOM

MEN'S RESTROOM
OFFICE
WORK
OFFICE
OFFICE
OFFICE

CONFERENCE

WORK AREA

WORK AREA
OFFICE

VESTIBULE

TELECOM

PAYMENT

159
160 ELECTRICAL

OPEN OFFICE

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB

GWB
GWB
GWB

GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB

GWB GWB GWB GWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB
GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB GWBGWB

GWB

GWB
GWB
GWB

GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB

ACT/GWB
ACT/GWB

ACT

ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT
ACT
ACT

ACT

OFFICE
RECEPTIONIST

OFFICE
STORAGE

OFFICE
STORAGE

OFFICE

OFFICE
OFFICE

OFFICE
OFFICE

COUNCIL CHAMBER

OFFICE
OFFICE

OFFICE

OFFICE

OFFICE

103
104

106
107
108
109
110

112
113
114
115
116
117
118
120
121
122

EXISTF2D2

138A

139A

140B

D2 EXISTF2
124A
124B

HM

HM

D3

D3

HMD3

F1
F1
F1

F1
F1
F1
F1
F1
F1
F1
F1
F1
F1

02

02

J-1H-1

OFFICE

OFFICE

OFFICE

3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"

3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"
3'-0"x7'-0"

(2)3'-0"x7'-0"
(2)3'-0"x7'-0"

3'-0"x7'-0"

3'-0"x7'-0"

3'-0"x7'-0"

AND SILL DETAILS
1-1/2" = 1'-0"

B6
0 1' 2'

J-1H-1

EXISTEXIST
EXISTEXIST

J-1H-1

J-1H-1

J-1H-1

S-1
S-1

NOT TO SCALE
A4 INTERIOR SIGNAGE MOUNTING

DOOR HEAD, 

1. SEE DRAWING A-102, PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN FOR RENOVATION OF EXISTING SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE CEILING.  EXISTING
CEILINGS IN THE PROJECT AREA ARE TO BE CONVERTED FROM A 2x4 GRID TO A 2x2 GRID

2. EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD CEILINGS, BULKHEADS AND SOFFITS ARE TO BE PATCHED, REPAIRED, PRIMED AND PAINTED
3. ALL EXISTING GYPSUM BOARD WALLS ARE TO BE PATCHED, REPAIRED, PRIMED AND PAINTED
4. ALL NEW GYPSUM BOARD WALLS ARE TO BE PRIMED AND PAINTED
5. ALL EXISTING RUBBER AND VINYL WALL BASE IS TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW 4" RUBBER COVE BASE
6. EXISTING CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND CERAMIC TILE WALL BASE ARE TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW CERAMIC FLOOR TILE AND BASE
7. ALL EXISTING VINYL COMPOSITION TILE (VCT), LUXURY VINYL TILE (LVT) AND CARPET (BROADLOOM AND TILES) IS TO BE REPLACED
8. INTERIOR FINISH MATERIAL COLORS AND PATTERNS WILL BE SELECTED FROM THE MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD LINE DURING THE SUBMITTAL

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS
9. ALL FLOOR AND CEILING GRIDS AND PATTERNS ARE TO BE CENTERED ON EACH ROOM
10. TO THE GREATEST EXTENT POSSIBLE, ALL EXISTING CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES ARE TO BE RE-INSTALLED IN THE CENTER OF THE NEW

CEILING TILE
11. ALL NEW SOLID CORE WOOD DOORS ARE TO BE PRE-FINISHED TO MATCH EXISTING
12. ALL NEW HOLLOW METAL FRAMES ARE TO BE SCRAPED AND SANDED AS REQUIRED, PRIMED AND PAINTED TO MATCH EXISTING

ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE NOTES:

ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE AND DOOR AND FRAME SCHEDULE ABBREVIATIONS:

NO SILL

NO SILL

NO SILL

NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL

NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL
NO SILL

TEMP
TEMP
TEMP
TEMP
TEMP
TEMP
TEMP
TEMP

D3
D1

HM
HM
HM
HM
HM

J-1H-1
J-1H-1
J-1H-1
J-1H-1
J-1H-1

TEMP
TEMP
TEMP
TEMP

TEMP

TEMP

TEMP

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

EXIST
EXIST

141A
CONFERENCE

HMD3 F13'-0"x7'-0" J-1H-1 NO SILLTEMP

LVT
LVT

CPT

CT
CT

CT
CT

CPT
LVT
LVT

LVT

LVT

LVT

CPT

LVT

CPT

LVT

LVT

LVT
LVT
LVT

LVT

CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT

CPT

CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT
CPT

CPT

CPT
CPT

CPT
CPT

CPT
CPT

CPT
CPT

LVT
CPT

CPT

CPT

CPT

CT
CT

CT
CT

155 HMTELECOM D2 F13'-0"x7'-0" TEMP J-1H-1 NO SILL

01
01

01
01
01

01
01
01
01
01
01
01
01
01
01

01

01

01
03

RE-USE EXISTING HARDWARE

02

HARDWARE SET 01
FUNCTION: OFFICE AND RECEPTION
DOOR TYPE: SOLID CORE WOOD IN HOLLOW METAL FRAME
FIRE RATING: 0-HOUR
HARDWARE:(1 1/2 ) PAIR BUTT HINGE

 (1) OFFICE FUNCTION LOCKSET
 (1) WALL STOP
 (3) SILENCER

NOTE: LATCHBOLT TO BE RETRACTED BY INSIDE LEVER AND
OUTSIDE KEY. LOCK CORE TO MATCH EXISTING DOORS

HARDWARE SET 02
FUNCTION: MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, STORAGE AND OTHER

SIMILAR UTILITY AND SERVICE SPACES
DOOR TYPE: SOLID CORE WOOD IN HOLLOW METAL FRAME
FIRE RATING: 0-HOUR
HARDWARE:(1 1/2 ) PAIR BUTT HINGE

 (1)OFFICE FUNCTION LOCKSET
 (1)WALL STOP
 (3)SILENCER

NOTE: LATCHBOLT TO BE RETRACTED BY INSIDE LEVER AND
UNLESS THE OUTSIDE IS LOCKED BY THE TOGGLE OR
OUTSIDE KEY. LOCK CORE TO MATCH EXISTING DOORS

HARDWARE SET 03
FUNCTION: CONFERENCE ROOM
DOOR TYPE: SOLID CORE WOOD IN HOLLOW METAL FRAME
FIRE RATING: 0-HOUR
HARDWARE:(1 1/2 ) PAIR BUTT HINGE

 (1)OFFICE FUNCTION LOCKSET
 (1)WALL STOP
 (3)SILENCER

NOTE: LATCHBOLT TO BE RETRACTED ON OUTSIDE BY KEY
AND ON INSIDE TOGGLE. LOCK CORE TO MATCH EXISTING
DOORS

DOOR HARDWARE SETS

161 CORRIDOR GWB GWBGWB GWB ACT LVT

4" RBR

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

F1
F1
F1

F1

F1

F1

138B HMD3 3'-0"x7'-0" J-1H-1 NO SILLTEMP 01F1

139B HMD3 3'-0"x7'-0" J-1H-1 NO SILLTEMP 01F1
140A HMD3 3'-0"x7'-0" J-1H-1 NO SILLTEMP

OFFICE
01F1

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3
D3

D3

D3
D3

D3
D3

FROSTED GLASS

133 BREAKROOM D3 HM3'-0"x7'-0" J-1H-1 NO SILLTEMP 01F1

TEMPCORRIDOR111 3'-0"x7'-0" NO SILLHM J-1H-1 01F1D2

4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR

WD
4" RBR
4" RBR

4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR

4" RBR
4" RBR
4" RBR

4" RBR

HMD2 F13'-0"x7'-0" TEMP J-1H-1 NO SILL 03141B

D1 HM3'-0"x7'-0" J-1H-1 NO SILLTEMP 01F1
D1 HM3'-0"x7'-0" J-1H-1 NO SILLTEMP 01F1

STORAGE
STORAGE

126
125

600

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



GENERAL NOTES:

LEGEND:

A. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY
ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS

B. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE NOTED, THIS PROJECT DOES NOT INCLUDE WORK IN
BUILDING CORRIDORS, PUBLIC RESTROOMS AND OTHER COMMON AREAS

C. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO CARRYOUT ALL DEMOLITION
AND DISPOSAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LOCAL, STATE AND
FEDERAL REGULATIONS

D. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, COLOR CHANGES SHALL OCCUR AT INSIDE OR
OUTSIDE CORNERS

E. ALL PAINT COLORS WILL BE CHOSEN DURING THE SUBMITTAL REVIEW
PROCESS, FROM THE MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD PALETTE

F. COLOR WILL BE SELECTED SO THAT COVERAGE CAN BE ACHIEVED WITH TWO
(2) COATS. NEW COLORS WILL NOT BE SIGNIFICANTLY LIGHTER THAN THE
EXISTING

G. SOFFITS ARE TO BE CEILING WHITE OR WILL BE SIMILAR TO THE EXISTING SO
THAT COVERAGE CAN BE ACHIEVED WITH TWO (2) COASTS

H. ALL PAINT, PAINT THINNERS, SOLVENTS ETC. ARE TO BE LOW VOC

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO CHANGES TO EXISTING
CONDITIONS

FINISH FLOOR COLOR SCHEDULE:

LVT

CPT

CT

EXISTING  WALL TO REMAIN

NEW PARTITION: 3 5/8" METAL STUDS (OR, AT INFILL,  AS
REQUIRED TO MATCH EXISTING) AT 16" ON CENTER WITH
5/8" GYPSUM BOARD (OR, AT INFILL, AS REQUIRED TO
MATCH EXISTING).  EXTEND 6" (MINIMUM) ABOVE CEILING
GRID AND BRACE TO STRUCTURE ABOVE

WALL PAINT COLORS:
P1: ALL OFFICES

P2: ALL STORAGE, RESTROOM, CORRIDOR, CONFERENCE ROOMS,WORKROOMS

P3: ALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

ENTRY
VESTIBULE

101

CORRIDOR
102

CO
RR

ID
OR

10
5

OFFICE 03
106

CORRIDOR
111

STORAGE
109

CORRIDOR
123

WORK
137

OFFICE
136

BREAKROOM
133

CONFERENCE
130

COUNCIL
CHAMBER

124

RECEPTIONIST
104

OFFFICE
103

MEN'S
RESTROOM

135

WOMEN'S
RESTROOM

134

STORAGE
129

STORAGE
126

CORRIDOR
123

OFFICE 07
140

OFFICE 08
139

OFFICE 09
138

CONFERENCE
141

OFFICE 01
112

OFFICE 01
113

OFFICE 01
114

OFFICE 01
115

OFFICE 01
116

OFFICE 01
117

OFFICE 01
118

OFFICE 01
121

OFFICE 01
122

OFFICE 01
120

CORRIDOR
119

STORAGE
127

MEN'S
RESTROOM

131
WOMEN'S

RESTROOM
132

CO
RR

ID
OR

14
2

WORK
AREA
143 OFFICE

144

OFFICE
145

OFFICE
146

OFFICE
147

OFFICE
149

VESTIBULE
150

WORK
AREA
148

OFFICE
151

OFFICE
152

OFFICE
153

OFFICE
154

OFFICE
156

PAYMENTS
157

OFFICE
158

OPEN
OFFICE

159

STORAGE
125

ELECTRICAL
160

1

A

1.1 2 3 3.1 4 5 5.1 6 7 7.1

B

B.1

B.2

C

D

EXIST
FACP

TELECOM
155

OFFICE 01
110

OFFICE 01
108

CORRIDOR
161

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

FLOOR PATTERNS

A-602A2
1/8" = 1'-0" 0 4' 8' 16'

FISNIH FLOOR SCHEDULE

PT EXISTING PAINTED GYPSUM BOARD WALLS

SPOT PRIME:

1. SHERWIN WILLIAMS B51W08020 - MULTI-PURPOSE LATEX PRIMER WHITE
2. TNEMEC SERIES 113 TNEMC-TUFCOAT
3. PPG 17-921 SEAL GRIP LATEX INTERIOR/EXTERIOR UNIVERSAL PRIMER

TOPCOAT:

1. SHERWIN WILLIAMS K45W00151 - PRO INDUSTRIAL PRECATALYZED WATERBASED
EPOXY EGG-SHELL

2. TNEMEC SERIES 113 TNEME-TUFCOAT
3. PPG 16-310 PITT-GLAZE WB1 PRECATALYZED WATERBASED EGG-SHELL EPOXY

PT NEW GYPSUM BOARD WALLS AND CEILINGS

SPOT PRIME AND TOPCOAT:

1. SHERWIN WILLIAMS B30W02651 - PROMAR 200 ZERO VOC INTERIOR LATEX FLAT
2. TNEMEC SERIES 113 TNEMC-TUFCOAT
3. PPG 6-4110XI SPEEDHIDE NO VOC LATEX FLAT

PT HOLLOW METAL (HM) DOOR & FRAMES

SPOT PRIME:

1. SHERWIN WILLIAMS B66W00310 - PRO INDUSTRIAL PRO-CRYL UNIVERSAL ACRYLIC
PRIMER

2. TNEMEC SERIES 115 UNI-BOND
3. PPG 17-921 SEAL GRIP LATEX INTERIOR/EXTERIOR UNIVERSAL PRIMER

TOPCOAT:

1. SHERWIN WILLIAMS B66W01151 - PRO INDUSTRIAL DTM ACRYLIC SEMI-GLOSS
EPOXY

2. TNEMEC SERIES 1029 ENDURATONE
3. PPG 90-1210 PITT-TECH PLUS DTM SEMI-GLOSS

INTERIOR PAINT SCHEDULE

601

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADB

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

1

A

1.1 2 3 3.1 4 5 5.1 6 7 7.1

B

B.1

B.2

C

D

EXIST
FACP

K-4920-TBRANHAMC_URINALSVITREOUS CHINA

A

A A A

A

A

A A A A

C

A

A

A

A

A
IT

IT

C

SD SD

SD SD

SD

C

SD

C

C

CCA

C

A

C

CCAA AA

IT

ITC

SHEET KEY NOTES:

GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXISTING RELOCATED HVAC SUPPLY DIFFUSER
2. NEW FLEXIBLE DUCT TO BE SIZED BY CONTRACTOR
3. NEW HVAC SUPPLY DIFFUSER
4. EXISTING HVAC SUPPLY DIFFUSER TO BE RELOCATED AS SHOWN

A. EXCEPT AT NEW CONSTRUCTION, DIMENSIONS ARE PROVIDED FOR
REFERENCE ONLY.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FIELD VERIFYING ALL
EXISTING CONDITIONS AND ADVISING ARCHITECT OF DISCREPANCIES

B. ALL EXISTING SUPPLY AND RETURN GRILLES AND DIFFUSERS TO BE REMOVED,
CLEANED AND RE-INSTALLED IN RENOVATED SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL TILE
CEILING.  SEE AD-102 FOR CLEANING DETAIL AND SPECIFICATIONS

C. CONTRACTOR TO SIZE ALL NEW FLEXIBLE DUCT

D. LIGHT FIXTURES SHOWN FOR COORDINATION PURPOSED.   SEE DRAWING
A-102, PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN FOR LIGHT FIXTURES AND OTHER
CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES

E. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE PRE-FILTERS AT ALL EXISTING HVAC RETURN
GRILLES OR DUCT, PRIOR TO THE EXISTING UNIT FILTRATION SYSTEM.  BASED
ON THE EXISTING HVAC SYSTEM AND EXISTING FILTRATION SYSTEM, THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL DETERMINE THE MERV RATING FOR PRE-FILTERS TO
UTILIZE THE MOST EFFECTIVE FILTERS WITHOUT COMPROMISING THE
EXISTING EQUIPMENT.

F. CONTRACTOR SHALL REPLACE EXISTING HVAC EQUIPMENT FILTERS NO LESS
THAN WEEKLY DURING PERIODS OF HEAVY DUST ACCUMULATION

LEGEND:

AREA NOT IN CONTRACT / NO WORK

NEW 2x4 LED LIGHT FIXTURE IN SUSPENDED ACOUSTICAL
TILE CEILING

EXISTING HVAC SUPPLY AND RETURN GRILLES AND
DIFFUSERS TO BE REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED IN
RENOVATED CEILING.  ALL SUCH DEVICES ARE TO BE
CLEANED BEFORE RE-INSTALLING IN RENOVATED CEILING.
SEE DETAIL ON THIS SHEET

RELOCATED HVAC SUPPLY DIFFUSER

NEW FLEXIBLE DUCT TO BE SIZED BY CONTRACTOR

EXISTING AIR HANDLER - NO WORK
SEE GENERAL NOTES (ABOVE) FOR PRE-FILTER
REQUIREMENTS AND FILTER CHANGE REQUIREMENTS
DURING DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION

SEE DRAWING A-102, PROPOSED REFLECTED CEILING PLAN FOR OTHER
EXISTING CEILING MOUNTED DEVICES

NOTES:

1. CONNECTIONS TO EXISTING SHEET METAL SHALL BE SECURED WITH
APPROVED STRAP AND SEALANT

2. ALL WORK SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNATIONAL
MECHANICAL CODE

3. ALL WORK SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE SHEET METAL AND AIR CONDITIONING
CONTRACTORS ASSOCIATION (SMACNA)

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL SIZE ALL NEW FLEXIBLE DUCT

NEW FLEXIBLE CONNECTION TO
EXISTING SHEET METAL DUCT

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

MECHANICAL FLOOR PLAN A2
0 4' 8' 16'1/8" = 1'-0"

MECHANICAL
FLOOR PLAN

M-101

04

RELOCATION OF EXISTING SUPPLY AND RETURN GRILLES AND
DIFFUSERS AND INSTALLATION OF NEW FLEXIBLE DUCT IS
LIMITED TO THESE AREAS.  IN ALL OTHER AREAS, WORK IS
LIMITED TO REMOVAL AND CLEANING OF EXISTING SUPPLY
AND RETURN GRILLES AND DIFFUSERS AND RE-INSTALLATION
IN RENOVATED CEILING

040404

01

01

01

02

01 04

0201

TO EXISTING SHEET METAL DUCTA2
FLEXIBLE DUCT CONNECTION

602

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS



SHEET KEY NOTES:

GENERAL NOTES:

1. REMOVE EXISTING DOOR AND FRAME AND INFILL EXISTING WALL WITH LIKE
MATERIALS

2. EXISTING DOOR WITH NEW PANIC DEVICE ON THE INTERIOR AND NO
HARDWARE ON THE EXTERIOR (EXIT ONLY)

3. NEW BOTTLE FILLER & WATER COOLER

4. EXISTING FLOOR BOX

5. RELOCATED FLOOR BOX

6. NEW ACCESS CONTROL CARD READER

A. LOOSE FURNITURE IS SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY. UNLESS
NOTED OTHERWISE ALL LOOSE FURNITURE WILL BE PROVIDED BY
OWNER

B. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, ALL EQUIPMENT IS OWNER PROVIDED

C. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ELECTRICAL AND
TELECOMMUNICATIONS WIRING, CONDUIT, CONNECTIONS,
DEVICES AND TERMINATIONS REQUIRED FOR PIECE OF
EQUIPMENT SHOWN ON THE EQUIPMENT PLANS AND SPECIFIED IN
THE EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE

LEGEND:

AC ACCESS CONTROL CARD READ

EXISTING DUPLEX ELECTRICAL OUTLET TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW
DUPLEX USB COMBO OUTLET

EXISTING DATA OUTLET TO BE REPLACED

CABLE TELEVISION: CTV JACK AND DUPLEX ELECTRICAL OUTLET
MOUNTED 5'-0" ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR
NOTE: A WHERE A DUPLEX ELECTRICAL OUTLET IS SHOWN ADJACENT
TO THE CTV SYMBOL, THAT OUTLET IS TO BE INSTALLED AT 18" AFF.
EACH CTV JACK SHALL HAVE A SEPARATE ELECTRICAL OUTLET
MOUNTED ADJACENT TO IT

DUPLEX ELECTRICAL / DUPLEX USB COMBO OUTLET MOUNTED 42"
ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR (ABOVE COUNTERTOP)

DUPLEX ELECTRICAL / DUPLEX USB COMBO OUTLET

NEW DATA OUTLET

EXISTING - RELOCATED 2'x4' DIRECT / INDIRECT LED RECESSED
LIGHT FIXTURE

NEW 2'x4' DIRECT / INDIRECT LED RECESSED LIGHT FIXTURE

EXISTING  2'x4' DIRECT / INDIRECT LED RECESSED LIGHT FIXTURE

NEW 4' SURFACE MOUNT LIGHT FIXTURE

NEW SINGLE POLE SWITCH

NEW DEVICE LOCATION

EXISTING DEVICE (POWER OR DATA) TO BE REPLACED AND RELOCATED

EXISTING DATA OUTLET TO BE REMOVED

1. THESE NOTES ARE COMPLIMENTARY TO OTHER NOTES, DETAILS, DIMENSIONS
AND SPECIFICATIONS PROVIDED IN THE DRAWINGS AND IN THE PROJECT
MANUAL

2. THIS PROJECT DOES NOT ADD ELECTRICAL LOAD OR ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS.

3. THIS PROJECT DOES NOT ADD LIGHT FIXTURES.  EXISTING FLUORESCENT AND
INCANDESCENT LIGHT FIXTURES ARE TOM BE REPLACED WITH NEW LED
FIXTURES

4. THIS PROJECT DOES NOT ADD ELECTRICAL DEVICES.  WHERE SHOWN, EXISTING
ELECTRICAL DEVICES ARE REPLACED WITH NEW DEVICES IN NEW LOCATIONS.
AS REQUIRED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE JUNCTION BOXES TO EXTEND
EXISTING WIRING TO NEW DEVICE LOCATION

5. AT NEW DATA / TELECOMMUNICATIONS OUTLET LOCATIONS, THE CONTRACTOR
SHALL PROVIDE A DEVICE BOX WITH CONDUIT TO ABOVE CEILING.  DATA /
TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEVICES AND WIRING TO BE BY OWNER

SCOPE OF WORK:

ENTRY
VESTIBULE

101
CORRIDOR

102

CO
RR

ID
OR

10
5

OFFICE 03
106

CORRIDOR
111

STORAGE
109

RECEPTIONIST
104 OFFFICE

103

OFFICE 01
110

OFFICE 01
108

CO
RR

ID
OR

10
5WORK

137
OFFICE

136

OFFICE 07
140

OFFICE 08
139

OFFICE 09
138

ELECTRICAL
160

EXIST
FACP

CORRIDOR
161

COUNCIL
CHAMBER

124

STORAGE
125

2

01

3

SHEET INFORMATION

CONSTRUCTION
NOT FOR

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

/ S
U

BM
IS

SI
O

N
S

ADMINISTRATION
BUILDING

BEAUFORT COUNTY

INTERIOR
RENOVATION
100 RIBAUT ROAD

BEAUFORT, SC 29902

Co
pyr

igh
t  ©

  20
21 

Be
auf

ort
 De

sig
n B

uild
, LL

C

BE
AU

FO
RT

2 F
ire

 S
tat

ion
 La

ne
Se

ab
roo

k, 
SC

 29
94

0

CH
AR

LO
TT

E
73

15
 S

wa
ns

ea
 La

ne
Co

rne
liu

s, 
NC

 28
03

1

(84
3) 

46
6-3

66
4

inf
o@

be
au

for
tde

sig
nb

uil
d.c

om
ww

w.
be

au
for

tde
sig

nb
uil

d.c
om

ENTRY VESTIBULE, LOBBY AND NEW OFFICESA2
0 2' 4' 8'1/4" = 1'-0"

ELECTRICAL AND
TELE/DATA OUTLET
FLOOR PLAN

AE-101WAITING / RECEPTION AND NEW OFFICESA4
0 2' 4' 8'1/4" = 1'-0"

2

COUNCIL CHAMBERSB4
0 2' 4'1' 3'1/2" = 1'-0"

1

1

1

1

44

4

5

AC

AC

AC

4 4

6

6

603

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
42"AFF

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNE 21, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
21006.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECT / ENGINEER'S SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTV



24.562

24.500

Folding Side Shelf

18"w X 22"d

Installed AC/USB

Power Outlet

Adjustable

Shelf

27.000

26.000

Cable

Grommet
Floor

Cable Pass

38.000

45.000

Work Surface

Height

Base Molding

Trim Molding

Document Camera

Drawer

16 1/2"w X 18"d X 7 1/2"w

Useable Space

Hinged

Locking Doors

Flat Work Surface

Of Matching Veneer

Hardwood Cap Rail

Finger Grip

 BCC-3001

Back View

Date:

Bottom View

Approved 

for construction_____________________Date______

Front View

 TBD

Isometric View

 8/20/2024

Drawn By:

Drawing Number:

Plan View

Wood Species:

This Drawing is property of Miller's Millworks inc.

Unauthorized distribution without written consent is strictly prohibited

PO#

Right View

 EV

Stain Selection:  TBD

(Doors Hidden)

604

Item 3.



Presentation Furniture
M  I  L  L  E  R ’ S

605

Item 3.



Presentation Furniture
M  I  L  L  E  R ’ S

606

Item 3.



Presentation Furniture
M  I  L  L  E  R ’ S

607

Item 3.



Presentation Furniture
M  I  L  L  E  R ’ S

608

Item 3.



Determination of Price Reasonableness for 
Solicitation
Procurement Services Department

Solicitation Details

Date/Time: *

Jan 8, 2025 3:31 PM

Preparer: *

Gecy, Robert

From: *

Gecy, Robert

Department: *

Capital Projects

Solicitation Number: *

111924

Purpose: *

Construction / Renovation of the Administration Building and County Council Chambers

Background

Describe the relevant procurement, including a brief description of the product/service/scope of work. *

This project would include the renovation of the admin hall, council chambers and planning department to include new 
�ooring, paint, lighting, ceilings, and woodwork. This would also add new o�ce spaces, a break room to the administration 
wing, and bring the current public restrooms on the �rst and second �oor up to current ADA standards. This would include 
all new �oors, paint, �xtures and surfaces in the bathrooms for both public and sta� restrooms.

State procurement’s signi�cance to the project or County operations. *

This project aligns with the overall, long-term mission of Beaufort County to maintain and provide a safe, clean and positive 
work environment. The Council Chambers and Administrative wing are in considerable need of renovation considering the 
age of the building and the amount of tra�c these areas receive from daily sta� and the public.

Outline the procurement method utilized for this contract: (IFB, RFP, RFQ, Quotes). *

The project procurement method was IFB using the OpenGov Procurement platform for 30 days. This included an online 
pre-bid meeting and 3 on-site meetings.

Price Analysis

Summarize the bid (s)/quotes (s) received with their respective amounts. *

We received 2 bids on this project, both from respected local contractors in which Beaufort County has successfully and 
satisfactorily completed recent projects. 

Beaufort Construction had a base bid of $990,418 and with 2 alternates selected for a total of $1,107,093.

Mitchell Brothers Construction had a base bid of $810,969.36 and 2 alternates for a total of $952,569.36

If applicable: note any previous price history for similar procurements.

Comparisons with substantially similar items. *

This project aligns with the recent renovation of the Beaufort County Probate Court o�ces. The scope of the work is similar, 
less the addition of the Council Chamber woodwork and bathroom renovations. Based on the ~4200 sqft for the Probate 
Court O�ces at a cost of approximately $69/sqft, the ~12,000 sqft Admin renovation would be $834,657. This amount is in 
line with the current bids and past projects similar in scope.

Sales of the same item to other purchasers. *

NA

609

Item 3.



Analysis of the cost elements (e.g. labor rate and estimated hours, material rates, indirect costs, reasonable pro�t) *

All labor, materials and associated cost align with the current industry rates and past projects. I used known pricing from 
vendors we have contracted with directly to price the Luxury Vinyl Plank �ooring. The typical removal and install price for 
LVP has been approximately $9.85-$10.55 / sqft. Mitchell Brothers quoted a price of $13.54 / sqft which would be typical of 
contractor markup depending on the sub-contractor being used.

List and explain the benchmarks, market analysis, or other data sources used to evaluate price fairness. *

The base bid was also in line with the detailed Probable Cost Estimates received from Beaufort Design Build which showed 
an estimate of $852,667.62 not including alternates.

Justi�cation of Acceptance of Single Proposal/Bid

Consideration of re-solicitation?

Yes No

Consideration of reasons for a single applicant?

Yes No

Explain:

NA

Consideration of reasonable search for quali�ed applicants?

Yes No

Explain:

Cost Analysis (if applicable)

Detail the cost elements (labor, materials, overhead, etc.) provided by the supplier or contractor.

Provide an analysis of the necessity and reasonableness of each cost element.

Vendor's Pricing Strategy (optional)

What is the vendor's pricing strategy?

Department Head Decision

Comments

610

Item 3.



Approve Disapprove

Department Head Signature

Amundson, Hank

Date/Time

Jan 9, 2025 5:20 PM

Purchasing Decision

Comments

The procurement process for this project is in compliance with our procurement code.  The price is fair and reasonable for 
this type of project.

Approve Disapprove

Purchasing Signature

Thomas, Dave

Date/Time

Jan 10, 2025 9:14 AM

611

Item 3.



612

Item 3.



613

Item 3.



614

Item 3.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of Contract Award to Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC for IFB#101824 Bluffton 
Community Center Renovation ($618,420.00). 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee - January 21, 2025  

PRESENTER INFORMATION:  

Robert Gecy, Interim Director, Capital Projects Management (5 minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

IFB #101824 was advertised on September 18, 2024 and bids were received on October 24,2024. Three 
bidders submitted a bid in the amounts listed below.  

Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC for $562,200.00  

Mitchell Brothers Construction for $651,273.00 

Cinderella Partners for $769,700.00 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The Bluffton Community Center renovation project includes a new elevator with interior upgrades including 
mechanical, electrical, new flooring, painting of interior surfaces and replace or repair of ceiling tile systems. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Funding Comes from Parks & Recreation Capital Fund 4000-80-1600-54420.  

Current Parks & Recreation Capital Fund Balance is $ 9,658,107.06. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff Recommends approval of Contract to Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC for IFB#101824 Bluffton 
Community Center Renovation in the Amount of $562,200.00 plus Contingency of 10% ($56,220.00) for a 
total of $618,420.00 

 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of award to Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC for IFB#101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovation. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award to Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC for IFB#101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovation 

 

615

Item 4.



 

Beaufort County, SC 

Capital Projects 
Hank Amundson, Special Assistant to County Administrator 

PO Box 1228, Beaufort, SC 29902 
 

 

 

EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 

Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
RESPONSE DEADLINE: October 24, 2024 at 3:00 pm 
Report Generated:  Monday, November 25, 2024 

 
SELECTED VENDOR TOTALS   

Vendor Total 

Beaufort Construction of 
SC, LLC 

$562,200.00 

Mitchell Brothers Inc $651,273.00 

Cinderella Partners, Inc. $769,700.60 
 

TABLE 1   

 Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Cinderella 
Partners, Inc. 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X 1 General Conditions (Bonds, Insurance, & Supervision, Project Staking 
& Layout) 

EA $72,000.00 $103,866.83 $44,850.00 

X 2 Permits, Business Lic. & Tap Fees EA $6,000.00 $2,000.00 $13,800.00 

X 3 Mobilization EA $1,000.00 $5,000.00 $6,900.00 

X 4 Demolition EA $18,000.00 $68,906.24 $15,945.00 

616

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 2 

 Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Cinderella 
Partners, Inc. 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X 5 Concrete EA $20,000.00 $32,704.61 $114,293.00 

X 6 Masonry EA $0.00 $39,360.00 $0.00 

X 7 Misc. Metals EA $46,000.00 $70,651.20 $8,000.00 

X 8 Wood Framing, Wall & Roof Sheathing EA $12,000.00 $37,816.20 $44,415.00 

X 9 Roof Truss EA $24,000.00 $9,840.00 $15,736.00 

X 10 Wall & Roof Hold-downs & Clips EA $0.00 $3,280.00 $5,500.00 

X 11 Thermal & Moisture Protection EA $2,000.00 $656.00 $27,025.00 

X 12 Doors, Frames, & Hardware EA $2,000.00 $2,886.40 $2,300.00 

X 13 Elevator Shaft Sump EA $0.00 $3,936.00 $4,500.00 

X 14 Elevator EA $116,000.00 $165,312.00 $120,118.00 

X 15 Drywall EA $0.00 $11,283.20 $3,342.00 

X 16 Exterior Trim EA $6,000.00 $5,904.00 $3,500.00 

X 17 Casework & Tops EA $12,000.00 $7,589.92 $7,431.00 

X 18 Interior Trim EA $0.00 $656.00 $0.00 

X 19 Finishes (Paint) EA $20,000.00 $17,088.80 $8,050.00 

617

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 3 

 Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Cinderella 
Partners, Inc. 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X 20 Floor Finish EA $42,000.00 $91,069.20 $76,978.00 

X 21 Specialties (Toilet fixtures) EA $2,000.00 $3,936.00 $1,478.00 

X 22 Mechanical (plumbing Rough-in, ventilation) EA $8,000.00 $17,712.00 $10,408.00 

X 23 Plumbing Fixtures & Labor EA $18,000.00 $23,670.00 $16,398.00 

X 24 Electrical Rough-in EA $90,000.00 $39,360.00 $91,856.00 

X 25 Other (Specify): EA $42,000.00 $3,936.00 $0.00 

X 26 Remove all waste & dispose off-site EA $3,200.00 $1,280.00 $8,450.00 

X 27 Addendums Affecting Price not listed above: (if any) Add lines as 
required 

EA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Total $562,200.00 $769,700.60 $651,273.00 
 

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE PASS/FAIL 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Certification Pass Pass  

Contact information of authorized 
representative? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Please Provide Business License and 
Certificate of Insurance 

Pass Pass Pass 

618

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 4 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

100% Labor and Material Payment 
Bond 

Pass Pass Pass 

Bidder Confirmation Pass Pass Pass 

Communications Pass Pass Pass 

Are you submitting this bid as a local 
vendor? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Local Vendor Preference - 
Participation Affidavit 

Pass No Response Pass 

Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime 
Bidder 

Pass Pass Pass 

Will you be using subcontractors? Pass Pass Pass 

Non-Collusion Affidavit of 
Subcontractor 

Pass Pass Pass 

Certification By Contractor Regarding 
Non-Segregated Facilities 

Pass Pass Pass 

Consent of Surety Pass Pass Pass 

Business Organization    

Type of Business Organization: Pass Pass Pass 

If you selected "Other" for your type 
of business, please explain: 

Pass Pass Pass 

If applicable, please provide name of 
partners and additional information 

below: 

Pass Pass Pass 

If your agency is a Corporation: Pass Pass Pass 

Are you a Subchapter S Corporation? Pass Pass Pass 

619

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 5 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Please provide Subchapter S 
Shareholders: 

Pass Pass Pass 

If individually owned: Pass Pass Pass 

Have you ever operated under 
another name? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Please provide all other business 
names and addresses of principal 

place of business for each business: 

No Response No Response No Response 

Bonding    

Please provide the Bonding 
information: 

Pass Pass Pass 

Do you intend to use any alternative 
form of security 

Pass Pass Pass 

Indicate the form of security you 
intend to use and the name, address, 

point of contact, and telephone 
number of the banks, savings and 
loan, or surety you intend to use. 

(NOTE: Prequalification will not assure 
acceptance of any form of security.) 

No Response No Response No Response 

Have any Performance or Payment 
Bond claims ever been paid by any 

surety on behalf of your organization? 

Pass Pass Pass 

State the name of the project(s); the 
date; the name, address, telephone 
number, and contact person for the 
claimant; the surety satisfying the 

claim; the size of the claim; and the 
circumstances giving rise to the claim. 

No Response No Response No Response 

620

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 6 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Have you ever arbitrated or litigated a 
claim with an Owner, Architect, or 

Engineer in the last five years? 

Pass Pass Pass 

State the name of the project(s); the 
date; the name, address, telephone 
number, and contact person for the 
claimant; the surety satisfying the 

claim; the size of the claim; and the 
circumstances giving rise to the claim. 

(Provide attachments if necessary.) 

No Response No Response No Response 

Have you or any officer, partner, or 
owner of your organization, in any 

state or territory of the United States, 
or with respect to any agency of the 

Federal government: 

   

In the last in the last five years, 
received any fines or citations for 

building code violations which were 
unrelated to design? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

Ever been found to be guilty of 
charges relating to conflicts of 

interest: 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

621

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 7 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Ever been convicted on charges 
related to any criminal activity relating 

to construction means, methods, or 
techniques; bidding or bid rigging; or 

bribery? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, been found guilty 
of any minority contracting law 

violations? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, pleaded no 
contest in any criminal proceeding 

related to contracting? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

Ever been disbarred from doing 
Federal, state, or local government 

work for any reason? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

622

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 8 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Ever been terminated on a contract 
due to your default? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, paid liquidated 
damages for being late on a project? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, been subject to 
tax collection proceedings? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

In the last seven years, filed for 
bankruptcy? 

Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, telephone 
number, contact person, and 
circumstances relating to the 

question. 

No Response No Response No Response 

Under what chapter of bankruptcy did 
you file? 

No Response No Response No Response 

If you filed under Chapter 11 
Reorganization, how long did you 

operate under this status? 

No Response No Response No Response 

623

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 9 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

Are you operating under Chapter 11 
status now? 

No Response No Response No Response 

Safety    

Have you, in the last three years, been 
cited for willful violations for failure to 

abate, or for repeated violations, by 
the United States Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration or by the 
South Carolina Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration or by any 

other governmental body? 

Pass Pass Pass 

State date, name, address, telephone 
number, and contact person for 

agency issuing citation and the nature 
of the violation. Also, advise the 

amount of fines paid, if any. Provide 
attachments if necessary. 

No Response No Response No Response 

List your worker’s compensation 
experience modifier for the last three 

years. 

No Response No Response No Response 

References    

Provide at least two references from 
each industry group listed. Provide 

other references as requested. 
Provide current names, addresses, 
telephone numbers, and contacts. 

Pass Pass Pass 

Certification regarding Debarment, 
Suspension, Ineligibility, and Voluntary 

Exclusion: 

   

624

Item 4.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB101824 
Bluffton Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Bluffton Community Center Renovations 
Page 10 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC Cinderella Partners, Inc. Mitchell Brothers Inc 

The contractor certifies: Pass Pass Pass 

Explain fully if it has been involved in 
any litigation involving performance. 

No Response No Response No Response 

Small and Minority Business 
Participation Program 

   

Are you a Small or Minority Business ? Pass Pass Pass 

Upload your Small/Minority 
Documentation 

No Response No Response Pass 

Are you self-performing 100%? Pass Pass Pass 

Self-Performing 100% Affidavit No Response No Response No Response 

Good Faith Agencies Distribution List Pass Pass Pass 
 

625

Item 4.



626

Item 4.



561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

CVR

C
O

VE
R

 S
H

EE
T

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

MODIFICATIONS & UPGRADES TO THE 
BLUFFTON RECREATION CENTER

61B ULMER ROAD | BLUFFTON | SC 29910

LO
C
A
TI
O
N
 M
A
P

SITE

627

Item 4.



1 FLOOR PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0"

DRAWING TITLE

INDICATES 
THE VIEW 
TITLE

INDICATES THE 
VIEW NUMBER

INDICATES THE 
VIEW SCALE

INDICATES DIRECTION
OF CUTTING PLANE

INDICATES THE
SECTION NUMBER

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER  WHERE 
SECTION IS DRAWN

1
A5.1

BUILDING / WALL SECTION CUT

INTERIOR ELEVATION

EXTERIOR ELEVATION

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER  WHERE 
ELEVATION IS 
DRAWN

INDICATES THE 
ELEVATION
NUMBER

INDICATES VIEW 
DIRECTION

1
A5.1

ROOM NUMBER IDENTIFICATION

104
OFFICE

INDICATES 
THE ROOM 
NAME

INDICATES THE 
ROOM 
NUMBER

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER WHERE 
DETAIL/PLAN IS DRAWN

INDICATES THE 
DETAIL / PLAN 
NUMBER

DETAIL / ENLARGED PLAN NUMBER 
IDENTIFICATION

1
A4.1

SIM

SIMILAR TO 
THAT SHOWN

DOOR NUMBER
REFER TO DOOR SCHEDULE

101A

DOOR NUMBER IDENTIFICATION

WINDOW NUMBER

WINDOW NUMBER IDENTIFICATION

W1

WALL TAG IDENTIFICATION

SR1 WALL TAG
REFER TO WALL LEGEND, IF PROVIDEDb

KEY NOTE NUMBER

DEMOLITION KEY NOTE IDENTIFICATION

1

LEVEL HEAD

FIN. FLR. EL.
0'-0"

INDICATES VIEW
DIRECTION

INDICATES THE
ELEVATION NUMBER

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER  WHERE 
ELEVATION IS 
DRAWN

1
A5.1

SYMBOL LEGEND

8'
-0
"

1'
-0
"

3'
-0
"

12
'-0
"

JOB SIGN DETAILS

GRAPHIC IMAGES WILL 
BE
PROVIDED BY 
ARCHITECT.
ALLOW $1,500.00 FOR
PURCHASE OF SIGNAGE.
INSTALLATION BY 
GENERAL
CONTRACTOR.

4"x4"x12' 
LONG
TRTD WOOD
POSTS

IMAGE 
PROVIDED
BY ARCHITECT

ALUMACORE 8'
HIGH BY 8' 
LONG

ANCHOR TO POST
W/ 21/2" WOOD
SCREWS.
COUNTERSINK & FILL.
MATCH COLOR OF FILL
W/ PAINT COLOR

SET POSTS 36" 
INTO
COMP. EARTH

NOTE 1
NOTE NO. 1:
EXACT LAYOUT, FONTS, SIZE OF
ARCHITECT'S LOGO TO BE PROVIDED
TO THE GC BY THE ARCHITECT.

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

G101

G
EN

ER
AL

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

LIST OF DRAWINGS

SHEET SHEET DESCRIPTION

CVR COVER SHEET

G101 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.  CONTRACTOR AND SUBCONTRACTORS SHALL VISIT THE SITE PRIOR TO BIDDING TO BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE EXISTING CONDITIONS AFFECTING 
THE WORK.

2.  IN KEEPING WITH PARAGRAPH 3.2.1 OF THE GENERAL CONDITIONS, AIA DOCUMENT A201, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW THE CONSTRUCTION 
DOCUMENTS SO AS TO DETERMINE IF THE INFORMATION SHOWN IS SUFFICIENT FOR HIM TO COMPLETE THE WORK AS DESIGNED.  HE SHALL NOTIFY THE 
ARCHITECT IN WRITING OF ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION NEEDED.  FAILURE TO NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT CONSTITUTES HIS ACCEPTANCE THAT THE 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS ARE SUFFICIENTLY COMPLETE TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK AND ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROVIDED SUBSEQUENT TO 
AWARD OF THE CONTRACT IS SUBJECT TO THE ARCHITECT'S INTERPRETATION.

3.  EACH TRADE SHALL INSPECT THE PREVIOUS WORK/TRADE WHICH IS TO RECEIVE HIS WORK/TRADE AND SHALL NOTIFY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR IN 
WRITING OF ANY UNACCEPTABLE CONDITIONS.  BY STARTING WORK HE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE PREVIOUS WORK IS SUITABLE TO ACCEPT HIS 
WORK/TRADE AND TO PRODUCE THE INTENDED RESULTS.

4.  CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY AND COORDINATE FINISH OPENINGS AND DIMENSIONS AFFECTING INSTALLATION OF FABRICATED AND/OR BUILT-IN ITEMS 
OR EQUIPMENT.

5.  RUN ALL MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL ITEMS AT RIGHT ANGLES TIGHT TO STRUCTURE AND/OR WALLS UNLESS NOTED SPECIFICALLY OTHERWISE.

6.  WHERE DISCREPANCIES MAY OCCUR BETWEEN PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS, OR BETWEEN VARIOUS PARTS OF THE PLANS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL 
PROVIDE THE GREATER QUANTITY OR BETTER QUALITY INDICATED AND IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT FOR NECESSARY FEEDBACK PRIOR TO 
COMMENCING WITH THE WORK.  THE FOLLOWING PRIORITY LIST SHALL GOVERN OTHER CONFLICTS WHICH MAY OCCUR IN THE DOCUMENTS.

1.  SPECIFICATION REQUIREMENTS
2.  NOTES ON PLANS
3.  SCHEDULES ON PLANS
4.  LARGE SCALE DETAILS, SECTIONS, ELEVATIONS
5.  SMALL SCALE DETAILS, SECTIONS, ELEVATIONS
6.  LARGER SCALE PLANS
7.  SMALLER SCALE PLANS

7.  UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, ALL NON PAVED AREAS DISTURBED BY THE CONSTRUCTION SHALL RECEIVE 4" OF TOPSOIL, GRADED FOR POSITIVE 
DRAINAGE AWAY FROM BUILDINGS, AND HYDROSEEDED WITH A SEED MIXTURE AS DETERMINED BY THE ARCHITECT.

8.  CONCEALED MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL ITEMS SHALL BE INSTALLED IN SUCH A MANNER THAT WILL NOT REQUIRE ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS 
AND/OR FINISHES TO BE ALTERED FROM AS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS.

9.  UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE DRAWINGS BE SCALED.  ALL LABELED DIMENSIONS SHALL BE USED IN THE PROGRESS OF THE WORK AS 
DEFINED.  SHOULD ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION BE REQUIRED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REQUEST THIS INFORMATION IN WRITING FROM THE 
ARCHITECT PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF WORK.

GENERAL NOTES

(803)  960-5026JEFF LEWIS AIA ARCHITECT JEFF LEWIS, AIA

--

--

--

--

-- JEFF LEWIS, AIA

--

LEAD DESIGN PROFESSIONAL:
DESIGNER                                  FIRM                                 CONTACT                        LICENSE #      TELEPHONE #
ARCHITECTURAL
ELECTRICAL
PLUMBING
MECHANICAL
STRUCTURAL

CODE COMPLIANCE
INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE:
INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE:
INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE:
INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE:
INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE:
NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE:
ICC - A117.1:
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT  (ADA)
       NEW CONSTRUCTION                 RENOVATION (EXISTING BUILDING)               UPFIT                 ALTERATION

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2020 EDITION (NFPA 70) WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2017 EDITION (LATEST EDITION)

2009 EDITION

STEWART, INC. VINCE WILLIAMS

ETi ENGINEERING, LLC

MECA, INC.

MECA, INC. GENE WILSON

PHIL CLAYTOR

BRYSON TUCKER (803)  233-9396

(803)  765-9421

(803)  203-6162

(803)  765-9421

BUILDING INFORMATION

BUILDING DATA
CONSTRUCTION TYPE:              I-A               I-B             II-A            II-B            III-A             III-B
(SECTION 601)

  IV               V-A              V-B

SPRINKLERS:             NO             YES           NFPA 13               NFPA 13R                NFPA 13D

STANDPIPES:             NO              YES           CLASS          I              II              III            WET           DRY

FIRE DISTRICT:          NO              YES

BUILDING HEIGHT:                    FEET                   NUMBER OF STORIES               UNLIMITED PER
MEZZANINE:               NO              YES
HIGH RISE:                 NO              YES         CENTRAL REFERENCE SHEET # (IF PROVIDED)
GROSS BUILDING AREA:
FLOOR                       EXISTING (SQ.FT.)           NEW (SQ.FT.)               SUB-TOTAL
2ND FLOOR
1ST FLOOR

34'-2" (EXISTING) 2

4,936 SF
3,685 SF

ARCHITECTURAL

A101

A102

A103

A104

ENLARGED PLANS, INTERIOR ELEVATIONS

FLOOR PLANS

ROOF PLAN & FINISH SPECIFICATIONS

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

ELEVATOR SECTIONS

SECTIONS & DETAILS

A105

A106

A107 PERSPECTIVES

STRUCTURAL

S002 GENERAL NOTES, ABBREVIATIONS, & SYMBOL LEGEND

S011 SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS

S012 SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS

S001 GENERAL NOTES

S101 DEMOLITION SECOND FLOOR FRAMING PLAN

S110 SECOND FLOOR FRAMING PLAN

S111 RAISED SECOND FLOOR FRAMING PLAN

S100 FOUNDATION PLAN

S301 FOUNDATION DETAILS AND SECTIONS

S511 STEEL FRAMING DETAILS

S531 METAL STUD DETAILS

S601 FLOOR DETAILS AND SECTIONS

S112 LOW ROOF FRAMING PLAN

S113 HIGH ROOF FRAMING PLAN

S602 FLOOR DETAILS AND SECTIONS

S611 ROOF DETAILS AND SECTIONS

S612 ROOF DETAILS AND SECTIONS

MECHANICAL

M101 MECHANICAL FLOOR PLANS

M201 MECHANICAL SCHEDULES AND DETAILS

PLUMBING

P102 PLUMBING SECOND FLOOR PLANS

P201 PLUMBING SCHEDULES

P101 PLUMBING FIRST FLOOR PLANS

P301 PLUMBING SPECS

ELECTRICAL

E002 ELECTRICAL SYMBOLS SCHEDULES & DETAILS

E003 ELECTRICAL SPECIFICATIONS

E101 ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION PLAN & LIGHTING RENOVATION PLAN

E102 POWER, COMMUNICATIONS  AND SYSTEMS  RENOVATION PLAN

P302 PLUMBING SPECS

E001 ELECTRICAL SYMBOLS SCHEDULES & DETAILS

G102 PROJECT MANUAL

628

Item 4.



561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

G102

PR
O

JE
C

T 
M

AN
U

AL

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

1.1 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS IDENTIFICATION
A. The Contract Documents are identified as Project Number 22-031-1, as prepared by Jeff Lewis AIA, Architect.

1.2 CONTRACT TIME
A. Contract Time period stated for performing the Work shall be in accordance with the Proposal and as indicated as the Proposed Construction Duration on the Proposal Information Form.
B. Proposer shall be expected to adhere to the Contract Time period as outlined in the Contract Documents, and the Owner shall retain as Liquidated Damages, $250.00 for each calendar day the actual construction time to achieve Substantial Completion exceeds the specified date or adjusted 

Contract time for Substantial Completion.

1.3 PRODUCT/ASSEMBLY/SYSTEM SUBSTITUTIONS
A. Where the Construction Documents stipulate a particular product, substitutions (if noted in specific specifications) will be considered up to the timeframe indicated in the Request for Proposals, unless indicated otherwise through a subsequent addendum. It is recommended requests are 

submitted ahead of the stated timeline to assure potential inclusion if approved.

1.4 SITE EXAMINATION
A. Each proposer is responsible for inspecting the project site as needed before submitting a proposal. The submission of a proposal shall be construed as conclusive evidence that the proposer has made such examination as necessary.

1.5 PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE

A. A mandatory pre-proposal conference has been scheduled for _________ at ______at the following location:
1. Address: Name

Address
B. Subcontractors and suppliers/vendors are not required to attend.
C. Representatives of Architect will be in attendance.

1.6 PERFORMANCE ASSURANCE
A. Bonds:  Awarded Proposer shall be required to provide a Performance Bond and Payment Bond utilizing AIA Document A312-2010 in the amount of 100% of the Contract amount.

1.7 INSURANCE
A. Provide an executed "Undertaking of Insurance" as required and utilize AIA Form G715-2017 as needed in addition to ACORD Certificate of Insurance 25.  All insurance requirements for Proposer and subcontractors shall be in accordance with the documents herein, including the Contract, 

unless indicated otherwise.
B. Insurance Limits:

1. Commercial General Liability
a. General Aggregate $1,000,000
b. Products/Completed Operations $1,000,000
c. Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000
d. Each Occurrence $1,000,000
e. Damage to Rented Premises (each occurrence) $50,000
f. Medical Expense (Any one person) $5,000

2. Automobile Liability
a. Combined Single Limit $1,000,000

3. Workers’ Compensation
a. Each Accident $100,000
b. Each Employee $100,000

4. Employers’ Liability
a. Each Accident $100,000
b. Each Employee $100,000
c. Policy Limit $500,000

5. Umbrella Policy $3,000,000
C. All costs associated with Builder ’s Risk shall be the responsibility of the Proposer and included in overall Proposal amount submitted to Owner.

1.8 FEES FOR CHANGES IN THE WORK
A. Include the fees for overhead and profit on own Work and Work by subcontractors, identified on the Proposal Information Form and in compliance with the General Conditions.

1.9 CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
A. The Proposer certifies that the project site will be a “DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE” as that term is defined in Section 44-107-30 of the S.C. Code of Laws by complying with the requirements set forth in Title 44, Chapter 107.

1.10 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. Geotechnical Report:  See attached Report of Subsurface Exploration and Engineering Evaluation prepared by SUMMIT Engineering, Laboratory & Testing, P.C., dated August 11, 2023.
B. 3rd Party Testing & Inspections to be By Owner.
C. Termite Treatment to be By Owner.

1.11 WORK BY OWNER & OWNER-FURNISHED PRODUCTS
A. None.

1.12 ACCESS TO SITE
A. General:  Contractor shall have full use of Project site for construction operations during construction period.  Contractor's use of Project site is limited only by Owner's right to perform work or to retain other contractors on portions of Project, or as indicated otherwise.

Retain "Use of Site" Paragraph below if Project site is accessible to other parties or if parts of a building being renovated are occupied during construction.  Revise to suit Project.  See Evaluations for model text.
B. Use of Site:  Limit use of Project site to areas within the Contract limits.  Do not disturb portions of Project site beyond areas in which the Work is indicated.

1.13 WORK RESTRICTIONS
A. Work Restrictions, General:  Comply with restrictions on construction operations.

1. Comply with limitations on use of public streets and with other requirements of authorities having jurisdiction.
B. On-Site Work Hours:  Limit work to normal business working hours, unless otherwise allowed by Owner through written permission.

1. Early Morning Hours:  Restrict noisy work or disturbances during early or late hours due to proximity to residences.  Any pre-dawn or post sunset work shall be cleared through Owner in writing.
2. Hours for core drilling or other noisy activity shall be limited during normal working hours unless otherwise allowed by Owner through written permission.
3. Weekend Hours:  Work shall be allowed on weekends unless otherwise indicated by Owner.
4. Owner has right to request stoppage to work on weekends or early/late hours if neighbors object to noises or disturbances.

D. Controlled Substances:  Use of tobacco products and other controlled substances within the building is not permitted, including smoking and vaping.

1.14 MISCELLANEOUS FEE PROVISIONS
A. Contractor is responsible for all plan review and permit fees, water and sewer impact fees, connection fees and other project specific fees as required by authorities having jurisdiction.  Verification with authorities having jurisdiction will need to be made prior to proposal submittal.

1.15 SUBSTITUTION PROCEDURES (during construction)
A. The term “equal” shall be considered “equivalent. ”
B. Substitution Requests:  Submit requests to Architect for consideration.  Requests shall include sufficient information or additional information if deemed necessary by Architect.
C. Coordination:  Revise or adjust affected work as necessary to integrate work of any approved substitutions.

1.16 CONTRACT MODIFICATION PROCEDURES
A. Changes may include Owner-Initiated Proposal Requests or Contractor-Initiated Proposals.
B. Contractor may initiate a claim by submitting a request for a change to Architect.
C. On Owner's approval of a Work Changes Proposal Request or Construction Change Directive issued by the Architect, Contractor will issue a Change Order for signatures of Owner and Architect on AIA Document G701.

1.17 PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND COORDINATION
A. Coordination:  Coordinate construction operations to ensure efficient and orderly installation of each part of the Work.

1. Schedule construction operations in sequence required to obtain the best results where installation of one part of the Work depends on installation of other components, before or after its own installation.
2. Coordinate installation of different components to ensure maximum performance and accessibility for required maintenance, service, and repair.
3. Make adequate provisions to accommodate items scheduled for later installation.
4. Prepare memoranda for distribution to each party involved, outlining special procedures required for coordination when necessary.

B. Requests for Information (RFIs):  Immediately on discovery of the need for additional information or interpretation of the Contract Documents, Contractor shall prepare and submit an RFI to the Architect.
If needed, insert requirements to define frivolous RFIs.  Some owners and design professionals include a provision that assesses the cost of the design professional's time and materials to Contractor for unnecessary or frivolous RFIs.
1. Include detailed and complete information to ensure prompt response by Architect.
2. Use AIA Document G716 or similar format, submitted electronically.

C. Project Meetings:  Schedule and conduct regular meetings and conferences at Project site as required.
1. Attendees:  Inform participants and others involved, and individuals whose presence is required, of date and time of each meeting.  Attendees should include all participants whose work is affected by information to be discussed, or whose work is directly involved in the discussions.  

Notify Owner and Architect of scheduled meeting dates and times.
2. Agenda:  Prepare the meeting agenda.  Distribute the agenda to all invited attendees.
3. Minutes:  Entity responsible for conducting meeting will record significant discussions and agreements achieved.  Distribute the meeting minutes to everyone concerned and in attendance, including Owner and Architect, within 3 days of the meeting.

D. Preconstruction Conference:  Schedule and conduct a preconstruction conference before starting construction, at a time convenient to Owner and Architect, but no later than 15 days after execution of the Agreement.
1. Conduct the conference to review responsibilities and personnel assignments.
2. Attendees:  Authorized representatives of Owner, Architect, and their consultants; Contractor and its superintendent; major subcontractors; suppliers; and other concerned parties shall attend the conference.  Participants at the conference shall be familiar with Project and authorized to 

conclude matters relating to the Work.
3. Agenda:  Discuss items of significance that could affect progress.
4. Minutes:  Entity responsible for conducting meeting will record and distribute meeting minutes.

E. Preinstallation Conferences:  Conduct a preinstallation conference at Project site before each construction activity that requires coordination with other construction.
1. Attendees:  Installer and representatives of manufacturers and fabricators involved in or affected by the installation and its coordination or integration with other materials and installations that have preceded or will follow, shall attend the meeting.  Advise Architect of scheduled meeting 

dates and if attendance by Owner or Architect shall be required.  Allow 1 week notice if Owner or Architect attendance shall be required.
2. Agenda:  Review progress of other construction activities and preparations for the particular activity under consideration, and any associated documents or information.

F. Progress Meetings:  Conduct progress meetings at weekly intervals or as otherwise agreed upon by Owner and Architect.
1. Attendees:  In addition to representatives of Owner and Architect, each contractor, subcontractor, supplier, and other entity concerned with current progress or involved in planning, coordination, or performance of future activities shall be represented at these meetings.  All participants 

at the meeting shall be familiar with Project and authorized to conclude matters relating to the Work.
2. Agenda:  Review and correct or approve minutes of previous progress meeting.  Review other items of significance that could affect progress.  Include topics for discussion as appropriate to status of Project, including but not limited to the construction schedule, submittals, RFI ’s, 

change orders/directives, safety, delays or other issues.
3. Minutes:  Entity responsible for conducting the meeting will record and distribute the meeting minutes to each party present and to parties requiring information.

1.18 CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS DOCUMENTATION
A. Contractor’s Construction Schedule:  Provide and update schedule as required.
B. Daily Reports:  Provide daily reports if necessary to document critical information, otherwise weekly summary reports are sufficient to be included as part of the weekly meeting minutes.
C. Special Reports:  Provide any special reports necessary to document issues, claims, or similar items when necessary.

1.19 PHOTOGRAPHIC DOCUMENTATION
A. General:  Take photographs to clearly show the Work at the various stages or as otherwise required to document issues or special conditions when necessary.
B. Preconstruction Photographs:  Before commencement of excavation, and before starting construction, take photographs of Project site and surrounding properties, including existing items to remain during construction, from different vantage points, to sufficiently show existing conditions of site 

prior to site and building work.
1. Flag excavation areas and construction limits before taking construction photographs.
2. Take additional photographs as required to record settlement or cracking of adjacent structures, pavements, and improvements.

C. Periodic Construction Photographs:  Take photographs on a weekly basis to show status of construction and progress at various intervals.  Provide additional photographs as necessary to show milestone activities, special circumstances, problematic issues, emergencies, etc.  Daily photographs 
may be required when construction is advancing at accelerated rates, or as otherwise required to capture work that has not previously been documented and may subsequently be covered in a manner that no longer permits visibility of the construction.

D. Final Completion Construction Photographs:  Take sufficient photographs at time of Substantial Completion for project record documents.  Take additional photographs after Substantial Completion if necessary to document other conditions or issues.

1.20 SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES
A. General Submittal Procedure Requirements:  Prepare and submit submittals required for Product Data, Shop Drawings, Samples, or other data that may be requested by Architect to ensure proper product and systems use on the project.

1. Submit in electronic format to the extent possible, and consult with Architect for number of hard copies required if electronic submittal is not possible.
B. Product Data:  Collect information into a single submittal for each element of construction and type of product or equipment.

1. If information must be specially prepared for submittal because standard published data are not suitable for use, submit as Shop Drawings, not as Product Data.
2. Mark each copy of each submittal to show which products and options are applicable.
3. Include the following information, as applicable:

a. Manufacturer's catalog cuts.
b. Manufacturer's product specifications.
c. Standard color charts.
d. Statement of compliance with specified referenced standards.
e. Testing by recognized testing agency.
f. Application of testing agency labels and seals.
g. Notation of coordination requirements.
h. Availability and delivery time information.

4. For equipment, include the following in addition to the above, as applicable:
a. Clearances required to other construction, if not indicated on accompanying Shop Drawings.

5. Submit Product Data before or concurrent with Samples.
C. Shop Drawings:  Prepare Project-specific information, drawn accurately to scale.  Do not base Shop Drawings on reproductions of the Contract Documents or standard printed data.

1. Preparation:  Fully illustrate requirements in the Contract Documents.  Include the following information, as applicable:
a. Identification of products.
b. Schedules.
c. Compliance with specified standards.
d. Notation of coordination requirements.
e. Notation of dimensions established by field measurement.
f. Relationship and attachment to adjoining construction clearly indicated.
g. Seal/signature of professional engineer if specified or otherwise required by AHJ.

D. Samples:  Submit Samples for review of kind, color, pattern, and texture for a check of these characteristics with other elements and for a comparison of these characteristics between submittal and actual component as delivered and installed.
1. Transmit Samples that contain multiple, related components such as accessories together in one submittal package.
2. Identification:  Attach label on unexposed side of Samples that includes necessary info.
3. Samples for Initial Selection:  Submit manufacturer's color charts consisting of units or sections of units showing the full range of colors, textures, and patterns available.
4. Samples for Verification:  When requested by Architect or otherwise necessary, submit full-size units or Samples of size indicated, prepared from same material to be used for the Work, cured and finished in manner specified, and physically identical with material or product proposed 

for use, and that show full range of color and texture variations expected.
E. Approval Stamp:  Contractor and/or Subcontractor shall stamp or affix a signature with company information noted on each submittal, and include a statement certifying that the submittal has been reviewed, checked, and approved for compliance with the Contract Documents.

1.21 QUALITY REQUIREMENTS
A. Quality-Control Plan, General:  Contractor shall be responsible for implementing any necessary quality-control plans or procedures as needed to ensure/maintain proper workmanship.
B. Quality-Control Personnel:  Contractor shall utilize properly trained and experienced personnel and subcontractors as required for ensuring quality control on the Project.
C. Mockups:  Mockups may be required by Architect if samples are not sufficient to approve various portions or components of the Work.  Approved mockups may be allowed to be incorporated into the Work if installed where applicable to the final construction and not interfering with 

subsequent construction.
D. Tests and Inspections:  Contractor shall be responsible for any tests and inspections not explicitly assigned to Owner.  Perform additional quality-control activities required to verify that the Work complies with requirements, whether specified or not.

1. Retesting/Reinspecting:  Regardless of whether original tests or inspections were Contractor's responsibility, provide quality-control services, including retesting and reinspecting, for construction that replaced Work that failed to comply with the Contract Documents.
2. Coordinate sequence of activities to accommodate required quality-assurance and control services with a minimum of delay and to avoid necessity of removing and replacing construction to accommodate testing and inspecting.
3. Schedule times for tests, inspections, obtaining samples, and similar activities, including with any Owner-hired testing and inspection parties.
4. Repair and protection are Contractor's responsibility, regardless of the assignment of responsibility for quality-control services.

1.22 TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND CONTROLS
A. Fencing:  Provide and install temporary fencing or barriers as necessary to maintain site security and safety.
B. Field Offices & Storage:  Provide any necessary facilities for Contractor and Subcontractor use of offices and storage of materials.  Owner is not responsible for providing these facilities and should be anticipated in the Proposals if Proposer deems any of these facilities to be necessary 

for the operations and potential on-site storage of materials.
C. Fire Extinguishers:  Portable, UL rated; with class and extinguishing agent as required by locations and classes of fire exposures, or as otherwise required by AHJ.
D. Dust Control:  Take measures and provide any necessary resources to control dust both on site and within the building throughout construction.
E. Sanitary Facilities:  Provide temporary toilets, wash facilities, and drinking water for use of construction personnel.  Comply with requirements of authorities having jurisdiction for type, number, location, operation, and maintenance of fixtures and facilities.

1. Toilets:  Do not use toilet facilities installed in building under any circumstances.  Toilet lids shall remain taped closed until startup/cleaning occurs immediately prior to Owner occupancy.  Penalties may be applied if the Owner or Architect ’s rules are not followed.
F. Power & Lighting:  Provide electric power service and distribution system of sufficient size, capacity, and power required for construction operations, as well as lighting levels as needed for safe operations and illumination for proper install of components, finishes, etc.
G. Site & Environmental Protection:

1. Provide protection as required to comply with environmental regulations and authorities having jurisdiction.
2. Provide temporary erosion and sedimentation control, stormwater control, and tree/plant protection as required by authorities having jurisdiction and in accordance with the plans and specifications.

1.23 PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS
A. Deliver, store, and handle products using means and methods that will prevent damage, deterioration, and loss, including theft and vandalism.  Comply with manufacturer's written instructions.
B. Warranties specified in other Sections shall be in addition to, and run concurrent with, other warranties required by the Contract Documents.  Manufacturer's disclaimers and limitations on product warranties do not relieve Contractor of obligations under requirements of the Contract 

Documents.

1.24 EXECUTION
A. Existing Conditions:  The existence and location of underground and other utilities and construction indicated as existing are not guaranteed.  Before beginning sitework, investigate and verify the existence and location of underground utilities, mechanical and electrical systems, and 

other construction affecting the Work.
B. Examination and Acceptance of Conditions:  Before proceeding with each component of the Work, examine substrates, areas, and conditions, with Installer or Applicator present where indicated, for compliance with requirements for installation tolerances and other conditions affecting 

performance.  Proceed with installation only after unsatisfactory conditions have been corrected.  Proceeding with the Work indicates acceptance of surfaces and conditions.
C. Comply with manufacturer's written instructions and recommendations for installing products in applications indicated, and install products at the time and under conditions that will ensure the best possible results.
D. Coordinate construction and operations of the Work with work performed by Owner's construction personnel or consultants if applicable.
E. Clean Project site and work areas daily, and maintain site free of waste materials/debris.

1.25 CONSTRUCTION WASTE MANAGEMENT AND DISPOSAL
A. Provide and maintain dumpster(s) as needed for collection of waste.  Except for items or materials to be salvaged, recycled, or otherwise reused, remove waste materials from Project site and legally dispose of them in a landfill or incinerator.  Do not burn waste materials on site.

1.26 CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES
A. Contractor's List of Incomplete Items:  At time of Substantial Completion, prepare and submit a list of items to be completed and corrected (Contractor's punch list).
B. Inspection:  Submit a written request for inspection to determine Substantial Completion a minimum of 10 days prior to date the work will be completed and ready for final inspection and tests.  On receipt of request, Architect will either proceed with inspection or notify Contractor of 

unfulfilled requirements.
C. Final Completion Procedures:  Submit documentation that all items previously indicated by Contractor or Architect for correction or completion have been properly addressed.
D. Final Cleaning:  Perform final cleaning once all items have been addressed, all excess materials, tools, and equipment have been removed, and facility is ready to be turned over to Owner for use.

1.27 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA
A. Format:  Submit operations and maintenance manuals in PDF electronic file format, as well as one hard copy in a binder with tabbed sections.
B. Content:  Include operation data required for Owner to properly operate and maintain all systems and components on the facility and on the facility site.  Include manufacturer ’s manuals, maintenance documentation, procedures, service contracts, warranties, or similar information.

1.28 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS
A. Record Drawings:  At closeout, submit a scanned PDF and hard copy of the set of marked-up record drawings that is maintained on site throughout construction.
B. Record Product Data:  Submit 1 paper copy and PDF file of each submittal and shop drawings.

1.29 DEMONSTRATION AND TRAINING
A. Coordinate with Owner for instruction, demonstration, and training of all systems and working components of the facility and site.  Ensure properly trained individuals are on hand to cover all necessary training, including general operations, maintenance, emergency operations, etc.

PROJECT MANUAL

629

Item 4.



UP

UP

DN

DN

ELEV.

ICEREF.

1.

2.
3.

4.
5.
6.
7.

8.

9.

FIRST FLOOR DEMOLITION NOTES:

REMOVE EXISTING WALL(S) & ANY COMPONENTS WITHIN 
WALL.
REMOVE EXISTING DOOR & FRAME.
REMOVE EXISTING DOOR & FRAME. DOOR & FRAME TO BE 
REUSED, SEE NEW PLAN.
REMOVE EXISTING TOILET, CAP PLUMBING LINES.
REMOVE EXISTING TOILET PARTITIONS.
REMOVE EXISTING VANITY.
CUT EXISTING CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB AS REQUIRED FOR 
NEW ELEVATOR SHAFT, COORDINATE WITH STRUCTURAL..
REMOVE EXISTING MILLWORK. SINK PLUMBING TO BE 
REUSED.
REMOVE ALL EXISTING FLOORING. SAND & CLEAN EXISTING 
FLOOR SLAB IN PREP FOR INSTALLATION OF NEW FLOORING.

1

2

3

5'
 - 

11
 3

/4
"

4

5

6

7

8

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

99

9

9
1' - 9 1/4"

3'
 - 

3 
1/

4"
NEW 
ELEVATOR

INSTALL NEW SOLID 
SURFACE VANITY & 
GRAB BARS. PAINT 
ROOM.

UP

UP

PAINT WALL

PA
IN

T 
W

AL
L

ICE

PAINT ROOM. INSTALL NEW BASE 
CABINETS,COUNTERTOP, RANGE, 
EXHAUST HOOD, MICROWAVE 
CABINET, & SINK. 

REF.

1
A103

2
A103

A102
1

BREAK ROOM
104

WOMEN
103

EXIST. MEN
102

ENTRY
101

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR THOUGHOUT

IN
ST
AL
L 
NE
W
 L
VT
 F
LO
O
R 
TH
O
UG
HO
UT

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR THOUGHOUT 
ENTIRE FIRST FLOOR

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR 
THOUGHOUT

ELEC.
105

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR 
THOUGHOUT

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR 
THOUGHOUT

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR 
THOUGHOUT

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR 
THOUGHOUT

RELOCATED 
EXISTING DOOR

BL
EA
CH
ER
S

GYM

ELEV.

BL
EA
CH
ER
S

UP

UP

UP

UP

OPEN

FLR. DEMO

7' - 5 3/4"

FL
R

. D
EM

O

8'
 - 

8 
1/

4"

EXISTING FLOOR TO REMAIN

1.

2.
3.
4.

5.

6.

7.
8.

9.

SECOND FLOOR DEMOLITION NOTES:

REMOVE EXISTING WALL(S) & ANY COMPONENTS WITHIN 
WALL.
REMOVE EXISTING DOOR & FRAME.
REMOVE EXISTING RAILING.
EXISTING PLUMBING FIXTURES TO BE MOVED UP TO NEW 
FLOOR HEIGHT.
DOOR & FRAME SILL TO BE MOVED UP TO NEW FLOOR 
HEIGHT.
REMOVE EXISTING FLOOR AS REQUIRED FOR NEW ELEVATOR 
SHAFT, SEE NEW PLAN.
REMOVE EXISTING STEP.
REMOVE ALL EXISTING FLOORING EXCEPT GYM COURT 
FLOOR. SAND & CLEAN EXISTING SUBFLOOR. PREP FOR 
INSTALL OF NEW FLOOR.
REMOVE EXISTING CARPET FROM BLEACHERS, CLEAN 
EXISTING BLEACHER FRAMING & PREP FOR NEW CARPET 
INSTALL.

1

1

2

1

2

1

7

6

5

4

66

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

9

9

5 
1/

2"

3

5

BL
EA
CH
ER
S

NEW ELEV.

BL
EA
CH
ER
S

UP

UP

OPEN

UP

RA
M
P 
DN

DOWN

DOWN

36" PAINTED 
STEEL HANDRAIL

HANDRAIL

RAISE DOOR SILL TO 
COURT HEIGHT

RAISE FLOOR TO 
COURT HEIGHT

PAINT WALLS

PA
IN

T 
W

AL
LS

PAINT WALL

1
A103

2
A103

ELEVATOR LOBBY
201

TOILET
202

GYM
203

STORAGE
206

ACTIVITY ROOM
109

STORAGE
110

STORAGE
205

STORAGE
204

A102
2

3
A104

IN
ST
AL
L 
NE
W
 L
VT
 F
LO
O
R 
TH
O
UG
HO
UTIN
ST
AL
L 
NE
W
 L
VT
 F
LO
O
R 
TH
O
UG
HO
UT

IN
ST
AL
L 
NE
W
 L
VT
 F
LO
O
R 
TH
O
UG
HO
UT

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR THOUGHOUT

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR THOUGHOUT
INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR THOUGHOUT

EXISTING COURT 
FLOOR TO REMAIN

INSTALL NEW LVT FLOOR IN 
ELEVATOR LOBBY & TOILET 202

INSTALL NEW CARPET 
TILE ON BLEACHERS

INSTALL NEW CARPET 
TILE ON BLEACHERS

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A101

FL
O

O
R

 P
LA

N
S

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 EXISTING/DEMO 1st FLOOR
 1/8" = 1'-0"2 NEW 1st FLOOR

 1/8" = 1'-0"3 EXISTING/DEMO 2nd FLOOR
 1/8" = 1'-0"4 NEW 2nd FLOOR

630

Item 4.



A102 3

1
A103

2
A103

A1027

4

5

6

BREAK ROOM
104

WOMEN
103

ENTRY
101

NEW ELEVATOR: 
SCHINDLER 3100 MRL 
TRACTION 
ELEVATOR, 
2100 LB. CAPACITY

7' - 4 1/2" 4' - 6"

2'
 - 

0"
8'

 - 
7"

CLCL

TA6

TA7

TA5 TA1

TA2
TA3

TA8

1'
 - 

0"

6"

EXISTING TOILET

A10211NEW 
WARMING 
CABINET

REF. ICE

1
A103

2
A103

NEW RAILING, 
SEE DETAILS

RAISE FLOOR IN ELEVATOR 
LOBBY TO COURT HEIGHT, PAINT 

WALLS

RAISE 
FLOOR IN 
TOILET 202 
TO COURT 
HEIGHT

ST
O
P 
2

RAISE DOOR SILL 
TO COURT HEIGHT 
& SLIDE DOWN

ELEVATOR
LOBBY

201

TOILET
202

GYM
203

STORAGE
204

STORAGE
205

1
A104

RAISE EXISTING TOILET, 
LAVATORY, WATER 
FOUNTAIN, GRAB BARS, & 
TOILET ACCESSORIES WITH 
FLOOR. SEE TYP. TOILET 
MOUNTING HEIGHTS

EXISTING MAINFRAME COLUMN

A102

8

A102

9

NEW ELEVATOR: 
SCHINDLER 3100 MRL 
TRACTION 
ELEVATOR, 
2100 LB. CAPACITY

2'
 - 

0 
3/

4"

7' - 4 1/2" 4' - 6"

2"

8'
 - 

7"

SEE STRUCTURAL 
FOR ALL NEW 
COLUMNS

OPEN TO ENTRY BELOW

MICROW
AVE

3' - 2" 2' - 6" 1' - 1" 2' - 2 1/2"

2'
 - 

10
"

SINK
EXISTING WALL

NEW FURRED OUT WALL

PAINTED MOLD & 
MOISTURE RESISTANT 
GYP. WALLBOARD

NEW 
WARMING 
CABINET

SOLID SURFACE COUNTER & 
BACKSPLASH

2'
 - 

10
"

5'
 - 

1"

6"

3'
 - 

4"
1'

 - 
6"

TA3

TA2

TA4

TA5

2'
 - 

10
"

2' - 8"

RELOCATED 
EXISTING 
DOOR

103A

TA3
TA2

TA4

8"

M
IN

.

1'
 - 

6"

TA1
TA8

1' - 0"

2'
 - 

10
"8"

6"

9"

2' - 0"

2'
 - 

10
"

3'
 - 

4"

TA7

TA6

TA5

4'
 - 

0"

3'
 - 

8"

REMOVABLE APRON

EXISTING CIRCULAR OPENING

NEW 2" PAINTED STEEL GUARDRAIL

3'
 - 

6"

EXISTING BEAMS

2'
 - 

10
"

5'
 - 

10
"

3'
 - 

4"

24"x30" MIRROR
TOILET

202

2'
 - 

4"

2'
 - 

10
"

M
IN

.

1'
 - 

6"
3'

 - 
4"

2' - 8"

8"

TA1

TA2
TA3

TA4
TA5

4'
 - 

0"

TA8
2'

 - 
10

"

3'
 - 

4"

TA6

REMOVABLE APRON

TO
 R

EF
LE

C
TI

VE
 S

U
R

FA
C

E

3'
 - 

4"
 M

AX
.

2'
 - 

10
" M

AX
.

2'
 - 

5"
 M

IN
.

8" MIN. 10" 6" MAX.

9"
 M

IN
.

2' - 0"

SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP 
WITH INTEGRAL SINK

3/4" PLYWOOD SLABS W/ 
P.LAM ON ALL EXPOSED 
FACES

MIRROR

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A102

EN
LA

R
G

ED
 P

LA
N

S,
 IN

TE
R

IO
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 ENLARGED 1st FLOOR ENTRY
 1/4" = 1'-0"2 ENLARGED 2nd FLOOR ELEV. LOBBY

 1/2" = 1'-0"3 BREAK ROOM ELEVATION

 1/2" = 1'-0"4 WOMEN 103 ELEV. 1
 1/2" = 1'-0"5 WOMEN 103 ELEV. 2

 1/2" = 1'-0"6 WOMEN 103 ELEV. 3
 1/2" = 1'-0"7 WOMEN 103 ELEV. 4

 1/2" = 1'-0"8 ELEVATOR LOBBY 201
 1/2" = 1'-0"9 TOILET 202

 1/2" = 1'-0"10 TYPICAL TOILET MOUNTING HEIGHTS

1.

2.

TOILET ACCESSORIES 

TA1 TOILET TISSUE DISP.
TA2 42" GRAB BAR. MOUNT W/ TOGGLE BOLTS.
TA3 36" GRAB BAR. MOUNT W/ TOGGLE BOLTS.
TA4 18" GRAB BAR. MOUNT W/ TOGGLE BOLTS.
TA5 PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER, WALL MOUNTED
TA6 24"x36" SS FRAME MIRROR

NOTES:

PROVIDE SUBSTANTIAL WOOD BLOCKING IN WALLS BEHIND ALL WALL MOUNTED 
ACCESSORIES OR ITEMS ATTACHED TO WALL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUPPLIER & 
MANUFACTURER RECOMMENDATIONS.
VERIFY ALL FIXTURE LOCATIONS W/ MANUFACTURER INSTALLATION RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOR ACCESSIBILITY. IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY DESIGNER OF DISCREPANCIES FOR RESOLUTION.

 1" = 1'-0"12 TYPICAL MILLWORK SECTION

2'-0"
3"

4"

S
E
E
 E
LE
VA
TI
O
N
S

11
/ 2
" 4"

6" PULLS

170° CONCEALED ADJ. HINGES

MELAMINE DRAWER W/
METAL FULL EXT. 
SLIDES
3/4" SLABS W/ HPDL EACH SIDE

SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP W/
3/4"  BACKSPLASH

BACKSPLASH RETURN
AGAINST WALL

1x4 STRETCHERS

2x6 BLOCKING, TYP.

3/4" MELAMINE ADJ. SHELF

32MM LINE BORE SYSTEM

4" RUBBER BASE
ON 3/4" PLYWD. TOE

3/4" MELAMINE BOX W/
HPDL FACE EDGES

1/4" BACK ON 1x4 NAILERS

2x BLOCKING

 1" = 1'-0"13 VANITY SECTION

631

Item 4.



01 FFE
0"

HIGH EAVE
24' - 0 3/4"

02 SECOND FLOOR
9' - 6"

LOW EAVE
9' - 2 3/4"

STEEL BEAM, SEE STRUCT.

NEW ELEVATOR 
DOOR BY ELEVATOR 
MANUF.

03 LOW ROOF & RAISED
SECOND FLOOR

10' - 8"

NEW ELEVATOR 
DOOR BY ELEVATOR 
MANUF.

STEEL BEAM, SEE STRUCT.

STEEL BEAM, SEE STRUCT.

NEW ELEVATOR: 
SCHINDLER 3100 MRL 
TRACTION 
ELEVATOR, 
2100 LB. CAPACITY

MAINFRAME COLUMN 
BEYOND

EXISTING DOOR. RAISE SILL UP TO 
NEW FLOOR HEIGHT

EXISTING ROOF BEYOND

EXISTING EXTERIOR WALL BEYOND

EXISTING ROOF BEYOND

EXISTING COLUMN BOX-IN BEYOND

TOILET
202

ELEVATOR LOBBY
201

STORAGE
204

NEW 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS, SEE STRUCT.

EXISTING 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS

NEW T&G SUBFLOOR, SEE 
STRUCT.

NEW 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS, 
SEE STRUCT.

NEW T&G SUBFLOOR, SEE 
STRUCT.

EXISTING WALL

EXISTING WALL

EXISTING MAINFRAME

EXISTING CEILING EXISTING CEILING

EXISTING WALL

3' - 10"

1'
 - 

8"

NEW STOREFRONT WINDOW IN EXISTING OPENING.

EXTEND STUD & GYP. BRD. UP 
TO BOTTOM OF ROOF DECK, 
CONTINOUS FIRE CAULK ALL 
JOINTS AND PENETRATIONS

EXISTING PEMB INSULATION

EXISTING ROOF PERLIN

R-13 BATT INSULATION

6" METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C., SEE 
STRUCT.

1-HR RATED SHAFT WALL. SEE 
UL U419 (PERIMETER OF 
ELEVATOR SHAFT)

EXISTING ROOF PERLIN

R-13 BATT INSULATION

6" METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C., SEE 
STRUCT.

1-HR RATED SHAFT WALL. SEE 
UL U419

5/8" TYPE 'X' GYP. BRD., BOTH 
SIDES OF WALL, ALL THE AROUND 
PERIMETER OF ELEVATOR SHAFT

1-HR RATED SHAFT WALL. 
SEE UL U419 (PERIMETER 
OF ELEVATOR SHAFT)

1-HR RATED SHAFT WALL. 
SEE UL U419 (PERIMETER 
OF ELEVATOR SHAFT)

SEE STRUCT. FOR ELEVATOR 
PIT FOUNDATION

CONCRETE ELEVATOR PIT 
FOUNDATION WALLS, SEE 
STRUCT.

NEW CONCRETE AROUND NEW 
ELEVATOR SHAFT, SEE 
STRUCTURAL

SEE STRUCTURAL FOR 
SELECTIVE DEMOLITION OF 
EXISTING CONC. SLAB AROUND 
NEW ELEVATOR SHAFT.

NEW 2X4 RUNNERS WITH 1/2" THICK 
PLYWOOD 6" WIDE ON TOP OF 
EXISTING FLOOR AT 16"OC

NON-VENTED HARDIE SOFFIT 
BOARD

1x3 HARDIE TRIM BOARD, TYP. 
ALL THE WAY AROUND

METAL DRIP EDGE

WRAP ENDS W/ SHEET 
METAL TRIM, TYP. COLOR 
TO MATCH EXISTING

1' - 0"

STANDING SEAM METAL 
ROOF TO MATCH EXISTING

METAL ROOF JOISTS, SEE STRUCT.

METAL DECKING, SEE STRUCT.

1' - 0"
5" 

1'-0"

01 FFE
0"

HIGH EAVE
24' - 0 3/4"

02 SECOND FLOOR
9' - 6"

LOW EAVE
9' - 2 3/4"

03 LOW ROOF & RAISED
SECOND FLOOR

10' - 8"

ELEVATOR HOIST 
BEAM, SEE STRUCT.

STEEL BEAM, SEE STRUCT.

NEW ELEVATOR: 
SCHINDLER 3100 MRL 

TRACTION 
ELEVATOR, 

2100 LB. CAPACITY

EXISTING BUILDING 
MAINFRAME

EXISTING ROOF BEYOND

EXISTING INSULATION

EXISTING ROOF

TA4

TA1

TA2TA3

TA8

EXISTING CEILING

STEEL BEAM, SEE STRUCT.

STEEL BEAM, SEE STRUCT.

EXISTING 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS

EXISTING BEAM

EXISTING WALL

EXTEND STUD & GYP. BRD. UP 
TO BOTTOM OF ROOF DECK, 
CONTINOUS FIRE CAULK ALL 
JOINTS AND PENETRATIONS

EXISTING PEMB INSULATION

R-13 BATT INSULATION

6" METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C., SEE 
STRUCT.

1-HR RATED SHAFT WALL. SEE 
UL U419 (PERIMETER OF 
ELEVATOR SHAFT)

R-13 BATT INSULATION

6" METAL STUDS @ 16" O.C., SEE 
STRUCT.

1-HR RATED SHAFT WALL. SEE 
UL U419

5/8" TYPE 'X' GYP. BRD., BOTH 
SIDES OF WALL, ALL THE AROUND 
PERIMETER OF ELEVATOR SHAFT

1-HR RATED SHAFT WALL. 
SEE UL U419 (PERIMETER 
OF ELEVATOR SHAFT)

EXTERIOR WEATHER BARRIER BUILDING WRAP 
OVER EXTERIOR SHEATHING. SEE STRUCT. FOR 
SHEATHING REQUIREMENTS

HARIDE LAP SIDING TO MATCH EXISTING FRONT 
ENTRY

5/8" TYPE 'X' GYP. BRD., BOTH 
SIDES OF WALL, ALL THE AROUND 
PERIMETER OF ELEVATOR SHAFT

6" METAL STUDS @ 
16" O.C., SEE 
STRUCT.

103A
WOMEN

103

CONCRETE ELEVATOR PIT 
FOUNDATION WALLS, SEE 
STRUCT.

SEE STRUCT. FOR ELEVATOR 
PIT FOUNDATION

NEW CONCRETE AROUND NEW 
ELEVATOR SHAFT, SEE 
STRUCTURAL

SEE STRUCTURAL FOR 
SELECTIVE DEMOLITION OF 
EXISTING CONC. SLAB AROUND 
NEW ELEVATOR SHAFT.

LIGHT GAUGE ROOF JOISTS, SEE STRUCT.

METAL DECKING, SEE STRUCT.

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF TO MATCH EXISTING

1' - 0" NON-VENTED HARDIE SOFFIT BOARD

1x3 HARDIE TRIM BOARD, TYP. ALL THE WAY AROUND

METAL DRIP EDGE

WRAP ENDS W/ SHEET METAL TRIM, TYP. COLOR 
TO MATCH EXISTING

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A103

EL
EV

AT
O

R
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

 1/2" = 1'-0"1 ELEVATOR SECTION 1  1/2" = 1'-0"2 ELEVATOR SECTION 2

632

Item 4.



02 SECOND FLOOR
9' - 6"

03 LOW ROOF & RAISED
SECOND FLOOR

10' - 8"

3'
 - 

6"

EXISTING 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS

EXISTING BEAM

EXISTING WALL

EXISTING PEMB INSULATION

EXISTING WALL

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING MAINFRAME COLUMN

EXISTING FLOOR TRUSSES

NEW T&G SUBFLOOR, 
SEE STRUCT.

NEW 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS, SEE STRUCT.

RAISE DOOR TO 
NEW FLOOR 
HEIGHT

2" ⌀ PAINTED STEEL TOP RAIL

3/4" ⌀ PAINTED STEEL PICKETS @ 4" O.C., MAX.

EXISTING CIRCULAR OPENING

NEW 2X4 RUNNERS WITH 1/2" THICK 
PLYWOOD 6" WIDE ON TOP OF 
EXISTING FLOOR AT 16"OC

RAISE EXISTING WATER FOUNTAIN TO NEW FLOOR HEIGHT.

2' - 0" 2' - 0"

FIRE RATING:
STC RATING:
SOUND TEST:
SYSTEM THICKNESS:
LOCATION:
FRAMING TYPE:

1 HOUR
49
USG-190432
4-7/8"  [124 MM]
INTERIOR
STEEL STUD (NONLOAD-BEARING)

GYPSUM PANELS:
STEEL STUDS:
INSULATION:
GYPSUM PANELS:

ASSEMBLY REQUIREMENTS:

DESIGN NO.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.
7.
8.

9.

10.

GENERAL WALL NOTES:
REFER TO APPLICABLE CODES REQUIREMENTS TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION.
FOR THE MOST UP-TO-DATE DETAILS, INCLUDING CONSTRUCTION VARIATIONS, REFER TO 
THE PUBLISHED DESIGN.
WHERE DESIGN NO. INDICATES “PER”, THE FIRE RATING IS BASED ON LABORATORY TEST 
DATA OF THE REFERENCED SIMILARLY CONSTRUCTED ASSEMBLIES.
STUD SIZES AND INSULATION THICKNESS ARE MINIMUM UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED IN THE 
PUBLISHED ASSEMBLY.
STUD AND FASTENER SPACINGS ARE MAXIMUM UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED IN THE 
PUBLISHED ASSEMBLY.
PANEL ORIENTATION SHALL BE AS SPECIFIED IN THE PUBLISHED DESIGN.
FIRE-RATINGS ARE FROM BOTH SIDES UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.
FIRE-RATINGS ARE MAINTAINED WITH ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING MODIFICATIONS: 
INCREASE STUD DEPTH, INCREASE STUD MATERIAL THICKNESS, DECREASE STUD SPACING, 
DECREASE FASTENER SPACING, INCREASE INSULATION THICKNESS UP TO CAVITY DEPTH.
WHERE ACOUSTICAL PERFORMANCE IS PROVIDED IN AN ESTIMATED RANGE, THE VALUES 
ARE BASED ON LABORATORY TEST DATA OF SIMILARLY CONSTRUCTED ASSEMBLIES.
SOUND-RATINGS ARE MAINTAINED WITH ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING 
MODIFICATIONS: INCREASE STUD DEPTH, DECREASE STUD MATERIAL THICKNESS, 
INCREASE STUD SPACING, INCREASE FASTENER SPACING, INCREASE INSULATION 
THICKNESS UP TO CAVITY DEPTH. MODIFICATIONS MUST NOT EXCEED LIMITATIONS OF FIRE 
RATING.

UL U419

ONE LAYER 5/8" [15.9 MM] SHEETROCK® GYPSUM PANEL (UL TYPE SCX)
3-5/8" [92 MM] STEEL STUDS, EQ25 (0.015"), 24" [610 MM] O.C.
3-1/2" [89 MM] FIBERGLASS INSULATION
ONE LAYER 5/8" [15.9 MM] SHEETROCK® GYPSUM PANEL (UL TYPE SCX)

02 SECOND FLOOR
9' - 6"

03 LOW ROOF & RAISED
SECOND FLOOR

10' - 8"

EXISTING 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS

EXISTING WALL

1'
 - 

4"
1'

 - 
2"

6"

3'
 - 

0"

NEW 2X4 RUNNERS WITH 1/2" THICK 
PLYWOOD 6" WIDE ON TOP OF 
EXISTING FLOOR AT 16"OC

2x12 FLOOR 
JOISTS, SEE 
STRUCT.

NEW T&G 
SUBFLOOR, SEE 
STRUCT.

2x12 FLOOR 
JOISTS, SEE 
STRUCT.

2x12 RAMP JOISTS, SEE STRUCT.

11"

3' - 0"

2" ⌀ PAINTED STEEL PIPE RAILING

RAISE EXISTING DOOR SILL UP TO NEW FLOOR HEIGHT

EXISTING DOOR

NEW T&G 
SUBFLOOR, SEE 
STRUCT.

2" ⌀ PAINTED STEEL 
PIPE RAILING

6"
1' - 2"

1' - 4"

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A104

SE
C

TI
O

N
S 

& 
D

ET
AI

LS

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

 1/2" = 1'-0"1 SECTION THRU RAISED FLOOR

 1 1/2" = 1'-0"2 UL DESIGN NO. U419

 1/2" = 1'-0"3 RAMP SECTION

633

Item 4.



NEW POPOUT FOR ELEVATOR & 
ELEVATOR LOBBY
HARDIE SIDING TO MATCH EXISTING 
ENTRY

NEW STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF TO 
MATCH EXISTING

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING HARDIE 
LAP SIDING

EXISTING ROOF EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING EXISTING

NEW STOREFRONT WINDOW IN EXISTING OPENING

CUT EXISTING ROOF AS REQUIRED 
FOR NEW ELEVATOR SHAFT

EXISTING HARDIE 
LAP SIDING

NEW POPOUT FOR ELEVATOR & 
ELEVATOR LOBBY
HARDIE SIDING TO MATCH 
EXISTING ENTRY

NEW STANDING SEAM METAL 
ROOF TO MATCH EXISTING

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING ENTRY

NEW POPOUT FOR ELEVATOR & 
ELEVATOR LOBBY
HARDIE SIDING TO MATCH EXISTING 
ENTRY

NEW STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF TO 
MATCH EXISTING

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING ENTRY

ALIGN NEW ROOF WITH EXISTING ROOF

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A105

EX
TE

R
IO

R
 E

LE
VA

TI
O

N
S

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 FRONT ELEVATION

 1/4" = 1'-0"2 LEFT SIDE

 1/4" = 1'-0"3 RIGHT SIDE

634

Item 4.



1
A103

2
A103

5"
 / 

1'
-0

"

5" / 1'-0" 5" / 1'-0"

8"
 / 

1'
-0

"

5"
 / 

1'
-0

"

5" / 1'-0"

5"
 / 

1'
-0

"

5" / 1'-0"8" / 1'-0"

8"
 / 

1'
-0

"

5"
 / 

1'
-0

"

8" / 1'-0"

8" / 1'-0" 8" / 1'-0"

EXISTING STANDING SEAM METAL ROOFEXISTING STANDING SEAM 
METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM 
METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING 
SEAM METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM 
METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM 
METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM 
METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM 
METAL ROOF

EXISTING STANDING SEAM 
METAL ROOF

EXHAUST HOOD VENT

BATHROOM EXHAUST VENT BATHROOM EXHAUST VENT

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A106

R
O

O
F 

PL
AN

 &
 F

IN
IS

H
 S

PE
C

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S

22-031-6

BL
U

FF
TO

N
 R

EC
. C

EN
TE

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO

06.05.2024

61
B 

U
LM

ER
 R

O
AD

 | 
BL

U
FF

TO
N

 | 
SC

 2
99

10

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 ROOF PLAN

EXTERIOR FINISH SPECIFICATIONS:

1.

2.

3.

4.

WOOD FRAMING, GENERAL:
COMPLY WITH THE AMERICAN FOREST AND PAPER ASSOCIATION'S (AFPA) 
"MANUEL FOR WOOD FRAME CONSTRUCTION".
ALL WOOD TO BE PRESERVATIVE TREATED BY PRESSURE PROCESS - 
AMERICAN WOOD PRESERVERS ASSOCIATION (AWPA) C2.
SELECT STRUCTURAL GRADE OF SOUTHERN PINE, DOUGLAS FIR OR 
SPRUCE-PINE-FIR MAY BE USED, UNLESS NOTED SPECIFICALLY ON 
STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES, OR OTHERWISE HEREIN.
ALL FASTENERS, ATTACHMENTS AND ANCHORS TO BE GALVANIZED, 
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES.

INTERIOR FINISH SPECIFICATIONS:
PAINT/STAIN

MFR: SHERWIN WILLIAMS OR APPROVED EQUAL
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER

GYPSUM WALL BOARD

MFR: U.S. GYPSUM OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: 5/8" TYPE "X"

5/8" MOLD/MOISTURE RESISTANT TYPE "X" IN WET LOCATIONS

GRAB BARS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: BOBRICK, BRADLEY, OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: SMOOTH IN LENGTHS AS INDICATED

TOILET TISSUE DISPENSERS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER
STYLE: SURFACE MOUNTED, AS SELECTED BY OWNER

PAPER TOWEL DISPENSERS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER
STYLE: SURFACE MOUNTED, AS SELECTED BY OWNER

SOAP DISPENSERS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: GOJO OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: SURFACE MOUNTED, AUTOMATIC

MIRRORS

MFR: BOBRICK, BRADLEY, OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: STAINLESS STEEL FRAMED IN SIZE INDICATED

CABINETS

STYLE: MELAMINE BOXES W/ PLASTIC LAMINATE FINISH ON ALL EXPOSED SIDES.
PLASTIC LAMINTE MFR: WILSONART, FORMICA, OR APPROVED EQ.
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY ARCHITECT FROM MANUFACTURER'S FULL RANGE

SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP

MFR: WILSONART, CORIAN, OR APPROVED EQ.
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY ARCHITECT FROM MANUFACTURER'S FULL RANGE

METAL ROOFING

MFR: ENGLERT OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: MATCH EXISTING
COLOR: MATCH EXISTING

SIDING

MFR: JAMES HARDIE OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLES: MATCH EXISTING
COLOR: MATCH EXISTING

PAINT/STAIN

MFR: SHERWIN WILLIAMS OR APPROVED EQUAL
COLOR: MATCH EXISTING, AS SELECTED BY OWNER

TRIM/MOULDING

MFR: JAMES HARDIE OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: 4/4 RUSTIC; CORNER TRIM, FASCIA, & SHINGLE MOULD
COLOR: MATCH EXISTING

LVT FLOORING

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

MFR: SHAW OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: IN THE GRAIN II (BASIS-OF-DESIGN)
FLOORING TO HAVE FOLLOWING CHARACTERISITCS: 

COMMERCIAL HIGH-PERFORMANCE LUXURY VINYL TILE
CLASS III, PRINTED FILM
TYPE “B” EMBOSSED
20 MIL OR 30 MIL
6” X 48” DIRECT GLUE

WALL BASE

MFR: ROPPE, JOHNSONITE, FLEXCO, OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: 4" RUBBER COVE

CARPET TILE

MFR: SHAW OR APPROVED EQUAL
TYPE: STAIN RESISTANT BERBER
MATERIAL:   NYLON
SIZE: 24"x24"
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER & ARCHITECT BY MANUF'S FULL RANGE

WARMING CABINET SPECIFICATIONS:

635

Item 4.



STRUCTURAL STEEL

1. DESIGN, FABRICATION, AND ERECTION SHALL BE PER THE SPECIFICATION FOR STRUCTURAL STEEL BUILDINGS (ANSI/AISC 360).
2. STRUCTURAL STEEL MATERIALS:

WIDE FLANGE SHAPES (W SECTIONS) - ASTM A992, GRADE 50 (FY=50 KSI)
CHANNELS AND ANGLES - ASTM A36 (FY=36 KSI)
PLATES AND BARS - ASTM A36 (FY=36 KSI) OR ASTM A572, GRADE 50 (FY=50 KSI) AS INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS.
SQUARE AND RECTANGULAR TUBES - ASTM A500, GRADE B (FY=46 KSI)
PIPES OR ROUND TUBES - ASTM A53, GRADE B (FY=35 KSI) OR ASTM A500, GRADE B (FY=42 KSI)

3. A QUALIFIED FABRICATOR SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM OF 5 YEARS OF EXPERIENCE IN FABRICATING STRUCTURAL STEEL LIKE THAT INDICATED FOR THIS 
PROJECT AND SUFFICIENT CAPACITY TO FABRICATE THE STRUCTURAL STEEL WITHOUT DELAYING THE WORK, AND SHALL MEET ONE OF THE FOLLOWING:
A. FABRICATOR PARTICIPATES IN THE AISC QUALITY CERTIFICATION PROGRAM AND IS DESIGNATED AN AISC-CERTIFIED PLANT, CATEGORY (BU) OR IS

ACCREDITED BY THE IAS FABRICATOR INSPECTION PROGRAM FOR STRUCTURAL STEEL (ACCREDITATION CRITERIA 172).
B. FABRICATOR HAS AN ESTABLISHED AND MAINTAINED QUALITY CONTROL PROGRAM TO ENSURE THAT THE WORK IS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH THE REQUIREMENTS IN ANSI/AISC 303, ANSI/AISC 360, AND THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. PROGRAM SHALL AT A MINIMUM ADDRESS 
INSPECTION OF THE ITEMS NOTED IN ANSI/AISC 360 N2.

4. A QUALIFIED ERECTOR SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM OF 5 YEARS OF EXPERIENCE IN ERECTING STRUCTURAL STEEL LIKE THAT INDICATED FOR THIS PROJECT 
AND SUFFICIENT CAPACITY TO ERECT THE STRUCTURAL STEEL WITHOUT DELAYING THE WORK, AND SHALL MEET ONE OF THE FOLLOWING:
A. ERECTOR PARTICIPATES IN THE AISC QUALITY CERTIFICATION PROGRAM AND IS DESIGNATED AN AISC-CERTIFIED ERECTOR, CATEGORY (CSE).
B. ERECTOR HAS AN ESTABLISHED AND MAINTAINED QUALITY CONTROL PROGRAM TO ENSURE THAT THE WORK IS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE REQUIREMENTS IN ANSI/AISC 303, ANSI/AISC 360, AND THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. PROGRAM SHALL AT A MINIMUM ADDRESS INSPECTION 
OF THE ITEMS NOTED IN ANSI/AISC 360 N2.

5. BEAM SIMPLE SHEAR, BRACED FRAME, AND ALL MOMENT CONNECTIONS NOT DETAILED ON STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS SHALL BE DESIGNED BY A 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER RETAINED BY THE STEEL SUPPLIER AND REGISTERED IN THE STATE IN WHICH THE PROJECT IS LOCATED. THE CONNECTION 
ENGINEER SHALL SUBMIT A SIGNED AND SEALED LETTER STATING THEY HAVE REVIEWED THE STEEL SHOP DRAWINGS AND THE CONNECTIONS ARE 
CONSISTENT WITH THEIR CALCULATIONS AND INTENT.

6. THE CONNECTIONS FOR NON-COMPOSITE BEAMS SHALL BE DESIGNED FOR REACTIONS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS OR FOR REACTIONS DETERMINED BY 
USING THE MAXIMUM TOTAL UNIFORM LOAD TABULATED IN PART 3 OF THE AISC STEEL CONSTRUCTION MANUAL FOR THE SECTION, SPAN, AND 
STRENGTH OF STEEL SPECIFIED. THE CONNECTIONS FOR COMPOSITE BEAMS SHALL BE DESIGNED FOR REACTIONS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS OR AS 
DICTATED BY THE TYPICAL COMPOSITE SLAB DETAIL.

7. SIMPLE SHEAR CONNECTIONS SHALL BE MADE WITH ASTM A325 3/4"Ø BOLTS (MINIMUM), TIGHTENED TO A SNUG-TIGHT CONDITION PER AISC 
REQUIREMENTS.

8. ALL WELDING SHALL CONFORM TO THE AMERICAN WELDING SOCIETY CODE. USE E70 SERIES ELECTRODES FOR ALL STRUCTURAL STEEL WELDS. WHERE 
STEEL MEMBERS ARE WELDED AND NO SIZE IS SPECIFIED, PROVIDE FULL LENGTH FILLET WELDS BOTH SIDES OF MEMBER. SIZE OF FILLETS SHALL BE 
3/16" FOR MEMBER THICKNESS UP TO 5/16", AND THE MEMBER THICKNESS MINUS 3/16" FOR ALL THICKER MATERIALS.

9. ANCHOR AND THREADED RODS SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM F1554, GRADE 36, 55, OR 105 AS INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS. CONTRACTOR TO 
COORDINATE INSTALLATION OF ITEMS TO BE EMBEDDED IN OR ATTACHED TO OTHER CONSTRUCTION WITHOUT DELAYING THE WORK.

10. STEEL SHALL BE PRIMED WITH FABRICATOR'S STANDARD LEAD- AND CHROMATE-FREE, NON-ASPHALTIC, RUST-INHIBITING PRIMER COMPLYING WITH 
MPI#79 (MINIMUM COAT OF 3 MILS, MAXIMUM OF 5 MILS). CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE SELECTION OF PRIMER WITH TOPCOATS TO BE APPLIED TO 
ENSURE THE TWO ARE COMPATIBLE. MEMBERS TO RECEIVE FIREPROOFING OR TO BE ENCASED IN CONCRETE SHALL NOT BE PRIMED.

11. SEE THE ARCHITECTURAL AND STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS FOR ALL ITEMS REQUIRED TO BE HOT-DIP GALVANIZED AFTER FABRICATION.
12. STRUCTURAL STEEL SHALL BE PUNCHED FOR WOOD BLOCKING, NAILERS, CLIPS AND TIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ARCHITECTURAL AND STRUCTURAL 

DRAWINGS.
13. CAP ALL OPEN HSS OR PIPE MEMBERS OUTSIDE THE BUILDING ENVELOPE WITH A 1/4" (MINIMUM) FITTED PLATE, UNO.
14. ERECTOR SHALL SET STRUCTURAL STEEL IN LOCATIONS AND TO ELEVATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANSI/AISC 303 AND 360. MAINTAIN THE FRAME 

WITHIN ERECTION TOLERANCES PER ANSI/AISC 303.
15. PROMPTLY PACK SHRINKAGE-RESISTANT GROUT SOLIDLY BETWEEN BEARING SURFACES AND PLATES SO NO VOIDS REMAIN.
16. SPLICING OF STRUCTURAL STEEL MEMBERS IS PROHIBITED WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE ENGINEER AS TO LOCATION AND TYPE OF SPLICE TO BE 

MADE. ANY MEMBER HAVING A SPLICE NOT SHOWN AND DETAILED ON SHOP DRAWINGS WILL BE REJECTED. THERMAL CUTTING MAY NOT BE USED IN
THE FIELD DURING ERECTION.

17. QUALITY CONTROL INSPECTION TASKS SHALL BE PERFORMED BY BOTH THE FABRICATOR AND ERECTOR IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANSI/AISC 360 N5. NON-
DESTRUCTIVE TESTING (NDT) OF WELDED JOINTS PROVIDED DURING FABRICATION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH N5.5 AND PERFORMED BY AN 
INDEPENDENT AND QUALIFIED TESTING AGENCY OR THE FABRICATOR'S QCI. ALL TESTING REPORTS SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE OWNER FOR REVIEW.

18. AT THE COMPLETION OF FABRICATION AND ERECTION, THE FABRICATOR AND ERECTOR SHALL EACH SUBMIT A CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE TO THE 
OWNER STATING THE MATERIALS SUPPLIED AND WORK PERFORMED ARE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

19. NON-DESTRUCTIVE TESTING (NDT) OF WELDED JOINTS PROVIDED DURING ERECTION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH N5.5 AND PERFORMED BY AN 
INDEPENDENT AND QUALIFIED TESTING AGENCY. ALL TESTING REPORTS SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE OWNER FOR REVIEW.

20. ALL STEEL EXPOSED TO VIEW SHALL BE CLASSIFIED AS ARCHITECTURALLY EXPOSED STRUCTURAL STEEL (AESS) AS DEFINED BY ANSI/AISC 303 AND 
SHALL BE TREATED AS SUCH.

CONCRETE | REINFORCING STEEL

1. ALL CONCRETE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION SHALL CONFORM TO THE REFERENCED EDITION OF THE BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS FOR STRUCTURAL
CONCRETE (ACI 318).

2. CONCRETE MIXTURES AS REQUIRED (BASED ON CLASS DESIGNATION):
CLASS A - FOOTINGS NWC 3,000 PSI
CLASS B - FOUNDATION WALLS NWC 4,500 PSI
CLASS C - INTERIOR SLABS ON GRADE NWC 3,000 PSI

3. REINFORCING:
TYPICAL - ASTM A615, GRADE 60
DEFORMED BAR ANCHORS - ASTM A496
WELDED WIRE FABRIC - ASTM A1064 (FLAT SHEETS ONLY)

4. GROUT UNDER BASE PLATES TO BE HIGH STRENGTH (5,000 PSI), NON-SHRINK.
5. REFER TO THE DRAWINGS FOR REINFORCING LAP REQUIREMENTS. WHERE LAP SPLICES ARE NOT SHOWN, LAP PER ACI 318 OR CRSI STANDARDS.
6. LAP WELDED WIRE FABRIC SHEETS 8" MINIMUM.
7. CLEAR COVER FROM FACE OF CONCRETE:

CAST IN PLACE CONCRETE (MEASURE TO OUTERMOST REINFORCING) -
CONCRETE CAST AGAINST AND EXPOSED TO EARTH 3"
CONCRETE EXPOSED TO EARTH/WEATHER 2" FOR #6 BARS AND LARGER, 1 1/2" ELSE
CONCRETE NOT EXPOSED TO EARTH/WEATHER 3/4" FOR SLABS AND WALLS, 1 1/2" (TO TIES) FOR BEAMS AND COLUMNS

8. PROVIDE REINFORCING IN SLABS ON GRADE, 1-1/2" FROM TOP OF SLAB:
4" SLABS 6x6-W2.1xW2.1

9. WHERE SCHEDULED BARS ARE NOT PRESENT, PROVIDE CONTINUOUS #5 TOP AND BOTTOM BARS TO SUPPORT STIRRUPS AS REQUIRED FOR THE LENGTH 
OF THE STIRRUP SPACING IN ALL BEAMS.

10. WALL FOOTING REINFORCING SHALL BE CONTINUOUS THROUGH ADJACENT COLUMN FOOTINGS.
11. PROVIDE VERTICAL DOVETAIL SLOTS AT 24"OC WITH TIES AT 16"OC VERTICALLY IN ALL CONCRETE WALLS BACKING-UP MASONRY VENEER.
12. BAR SUPPORTS FOR CONCRETE EXPOSED TO VIEW SHALL HAVE PLASTIC COATED LEGS OR BE HOT-DIP GALVANIZED AFTER FABRICATION.
13. DO NOT RUN MECHANICAL OR ELECTRICAL CONDUIT IN THE SLAB ON GRADE.
14. HEADED CONCRETE ANCHORS SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM A108, GRADES 1010, 1015, 1017, OR 1020. STUDS SHALL BE 

AUTOMATICALLY END WELDED IN THE SHOP OR FIELD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.
15. EMBED PLATES MUST BE SET IN THE FORM BEFORE POURING CONCRETE, NOT PLACED INTO TOP OF WET CONCRETE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 

THE ARCHITECT FOR CORRECTIVE DETAILS FOR ANY EMBED PLATES LEFT OUT OF CONCRETE POURS.
16. FOR SLABS ON GRADE, SLAB AND FOOTING REINFORCING SHALL BE HELD IN PLACE BY BAR SUPPORTS WITH SAND PLATES, OR PRECAST CONCRETE BAR 

SUPPORTS AS DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 3 OF THE CRSI MANUAL OF STANDARD PRACTICE. BAR SUPPORTS SHALL BE SPACED AT A MAXIMUM OF 4'-0"OC 
BOTH WAYS. ROCKS, CMU, OR CLAY BRICK WILL NOT BE USED AS SUPPORTS.

17. REBAR SHALL NOT BE HEATED WITH A TORCH IN THE FIELD.
18. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER FAR ENOUGH IN ADVANCE (48 HOURS) OF EACH CONCRETE POUR TO ALLOW AMPLE TIME TO 

CHECK THE LAYOUT OF THE STEEL BEFORE THE BEGINNING OF THE ACTUAL POUR, BUT NOT PRIOR TO 90% OF THE STEEL HAVING BEEN PLACED.

GENERAL

1. THESE GENERAL NOTES ARE NOT INTENDED TO REPLACE SPECIFICATIONS (IF PROVIDED). SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR REQUIREMENTS IN ADDITION TO 
THE GENERAL NOTES.

2. DO NOT SCALE DIMENSIONS FROM DRAWINGS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REQUEST NECESSARY DIMENSIONS NOT SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS.
3. WHERE A DETAIL IS SHOWN FOR ONE CONDITION, IT SHALL APPLY FOR ALL LIKE OR SIMILAR CONDITIONS EVEN THOUGH NOT SPECIFICALLY 

REFERENCED ON THE DRAWINGS.
4. WHERE A CONFLICT BETWEEN DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS OCCURS THE MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENT SHALL APPLY.
5. IF ANY BIDDER IS IN DOUBT AS TO THE INTENT OF THE DRAWINGS OR SPECIFICATIONS, THEY SHALL REQUEST AN INTERPRETATION IN WRITING PRIOR 

TO THE SCHEDULED BID DATE.
6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CHECK AND VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS AND GRADE CONDITIONS (BOTH NEW AND EXISTING), REPORTING ANY DISCREPANCIES 

TO THE ENGINEER OF RECORD PRIOR TO FABRICATION OR PROCEEDING WITH STRUCTURAL WORK.
7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPARE THE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS WITH THE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS, AND REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE 

ENGINEER OF RECORD PRIOR TO FABRICATION OR PROCEEDING WITH STRUCTURAL WORK.
8. SEE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR FLOOR ELEVATIONS, FLOOR SLOPES, AND THE LOCATION OF DEPRESSED FLOOR AREAS.

FOUNDATIONS

1. FOUNDATION DESIGN IS ASSUMED TO BE 2,000 PSF. THE BEARING CAPACITY IS TO BE CONFIRMED BY TERRACON WHEN THE THE INTERIOR SLAB ON 
GRADE HAS BEEN DEMOLISHED AND THE EXCAVATION FOR THE NEW FOUNDATIONS HAS BEEN COMPLETED.

2. ALL RECOMMENDATIONS AS OUTLINED IN THE GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION REPORT AND AS NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS MUST BE FOLLOWED IN 
PREPARATION OF THE SUBGRADE, UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER OF RECORD. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL OBTAIN THE REPORT FROM
THE OWNER AND BE FAMILIAR WITH THE RECOMMENDATIONS CONTAINED THEREIN PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION. IF CONDITIONS 
ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION DIFFER FROM THOSE DESCRIBED IN THE REPORT, THE OWNER SHALL NOTIFY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER OF 
RECORD SO THE RECOMMENDATIONS CAN BE REEVALUATED.

3. GROUNDWATER IS ASSUMED TO POSE AN ISSUE DURING CONSTRUCTION BASED ON THE INFORMATION NOTED IN THE GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION 
REPORT. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INCLUDE IN THEIR BID ALL COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH DEWATERING DURING CONSTRUCTION AS REQUIRED TO 
PERFORM THEIR WORK PER THE GEOTECH REPORT THE GROUNDWATER TABLE IS AT 42" BELOW EXTERIOR FINISHED GRADE.

4. FOOTINGS SHALL BE CARRIED TO LOWER ELEVATIONS THAN THOSE SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS IF REQUIRED BY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER OR 
TESTING LAB TO REACH SOIL CAPABLE OF PROVIDING THE DESIGN NET ALLOWABLE SOIL BEARING PRESSURE. ALL EXPANSIVE AND/OR LOOSE SOILS 
BELOW STRUCTURAL FOUNDATIONS SHALL BE REMOVED AND REPLACED AS DIRECTED BY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER.

5. MINIMUM SUBGRADE PREPARATION REQUIREMENTS ARE AS FOLLOWS:
1. COMPACT ALL FILL UNDER NEW FOUNDATION AND SLAB TO 98% MAXIMUM DRY DENSITY AS DETERMINED BY ASTM D698.
2. PLACE IN LIFTS OF 6" (MAXIMUM) LOOSE THICKNESS WHEN USING LARGE RIDING COMPACTORS (REDUCE THICKNESS AS NECESSARY FOR SMALLER 

EQUIPMENT).
3. SLABS ON GRADE SHALL BE SUPPORTED ON A BASE LAYER OF POROUS FILL (WASHED STONE OR CLEAN SAND) WITH A MINIMUM THICKNESS OF 4".

6. FIELD COMPACTION SHALL BE VERIFIED WITH AT LEAST ONE TEST PER 2,000 SQUARE FEET PER LIFT (AT LEAST ONE PER LIFT), IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
ASTM D1556 (SAND-CONE METHOD), ASTM D6938 (NUCLEAR METHODS, SHALLOW DEPTH), ASTM D2167 (RUBBER BALLOON METHOD), AND/OR ASTM 
D2937 (DRIVE-CYLINDER METHOD). 

7. WALLS RETAINING SOIL SHALL BE TEMPORARILY BRACED DURING BACKFILLING AND UNTIL ALL SUPPORTING SOIL AND SLABS ARE IN PLACE AND ARE AT 
DESIGN STRENGTH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON PLANS AND DETAILS.

8. WALLS RETAINING SOIL HAVE BEEN DESIGNED UTILIZING THE FOLLOWING PARAMETERS:
MOIST SOIL UNIT WEIGHT 120 PCF
ACTIVE PRESSURE COEFFICIENT 0.33
AT-REST PRESSURE COEFFICIENT 0.55
PASSIVE PRESSURE COEFFICIENT 2.50
COEFFICIENT OF FRICTION 0.35

9. UTILITY LINES SHALL NOT BE PLACED THROUGH OR BELOW FOUNDATIONS WITHOUT APPROVAL OF THE STRUCTURAL ENGINEER. CONTRACTOR SHALL 
SUBMIT DETAILED DRAWINGS OF ALL SUCH CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

10 50 100 500

EFFECTIVE WIND AREA (SF)

1

2

3

4

5

R
O

O
F

W
A
LL

ZONE

2021 SOUTH CAROLINA BUILDING CODE (2021 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE WITH REVISIONS)
MINIMUM DESIGN LOADS AND ASSOCIATED CRITERIA FOR BUILDINGS AND OTHER STRUCTURES (ASCE/SEI 7-16)
BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS FOR STRUCTURAL CONCRETE (ACI 318-19)
BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS|SPECIFICATIONS FOR MASONRY STRUCTURES (TMS 402|602-2016)
SPECIFICATION FOR STRUCTURAL STEEL BUILDINGS (ANSI/AISC 360-16)
NATIONAL DESIGN SPECIFICATION FOR WOOD CONSTRUCTION (ANSI/AWC NDS-2018)
NORTH AMERICAN SPECIFICATION FOR THE DESIGN OF COLD-FORMED STEEL STRUCTURAL MEMBERS (AISI S100-16)

DESIGN CRITERIA

1. PROJECT LOCATION: 61B ULMER ROAD | BLUFFTON, SC 29910
2. APPLICABLE CODES:

3. RISK CATEGORY: II
4. DEFLECTION:

FLOOR FRAMING L/240 FOR TOTAL LOADING (1.50" FOR 30' SPAN), L/360 FOR LIVE LOADING (1.00" FOR 30' SPAN)
ROOF FRAMING L/180 FOR TOTAL LOADING (2.00" FOR 30' SPAN), L/240 FOR LIVE LOADING (1.50" FOR 30' SPAN)
MEMBERS SUPPORTING BRICK L/600 FOR LIVE LOADING (0.60" FOR 30' SPAN)

5. LIVE LOADS:
UNIFORM (PSF) CONCENTRATED (LB)

CLASSROOMS 40 1,000
CORRIDORS (2ND AND ABOVE) 80 2,000
CORRIDORS (GROUND) 100 2,000
MECHANICAL 150 NA
OFFICE 65* 2,000
PUBLIC AREAS, LOBBIES 100 2,000
STORAGE 125 NA
* ADDITIONAL 15 PSF PARTITION LOAD INCLUDED

6. SNOW LOAD:
GROUND SNOW LOAD pg = 0 PSF
FLAT SNOW ROOF LOAD pf = 0 PSF

7. WIND LOAD:
ULTIMATE DESIGN WIND SPEED Vult = 139 MPH (NOMINAL DESIGN WIND SPEED, Vasd = 108 MPH)
SERVICEABILITY WIND SPEED V = 95 MPH (MEAN RECURRENCE INTERVAL OF 50 YEARS)
EXPOSURE CATEGORY B
INTERNAL PRESSURE COEFFICIENTS ±0.18
BASE SHEAR (1.0xW)
COMPONENTS AND CLADDING -

ALL EXTERIOR WALL AND ROOF COMPONENTS AND CLADDING ENGINEERED BY THE COMPONENT MANUFACTURER ARE TO BE DESIGNED BY THE 
MANUFACTURER'S ENGINEER FOR COMPONENTS AND CLADDING WIND LOADS AS DETERMINED PER THE GOVERNING BUILDING CODE FOR THE 
ULTIMATE DESIGN WIND SPEED AND EXPOSURE CATEGORY LISTED ABOVE. ALTERNATIVELY, THE COMPONENT MANUFACTURER MAY USE THE 
LARGER OF THE 16 PSF MINIMUM (PER ASCE/SEI 7 30.2.2) AND THE WORST-CASE PRESSURES (PSF) BELOW:

8. SEISMIC LOAD:
DESIGN METHOD - EQUIVALENT LATERAL FORCE PROCEDURE
SS 41.6 %g
S1 14.1 %g
SDS 40.7 %g
SD1 21.8 %g
IMPORTANCE FACTOR Ie = 1.00
SITE CLASS D (ASSUMED)
SEISMIC DESIGN CATEGORY D
SEISMIC FORCE RESISTANT SYSTEM NOT CHANGED

9. FUTURE LOADS:
UNLESS SPECIFICALLY NOTED, THERE ARE NO PROVISIONS MADE FOR FUTURE FLOORS, ROOFS, OR OTHER LOADS.

+26

-47

+26

-64

+26

-64

+35

-38

+35

-47

+17

-35

+17

-49

+17

-49

+32

-35

+32

-39

+16

-29

+16

-41

+16

-41

+29

-32

+29

-36

+16

-29

+16

-35

+16

-35

+26

-29

+26

-29

CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITY

1. THE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS (IF PROVIDED) REPRESENT THE FINISHED STRUCTURE, AND, EXCEPT WHERE SPECIFICALLY SHOWN, 
DO NOT INDICATE THE METHOD OR MEANS OF CONSTRUCTION. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUPERVISE AND DIRECT THE WORK AND SHALL BE SOLELY 
RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS, PROCEDURES, TECHNIQUES, AND SEQUENCE. ALL APPLICABLE SAFETY REGULATIONS TO BE 
FOLLOWED STRICTLY.

2. THE STRUCTURE HAS BEEN DESIGNED TO RESIST DESIGN LOADS ONLY AS A COMPLETED STRUCTURE. APPLICATIONS OF CONSTRUCTION LOADS TO THE 
PARTIALLY COMPLETED STRUCTURE SHALL BE CONSIDERED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND SO INCLUDED IN THE DESIGN OF SHORING, BRACING, 
FORMWORK, AND ANY OTHER SUPPORTING ELEMENTS PROVIDED FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE STRUCTURE. DURING ERECTION AND UNTIL ALL 
PERMANENT CONNECTIONS ARE MADE, THE CONTRACTOR MUST PROVIDE TEMPORARY BRACING FOR THE STRUCTURE IN ALL DIRECTIONS UNTIL THE 
STRUCTURAL WORK IS COMPLETE.

3. ALL INTERIOR HANGING COMPONENTS (CEILING, DUCTWORK, PIPING, EQUIPMENT, ETC.) SHALL BE COORDINATED BY THE CONTRACTOR TO ENSURE
LOADS APPLIED TO THE STRUCTURE DO NOT EXCEED THE LIMITS SHOWN IN THE DESIGN CRITERIA OR ELSEWHERE IN THE DRAWINGS. THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ADEQUACY OF THE CONNECTIONS TO THE SUPPORTING STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS AND THE ADEQUACY OF
THE HANGING SYSTEM TO SUPPORT THE COMPONENTS.

4. ALL ARCHITECTURAL, ELECTRICAL, MECHANICAL, AND PLUMBING COMPONENTS NOT SHOWN ON THE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS, THAT FRAME TO THE 
UNDERSIDE OF STRUCTURE ABOVE, SHALL BE DETAILED AND FRAMED BY THE CONTRACTOR TO ALLOW FOR DEFLECTION OF THE STRUCTURAL FRAMING. 
SEE THE DESIGN CRITERIA FOR THE LIMITS USED IN THE DESIGN.

5. PRINCIPAL OPENINGS IN THE STRUCTURE ARE SHOWN ON THESE DRAWINGS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL EXAMINE THE ARCHITECTURAL, MECHANICAL, 
ELECTRICAL, AND PLUMBING DRAWINGS FOR ALL REQUIRED OPENINGS. SUPPORT FRAMING FOR ALL OPENINGS SHALL BE PROVIDED AND INSTALLED PER 
TYPICAL DETAILS HEREIN WHETHER SHOWN ON THESE DRAWINGS OR NOT. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY SIZE AND LOCATION OF ALL OPENINGS 
WITH ALL SUBCONTRACTORS AND THEIR APPROVED SHOP DRAWINGS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL EXTERIOR WALL AND ROOF COMPONENTS AND CLADDING ENGINEERED BY THE COMPONENT MANUFACTURER ARE TO BE DESIGNED BY THE 
MANUFACTURER'S ENGINEER FOR COMPONENTS AND CLADDING WIND LOADS NOTED IN THE DESIGN CRITERIA.

7. ALL ARCHITECTURAL, ELECTRICAL, MECHANICAL, AND PLUMBING COMPONENTS ARE TO BE ATTACHED AS REQUIRED BY ASCE/SEI 7 CHAPTER 13, 
"SEISMIC DESIGN REQUIREMENTS FOR NONSTRUCTURAL COMPONENTS". EACH INDIVIDUAL CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR THE COMPONENT MUST 
PROVIDE PROJECT SPECIFIC DESIGN AND DOCUMENTATION PREPARED BY AN ENGINEER LICENSED IN THE STATE IN WHICH THE PROJECT IS LOCATED. 
CHAPTER 13 DEFINES THE FORCE REQUIRED TO SUPPORT THE COMPONENT FOR THE ANCHORAGE AND BRACING. THE COST OF PREPARING THIS 
INFORMATION AND DESIGN SHALL BE INCLUDED IN EACH CONTRACTOR’S BID THAT IS PROVIDING THE COMPONENT.

8. SEVERAL ITEMS NOTED HEREIN (WHERE CHECKED) AND IN THE SPECIFICATIONS REQUIRE THE CONTRACTOR TO ENGAGE A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER
LICENSED IN THE STATE IN WHICH THE PROJECT IS LOCATED, TO PROVIDE DESIGN AND/OR DETAILING OF STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS. SEE INDIVIDUAL 
NOTES AND SPECIFICATION SECTIONS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND REQUIREMENTS. DELEGATED DESIGN ELEMENTS INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT 
LIMITED TO:

SPECIALTY FOUNDATION SYSTEM
POST-TENSIONED CONCRETE (LAYOUT AND STRESSING)
STRUCTURAL PRECAST CONCRETE
ARCHITECTURAL PRECAST CONCRETE
STRUCTURAL STEEL (CONNECTIONS)
PREFABRICATED METAL BUILDING
STEEL STAIRS AND RAILINGS
STEEL JOISTS AND STEEL JOIST GIRDERS
ROOF ANCHORS
NON-LOAD BEARING COLD-FORMED STEEL
LOAD BEARING COLD-FORMED STEEL
LIGHT GAUGE COLD-FORMED STEEL TRUSSES
PREFABRICATED WOOD TRUSSES
ANCHOR TIE-DOWN SYSTEM FOR WOOD SHEAR WALLS

9. THIS PROJECT REQUIRES SPECIAL INSPECTIONS AS DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 17 OF THE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE. SEE STATEMENT OF SPECIAL 
INSPECTIONS FOR REQUIRED INSPECTIONS. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH SPECIAL INSPECTOR ALL WORK REQUIRING SPECIAL INSPECTIONS 
AND TESTING.

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S001

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 N

O
T

E
S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

636

Item 4.



REPRODUCTION

1. THE USE OF REPRODUCTIONS OF THESE CONTRACT DRAWINGS BY ANY CONTRACTOR, SUBCONTRACTOR, ERECTOR, FABRICATOR, OR MATERIAL SUPPLIER 
IN LIEU OF PREPARATION OF SHOP DRAWINGS SIGNIFIES HIS ACCEPTANCE OF ALL INFORMATION SHOWN HEREIN AS CORRECT, AND OBLIGATES 
HIMSELF TO ANY JOB EXPENSE, REAL OR IMPLIED, ARISING DUE TO ANY ERRORS THAT MAY OCCUR HERE ON.

ADHESIVE AND MECHANICAL POST-INSTALLED ANCHORS

1. ANCHOR BOLTS, REINFORCING STEEL, THREADED RODS, STAIR HANDRAILS, AND OTHER EMBEDDED STEEL ITEMS SHALL BE SET INTO HARDENED 
CONCRETE WITH ADHESIVE OR MECHANICAL POST-INSTALLED ANCHORS ONLY WHERE DETAILED ON THE DRAWINGS OR WHERE APPROVED BY THE 
ENGINEER OF RECORD.

2. PRE-APPROVED MANUFACTURERS ARE HILTI, SIMPSON STRONG-TIE, AND DEWALT. WHERE DETAILS INDICATE SPECIFIC ADHESIVE OR MECHANICAL 
POST-INSTALLED ANCHORS, IT IS ACCEPTABLE AT THE CONTRACTOR'S OPTION TO SUBMIT AN ALTERNATE SIMILAR PRODUCT PROVIDED BY A DIFFERENT
MANUFACTURER AS LONG AS THE MANUFACTURER'S DATA PROVIDES EQUIVALENT LOAD CAPACITY TO THE ANCHOR SPECIFIED. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL 
PROVIDE SIGNED AND SEALED CALCULATIONS THAT DEMONSTRATE THE ALTERNATE PRODUCT IS CAPABLE OF MEETING THE PERFORMANCE OF THE 
SPECIFIED ANCHOR. SUBSTITUTIONS WILL BE EVALUATED BY THEIR HAVING AN ICC-ESR SHOWING COMPLIANCE WITH THE GOVERNING BUILDING CODE 
FOR SEISMIC USE, LOAD RESISTANCE, INSTALLATION CATEGORY, AND THE AVAILABILITY OF COMPREHENSIVE INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS. ADHESIVE 
ANCHOR EVALUATION WILL ALSO CONSIDER CREEP, IN-SERVICE TEMPERATURE, INSTALLATION TEMPERATURE, MOISTURE CONDITION OF CONCRETE, 
AND DRILLING METHODS.

3. BASIS OF DESIGN FOR ADHESIVE ANCHORS DETAILED ON THE DRAWINGS INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING PARAMETERS: CRACKED CONCRETE; WATER-
SATURATED CONCRETE; BASE MATERIAL BETWEEN 25 AND 100 DEGREES FAHRENHEIT; AND HOLES MADE BY HAMMER DRILL, HOLLOW DRILL BIT 
SYSTEM, OR CORE-DRILLING.

4. INSTALL ANCHORS PER THE MANUFACTURER'S PRINTED INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS, AS INCLUDED IN THE ANCHOR PACKAGING. HEED ALL LABEL
WARNINGS. INSTALL IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE SAFETY LAWS. ALL HOLES SHALL BE DRILLED WITH A DIAMETER NO LARGER THAN 1/8" 
GREATER THAN THE DIAMETER OF THE ANCHOR BEING INSTALLED. ALL HOLES SHALL BE CLEANED WITH COMPRESSED AIR AND SHALL BE DRY PRIOR TO 
INSTALLATION OF ADHESIVE. HOLES SHALL BE FREE OF ALL DELETERIOUS MATERIAL SUCH AS LAITANCE, DUST, DIRT, AND OIL.

5. ANCHOR CAPACITY IS DEPENDENT UPON SPACING BETWEEN ADJACENT ANCHORS AND PROXIMITY OF ANCHORS TO EDGE OF CONCRETE. INSTALL 
ANCHORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SPACING AND EDGE CLEARANCES INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS.

6. WHERE ADHESIVE ANCHORS ARE TO BE INSTALLED IN HOLLOW MATERIAL WITH UNKNOWN CAPACITY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL THE ANCHOR IN 
STRICT ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER’S INSTRUCTIONS. THE ADHESIVE SHALL BE INSTALLED IN THE HOLLOW BASE MATERIAL USING SCREEN 
TUBES SUPPLIED BY THE MANUFACTURER. THE ADHESIVE SHALL BE CAPABLE OF SUSTAINING MINIMUM TENSION AND SHEAR LOAD CAPACITIES NOTED 
ON THE DRAWINGS MULTIPLIED BY A FACTOR OF SAFETY OF 4. ALL HARDWARE AND MATERIAL SHALL BE SUPPLIED BY THE ANCHOR MANUFACTURER.

7. CONTRACTOR PERFORMING ADHESIVE WORK SHALL BE AN APPROVED CONTRACTOR BY THE MANUFACTURER FURNISHING THE ADHESIVE MATERIALS, 
AND SHALL HAVE NO LESS THAN FIVE YEARS EXPERIENCE IN THE VARIOUS TYPES OF ADHESIVE RELATED WORK REQUIRED IN THIS PROJECT. 
ALTERNATIVELY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ARRANGE FOR A REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ANCHOR MANUFACTURER TO PROVIDE ONSITE INSTALLATION 
TRAINING FOR ALL ANCHOR PRODUCTS SPECIFIED. DOCUMENTATION THAT ALL PERSONNEL INSTALLING ANCHORS ARE TRAINED SHALL BE SUBMITTED 
TO THE ENGINEER OF RECORD PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF ANCHOR INSTALLATION.

8. THE ULTIMATE TENSION AND SHEAR CAPACITIES SHALL BE DETERMINED BY A JOB SITE TEST PERFORMED ON A MINIMUM OF FIVE INSTALLED SAMPLES 
WHICH ARE REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ACTUAL INSTALLATIONS. TESTING SHALL BE PERFORMED BY THE ADHESIVE ANCHOR MANUFACTURER OR HIS 
APPROVED REPRESENTATIVE AND SHALL BE DOCUMENTED FOR THE DESIGN PROFESSIONAL.

DEMOLITION

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY ALL LOCAL AGENCIES HAVING JURISDICTION, AND SHALL OBTAIN ALL NECESSARY PERMITS REQUIRED FOR THE 
DEMOLITION AND REMOVAL OF THE DEBRIS RESULTING FROM THE DEMOLITION.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL RETAIN, AT THEIR EXPENSE, A REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER LICENSED IN THE STATE IN WHICH THE PROJECT IS 
LOCATED, TO DETERMINE ALL CONSTRUCTION PHASE SHORING REQUIREMENTS. CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT TO THE OWNER AND THE ENGINEER OF 
RECORD, SIGNED AND SEALED DRAWINGS, OUTLINING OPERATIONAL SEQUENCES, SHORING CONCEPTUAL PLANS, METHODS USED FOR THE 
PROTECTION OF STRUCTURES TO REMAIN AND NEIGHBORING STRUCTURES.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PROTECTION AND STABILITY OF EXISTING AND NEW STRUCTURES DURING CONSTRUCTION.
4. BEFORE UNDERTAKING ANY DEMOLITION WORK OR ORDERING MATERIAL, ASCERTAIN BY SURVEY THE EXISTING CONDITIONS OF THE PROPERTIES AND 

BUILDINGS ADJOINING OR IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO THE PREMISES. THE ARCHITECT SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY DISCREPANCY.
5. PROVIDE AND MAINTAIN BRACING AND SHORING AS NEEDED. KEEP SUPPORTING STRUCTURE IN PLACE DURING NEW CONSTRUCTION AND UNTIL NEW 

STRUCTURE IS COMPLETED.
6. STORE AND PROTECT ALL MATERIAL TO BE REMOVED AND REUSED.
7. IF SAFETY OR INTEGRITY OF STRUCTURAL SYSTEM APPEARS TO BE COMPROMISED, CEASE OPERATIONS IMMEDIATELY AND NOTIFY THE OWNER AND THE 

ENGINEER. PROPERLY BRACE AND SUPPORT STRUCTURE BEFORE RESUMING OPERATIONS.
8. ANY DAMAGE OCCURRING TO THE EXISTING STRUCTURE, ADJACENT STRUCTURES, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, UTILITY LINES OR ANY OTHER PUBLIC OR

PRIVATE PROPERTIES, SHALL BE REINSTALLED TO THE ORIGINAL CONDITION BY THE CONTRACTOR AT NO COST TO THE OWNER OR THE ENGINEER.
9. ALL OPENINGS IN EXISTING CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE SAW CUT OR DRILLED.
10. ALL EXISTING INFORMATION SHOWN IS REFERENCED FROM EXISTING DRAWINGS PREPARED BY:

JEFF LEWIS, AIA, DATED 3/31/2023.

EXISTING CONSTRUCTION

1. EXISTING FRAMING INFORMATION SHOWN ON THE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS HAS BEEN PREPARED BASED ON SITE VISITS AND/OR EXISTING DRAWINGS. 
IN LOCATIONS WHERE NEW FRAMING IS CONNECTING TO EXISTING FRAMING, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THE EXISTING CONDITION PRIOR TO
SHOP DRAWING CREATION, MATERIAL FABRICATION, OR WORK BEING PERFORMED. SELECTIVE DEMOLITION SHALL BE INCLUDED IF REQUIRED TO 
VERIFY EXISTING CONDITIONS.

2. DETAILS NOTED ON THE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS ARE DERIVED FROM THE INFORMATION NOTED HEREIN. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE 
CONTRACTOR TO FIELD MEASURE EXISTING MEMBERS AT POINT OF CONNECTION, ELEVATIONS, AND LOCATIONS TO ENSURE EXISTING CONSTRUCTION 
MATCHES DETAILS PROVIDED IN THE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS.

3. ANY DIMENSIONS SHOWN FROM NEW FRAMING TO EXISTING FRAMING ARE APPROXIMATED AND MUST BE FIELD VERIFIED. ALL DIMENSIONS THAT 
RELATE TO MEMBER DIMENSIONS SHALL BE FIELD VERIFIED PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION.

4. STEEL CONNECTION DESIGN OF NEW FRAMING, UNLESS SPECIFICALLY SHOWN, IS ASSUMED TO BE SIMPLE SHEAR CONNECTIONS AND TO BE WELDED
TO THE EXISTING STEEL. DESIGN AND DETAILING OF THE STEEL CONNECTIONS ARE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE FABRICATOR, AND ARE COVERED 
FURTHER IN THE STRUCTURAL STEEL SECTION OF THESE GENERAL NOTES. EXISTING MEMBERS SUPPORTING NEW FRAMING HAVE BEEN REVIEWED BY
THE ENGINEER OF RECORD AND ARE CAPABLE (WITH ADDED REINFORCING WHERE DETAILED) OF SUPPORTING THE NEW FRAMING.

ABBREVIATIONS

@
&
Ø
AB
ACI
ADDL
ADH
AFF
AISC
AISI
ALT
ARCH
ASTM
AWS
B/ or BOT
BCX
BFB
BFF
BLDG
BM
BOS
BRG
BTWN
CANT
CJ
CL
CLR
CMU
COL
CONC
CONN
CONST JT
CONT
CONTR
COORD
CTRD
d
DBA
DEFL
DEPR
DET
DIAG
DIM
DIST
DWG(S)
DWL(S)
EA
EE
EF
EJ
ELEV
EMBED
ENGR
EOD
EOS
EQ
EQUIP
EW
EXIST
EXP
EXT
FDN
FFE
FOM
FOW
FS
FTG
GA
GALV
GT

AT
AND
DIAMETER
ANCHOR BOLTS
AMERICAN CONCRETE INSTITUTE
ADDITIONAL
ADHESIVE
ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF STEEL CONSTRUCTION
AMERICAN IRON AND STEEL INSTITUTE
ALTERNATE
ARCHITECT'S / ARCHITECTURAL
AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS
AMERICAN WELDING SOCIETY
BOTTOM
BOTTOM CHORD EXTENSION
BOTTOM FLANGE BRACE
BELOW FINISHED FLOOR
BUILDING
BEAM
BOTTOM OF STEEL
BEARING
BETWEEN
CANTILEVER
CONTROL JOINT
CENTERLINE
CLEAR
CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT
COLUMN
CONCRETE
CONNECTION
CONSTRUCTION JOINT
CONTINUOUS
CONTRACTOR
COORDINATE
CENTERED
NAILS (PENNY)
DEFORMED BAR ANCHOR
DEFLECTION
DEPRESSION / DEPRESSED
DETAIL
DIAGONAL
DIMENSION
DISTANCE
DRAWING(S)
DOWEL(S)
EACH
EACH END
EACH FACE 
EXPANSION JOINT 
ELEVATION
EMBEDDED / EMBEDMENT
ENGINEER
EDGE OF DECK
EDGE OF SLAB
EQUAL
EQUIPMENT
EACH WAY
EXISTING
EXPANSION
EXTERIOR
FOUNDATION
FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION
FACE OF MASONRY
FACE OF WALL
FAR SIDE
FOOTING
GAUGE
GALVANIZED
GIRDER TRUSS

HD
HI
HORIZ
HSS
INT
JT
K
KB
KSI
LB
LBS
LLH
LLV
LO
LOC
LSH
LSV
LWC
MAX
MC
MCJ
MECH
MFR
MID
MIN
MISC
MOW
MP
No or #
NS
NTS
NWC
OC
OPNG
OPP
PAF
PED
PL
PSF
PSI
PT
P-T
REF
REINF
REQD
SB
SCHD
SIM
SOG
SPEC(S)
SQ
STD
STIFF
STIRR
STL
STR
T/
TCX
TOC
TOF
TOS
TOW
TYP
UNO
VERT
VIF
W/
WWF
WP

HEADED
HIGH
HORIZONTAL
HOLLOW STRUCTURAL SECTION
INTERIOR
JOINT
KIP(S)
KNEE BRACE
KIPS PER SQUARE INCH
LONG BAR
POUNDS
LONG LEG HORIZONTAL
LONG LEG VERTICAL
LOW
LOCATION
LONG SIDE HORIZONTAL
LONG SIDE VERTICAL
LIGHT WEIGHT CONCRETE
MAXIMUM
MOMENT CONNECTION
MASONRY CONTROL JOINT
MECHANICAL
MANUFACTURER
MIDDLE
MINIMUM
MISCELLANEOUS
MIDDLE OF WALL
MASONRY PILASTER
NUMBER
NEAR SIDE
NOT TO SCALE
NORMAL WEIGHT CONCRETE
ON CENTER
OPENING
OPPOSITE HAND
POWDER ACTUATED FASTENER
PEDESTAL
PLATE
POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT
POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH
PRESSURE TREATED
POST-TENSIONED
REFERENCE
REINFORCING
REQUIRED
SHORT BAR
SCHEDULE
SIMILAR
SLAB ON GRADE
SPECIFICATION(S)
SQUARE
STANDARD
STIFFENER
STIRRUP(S)
STEEL
STRUCTURAL
TOP
TOP CHORD EXTENSION
TOP CHORD CONCRETE
TOP OF FOOTING
TOP OF STEEL
TOP OF WALL
TYPICAL
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE
VERTICAL
VERIFY IN FIELD
WITH
WELDED WIRE FABRIC
WORK POINT

SYMBOL LEGEND

SYMBOL MEANING

<No> TOP OF FOOTING, GRADE BEAM, PILE CAP, OR DRILLED PIER. ELEVATION RELATIVE TO REFERENCE ELEVATION.

STEP IN TOP OF FOOTING ELEVATION, SEE "TYPICAL STEP IN WALL FOOTING" DETAIL. ELEVATION RELATIVE TO REFERENCE ELEVATION.

No DEPRESSED OR RAISED SLAB ELEVATION, SEE "TYPICAL STEP IN SLAB ON GRADE" DETAIL. ELEVATION RELATIVE TO REFERENCE ELEVATION.

SLOPED | STEPPED SLAB.

[No] TOP OF WALL OR PEDESTAL. ELEVATION RELATIVE TO REFERENCE ELEVATION.

SPOT ELEVATION. ELEVATION RELATIVE TO REFERENCE ELEVATION.

(No) | [+No] TOP OF STEEL/JOIST BEARING ELEVATION | TOP OF STEEL ABOVE STEEL/JOIST BEARING ELEVATION.

<No> <No>

W10 COMPOSITE W10x15 STEEL BEAM WITH HEADED STUDS @24"OC.

V#, M#, 
L#, A#, T#

STEEL BEAM DESIGN END REACTIONS (WHERE APPLICABLE). "V" INDICATES VERTICAL SHEAR, "M" INDICATES BENDING MOMENT, "H" 
INDICATES LATERAL SHEAR, "A" INDICATES AXIAL TENSION/COMPRESSION, AND "T" INDICATES TORSION. ALL LOADS ARE FACTORED FOR 
STRENGTH DESIGN IN UNITS OF KIP AND KIP-FT. ALL LOADS SHALL BE CONSIDERED REVERSIBLE, UNO.

C# WOOD COLUMN TYPE, SEE SCHEDULE. ALL COLUMNS ARE TO BE EXTENDED TO THE FOUNDATION WHETHER SHOWN ON PLAN OR NOT.

H# WOOD HEADER TYPE, SEE SCHEDULE.

SSW# METAL STUD SHEAR WALL TYPE, SEE SCHEDULE.

WSW# WOOD SHEAR WALL TYPE, SEE SCHEDULE.

SPAN DIRECTION OF METAL ROOF DECK, SEE "TYPICAL 1 1/2" METAL ROOF DECK" DETAIL. CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE 1 1/2"-22GA METAL 
ROOF DECK.

D1

LUMBER

1. ALL LUMBER AND ITS FASTENINGS SHALL CONFORM TO THE REFERENCED EDITION OF THE NATIONAL DESIGN SPECIFICATION FOR WOOD 
CONSTRUCTION BY THE AMERICAN FOREST AND PAPER ASSOCIATION.

2. ALL LUMBER SHALL BE OF THE FOLLOWING PROPERTIES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED (OR EQUIVALENT GRADE OF ANOTHER SPECIES):
ALL STRUCTURAL LUMBER, SOUTHERN YELLOW PINE NO.2 -

2x4 Fb = 1,100 PSI Fc = 1,450 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x6 Fb = 1,000 PSI Fc = 1,400 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x8 Fb = 925 PSI Fc = 1,350 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x10 Fb = 800 PSI Fc = 1,300PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x12 Fb = 750 PSI Fc = 1,250 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

Fv = 175 PSI FOR ALL SIZES NOTED ABOVE
E = 1,400 KSI FOR ALL SIZES NOTED ABOVE

ALL PRESSURE-TREATED LUMBER, SOUTHERN YELLOW PINE NO. 2 -

2x4,4x4 Fb = 1,100 PSI Fc = 1,450 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x6 Fb = 1,000 PSI Fc = 1,400 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x8 Fb = 925 PSI Fc = 1,350 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x10 Fb = 800 PSI Fc = 1,300 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

2x12 Fb = 750 PSI Fc = 1,250 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN)

Fv = 175 PSI FOR ALL SIZES NOTED ABOVE
E = 1,400 KSI FOR ALL SIZES NOTED ABOVE

6x6 Fb = 850 PSI Fc = 525 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN) Fv = 165 PSI E = 1,200 KSI

3. LVL BEAMS SHALL BE SOLID RECTANGULAR SECTIONS CONSTRUCTED OF HIGH STRENGTH LAMINATED VENEER CONFORMING TO ASTM D5456. LVL 
BEAMS USED OUTSIDE THE BUILDING ENVELOPE SHALL BE PWT TREATED LVL AS SUPPLIED BY PACIFIC WOODTECH CORPORATION. MINIMUM DESIGN
PROPERTIES:

Fb = 2,600 PSI (12" DEPTH) Ft = 1,895 PSI Fc = 750 PSI (⊥ TO GRAIN); 2,510 PSI (‖ TO GRAIN) Fv = 285 PSI E = 2,000 KSI

4. ALL WOOD BEARING ON CONCRETE, MASONRY, OR EXPOSED TO WEATHER SHALL BE PRESSURE-TREATED SOUTHERN PINE. ALL ENGINEERED LUMBER 
BEARING ON CONCRETE, MASONRY, OR EXPOSED TO WEATHER SHALL BE CHEMICALLY TREATED OR WOLMANIZED TO MEET AWPA USE CATEGORY 3/4.

5. ALL EXTERIOR WALL SILL PLATES SHALL BE ANCHORED TO CONCRETE OR MASONRY WITH A MINIMUM 1/2"Ø ANCHOR BOLT (6" MIN EMBED) @48"OC, 
UNO IN THE DRAWINGS. ALL INTERIOR WALL SILL PLATES SHALL BE ANCHORED TO SLAB WITH 0.145"Ø x2 7/8" HILTI X-CP FASTENERS (OR APPROVED 
EQUAL) @24"OC, UNO IN THE DRAWINGS. ALL SILL PLATES SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM OF TWO ANCHORS, AND ANCHORS EACH END AT LEAST 4" BUT NO 
MORE THAN 12" FROM THE END.

6. STRUCTURAL MEMBERS SHALL NOT BE CUT FOR PIPES, DUCTWORK, ETC., UNLESS SPECIFICALLY NOTED OR DETAILED.
7. HOLES FOR BOLTS SHALL BE BORED 1/32" TO 1/16" LARGER THAN THE NOMINAL BOLT DIAMETER.
8. ALL BOLTS SHALL BE RE-TIGHTENED PRIOR TO APPLICATION TO GYPSUM WALLBOARD, PLYWOOD, ETC.
9. ALL BOLTS BEARING ON WOOD SHALL HAVE WASHERS UNDER HEAD AND/OR NUT.
10. 2x SOLID BLOCKING SHALL BE PLACED BETWEEN JOISTS OR RAFTERS AT ALL SUPPORTS, ENDS OF CANTILEVERS, AND HALFWAY BETWEEN SUPPORTS. 

CROSS BRIDGING OR SOLID BLOCKING SHALL BE PROVIDED AT 8'-0"OC MAXIMUM. FOR ALL JOISTS AND RAFTERS MORE THAN 8" IN DEPTH, 2x3 OR 
APPROVED METAL TYPE BRIDGING MAY BE USED.

11. ALL NAILS SHALL BE COMMON UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.
12. STANDARD WOOD CONNECTORS MUST BE PROVIDED BY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR FOR WOOD FRAMED MEMBERS. INTERIOR FRAMING CONNECTORS 

MUST BE G90 GALVANIZED ZINC CONNECTORS. EXTERIOR FRAMING CONNECTORS MUST BE G185 GALVANIZED ZINC COATING, MINIMUM.
13. ADHESIVES SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS FOR WET CONDITIONS OF SERVICE. EXPOSED BEAMS SHALL BE ARCHITECTURAL GRADE. ALL OTHERS 

SHALL BE INDUSTRIAL GRADE. MEMBERS SHALL BE INDIVIDUALLY WRAPPED.

NON-LOAD BEARING COLD-FORMED STEEL (METAL STUDS)

1. ALL STRUCTURAL MEMBERS SHALL BE MANUFACTURED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REFERENCED EDITION OF THE NORTH AMERICAN SPECIFICATION FOR 
THE DESIGN OF COLD-FORMED STEEL STRUCTURAL MEMBERS BY THE AMERICAN IRON AND STEEL INSTITUTE.

2. ALL COLD-FORMED LIGHT GAUGE METAL FRAMING AND CONNECTIONS SHALL BE DESIGNED BY THE SUPPLIER'S ENGINEER. AT ARCHITECT'S OR 
ENGINEER'S REQUEST CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT CALCULATIONS FOR ALL COLD-FORMED METAL FRAMING USED TO SUPPORT CEILINGS AND EXTERIOR 
CLADDING.

3. ALL MEMBERS SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM YIELD STRENGTH OF 33 KSI AND BE FORMED FROM STEEL HAVING A G-60 GALVANIZED COATING MEETING THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM A653 AND C955.

4. ALL THE COLD-FORMED STEEL STRUCTURAL MEMBERS SHALL COME FROM A SINGLE SOURCE MANUFACTURER. ONLY MANUFACTURERS WHO ARE 
MEMBERS OF THE STEEL STUD MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION (SSMA) OR THE STEEL FRAMING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION (SFIA) WILL BE ACCEPTED. THE 
INSTALLATION SHALL COMPLY WITH THE MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.

5. SUBMIT SHOP DRAWINGS FOR ALL COLD-FORMED METAL FRAMING USED TO SUPPORT CEILINGS AND EXTERIOR CLADDING. SHOP DRAWINGS SHALL 
INDICATE PLACING OF ALL FRAMING MEMBERS SHOWING TYPE, SIZE, GAUGE, NUMBER, LOCATION AND SPACING. THEY SHALL ALSO INDICATE 
SUPPLEMENTAL STRAPPING, BRACING, SPLICES, BRIDGING, ACCESSORIES AND DETAILS REQUIRED FOR PROPER INSTALLATION.

6. SHOP DRAWINGS SHALL SHOW SIZE AND LENGTH OF WELDS FOR ALL WELDED CONNECTIONS AND TYPE, SIZE AND NUMBER OF SCREWS FOR ALL 
SCREWED CONNECTIONS. SUBMIT MANUFACTURER'S DATA GIVING STRENGTH VALUES FOR SCREWS USED.

7. SHOP DRAWINGS SUBMITTED MUST BE PREPARED UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF AND SEALED BY A REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER LICENSED IN 
THE STATE IN WHICH THE PROJECT IS LOCATED.

8. ALL STRUCTURAL FRAMING ACCESSORIES SHALL BE FORMED FROM STRUCTURAL QUALITY STEEL WITH A MINIMUM YIELD STRENGTH OF 50 KSI AND 
HAVE MINIMUM PROTECTIVE COATING EQUAL TO ASTM A653 G-60 GALVANIZED COATING.

9. VERTICAL DEFLECTION CLIPS ARE REQUIRED TO BE CAPABLE OF ACCOMMODATING UPWARD AND DOWNWARD VERTICAL DISPLACEMENT OF THE 
STRUCTURE THROUGH POSITIVE MECHANICAL ATTACHMENT TO STUD WEB. MECHANICAL ATTACHMENT TO STRUCTURE AND SCREW ATTACHMENT TO 
STUD WEB USING STEP-BUSHINGS TO PERMIT FRICTIONLESS VERTICAL MOVEMENT. CONNECTORS MUST BE TESTED IN ACCORDANCE TO ICC AC261 
CRITERIA AND HOLD A VALID ICC-ES EVALUATION SERVICE REPORT TO BE ACCEPTABLE.

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S002

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 N

O
T

E
S

, 
A

B
B

R
E

V
IA

IT
O

N
S

 A
N

D
 S

Y
M

B
O

L
 L

E
G

E
N

D

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

637

Item 4.



INSPECTION TASK
1. INSPECT REINFORCEMENT, INCLUDING POST-TENSIONING TENDONS (IF 

APPLICABLE), AND VERIFY PLACEMENT.
2. REINFORCING BAR WELDING:

A. VERIFY WELDABILITY OF REINFORCING BARS OTHER THAN ASTM A706 AND 
COLLECT REPORTS.

B. INSPECT SINGLE-PASS FILLET WELDS ≤ 5/16".
C. INSPECT ALL WELDS OTHER THAN SINGLE-PASS FILLET WELDS ≤ 5/16".

3. CONCRETE ANCHORS:
A. INSPECT ANCHORS CAST IN CONCRETE.
B. INSPECT ADHESIVE ANCHORS INSTALLED IN HARDENED CONCRETE WITH 

HORIZONTALLY OR UPWARDLY INCLINED ORIENTATIONS THAT RESIST 
SUSTAINED TENSION LOADS. PERIODIC INSPECTION REQUIRED FOR ALL OTHER 
CONDITIONS.

C. INSPECT MECHANICAL ANCHORS INSTALLED IN HARDENED CONCRETE.
4. COLLECT MIX DESIGNS AND VERIFY THE CORRECT MIX USED DURING INSTALLATION.

5. PRIOR TO CONCRETE PLACEMENT, FABRICATE SPECIMENS FOR STRENGTH TESTS, 
PERFORM SLUMP AND AIR CONTENT TESTS, AND DETERMINE THE TEMPERATURE OF 
THE CONCRETE.

6. INSPECT CONCRETE AND SHOTCRETE (IF APPLICABLE) PLACEMENT FOR PROPER 
APPLICATION TECHNIQUES.

7. COLLECT REPORTS OF PRECONSTRUCTION TESTS FOR SHOTCRETE WHEN 
PRECONSTRUCTION TESTS ARE REQUIRED BY IBC 1908.4.

8. VERIFY MAINTENANCE OF SPECIFIED CURING TEMPERATURE AND TECHNIQUES.
9. INSPECTIONS FOR POST-TENSIONED CONCRETE:

A. OBSERVE APPLICATION OF POST-TENSIONING FORCE.
B. INSPECT GROUTING OF BONDED POST-TENSIONING TENDONS.

10. VERIFY CONCRETE STRENGTH PRIOR TO STRESSING OF POST-TENSIONING TENDONS 
AND PRIOR TO REMOVAL OF SHORES AND FORMS FROM POST-TENSIONED/MILD 
BEAMS AND STRUCTURAL SLABS.

11. INSPECT ERECTION OF PRECAST MEMBERS.
12. INSPECT FORMWORK FOR SHAPE, LOCATION, AND DIMENSIONS OF THE CONCRETE 

MEMBER BEING FORMED.
13. COLLECT MILL TEST REPORTS FOR ASTM A615 REBAR USED IN SPECIAL REINFORCED 

CONCRETE MOMENT FRAMES AND SPECIAL REINFORCED CONCRETE SHEAR WALLS.

IT-3: CONCRETE CONSTRUCTION

FREQ
P

P

P
C

P
C

P
P

C

C

C

P

C
C
P

P
P

C

REFERENCE
IBC 1908.4 | ACI 318 20, 25.2, 25.3, 
26.6.1-26.6.3

IBC 1704.5 | ACI 318 26.6.4

ACI 318 26.6.4
ACI 318 26.6.4

ACI 318 17.8.2
ACI 318 17.8.2, 17.8.2.4

ACI 318 17.8.2
IBC 1904.1, 1904.2, 1908.2, 1908.3
ACI 318 19, 26.4.3, 26.4.4
IBC 1908.10 | ACI 318 26.4, 26.12
ASTM C31, C172

IBC 1908.6-1908.8 | ACI 318 26.5

IBC 1704.5, 1908.5

IBC 1908.9 | ACI 318 26.5.3-26.5.5

ACI 318 26.10
ACI 318 26.10
ACI 318 26.11.2

ACI 318 26.9
ACI 318 26.11.1.2(b)

IBC 1704.5 | ACI 318 20.2.2.5

STATEMENT OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS

THIS STATEMENT OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS IS SUBMITTED AS A CONDITION FOR PERMIT ISSUANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPECIAL INSPECTION 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE. IT INCLUDES A SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL INSPECTION SERVICES APPLICABLE TO THIS PROJECT, THE 
NAME OF THE SPECIAL INSPECTOR, THE IDENTITY OF OTHER APPROVED AGENCIES RETAINED FOR CONDUCTING SPECIAL INSPECTIONS, AND THE REQUIRED 
INSPECTOR QUALIFICATIONS. THIS STATEMENT OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS WAS PREPARED BY THE DESIGNERS OF RECORD.

THE SPECIAL INSPECTOR SHALL KEEP RECORDS OF ALL SPECIAL INSPECTIONS AND TESTS AND SHALL FURNISH REPORTS TO THE CONTRACTOR, OWNER, AND 
THE DESIGNERS OF RECORD. REPORTS SHALL INDICATE IF THE WORK INSPECTED OR TESTED WAS OR WAS NOT COMPLETED IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE
APPROVED CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS. DISCOVERED DISCREPANCIES SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE IMMEDIATE ATTENTION OF THE CONTRACTOR FOR 
CORRECTION. IF SUCH DISCREPANCIES ARE NOT CORRECTED, THE DISCREPANCIES SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE OWNER AND THE 
DESIGNERS OF RECORD. THE SPECIAL INSPECTIONS PROGRAM DOES NOT RELIEVE THE CONTRACTOR OF HIS OR HER RESPONSIBILITIES. JOB SITE SAFETY 
AND MEANS AND METHODS OF CONSTRUCTION ARE SOLELY THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR.

MONTHLY INTERIM REPORTS SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE CONTRACTOR, OWNER, AND THE DESIGNERS OF RECORD. A FINAL REPORT OF SPECIAL 
INSPECTIONS DOCUMENTING COMPLETION OF ALL REQUIRED SPECIAL INSPECTIONS, TESTING, AND CORRECTION OF ANY DISCREPANCIES SHOULD BE 
SUBMITTED PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE OF USE AND OCCUPANCY.

PROJECT INFORMATION
CODE ENFORCEMENT PROJECT #:
PERMIT #:
PROJECT NAME:
PROJECT ADDRESS:
OWNER:
OWNER ADDRESS:
SPECIAL INSPECTOR OF RECORD:
SPECIAL INSPECTOR ADDRESS:

DESIGN TEAM
STRUCTURAL (RDPIRC) FIRM: STEWART ENGINEER OF RECORD:
ARCHITECTURAL FIRM: ARCHITECT OF RECORD:

---
---
MODIFICATIONS TO BLUFFTON REC. CENTER
61B ULMER ROAD | BLUFFTON SC 29910
NAME
STREET ADDRESS | CITY, STATE ZIP
TBD
STREET ADDRESS | CITY, STATE ZIP

JAMES V. WILLIAMS, PE
JEFF LEWIS, AIAJEFF LEWIS, AIA

SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS

THE INSPECTION AND TESTING AGENTS SHALL BE ENGAGED BY THE OWNER OR THE REGISTERED DESIGN PROFESSIONAL IN RESPONSIBLE CHARGE ACTING 
AS THE OWNER'S AGENT, AND NOT BY THE CONTRACTOR OR SUBCONTRACTOR WHOSE WORK IS TO BE INSPECTED OR TESTED. ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
MUST BE DISCLOSED TO THE OWNER, PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK.

PRIOR TO STARTING WORK THE OWNER SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH THE NAME AND RESUME FOR THE DESIGNATED SPECIAL INSPECTOR FOR THE PROJECT. 
THE DESIGNATED SPECIAL INSPECTOR SHALL BE A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER OR REGISTERED ARCHITECT LICENSED IN THE STATE IN WHICH THE PROJECT IS 
LOCATED AND BE APPROVED BY THE OWNER. INDIVIDUALS PROVIDING INSPECTIONS SHALL MEET THE FOLLOWING MINIMUM CRITERIA OF CERTIFICATION 
AND/OR DOCUMENTED EXPERIENCE. WORK EXPERIENCE MUST BE RELATED TO THE FIELD FOR WHICH THE INSPECTOR IS BEING UTILIZED. WORK EXPERIENCE 
MAY BE GAINED BY WORKING FOR AN INSPECTION/TESTING AGENCY, AN ENGINEERING FIRM, OR A CONTRACTOR AS A TECHNICIAN, INSPECTOR OR 
ENGINEER.

THE DESIGNATED SPECIAL INSPECTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COLLECTING AND APPROVING DOCUMENTATION OF QUALIFICATIONS FOR ALL 
INSPECTORS. COPIES OF DOCUMENTATION OF QUALIFICATIONS, INCLUDING THE QUALIFICATIONS OF THE INDEPENDENT TESTING LABORATORY IF THEY ARE 
PROVIDING SPECIAL INSPECTION SERVICES, SHALL BE MAINTAINED BY THE SPECIAL INSPECTOR AND BE MADE AVAILABLE FOR OWNER REVIEW AS 
REQUESTED.

THE FOLLOWING TABLES COMPRISE THE REQUIRED SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS FOR THIS PROJECT. THE INSPECTION FREQUENCY INDICATED ON 
THE TABLES ARE "C" CONTINUOUS, "P" PERIODIC, AND "O" RANDOMIZED ON A DAILY BASIS. THE CONSTRUCTION DIVISIONS WHICH REQUIRE SPECIAL 
INSPECTIONS FOR THIS PROJECT ARE AS FOLLOWS:

PRIMARY INSPECTOR/SUPERVISOR
AS IDENTIFIED BY THE RDPIRC
ICC STRUCTURAL STEEL AND BOLTING INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE 
(PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE)
ICC STRUCTURAL WELDING SPECIAL INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE 
(PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE), OR AWS D1.1 
CERTIFIED WELDING INSPECTOR, OR NDT LEVEL III CERTIFICATE
ICC STRUCTURAL STEEL AND BOLTING INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE 
(PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE), OR ICC STRUCTURAL 
WELDING SPECIAL INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE YEAR OF 
RELATED EXPERIENCE), OR ICC COMMERCIAL BUILDING 
INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED 
EXPERIENCE)
ICC STRUCTURAL STEEL AND BOLTING INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE 
(PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE)
ICC STRUCTURAL STEEL AND BOLTING INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE 
(PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE), OR ICC STRUCTURAL 
WELDING SPECIAL INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE YEAR OF 
RELATED EXPERIENCE), OR ICC COMMERCIAL BUILDING 
INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED 
EXPERIENCE)
ICC REINFORCED CONCRETE SPECIAL INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE 
AND ACI CONCRETE FIELD TESTING TECHNICIAN CERTIFICATE, 
GRADE 1, OR ACI CONCRETE CONSTRUCTION SPECIAL 
INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE, OR NICET CONCRETE TECHNICIAN 
LEVEL III CERTIFICATE IN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS TESTING
ICC STRUCTURAL MASONRY SPECIAL INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE 
(PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE)
ICC COMMERCIAL BUILDING INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE 
YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE)
NICET SOILS TECHNICIAN LEVEL II CERTIFICATE IN 
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS TESTING, OR NICET GEOTECHNICAL 
ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN LEVEL II CONSTRUCTION OR 
GENERALIST CERTIFICATE, OR ICC SOILS SPECIAL INSPECTOR 
CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE), OR 
ENGINEER-IN-TRAINING (EIT) WITH ONE YEAR OF RELATED 
EXPERIENCE, OR GEOLOGIST-IN-TRAINING (GIT) WITH ONE YEAR 
OF RELATED EXPERIENCE
NICET SOILS TECHNICIAN LEVEL II CERTIFICATE IN 
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS TESTING, OR NICET GEOTECHNICAL 
ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN LEVEL II CONSTRUCTION OR 
GENERALIST CERTIFICATE, OR ENGINEER-IN-TRAINING (EIT) 
WITH ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE, OR GEOLOGIST-IN-
TRAINING (GIT) WITH ONE YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE
SEE IT-7
SEE IT-7
SEE IT-7
AS NOTED HEREIN FOR EACH COMPONENT TYPE
AS NOTED HEREIN FOR EACH COMPONENT TYPE
AS NOTED HEREIN FOR EACH COMPONENT TYPE
AS NOTED HEREIN FOR EACH COMPONENT TYPE

AS NOTED HEREIN FOR EACH COMPONENT TYPE
AS NOTED HEREIN FOR EACH COMPONENT TYPE

AS NOTED HEREIN FOR EACH COMPONENT TYPE

ICC SPRAY-APPLIED FIREPROOFING SPECIAL INSPECTOR 
CERTIFICATE, OR ICC FIRE INSPECTOR I CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE 
YEAR OF RELATED EXPERIENCE)
SEE IT-14
AWCI EIFS INSPECTOR CERTIFICATE
ICC FIRE INSPECTOR I CERTIFICATE (PLUS ONE YEAR OF 
RELATED EXPERIENCE)
REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER (MECHANICAL OR FIRE 
PROTECTION) AND CERTIFICATION AS AIR BALANCER, OR AABC 
TECHNICIAN CERTIFICATION (PLUS ONE YEAR OF RELATED 
EXPERIENCE)

DIVISION
SPECIAL CASES AND SPECIFIC ELEMENTS ALWAYS REQUIRED
STRUCTURAL STEEL AND HIGH-STRENGTH BOLTING

WELDING OF STRUCTURAL STEEL

COLD-FORMED STEEL DECKING

OPEN-WEB STEEL JOISTS AND JOIST GIRDERS

COLD-FORMED STEEL FRAMING

CONCRETE CONSTRUCTION

MASONRY CONSTRUCTION

WOOD CONSTRUCTION

SOILS

DRIVEN DEEP FOUNDATIONS

CAST-IN-PLACE DEEP FOUNDATIONS
HELICAL PILE FOUNDATIONS
RAMMED AGGREGATE PIERS AND STONE COLUMNS
FABRICATED ITEMS
WIND RESISTANCE
SEISMIC RESISTANCE
SEISMIC RESISTANCE, STRUCTURAL STEEL AND HIGH-STRENGTH 
BOLTING
SEISMIC RESISTANCE, WELDING OF STRUCTURAL STEEL
SEISMIC RESISTANCE, NON-DESTRUCTIVE TESTING OF WELDED 
JOINTS
SEISMIC RESISTANCE, STEEL DRIVEN DEEP FOUNDATIONS
(H-PILES)
SPRAYED FIRE-RESISTANT MATERIALS

MASTIC AND INTUMESCENT FIRE-RESISTANT COATINGS
EXTERIOR INSULATION AND FINISH SYSTEMS (EIFS)
FIRE-RESISTANT PENETRATIONS AND JOINTS

SMOKE CONTROL

ITEM
IT-1
IT-2A

IT-2B

IT-2C

IT-2D

IT-2E

IT-3

IT-4

IT-5

IT-6

IT-7

IT-8
IT-9A
IT-9B
IT-10
IT-11
IT-12
IT-13A

IT-13B
IT-13C

IT-13D

IT-14

IT-15
IT-16
IT-17

IT-18

REQD

IT-2C: COLD-FORMED STEEL DECKING

INSPECTION TASK
1. PRIOR TO DECK PLACEMENT, VERIFY DECK AND ACCESSORIES (INCLUDING PROFILES, MATERIAL 

PROPERTIES, AND BASE MATERIAL THICKNESS) COMPLY WITH THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
DOCUMENT ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF DECK AND DECK ACCESSORIES.

2. INSPECTION TASKS AFTER DECK PLACEMENT:
A. VERIFY THE INSTALLATION OF DECK AND ACCESSORIES COMPLIES WITH THE CONTRACT 

DOCUMENTS.
B. VERIFY THAT DECK MATERIAL MILL CERTIFICATIONS COMPLY WITH THE CONTRACT 

DOCUMENTS.
C. DOCUMENT ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF DECK AND DECK ACCESSORIES.

3. INSPECTION TASKS PRIOR TO DECK WELDING:
A. COLLECT WELDING PROCEDURE SPECIFICATION (WPS).
B. COLLECT MANUFACTURER CERTIFICATIONS FOR WELDING CONSUMABLES.
C. VERIFY MATERIAL TYPE AND GRADE.
D. CHECK WELDING EQUIPMENT.

4. INSPECTION TASKS DURING DECK WELDING:
A. VERIFY WELDER QUALIFICATIONS.
B. VERIFY PROPER CONTROL AND HANDLING OF WELDING CONSUMABLES.
C. MONITOR ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS.
D. MONITOR PROPER IMPLEMENTATION OF WPS.

5. INSPECTION TASKS AFTER DECK WELDING:
A. VERIFY SIZE AND LOCATION OF WELDS, INCLUDING SUPPORT, SIDELAP AND PERIMETER 

WELDS.
B. VERIFY WELDS MEET VISUAL ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA.
C. OBSERVE WELD REPAIR ACTIVITIES.
D. DOCUMENT ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF DECK AND DECK ACCESSORIES.

6. INSPECTION TASKS PRIOR TO MECHANICAL FASTENING:
A. VERIFY MANUFACTURER INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS AVAILABLE FOR MECHANICAL 

FASTENERS.
B. VERIFY PROPER TOOLS AVAILABLE FOR FASTENER INSTALLATION.
C. VERIFY PROPER STORAGE OF MECHANICAL FASTENERS.

7. INSPECTION TASKS DURING MECHANICAL FASTENING:
A. OBSERVE FASTENER SPACING AND POSITION.
B. VERIFY FASTENERS ARE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER’S 

INSTRUCTIONS.
8. INSPECTION TASKS AFTER MECHANICAL FASTENING:

A. VERIFY SPACING, TYPE AND INSTALLATION OF SUPPORT, SIDELAP, AND PERIMETER 
FASTENERS.

B. VERIFY REPAIR ACTIVITIES.
C. DOCUMENT ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF DECK AND DECK ACCESSORIES.

FREQ
C

C

C

C

P
P
P
P

P
P
P
P

C

C
C
C

P

P
P

P
P

C

C
C

REFERENCE
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.1

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.2

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.2

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.2

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.3
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.3
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.3
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.3

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.4
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.4
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.4
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.4

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.5

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.5
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.5
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.5

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.6

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.6
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.6

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.7
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.7

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.8

SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.8
SDI QA/QC TABLE 1.8

IT-2A: STRUCTURAL STEEL AND HIGH-STRENGTH BOLTING

INSPECTION TASK
1. FABRICATOR CERTIFICATION/VERIFICATION OF QUALITY CONTROL PROCEDURES

A. VERIFY FABRICATOR QUALIFICATIONS.
B. REVIEW MATERIAL TEST REPORTS AND CERTIFICATIONS.
C. COLLECT CERTIFICATES OF COMPLIANCE FROM THE STEEL FABRICATOR AT COMPLETION OF 

FABRICATION.
2. INSPECTIONS PRIOR TO HIGH-STRENGTH BOLTING AT PRE-TENSIONED AND SLIP-CRITICAL 

JOINTS:
A. COLLECT MANUFACTURER’S CERTIFICATIONS FOR FASTENER MATERIALS.
B. VERIFY FASTENERS ARE MARKED PER ASTM REQUIREMENTS.
C. ENSURE CORRECT FASTENERS AND BOLTING PROCEDURES ARE SELECTED FOR JOINT 

DETAILS. VERIFY GRADE, TYPE, AND BOLT LENGTH (IF THREADS ARE TO BE EXCLUDED FROM 
SHEAR PLANE).

D. VERIFY CONNECTING ELEMENTS, INCLUDING THE APPROPRIATE FAYING SURFACE 
CONDITION AND HOLE PREPARATION (WHEN SPECIFIED), COMPLY WITH THE CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS.

E. OBSERVE AND DOCUMENT PRE-INSTALLATION VERIFICATION TESTING BY INSTALLATION 
PERSONNEL FOR FASTENER ASSEMBLIES AND METHODS.

F. VERIFY THE PROTECTED STORAGE FOR BOLTS, NUTS, WASHERS, AND OTHER FASTENER 
COMPONENTS.

3. INSPECTIONS DURING HIGH-STRENGTH BOLTING AT PRE-TENSIONED AND SLIP-CRITICAL JOINTS:
A. ENSURE CORRECT FASTENER ASSEMBLIES PLACED IN ALL HOLES AND WASHERS/NUTS 

(WHEN SPECIFIED) ARE POSITIONED AS REQUIRED.
B. VERIFY JOINT BROUGHT TO SNUG-TIGHT CONDITION PRIOR TO PRE-TENSIONING.
C. VERIFY FASTENER COMPONENTS NOT TURNED BY THE WRENCH PREVENTED FROM ROTATING.
D. ENSURE FASTENERS ARE PRE-TENSIONED IN ACCORDANCE WITH RCSC, PROGRESSING FROM 

THE MOST RIGID POINT TOWARDS FREE EDGES.
4. DOCUMENT ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF BOLTED CONNECTIONS AFTER HIGH-STRENGTH 

BOLTING IS COMPLETE.
5. VISUALLY INSPECT FOR CRACKS THE EXPOSED CUT SURFACES OF GALVANIZED STRUCTURAL 

STEEL MAIN MEMBERS AND EXPOSED CORNERS OF GALVANIZED RECTANGULAR HSS MEMBERS.
6. STRUCTURAL DETAILS

A. VERIFY DIAMETER, GRADE, TYPE, AND LENGTH OF ANCHOR RODS AND OTHER EMBEDDED 
ITEMS. THE EXTENT OR DEPTH OF EMBEDMENT INTO THE CONCRETE SHALL BE VERIFIED 
AND DOCUMENTED PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE.

B. INSPECT THE FABRICATED STEEL OR ERECTED STEEL FRAME TO VERIFY COMPLIANCE WITH 
THE DETAILS SHOWN ON THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

FREQ

C
C
C

C
P
P

P

P

P

P

P
P
P

C

P

P

P

REFERENCE

IBC 1704.2.5.1
AISC 360 N5.2
IBC 1704.5

AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-1
AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-1
AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-1

AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-1

AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-1

AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-1

AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-2

AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-2
AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-2
AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-2

AISC 360 TABLE N5.6-3

AISC 360 N5.7

AISC 360 N5.8

AISC 360 N5.8

IT-2B: WELDING OF STRUCTURAL STEEL

INSPECTION TASK
1. INSPECTIONS PRIOR TO WELDING:

A. COLLECT AND REVIEW WELDING PROCEDURE SPECIFICATION (WPS) AND VERIFY 
MANUFACTURER CERTIFICATIONS FOR WELDING CONSUMABLES.

B. CONFIRM WELD MATERIAL TYPE AND GRADE.
C. CONFIRM METHOD OF WELDER IDENTIFICATION. REVIEW WELDER QUALIFICATION AND 

CONTINUITY RECORDS.
D. INSPECT FIT-UP FOR GROOVE AND FILLET WELDS, INCLUDING JOINT GEOMETRY.
E. INSPECT FIT-UP FOR CJP GROOVE WELDS OF HSS T-, Y-, AND K- JOINTS WITHOUT BACKING, 

INCLUDING JOINT GEOMETRY.
F. INSPECT CONFIGURATION AND FINISH OF ACCESS HOLES.

2. INSPECTIONS DURING WELDING:
A. VERIFY WELDER QUALIFICATIONS.
B. VERIFY PROPER CONTROL AND HANDLING OF WELDING CONSUMABLES, INCLUDING 

PACKAGING AND EXPOSURE.
C. MONITOR THAT ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS, INCLUDING WIND SPEED, PRECIPITATION 

AND TEMPERATURE, ARE WITHIN DEFINED LIMITS.
D. MONITOR PROPER IMPLEMENTATION OF WPS, INCLUDING SETTINGS ON WELDING 

EQUIPMENT, TRAVEL SPEED, SELECTED WELDING MATERIALS, SHIELDING GAS TYPE/FLOW 
RATE, PREHEAT APPLIED, INTERPASS TEMPERATURE MAINTAINED, AND PROPER POSITION.

E. INSPECT WELDING TECHNIQUES, INCLUDING INTERPASS AND FINAL CLEANING, EACH PASS 
WITHIN PROFILE LIMITATIONS, EACH PASS MEETING QUALITY REQUIREMENTS, AND NO 
WELDING OVER CRACKED TACK WELDS.

F. INSPECT PLACEMENT AND INSTALLATION OF STEEL HEADED STUD ANCHORS.
3. INSPECTIONS AFTER WELDING:

A. VERIFY WELDS HAVE BEEN CLEANED.
B. CONFIRM THE INSTALLED SIZE, LENGTH, AND LOCATION OF WELDS MATCHES THE 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.
C. VERIFY WELDS MEET VISUAL ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA, INCLUDING CRACK PROHIBITION, 

WELD/BASE-METAL FUSION, CRATER CROSS SECTION, WELD PROFILES, WELD SIZE, 
UNDERCUT, AND POROSITY.

D. CONFIRM ARC STRIKES COMPLY WITH PART 5.28 OF AWS D1.1.
E. VISUALLY OBSERVE WEB K-AREA FOR CRACKS WITHIN 3" OF WELDED DOUBLER PLATES, 

CONTINUITY PLATES, AND STIFFENERS.
F. INSPECT WELD ACCESS HOLES IN ROLLED HEAVY SHAPES AND BUILT-UP HEAVY SHAPES FOR 

CRACKS.
G. CONDUCT ULTRASONIC TESTING (UT) OF CJP GROOVE WELDS IN MATERIALS ≥ 5/16":

100% OF WELDS WHERE PRIMARILY SUPPORTING GRAVITY LOADS (I.E. CANTILEVERS)
100% OF WELDS SUBJECT TO FATIGUE
10% OF REMAINING WELDS IN RISK CATEGORY II STRUCTURES
100% OF REMAINING WELDS IN RISK CATEGORY III AND IV STRUCTURES.

H. VERIFY BACKING AND WELD TABS ARE REMOVED (AS REQUIRED) PER CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS.

I. OBSERVE AND INSPECT WELD REPAIR ACTIVITIES.
J. DOCUMENT ACCEPTANCE/REJECTION OF WELDED JOINTS AND MEMBERS.

FREQ

C

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P

C

P
C

C

C
C

C

C
C
C
C
C

C
C

REFERENCE
AISC 360 N5.4
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-1

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-1
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-1

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-1
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-1

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-1
AISC 360 N5.4
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-2
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-2

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-2

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-2

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-2

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-2
AISC 360 N5.4, N5.5
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3

AISC 360 N5.5
AISC 360 N5.5c, TABLE A-3.1
AISC 360 N5.5
AISC 360 N5.5
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3

AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3
AISC 360 TABLE N5.4-3, N5.5g

IT-6: SOILS

INSPECTION TASK
1. VERIFY MATERIALS BELOW SHALLOW FOUNDATIONS ARE ADEQUATE TO ACHIEVE THE DESIGN 

BEARING CAPACITY.
2. VERIFY EXCAVATIONS ARE EXTENDED TO PROPER DEPTH AND HAVE REACHED PROPER MATERIAL.
3. PERFORM CLASSIFICATION AND TESTING OF COMPACTED FILL MATERIALS.
4. VERIFY USE OF PROPER MATERIALS, DENSITIES, AND LIFT HEIGHTS DURING PLACEMENT AND 

COMPACTION OF COMPACTED FILL.
5. PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF COMPACTED FILL, INSPECT SUBGRADE AND VERIFY THAT THE SITE HAS 

BEEN PREPARED PROPERLY.

FREQ
P

P
P
C

P

REFERENCE
IBC 1705.6

IBC 1705.6
IBC 1705.6
IBC 1705.6

IBC 1705.6

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S011

S
T

A
T

E
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 S

P
E

C
IA

L
 I

N
S

P
E

C
T

IO
N

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

638

Item 4.



IT-10: FABRICATED ITEMS

INSPECTION TASK
1. INSPECT DURING FABRICATION: STRUCTURAL, LOAD-BEARING, OR LATERAL LOAD-RESISTING 

MEMBERS AND/OR ASSEMBLIES.

FREQ
P

REFERENCE
IBC 1704.2.5, 1705.10

INSPECTION IS NOT REQUIRED IF THE FABRICATOR MEETS THE EXCEPTIONS OF IBC 1704.2.5 #1 OR #2, OR IF THE FABRICATOR IS APPROVED PER IBC 
1704.2.5.1.

INSPECTION TASK
1. PRIOR TO ANY WORK TAKING PLACE, EACH CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF A WIND FORCE-RESISTING SYSTEM (WFRS) OR COMPONENT 
SHALL SUBMIT A WRITTEN STATEMENT OF CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITY.

2. STRUCTURAL WOOD
A. VERIFY FIELD GLUING OPERATIONS OF ELEMENTS OF THE WFRS.
B. INSPECT NAILING, ANCHORING, AND FASTENING OF COMPONENTS WITHIN THE 

WFRS INCLUDING SHEAR WALLS, DIAPHRAGMS, DRAG STRUTS, BRACES, AND
HOLD-DOWNS.

3. COLD-FORMED STEEL FRAMING CONSTRUCTION
A. INSPECT WELDING OPERATIONS AT ELEMENTS OF THE WFRS.
B. INSPECT SCREW ATTACHMENT, BOLTING, ANCHORING, AND FASTENING OF 

ELEMENTS WITHIN THE WFRS INCLUDING SHEAR WALLS, BRACES, 
DIAPHRAGMS, COLLECTORS, DRAG STRUTS, AND HOLD-DOWNS.

4. WIND-RESISTING COMPONENTS
A. INSPECT THE FASTENING OF ROOF COVERING, ROOF DECK, AND SUPPORTING 

ROOF FRAMING CONNECTIONS.
B. INSPECT THE FASTENING OF EXTERIOR WALL COVERINGS AND THE WALL 

CONNECTIONS TO THE ROOF/FLOOR DIAPHRAGMS AND FRAMING MEMBERS.

FREQ
C

C
P

P
P

P

P

REFERENCE
IBC 1704.4

IBC 1705.11.1
IBC 1705.11.1

IBC 1705.11.2
IBC 1705.11.2

IBC 1705.11.3.1

IBC 1705.11.3.2

IT-11: WIND RESISTANCE

INSPECTION IS REQUIRED IN EXPOSURE CATEGORY B WHERE Vasd ≥ 120 MPH, OR IN EXPOSURE CATEGORIES C AND D WHERE Vasd ≥ 110 MPH. INSPECTION IS 
NOT REQUIRED FOR SHEAR WALLS, SHEAR WALL PANELS, AND DIAPHRAGMS WHERE THE FASTENER SPACING > 4"OC.

WIND FORCE-RESISTING SYSTEMS AND COMPONENTS/CONNECTIONS SUBJECT TO INSPECTION INCLUDE:
LIGHT GAUGE X BRACE STRAP CONNECTIONS, COLUMN BASE CONNECTIONS, LIGHT GAUGE ROOF MEMBER CONNECTIONS, ROOF DECKING

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S012

S
T

A
T

E
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 S

P
E

C
IA

L
 I

N
S

P
E

C
T

IO
N

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

639

Item 4.



V
E
R

IF
Y
 W

/ 
E
LE

V
A
T
O

R
 M

FR

7
'-

5
 1

/8
"

CUT EXISTING SLAB BACK AS 
NEEDED TO EXCAVATE ELEVATOR 
PIT AND FOUNDATION

SHADED AREA INDICATE 
NEW 4" CONCRETE SLAB 
ON GRADE

HSS6x6x1/4

HSS6x6x1/4

HSS6x6x1/4

HSS6x6x1/4

2

S301

_______

HSS6x4x3/8

HSS6x4x3/8

<-4'-0">
F3

P1

<-4'-0">
F3

P1

<-4'-0">
F3

P1

<-4'-0">
F3 P1

4

S301

_______

EXIST PEMB COLUMN

EXIST PEMB COLUMN

EXIST PEMB COLUMN EXIST PEMB COLUMN EXIST PEMB COLUMN

EXIST PEMB COLUMN

EXIST PEMB COLUMN

EXIST PEMB COLUMN

SEE ELEVATOR MANUF 
FOR POSITION OF 

RAIL SUPPORT POSTS

SEE ELEVATOR MANUF 
FOR POSITION OF 

RAIL SUPPORT POSTS

[-1'-0"] [-1'-0"]

[-1'-0"]
[-1'-0"]

VERIFY W ELEVATOR MFR

6'-3 3/8"

<-4'-0">

FOUNDATION PLAN NOTES:
1. SEE S001 AND S002 FOR GENERAL NOTES, ABBREVIATIONS, AND SYMBOL LEGEND.
2. REFERENCE FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION 0'-0". 
3. SEE 1/S301 FOR TYPICAL SLAB CONSTRUCTION DETAILS.
4. DIMENSIONS ARE TO OUTSIDE FACE OF FRAMING, UNO. REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR ALL WALL LOCATIONS AND 

DIMENSIONS.

LOAD BEARING WALL LEGEND:
INDICATES NEW LOAD BEARING WALL.

600S162-54 @ 16"OC

@
 1

6
"O

C
6
0
0
S
1
6
2
-5

4
@

 1
6
"O

C
6
0
0
S
1
6
2
-5

4

6
0
0
S
1
6
2
-5

4
 @

 1
6
"O

C

600S162-54 @ 16"OCLIGHT GAGE X-BRACE 
STRAPS, SEE 3/S531 

LIGHT GAGE X-BRACE 
STRAPS, SEE 3/S531 

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S100

F
O

U
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 P

L
A

N

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1/4" = 1'-0"S100

1 FOUNDATION PLAN

SPREAD FOOTING SCHEDULE

MARK

SIZE
REINFORCEMENT

(EACH WAY)

WIDTH LENGTH DEPTH TOP BOTTOM

F3 3'-0" 3'-0" 1'-0" NA (4)#5

1/4" = 1'-0"S100

2 STUD FRAMING PLAN

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

640

Item 4.



E
X
IS

T
 W

2
1
x5

7

E
X
IS

T
 W

2
1
x5

7

CUT BACK EXISTING JOISTS 
TO NEW BEARING WALL

CUT BACK EXISTING 
JOISTS TO NEW 
BEARING WALL

CUT BACK EXISTING JOISTS 
TO THE LOCATION OF THE 
NEW BEAM

EXIST 2x12s
EXIST (2)2x12

E
X
IS

T
 2

x1
2
s

EXIST (2)2x12

EXISTING PIPE COLUMN

EXISTING PIPE COLUMN

EXIST PEMB COLUMN

EXIST (2)2x12

EXIST (2)2x12

@
 1

6"
OC 

(V
ER

IF
Y)

EX
IS

T 
2x

12

1'
-4

"

1'-4"

EX
IS

T 
(2

)2
x1

2

@
 16"OC (VERIFY)

EXIST 2x12

CUT BACK EXISTING JOISTS 
TO CONNECT TO NEW BUILT 

UP BEAM

EXIST PEMB COLUMN

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S101

D
E

M
O

L
IT

IO
N

 S
E

C
O

N
D

 F
L

O
O

R
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 P

L
A

N

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1/4" = 1'-0"S101

1 DEMOLITION SECOND FLOOR FRAMING PLAN

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

641

Item 4.



E
X
IS

T
 W

2
1
x5

7

E
X
IS

T
 W

2
1
x5

7

W
8
x1

8

W
8
x1

8

W8x18

W8x18

EXIST 2x12

4

S601

_______

5

S601

_______

5

S601

_______

8

S601

_______

5

S601

_______

SIM

_____
S531

9

7

S601

_______

EXISTING PIPE COLUMN

EXISTING PIPE COLUMN
EXIST (2)2x12 EX

IS
T 
(2

)2
x1

2

@
 16"OC (VERIFY)

EXIST 2x12 JOISTS

@
 1

6"
OC 

(V
ER

IF
Y)

EX
IS

T 
2x

12
 JO

IS
TS

(E)2x12s

(4)2x12 W/ 3/8" PLYWOOD

CONNECT SKEWED BEAM TO 
NEW BEAM W/ SIMPSON 
SUR/L210-2 HANGER

CONNECT SKEWED JOISTS TO 
BEAM W/ SIMPSON SUR/L210 
HANGERS

EXIST (2)2x12

(VERIFY)

(VERIFY)

(VERIFY)

ADD (3) NEW 2X12s TO EXISTING 2x12 
TO FORM A NEW (4)2x12 BEAM

CUT BACK EXISTING JOIST AS NEEDED 
TO ADD ADDITIONAL PLYS TO THE 

EXISTING BEAM. CONNECT TO NEW 
BUILT UP BEAM WITH SIMPSON 
LB212A HANGERS EACH JOIST

EXIST (2)2x12

N
E
W

 2
x1

2

EXIST 2x12

FLOOR FRAMING PLAN NOTES:
1. SEE S001 AND S002 FOR GENERAL NOTES, ABBREVIATIONS, AND SYMBOL LEGEND.
2. DIMENSIONS ARE TO OUTSIDE FACE OF FRAMING, UNO. REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR ALL WALL LOCATIONS AND 

DIMENSIONS.

LOAD BEARING WALL LEGEND:
INDICATES NEW LOAD BEARING WALL.

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S110

S
E

C
O

N
D

 F
L

O
O

R
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 P

L
A

N

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1/4" = 1'-0"S110

1 SECOND FLOOR FRAMING PLAN

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

642

Item 4.



FLOOR FRAMING PLAN NOTES:
1. SEE S001 AND S002 FOR GENERAL NOTES, ABBREVIATIONS, AND SYMBOL LEGEND.
2. DIMENSIONS ARE TO OUTSIDE FACE OF FRAMING, UNO. REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR ALL WALL LOCATIONS AND 

DIMENSIONS.

LOAD BEARING WALL LEGEND:
INDICATES NEW LOAD BEARING WALL.

3

S601

_______

R
A
M

P
 D

O
W

N

12

S601

_______

NEW RAISED FLOOR

E
X
IS

T
 1

2
"T

JI

E
X
IS

T
 1

2
"T

JI

NEW RAISED 
FLOOR

@ 16"OC
NEW 2x12 JOISTS

@
 1

6
"O

C

N
E
W

 2
x1

2
 J

O
IS

T
S

E
X
IS

T
 W

2
1
x5

7

E
X
IS

T
 W

2
1
x5

7

E
X
IS

T
 1

2
"T

JI

N
E
W

 2
x1

2
 J

O
IS

T
S
 @

 1
6
"O

C

@ 16"OC

NEW 2x12 JOISTS

9

S601

_______

11

S601

_______
8

S601

_______

10

S601

_______

11

S601

_______

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S111

R
A

IS
E

D
 S

E
C

O
N

D
 F

L
O

O
R

 F
R

A
M

IN
G

 P
L

A
N

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1/4" = 1'-0"S111

1 RAISED SECOND FLOOR FRAMING PLAN

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

643

Item 4.



1

S611

_______

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 B

E
A
M

EX
IS

T 
W
8x

10
, (

VE
RI

FY
)

EXIST W
8x10, (VERIFY)

6

S611

_______

EXISTING PURLINS 
@ 5'-0"OC, VIF

EXISTING PURLINS 
@ 5'-0"OC, VIF

EXIST W
8x10, (VERIFY)

8

S531

_______

L1

CUT EXISTING ROOF PURLINS BACK 
TO NEW LIGHT GAGE WALLS

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S112

L
O

W
 R

O
O

F
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 P

L
A

N

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1/4" = 1'-0"S112

1 LOW ROOF FRAMING PLAN

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

644

Item 4.



1

S611

_______

W
8
x1

8

W8x18

W
8
x1

8

W6x15 HOIST BEAM
TOS = 25'-0"

VERIFY IN FIELD

LIGHT GAGE STUDS 
UNDER RIDGE DOWN TO 

BEAM, SEE 3/S611 FOR 
MORE INFO

E
X
IS

T
B
E
A
M

EXISTBEAM

EX
IS

TB
EA

M E
X
IS

T
B
E
A
M

(E
)R

O
O

F 
PU

R
LI

N
S
 @

 5
'-

0
"O

C
, 

V
IF

_____
S612

3

NEW LIGHT GAGE BOX 
BEAM BETWEEN EXISTING 

ROOF PURLINS

W8x18

1

S612

_______

8

S611

_______

8

S611

_______

_____
S612

2

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S113

H
IG

H
 R

O
O

F
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 P

L
A

N

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1/4" = 1'-0"S113

1 HIGH ROOF FRAMING PLAN

D1

D
1

D
1

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

645

Item 4.



NOTES:
1. SEAL JOINT IN NEW VAPOR BARRIER WITH EXISTING.

SAW CUT EXIST SLAB

#3 DOWELS @18"OC; DRILL AND 
SET BARS IN ADHESIVE (HILTI 

HIT-HY 200 OR APPROVED EQUAL)

EXIST CONC SLAB

S
LA

B
 T

H
IC

K
N

E
S
S

4
" 

M
IN

, 
T
O

 M
A
T
C

H
 E

X
IS

T 4
"

6" 1'-6"

2
"

REMOVE AND REPLACE 
EXIST SOG WITH NEW CONC 
SLAB ON GRADE, SEE 
GENERAL NOTES FOR REINF

SLAB REINF, SEE 
GENERAL NOTES

POLYETHYLENE
VAPOR BARRIER

POROUS 
SUBGRADE FILL

t
4
"

TYPICAL CONSTRUCTION

NOTES:
1. 't' DENOTES SLAB THICKNESS, SEE PLANS. 
2. LOCATION OF SLAB ON GRADE CONSTRUCTION JOINTS SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE CONTRACTOR. 

JOINT LOCATIONS SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE ENGINEER FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.
3. SEE PLANS FOR LOCATION OF CONTROL JOINTS. WHERE NOT SHOWN ON PLAN, CONTACT THE 

ENGINEER.
4. CUT JOINTS SHALL BE 1/4t (1/3t FOR FIBER-REINFORCED SLABS) OR 1" DEEP WHICHEVER IS GREATER. 

SAW CUT CONTROL JOINTS WITHIN 8 HOURS OF SLAB POUR.
5. 15ML-THICK POLYETHYLENE VAPOR BARRIOR TO BE PLACED UNDER ALL SLABS, TURNDOWNS, 

TRENCHES, TRENCH DRAINS, GRADE BEAMS, ETC.

C
LR

1
 1

/2
"

8"

SEE 10/S301 FOR 
UNDERPINNING 
SEQUENCE, TYP

FFE
SEE PLAN

CONT 2x4 KEYWAY, TYP

SLOPE SURFACE TO SUMP

SUMP PIT BEYOND, 
SEE OTHER DETAILS EA WAY, TOP & BOT

#5 @ 12"OC   

V
E
R

IF
Y
 W

/ 
E
LE

V
A
T
O

R
 M

FR

4
'-

0
"

1
'-

0
"

8"

WALL, SEE PLAN

WATERPROOFING MEMBRANE 
APPLIED TO FINSHED ELEVATOR 
PIT ALL SIDES AND BOTTOM

NOTE: CONTRACTOR TO DE-WATER PIT DURING 
CONSTRUCTION AND SEAL TO PREVENT WATER 
INTRUSION.

CUT EXISTING SLAB BACK AS 
REQUIRED TO EXCAVATE NEW 
ELEVATOR PIT

#5@12”OC 
HORIZ 

CONT HYDROPHILIC 
WATERSTOP, TYP

WALL, SEE PLAN

CONT 2x4 KEYWAY, TYP

CONT HYDROPHILIC 
WATERSTOP, TYP

#5 DOWELS @12"OC
W/ STANDARD LAP IN WALL

#5@12”OC 
HORIZ 

SEE 2/S301 FOR SLAB REPAIR 
DETAIL

#5 @ 12"OC   

#5 CONT

#5 DOWELS @12"OC
W/ STANDARD LAP IN WALL

#5 CONT

CUT EXISTING SLAB BACK 
AS REQUIRED TO EXCAVATE 

NEW ELEVATOR PIT

SEE 2/S301 FOR 
SLAB REPAIR 

DETAIL

CONT HYDROPHILIC 
WATERSTOP, TYP

CONT HYDROPHILIC 
WATERSTOP, TYP

STD 90° HOOK

GALV L2x2x3/16 W/3/8"Ø x4" 
DBA @8"OC ON ALL SIDES

#4@8"OC EA WAY, CTRD 
IN SECTION DEPTH

(3)#4 CONT 
ON ALL SIDESCONT WATERSTOP

TOF
SEE PLAN

SQUARE

2'-0"

MIN

1'-8"

2
'-

0
"

8
"

8" 8"

3
/4

"

SEE DETAIL 4/S301 FOR 
ELEVATOR PIT FOUNDATION 

SIZE AND REINFORCING
SEE DETAIL 
4/S301 FOR 
ELEVATOR 
PIT WALL

NOTES:
1. PROVIDE STANDARD ACI 90° HOOK AT BOTTOM END OF ALL VERTICAL BARS IN PEDESTAL.

NON-SHRINK GROUT, 
SEE BASE PLATE DETAIL

SLAB ON GRADE, 
SEE PLAN

COL ISOLATION JOINT, 
SEE TYP DETAIL

ANCHOR BOLTS, 
SEE COL SCHD

TOF
SEE PLAN

FFE
SEE PLAN

S
C
H

D

S
E
E

COL, SEE SCHD

BASE PLATE, 
SEE COL SCHD

SEE FTG SCHD 
FOR REINF

CONC PEDESTAL, SEE 
PLAN DETAILS FOR 
REINF

(3) ADDL TIES @2"OC 
AROUND ANCHOR BOLTS

C
LR3
"

SEE SCHD

CL COL/PEDESTAL/FTG, 
UNO

CL

PEDESTAL P1

(2)#3 TIES @12"OC

(7)#7 VERT 1'-3"

1
'-

3
"

T/ PEDESTAL
-1'-0" BFF

4
"

8
"

4" 8"

CONCRETE REINFORCING SPLICES

f'c = 3,000 PSI f'c = 5,000 PSI

#3

BAR SIZE

1'-10" 1'-5"

#4 2'-4" 1'-10"

#5 3'-0" 2'-4"

#6 3'-7" 2'-9"

#7 5'-2" 4'-1"

#8 5'-11" 4'-8"

#9 6'-6" 5'-3"

#10 7'-6" 5'-10"

#11 8'-4" 6'-6"

f'c = 4,000 PSI

1'-7"

2'-1"

2'-7"

3'-1"

4'-6"

5'-2"

5'-10"

6'-6"

7'-3"

SPLICE LENGTH

NOTES:
1. FOR CLASS B LAP SPLICE, SPLICE LENGTH = 1.3 x DEVELOPMENT LENGTH.
2. APPLIES TO BOTTOM BARS ONLY (LESS THAN 12" OF FRESH CONCRETE 

BELOW BAR).
3. APPLIES WHERE THE CLEAR COVER IS GREATER THAN THE BAR DIAMETER.
4. WHEN MORE THAN 12" OF FRESH CONCRETE BELOW SPLICE, THEN 

INCREASE SPLICE TO 1.3 x SPLICE LENGTH.

CONCRETE REINFORCING DOWEL EMBEDMENT

EMBEDMENT, "D"

f'c = 3,000 PSI f'c = 4,000 PSI f'c = 5,000 PSI

#3 6"

BAR SIZE LEG DIM, "L"

6" 6" 6"

#4 8" 8" 7" 6"

#5 10" 10" 9" 8"

#6 12" 12" 10" 9"

#7 14" 14" 12" 11"

#8 16" 16" 14" 12"

#9 19" 18" 15" 14"

#10 22" 20" 17" 15"

#11 24" 22" 19" 17"

 
"D

"

SPLICE LENGTH, SEE MASONRY OR 
CONCRETE REINFORCING SPLICE SCHD

"L"

"R"

CONCRETE 
COLD JOINT

"R" = BAR RADIUS PER ACI 315

NOTES:
1. FOR CONCRETE STRENGTHS NOT PROVIDED, USE THE EMBEDMENT LENGTH FOR THE 

LOWER CONCRETE STRENGTH AS SHOWN IN THE TABLE.
2. DOWEL LENGTHS BASED ON NORMAL WEIGHT CONCRETE. FOR LIGHT WEIGHT, 

INCREASE DOWEL LENGTH "D" BY 30%.
3. SIDE COVER ON BARS MUST BE GREATER THAN 2 1/2". END COVER ON 90° HOOKED 

BARS MUST BE GREATER THAN 2".
4. FOR EPOXY-COATED BARS, INCREASE THE DOWEL LENGTH "D" BY 20%.

NTSS301

4 SECTION

3/4" = 1'-0"S301

3 TYPICAL ELEVATOR SUMP PIT

1" = 1'-0"S301

1 TYPICAL SLAB ON GRADE

3/4" = 1'-0"S301

2 TYPICAL SLAB ON GRADE REPAIR

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S301

F
O

U
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
 A

N
D

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

3/4" = 1'-0"S301

9 TYPICAL FOOTING AT PEDESTAL
NTSS301

6 CONCRETE REINFORCING SPLICE SCHEDULE

NTSS301

5 DOWEL EMBEDMENT LENGTH SCHEDULE

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

646

Item 4.



CL

HSS6x4x3/8 RAIL COLUMN 
W/ BASEPLATE W/ 1" GROUT

ELEVATOR MAT FOOTING

L3x3x3/8

3/16

STEEL BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

STEEL BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

NOTE: GENERAL DETAIL FOR ELEVATOR SUPPORTS. INSTALLER TO DETERMINE RAIL SUPPORT 
INSTALL BASED ON SITE SPECIFIC CONDITIONS AND ELEVATOR SUPPLIER'S DRAWINGS.

L3x3x3/8

5"x4"x1/2" PLATE

CL

STEEL BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

STEEL BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

SECTION A-A

L3x3x3/8

HSS6x4x3/8 RAIL COLUMN

L3x3x3/8

STEEL BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

5"x4"x1/2" 
PLATE

A-AA-A

3/16
TYP

L3x3x3/8

L3x3x3/8

3/16

3/16
TYP

L3x3x3/8

3/16

5"x4"x1/2" PLATE

3/16
TYP

SEE 4/S301 FOR MORE 
INFORMATION

HSS6x4x3/8 RAIL COLUMN 
W/ BASEPLATE W/ 1" GROUT

3/16
TYP

3/16
TYP

INSTALL WOOD PLATES, 
SHEATING AND BOTTOM 

TRACK AROUND TUBE

TYPE 1ANCHOR BOLT

SQUARE PL WASHER 
T&B, SEE SCHD

COL BASE PL

LEVELING NUT

T/FTG
T/PEDESTAL

NON-SHRINK GROUT, 
SEE SCHD

ANCHOR BOLT

TACK WELD OR 
DAMAGE THREADS

S
E
E
 S

C
H

D

S
E
E
 S

C
H

D
T

1
 1

/2
"

3/16

1/4"x2"SQUARE PL WASHER SIZE

DIMENSION "C"

BOLT SIZE

1 1/2"

3/4"Ø

3/8"x3"

2"

1"Ø

1/2"x3"

2"

1 1/4"Ø

1/2"x3 1/2"

2 1/4"

1 1/2"Ø

5/8"x4"

2 1/2"

1 3/4"Ø

3/4"x5"

2 3/4"

2"Ø

2"GROUT THICKNESS 2" 2" 3" 3" 3"

NUT

TIGHTENING CLEARANCE "C1" 1 3/16" 1 3/8" 1 13/16" 2"

NOTES:
1. "C1" DIMENSION IS MINIMUM FOR BASE PLATE SIZE. DETAILER TO LAYOUT ANCHOR BOLTS BASED ON 

"C" DIMENSION FROM EDGE OF BASE PLATE DIMENSION IN COLUMN SCHEDULE.

BOLT GRADE (KSI) 36 36 36 55 55 55

NA NA

(4)3/4"Ø ANCHOR 
BOLT W/ 9" 
EMBEDMENT

1
'-

0
"

1'-0"

3"

3
"

C
C

C C

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S511

S
T

E
E

L
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 D

E
T

A
IL

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

NTSS511

1 TYPICAL ELEVATOR RAIL SUPPORTS

NTSS511

7 STEEL COLUMN BASE PLATE SCHEDULE

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

647

Item 4.



(2)SCREWS STRAP
TO EACH STUD

5" 16GA FLAT STRAP (50 KSI)
SEE BRACING EL

CONT 16 GA TRACK

6"-16GA TRACK

ATTACH EA STRAP TO 
STUD W/ (2)#12 SCREWS 
AND TO HSS W/ (6)HILTI 
X-U 0.157"Ø PAF

THICKENED SLAB

HSS COLUMN, 
SEE PLAN

(2)#12 SCREWS EA SIDE

NOTES:
1. SPLICE SHALL OCCUR OVER CENTERLINE OF VERTICAL STUD, TYP.

LT GA TRACK

MIN 10" LONG STUD PIECE 
(MATCH TRACK SIZE AND GAUGE)

600S162-54 METAL
STUDS @16"OC

5"-16GA STRAPS NEAR
AND FAR SIDE OF WALL

600S162-54 STUD

(2)0.157"Ø HILTI XU 1 1/2" LONG 
PAF @16"OC

600S162-54 STUD
SEE DETAIL 6/S601 FOR STUD/POST 
CONNECTION

STEEL BEAM, SEE PLAN

EXISTING FLOOR 
SHEATHING

(2)2x BLOCKING ON TOP OF BEAM

ATTACH EA STRAP TO STUD W/ 
(6)#12 SCREWS AND TO HSS 
W/ (3)HILTI X-U 0.157"Ø PAF

5"-16GA STRAPS NEAR SIDE 
AND FAR SIDE SEE BRACING 

ELEVATION

16GA COLD-ROLLED CHANNEL 
BRIDGING @4'-0"OC, VERT (MAX) 

LT GA STUD

16GA CLIP ANGLE (1/4" LESS 
THAN STUD WIDTH) TO MATCH 
STUD GAUGE, ATTACH W/(4)#

10 SCREWS

6"-16GA TRACK

(2)#10-16GA
SCREWS

6"-16GA STUD

#10-16 SCREWS 
@16"OC EACH 
SIDE OF STUD

A-A

8" LONG SECTION OF 
6"-16GA TRACK 

ATTACHED TO FULL 
HEIGHT STUD W/(6)#

10 SCREWS AND TO 
HEADER W/(3)#10 

SCREWS EACH FLANGE

(2)6"-16GA METAL 
STUDS, SEE 

SECTION A-A

UNPUNCHED STUDS, 
SEE SCHEDULE FOR 

NUMBER AND 
MEMBER SIZES

ATTACH TOP AND 
BOTTOM TRACK TO 

EACH STUD/JOIST W/ 
10-16 SCREWS @8"OC

6"-16GA TOP AND 
BOTTOM TRACK

2x2x16GA CLIP 
ANGLES 1/2" LESS 
THAN STUD WIDTH W/ 
(3)#10 SCREWS ON 
EACH LEG AS SHOWN 
ABOVE

(2) FULL HEIGHT 
600S162-54 METAL 
STUD, SEE SECTION A-A

NEW BEAM, SEE PLAN NEW STIFF CLIP AL 600 
WITH (4)#12 SCREWS 
THROUGH EACH LEG

NEW STIFF CLIP AL 600 WITH 
(4)#12 SCREWS INTO STUDS 

AND (3) HILTI XU 0.157"Ø PAF 
FASTENERS INTO STEEL BEAM

(2) NEW BACK TO BACK 
600S162-54 STUDS BETWEEN 

BEAMS

NEW STIFF CLIP AL 600 WITH 
(4)#12 SCREWS INTO STUDS 

AND (3) SDS 25300 INTO 
WOOD

EXISTING Z PURLIN

(2) NEW BACK TO BACK 
600S162-54 STUDS 

BETWEEN BEAMS

EXISTING Z PURLIN

NEW STIFF CLIP AL 600 
WITH (4) #12 SCREWS 
THROUGH EACH LEG

PLAN

ELEVATION

(2)HILTI PAF FASTENERS @ 
12"OC MAX

LIGHT GAGE STUDS PER PLAN 
FASTENED TO TUBE

HSS COLUMN IN CORNER, 
SEE PLAN

LIGHT GAGE STUDS PER PLAN 
FASTENED TO TUBE

HILTI X-U 0.157"Ø PAF 
FASTENERS; (4) FASTENERS 
FROM STUD TO TUBE AT ENDS 
OF X-BRACE STRAPS AND (2) 
@ 12"OC THROUGHOUT

600S162-54 
METAL STUDS

(3)600S162-54
TRACKS

(2)600S162-54
METAL STUD

L1

NOTES:
1. PROVIDE (2) JACK STUDS AND (2) FULL HEIGHT STUDS AT EACH END OF COLD-

ROLLED HEADERS, TYPICAL. MULTIPLE STUDS SHALL BE SECURELY FASTENED 
TOGETHER FULL HEIGHT. SEE DETAIL 4/S531. 

2. PROVIDE WEB STIFFENERS AT POINT LOAD FROM GIRDER TRUSS AND ENDS OF 
HEADERS. 

3. COLD ROLLED HEADER MEMBERS SHALL BE UNPUNCHED SECTIONS. 
4. REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR OPENING DIMENSIONS AND EXACT 

LOCATIONS. 

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S531

M
E

T
A

L
 S

T
U

D
 D

E
T

A
IL

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

NTSS531

2 DETAIL

NTSS531

3 TYPICAL METAL STUD STRAP WALL

NTSS531

1 STRAP ANCHORAGE

NTSS531

5 TOP OF METAL STRAP CONNECTION

3/4" = 1'-0"S531

7 DETAIL

1 1/2" = 1'-0"S531

9 PLAN DETAIL

1" = 1'-0"S531

8 SECTION

NTSS531

4 HEADER AT JAMB
NTSS531

10 LOAD BEARING HEADER SCHEDULE

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

648

Item 4.



DRILL THROUGH EXISTING BEAM 
AND INSTALL (2)5/8"Ø BOLTS

(4)2x12 BEAM W/3/8" PLYWOOD 
BETWEEN TO MATCH STEEL WEB 
THICKNESS, SEE MULTI-PLY NAILING 
DETAIL FOR MORE INFORMATION

NOTCH 2x12'S TO BEAR ON STEEL 
BEAM, EXTEND NEW WOOD BEAM 12" 

MIN ONTO EXISTING STEEL BEAM 

REMOVE EXISTING WOOD BLOCKING BELOW 
TJI JOISTS FOR 12" FROM END OF BEAM

RESUPPORT TJI JOISTS ON NEW WOOD BEAM

EXISTING TJI JOISTS

EXISTING BEAM

1'-0"

2" 8" 2"EXISTING BEAM

SECTION A-A

A

A

NEW WOOD BEAM TO 
BEAR ON BOTTOM 

FLANGE OF EXISTING 
BEAM

(3)8D TOENAILS EACH TJI TO NEW 
BEAM

STIFFEN WEB OF EXISTING 
TJI JOISTS WITH (1)2x8
EACH SIDE, GLUE AND 
SCREW WITH (8) SIMPSON 
SDS25300 SCREWS (4) 
FROM EACH SIDE

1 1/2"

1 1/2"

LIGHT GAGE WALL 
STUDS, SEE PLAN

NEW BEAM, SEE 
PLAN

600S162-54 LIGHT 
GAGE WALL STUDS 
@ 16"OC, SEE PLAN

FLOOR SHEATHING, MATCH 
EXISTING, SEE 2/S602 FOR 

NAILING PATTERN

NEW WOOD BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

SIMPSON WP5.62-6.375" 
WIDE TOP FLANGE BEAM 

HANGER

(2)NEW 2x8s CUT TO MATCH 
WALL WIDTH BOLTED TO NEW 
BEAM W/ 1/2"Ø BOLTS 
COUNTERSUNK @ 24"OC 
STAGGERED

GLUED AND (2)8D NAILS AT 
16"OC, TYP FOR FLOOR 

SHEATHING TO NEW 2x8s

600T125-54 WITH (2) HILTI 
XU 0.157"Ø PAF FASTENERS 
AT 16"OC

600T125-54 WITH (2)#12 
WOOD SCREWS 3" MIN AT 
16"OC

LIGHT GAGE WALL 
STUDS, SEE PLAN

NEW BEAM, SEE PLAN

LIGHT GAGE WALL 
STUDS, SEE PLAN

3/4" T&G FLOOR SHEATHING OR 
MATCH EXISTING THICKNESS, SEE 
2/S602 FOR NAILING PATTERN

EXISTING WOOD JOISTS 
CUT TO FIT NEW ELEVATOR 
OPENING

SIMPSON LB212A TOP 
FLANGE BEAM HANGER

(2)NEW 2x8's CUT TO MATCH 
WALL WIDTH BOLTED TO 

NEW BEAM W/ 1/2"Ø BOLTS 
COUNTERSUNK @ 24"OC 

STAGGERED

CONNECT TRACK TO 
BOTTOM OF BEAM WITH 

(2) HILTI XU 0.157"Ø PAF 
FASTENERS AT 16"OC

(2)#12 WOOD SCREWS 
3" MIN AT 16"OCSEE DETAIL 4/S601 

FOR CONNECTION

2ND FLOOR
9'-6"

TOS
9'-2 1/4"

NEW WOOD BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

SIMPSON HHUS210-4  
HANGER

NEW WOOD BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

EXISTING JOISTS

CONNECT EXISTING JOISTS TO 
NEW BEAM WITH SIMPSON 

LUS210-2 HANGERS TYP

EXISTING FLOOR

SEE 2/S602 FOR NAILING 
PATTERN

NEW 2x12 JOISTS WHERE NEW RAISED FLOOR JOINS UP 
TO EXISTING RAISED FLOOR 
CONNECT NEW 2x12 JOISTS TO 
EXISTING WITH (3) 3"#12 WOOD 
SCREWS AT 18"OC

SEE DETAIL 3/S602 FOR RAISED FLOOR 
JOIST SUPPORT DETAIL

EXISTING RAISED FLOOR

SEE 3/S602 FOR 
CONNECTION

EXISTING RIM BOARD

SEE ARCH
FOR SLOPE

CUT RAMP JOISTS 
ON TAPERED 
SLOPE TO A DEPTH 
OF 1"

SEE ARCH FOR 
TRANSITION 
PLATE

2x12 JOIST CUT TO 
SLOPE

3/4" T&G FLOOR SHEATHING, SEE 
2/S602 FOR NAILING PATTERN

EXISTING JOISTS

SOLID BLOCKING 
AT MID-SPAN

GLUE NEW TAPERED JOISTS TO 
EXISTING FLOOR SHEATING WITH 

HEAVY DUTY LIQUID NAILS FOR 
CONSTRUCTION, OR EQUIV AND 

FASTEN WITH (2) 10d TOE NAILS 
AT EACH EXISTING JOISTS

(2) 10d TOE NAILS 
THROUGH EACH NEW 
TAPERED JOISTS TO 
EXISTING JOISTS

LIGHT GAGE WALL 
STUDS, SEE PLAN

NEW BEAM, SEE PLAN

LIGHT GAGE WALL 
STUDS, SEE PLAN

EXISTING WOOD JOISTS 
CUT TO FIT NEW ELEVATOR 
OPENING

SIMPSON LB212A TOP 
FLANGE BEAM HANGER

(2)NEW 2x8's CUT TO MATCH 
WALL WIDTH BOLTED TO NEW 

BEAM W/ 1/2"Ø BOLTS 
COUNTERSUNK @ 24"OC 

STAGGERED

CONNECT TRACK TO 
BOTTOM OF BEAM WITH 

(2) HILTI XU 0.157"Ø PAF 
FASTENERS AT 16"OC

(2)#12 WOOD SCREWS 
3" MIN AT 16"OC

NEW 3/4" T&G SHEATHING, SEE 
2/S602 FOR NAILING PATTERN 

(2)#12 SCREWS THROUGH 
NEW JOISTS INTO EACH STUD

NEW 2X12 FLOOR JOISTS 

NEW 2X4 RUNNERS 
WITH 1/2" THICK 
PLYWOOD 6" WIDE ON 
TOP OF EXISTING FLOOR 
AT 24"OC

SEE 3/S602 FOR 
CONNECTION

T/ PLYWOOD
10'-8"

TOS
9'-2 1/4"

NEW FLOOR SHEATHING, SEE 
2/S602 FOR NAILING PATTERN

EXISTING FLOORING

NEW JOIST, SEE PLAN

NEW BUILT UP FRAMING, SEE 
SIMILAR DETAILS

EXISTING TJI JOISTS AND 
BLOCKING

SEE 3/S602 FOR CONNECTION

PARALLAM PSL RIM BOARD CUT TO 
FIT. CONNECT TO EXISTING TJI 
JOIST WITH (2) SIMPSON 
SDS25300 SCREWS AT 16"OC

LIGHT GAGE WALL 
STUDS, SEE PLAN

NEW BEAM, SEE PLAN

EXISTING WOOD JOISTS 
CUT TO FIT NEW ELEVATOR 
OPENING

SIMPSON LB212A TOP 
FLANGE BEAM HANGER

(2)NEW 2x8's CUT TO MATCH 
WALL WIDTH BOLTED TO NEW 

BEAM W/ 1/2"Ø BOLTS 
COUNTERSUNK @ 24"OC 

STAGGERED

CONNECT TRACK TO 
BOTTOM OF BEAM WITH 

(2) HILTI XU 0.157"Ø PAF 
FASTENERS AT 16"OC

NEW 2X4 RUNNERS WITH 
1/2" THICK PLYWOOD 6" 
WIDE ON TOP OF EXISTING 
FLOOR AT 24"OC

NEW 3/4" T&G SHEATHING, 
SEE 2/S602 FOR NAILING 

PATTERN 

NEW 2X12 FLOOR JOISTS 

SEE 3/S602 FOR 
CONNECTION

NEW PARALLAM PSL RIM 
BOARD (CUT TO FIT)

T/ PLYWOOD
10'-8"

TOS
9'-2 1/4"

2ND FLOOR
9'-6"

NEW 2X4 RUNNERS WITH 
1/2" THICK PLYWOOD 6" 

WIDE ON TOP OF EXISTING 
FLOOR AT 24"OC

NEW 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS 

NEW 3/4" T&G SHEATHING, 
SEE 2/S602 FOR NAILING 

PATTERN 

EXISTING FLOOR

EXISTING WALL

(2)SDS25300 THROUGH 
NEW JOISTS INTO EACH 
EXISTING STUD

NEW 2x12 
JOISTS, SEE 
PLAN

CONT 2x4 RUNNERS AT 
24"OC SEE 3/S602 FOR 
CONNECTION

SEE 3/S602 FOR 
CONNECTION

NEW 2X4 RUNNERS WITH 
1/2" THICK PLYWOOD 6" 

WIDE ON TOP OF EXISTING 
FLOOR AT 24"OC

NEW 2x12 FLOOR JOISTS 

NEW 3/4" T&G SHEATHING, SEE 
2/S602 FOR NAILING PATTERN 

EXISTING FLOOR

NEW 2x4 SLOPING STUD 
WALL BESIDE RAMP, PLACE 
STUDS AT 16"OC

SCREW NEW BOTTOM 2X4 
PLATE TO EACH EXISTING 
FLOOR JOIST WITH (2) 
SIMPSON SDS25300 
SCREWS

SEE 3/S602 FOR 
CONNECTION

(2) SDS25300 THROUGH 
NEW JOIST INTO EACH 
STUD

NTSS601

1 SECTION

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S601

F
L

O
O

R
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
 A

N
D

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1" = 1'-0"S601

4 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S601

5 SECTION

1 1/2" = 1'-0"S601

7 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S601

3 SECTION

3/4" = 1'-0"S601

2 SECTION
1" = 1'-0"S601

8 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S601

9 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S601

10 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S601

11 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S601

12 SECTION

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

649

Item 4.



TWO-PLY AND THREE-PLY MEMBERS

FOUR-PLY MEMBERS

MULTI-PLY 
JOIST OR LVL

(2)10d NAILS, NAILED IN 
OPPOSITE DIRECTIONS; 
ALTERNATE AT EACH SET OF NAILS

MULTI-PLY 
JOIST OR LVL

(2)10d NAILS, NAILED IN 
OPPOSITE DIRECTIONS; 
ALTERNATE AT EACH SET OF 
NAILS AT EACH PLY

(2)1/2"Ø THRU BOLTS WITH WASHER 
UNDER HEAD AND NUT @24"OC IN 
ADDITION TO NAILING REQUIREMENTS

1'-0"

1'-0"

2
"

2
"

2
"

2
"

FIELD NAILING

SHEATHING
STAGGER
PANEL JOINTS

EDGE NAILING

S
U

P
P
O

R
T
 M

E
M

B
E
R

PROVIDE 1/8" GAP 
BETWEEN PANELS

S
U

P
P
O

R
T
 M

E
M

B
E
R

S
U

P
P
O

R
T
 M

E
M

B
E
R

S
U

P
P
O

R
T
 M

E
M

B
E
R

S
U

P
P
O

R
T
 M

E
M

B
E
R

NOTES:
1. INTERIOR WALLS ARE NOT GOVERNED PER THIS DETAIL, AND ARE DESIGNED AS 

UNBLOCKED AND UNSHEATHED.
2. SHEAR WALLS (INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR) ARE NOT GOVERNED PER THIS DETAIL. 

SEE SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE FOR NAILING AND BLOCKING REQUIREMENTS AT 
SHEAR WALLS.

3. GLUE FLOOR SHEATHING TO JOISTS WITH HEAVY DUTY LIQUID NAILS FOR 
CONSTRUCTION, OR EQUIVALENT

FLOORS 10d @6"OC 10d @6"OC

FIELD EDGE

NO

PANEL EDGE 
BLOCKING

T&G

SHEATHING 
EDGE DETAIL

NAILING
ELEMENT

(3) SIMPSON #9x1.5" 
SD SCREWS INTO NEW 
RAISED FLOOR JOISTS

EXISTING FLOOR 
SHEATHING

1/2" x 6" x CONT 
PLYWOOD STRIP 
@ 24"OC

CONT 2x4 @ 24"OC

NEW 2x12 FLOOR 
JOIST @ 16"OC

HEAVY DUTY LIQUID 
NAILS FOR 

CONSTRUCTION OR 
EQUIVALENT

EXISTING 2x12 
FLOOR JOIST (VIF)

(2) SIMPSON SDS25350 
@ EACH EXISTING 

FLOOR JOIST

(3) SIMPSON #9x3.5" 
SD SCREWS THROUGH 

BLOCKING INTO 
EXISTING FRAMING

SIMPSON GA2 CONNECTION 
ANGLE AT EACH END OF NEW 
RAISED FLOOR JOIST AND 
6'-0"OC MAX SPACING

(2) 10d TOE NAILS EACH 
JOIST

NTSS602

1 TYPICAL NAILING AT MULTI-PLY FRAMING

NTSS602

2 TYPICAL NAILING PATTERN FOR SHEATHING

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S602

F
L

O
O

R
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
 A

N
D

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1" = 1'-0"S602

3 SECTION

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

650

Item 4.



3"x3"x14 GUAGE BENT PLATE. 
SCREW TO EACH NEW STUD 
WITH (2) # 12 SCREWS 
ATTACH EXISTING STANDING 
SEAM METAL ROOF TO BENT 
PLATE PER MFR's STANDARDS 
AND SPECIFICATIONS

(4)#12 SCREWS

STIFFCLIP AL FROM NEW LIGHT 
GAGE MEMBER TO EXISTING 

ROOF Z PURLIN

NEW 600S162-54 CONNECTING 
EXISTING ROOF PURLINS AFTER 

ROOFING IS REMOVED

STIFFCLIP AL FROM NEW LIGHT 
GAGE MEMBER TO EXISTING 

ROOF CLOSURE PURLIN

3

S611

_______

TOS
25'-0" (VIF)

HOIST BEAM, SEE PLAN

STIFFCLIP AL600 WITH (3)#12 
SCREWS TO STUD AND (2) HILTI 

X-U 0.157"Ø PAF FASTENERS
600S162-54 STUD 
EACH SIDE OF RIDGE 
BEAM

600S162-54 JOISTS

LIGHT GAGE JOISTS @ 
24"OC

1 1/2" TYPE B 22GA 
METAL ROOF DECK

L3x3x3-54 WITH (4)#12 SCREWS 
THROUGH EACH LEG AT EACH 

JOIST TO RIDGE

STIFFCLIP AL EACH 
JOIST TO RIDGE

NEW HSS COLUMN, SEE PLAN

NEW SHEAR TABS WELDED TO 
COLUMN AND BOLTED TO 
EXISTING BEAM (PER STEEL 
SUPPLIER)

EXISTING VALLEY BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

CUT EXISTING VALLEY 
BEAM AS REQUIRED AT 
NEW CORNER COLUMN

7

S611

_______

NEW HSS COLUMN, SEE PLAN

NEW SHEAR TABS WELDED TO 
COLUMN AND BOLTED TO 

EXISTING BEAM (PER STEEL 
SUPPLIER)

EXISTING VALLEY BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

EXISTING VALLEY BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

CUT EXISTING VALLEY 
BEAM AS REQUIRED AT 
NEW CORNER COLUMN

FABRICATOR TO FIELD MEASURE 
NECESSARY LOCATION FOR 

CONNECTION

LG
B
M

1

LGBM1 LIGHT GAGE BOX BEAM 1

DESCRIPTIONLABEL

(1)600S162-54 NESTED WITH (1)600T125-54

R1 JOIST (1) 600S162-54

LG
BM

1 LGBM
1

LG
BM

1 LGBM
1

R
1

R
1

R
1

R
1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

2
'-

0
"

2
'-

0
"

2
'-

0
"

2
'-

0
"

R1

2
'-

0
"

2
'-

0
"

2
'-

0
"

2
'-

0
"

EXISTING EAVE 
STRUT

LG BENT PLATE AT FACIA 
W/ CONNECTION TO 
EXISTING EAVE STRUT

EXISTING ROOF Z-PURLIN 
(VIF)

METAL ROOF DECK

ROOF JOIST

VALLEY BOX BEAM

EXISTING STANDING 
SEAM ROOF DECK

STANDING METAL 
ROOF DECK

EXTEND NEW METAL ROOF 
DECK 2" BEYOND NEW LIGHT 

GAGE VALLEY BOX BEAM

NEW VALLEY

SEE ARCH FOR 
VALLEY FLASHING

(2) #12 SCREWS EACH JOIST

BEAM, SEE PLAN

2"x2"x16 GA (54 mil) CONT 
BENT PLATE

16 GA (54 mil) CONT BENT 
PLATE WITH 1 1/2" FLANGES

(3)#12 SCREWS INTO 
JOISTS AND (2) HILTI X-U 

0.157"Ø PAF FASTENERS

(1)#12 SCREW EACH JOIST

METAL ROOF DECK

STIFFCLIP AL600

NOTES:
1. ATTACH DECK TO SUPPORTING MEMBERS WITH SELF-DRILLING SELF-TAPPING HEX WASHER 

HEAD SCREWS. USE #12-24 FOR DECK ATTACHMENT TO SUPPORTS AND #10-16 FOR SIDELAP 
ATTACHMENT.

2. AT DECK BEARING SUPPORTS, PROVIDE SCREWS @12"OC (36/4 PATTERN).
3. AT SUPPORTS PARALLEL TO DECK SPAN, PROVIDE SCREWS @12"OC, TYPICAL.
4. AT DECK SIDELAPS/PERIMETER EDGE, PROVIDE SCREWS @12"OC, TYPICAL. WELDING OF 

SIDELAPS IS NOT PERMITTED FOR 22GA DECK.
5. ALL DECK ENDS TO BE LAPPED ON BOTH ENDS. DO NOT BUTT JOINTS.
6. DECK SECTION MINIMUM PROPERTIES: SEE TABLE BELOW.
7. DECK SHALL BE CONTINUOUS OVER (2) OR MORE SPANS, TYPICAL.
8. 5/8"Ø PUDDLE WELDS MAY BE USED FOR DECK ATTACHMENT TO SUPPORTS AT SAME SPACING 

SPECIFIED ABOVE. SIDELAP FASTENING MUST BE SCREWED AS DESCRIBED ABOVE.
9. CONTRACTOR OPTION TO SUBMIT MECHANICAL FASTENERS BY HILTI, SIMPSON STRONG-TIE, OR 

APPROVED EQUAL. SUBSTITUTION REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTS MAY BE SUBMITTED BY THE 
CONTRACTOR TO THE ENGINEER-OF-RECORD (EOR) FOR REVIEW. SUBSTITUTIONS WILL ONLY 
BE CONSIDERED FOR PRODUCTS THAT MEET THE CODE REQUIREMENTS FOR DECK 
ATTACHMENT, POSSESS A FM GLOBAL APPROVAL AND POSSESS A CODE REPORT (ICC-ES) 
RECOGNIZING THE PRODUCT FOR THE APPROPRIATE APPLICATION. SUBSTITUTION REQUESTS 
SHALL INCLUDE CALCULATIONS THAT DEMONSTRATE THE SUBSTITUTED PRODUCT IS CAPABLE 
OF ACHIEVING THE EQUIVALENT PERFORMANCE VALUES OF THE DESIGN BASIS PRODUCT. 
CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT MANUFACTURER’S REPRESENTATIVE FOR PRODUCT 
INSTALLATION TRAINING AND A LETTER SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE EOR INDICATING 
TRAINING HAS TAKEN PLACE. FASTENERS SHALL BE COLLATED AND INSTALLED USING THE 
MANUFACTURER’S DELIVERY TOOL AND FOLLOWING MANUFACTURER’S INSTRUCTIONS.

GALV METAL ROOF DECK, SEE 
SYMBOL LEGEND AND PLAN, 
(TYPE B) WIDE RIB

JOIST OR BEAM, 
SEE PLAN

36" WIDTH

1'-0"

SIDELAP 
CONNECTORS

DECK SUPPORTS
(36/4 PATTERN)

ROOF DECK 
ATTACHMENT DETAIL

DECK 
TYPE

DESIGN 
THICKNESS (in)

DECK 
WEIGHT (psf)

Ip (in4/ft) Sp (in3/ft) In (in4/ft) Sn (in3/ft) Va (lbs/ft) Fy (ksi)

B22 0.0295 1.78 0.155 0.186 0.183 0.192 1818 33

1" = 1'-0"S611

6 ELEVATION

1" = 1'-0"S611

7 PLAN VIEW

NTSS611

9 LIGHT GAGE BEAM SCHEDULE

1" = 1'-0"S611

10 SECTION

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S611

R
O

O
F

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

 A
N

D
 S

E
C

T
IO

N
S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

3/4" = 1'-0"S611

1 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S611

3 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S611

8 SECTION

3/4" = 1'-0"S611

11 TYPICAL 1 1/2" METAL ROOF DECK

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

651

Item 4.



HSS COLUMN, SEE PLAN

BEAM, SEE PLAN

L3x3x3-54 WITH (4) #12 SCREWS 
INTO HIP AND (2) HILTI XU 
0.157"Ø PAF FASTENER IN TO 
STEEL BEAM

LIGHT GAUGE HIP AND VALLEY, 
SEE PLAN

EXISTING Z-PURLIN

NEW LIGHT GAGE 
VALLEY BOX BEAM

NEW LIGHT GAGE 
RIDGE BOX BEAM

NEW LIGHT GAGE 
VALLEY BOX BEAM

14GA BENT PLATE 
CONNECTORS 5" WIDE W/ 
3" LONG LEGS EACH WAY. 
INSTALL W/ (3)#12 
SCREWS THROUGH EACH 
LEG INTO MEMBER

SEE DETAIL 9/S611 FOR 
MORE INFORMATION

L4X4X5.5-54 WITH (4)#12 
SCREWS THROUGH EACH LEG 
INTO HIP AND RIDGE

L4x4x5.5-54 WITH (4)#12 
SCREWS THROUGH EACH LEG 
INTO HIPS

R
ID

G
E

HIP
HIP

3/4" = 1'-0"S612

3 ENLARGED PLAN

717 LADY ST
SUITE B
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

T 803.203.6162
FIRM LICENSE #C01882

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

S23095.00

FOR PERMIT AND CONSTRUCTION

S612

R
O

O
F

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

 A
N

D
 S

E
C

T
IO

N
S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 R
E

C
. 

C
E

N
T

E
R

M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
O

03/25/2024

6
1
B

 U
L

M
E

R
 R

O
A

D
 |

 B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |

 S
C

 2
9
9

1
0

3/25/2024

1" = 1'-0"S612

1 SECTION

1" = 1'-0"S612

2 ENLARGED PLAN

R
E
V
.

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

652

Item 4.



BREAK ROOM

104

WOMEN

103
ENTRY

101

EXIST. MEN

102

EF-1

INSTALL FAN IN CEILING. ROUTE 6"Ø 
EXHAUST DUCT TO STORAGE ROOM 
ABOVE. COORDINATE EXACT LOCATION 
WITH ARCHITECT. FAN TO OPERATE VIA 
GRILLE-MOUNTED OCCUPANCY SENSOR.

INSTALL FAN IN CEILING. ROUTE 6"Ø 
EXHAUST DUCT TO STORAGE ROOM 
ABOVE. COORDINATE EXACT LOCATION 
WITH ARCHITECT. FAN TO OPERATE VIA 
GRILLE-MOUNTED OCCUPANCY SENSOR.

EF-2

6
"ø

6
"ø

ELEVATOR LOBBY

201

TOILET

202STORAGE

204

STORAGE

205

GYM

203

STORAGE

206

EF-3

INSTALL FAN IN CEILING. CONNECT 6"Ø 
EXHAUST LINE TO 6"Ø FROM BELOW, UPSIZE 

TO 8"Ø, AND ROUTE UP TO 8"Ø ROOF JACK. 
COORDINATE EXACT LOCATION WITH 

ARCHITECT. FAN TO OPERATE VIA GRILLE-
MOUNTED OCCUPANCY SENSOR.

6
"ø

ROUTE 6"Ø EXHAUST DUCT UP FROM 
BELOW AND UP TO 6"Ø ROOF JACK.

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

03/25/2024

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

ET
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

23210

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M101

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L

A
N

S

22-031-6

B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 R

E
C

. 
C

E
N

T
E

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O

03/05/2024

6
1
B

 U
L
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

 |
 B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |
 S

C
 2

9
9
1
0

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

MECHANICAL FIRST FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0"

2
MECHANICAL SECOND FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN

1

1

653

Item 4.



NO SCALE

EXHAUST FAN DETAIL

CEILING

PITCHED ROOFJACK PENETRATION DETAIL

D
U

C
T

 S
IZ

E
 P

E
R

 P
L
A

N
S

NO SCALE

M MOTORIZED DAMPER

TIMED OVERRIDE SWITCH.

CONNECT TO EXISTING

S
OA

DAE

FC

OUTSIDE AIRFLOW

DUCT AIR EXTRACTOR

FLEXIBLE CONNECTION

MECHANICAL SYMBOLS

SWITCH

THERMOSTAT

NIGHT SETBACK THERMOSTAT

RETURN AIR DUCT SECTION

SUPPLY AIR DUCT SECTION

MANUAL DAMPER

TURNING VANES

SPLITTER DAMPER

HI / LO RETURN

UNDERCUT DOOR

S

T

T

FD

AD

C

CEILING RETURN/EXHAUST GRILLE

2-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

ACCESS DOOR

SIDE WALL RETURN

SIDE WALL DIFFUSER

1-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

2-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

FIRE DAMPER

3-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

4-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

CONDENSATE PIPING

MECHANICAL NOTES

SMOKE DETECTORSD SD SMOKE DAMPER

PIPE CLEAN-OUTPCO

AFF ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR

BELOW FINISHED CEILINGBFC

OFD

RFD

OVAL FIRE DAMPER

ROUND FIRE DAMPER

CASED OPENINGCO

FIRE SMOKE DAMPERFSD

CARBON MONOXIDE DETECTORCO

CARBON DIOXIDE DETECTORCO
2

H HUMIDISTAT

OCCUPANCY SENSOROS

-DO NOT SCALE DRAWING. ROUGH FROM EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURER AND ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS.

-DIMENSIONS NOTED ON PLANS ARE IN INCHES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

-DUCT SIZES NOTED ON PLANS ARE INTERIOR DIMENSIONS.

-MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING ALL EQUIPMENT VOLTAGES, ELECTRICAL
REQUIREMENTS AND DISCONNECTS WITH THE ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO RELEASING EQUIPMENT
FROM MANUFACTURER.

-ALL DUCTWORK SHOWN ON DRAWING IS DIAGRAMMATIC. ACTUAL RUN SHALL BE SHORTEST POSSIBLE WITHOUT
SHARP BENDS. ALL DUCTWORK SHALL BE GALVANIZED STEEL INSTALLED PER SMACNA, INTERNATIONAL AND
LOCAL CODES WITH 2-1/4" THICK FIBERGLASS DUCT WRAP INSULATION AND/OR AS OUTLINED IN
SPECIFICATIONS.

-ALL DUCTWORK SHALL BE SEALED AIRTIGHT WITH MASTIC.  NO HEAT SENSITIVE, PRESSURE SENSITIVE OR DUCT
TAPE ALLOWED ON PROJECT.

-LOW PRESSURE DUCTWORK SHALL BE TESTED AND NOT EXCEED 3% AIRFLOW LOSS AT 2" PRESSURE CLASS.

-ALL DUCTWRAP INSULATION SHALL BE SEALED PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS FOR GLASS FABRIC
AND MASTIC INSTALLATIONS.  NO PRESSURE SENSITIVE TAPE SHALL BE ALLOWED.

-FLEXIBLE DUCTWORK WILL BE ALLOWED AT THE END OF GALVANIZED STEEL RUN OUTS; MAXIMUM LENGTH OF
FLEXIBLE DUCT SHALL NOT EXCEED 5'-0".

-ENTIRE MECHANICAL SYSTEMS SHALL BE INSTALLED PER 2021 INTERNATIONAL CODES WITH 2021 SOUTH
CAROLINA MODIFICATIONS EXCEPT THE ENERGY CODE SHALL BE 2009 SOUTH CAROLINA ENERGY
CONSERVATION CODE. ALSO, ALL LOCAL CODES & AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION SHALL APPLY.

-COORDINATION OF ALL MECHANICAL SYSTEMS WITH OTHER DISCIPLINES IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
CONTRACTOR.  NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO INSTALLING.  CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT
PROCEED WITH UNCERTAINTY.

-PROVIDE PLASTIC NAMEPLATES FOR ALL EQUIPMENT SPECIFIED ON PROJECT.  LABELING TAG SHALL BE SAME
AS EQUIPMENT NUMBER.

-ALL EQUIPMENT, PIPE AND DUCT SHALL BE SEISMICALLY RESTRAINED PER 2021 IBC.  SEISMIC RESTRAINT
SYSTEMS AS MANUFACTURED BY MASON INDUSTRIES, AMBER/BOOTH OR APPROVED EQUAL WHO MUST BE A
MEMBER OF VISCMA.  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE SEISMIC CALCULATIONS AND DRAWINGS CERTIFIED AND
STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER EMPLOYED BY THE MANUFACTURER.  CALCULATIONS TO MEET ICC, IBC, NFPA,
ASCE/SEI 7-10, SMACNA AND AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION (AHJ).

-PROVIDE TESTING AND BALANCING OF ALL SYSTEMS BY A THIRD PARTY NEBB CERTIFIED T&B CONTRACTOR.
SUBMIT T&B FORMS PRIOR TO PERFORMING WORK FOR APPROVAL.

-GENERAL AND MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND APPROVE ALL SHOP DRAWINGS PRIOR TO
SUBMITTING TO ENGINEER/ARCHITECT WITH "APPROVED" OR "APPROVED AS NOTED" STAMPS FOR ENGINEER'S
10 CALENDAR DAY REVIEW.

WEIGHT (EXCLUDING CURB) (LBS.)

DAMPER SIZE (IN)

LOCATION

ROOF/WALL OPENING SIZE (IN.)

DRIVE TYPE

VOLTAGE

FAN R.P.M.

MOTOR HORSEPOWER

STATIC PRESSURE (IN.)

AIRFLOW (C.F.M.)

MODEL NUMBER

MANUFACTURER

SYMBOL

SONES

DISCHARGE LOCATION

THREADED ROD.
SECURE TO
STRUCTURE.

EXHAUST
FAN.

ROUTE PER
FLOOR PLANS.

PROVIDE
DAMPER BY FAN
MANUFACTURER.

REMARKS:
*PRIOR TO ORDERING, CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY VOLTAGE AND ALL
ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS.

1.     PROVIDE BACKDRAFT DAMPER, SPEED CONTROLLER, AND
GRILLE-MOUNTED OCCUPANCY SENSOR.

FAN SCHEDULE
EF-1, 2, 3

GREENHECK

SP-B110ES

70

0.5

DIRECT

6"Ø

N/A

ROOF JACK

2.5

FRACTIONAL

650

115 / 1 / 60

RESTROOM

10

SEAL FLANGE TO
ROOF WATER TIGHT

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

03/25/2024

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

ET
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

23210

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M201

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

 A
N

D
 D

E
T

A
IL

S

22-031-6

B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 R

E
C

. 
C

E
N

T
E

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O

03/05/2024

6
1
B

 U
L
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

 |
 B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |
 S

C
 2

9
9
1
0

1

1

654

Item 4.



EXIST. MEN

102

BREAK ROOM

104

NOTE 2D.
NOTE 4D.
NOTE 6D.
NOTE 7D.

NOTE 2D.
NOTE 4D.
NOTE 6D.
NOTE 7D.

BREAK ROOM

104

WOMEN

103

EXIST. MEN

102

ENTRY

101

SP-1
COORDINATE EXACT LOCATION 
WITH ELEVATOR SUMP PIT.

CONNECT 1-1/2" SUMP PUMP DISCHARGE TO 
DOWNSPOUT ON EXTERIOR OF BUILDING AT 
APPROXIMATELY THIS LOCATION. PROVIDE 
ROUND TO RECTANGULAR TRANSITION TO 
TIE INTO DOWNSPOUT.

MODIFY EXISTING PLUMBING AS 
NECESSARY TO ACCOMODATE 
NEW ELEVATOR.

2
" 

S
S

NOTE 1.

NOTE 2.

NOTE 1.

NOTE 2.

1-1/2" SUMP PUMP 
DISCHARGE UP TO 
ABOVE CEILING.

2" V

2" SS

2" V

1-1/2" SUMP PUMP DISCHARGE BREAK ROOM

104

WOMEN

103

EXIST. MEN

102

ENTRY

101

NOTE 3.

MODIFY EXISTING PLUMBING AS 
NECESSARY TO ACCOMODATE 
NEW ELEVATOR.

NEW COLD WATER PIPING

NEW HOT WATER PIPING

NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING

NEW VENT PIPING

NEW PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

NOTE 1: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING TO
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE, LOCATION, DIRECTION
OF FLOW AND INVERT IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 2: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW VENT PIPING TO EXISTING VENT
PIPING. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND 
LOCATION IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 3: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW WATER SUPPLY PIPING TO EXISTING 
WATER SUPPLY PIPING. VERIFY EXACT 
SIZE AND LOCATION IN  FIELD PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION.

PLUMBING NOTES:

NOTE 1D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
WATER SUPPLY PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW WATER
SUPPLY PIPING. DISPOSITION EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 2D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING WATER SUPPLY PIPING. DISPOSITION
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 3D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
WASTE PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW WASTE
PIPING. DISPOSITION EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

PLUMBING DEMO NOTES:

NOTE 4D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING WASTE PIPING. DISPOSITION
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 5D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
VENT PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW VENT
PIPING. DISPOSITION EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 6D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING VENT PIPING. DISPOSITION
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 7D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE 
EXISTING FIXTURE(S). STORE AND PROTECT 
FOR REINSTALLATION.

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

03/25/2024

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

ET
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

23210

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P101

P
L

U
M

B
IN

G
 F

IR
S

T
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L

A
N

S

22-031-6

B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 R

E
C

. 
C

E
N

T
E

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O

03/05/2024

6
1
B

 U
L
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

 |
 B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |
 S

C
 2

9
9
1
0

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

PLUMBING FIRST FLOOR DEMOLITION PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

PLUMBING FIRST FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN - WASTE/VENT
1/8" = 1'-0"

3
PLUMBING FIRST FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN - WATER SUPPLY

655

Item 4.



NOTE 1D.
NOTE 3D.
NOTE 5D.
NOTE 7D.

NOTE 1.

MODIFY EXISTING PLUMBING AS 
NECESSARY TO ACCOMODATE 
NEW ELEVATOR.

LOCATE PUMP CONTROLS 
IN STORAGE ROOM.

MOVE EXISTING WATER 
HEATER TO THIS LOCATION.

P-1
P-2

EWC

NOTE 3.

MODIFY EXISTING PLUMBING AS 
NECESSARY TO ACCOMODATE 
NEW ELEVATOR.

NEW COLD WATER PIPING

NEW HOT WATER PIPING

NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING

NEW VENT PIPING

NEW PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

NOTE 1: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING TO
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE, LOCATION, DIRECTION
OF FLOW AND INVERT IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 2: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW VENT PIPING TO EXISTING VENT
PIPING. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND 
LOCATION IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 3: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW WATER SUPPLY PIPING TO EXISTING 
WATER SUPPLY PIPING. VERIFY EXACT 
SIZE AND LOCATION IN  FIELD PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION.

PLUMBING NOTES:

NOTE 1D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
WATER SUPPLY PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW WATER
SUPPLY PIPING. DISPOSITION EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 2D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING WATER SUPPLY PIPING. DISPOSITION
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 3D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
WASTE PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW WASTE
PIPING. DISPOSITION EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

PLUMBING DEMO NOTES:

NOTE 4D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING WASTE PIPING. DISPOSITION
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 5D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
VENT PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW VENT
PIPING. DISPOSITION EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 6D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING VENT PIPING. DISPOSITION
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 7D: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO REMOVE 
EXISTING FIXTURE(S). STORE AND PROTECT 
FOR REINSTALLATION.

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

03/25/2024

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

ET
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

23210

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P102

P
L

U
M

B
IN

G
 S

E
C

O
N

D
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N
S

22-031-6

B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 R

E
C

. 
C

E
N

T
E

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O

03/05/2024

6
1
B

 U
L
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

 |
 B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |
 S

C
 2

9
9
1
0

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

PLUMBING SECOND FLOOR DEMOLITION PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

PLUMBING SECOND FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN - WASTE/VENT
1/8" = 1'-0"

3
PLUMBING SECOND FLOOR RENOVATION PLAN - WATER SUPPLY

656

Item 4.



GENERAL PLUMBING NOTES

ALL VALVES INSTALLED ABOVE CEILINGS SHALL BE EASILY ACCESSIBLE. 
WHERE VALVES ARE INSTALLED ABOVE GYPSUM BOARD CEILINGS, 
PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ACCESS DOOR(S); MINIMUM 
16"x16", TO ALLOW EASY ACCESS.

DIMENSIONS ARE IN INCHES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.  ROUGH FROM ARCHITECTURAL AND/OR EQUIPMENT 
MANUFACTURERS DRAWINGS AND ROUGH IN SPECIFICATIONS.  REFER TO 
ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR LOCATION AND PLACEMENT OF FIXTURES. 

ALL HORIZONTAL SANITARY SEWER, WASTE AND DRAIN PIPING SHOWN ON 
DRAWINGS IS RUN BELOW FLOOR UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON DRAWINGS.

HOSE BIBBS AND/OR WALL HYDRANTS SHALL BE LOCATED 18" ABOVE 
FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL OR GRADE.

ALL WATER, SERVICE AND ROOF DRAIN PIPING SHOWN ON DRAWINGS IS 
RUN ABOVE CEILING UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON DRAWINGS.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ELECTRICAL VOLTAGES WITH 
ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO SUBMITTING SHOP DRAWING AND 
ORDERING EQUIPMENT.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL RATED WALL ASSEMBLIES, 
FLOORS AND ROOF ASSEMBLIES WITH ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS AND 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND SHALL PROVIDE APPROPRIATE 
PENETRATION ASSEMBLY FOR ALL PENETRATIONS OF WALLS, FLOORS 
AND ROOFS WHETHER IDENTIFIED ON DRAWINGS OR NOT.

ALL PIPING SHALL BE SUPPORTED FROM STRUCTURAL STEEL AND/OR 
CONCRETE BEAMS AND STRUCTURE.  PIPING SUPPORTED FROM ROOF 
AND/OR FLOOR METAL DECKING WILL NOT BE ALLOWED.

SLOPE ON ALL SEWER, WASTE AND DRAIN PIPING SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL 
STATE AND LOCAL CODES AND SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 7 OF 
THE 2021 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE.

ALL PLUMBING WORK IS TO BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LATEST 
EDITION OF THE 2021 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE AND IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ALL STATE AND LOCAL REQUIREMENTS.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY LOCATION, ELEVATIONS AND 
INVERTS OF ALL EXISTING SANITARY AND STORM SEWER SYSTEMS 
IDENTIFIED ON THESE DRAWINGS AND SHALL ADVISE ENGINEER OF ANY 
DISCREPANCIES WHICH EXISTS.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE ROUTING OF ALL PIPING 
WITH OTHER DISCIPLINES TO ELIMINATE CONFLICTS.  FAILURE TO DO SO 
WILL RESULT IN PLUMBING CONTRACTOR BEARING EXPENSE OF CHANGE 
ORDERS WHICH MAY RESULT.

ALL FLOOR PENETRATIONS ARE TO BE SEALED WATER TIGHT.  WHERE
PENETRATIONS OCCUR IN RAISED FLOOR ASSEMBLIES, SEALING MUST
CARRY A CLASS 1 "W" RATING.

GENERAL AND PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND APPROVE ALL
SHOP DRAWINGS PRIOR TO SUBMITTING TO ENGINEER/ARCHITECT. PROVIDE
GENERAL & PLUMBING "APPROVED" OR "APPROVED AS NOTED" STAMPS ON
SUBMITTAL PRIOR TO SUBMITTING FOR ENGINEER'S/ARCHITECT'S REVIEW.

ALL WATER PIPING INSTALLED ABOVE GRADE OUTSIDE OF THE BUILDING HEATED 
ENVELOPE IS TO BE HEAT TRACED AND INSULATED. LOCATIONS INCLUDE BUT ARE 
NOT LIMITED TO BUILDING EXTERIOR, ATTICS, CRAWLSPACES, AND GARAGES. 
HEAT TRACE IS TO BE SELF REGULATING RAYCHEM XL TRACE; 5 WATTS/FT; OR 
EQUAL. INSULATION TO BE 1" FIBERGLASS. WHERE INSULATION IS EXPOSED TO 
PRECIPITATION, ALUMINUM JACKET IS TO BE PROVIDED.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO FLUSH, CLEAN, AND SCOPE ALL BELOW SLAB WASTE 
PIPING WITH CAMERA PRIOR TO SLAB BEING POURED. CAMERA SCOPE SHALL 
TAKE PLACE IMMEDIATELY AFTER WATER HAS BEEN DRAINED FROM THE PIPE 
AND AFTER BACKFILL AND COMPACTION. AT THE CONTRACTOR'S OPTION, AN 
ADDITIONAL SCOPE MAY BE PERFORMED PRIOR TO BACKFILL. PROVIDE TAPE TO 
ENGINEER FOR REVIEW. IF AREAS OF BELOW SLAB PIPING ARE DETERMINED TO 
BE UNSATISFACTORY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND REPAIR PIPING TO 
A SATISFACTORY CONDITION. UPON COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT, THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL CAMERA BELOW SLAB PIPE, AND PROVIDE A TAPE OF FINAL 
CONDITIONS WITH DESCRIPTION OF PIPE LOCATION TO THE OWNER.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW ALL PLUMBING AND ARCHITECTURAL 
DRAWINGS PRIOR TO BID DATE AND VERIFY NUMBER AND LOCATION OF ALL 
EQUIPMENT AND FIXTURES.  ANY EQUIPMENT AND/OR FIXTURES INDICATED ON 
ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOT SHOWN ON PLUMBING DRAWINGS 
SHALL BE INCLUDED IN CONTRACTORS BID AND SCOPE OF WORK AND SHALL 
INCLUDE ALL MATERIALS, PIPING AND LABOR REQUIRED TO CONNECT 
EQUIPMENT AND/OR FIXTURES TO NEAREST SERVICE OF ADEQUATE SIZE. 
EQUIPMENT AND/OR FIXTURES SHALL BE AS SPECIFIED OR APPROVED EQUAL.  
PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE ROUTING OF PIPING BELOW 
BUILDING WITH STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS TO AVOID CONFLICTS.

INSULATE ALL WATER PIPE, HORIZONTAL ROOF DRAIN PIPING, AND SANITARY 
SEWER PIPING WHICH RECEIVES CONDENSATE FROM MECHANICAL UNITS AND OR 
DISCHARGE FROM ICE MACHINES/MAKERS, ABOVE GRADE WITH 1" THICK 
FIBERGLASS PIPE INSULATION, 3 LB. DENSITY, GASTON-BARON SNAP-ON, OWENS 
CORNING FIBERGLASS, OR KNAUF WITH STANDARD VAPOR BARRIER 
JACKET. SEAL ALL SEAMS AND JOINTS WITH WATERPROOF MASTIC. IN EXPOSED 
INTERIOR AREAS, SUCH AS MECHANICAL ROOMS, COVER INSULATION WITH 10 OZ. 
CANVAS JACKET SECURED AND TREATED WITH AEROSOL ADHESIVE AND INSTALL 
PVC JACKETS AT ALL ELBOWS, JOINTS ETC. COVER INSULATION IN EXTERIOR 
EXPOSED AREAS WITH .016" CORRUGATED ALUMINUM JACKET. SECURE JACKET 
WITH BANDS AND SEAL WATER TIGHT IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER’S 
INSTRUCTIONS.

NOTE:

VERIFY VOLTAGE WITH ELECTRICAL
CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO ORDERING
EQUIPMENT.

PUMP SCHEDULE

VOLTAGE

IMPELLER DIAMETER (IN.)

DISCHARGE SIZE (IN.)

SUCTION SIZE (IN.)

REMARKS:

FLOW (G.P.M.)

TOTAL DYNAMIC HEAD (FT.)

HORSEPOWER

SYMBOL

R.P.M.

MANUFACTURER

MODEL NUMBER

1-1/2"

1-1/2"

115

1725

ZOELLER

MODEL BN137

50

17

1/2

SP-1

N/A

MOTOR

PROVIDE WITH ALL FLOATS AND CONTROLS.  CONTROL PANEL TO BE 
IN NEMA 4X ENCLOSURE.

D

D
D

D
D D

D D

FLOOR

ELEVATOR SUMP PUMP DETAIL

NO SCALE

SP-1
REFER TO PUMP 
SCHEDULE.

CEILING

~

ROUTE PER 
FLOOR PLANS.

1-1/2" DISCHARGE FROM 
ELEVATOR SUMP PUMP. 
ROUTE UP IN ELEV. SHAFT.

COORDINATE EXACT 
LOCATION WITH 
ELEVATOR SUMP PIT. BALL VALVE

CHECK VALVE

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

03/25/2024

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

ET
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

23210

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P201

P
L

U
M

B
IN

G
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L
E

S

22-031-6

B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 R

E
C

. 
C

E
N

T
E

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O

03/05/2024

6
1
B

 U
L
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

 |
 B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |
 S

C
 2

9
9
1
0

657

Item 4.



NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

03/25/2024

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

ET
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

23210

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P301

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

 S
P

E
C

S

22-031-6

B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 R

E
C

. 
C

E
N

T
E

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O

03/05/2024

6
1
B

 U
L
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

 |
 B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |
 S

C
 2

9
9
1
0

658

Item 4.



NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

03/25/2024

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

ET
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

23210

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P302

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

 S
P

E
C

S

22-031-6

B
L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 R

E
C

. 
C

E
N

T
E

R
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O

03/05/2024

6
1
B

 U
L
M

E
R

 R
O

A
D

 |
 B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 |
 S

C
 2

9
9
1
0

659

Item 4.



ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - GENERAL ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - LIGHTING SYSTEMS AND ACCESSORIES ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - POWER

ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - COMMUNICATIONS

ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - ELEVATOR RECALL SYSTEM

ABBREVIATIONS

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 
R

E
C

.
 
C

E
N

T
E

R

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O

06/04/2024

6
1

B
 
U

L
M

E
R

 
R

O
A

D
 
|
 
B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 
|
 
S

C
 
2

9
9

1
0

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2304-16121

6/4/2024

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
S

Y
M

B
O

L
S

 
S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

 
&

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

660

Item 4.



TYPICAL SINGLE RELAY WIRING SCHEMATIC

AUTOMATIC WALL SENSOR SWITCH

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 
R

E
C

.
 
C

E
N

T
E

R

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O

06/04/2024

6
1

B
 
U

L
M

E
R

 
R

O
A

D
 
|
 
B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 
|
 
S

C
 
2

9
9

1
0

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2304-16121

6/4/2024

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
S

Y
M

B
O

L
S

 
S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

 
&

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

661

Item 4.



’

– 

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 
R

E
C

.
 
C

E
N

T
E

R

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O

06/04/2024

6
1

B
 
U

L
M

E
R

 
R

O
A

D
 
|
 
B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 
|
 
S

C
 
2

9
9

1
0

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2304-16121

6/4/2024

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
S

P
E

C
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

662

Item 4.



UP

UP

ELEV.

ICEREF.

DN

DN

B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

GYM

ELEV.

B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

UP

UP

UP

UP

OPEN

EXISTING FLOOR TO REMAIN

B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

NEW ELEV.

B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

UP

UP

OPEN

UP

R
A

M
P

 
D

N

DOWN

DOWN

HANDRAIL

ELEVATOR LOBBY

201

TOILET

202

GYM

203

STORAGE

206

ACTIVITY ROOM

109

STORAGE

110

STORAGE

205

STORAGE

204

BREAK ROOM

104

WOMEN

103

EXIST. MEN

102

ENTRY

101

ELEC.

105

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 
R

E
C

.
 
C

E
N

T
E

R

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O

06/04/2024

6
1

B
 
U

L
M

E
R

 
R

O
A

D
 
|
 
B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 
|
 
S

C
 
2

9
9

1
0

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2304-16121

6/4/2024

1

E101

ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION PLAN - 1ST FLOOR
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2

E101

ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION PLAN - 2ND FLOOR
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

3

E101

LIGHTING RENOVATION PLAN - 1ST FLOOR
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

4

E101

LIGHTING RENOVATON PLAN - 2ND FLOOR
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
D

E
M

O
L

I
T

I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N
 
&

 
L

I
G

H
T

I
N

G
 
R

E
N

O
V

A
T

I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

663

Item 4.



B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

NEW ELEV.

B
L
E

A
C

H
E

R
S

UP

UP

OPEN

UP

R
A

M
P

 
D

N

DOWN

DOWN

HANDRAIL

ELEVATOR LOBBY

201

TOILET

202

GYM

203

STORAGE

206

ACTIVITY ROOM

109

STORAGE

110

STORAGE

205

STORAGE

204

BREAK ROOM

104

WOMEN

103

EXIST. MEN

102

ENTRY

101

ELEC.

105

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-6

B
L

U
F

F
T

O
N

 
R

E
C

.
 
C

E
N

T
E

R

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O

06/04/2024

6
1

B
 
U

L
M

E
R

 
R

O
A

D
 
|
 
B

L
U

F
F

T
O

N
 
|
 
S

C
 
2

9
9

1
0

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2304-16121

6/4/2024

3

E101

POWER, COMMUNICATIONS AND SYSTEMS RENOVATION PLAN - 1ST FLOOR
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

4

E101

P
O

W
E

R
,
 
C

O
M

M
U

N
I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
 
A

N
D

 
S

Y
S

T
E

M
S

 
 
R

E
N

O
V

A
T

I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

POWER, COMMUNICATIONS AND SYSTEMS RENOVATION PLAN - 2ND FLOOR
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

664

Item 4.



________________________________________________________________ 
Project Title: Modifications to Bluffton Rec. Center Report date: 03/21/24 
Data filename: \ \ ETI-SERVER\ ETI shared\ Projects\ 2304-16121 Bluffton Rec Center Renovations - Beaufort Co\ Comcheck\ 240321 Bluffton Rec 
Comcheck.cck Page 1 

 

 
 
COMcheck Software Version 4.1.5.5 

Interior Lighting Compliance Certificate 

Section 1: Project Information 

Energy Code: 2009 IECC 
Project Title: Modifications to Bluffton Rec. Center 
Project Type: Alteration 
 
Construction Site: 

 
Owner/Agent: 

 
Designer/Contractor: 

61B Ulmer Road 
Bluffton, SC 29910 

 

Mark Sutton 
Beaufort Co. CIP Department 
104 Industrial Village Drive 
Building #3 
Beaufort, SC 29906 
843-255-2695 
mark.sutton@bcgov.net 

Bryson D. Tucker, P.E. 
ETi Engineering, LLC 
5725 Bush River Road 
Columbia, SC 29212 
803-233-9396 x101 
btucker@etiservices.net 

Section 2: Interior Lighting and Power Calculation 

A 
Area Category 

B 
Floor Area 

(ft2) 

C 
Allowed 

Watts / ft2 

D 
Allowed Watts 

(B x C) 
Storage 204 (Convention Center) 243 1.2 292 
Restroom Women 103 (Convention Center) 55 1.2 66 
Elevator Pit (Convention Center) 47 1.2 56 
Elevator Machine Area (Convention Center) 47 1.2 56 
Elevator Lobby 1st Fl (Convention Center) 78 1.2 94 
Elevator Lobby 2nd Floor (Convention Center) 73 1.2 88 
Elec Room (Convention Center) 83 1.2 100 

 
Total Allowed Watts = 751 

 

Section 3: Interior Lighting Fixture Schedule 

A 
Fixture ID : Description / Lamp / Wattage Per Lamp / Ballast 

B 
Lamps/ 

Fixture 

C 
# of 
Fixtures 

D 
Fixture 
Watt. 

E 
(C X D) 

Storage 204 ( Convention Center 243 sq.ft.) 
LED 1: 4C: LED Linear Strip: LED Linear 33W: 1 4 31.2 124.8 

Restroom Women 103 ( Convention Center 55 sq.ft.) 
LED 2: 4B: LED Surface Mount: LED Linear 33W: 1 1 34 34 

Elevator Pit ( Convention Center 47 sq.ft.) 
LED 3: 4V: LED Vapor Tight: LED Linear 33W: 1 2 33 66 

Elevator Machine Area ( Convention Center 47 sq.ft.) 
LED 3 copy 1: 4V: LED Vapor Tight: LED Linear 33W: 1 2 33 66 

Elevator Lobby 1st Fl ( Convention Center 78 sq.ft.) 
LED 5: 4W: LED Wall Emerg: LED Other Fixture Unit 40W: 1 1 39.5 39.5 

Elevator Lobby 2nd Floor ( Convention Center 73 sq.ft.) 

665

Item 4.



________________________________________________________________ 
Project Title: Modifications to Bluffton Rec. Center Report date: 03/21/24 
Data filename: \ \ ETI-SERVER\ ETI shared\ Projects\ 2304-16121 Bluffton Rec Center Renovations - Beaufort Co\ Comcheck\ 240321 Bluffton Rec 
Comcheck.cck Page 2 

LED 5 copy 1: 4W: LED Wall Emerg: LED Other Fixture Unit 40W: 1 1 39.5 39.5 
Elec Room ( Convention Center 83 sq.ft.) 

LED 3 copy 2: 4VC: LED Vapor Tight: LED Linear 33W: 1 2 33 66 
Total Proposed Watts = 436 

Section 4: Requirements Checklist 

Interior Lighting PASSES 

Lighting Wattage: 
 1. Total proposed watts must be less than or equal to total allowed watts. 
    
  

  Allowed Watts 

      

 
 Proposed Watts 

      

 
Complies 

      
        751        436 Passes 

Controls, Switching, and Wiring: 

n/a 2. Daylight zones under skylights more than 15 feet from the perimeter have lighting controls separate from daylight zones adjacent 
to vertical fenestration. 

n/a 3. Daylight zones have individual lighting controls independent from that of the general area lighting. 
     

Exceptions: 
Contiguous daylight zones spanning no more than two orientations are allowed to be controlled by a single controlling device. 
Daylight spaces enclosed by walls or ceiling height partitions and containing two or fewer light fixtures are not required to have a 
separate switch for general area lighting. 

 4. Independent controls for each space (switch/occupancy sensor). 
     

Exceptions: 
Areas designated as security or emergency areas that must be continuously illuminated. 
Lighting in stairways or corridors that are elements of the means of egress. 

n/a 5. Master switch at entry to hotel/motel guest room. 

n/a 6. Individual dwelling units separately metered. 

n/a 7. Medical task lighting or art/history display lighting claimed to be exempt from compliance has a control device independent of the 
control of the nonexempt lighting. 

 8. Each space required to have a manual control also allows for reducing the connected lighting load by at least 50 percent by either 
controlling all luminaires, dual switching of alternate rows of luminaires, alternate luminaires, or alternate lamps, switching the middle 
lamp luminaires independently of other lamps, or switching each luminaire or each lamp. 
     

Exceptions: 
Only one luminaire in space. 
An occupant-sensing device controls the area. 
The area is a corridor, storeroom, restroom, public lobby or sleeping unit. 
Areas that use less than 0.6 Watts/sq.ft. 

 9. Automatic lighting shutoff control in buildings larger than 5,000 sq.ft. 
     

Exceptions: 
Sleeping units, patient care areas; and spaces where automatic shutoff would endanger safety or security. 

n/a 10. Photocell/astronomical time switch on exterior lights. 
     

Exceptions: 
Lighting intended for 24 hour use. 

n/a 11. Tandem wired one-lamp and three-lamp ballasted luminaires (No single-lamp ballasts). 
     

Exceptions: 
Electronic high-frequency ballasts; Luminaires on emergency circuits or with no available pair. 

 

666

Item 4.



________________________________________________________________ 
Project Title: Modifications to Bluffton Rec. Center Report date: 03/21/24 
Data filename: \ \ ETI-SERVER\ ETI shared\ Projects\ 2304-16121 Bluffton Rec Center Renovations - Beaufort Co\ Comcheck\ 240321 Bluffton Rec 
Comcheck.cck Page 3 

 

Section 5: Compliance Statement 

Compliance Statement:  The proposed lighting alteration project represented in this document is consistent with the building plans, specifications and 
other calculations submitted with this permit application. The proposed lighting alteration project has been designed to meet the 2009 IECC, Chapter 8, 
requirements in COMcheck Version 4.1.5.5 and to comply with the mandatory requirements in the Requirements Checklist. 

 
 
 
 
Bryson D. Tucker, P.E. 

  
 
 
 
3/21/2024 

Name - Title Signature Date 
 

 

667

Item 4.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of Contract Award to Mitchell Brothers Construction, Inc. for IFB #101724, Booker T. 
Washington Community Center Renovation ($491,589.00). 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee - January 21, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Gecy, Interim Director, Capital Projects (5 mins) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The Booker T. Washington Community Center is scheduled for renovation. Bids were received on October 17 
with four respondents offering qualified bids. Mitchell Brothers Construction posted a low bid amount of 
$446,899.00. Staff found this amount to be fair and reasonable. 

 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Parks and Recreation wishes to renovate the Booker T. Washington Community Center in Sheldon. The facility 
is long overdue for a facelift to update mechanical and electrical systems as well as an upgraded kitchen. The 
project scope includes: New cabinets and counter tops, Replace flooring, Paint interior surfaces, Replace or 
Repair ceiling tile systems, Replace light fixtures with LED, Renovate restrooms and make ADA accessible. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

$329,643 of the funding comes from Parks and Recreation Capital Fund, 4000-80-1600-54420 and $161,946 
of the funding comes from Capital Improvements Capital Fund, 4000-80-1330-54420.  

Current account balances are Parks and Recreation Capital Fund $ 9,658,107.06 and Capital Improvements 
Capital Fund 4,592,711.30. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommend approval of the contract to Mitchell Brothers Construction, LLC for IFB #101724, Booker T. 
Washington Community Center Renovation in the amount of $446,899.00 with a $44,689.90, (10%) 
contingency for a total of $491,588.90 for the renovation of Booker T. Washington Community Center in 
Sheldon. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of award to Mitchell Brothers Construction, Inc. for IFB #101724, 
Booker T. Washington Community Center Renovation. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award Mitchell Brothers Construction, Inc. for IFB #101724, 
Booker T. Washington Community Center Renovation. 

 

668

Item 5.



669

Item 5.



 

Beaufort County, SC 

Capital Projects 
Hank Amundson, Special Assistant to County Administrator 

PO Box 1228, Beaufort, SC 29902 
 

 

 

EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 

Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
RESPONSE DEADLINE: October 17, 2024 at 3:00 pm 
Report Generated:  Monday, November 25, 2024 

 
SELECTED VENDOR TOTALS   

Vendor Total 

Mitchell Brothers Inc $446,899.00 

Beaufort Construction of 
SC, LLC 

$456,312.00 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

$478,681.22 

Preferred Properties LLC $584,558.00 
 

TABLE 1   

 Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Madco 
Contracting 

and 
Consulting 

Services 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Preferred 
Properties 

LLC 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X 1 General Conditions (Bonds, Insurance, & Supervision, Project Staking & 
Layout) 

ea $52,283.00 $15,256.37 $33,925.00 $42,700.00 

X 2 Permits, Business Lic. & Tap Fees ea $22,000.00 $5,861.89 $2,875.00 $5,000.00 

670

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 2 

 Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Madco 
Contracting 

and 
Consulting 

Services 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Preferred 
Properties 

LLC 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X 3 Mobilization ea $4,500.00 $17,802.10 $8,050.00 $10,000.00 

X 4 Demolition ea $18,627.00 $20,286.26 $9,315.00 $31,025.00 

X 5 Concrete ea $4,500.00 $8,435.40 $4,025.00 $10,000.00 

X 7 Misc. Metals ea $2,500.00 $3,338.45 $0.00 $12,000.00 

X 8 Wood Framing, Wall & Roof Sheathing ea $16,750.00 $4,506.85 $10,100.00 $9,100.00 

X 10 Wall & Roof Hold-downs & Clips ea $2,050.00 $4,035.03 $1,000.00 $9,100.00 

X 11 Thermal & Moisture Protection ea $3,800.00 $5,784.90 $500.00 $9,100.00 

X 12 Doors, Frames, & Hardware ea $15,395.00 $24,635.00 $28,750.00 $9,100.00 

X 15 Drywall ea $28,000.00 $2,675.35 $15,564.00 $9,100.00 

X 16 Exterior Trim ea $1,200.00 $3,326.66 $500.00 $9,100.00 

X 17 Casework & Tops ea $34,500.00 $26,448.22 $40,057.00 $9,100.00 

X 18 Interior Trim ea $1,200.00 $6,879.24 $2,000.00 $9,100.00 

X 19 Finishes (Paint) ea $14,900.00 $5,180.24 $20,700.00 $9,100.00 

X 20 Floor Finish ea $15,312.00 $26,000.00 $28,750.00 $9,100.00 

671

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 3 

 Beaufort 
Construction 

of SC, LLC 

Madco 
Contracting 

and 
Consulting 

Services 

Mitchell 
Brothers Inc 

Preferred 
Properties 

LLC 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost Unit Cost 

X 21 Specialties (Toilet fixtures) ea $1,260.00 $4,898.24 $2,723.00 $5,627.00 

X 22 Mechanical (plumbing Rough-in, ventilation) ea $86,400.00 $80,473.90 $107,987.00 $131,760.00 

X 23 Plumbing Fixtures & Labor ea $36,450.00 $87,934.35 $38,543.00 $56,389.00 

X 24 Electrical Rough-in ea $83,500.00 $122,042.70 $91,535.00 $153,720.00 

X 25 Other (Specify): ea $1,685.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

X 26 Remove all waste & dispose off-site ea $9,500.00 $2,880.07 $0.00 $10,000.00 

X 27 Addendums Affecting Price not listed above: (if any) Add lines as 
required 

ea $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $25,337.00 

 29 Total ea $456,312.00 $478,681.22 $461,187.00 $584,558.00 

Total $456,312.00 $478,681.22 $446,899.00 $584,558.00 
 

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE PASS/FAIL 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

Certification Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Contact information of 
authorized representative? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

672

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 4 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

100% Labor and Material 
Payment Bond 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Bidder Confirmation Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Communications Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Are you submitting this bid as 
a local vendor? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Local Vendor Preference - 
Participation Affidavit 

Pass No Response Pass No Response 

Non-Collusion Affidavit of 
Prime Bidder 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Will you be using 
subcontractors? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Non-Collusion Affidavit of 
Subcontractor 

Pass No Response Pass Pass 

Certification By Contractor 
Regarding Non-Segregated 

Facilities 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Consent of Surety Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Business Organization     

Type of Business Organization: Pass Pass Pass Pass 

If you selected "Other" for 
your type of business, please 

explain: 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

If applicable, please provide 
name of partners and 

additional information below: 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

673

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 5 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

If your agency is a 
Corporation: 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Are you a Subchapter S 
Corporation? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Please provide Subchapter S 
Shareholders: 

Pass No Response Pass Pass 

If individually owned: Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Have you ever operated under 
another name? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Please provide all other 
business names and addresses 
of principal place of business 

for each business: 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Bonding     

Please provide the Bonding 
information: 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Do you intend to use any 
alternative form of security 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Indicate the form of security 
you intend to use and the 
name, address, point of 
contact, and telephone 

number of the banks, savings 
and loan, or surety you intend 
to use. (NOTE: Prequalification 
will not assure acceptance of 

any form of security.) 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

674

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 6 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

Have any Performance or 
Payment Bond claims ever 
been paid by any surety on 

behalf of your organization? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

State the name of the 
project(s); the date; the name, 

address, telephone number, 
and contact person for the 

claimant; the surety satisfying 
the claim; the size of the 

claim; and the circumstances 
giving rise to the claim. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Have you ever arbitrated or 
litigated a claim with an 

Owner, Architect, or Engineer 
in the last five years? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

State the name of the 
project(s); the date; the name, 

address, telephone number, 
and contact person for the 

claimant; the surety satisfying 
the claim; the size of the 

claim; and the circumstances 
giving rise to the claim. 
(Provide attachments if 

necessary.) 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

675

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 7 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

Have you or any officer, 
partner, or owner of your 

organization, in any state or 
territory of the United States, 
or with respect to any agency 
of the Federal government: 

    

In the last in the last five 
years, received any fines or 
citations for building code 

violations which were 
unrelated to design? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Ever been found to be guilty 
of charges relating to conflicts 

of interest: 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Ever been convicted on 
charges related to any 

criminal activity relating to 
construction means, methods, 
or techniques; bidding or bid 

rigging; or bribery? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

676

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 8 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, been 
found guilty of any minority 
contracting law violations? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, pleaded 
no contest in any criminal 

proceeding related to 
contracting? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Ever been disbarred from 
doing Federal, state, or local 

government work for any 
reason? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Ever been terminated on a 
contract due to your default? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

677

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 9 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, paid 
liquidated damages for being 

late on a project? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

In the last five years, been 
subject to tax collection 

proceedings? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

In the last seven years, filed 
for bankruptcy? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Provide the name, address, 
telephone number, contact 
person, and circumstances 

relating to the question. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Under what chapter of 
bankruptcy did you file? 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

678

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 10 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

If you filed under Chapter 11 
Reorganization, how long did 

you operate under this status? 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Are you operating under 
Chapter 11 status now? 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

Safety     

Have you, in the last three 
years, been cited for willful 

violations for failure to abate, 
or for repeated violations, by 

the United States 
Occupational Safety and 

Health Administration or by 
the South Carolina 

Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration or by 

any other governmental 
body? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

State date, name, address, 
telephone number, and 

contact person for agency 
issuing citation and the nature 

of the violation. Also, advise 
the amount of fines paid, if 
any. Provide attachments if 

necessary. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

List your worker’s 
compensation experience 
modifier for the last three 

years. 

No Response No Response No Response No Response 

679

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 11 

Question Title Beaufort Construction of SC, 
LLC 

Madco Contracting and 
Consulting Services 

Mitchell Brothers Inc Preferred Properties LLC 

References     

Provide at least two 
references from each industry 

group listed. Provide other 
references as requested. 
Provide current names, 
addresses, telephone 

numbers, and contacts. 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Certification regarding 
Debarment, Suspension, 

Ineligibility, and Voluntary 
Exclusion: 

    

The contractor certifies: Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Explain fully if it has been 
involved in any litigation 
involving performance. 

No Response Pass No Response No Response 

Small and Minority Business 
Participation Program 

    

Are you a Small or Minority 
Business ? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Upload your Small/Minority 
Documentation 

No Response Pass Pass No Response 

Are you self-performing 
100%? 

Pass Pass Pass Pass 

Self-Performing 100% Affidavit No Response Pass No Response No Response 

Good Faith Agencies 
Distribution List 

Pass No Response Pass Pass 

680

Item 5.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
IFB No. IFB #101724 
Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
Invitation For Bid - Booker T Washington Community Center Renovations 
Page 12 

 

681

Item 5.



561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

CVR

C
O

VE
R

 S
H

EE
T

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

MODIFICATIONS/UPDATES:
BOOKER T. WASHINGTON PARK 

COMMUNITY CENTER

143 BOOKER T WASHINGTON CIRCLE 
YEMASSEE, SC 29945

682

Item 5.



1 FLOOR PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0"

DRAWING TITLE

INDICATES 
THE VIEW 
TITLE

INDICATES THE 
VIEW NUMBER

INDICATES THE 
VIEW SCALE

INDICATES DIRECTION
OF CUTTING PLANE

INDICATES THE
SECTION NUMBER

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER  WHERE 
SECTION IS DRAWN

1
A5.1

BUILDING / WALL SECTION CUT

INTERIOR ELEVATION

EXTERIOR ELEVATION

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER  WHERE 
ELEVATION IS 
DRAWN

INDICATES THE 
ELEVATION
NUMBER

INDICATES VIEW 
DIRECTION

1
A5.1

ROOM NUMBER IDENTIFICATION

104
OFFICE

INDICATES 
THE ROOM 
NAME

INDICATES THE 
ROOM 
NUMBER

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER WHERE 
DETAIL/PLAN IS DRAWN

INDICATES THE 
DETAIL / PLAN 
NUMBER

DETAIL / ENLARGED PLAN NUMBER 
IDENTIFICATION

1
A4.1

SIM

SIMILAR TO 
THAT SHOWN

DOOR NUMBER
REFER TO DOOR SCHEDULE

101A

DOOR NUMBER IDENTIFICATION

WINDOW NUMBER

WINDOW NUMBER IDENTIFICATION

W1

WALL TAG IDENTIFICATION

SR1 WALL TAG
REFER TO WALL LEGEND, IF PROVIDEDb

KEY NOTE NUMBER

DEMOLITION KEY NOTE IDENTIFICATION

1

LEVEL HEAD

FIN. FLR. EL.
0'-0"

INDICATES VIEW
DIRECTION

INDICATES THE
ELEVATION NUMBER

INDICATES SHEET 
NUMBER  WHERE 
ELEVATION IS 
DRAWN

1
A5.1

SYMBOL LEGEND

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

G101

G
EN

ER
AL

 N
O

TE
S 

& 
IN

FO
, S

YM
BO

L 
LE

G
EN

D
, L

IS
T 

O
F 

D
R

AW
IN

G
S

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

LIST OF DRAWINGS

SHEET SHEET DESCRIPTION

CVR COVER SHEET

G101 GENERAL NOTES & INFO, SYMBOL LEGEND, LIST OF DRAWINGS
1.  CONTRACTOR AND SUBCONTRACTORS SHALL VISIT THE SITE PRIOR TO BIDDING TO BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE EXISTING CONDITIONS 
AFFECTING THE WORK.

2.  IN KEEPING WITH PARAGRAPH 3.2.1 OF THE GENERAL CONDITIONS, AIA DOCUMENT A201, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW THE 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS SO AS TO DETERMINE IF THE INFORMATION SHOWN IS SUFFICIENT FOR HIM TO COMPLETE THE WORK AS 
DESIGNED.  HE SHALL NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT IN WRITING OF ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION NEEDED.  FAILURE TO NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT 
CONSTITUTES HIS ACCEPTANCE THAT THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS ARE SUFFICIENTLY COMPLETE TO ACCOMPLISH THE WORK AND ANY 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROVIDED SUBSEQUENT TO AWARD OF THE CONTRACT IS SUBJECT TO THE ARCHITECT'S INTERPRETATION.

3.  EACH TRADE SHALL INSPECT THE PREVIOUS WORK/TRADE WHICH IS TO RECEIVE HIS WORK/TRADE AND SHALL NOTIFY THE GENERAL 
CONTRACTOR IN WRITING OF ANY UNACCEPTABLE CONDITIONS.  BY STARTING WORK HE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE PREVIOUS WORK IS 
SUITABLE TO ACCEPT HIS WORK/TRADE AND TO PRODUCE THE INTENDED RESULTS.

4.  CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY AND COORDINATE FINISH OPENINGS AND DIMENSIONS AFFECTING INSTALLATION OF FABRICATED AND/OR BUILT-
IN ITEMS OR EQUIPMENT.

5.  RUN ALL MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL ITEMS AT RIGHT ANGLES TIGHT TO STRUCTURE AND/OR WALLS UNLESS NOTED SPECIFICALLY 
OTHERWISE.

6.  WHERE DISCREPANCIES MAY OCCUR BETWEEN PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS, OR BETWEEN VARIOUS PARTS OF THE PLANS, THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE THE GREATER QUANTITY OR BETTER QUALITY INDICATED.  THE FOLLOWING PRIORITY LIST SHALL GOVERN 
OTHER CONFLICTS WHICH MAY OCCUR IN THE DOCUMENTS.

1.  SPECIFICATION REQUIREMENTS
2.  NOTES ON PLANS
3.  SCHEDULES ON PLANS
4.  LARGE SCALE DETAILS, SECTIONS, ELEVATIONS
5.  SMALL SCALE DETAILS, SECTIONS, ELEVATIONS
6.  LARGER SCALE PLANS
7.  SMALLER SCALE PLANS

7.  UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, ALL NON PAVED AREAS DISTURBED BY THE CONSTRUCTION SHALL RECEIVE 4" OF TOPSOIL, GRADED FOR 
POSITIVE DRAINAGE AWAY FROM BUILDINGS, AND HYDROSEEDED WITH A SEED MIXTURE AS DETERMINED BY THE ARCHITECT.

8.  CONCEALED MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL ITEMS SHALL BE INSTALLED IN SUCH A MANNER THAT WILL NOT REQUIRE ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS AND/OR FINISHES TO BE ALTERED FROM AS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS.

9.  UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE DRAWINGS BE SCALED.  ALL LABELED DIMENSIONS SHALL BE USED IN THE PROGRESS OF THE WORK 
AS DEFINED.  SHOULD ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION BE REQUIRED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REQUEST THIS INFORMATION IN WRITING FROM 
THE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF WORK.

GENERAL NOTES

G102 BUILDING CODE ANALYSIS

G103 LIFE SAFETY PLAN

G104 PROJECT MANUAL

ARCHITECTURAL

A102 NEW PLAN, MECH. PLATFORM, TOILET DETAILS

A103 REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

A301 SECTIONS

A101 EXISTING/DEMO PLAN

G105 ADA DETAILS

A501 INTERIOR ELEVATIONS

A601 SCHEDULES & FINISH SPECIFICATIONS

MECHANCIAL

M002 HVAC DEMO FLOOR PLAN - MAIN LEVEL

M001 HVAC DEMO FLOOR PLAN - CRAWL SPACE

M301 HVAC NOTES, SCHEDULES, AND SYMBOLS

M101 HVAC RENO FLOOR PLAN

M501 MECHANCIAL SPECIFICATIONS

M401 HVAC DETAILS

PLUMBING

P102 PLUMBING RENOVATION FLOOR PLAN - WASTE/VENT

P101 PLUMBING DEMOLITION FLOOR PLAN

ELECTRICAL

E001 ELECTRICAL RISER, SCHEDULES & DETAILS

E002 ELECTRICAL SPECIFICATIONS

ED100 LIGHTING DEMOLITION PLAN

E000 ELECTRICAL SYMBOLS, SCHEDULES, & DETAILS

ED101 POWER/COMM. DEMOLITION PLAN

E100 LIGHTING RENOVATION PLAN

E200 POWER & COMMUNICATIONS RENOVATION PLAN

E300 MECHANICAL WIRING RENOVATION PLAN

P201 PLUMBING SCHEDULES & DETAILS

P103 PLUMBING RENOVATION FLOOR PLAN - WATER SUPPLY

P302 PLUMBING SPECIFICATIONS

P301 PLUMBING SPECIFICATIONS

683

Item 5.



561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

G102

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 C

O
D

E 
AN

AL
YS

IS

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

JEFF LEWIS, AIA - ARCHITECT

MODIFICATIONS/UPDATES: BOOKER T. WASHINGTON PARK COMMUNITY CENTER

143 BOOKER T WASHINGTON CIRCLE | YEMASSEE, SC

COMMUNITY CENTER

BEAUFORT COUNTY

-- BEAUFORT

--

--

--

--

--

-- --

--

--

--

--

--

JEFF LEWIS

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

JEFF LEWIS, AIA

(---)  -------

(---)  -------

(---)  -------

12.66' 1 --

--

--

--

--

--

--

2,387 SF

-- --

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

2,387 SF

--

--

--

--

--

2,387 S.F.

N/A --

--

BUILDING

--

--

-- --

--

--

COMM. CENTER (A-3)

--

--

--

2,387 S.F.

--

--

--

6,000 S.F.

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

-- -- --

--

40

1

V-B

1

LS101

--

N/A

N/A 0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

N/A 0 -- -- -- -- --

N/A 0 -- -- -- -- --

N/A N/A -- -- -- -- --

N/A N/A -- -- -- -- --

N/A 0 -- -- -- -- --

N/A 0 -- -- -- -- --

N/A N/A -- -- -- -- --

N/A N/A -- -- -- -- --

N/A N/A -- -- -- -- --

BUILDING (A-3) 2 3 200 FEET 56' MAX. 36' 37'

BUSINESS AREAS 558 SF 150 GROSS 0.3 0.2 1.2" 0.8" N/A 36" MIN.

12.66

--

30

30

30

30

30

30

30

30

BUSINESS

--

--

1

--

--

1

--

--

1

--

--

1

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

ETi ENGINEERING, LLC BRYSON TUCKER -- (803)  233-9396

(803)  960-5026

V-B

--

--

--

NS

BUILDING CODE SUMMARY
NAME OF PROJECT:
ADDRESS:
PROPOSED USE:
OWNER OR AUTHORIZED AGENT:
OWNED BY:                     CITY/COUNTY                 PRIVATE                     STATE
CODE ENFORCEMENT JURISDICTION:         CITY                                     COUNTY

LEAD DESIGN PROFESSIONAL:

DESIGNER                                  FIRM                                 CONTACT                        LICENSE #      TELEPHONE #
ARCHITECTURAL
CIVIL / LANDSCAPE
ELECTRICAL
FIRE ALARM
PLUMBING
MECHANICAL
SPRINKLER-STANDPIPE
STRUCTURAL
RETAINING WALLS < 5' 
HIGH
OTHER

CODE COMPLIANCE

INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE:
INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE:
INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE:
INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE:
INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE:
NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE:
ICC - A117.1:
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT  (ADA)
       NEW CONSTRUCTION                 RENOVATION (EXISTING BUILDING)               UPFIT                 ALTERATION

BUILDING DATA

CONSTRUCTION TYPE:              I-A               I-B             II-A            II-B            III-A             III-B
(SECTION 601)

  IV               V-A              V-B

SPRINKLERS:             NO             YES           NFPA 13               NFPA 13R                NFPA 13D

STANDPIPES:             NO              YES           CLASS          I              II              III            WET           DRY

FIRE DISTRICT:          NO              YES

BUILDING HEIGHT:                    FEET                   NUMBER OF STORIES               UNLIMITED PER

MEZZANINE:               NO              YES

HIGH RISE:                 NO              YES         CENTRAL REFERENCE SHEET # (IF PROVIDED)

GROSS BUILDING AREA:
FLOOR                       EXISTING (SQ.FT.)           NEW (SQ.FT.)               SUB-TOTAL
5TH FLOOR
4TH FLOOR
3RD FLOOR
2ND FLOOR
MEZZANINE
1ST FLOOR
BASEMENT

TOTAL

SECONDARY OCCUPANCY:

SPECIAL OCCUPANCY:          510.3 510.4 510.5 510.6 510.7 510.8 510.9

MIXED OCCUPANCY:                NO                      YES         SEPARATION            HR.       EXCEPTION:

NON-SEPARATED MIXED OCCUPANCY (508.3) The allowable area and height of the building or portion thereof shall
be based on the most restrictive allowances for the occupancy groups under consideration for the type of
construction of the building in accordance with Section 503.1.

SEPARATED MIXED OCCUPANCY (508.4) - See below for area calculation for each story.  The building area shall be
such that the sum of the ratios of the actual floor area of each occupancy divided by the allowable area of each
occupancy shall not exceed 1.

ACTUAL AREA OF OCCUPANCY A
ALLOWABLE AREA OF OCCUPANCY A ALLOWABLE AREA OF OCCUPANCY B

ACTUAL AREA OF OCCUPANCY B
+ < 1

+ + ... ... 1.00<

ALLOWABLE AREA CONT.

STORY NO. DESCRIPTION
& USE

(a)
BUILDING
AREA 
(ACTUAL)

(b)
(TABLE
506.2) AREA

(c)
AREA FOR
OPEN 
SPACE
INCREASE

(d)
ALLOWABLE
AREA OR
UNLIMITED

(e)
MAXIMUM
BUILDING
AREA

Open space area increases from section 506.3 are computed thus:
a. Perimeter which fronts a public way or open space having 20 ft minimum width =                   (F)
b. Total building perimeter =                    (P)
c. Ratio (F/P) =                   (F/P)
d. W = Minimum width of public way =                   (W)
e. Percent of frontage increase i = 100 [F/P - 0.25] x W/30  =               (%)
The automatic sprinkler system or lack thereof per table 506.2 are as follows:
NS = Buildings not equipped throughout with a sprinkler system; S1 = Single story with a sprinkler system;
S13R = Buildings equipped throughout with a 13R sprinkler system; SM = Multistory building with a sprinkler system.
Unlimited area applicable under conditions of sections group b,f,m,s,a-4,a-3,e
(507.3, 507.4, 507.5, 507.6, 507.7, 507.8, 507.9, 507.11);
h-2 aircraft hangers (507.10); group a motion picture (507.12); and malls (507.13).
Maximum building area = total number of stories in the building x d but not greater than 3 x d (NS) or 4 x d (SM).
The maximum area of parking garages must comply with 406.5.4 and 406.6.1.

1

2

3

4

5

1 4

5

3

f

ALLOWABLE HEIGHT

TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION
BUILDING HEIGHT IN FEET
BUILDING HEIGHT IN STORIES

FEET
STORIES

ALLOWABLE
(TABLE 504.3 & 504.4)

SHOWN ON
PLANS

CODE
REFERENCE

TYPE

STORIES

FIRE PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS

LIFE SAFETY SHEET #, IF PROVIDED:

BUILDING
ELEMENT

FIRE SEP.
DISTANCE
(FEET)

RATING
REQ'D PROVIDED

(W/              *
REDUCTION)

DETAIL #
AND
SHEET #

DESIGN #
FOR
RATED
ASSEMBLY

DESIGN # FOR
RATED
PENETRATION

DESIGN #
FOR
RATED
JOINTS

Structural Frame,
including 
columns,
girders, trusses

Bearing Walls
Exterior

North
East
West
South

Interior

Exterior
North
East
West
South

Interior

Nonbearing 
walls
and partitions

Floor construction
Including
supporting beams
and joists

Roof construction
Including
supporting beams
& joists

Shafts - Exit
Shafts - Other

Corridor
Separation
Occupancy
Separation
Party/ Fire Wall
Separation
Smoke Barrier
Separation
Tenant Separation

* Indicate section number permitting reduction

LIFE SAFETY SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS
EMERGENCY LIGHTING: NO YES

EXIT SIGNS: NO YES

FIRE ALARM: NO YES

SMOKE DETECTION SYSTEMS: NO YES

PANIC HARDWARE: NO YES

EXIT REQUIREMENTS - 115 PERSON TOTAL OCCUPANCY LOAD

FLOOR, ROOM OR
SPACE
DESIGNATION

MINIMUM NUMBER
OF EXITS

TRAVEL DISTANCE ARRANGEMENT MEANS OF EGRESS
(SECTION 1016.1)

REQ'D SHOWN
ON
PLANS

ALLOWABLE
TRAVEL DISTANCE
(TABLE 1017.2)

ACTUAL
TRAVEL
DISTANCE
SHOWN
ON PLANS

REQUIRED
DISTANCE
BETWEEN EXIT
DOORS

ACTUAL
DISTANCE
SHOWN ON
PLANS

2 1,3

Corridor dead ends (section 1020.5)
Single exits (tables 1006.2.1, 1006.3.4(1), 1006.3.4(2))
Common path of travel (table 1006.2.1)

1

2

3

NUMBER AND ARRANGEMENT OF EXITS

EXIT WIDTH
USE GROUP OR
SPACE
DESCRIPTION

See table 1004.5  to determine whether net or gross area is applicable
see definition "floor area, gross" and "floor area, net" (section 202)
Minimum stairway width (section 1011.2) ; min. corridor width (section 1020.3) ; min. door width (section 1010.1.1)
Minimum width of exit passageway (section 1024.2)
See section 1005.6 for converging exits
The loss of one means of egress shall not reduce available capacity to less than 50 percent of the total required
(section1005.5)
Assembly occupancies (section 1030)

2

3

1

(A)

AREA
(SQ. FT.)

AREA PER
OCCUPANT
(TABLE 1004.5)

(B) (C) EXIT WIDTH (INCHES)

EGRESS WIDTH
PER OCCUPANT
(SECTION 1005.3)

REQUIRED WIDTH
(SECTION 1005.3)
(A/B) x C

ACTUAL WIDTH
SHOWN ON PLANS

STAIRS STAIRS STAIRSLEVEL LEVEL LEVEL

4

5

6

1 1

2,3,4,5,6

ALLOWABLE AREA
PRIMARY OCCUPANCY:             Assembly            A-1                A-2               A-3               A-4              A-5

     Business                      Educational              Factory-Industrial               F-1                F-2

     High-Hazard                 H-1                     H-2                H-3              H-4                H-5

     Institutional                   I-1                      I-2                 I-3                I-4          Use Cond.       1       2        3        4        5

     Mercantile                    Residential           R-1                R-2             R-3             R-4

     Storage                       S-1                      S-2                High Piled

     Utility & Misc.               Parking Garage                  Open                  Enclosed             Repair

FEET

PLUMBING FIXTURE REQUIREMENTS
OCCUPANCY WATER CLOSETS

MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE

LAVATORIES SHOWERS/
TUBS

DRINKING FOUNTAINS

TYPE

AUTOMATIC
SPRINKLER
(NS, S1,
S13R, OR
SM) 2

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2021 EDITION WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2020 EDITION (NFPA 70) WITH SC MODIFICATIONS

2017 EDITION (LATEST EDITION)

2009 EDITION

(---)  -------

(---)  -------

MECHANICAL DESIGN, INC.

MECHANICAL DESIGN, INC. DANA FULMER

JUSTIN VARCO (803)  731-9834

(803)  731-9834

EXISTING BUILDING CODE: 2021 EDITION

OPEN AREA (A-3)

MULTI-PURPOSE ROOM (A-3)

1,238 SF 15 NET 0.3 0.2 24.9" 16.6" 36" MIN.

393 SF 15 NET 0.3 0.2 8.1" 5.4" 36" MIN.

N/A

N/A

BOTTLED WATER TO 
BE PROVIDED

(---)  -------

198 SF 200 GROSS 0.3 0.2 0.3" 0.2" 36" MIN.N/AKITCHEN

684

Item 5.



53 SF

STORAGE
107

46 SF

TOILET
106

44 SF

SIDE EXIT
105

46 SF

TOILET
104

1238 SF

OPEN AREA
101

393 SF

MULIT-PURPOSE
ROOM

108

48 SF

UTILITIES
110

54 SF

EXIST.TOILET
109

198 SF

KITCHEN
111

10 SF

PANTRY
112

114 SF

OFFICE
102

66 SF

LOBBY
103

FE = FIRE EXTINGUISHER.
FIRE EXTHINGUISHERS SHALL BE CO-2
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED & SHALL COMPY
W/ NFPA 10. MINIMUM SIZE 2A10BC.

FIRE MARSHAL SHALL DECIDE FINAL LOCATION OF FIRE EXTINGUISHERS.

GENERAL CONTRATOR TO INSTALL OCCUPANT LOAD SIGNAGE PER 2021 
SCBC SECTION 1004.9 AT LOCATION SHOWN. FINAL LOCATION TO BE 
DECIDED BY THE FIRE MARSHAL.

ALL EGRESS DOORS SHALL BE READILY OPENABLE
FROM THE EGRESS SIDE WITHOUT THE USE OF A
KEY OR SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE OR EFFORT PER
1010.2 OF THE 2021 SCBC.

DISTANCE B/N EXITS = 37'

REQ'D DISTANCE B/N 
EXITS = 72' / 2 = 36'

MAX. TRAVEL DISTANCE = 56'

1 OCCUPANT

1 OCCUPANT

1 OCCUPANT

1 OCCUPANT

27 OCCUPANTS

83 OCCUPANTS

1 OCCUPANT

FE

FE

FE

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

G103

LI
FE

 S
AF

ET
Y 

PL
AN

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 LIFE SAFETY PLAN

685

Item 5.



561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

G104

PR
O

JE
C

T 
M

AN
U

AL

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

1.1 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS IDENTIFICATION
A. The Contract Documents are identified as Project Number 22-031-1, as prepared by Jeff Lewis AIA, Architect.

1.2 CONTRACT TIME
A. Contract Time period stated for performing the Work shall be in accordance with the Proposal and as indicated as the Proposed Construction Duration on the Proposal Information Form.
B. Proposer shall be expected to adhere to the Contract Time period as outlined in the Contract Documents, and the Owner shall retain as Liquidated Damages, $250.00 for each calendar day the actual construction time to achieve Substantial Completion exceeds the specified date or adjusted 

Contract time for Substantial Completion.

1.3 PRODUCT/ASSEMBLY/SYSTEM SUBSTITUTIONS
A. Where the Construction Documents stipulate a particular product, substitutions (if noted in specific specifications) will be considered up to the timeframe indicated in the Request for Proposals, unless indicated otherwise through a subsequent addendum. It is recommended requests are 

submitted ahead of the stated timeline to assure potential inclusion if approved.

1.4 SITE EXAMINATION
A. Each proposer is responsible for inspecting the project site as needed before submitting a proposal. The submission of a proposal shall be construed as conclusive evidence that the proposer has made such examination as necessary.

1.5 PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE

A. A mandatory pre-proposal conference has been scheduled for _________ at ______at the following location:
1. Address: Name

Address
B. Subcontractors and suppliers/vendors are not required to attend.
C. Representatives of Architect will be in attendance.

1.6 PERFORMANCE ASSURANCE
A. Bonds:  Awarded Proposer shall be required to provide a Performance Bond and Payment Bond utilizing AIA Document A312-2010 in the amount of 100% of the Contract amount.

1.7 INSURANCE
A. Provide an executed "Undertaking of Insurance" as required and utilize AIA Form G715-2017 as needed in addition to ACORD Certificate of Insurance 25.  All insurance requirements for Proposer and subcontractors shall be in accordance with the documents herein, including the Contract, 

unless indicated otherwise.
B. Insurance Limits:

1. Commercial General Liability
a. General Aggregate $1,000,000
b. Products/Completed Operations $1,000,000
c. Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000
d. Each Occurrence $1,000,000
e. Damage to Rented Premises (each occurrence) $50,000
f. Medical Expense (Any one person) $5,000

2. Automobile Liability
a. Combined Single Limit $1,000,000

3. Workers’ Compensation
a. Each Accident $100,000
b. Each Employee $100,000

4. Employers’ Liability
a. Each Accident $100,000
b. Each Employee $100,000
c. Policy Limit $500,000

5. Umbrella Policy $3,000,000
C. All costs associated with Builder ’s Risk shall be the responsibility of the Proposer and included in overall Proposal amount submitted to Owner.

1.8 FEES FOR CHANGES IN THE WORK
A. Include the fees for overhead and profit on own Work and Work by subcontractors, identified on the Proposal Information Form and in compliance with the General Conditions.

1.9 CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE
A. The Proposer certifies that the project site will be a “DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE” as that term is defined in Section 44-107-30 of the S.C. Code of Laws by complying with the requirements set forth in Title 44, Chapter 107.

1.10 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. Geotechnical Report:  See attached Report of Subsurface Exploration and Engineering Evaluation prepared by SUMMIT Engineering, Laboratory & Testing, P.C., dated August 11, 2023.
B. 3rd Party Testing & Inspections to be By Owner.
C. Termite Treatment to be By Owner.

1.11 WORK BY OWNER & OWNER-FURNISHED PRODUCTS
A. None.

1.12 ACCESS TO SITE
A. General:  Contractor shall have full use of Project site for construction operations during construction period.  Contractor's use of Project site is limited only by Owner's right to perform work or to retain other contractors on portions of Project, or as indicated otherwise.

Retain "Use of Site" Paragraph below if Project site is accessible to other parties or if parts of a building being renovated are occupied during construction.  Revise to suit Project.  See Evaluations for model text.
B. Use of Site:  Limit use of Project site to areas within the Contract limits.  Do not disturb portions of Project site beyond areas in which the Work is indicated.

1.13 WORK RESTRICTIONS
A. Work Restrictions, General:  Comply with restrictions on construction operations.

1. Comply with limitations on use of public streets and with other requirements of authorities having jurisdiction.
B. On-Site Work Hours:  Limit work to normal business working hours, unless otherwise allowed by Owner through written permission.

1. Early Morning Hours:  Restrict noisy work or disturbances during early or late hours due to proximity to residences.  Any pre-dawn or post sunset work shall be cleared through Owner in writing.
2. Hours for core drilling or other noisy activity shall be limited during normal working hours unless otherwise allowed by Owner through written permission.
3. Weekend Hours:  Work shall be allowed on weekends unless otherwise indicated by Owner.
4. Owner has right to request stoppage to work on weekends or early/late hours if neighbors object to noises or disturbances.

D. Controlled Substances:  Use of tobacco products and other controlled substances within the building is not permitted, including smoking and vaping.

1.14 MISCELLANEOUS FEE PROVISIONS
A. Contractor is responsible for all plan review and permit fees, water and sewer impact fees, connection fees and other project specific fees as required by authorities having jurisdiction.  Verification with authorities having jurisdiction will need to be made prior to proposal submittal.

1.15 SUBSTITUTION PROCEDURES (during construction)
A. The term “equal” shall be considered “equivalent. ”
B. Substitution Requests:  Submit requests to Architect for consideration.  Requests shall include sufficient information or additional information if deemed necessary by Architect.
C. Coordination:  Revise or adjust affected work as necessary to integrate work of any approved substitutions.

1.16 CONTRACT MODIFICATION PROCEDURES
A. Changes may include Owner-Initiated Proposal Requests or Contractor-Initiated Proposals.
B. Contractor may initiate a claim by submitting a request for a change to Architect.
C. On Owner's approval of a Work Changes Proposal Request or Construction Change Directive issued by the Architect, Contractor will issue a Change Order for signatures of Owner and Architect on AIA Document G701.

1.17 PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND COORDINATION
A. Coordination:  Coordinate construction operations to ensure efficient and orderly installation of each part of the Work.

1. Schedule construction operations in sequence required to obtain the best results where installation of one part of the Work depends on installation of other components, before or after its own installation.
2. Coordinate installation of different components to ensure maximum performance and accessibility for required maintenance, service, and repair.
3. Make adequate provisions to accommodate items scheduled for later installation.
4. Prepare memoranda for distribution to each party involved, outlining special procedures required for coordination when necessary.

B. Requests for Information (RFIs):  Immediately on discovery of the need for additional information or interpretation of the Contract Documents, Contractor shall prepare and submit an RFI to the Architect.
If needed, insert requirements to define frivolous RFIs.  Some owners and design professionals include a provision that assesses the cost of the design professional's time and materials to Contractor for unnecessary or frivolous RFIs.
1. Include detailed and complete information to ensure prompt response by Architect.
2. Use AIA Document G716 or similar format, submitted electronically.

C. Project Meetings:  Schedule and conduct regular meetings and conferences at Project site as required.
1. Attendees:  Inform participants and others involved, and individuals whose presence is required, of date and time of each meeting.  Attendees should include all participants whose work is affected by information to be discussed, or whose work is directly involved in the discussions.  

Notify Owner and Architect of scheduled meeting dates and times.
2. Agenda:  Prepare the meeting agenda.  Distribute the agenda to all invited attendees.
3. Minutes:  Entity responsible for conducting meeting will record significant discussions and agreements achieved.  Distribute the meeting minutes to everyone concerned and in attendance, including Owner and Architect, within 3 days of the meeting.

D. Preconstruction Conference:  Schedule and conduct a preconstruction conference before starting construction, at a time convenient to Owner and Architect, but no later than 15 days after execution of the Agreement.
1. Conduct the conference to review responsibilities and personnel assignments.
2. Attendees:  Authorized representatives of Owner, Architect, and their consultants; Contractor and its superintendent; major subcontractors; suppliers; and other concerned parties shall attend the conference.  Participants at the conference shall be familiar with Project and authorized to 

conclude matters relating to the Work.
3. Agenda:  Discuss items of significance that could affect progress.
4. Minutes:  Entity responsible for conducting meeting will record and distribute meeting minutes.

E. Preinstallation Conferences:  Conduct a preinstallation conference at Project site before each construction activity that requires coordination with other construction.
1. Attendees:  Installer and representatives of manufacturers and fabricators involved in or affected by the installation and its coordination or integration with other materials and installations that have preceded or will follow, shall attend the meeting.  Advise Architect of scheduled meeting 

dates and if attendance by Owner or Architect shall be required.  Allow 1 week notice if Owner or Architect attendance shall be required.
2. Agenda:  Review progress of other construction activities and preparations for the particular activity under consideration, and any associated documents or information.

F. Progress Meetings:  Conduct progress meetings at weekly intervals or as otherwise agreed upon by Owner and Architect.
1. Attendees:  In addition to representatives of Owner and Architect, each contractor, subcontractor, supplier, and other entity concerned with current progress or involved in planning, coordination, or performance of future activities shall be represented at these meetings.  All participants 

at the meeting shall be familiar with Project and authorized to conclude matters relating to the Work.
2. Agenda:  Review and correct or approve minutes of previous progress meeting.  Review other items of significance that could affect progress.  Include topics for discussion as appropriate to status of Project, including but not limited to the construction schedule, submittals, RFI ’s, 

change orders/directives, safety, delays or other issues.
3. Minutes:  Entity responsible for conducting the meeting will record and distribute the meeting minutes to each party present and to parties requiring information.

1.18 CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS DOCUMENTATION
A. Contractor’s Construction Schedule:  Provide and update schedule as required.
B. Daily Reports:  Provide daily reports if necessary to document critical information, otherwise weekly summary reports are sufficient to be included as part of the weekly meeting minutes.
C. Special Reports:  Provide any special reports necessary to document issues, claims, or similar items when necessary.

1.19 PHOTOGRAPHIC DOCUMENTATION
A. General:  Take photographs to clearly show the Work at the various stages or as otherwise required to document issues or special conditions when necessary.
B. Preconstruction Photographs:  Before commencement of excavation, and before starting construction, take photographs of Project site and surrounding properties, including existing items to remain during construction, from different vantage points, to sufficiently show existing conditions of site 

prior to site and building work.
1. Flag excavation areas and construction limits before taking construction photographs.
2. Take additional photographs as required to record settlement or cracking of adjacent structures, pavements, and improvements.

C. Periodic Construction Photographs:  Take photographs on a weekly basis to show status of construction and progress at various intervals.  Provide additional photographs as necessary to show milestone activities, special circumstances, problematic issues, emergencies, etc.  Daily photographs 
may be required when construction is advancing at accelerated rates, or as otherwise required to capture work that has not previously been documented and may subsequently be covered in a manner that no longer permits visibility of the construction.

D. Final Completion Construction Photographs:  Take sufficient photographs at time of Substantial Completion for project record documents.  Take additional photographs after Substantial Completion if necessary to document other conditions or issues.

1.20 SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES
A. General Submittal Procedure Requirements:  Prepare and submit submittals required for Product Data, Shop Drawings, Samples, or other data that may be requested by Architect to ensure proper product and systems use on the project.

1. Submit in electronic format to the extent possible, and consult with Architect for number of hard copies required if electronic submittal is not possible.
B. Product Data:  Collect information into a single submittal for each element of construction and type of product or equipment.

1. If information must be specially prepared for submittal because standard published data are not suitable for use, submit as Shop Drawings, not as Product Data.
2. Mark each copy of each submittal to show which products and options are applicable.
3. Include the following information, as applicable:

a. Manufacturer's catalog cuts.
b. Manufacturer's product specifications.
c. Standard color charts.
d. Statement of compliance with specified referenced standards.
e. Testing by recognized testing agency.
f. Application of testing agency labels and seals.
g. Notation of coordination requirements.
h. Availability and delivery time information.

4. For equipment, include the following in addition to the above, as applicable:
a. Clearances required to other construction, if not indicated on accompanying Shop Drawings.

5. Submit Product Data before or concurrent with Samples.
C. Shop Drawings:  Prepare Project-specific information, drawn accurately to scale.  Do not base Shop Drawings on reproductions of the Contract Documents or standard printed data.

1. Preparation:  Fully illustrate requirements in the Contract Documents.  Include the following information, as applicable:
a. Identification of products.
b. Schedules.
c. Compliance with specified standards.
d. Notation of coordination requirements.
e. Notation of dimensions established by field measurement.
f. Relationship and attachment to adjoining construction clearly indicated.
g. Seal/signature of professional engineer if specified or otherwise required by AHJ.

D. Samples:  Submit Samples for review of kind, color, pattern, and texture for a check of these characteristics with other elements and for a comparison of these characteristics between submittal and actual component as delivered and installed.
1. Transmit Samples that contain multiple, related components such as accessories together in one submittal package.
2. Identification:  Attach label on unexposed side of Samples that includes necessary info.
3. Samples for Initial Selection:  Submit manufacturer's color charts consisting of units or sections of units showing the full range of colors, textures, and patterns available.
4. Samples for Verification:  When requested by Architect or otherwise necessary, submit full-size units or Samples of size indicated, prepared from same material to be used for the Work, cured and finished in manner specified, and physically identical with material or product proposed 

for use, and that show full range of color and texture variations expected.
E. Approval Stamp:  Contractor and/or Subcontractor shall stamp or affix a signature with company information noted on each submittal, and include a statement certifying that the submittal has been reviewed, checked, and approved for compliance with the Contract Documents.

1.21 QUALITY REQUIREMENTS
A. Quality-Control Plan, General:  Contractor shall be responsible for implementing any necessary quality-control plans or procedures as needed to ensure/maintain proper workmanship.
B. Quality-Control Personnel:  Contractor shall utilize properly trained and experienced personnel and subcontractors as required for ensuring quality control on the Project.
C. Mockups:  Mockups may be required by Architect if samples are not sufficient to approve various portions or components of the Work.  Approved mockups may be allowed to be incorporated into the Work if installed where applicable to the final construction and not interfering with 

subsequent construction.
D. Tests and Inspections:  Contractor shall be responsible for any tests and inspections not explicitly assigned to Owner.  Perform additional quality-control activities required to verify that the Work complies with requirements, whether specified or not.

1. Retesting/Reinspecting:  Regardless of whether original tests or inspections were Contractor's responsibility, provide quality-control services, including retesting and reinspecting, for construction that replaced Work that failed to comply with the Contract Documents.
2. Coordinate sequence of activities to accommodate required quality-assurance and control services with a minimum of delay and to avoid necessity of removing and replacing construction to accommodate testing and inspecting.
3. Schedule times for tests, inspections, obtaining samples, and similar activities, including with any Owner-hired testing and inspection parties.
4. Repair and protection are Contractor's responsibility, regardless of the assignment of responsibility for quality-control services.

1.22 TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND CONTROLS
A. Fencing:  Provide and install temporary fencing or barriers as necessary to maintain site security and safety.
B. Field Offices & Storage:  Provide any necessary facilities for Contractor and Subcontractor use of offices and storage of materials.  Owner is not responsible for providing these facilities and should be anticipated in the Proposals if Proposer deems any of these facilities to be necessary 

for the operations and potential on-site storage of materials.
C. Fire Extinguishers:  Portable, UL rated; with class and extinguishing agent as required by locations and classes of fire exposures, or as otherwise required by AHJ.
D. Dust Control:  Take measures and provide any necessary resources to control dust both on site and within the building throughout construction.
E. Sanitary Facilities:  Provide temporary toilets, wash facilities, and drinking water for use of construction personnel.  Comply with requirements of authorities having jurisdiction for type, number, location, operation, and maintenance of fixtures and facilities.

1. Toilets:  Do not use toilet facilities installed in building under any circumstances.  Toilet lids shall remain taped closed until startup/cleaning occurs immediately prior to Owner occupancy.  Penalties may be applied if the Owner or Architect ’s rules are not followed.
F. Power & Lighting:  Provide electric power service and distribution system of sufficient size, capacity, and power required for construction operations, as well as lighting levels as needed for safe operations and illumination for proper install of components, finishes, etc.
G. Site & Environmental Protection:

1. Provide protection as required to comply with environmental regulations and authorities having jurisdiction.
2. Provide temporary erosion and sedimentation control, stormwater control, and tree/plant protection as required by authorities having jurisdiction and in accordance with the plans and specifications.

1.23 PRODUCT REQUIREMENTS
A. Deliver, store, and handle products using means and methods that will prevent damage, deterioration, and loss, including theft and vandalism.  Comply with manufacturer's written instructions.
B. Warranties specified in other Sections shall be in addition to, and run concurrent with, other warranties required by the Contract Documents.  Manufacturer's disclaimers and limitations on product warranties do not relieve Contractor of obligations under requirements of the Contract 

Documents.

1.24 EXECUTION
A. Existing Conditions:  The existence and location of underground and other utilities and construction indicated as existing are not guaranteed.  Before beginning sitework, investigate and verify the existence and location of underground utilities, mechanical and electrical systems, and 

other construction affecting the Work.
B. Examination and Acceptance of Conditions:  Before proceeding with each component of the Work, examine substrates, areas, and conditions, with Installer or Applicator present where indicated, for compliance with requirements for installation tolerances and other conditions affecting 

performance.  Proceed with installation only after unsatisfactory conditions have been corrected.  Proceeding with the Work indicates acceptance of surfaces and conditions.
C. Comply with manufacturer's written instructions and recommendations for installing products in applications indicated, and install products at the time and under conditions that will ensure the best possible results.
D. Coordinate construction and operations of the Work with work performed by Owner's construction personnel or consultants if applicable.
E. Clean Project site and work areas daily, and maintain site free of waste materials/debris.

1.25 CONSTRUCTION WASTE MANAGEMENT AND DISPOSAL
A. Provide and maintain dumpster(s) as needed for collection of waste.  Except for items or materials to be salvaged, recycled, or otherwise reused, remove waste materials from Project site and legally dispose of them in a landfill or incinerator.  Do not burn waste materials on site.

1.26 CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES
A. Contractor's List of Incomplete Items:  At time of Substantial Completion, prepare and submit a list of items to be completed and corrected (Contractor's punch list).
B. Inspection:  Submit a written request for inspection to determine Substantial Completion a minimum of 10 days prior to date the work will be completed and ready for final inspection and tests.  On receipt of request, Architect will either proceed with inspection or notify Contractor of 

unfulfilled requirements.
C. Final Completion Procedures:  Submit documentation that all items previously indicated by Contractor or Architect for correction or completion have been properly addressed.
D. Final Cleaning:  Perform final cleaning once all items have been addressed, all excess materials, tools, and equipment have been removed, and facility is ready to be turned over to Owner for use.

1.27 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA
A. Format:  Submit operations and maintenance manuals in PDF electronic file format, as well as one hard copy in a binder with tabbed sections.
B. Content:  Include operation data required for Owner to properly operate and maintain all systems and components on the facility and on the facility site.  Include manufacturer ’s manuals, maintenance documentation, procedures, service contracts, warranties, or similar information.

1.28 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS
A. Record Drawings:  At closeout, submit a scanned PDF and hard copy of the set of marked-up record drawings that is maintained on site throughout construction.
B. Record Product Data:  Submit 1 paper copy and PDF file of each submittal and shop drawings.

1.29 DEMONSTRATION AND TRAINING
A. Coordinate with Owner for instruction, demonstration, and training of all systems and working components of the facility and site.  Ensure properly trained individuals are on hand to cover all necessary training, including general operations, maintenance, emergency operations, etc.

PROJECT MANUAL

686

Item 5.



FIG. 404.2.3.2
MANEUVERING CLEARANCE AT SWINGING DOORS

(B) FRONT APPROACH, PUSH SIDE (C) HINGE APPROACH, PULL SIDE (D) HINGE APPROACH, PULL SIDE (E) HINGE APPROACH, PUSH SIDE (G) LATCH APPROACH, PUSH SIDE(F) LATCH APPROACH, PULL SIDE
FIG. 404.2.3.3

MANEUVERING CLEARANCE AT SLIDING AND FOLDING DOORS

(A) FRONT APPROACH (B) POCKET OR HINGE APPROACH

(C) STOP OR LATCH APPROACH

FIG. 404.2.5
TWO DOORS IN A SERIES

(A) (B)

(A) CIRCULAR (B) T-SHAPED

(A) FORWARD (B) PARALLEL

FIG. 304.3.2.1
SIZE OF WHEELCHAIR TURNING SPACE

FIG. 305.5
POSITION OF CLEAR FLOOR OR GROUND SPACE

(A) FORWARD APPROACH (B) PARALLEL APPROACH

FIG. 305.7.1 & 305.7.2
MANEUVERING CLEARANCE IN AN ALCOVE

FIG. 604.5.2
REAR WALL GRAB BAR FOR WATER CLOSET

FIG. 604.7

DISPENSER IN FRONT OF 
WATER CLOSET 

LOCATION

FIG. 604.9.2
WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE TOILET COMPARTMENTS

(B)    FLOOR-MOUNTED WATER CLOSET(A)   WALL-HUNG WATER CLOSET

42" min.

FIG. 604.9.3.1
TOILET COMPARTMENT DOORS

FIG. 606.3
HEIGHT OF LAVATORIES AND SINKS

FIG. 602.2.1
DRINKING FOUNTAIN SPOUT LOCATION

(A)   PARALLEL APPROACH (B)   FORWARD APPROACH

FIG. 503.2.9.1
PASSENGER LOADING ZONE ACCESS AISLE

24
" m

in
.

9"

FIG. 607.5

back wall

seat
wall

control
wall

FIG. 608.3.2
GRAB BARS IN ROLL-IN-TYPE SHOWERS

(C)  GRAB BARS IN ROLL-IN-TYPE SHOWERS
FIG. 608.5

CONTROLS IN TRANSFER-TYPE

control
wall

control
wall

(A) (B)

back

FIG. 608.6
LOCATION OF SHOWER SPRAY UNIT

FIG. 609.3
SPACING OF GRAB BARS

FIG. 610.3.1
RECTANGULAR SHOWER

COMPARTMENT SEAT

FIG. 610.3.2
L-SHAPED SHOWER
COMPARTMENT SEAT

FIG. 702.3.3.1
LOCATION OF WALL-MOUNTED APPLIANCES

(A) WALL ALARM (B) WALL ALARM WITH
      SMOKE DETECTOR

FLOOR OR GROUND FLOOR OR GROUND

CEILING CEILING

FIG. 702.3.3.2
LOCATION OF CEILING-MOUNTED APPLIANCES

FIG. 702.3.5.1
APPLIANCE SPACING IN CORRIDORS

FIG. 702.3.6.2
APPLIANCE LOCATION IN SLEEPING ROOMS

(A) ONE BED

(B) TWO BEDS

FIG. 703.3.5
CHARACTER HEIGHT

LIBRARY

FIG. 703.3.11
MOUNTING LOCATION AT DOORS

(A) PARALLEL APPROACH

(B) FORWARD APPROACH

FIG. 704.2.1
CLEAR FLOOR OR GROUND

SPACE FOR TELEPHONES

FIG. 705.5
TRUNCATED DOME SIZE

(A) VERTICAL RISER (B) CURVED NOSING

(C) BEVELED NOSING (D) ANGLED RISER

RADIUS 1/2" MAX. TYP.

30  max.

beveled

FIG. 504.5
STAIR NOSINGS FIG. 504.2

TREADS AND RISERS FOR
ACCESSIBLE STAIRWAYS

(A) STAIRS (B) RAMPS

FIG. 505.7
HANDRAIL CROSS SECTION

FIG. 505.4
HANDRAIL HEIGHT

FIG. 505.5
HANDRAIL CLEARANCE

(A) CIRCULAR

4"-6 1/4" PERIMETER

FIG. 505.10.1
TOP AND BOTTOM HANDRAIL EXTENSIONS AT RAMPS

FIG. 505.10.2
TOP HANDRAIL EXTENSIONS AT STAIRS

X = TREAD DEPTH

FIG. 505.10.2
BOTTOM  HANDRAIL EXTENSIONS AT STAIRS

FIG. 306.3
KNEE CLEARANCE

FIG. 306.2
TOE CLEARANCE

FIG. 403.5.1
CLEAR WIDTH AT TURN

LANDING

AT LEAST AS WIDE AS RAMP RUN

LANDING

(A)

FIG. 405.7
RAMP LANDINGS

LANDING

RAMP RUN RAMP RUN

RAMP
RUN

(B)

90

(A) HINGED DOOR

(B) SLIDING DOOR

(C) FOLDING DOOR

FIG. 404.2.3
CLEAR WIDTH OF DOORWAYS

FIG. 307.4
REDUCED VERTICAL CLEARANCE

FIG. 407.2.2
ELEVATOR CALL BUTTONS

FIG. 407.2.3.2.1
HEIGHT OF ELEVATOR VISIBLE SIGNALS

FIG. 406.12
ISLANDS

(A) CUT THROUGH AT ISLAND

(B) CURB RAMP AT ISLAND

(A) EXTENDED SURFACE
FIG. 405.9

RAMP EDGE PROTECTION

(B) CURB OR BARRIER

FIG. 406.5.4
COUNTER SLOPE OF SURFACES ADJACENT TO CURB RAMPS

12
11

20

ADJOINING SURFACE
MAXIMUM SLOPE

CURB RAMP
MAXIMUM SLOPE

(A) (B)

FIG. 406.4
SIDES OF CURB RAMPS

RETURNED CURB

(C)

PLANTING
AREA

PLANTING
AREA

(A) (B)

FIG. 406.11
DIGINAL CURB RAMPS

(A) FRONT APPROACH, PULL SIDE

FIG. 604.2/604.3
WATER CLOSET LOCATION/

SIZE CLEARANCE
FIG. 604.4/604.5.1

HEIGHT OF WATER CLOSET/
SIDE WALL GRAB BAR FOR WATER CLOSET

FIG. 502.2/502.3
VEHICLE PARKING SPACE/

PARKING SPACE ACCESS AISLE

(B) NON-CIRCULAR (C) NON-CIRCULAR

BUILDING BLOCKS

2

FIG. 303.2
VERTICAL CHANGES IN LEVEL

FIG. 303.3
BEVELED CHANGES IN LEVEL

1

FIG. 302.3
OPENINGS IN FLOOR

OR GROUND SURFACES

PROTRUDING OBJECTS

FIG. 307.3
POST-MOUNTED PROTRUDING OBJECTS

MAX. MAX.

FIG. 307.2
LIMITS OF PROTRUDING OBJECTS

FIG. 308.2.1
UNOBSTRUCTED FORWARD REACH

FIG. 308.2.2
OBSTRUCTED HIGH FORWARD REACH

FIG. 308.3.1
UNOBSTRUCTED SIDE REACH

FIG. 308.3.2
OBSTRUCTED HIGH SIDE REACH

FIG. 607.2
GRAB BARS FOR BATHTUBS

WITH PERMANENT SEATS
(WITH FIG. 607.2 CLEARANCES)

FIG. 607. 2
GRAB BARS FOR BATHTUBS
WITHOUT PERMANENT SEATS

(WITH FIG. 607.2 CLEARANCES)

FIG. 608.2.1/608.3.1 FIG. 608.2.2
STANDARD ROLL-IN-TYPE

SHOWER COMPARTMENT

FIG. 608.2.2
STANDARD ROLL-IN-TYPE

SHOWER COMPARTMENT

FIG. 403.5.1(A)
CLEAR WIDTH OF AN ACCESSIBLE ROUTE

ACCESS AISLE SERVING VAN 
PARKING SPACES

ACCESS AISLE SERVING CAR 
PARKING SPACES

LONG DIMENSION 
PERPENDICULAR
TO DIRECTION OF 
TRAVEL

(A)  STANDARD ROLL-IN-TYPE SHOWER (B)  ROLL-IN-TYPE 
SHOWER WITH SEAT

LOCATION OF BATHTUB CONTROLS TRANSFER-TYPE SHOWER 
COMPARTMENT WITH GRAB BARS

FLARED SIDES 1:10 MAX. SLOPE FLARED SIDES 1:12 MAX. SLOPE

he
ad

 e
nd

fo
ot

 e
nd

 w
al

l

curved

CL

wa
ll

fo
ot

 e
nd

 w
al

l

back wall back wall

he
ad

 e
nd

wa
ll

end wall

SHOWERS

DOORS AND DOORWAYS

60
" M

IN
. 18" MIN.

52
" M

IN
.

36" MIN.

60
" M

IN
. 42" MIN.

54
" M

IN
.

42
" M

IN
.*

54" MIN.

48
" M

IN
.* 24" MIN.12" MIN.

24" MIN.

42
" M

IN
*

48" MIN. 48" MIN.

22" MIN.

52
" M

IN
.

42
"M

IN
.

42
" M

IN
.

24" MIN.

CLEAR FLOOR SPACE
67" MIN. 64" MIN.

60
" M

IN
.

52" MIN.
52

" M
IN

.
30" MIN.

30
" M

IN
.

38
" M

IN
.

11" MIN. 42" MIN. 11" MIN.

36" MIN. 60" MIN.

X 
> 

15
"

X 
> 

24
"

PLUMBING ELEMENTS AND FACILITIES

16"-18"

17
"-1

9"

42" min.12" max.

60" min.

56
" m

in
.

54" min.

7"-9"

36" min.

59
" m

in
.

60" min.

56
" m

in
.

60" min.

4" max.

42
" m

in
.

34
" m

ax
.

15" min.5" max.

3 1/2" max.

GENERAL SITE AND BUILDING ELEMENTS

96" MIN. 60" MIN.

FU
LL

 L
EN

G
TH

 O
F

PA
RK

IN
G

 S
PA

CE

96" MIN.

FULL LENGTH OF PARKING SPACE

60
" M

IN
.

length of tub

30
" m

in
.

30
" m

in
.

length of tub

15" max.12" max.

12
" m

in
.

24
" m

in
.

9"

24" max.12" max.

36
" m

in
.

36
" m

in
.

52" min.

36" min.

60" min.

30
" m

in
.

30
" m

in
.

24-36"

60" min.

36
"

18"

6" max.

6"
 m

ax
.

6" max.

6"
 m

ax
.6" max.

6"
 m

ax

6" max.

6"
 m

ax
. 38

" m
in

.

15" max.

27" max.

12
" m

in
.

1 1/2"

15"-16"

17
"-1

9"

17
"-1

9"

2 1/2" max.

3"
 m

ax
.

15"-16"

1-
1/

2"
 m

ax
.

22"-23"

15"-16"

14
"-1

5"2 1/2" max.

1 
1/

2"
 m

ax
.

4"
-1

2"

80
"-9

6"

30
' M

AX
.

CE
IL

IN
G

 H
EI

G
HT

 >
 3

0'

15' MAX. 50'-100' 50'-100' 15' MAX.

50
'-1

00
'

15
' M

AX
.

16' MAX.

16' MAX.

5/
8"

-2
"

18" MIN.

18
"

20
" M

AX
.

10
" M

AX
. .9

-1
.4

" 1.
6-

2.
4"1.6-2.4"

.2
"

1 " MAX.

1 1/2" MAX.

11" MIN.

34
"-3

8"

34
"-3

8"

1 1/2" MIN."

1 1/4"-2" 2 1/4" MAX. 12" MIN.

12" MIN.
X

X

27
" M

IN
.

9"
 M

IN
.

8" MIN.

11" MIN.

9"
 M

IN
.6" MIN.

42
" m

in
.

42
" m

in
.

48" min.

X 
< 

52
"

36
" m

in
.

32
" m

in
.

24" max.48" min.24" max.

60" min. 60" min.

60
" m

in
.

32" min.
32" min.

32" min.

27
" M

AX
.

X 
< 

80
"

15
"-4

8"
72

" m
in

.

36" min.

48
" m

in
.

12" min. 12" min.

X 
< 

4"

X 
< 

4"

48
" m

in
.

X 
< 

48
"

48
" m

in.

15
" m

in
.

48
" m

ax
.

1/
4"

 M
AX

1/
4"

 - 
1/

2"

4" MAX.

X 
> 

80
"

X 
> 

27
"

X 
> 

27
"

80
" M

IN
.

27
" M

AX
.

X > 12"

X > 12"

4" 4"

REACH RANGES

15
" M

IN
.

48
" M

AX
.

48
" M

AX
.

20" MAX.

44
" M

AX
.

>20" - 25"

48
" M

AX
.

48
" M

AX
.

10" MAX.

46
" M

AX
.

>10"-24" MAX.

ACCESSIBLE ROUTES

COMMUNICATION ELEMENTS
AND FEATURES

1/
2"

 M
AX

.

60" min.

4"
 M

IN
.-7

" M
AX

.

_

12" min.

6" max.

AREA TO BE MARKED

wall

PLANTING
AREA

PLANTING
AREA

48" min.

AREA TO BE MARKED

AR
EA

 T
O

 B
E 

M
AR

KE
D

CL

CL

CL

CL

CL
CL

*=48" IF CLOSER & LATCH PROVIDED

22" MIN.

*=54" IF CLOSER & LATCH PROVIDED *=48" IF CLOSER & LATCH PROVIDED

FIG. 304.3.1.1

10" MAX.

15
" M

IN
.

12" MIN.

39-41"

33
-3

6"

39
-4

1"
18

"

33
-3

6"

or 56" min.

1 
1/

2"

16" min.

4" max.

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

G105

AD
A 

D
ET

AI
LS

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

687

Item 5.



N
PLAN
N

TRUE

1.
2.
3.

4.
5.
6.
7.

8.

9.

10.
11.
12.

REMOVE EXISTING WINDOW AND EXTEND OPENING TO ALLOW FOR NEW DOOR. SEE NEW PLAN.
REMOVE EXISTING WALL, DOOR(S), & OTHER COMPONENTS WITHIN WALL. 
REMOVE EXISTING MILLWORK, SINK, APPLIANCES, & EQUIPMENT. COORDINATE WITH OWNER ON WHAT 
APPLIANCES AND EQUIPMENT TO BE REUSED.
REMOVE EXISTING PLUMBING FIXTURES. COORINATE WITH PLUMBING DEMO DRAWINGS.
REMOVE EXISTING TOILET PARTITIONS.
REMOVE EXISTING MECHANCIAL EQUIPMENT, SEE MECHANICAL DEMO DRAWINGS.
REMOVE EXISTING FLOORING THROUGHOUT. CLEAN, SAND, & PREPARE EXISTING SLAB FOR NEW FLOOR 
INSTALLATION.
CUT & REPAIR SLAB AS REQUIRED PER INSTALLATION OF NEW PLUMBING PIPING, COORDINATE W/ PLUMBING 
DRAWINGS.
CUT OPENINGS AS REQUIRED FOR NEW MECHANCIAL VENTING. REPAIR/REPLACE EXTERIOR WALL PANELS AS 
NEEDED. COORDINATE W/ MECHANCIAL DRAWINGS.
COORDINATE ALL DEMOLITION WITH  MECHANICAL, PLUMBING, AND ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION DRAWINGS.
REMOVE EXISTING BOXING AROUND BUILDING MAINFRAME COLUMN.
REMOVE ALL EXISTING CEILING & CEILING GRID THROUGHOUT. 

DEMOLITION NOTES

1

2

2

2

2

2

4"
4'

 - 
3"

2

2'
 - 

1 
1/

2"

8"

1'
 - 

2"
3'

 - 
11

"
8"

5'
 - 

2"
4'

 - 
6 

3/
4"

1'
 - 

1"

2

3

4

4

4

4

5

6 7 8 9 10

11

12

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A101

EX
IS

TI
N

G
/D

EM
O

 P
LA

N

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 Existing/Demo Plan

688

Item 5.



M
M

STORAGE
107

TOILET
106

SIDE EXIT
105

TOILET
104

OPEN AREA
101

MULIT-PURPOSE
ROOM

108

UTILITIES
110EXIST.TOILET

109

KITCHEN
111

PANTRY
112

RE
LO

CA
TE

D 
EL

EC
. 

PA
NE

LS

MECH. PLATFORM 
ACCESS LADDER

NEW 
WARMING 
CABINET

NEW CABINETRY & APPLIANCE IN 
KITCHEN

OFFICE
102

LOBBY
103

M
EC

H.
 U

NI
TS

SIDEWALK

SI
DE

W
AL

K

1
A301

A501 1

A501

6

A102
3

5

3

4

107A

10
6A

105B
105A

10
4A

102A

10
3A

103B

10
1A

111A

112A

10
9A

10
8A

11
0A

108B

5'
 - 

7 
3/

4"
5'

 - 
6"

4'
 - 

10
"

5'
 - 

6"
11

' -
 1

0"
6'

 - 
7 

1/
2"

9' - 11" 29' - 9 1/4" 20' - 1 1/2"

7' - 4"

5' - 4" 4' - 9 1/2"

2'
 - 

4"

2'
 - 

11
"

6'
 - 

0"
2'

 - 
1 

1/
2"

1' - 0"

3' - 5 1/2" 3' - 0" 3' - 5 1/2"

A501

2

Ref.

3
A301

2
A301

2
A301

Sim

N
PLAN
N

TRUE

A102
6

1
A301

3'
 - 

4"
6'

 - 
0"

19' - 9 1/2"

HP-1

HP-2

WATER 
HEATER

MECH. PLATFORM 
ACCESS LADDER14' - 3" 5' - 6 1/2"

MECH. PLATFORM
COORDINATE ALL HVAC W/ 
MECH. DRAWINGS

1'
 - 

6"
1'

 - 
6"

6"

1' - 0"

2'
 - 

7"
2'

 - 
7"

6"

1' - 0"

2'
 - 

7"
2'

 - 
7"

105A
105B

10
4A

10
6A

TOILET
106

SIDE EXIT
105

TOILET
104

TA1TA2

TA3

TA4

TA5

TA6

TA1TA2 TA4

TA3

TA5

TA6

2'
 - 

4"

2'
 - 

10
"

M
IN

.

1'
 - 

6"
3'

 - 
4"

3' - 4"

8"

TO
 R

EF
LE

C
TI

VE
 S

U
R

FA
C

E

3'
 - 

4"

5'
 - 

6"

TA1

TA2
TA3

TA4

TA5

TA6

2'
 - 

10
" M

AX
.

1.

2.

TOILET ACCESSORIES

TA1 TOILET TISSUE DISP.
TA2 42" GRAB BAR. MOUNT W/ TOGGLE BOLTS.
TA3 36" GRAB BAR. MOUNT W/ TOGGLE BOLTS.
TA4 18" GRAB BAR. MOUNT W/ TOGGLE BOLTS.
TA5 PAPER TOWEL DISPENSOR, WALL MOUNTED
TA6 24"x36" SS FRAME MIRROR

NOTES:

PROVIDE SUBSTAINTIAL WOOD BLOCKIING IN WALLS BEHIND ALL WALL MOUNTED ACCESSORIES OR 
ITEMS ATTECHED TO WALL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUPPLIER & MANUFACTURER RECOMMENDATIONS.
VERIFY ALL FIXTURE LOCATIONS W/ MANUFACTURER INSTALLATION RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 
ACCESSIBILITY. IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY DESIGNER OF DISCREPANCIES FOR RESOLUTION.

10
9A

EXIST.TOILET
109

1' - 6"

3'
 - 

2"

TA1

TA2

TA3

TA4

TA
5

TA6

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A102

N
EW

 P
LA

N
, M

EC
H

. P
LA

TF
O

R
M

, T
O

IL
ET

 D
ET

AI
LS

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 NEW PLAN

 1/4" = 1'-0"2 MECHANICAL PLATFORM

 1/2" = 1'-0"3 ENLARGED NEW TOILET PLANS
 1/2" = 1'-0"4 TYPICAL TOILET MOUNTING HEIGHTS

INSTALL SCALD 
PROTECTION AROUND 
ALL EXPOSED PIPING

 1/2" = 1'-0"6 ENLARGED EXISTING TOILET

689

Item 5.



M
M

J

J

LIGHTING

M
EC

HA
NI

CA
L 

PL
AT

FO
RM

, G
YP

. 
BR

D.
 C

EI
LI

NG
 B

EL
O

W

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

NO CEILING, EXPOSED TO 
STRUCTURE

EX
IS

TI
NG

 M
AI

NF
RA

M
E 

AB
O

VE

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

2x2 ACT @ 7' - 10"

1
A301

M
EC

HA
NI

CA
L 

PL
AT

FO
RM

, G
YP

. 
BR

D.
 C

EI
LI

NG
 B

EL
O

W

M
EC

HA
NI

CA
L 

PL
AT

FO
RM

, G
YP

. 
BR

D.
 C

EI
LI

NG
 

BE
LO

W

OPEN TO MECH. MEZZ.

STORAGE
107

TOILET
106

SIDE EXIT
105

TOILET
104

OPEN AREA
101

MULIT-PURPOSE
ROOM

108

UTILITIES
110

EXIST.TOILET
109

KITCHEN
111

PANTRY
112

OFFICE
102

LOBBY
1033

A301

2
A301 7' - 3 1/2"

7' - 3 1/2"

7' - 3 1/2"

LIGHT FIXTURE, TYP. SEE ELEC.

PAINTED ROUND DUCT, SEE MECH.

PAINTED ROUND DUCT, SEE MECH.

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A103

R
EF

LE
C

TE
D

 C
EI

LI
N

G
 P

LA
N

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

690

Item 5.



01 FIN. FLOOR
0"

02 EAVE
11' - 4"

02 MECH.
PLATFORM
8' - 0"

UTILITIES
110

EXIST.TOILET
109

OPEN AREA
101

HP-2

MECH. PLATFORM 
ACCESS LADDER

3/4" T&G PLYWOOD

2x8 JOISTS @ 12" O.C., MAX., 
SCAB INTO EXISTING WALL

3 1/2" SOUND BATT INSULATION

5/8" GYPSUM 
WALLBOARD CEILING

3 1/2" SOUND BATT INSULATION

5/8" GYPSUM WALLBOARD CEILING

PAINTED ROUND DUCT, SEE MECH.

2x4 WOOD STUDS @ 16" O.C., MAX.

DBL. 2x8 BEAM

EXISTING PRE-ENGINEERED METAL 
BUILDING EXTERIOR ENDWALL

EXISTING PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING ROOF & INSULATION

EXISTING STUD WALL TO REMAIN

2x8 JOISTS @ 12" O.C., MAX., 
SCAB INTO EXISTING WALL

CASED OPENING

2x8 JOISTS @ 12" O.C., MAX., 
SCAB INTO EXISTING WALL

COORDINATE ALL HVAC W/ 
MECH. DRAWINGS

SUSPENDED ACT CEILING, SEE RCP

5/8" GYPSUM WALLBOARD, BOTH SIDES

2x4 WOOD STUDS @ 16" O.C.

3 1/2" SOUND BATT INSULATION

G
YP

. B
R

D
. T

O
 6

" A
BO

VE
 C

EI
LI

N
G

CONTINUE WALL UP TO ROOF STRUCTURE

EXISTING PRE-ENGINEERED METAL 
BUILDING ROOF & INSULATION

EXISTING FLOOR SLAB

TO
 6

" A
BO

VE
 C

EI
LI

N
G

SUSPENDED ACT CEILING, SEE RCP

5/8" GYPSUM WALLBOARD, BOTH SIDES

2x4 WOOD STUDS @ 16" O.C.

3 1/2" SOUND BATT INSULATION

3 1/2" SOUND BATT INSULATION

1' - 6" 1' - 6"

EXISTING FLOOR SLAB

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A301

SE
C

TI
O

N
S

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

 3/4" = 1'-0"1 MECH. PLATFORM SECTION

 3/4" = 1'-0"2 INTERIOR WALL SECTION
 3/4" = 1'-0"3 TYP. INT. WALL SECTION

691

Item 5.



4'
 - 

0"
2'

 - 
10

"

7'
 - 

3 
1/

2"

6' - 0" 2' - 1 1/2"

1' - 0"1' - 0"

OPENING

PAINTED GYPSUM WALLBOARD

PAINTED GYPSUM WALLBOARD

OPENING

AIR RETURN GRILLE, 
COORD. W/ MECH.

PAINTED EXPOSED SUPPLY DUCT, 
COORD. W/ MECH.

AIR RETURN GRILLE, 
COORD. W/ MECH.

PAINTED EXPOSED SUPPLY DUCT, 
COORD. W/ MECH.

4" RUBBER COVE BASE, TYP.

OPEN AREA
101

4'
 - 

0"
2'

 - 
10

"

3' - 0"

4" 4"

SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP

OPENING

LOBBY
103

4" RUBBER COVE BASE, TYP.

2' - 0"2"3' - 10"3' - 6"8' - 2"1 3/4"2' - 0"

3' - 0"2' - 10"

1 3/4"

3' - 8"
1 1/4"

2' - 9"6' - 2"

1 3/4"

1' - 0"

2'
 - 

10
"

1'
 - 

8"
2'

 - 
6"

6 3/4" EXISTING BUMPOUT

EXISTING WINDOW

SOLID SURFACE COUNTER & BACKSPLASH

NEW 
WARMING 
CABINET

2' - 0"

2"

2' - 10" 2' - 10" 2' - 10" 1/2"

2'
 - 

10
"

OPENING

2'
 - 

10
"

1'
 - 

8"
2'

 - 
6"

2' - 0" 1 1/4" 3' - 0" 3' - 6" 1 1/4" 2' - 0"

1' - 0" 2" 1' - 9"
1"

3' - 8" 1 1/2" 2' - 9" 2"

EXISTING WINDOW

2'
 - 

10
"

1'
 - 

8"
2'

 - 
6"

111A 112A

1' - 0"
2 1/2"

3' - 3"

2' - 4" 1 1/2" 2' - 0"

2'
 - 

6"
1'

 - 
8"

2'
 - 

10
"

REF.

CASED OPENING

2'
 - 

10
"

3"

4"
2'

 - 
6"

1'
 - 

8"
2'

 - 
10

"
4"

1 
1/

2"

3/4" MELAMINE BOX W/ HPDL FACE 
EDGES

VINYL BASE ON 3/4" PLYWOOD TOE

1/4" BACK ON 1X4 NAILERS

32 MM LINE BORE SYSTEM

3/4" MELAMINE ADJ. SHELF

4" BRUSHED CHROME WIRE PULLS

170º CONCEALED ADJ. HINGES

3/4" SLABS W/ HPDL EACH SIDE

MELAMINE DRAWER W/ METAL FULL EXT. 
SIDES

SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP

BACKSPLASH AGAINST WALL BEYOND AS 
NEEDED

1X4 STRETCHERS

2X6 BLOCKING, TYP.

MELAMINE INTERIOR 
FINISH, TYP.

2X4 BLOCKING

1' - 0"

MELAMINE INT. 
FIN., TYP.

4" BRUSHED CHROME WIRE PULLS

170º CONCEALED ADJ. HINGES

32 MM LINE BORE SYSTEM

1/4" BACK ON 1X4 NAILERS

3/4" MELAMINE ADJ. SHELVES

3/4" SLAB W/ HPDL EACH SIDE

3/4" MELAMINE BOX W/ HPDL FACE EDGES

2' - 0"

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A501

IN
TE

R
IO

R
 E

LE
VA

TI
O

N
S 

& 
D

ET
AI

LS

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

 1/2" = 1'-0"1 OPEN AREA 101

 1/2" = 1'-0"2 LOBBY 103
 1/2" = 1'-0"3 KITCHEN 1

 1/2" = 1'-0"4 KITCHEN 2
 1/2" = 1'-0"5 KITCHEN 3

 1/2" = 1'-0"6 KITCHEN 4

 1" = 1'-0"7 TYP. MILLWORK SECTION

692

Item 5.



561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, A
IA

. -
 T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 IS

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 IN

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 S

U
B

JE
C

T
 T

O
 L

E
G

A
L 

A
C

T
IO

N
.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E
V

D
A
T
E

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S

A601

SC
H

ED
U

LE
S 

& 
FI

N
IS

H
 S

PE
C

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S

22-031-1

T.
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 P
AR

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
S 

TO
 B

O
O

KE
R

06.05.2024

14
3 

BO
O

KE
R

 T
 W

AS
H

IN
G

TO
N

 C
IR

C
LE

 | 
YE

M
AS

SE
E,

 S
C

ROOM FINISH/OCCUPANCY SCHEDULE
NUMBER NAME FLOOR BASE WALLS CEILING OCCUPANCY TYPE AREA
101 OPEN AREA LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT NO CEILING ASSEMBLY (15 NET) 1238 SF
102 OFFICE LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" BUSINESS (150 GROSS) 114 SF
103 LOBBY LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" BUSINESS (150 GROSS) 66 SF
104 TOILET LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" 46 SF
105 SIDE EXIT LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" 44 SF
106 TOILET LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" 46 SF
107 STORAGE LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" STORAGE (300 GROSS) 53 SF
108 MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" ASSEMBLY (15 NET) 393 SF
109 EXIST.TOILET LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED PAINTED GYPSUM WALLBOARD & 7'-3 1/2" 54 SF
110 UTILITIES LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED PAINTED GYPSUM WALLBOARD & 7'-3 1/2" STORAGE (300 GROSS) 48 SF
111 KITCHEN LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" KITCHEN (200 GROSS) 198 SF
112 PANTRY LVT 4" RUBBER COVE PAINT & PATCH EXISTING WALLS AS NEEDED, GYPSUM WALLBOARD ON NEW WALLS - PAINT 2x2 ACT @ 7'-10" KITCHEN (200 GROSS) 10 SF

DOOR SCHEDULE
MARK TO: (ROOM NAME) FROM: (ROOM NAME) WIDTH HEIGHT THICKNESS DOOR TYPE FINISH FRAME MATERIAL COMMENTS
101A OPEN AREA 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" HALF LITE SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT W/ CLOSER & PANIC HARDWARE
102A OPEN AREA OFFICE 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
103A LOBBY 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" HALF LITE SOLID CORE WOOD CLEAN, PAINT OR STAIN PAINT EXISTING EXISTING DOOR TO REMAIN, ADD CLOSER & PANIC HARDWARE
103B OPEN AREA LOBBY 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
104A TOILET SIDE EXIT 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
105A SIDE EXIT 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" HOLLOW METAL CLEAN, PAINT OR STAIN PAINT EXISTING EXISTING DOOR TO REMAIN, ADD CLOSER & PANIC HARDWARE
105B OPEN AREA SIDE EXIT 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
106A SIDE EXIT TOILET 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
107A OPEN AREA STORAGE 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
108A OPEN AREA MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
108B MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM 6' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 72"x84" DOUBLE HOLLOW METAL CLEAN, PAINT PAINT EXISTING EXISTING DOOR TO REMAIN
109A MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM EXIST.TOILET 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD CLEAN, PAINT OR STAIN PAINT EXISTING EXISTING DOOR TO REMAIN
110A MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM UTILITIES 2' - 6" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 30"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD CLEAN, PAINT OR STAIN PAINT EXISTING EXISTING DOOR TO REMAIN
111A KITCHEN OPEN AREA 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 0" CASED OPENING HOLLOW METAL - PAINT
112A KITCHEN PANTRY 3' - 0" 7' - 0" 1 3/4" 36"x84" SOLID CORE WOOD PAINT OR STAIN HOLLOW METAL - PAINT

1.

2.

3.

4.

WOOD FRAMING, GENERAL:
COMPLY WITH THE AMERICAN FOREST AND PAPER ASSOCIATION'S (AFPA) 
"MANUEL FOR WOOD FRAME CONSTRUCTION".
ALL WOOD TO BE PRESERVATIVE TREATED BY PRESSURE PROCESS - 
AMERICAN WOOD PRESERVERS ASSOCIATION (AWPA) C2.
SELECT STRUCTURAL GRADE OF SOUTHERN PINE, DOUGLAS FIR OR 
SPRUCE-PINE-FIR MAY BE USED, UNLESS NOTED SPECIFICALLY ON 
STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES, OR OTHERWISE HEREIN.
ALL FASTENERS, ATTACHMENTS AND ANCHORS TO BE GALVANIZED, 
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES.

INTERIOR FINISH SPECIFICATIONS:
PAINT/STAIN

MFR: SHERWIN WILLIAMS OR APPROVED EQUAL
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER

GYPSUM WALL BOARD

MFR: U.S. GYPSUM OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: 5/8" TYPE "X"

5/8" MOLD/MOISTURE RESISTANT TYPE "X" IN WET LOCATIONS

GRAB BARS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: BOBRICK, BRADLEY, OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: SMOOTH IN LENGTHS AS INDICATED

TOILET TISSUE DISPENSERS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER
STYLE: SURFACE MOUNTED, AS SELECTED BY OWNER

PAPER TOWEL DISPENSERS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER
STYLE: SURFACE MOUNTED, AS SELECTED BY OWNER

SOAP DISPENSERS (REUSE EXISTING UNLESS REQUESTED BY OWNER)

MFR: GOJO OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: SURFACE MOUNTED, AUTOMATIC

MIRRORS

MFR: BOBRICK, BRADLEY, OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: STAINLESS STEEL FRAMED IN SIZE INDICATED

CABINETS

STYLE: MELAMINE BOXES W/ PLASTIC LAMINATE FINISH ON ALL EXPOSED SIDES.
PLASTIC LAMINTE MFR: WILSONART, FORMICA, OR APPROVED EQ.
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY ARCHITECT FROM MANUFACTURER'S FULL RANGE

SOLID SURFACE COUNTERTOP

MFR: WILSONART, CORIAN, OR APPROVED EQ.
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY ARCHITECT FROM MANUFACTURER'S FULL RANGELVT FLOORING

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

MFR: SHAW OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: IN THE GRAIN II (BASIS-OF-DESIGN)
FLOORING TO HAVE FOLLOWING CHARACTERISITCS: 

COMMERCIAL HIGH-PERFORMANCE LUXURY VINYL TILE
CLASS III, PRINTED FILM
TYPE “B” EMBOSSED
20 MIL OR 30 MIL
6” X 48” DIRECT GLUE

WALL BASE

MFR: ROPPE, JOHNSONITE, FLEXCO, OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: 4" RUBBER COVE

1.
2.

3.
4.
5.

6.

DOORS AND FRAMES:
DOORS TO COMPLY WITH ANSI A250.8 FOR LEVEL AND MODEL.
DOORS TO COMPLY WITH ANSI 250.4 FOR PHYSICAL-ENDURANCE LEVEL - 
LEVEL 4 MAXIMUM DUTY, MODEL 1, FULL FLUSH, INSULATED, 16 GA. GALV. 
SHEET STEEL, 14 GA. GALV. STEEL FRAMES, WELDED.
PROVIDE HEAVY DUTY DOOR HARDWARE. (CORBIN RUSSWIN OR EQUAL) 
INSTALL DOORS AND FRAMES TO COMPLY WITH SDI 105 AND SDI 122.
VERIFY WALL FINISHES PRIOR TO ORDERING FRAMES FOR CORRECT DEPTH 
AND FINISH AT ADJACENT SURFACES.
ALL FRAME TO BE FULLY WELDED.

DOORS & FRAMES

MFR: REPUBLIC, CECO, OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: FLUSH HOLLOW METAL (SEE DOOR & FRAME NOTES)
COLOR: AS SELECTED BY OWNER

DOOR HARDWARE (PROVIDE ALLOWANCE OF $500 PER DOOR LEAF)

MFR: CORBIN RUSSIN OR APPROVED EQUAL
STYLE: LEVER HANDLES OR AS OTHERWISE DIRECTED BY OWNER
FINISH: AS SELECTED BY OWNER
OPTIONS: LEVERS, PLATES, DEADBOLTS, STOPS, CLOSERS, ETC.

WARMING CABINET SPECIFICATIONS:

693

Item 5.



DEMO EXISTING KITCHEN EXHAUST HOOD, 
INCLUDING ALL DUCTWORK AAND WIRING. 
REPAIR ANY WALL PENETRATIONS TO MATCH 
ARCHITECTETURAL FINIISHES.

DEMO EXISTING RESTROOM EXHAUST FAN, 
INCLUDING ALL DUCTWORK AAND WIRING. 
REPAIR ANY WALL PENETRATIONS TO MATCH 
ARCHITECTETURAL FINIISHES.
(TYP.OF3)

DEMO EXISTING HVAC SYSTEM, INCLUDING ALL 
DUCTWORK, PIPING, WIRING, AND SUPPORTS.
(TYP.OF2)

DEMO EXISTING CONDENSING UNIT, INCLUDING 
ALL PIPING, WIRING, AND SUPPORTS. EXISTING 
HOUSEKEEPING PAD TO REMAIN.
(TYP.OF2)

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M101

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 D

E
M

O
L
IT

IO
N

 F
L

O
O

R
 P

L
A

N

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

MECHANICAL DEMOLITION FLOOR PLAN

694

Item 5.



M
M

OFFICE

102

OPEN AREA

101

TOILET

104

SIDE EXIT

105

TOILET

106

STORAGE

107

LOBBY

103

KITCHEN

111

EXIST.TOILET

109

UTILITIES

110

MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM

108

A

50
6"Ø

A

40
6"Ø

A

25
8"Ø

A

50
6"Ø

A

110
8"Ø

A

55
8"Ø

A

415
12"Ø

A

415
12"Ø

C

50
6"Ø

2

M102

EF-1

EF-2

EF-3

EF-4

HP-1

HP-2 HP-1A

HP-2A

6"x6"

8"x8"

6
"x

1
0
"

6"x10"

B

6"x6"

B

8"x8"

B

6"x6"

12"ø 14"ø 16"ø

16"ø14"ø12"ø

8"ø

8"ø

8"ø

A

175
8"Ø

A

175
8"Ø

A

175
8"Ø

A

175
8"Ø

T

T

E

10"x4"

E

10"x4"

E

10"x4"

E

38"x22"

E

38"x22"

6
"ø

L

18"x18"

70e

140e

70e

70e

420oa

70-210e

70e

70e

6"ø
UP

ROUTE EXHAUST DUCT BELOW MECHANICAL 
PLATFORM. COMBINE DUCTS AND ROUTE 8"Ø 
DUCT OUT TO WALL CAP (GREENHECK WC-8).

8"ø

1
0
"x

6
"

10"x10"

1
" 

C

1" C
1 1/4" C

ROUTE 1 1/4" CONDENSATE LINE ALONG 
PLATFORM TO UTILITY ROOM. ROUTE 
BENEATH PLATFORM ABOVE UTILITY ROOM 
AND DOWN EXTERIOR WALL TO EXTERIOR.

ROUTE REFRIGERANT LINES AT STRUCTURE 
AND DOWN EXTERIOR WALL TO EXTERIOR.
(TYP.OF2)

INSTALL CONDENSING UNIT ON EXISTING EXTERIOR 
HOUSEKEEPING PAD. MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR 
TO MODIFY AS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE 4" 
CONCRETE SUPPORT FOR CONDENSING UNIT.
(TYP.OF2)

ROUTE 6"Ø DUCT OUT TO WALL CAP 
(GREENHECK WC-6).

(TYP.OF2)

ROUTE INTERIOR-LINED RETURN TRANSFER FROM 
RETURN AIR GRILLE TO SIDEWALL RETURN GRILLE.
(TYP.OF3)

ROUTE INTERIOR-LINED RETURN 
DUCTWORK FROM SIDEWALL RETURN 

GRILLE TO MIXED AIR PLENUM AT UNIT.
(TYP.OF2)

INSTALL HORIZONTAL AIR HANDLER 
ON MECHANICAL PLATFORM.

(TYP.OF2) 

INTERLOCK OPENING OF OUTSIDE 
AIR MOTORIZED DAMPER WITH 

OPERATION OF UNIT COMPRESSOR. 
(TYP.OF2)

COORDINATE EXACT LOCATION OF 
THERMOSTAT WITH ARCHITECT.

(TYP.OF2)

ROUTE DOUBLE-WALLED SPIRAL DUCTWORK EXPOSED 
IN AREAS WITH EXPOSED STRUCTURE. MOUNT SPIRAL 

DUCT DIFFUSERS AT 0° FROM HORIZONTAL.
(TYP.)

EXHAUST FAN OPERATION TO BE 
INTERLOCKED WITH ROOM LIGHT SWITCH.

(TYP.OF4)

6"ø

6"ø

DN

ROUTE OUTSIDE AIR DUCTWORK HIGH, 
TIGHT TO STRUCTURE.
(TYP.)

6
"ø

INSTALL LOUVER AT 9'-0" AFF. COORDINATE 
EXACT LOCATION WITH ARCHITECT.

UP

UP

DN

DN

MAINTAIN 3'-0" SEPARATION FROM EXHAUST 
DISCHARGE POINT AND ANY OPERABLE 

WINDOW. MAINTAIN 10'-0" SEPARATION TO 
ANY OUTSIDE AIR INTAKE POINT.

(TYP.)

D

295
10"x6"

D

295
10"x6"

D

235
10"x6"

D

235
10"x6"

1
8
"x

1
6
"

1
8
"x

1
6
"

16"x14"

16"x14"

D

295
10"x6"

D

235
10"x6"

6"ø

6
"ø

8
"ø

6
"ø

12"ø 12"ø

6"x6"

14"x14"

B

18"x18"

DN

DN DN

DN

02 EAVE
11' - 4"

02 MECH.
PLATFORM
8' - 0"

02 EAVE
11' - 4"

6"x10"
10"x10"

HP-2
16"x18"

6"ø

22"x20"

1" C

REF

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M102

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 R

E
N

O
V

A
T

IO
N

 F
L

O
O

R
 P

L
A

N

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

MECHANICAL RENOVATION FLOOR PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

MECHANICAL UNIT PLATFORM - HP-2

1

695

Item 5.



M MOTORIZED DAMPER

TIMED OVERRIDE SWITCH.

CONNECT TO EXISTING

S
OA

DAE

FC

OUTSIDE AIRFLOW

DUCT AIR EXTRACTOR

FLEXIBLE CONNECTION

MECHANICAL SYMBOLS

SWITCH

THERMOSTAT

NIGHT SETBACK THERMOSTAT

RETURN AIR DUCT SECTION

SUPPLY AIR DUCT SECTION

MANUAL DAMPER

TURNING VANES

SPLITTER DAMPER

HI / LO RETURN

UNDERCUT DOOR

S

T

T

FD

AD

C

CEILING RETURN/EXHAUST GRILLE

2-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

ACCESS DOOR

SIDE WALL RETURN

SIDE WALL DIFFUSER

1-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

2-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

FIRE DAMPER

3-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

4-WAY CEILING DIFFUSER

CONDENSATE PIPING

SMOKE DETECTORSD SD SMOKE DAMPER

PIPE CLEAN-OUTPCO

AFF ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR

BELOW FINISHED CEILINGBFC

OFD

RFD

OVAL FIRE DAMPER

ROUND FIRE DAMPER

CASED OPENINGCO

FIRE SMOKE DAMPERFSD

CARBON MONOXIDE DETECTORCO

CARBON DIOXIDE DETECTORCO
2

H HUMIDISTAT

OCCUPANCY SENSOROS

REMARKSDAMPERFINISHMODEL NUMBERMANUFACTURERTYPESYMBOL

AIR DISTRIBUTION SCHEDULELEGEND

M 3
DRAWING NO.

DESIGNATION

DETAIL LETTER OR NO. C ARROW INDICATES

SECTION VIEW

M.F.S.

M.C.A.

COMP. QUANTITY

UNIT LAT (DB/WB/DP) (°F)

EAT (DB/WB) (°F)

(NET BTUH)

(NET BTUH)
CAPACITY

COOLING

SENS.

TOTAL

FAN MOTOR HP

MODEL NUMBER

MANUFACTURER

SYMBOL

SPLIT SYSTEM HEAT PUMP SCHEDULE

WEIGHT (LBS.)

MODEL NUMBER

FAN QUANTITY/HP

UNIT VOLTAGE

WEIGHT (LBS.)

SYMBOL

UNIT

OUTDOOR

INDOOR

UNIT

SUPPLY AIRFLOW

EXTERNAL S.P. (IN)

INTEGRATED HTG. CAP. @ 17°F

UNIT VOLTAGE

AUX. HTR K.W.

OUTSIDE AIR (CFM)

HSPF2/COP RATING @ 47°F

SEER2/EER2 RATING @ ARI

AMBIENT (°F)

M.C.A.

M.O.P.MECHANICAL NOTES

-DO NOT SCALE DRAWING. ROUGH FROM EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURER AND ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS.

-DIMENSIONS NOTED ON PLANS ARE IN INCHES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

-DUCT SIZES NOTED ON PLANS ARE INTERIOR DIMENSIONS.

-ROUTE PVC (COPPER IN PLENUMS AND ON ROOF) INSULATED CONDENSATE DRAIN LINES TO ROOF DRAINS,
GUTTERS, FLOOR DRAINS, FRENCH DRAIN OR AS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS.

-MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING ALL EQUIPMENT VOLTAGES, ELECTRICAL
REQUIREMENTS AND DISCONNECTS WITH THE ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO RELEASING EQUIPMENT
FROM MANUFACTURER.

-SOME REFRIGERANT LINE LENGTHS AND/OR VERTICAL LIFTS MAY EXCEED MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATIONS, MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR INSURING THE EQUIPMENT
MANUFACTURER SIZES ALL REFRIGERANT LINES FOR THESE PIECES OF EQUIPMENT.

-PROVIDE ALL UNSECURED EQUIPMENT WITH LOCKING REFRIGERANT CAPS PER IMC 1101.10

-ALL DUCTWORK SHOWN ON DRAWING IS DIAGRAMMATIC. ACTUAL RUN SHALL BE SHORTEST POSSIBLE WITHOUT
SHARP BENDS. ALL DUCTWORK SHALL BE GALVANIZED STEEL INSTALLED PER SMACNA, INTERNATIONAL AND
LOCAL CODES WITH 2-1/4" THICK FIBERGLASS DUCT WRAP INSULATION AND/OR AS OUTLINED IN
SPECIFICATIONS.

-ALL DUCTWORK SHALL BE SEALED AIRTIGHT WITH MASTIC.  NO HEAT SENSITIVE, PRESSURE SENSITIVE OR DUCT
TAPE ALLOWED ON PROJECT.

-LOW PRESSURE DUCTWORK SHALL BE TESTED AND NOT EXCEED 3% AIRFLOW LOSS AT 2" PRESSURE CLASS.
WHEN APPLICABLE, MEDIUM PRESSURE DUCTWORK FROM AIR HANDLER TO VAV BOX SHALL BE PRESSURE
TESTED PER SMACNA 4" PRESSURE CLASS.

-ALL DUCTWRAP INSULATION SHALL BE SEALED PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS FOR GLASS FABRIC
AND MASTIC INSTALLATIONS.  NO PRESSURE SENSITIVE TAPE SHALL BE ALLOWED.

-FLEXIBLE DUCTWORK WILL BE ALLOWED AT THE END OF GALVANIZED STEEL RUN OUTS; MAXIMUM LENGTH OF
FLEXIBLE DUCT SHALL NOT EXCEED 8'-0". REFER TO TYPICAL RUN OUT DETAIL.

-DUCT SMOKE DETECTORS FOR ALL FIRE/SMOKE, SMOKE DAMPERS AND RETURN AIR SYSTEMS 2000 CFM OR
GREATER BY FIRE ALARM CONTRACTOR OR AUDIBLE/VISIBLE DETECTOR BY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR WHEN
NO FIRE ALARM SYSTEM AVAILABLE.  DUCT SMOKE DETECTORS SHALL BE INSTALLED BY MECHANICAL
CONTRACTOR PER CODE.

-ENTIRE MECHANICAL SYSTEMS SHALL BE INSTALLED PER 2021 INTERNATIONAL CODES WITH 2021 SOUTH
CAROLINA MODIFICATIONS EXCEPT THE ENERGY CODE SHALL BE 2009 SOUTH CAROLINA ENERGY
CONSERVATION CODE. ALSO, ALL LOCAL CODES & AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION SHALL APPLY.

-COORDINATION OF ALL MECHANICAL SYSTEMS WITH OTHER DISCIPLINES IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
CONTRACTOR.  NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO INSTALLING.  CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT
PROCEED WITH UNCERTAINTY.

-PROVIDE PLASTIC NAMEPLATES FOR ALL EQUIPMENT SPECIFIED ON PROJECT.  LABELING TAG SHALL BE SAME
AS EQUIPMENT NUMBER.

-ALL PIPING SUPPORT SPACING SHALL BE PER MSS-SP69 AND WITHIN 18" OF CHANGE IN DIRECTION.

-ALL EQUIPMENT, PIPE AND DUCT SHALL BE SEISMICALLY RESTRAINED PER 2021 IBC.  SEISMIC RESTRAINT
SYSTEMS AS MANUFACTURED BY MASON INDUSTRIES, AMBER/BOOTH OR APPROVED EQUAL WHO MUST BE A
MEMBER OF VISCMA.  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE SEISMIC CALCULATIONS AND DRAWINGS CERTIFIED AND
STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER EMPLOYED BY THE MANUFACTURER.  CALCULATIONS TO MEET ICC, IBC, NFPA,
ASCE/SEI 7-10, SMACNA AND AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION (AHJ).

-PROVIDE TESTING AND BALANCING OF ALL SYSTEMS BY A THIRD PARTY NEBB CERTIFIED T&B CONTRACTOR.
SUBMIT T&B FORMS PRIOR TO PERFORMING WORK FOR APPROVAL.

-GENERAL AND MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND APPROVE ALL SHOP DRAWINGS PRIOR TO
SUBMITTING TO ENGINEER/ARCHITECT WITH "APPROVED" OR "APPROVED AS NOTED" STAMPS FOR ENGINEER'S
10 CALENDAR DAY REVIEW.

WEIGHT (EXCLUDING CURB) (LBS.)

DAMPER SIZE (IN)

LOCATION

ROOF/WALL OPENING SIZE (IN.)

DRIVE TYPE

VOLTAGE

FAN R.P.M.

MOTOR HORSEPOWER

STATIC PRESSURE (IN.)

AIRFLOW (C.F.M.)

MODEL NUMBER

MANUFACTURER

SYMBOL

SONES

DISCHARGE LOCATION

KYNAR 500RUSKINLOUVER EME520DD COLOR PER ARCHITECT

W/OBDOFF-WHITEPRICELAY-IN  DIFFUSER ASPD-31

---OFF-WHITEPRICELAY-IN RETURN APDDR-3 FLAT BLACK PLENUM

W/OBDOFF-WHITEPRICESURF. MTD. DIFFUSER ASPD-31 12"x12" PANEL FOR 6" W/ PLASTER FRAME

PRICESIDEWALL DIFFUSER W/OBD

PRICESIDEWALL RETURN

ALUMINUM

ALUMINUM COLOR PER ARCHITECT

COLOR PER ARCHITECT620D-FL

635-FL ---

GRILLE/LOUVER/DAMPER SYMBOL

GRILLE/LOUVER/DAMPER SYMBOL

SECTION ARROW

DIFFUSER/GRILLE SYMBOL

AIRFLOW CAPACITY (CFM)

ROUND NECK SIZE (IN.)

SQUARE NECK SIZE (IN.)

AIRFLOW CAPACITY (CFM)

DIFFUSER/GRILLE SYMBOL

SUPPLY RETURN

ROUND NECK SIZE (IN.)

SQUARE NECK SIZE (IN.)

REFER TO GRILLE & DIFFUSER LEGEND FOR SCHEDULING DETAILS

DIMENSIONS NOTED ON PLANS ARE IN INCHES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

A

100
6"�

A

100
6 6

B

6 6

B

6"�

REMARKS:
*PRIOR TO ORDERING, CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY VOLTAGE AND ALL
ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS.

1.     PROVIDE BACKDRAFT DAMPER AND SPEED CONTROLLER.

FAN SCHEDULE
EF-1

GREENHECK

SP-B110ES

70

0.5

DIRECT

6"Ø

N/A

WC-6

2.5

FRACTIONAL

650

115 / 1 / 60

RESTROOM / JAN

10

REMARKS:
*COORDINATE ALL AIR DISTRIBUTION STYLES AND LOCATIONS WITH ARCHITECTURAL CEILING GRID AND ELECTRICAL LIGHT LAYOUT
PRIOR TO SUBMITTING SHOP DRAWINGS OR ORDERING.

- ALTERNATE AIR DISTRIBUTION SUPPLIERS SHALL INSURE THAT "NC" AND PERFORMANCE DATA MATCHES SPECIFIED DEVICES.

A

B

C

D

E

L

EF-2, 3, 4

GREENHECK

SP-A200

140

0.5

DIRECT

8"x8"

N/A

WC-8

3.5

FRACTIONAL

900

115 / 1 / 60

EX. RESTROOM

24

REMARKS:
*PRIOR TO ORDERING, CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY VOLTAGE AND ALL
ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS.

-ALL CAPACITIES ARE NET TO INCLUDE INDOOR FAN HEAT.
-UNIT LEAVING AIR CONDITION INCLUDES INDOOR FAN HEAT AND IS THE
TEMPERATURE (DB/WB/DP) AT UNIT DISCHARGE.
-EXTERNAL S.P. IS EXTERIOR TO UNIT/ HEATER CABINET.
-REFRIGERANT LINES FOR SYSTEM TO BE SIZED BY EQUIPMENT
MANUFACTURER TO MINIMIZE CAPACITY AND EFFICIENCY LOSSES AND
OBTAIN MAXIMUM SYSTEM RELIABILITY. LINE SIZES FOR SYSTEM TO BE
INCLUDED IN EQUIPMENT SUBMITTAL.

1.     PROVIDE WITH ECM INDOOR FAN MOTOR WITH COMFORT R MODE.
SET AIRFLOW CONTROL DIP SWITCHES FOR CONSTANT CFM PER
SCHEDULE AND ENHANCED MODE FOR DEHUMIDIFICATION.

2.     PROVIDE HEAD PRESSURE CONTROL FOR COOLING OPERATION
DOWN TO 0°F, SINGLE ENTRY POWER, COIL GUARD, COMPRESSOR
SUMP HEATERS, FILTER RACK W/MERV 8 PLEATED FILTERS AND 5
YR. COMPRESSOR WARRANTY.

3.     PROVIDE DIGITAL PROGRAMMABLE THERMOSTAT WITH
DEHUMIDIFICATION FEATURE.

TRANE

HP-1, 2

TEM6B0C60H51

1750

0.5

0.75

75 / 63

55.5 / 53.5 /

210

9.6

59

60

240 / 1 / 60

185

HP-1A, 2A

4TWR6060

1 / 0.25

1 (2 STG)

35

60

230 / 1 / 60

330

95 / 81

52,938

38,358

35,800

15.6 / 11.7

7.8 / 3.8

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M201

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L
E

S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

1

1

1

1

696

Item 5.



NO SCALE

DUCT MOUNTED DIFFUSER LOCATIONS

NOTE:

EXPOSED DOUBLE
WALL SUPPLY DUCT

EXPOSED DOUBLE WALL DUCTWORK
TO BE FACTORY PRE-TREATED FOR
PAINTING. PAINT PER ARCHITECT'S
DIRECTION AND COORDINATE WITH
GENERAL CONTRACTOR.

REFER TO MECHANICAL
FLOOR PLAN FOR ALL
DIFFUSER AND DUCT SIZES.

CLOSED CELL GASKET TO
PROVIDE AIRTIGHT SEAL.

INDIVIDUALLY ADJUSTABLE, ALL
ALUMINUM, DOUBLE DEFLECTION SUPPLY
GRILLE WITH FACE FRAME CURVED TO
MATCH THE RADIUS OF THE DUCT.

AIR
SCOOP

FLEXMASTER USA FLDE B03 OR EQUAL WITH 2"
BUILD OUT, LOCKING QUADRANT, FLANGE, GASKET
AND INSULATION GUARD

AIR SCOOP
(ATTACHED TO
SPIN-IN)

NO SCALE

EXHAUST FAN DETAIL

CEILING

NO SCALE

EXTERIOR LOUVER DETAIL

SILL

WALL PER ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS.
WALL

LOUVER BY RUSKIN MODEL
# EME520DD, KYNAR FINISH
WITH BIRD SCREEN.

COORDINATE EXACT
MOUNTING HEIGHTS WITH

ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS.

NOTE:
WALL OPENING PER ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS.

INTERLOCK DAMPER WITH FAN STARTER SO THAT
DAMPER IS FULLY OPEN BEFORE FAN MOTOR STARTS.

SECURE LOUVER TO WALL
THRU SHEETMETAL
DUCTWORK.

IF NO DUCTWORK IS REQUIRED, COVER
DAMPER OPENING WITH WELDED WIRE
MESH. SECURE TO SLEEVE WITH
MECHANICAL FASTENERS.

MOUNTING CLIPS
FURNISHED BY
LOUVER
MANUFACTURER.

LOUVER

SEALANT

SEALANT

SEALANT

SILL

SILL

DUCTWORK (IF
REQUIRED) SIZE
PER PLANS

EQUIPMENT PLATFORM

HORIZONTAL AIR HANDLER DETAIL - WITH STAND
NO SCALE

SEE CONDENSATE
"P-TRAP" DETAIL

OUTSIDE AIR DUCT
PER FLOOR PLAN.

PROVIDE MOTORIZED DAMPER IN OUTSIDE AIR
DUCT. INTERLOCK WITH UNIT COMPRESSOR SO
DAMPER IS OPEN ONLY WHEN COMPRESSOR IS
RUNNING.

BALANCING DAMPER.

3/4" BALL VALVE WITH
HOSE CONNECTION

CONDENSATE DRAIN-
REFER TO FLOOR PLAN

PROVIDE 1" LINER WITH ANTIMICROBIAL
ACOUSTICAL COATING IN SUPPLY AND
RETURN SHEETMETAL DUCTWORK FOR 10
FEET FROM UNIT. ENTIRE SYSTEM SHALL
BE WRAPPED WITH DUCTWRAP.

REF'G LINES PER
FLOOR PLANS

SIZE RETURN AIR DUCT AND
ROUTE PER FLOOR PLAN.

MOISTURE SENSOR

24 GA. WELDED GALVANIZED STEEL AUXILIARY
DRAIN PAN PAINTED WITH GALVANNEAL PAINT

TO PREVENT RUST. PAN TO BE 2" DEEP AND
EXTEND 3" BEYOND UNIT ON ALL SIDES.

SIZE SUPPLY AIR DUCT
PER FLOOR PLAN.

FC FC

UNIT SERVICE ACCESS MUST
REMAIN UNOBSTRUCTED.

OVERFLOW LINE DOWN TO
1/2" ABOVE BOTTOM OF
PAN.

6" EQUIPMENT SUPPORT  EQUAL TO
DIVERSITECH MODEL HPR-6.

NEOPRENE ISOLATION (TYP.)

SLOPE DRAIN TO PROVIDE
1/8" SLOPE PER FOOT

NEOPRENE VIBRATION
ISOLATION PADS

CONDENSING UNIT SUPPORT DETAIL

4" CONCRETE PAD BY MECHANICAL
CONTRACTOR WITH WIRE MESH. PAD SHALL
EXTEND 6" BEYOND PERIMETER OF UNIT

NO SCALE

GRADE

LOUVERED COIL GUARD

SUPPORT REFRIGERANT
LINES INDEPENDENT OF UNIT

CONDENSING UNIT.

NOTE:
PROVIDE SERVICE /
AIRFLOW CLEARANCES AS
REQUIRED BY UNIT
MANUFACTURER

NO SCALE

TYPICAL ROUND DUCT RUNOUT DETAIL

CEILING

PROVIDE RADIUS ELBOW
WITH 6" EXTENSION FOR
FLEX DUCT CONNECTION.

PROVIDE INSULATION ON
BACK OF DIFFUSER/GRILLE.

GENERAL NOTES:
1) SUPPORT SHEETMETAL AND FLEXIBLE DUCTWORK PER SMACNA STANDARDS.

2) OVERLAP FLEXIBLE DUCTWORK MINIMUM 4" OVER SHEETMETAL DUCTWORK.

SECURE LINER WITH ZIP TIE.  STAPLE GLASS FABRIC TAPE TO DUCT WRAP AND

MASTIC IN ORDER TO SEAL FLEXIBLE DUCTWORK.

HOLD DUCTWORK TIGHT TO
BOTTOM OF STRUCTURE
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON
PLANS.

ROUND SHEETMETAL DUCT
WITH FIBERGLASS WRAP
(TYPICAL AS SHOWN)

8'-0" FLEXIBLE
DUCT (MAX.)

CEILING DIFFUSER
OR RETURN GRILLE

TYPICAL SPIN-IN DETAIL
NO SCALE

M

THREADED ROD.
SECURE TO
STRUCTURE.

EXHAUST
FAN.

ROUTE PER
FLOOR PLANS.

PROVIDE
DAMPER BY
FAN
MANUFACTURER.

ATTACH ROUND DUCT TO
SPIN-IN WITH MECHANICAL
FASTENERS.

DAMPER BLADE
INSIDE SPIN-IN TAP.

FOAM GASKET FOR
AIRTIGHT SEAL.

ROUND
DUCTWORK

ATTACH SPIN-IN TO SUPPLY DUCTWORK
WITH ZIP-SCREWS (TYPICAL)

SUPPLY AIR
DUCT

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M301

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 D

E
T

A
IL

S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

1

1

697

Item 5.



6" COVER

12"

GRADE

NO SCALE

DRY WELL DETAILAHU CONDENSATE "P-TRAP" DETAIL

J = SCHEDULE FAN STATIC + 1"

H = TWO PIPE DIAMETERS

L = H + J + ONE PIPE DIAMETER

NO SCALE

L

CLEAN OUT UNION (TYP.)

PRIMARY CONDENSATE
DRAIN OVERFLOW DETECTION

SIZE PER FLOOR PLANS.

SENSOR WIRE TO MOISTURE
SENSOR CONTROL UNIT IN INDOOR
UNIT AUXILIARY DRAIN PAN.

TO AIR HANDLING UNIT
CONTROL CIRCUIT

MOISTURE SENSOR

AUXILIARY CONDENSATE
DRAIN PAN

PRIMARY PROBE SENSORS

CAPPED CLEAN OUT TEE

INSULATED COPPER
CONDENSATE DRAIN

AIR HANDLING
UNIT

INSTALL NONWOVEN
GEOTEXTILE LANDSCAPE
FABRIC 6" BEYOND TOP OF PIPE.

STONE DRY WELL MARKER
FLUSH WITH GRADE.

FILL PIPE FULL
OF GRAVEL

SLOPE CONDENSATE LINE
1/8" PER FT. FROM HVAC
UNITS. SIZE PER PLANS.

18"�x36" MIN. DEEP
CONCRETE PIPE.

NO SCALE

REFRIGERANT LINE PIPE SLEEVE DETAIL

RUN IN WALL.

INTERIOR

EXTERIOR

PROVIDE B-LINE B2000
PIPE CLAMPS OR EQUAL.

REF'G. LINE INSULATION.

"UNI-STRUT" GALVANIZED
STEEL. SECURE TO ANGLE
WITH MECHANICAL
FASTENERS.

5"X3"X1/4" GALVANIZED ANGLE
SUPPORT. SECURE TO WALL
WITH MECHANICAL FASTENERS.

STEEL PIPE SLEEVE.

FIRE RESISTANT FILL.

PROVIDE K-FLEX 360 INSULATED PIPE SUPPORT. PIPE
SUPPORT TO BE SAME THICKNESS AS PIPE INSULATION
AND SEALED WITH CONTACT ADHESIVE AT ALL JOINTS.

ALL EXTERIOR PIPING TO HAVE TWO COATS
OF GRAY FINISH WITH .016" THICK ALUMINUM
JACKET SECURED WITH STAINLESS STEEL
BANDS FOR PROTECTION OF INSULATION.

PROVIDE UNINSULATED PIPE WITH
B-LINE B1999 VIBRA-CUSHION OR EQUAL.

NO SCALE

"UNI-STRUT" OR EQUAL. SECURE TO
WALL WITH MECHANICAL FASTNERS.

WALL

REFRIGERANT PIPE SUPPORT DETAIL

PROVIDE K-FLEX 360 INSULATED PIPE
SUPPORT. PIPE SUPPORT TO BE SAME
THICKNESS AS PIPE INSULATION AND
SEALED WITH CONTACT ADHESIVE AT
ALL JOINTS.

SECURE PIPING TO SUPPORT WITH
B-LINE B2000 PIPE CLAMPS OR EQUAL.

PROVIDE B-LINE B1999
VIBRA-CUSHION OR EQUAL
ON UNINSULATED LINES.

INTERIOR

CONDENSATE LINE

REFRIGERANT PIPE SUPPORT DETAIL

2'-0"

NO SCALE

SECURE GALVANIZED CORNER ANGLES
TO UNI-STRUT SUPPORT AND TUBING
WITH MECHANICAL FASTENERS.

1-1/2"x1-1/2" MECHANICAL
TUBING, 3'-0" LONG. CEMENT IN
PLACE.

12 GA. GALVANIZED STEEL
CHANNEL EQUAL TO B-LINE B22A

PROVIDE K-FLEX 360 INSULATED PIPE
SUPPORT. PIPE SUPPORT TO BE SAME
THICKNESS AS PIPE INSULATION AND
SEALED WITH CONTACT ADHESIVE AT
ALL JOINTS.

SECURE INSULATED REFRIGERANT
LINE TO SUPPORT WITH B-LINE
B2000 PIPE CLAMPS OR EQUAL.

SECURE UNINSULATED
REFRIGERANT LINE TO
SUPPORT WITH B-LINE B2000
PIPE CLAMPS OR EQUAL.

PROVIDE B-LINE B1999
VIBRA-CUSHION OR EQUAL.

ALL EXTERIOR PIPING TO HAVE TWO COATS OF
GRAY FINISH WITH A .016" THICK ALUMINUM
JACKET SECURED WITH STAINLESS STEEL
BANDS FOR PROTECTION OF INSULATION.

REFRIGERANT PIPE CHANNEL SUPPORT DETAIL
NO SCALE

HANGER SPACING AND ROD SIZE
BASED ON MSS-SP69, TABLE 3 & 4

SECURE TO STRUCTURE WITH
MECHANICAL FASTENERS

PROVIDE K-FLEX 360 INSULATED
PIPE SUPPORT. PIPE SUPPORT TO
BE SAME THICKNESS AS PIPE
INSULATION AND SEALED WITH
CONTACT ADHESIVE AT ALL
JOINTS.

SECURE UNINSULATED REFRIGERANT
LINE TO SUPPORT WITH B-LINE B2000
PIPE CLAMPS OR EQUAL.

SECURE THREADED RODS
TO STRUT WITH CHANNEL
NUTS WITH SPRINGS

PROVIDE B-LINE B1999
VIBRA-CUSHION OR EQUAL.

PROVIDE B-LINE B2000
PIPE CLAMPS OR EQUAL.

NO SCALE

CONDENSATE LINE HANGER DETAIL

SECURE FROM
STRUCTURE

INSULATION

CONDENSATE PIPE

CROSS BOLT

CLEVIS HANGER
SYSTEM

H

J

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M302

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 D

E
T

A
IL

S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

698

Item 5.



SECTION 23 02 00

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS MECHANICAL

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01  SPECIAL NOTES

A.     Work under this section of the specifications shall be governed by requirements there under.

B.     The use of the word "PROVIDE" in the specifications and on drawings for work under this section shall mean: Furnish and install complete, supplying all necessary
labor and materials.

C.     This section applies to all sections of Division 23 of this project except as specified otherwise in the individual sections and here-in. Work described in this section
includes general requirements common to all mechanical systems.  Provisions of this section apply to all mechanical specification sections.

D.     References: Refer to the General Conditions for the Contract, the Supplementary General Conditions for the Contract, and the Subdivisions of Division 1; all of
which are contained in or referenced as a part of this Project Manual.  Instructions relating to the overall operations of the Contractor, as they may apply and as
contained in the referenced Subdivisions, will be equally applicable to his subcontractors, equipment and material suppliers and/or installers, and other persons or
companies having work requirements, this project.

E.      The contractor's attention is directed to the intention of the specifications to provide domestic manufactured products only for this project.  Where non-domestic
products will only be considered on a individual product basis and will only be accepted if prior approval is received before the project is bid.

1.02  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A.     Provide necessary labor, material, plant, and equipment including materials not specifically mentioned, but necessary to complete the job in a neat, correct and
workmanlike manner.

B.     The drawings and specifications shall be considered as supplementary, one to the other, so that materials and labor indicated, called for or implied by the one and not
the other, shall be supplied and installed as though specifically called for by both.

C.     All electrical equipment shall be UL listed and all gas equipment is to be AGA certified.

D.     All items shall be properly lubricated and in perfect operation upon completion of the project and prior to final acceptance by owner.

E.      Contractor shall be held responsible for having visited job site and having familiarized himself with existing conditions prior to submitting bid.  If any existing
problems are identified, notify Architect in writing prior to submitting bid.

1.03  SCOPE

A.     Provide a complete Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning system as specified here-in and as indicated on the accompanying Mechanical Drawings for the entire
building.

B.     Provide split system heat pumps with auxiliary electric heaters together with all necessary ductwork, supply and return grilles, and thermostatic control as specified
and indicated on drawings.

C.     Provide the necessary labor and material to remove the existing HVAC system as detailed on the demolition plans.

D.     Provide toilet room and janitor exhaust systems.  Systems shall consist of exhaust registers, sheet metal ductwork, exhaust fans, controls, and all items required for a
complete and operating system.

E.      Provide a Denlar hood for kitchen equipment, including exhaust fan, ductwork, fire suppression system, and all associated controls and accessories required for a
complete and operating system.

F.      Insulate all ductwork, piping, and equipment as specified herein and as indicated on mechanical drawings.

1.04  SPACE CONDITIONS

A.     All work shall fit the spaces available.  Verify all dimensions of the work before commencing fabrication and/or installation.  Minor deviations from the drawings
required to conform to space conditions and to provide the required accessibility shall be made at no additional cost to Owner.

B.     Only base manufacturer's equipment has been investigated and determined to meet necessary space conditions.  It shall be the responsibility of the approved equal
manufacturer and contractor to verify their suitability for use on this project.

1.05  DRAWINGS

A.     The Plans are not intended to show all ductwork, pipes, valves, fittings, connections, and details of the work to be done. The piping, duct, and equipment locations
shall be adhered to as closely as possible; however, any changes necessary to avoid columns, beams, lighting fixtures, ductwork, sprinkler piping, etc., shall be made
at no additional cost to the Owner.

B.     Conflicts in the plans and specifications where changes and alterations are necessary, or where exceptions are taken by the Contractor with regard to sizes, locations,
and other details indicated on the drawings, they shall be discussed with the Architect and have his consent in writing before any changes are made.  The Contractor
shall confer with the Architect for the exact location of all openings into finished areas and all equipment and piping locations before proceeding with the work.

C.     The drawings of this work were prepared in conjunction with the other trades and plans of the project and it shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide himself
with drawings of the other trades as required and to coordinate and schedule the work with the other trades.

D.     Should any difficulties prevent the installation of the work as indicated, the proposed changes shall be submitted to the Architect in detail and must be approved in
writing before the work may be performed.

E.      All inverts, locations, and elevations on all piping, equipment, trenches, etc. shall be verified on the job site prior to the performance of any work that may be
affected in any manner by said inverts, locations, and elevations.  Before construction of project starts, check location of proposed equipment and ductwork.  Review
other drawings for project, checking locations of structural elements, locations and sizes of chases, type and method of construction of roof, ceilings, walls, and
partitions.  Report to Architect and Engineers before start of construction any conflicts or unsatisfactory conditions.  In no case shall Contractor proceed in
uncertainty.  No extra charge will be approved after start of construction for work resulting from failure to follow these instructions.

F.      Where connections and drains are provided to serve specific pieces of equipment, it shall be the Contractor's responsibility to verify the exact location of the
equipment connections and drains and no installation shall be attempted until exact locations have been established.  This applies to all equipment regardless of who
furnishes said equipment.

1.06  PERMITS, LICENSES, AND FEES

A.           The installation of the systems covered by these specifications shall conform in strict accordance to all ordinances, codes and regulations of the State and DHEC
and shall conform to all applicable requirements and recommendations of the NFPA.  These requirements are the minimum and shall be complied with at no
additional cost to the Owner.

B.           In the absence of local regulation and codes, on heating, ventilating, or air conditioning, or in items or circumstances not covered by local regulation and codes,
all recommendations and requirements of ASHRAE, as set forth in the current editions of the applicable ASHRAE Guides, shall be met as well as all requirements
and recommendations of NFPA 90A and the International Building Code.

C.           Where requirements of the drawings and specifications exceed code requirements, the work shall be provided in accordance with the drawings and specifications.
Any work provided contrary to these requirements shall be removed and replaced at the Contractor's expense.

D.     The Contractor shall obtain and pay for all necessary permits and inspections required for the installation of this work and shall pay all charges incident thereto.  The
Contractor shall deliver to the Architect all certificates of said inspections issued by the authorities having jurisdiction.

1.07  BID BASIS

A.     Basis of Design:  The design is based on equipment data furnished by a listed "Base" manufacturer.  Only this base listed equipment has been verified by the A/E for
compliance with the documents.  There is no intent in these documents to necessarily use only "standard" products of the "Base" supplier nor any other supplier.
Modifications and alterations of standard products may be required.

1.08  MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP

A.     All materials and equipment shall be new and free from flaws and defects of any nature.  Materials called for are to be considered as standard of quality; which
however, implies no right on part of Contractor to substitute other materials and methods without written authority from Architect.

B.     All work shall be performed by skilled mechanics, under competent supervision, employing latest and best practices of the trade.  Work shall be installed in
accordance with recommendations of ASHRAE Guide, and equipment manufacturer's installation instructions.  In the event there is any conflict or doubt, consult
Architect for clarification and approval.

1.09  SUBSTITUTIONS

A.     Specific reference in the specifications to any article, device, product, material, fixture, form or type of construction, etc., by name, make, or catalog number, with or
without the words "or equal" shall be interpreted as establishing a standard of quality and shall not be construed as limiting competition, and the Contractor in such
cases may at his option, use any article, device, product, material, fixture, form or type of construction, which in the judgement of the Architect, expressed in writing
prior to bidding as specified below, is equal to that herein named.

B.     Requests for written approval to substitute materials or equipment considered by the Contractor as equal to those specified, shall be submitted for approval to the
Architect ten days before bids are taken.  Requests shall be accompanied by samples, descriptive literature, and engineering information, as necessary to fully identify
and appraise the product.  No increase in the contract sum will be considered when requests are not approved.  If the item is found to be equal, the Architect will issue
an Addendum making it a part of the Contract Documents prior to bidding.  After bidding, no further changes will be considered.

C.     Contractor shall be responsible for determining that all products submitted for approval meet given space limitations and maintain all required clearances for proper
access and service.

D.     Being listed as an approved equal manufacturer means only that the listed manufacturer is basically a reputable supplier whose equipment will receive consideration
if in accordance with all document requirements including space limitations and deliver.  Being listed is not to be construed as indicating or implying that the
supplier's product is assured of being acceptable for the project.  The burden of developing a product to comply with the documents and of obtaining approval of the
product rests solely with the Contractor and  is his sole responsibility to substantiate their acceptability for installation on this project. If a substituted product is
rejected due there will be no increase in contract sum to provide a compliant product.

1.10  SUBMITTAL

A.     The Engineer will review and take appropriate action on shop drawings, product data, samples, and other submittals required by the Contract Documents.  Such
review shall be for general compliance with the design and with the information given in the Contract Documents.  It shall not include review of quantities,
dimensions, weights, fabrication processes, construction methods, coordination with the work of other trades, or construction safety precautions, all of which are the
sole responsibility of the Contractor. Engineer's review shall be conducted with reasonable promptness consistent with sound professional practice.  Review of a
specific item shall not indicate acceptance of an assembly of which the item is a component.  The Engineer shall not be required to review and shall not be
responsible for any deviation from the Contract Documents not clearly noted by the Contractor, nor shall the Engineer be required to review partial submissions or
those for which submissions for correlated items have not been made.

B.     Prior to submittal of shop drawings to the Engineer, the General Contractor and the Mechanical Contractor shall review and approve shop drawings.  Shop drawings

which have not been reviewed and approved in writing by the Mechanical Subcontractor will not be reviewed by the Engineer.  Mechanical Contractor shall state in
writing on shop drawings, any proposed deviations from contract documents.  Such deviations, if not stated in shop drawing submittals, shall be the sole
responsibility of the Mechanical Subcontractor.  Note:  In addition to the General Contractor's approval and stamp, the first page of each shop drawing submittal must
contain the words "APPROVED" or "APPROVED AS NOTED" and must be signed and dated by the Mechanical Subcontractor before the Engineer will review
them.

C.     Review rendered on shop drawings shall not be considered as a guarantee of measurements of building conditions.  Where drawings are reviewed, said review does
not mean that drawings have been checked in detail; said review does not in any way relieve this contractor from his responsibility or necessity of furnishing material
or performing work as required by the contract drawings and specifications.

D.     After award of Contract, and before any materials of this Section are delivered to the job site, submit Shop Drawings to Architect in accordance with the requirements
listed below and in accordance with the provisions of the Architectural Section of these Specifications.

1.      After securing tentative approval on all items pending shop drawing submission, the contractor shall submit for approval manufacturer's shop drawings of all
equipment, and shop drawings to scale of all fabricated work furnished under this Section of the specifications including piping, ductwork, equipment layouts,
supports and equipment foundation pad layout. Shop drawings shall be of scale large enough to clearly indicate all details of work. Mechanical rooms, boiler
rooms, refrigeration plants, and fan rooms shall be submitted on a scale of not less than 1/4-inch equals one foot.

2.      Where colors or finishes are specified for products, a sample showing the color or finish shall be submitted with the shop drawings.

3.      Where high efficiency motors have been specified, submit certification of motor efficiency with shop drawings for each motor of one horsepower or greater.

E.      Material List:  Accompanying the shop drawings, submit a complete list of all materials proposed to be furnished and installed under this Section, giving
manufacturer's name and catalog number, sizes, capacities, model numbers, accessories and other pertinent information for each item to indicate full compliance with
drawings and specifications; this shall in no way be construed as permitting substitution except as specifically provided in the Architectural Section of these
specifications.  Every device or piece of equipment herein specified by model and manufacturer shall be submitted for approval.  Partial lists submitted from
time-to-time will not be permitted.

F.      Mechanical/Electrical Coordination:  Before equipment is ordered and after all motors, loads, controls, and other characteristics of equipment are known, the
Contractor shall review the data shown on the Electrical drawings.  Special attention shall be given to motor size, starters, means of disconnect, control wiring, etc.
that are being furnished under the electrical section of the specifications. At the time of shop drawing submittal, the contractor shall by letter to the Engineer point out
any discrepancies and describe the proposed corrective action.

1.      Prior to start of construction, contractor shall submit a starter schedule for review by Engineers. This schedule shall contain equipment description, starter
manufacturer and model number, starter accessories, control voltage and source of starter power and control circuitry.

2.      No extra charge will be approved after start of construction for work resulting from failure of contractor to follow these instructions.

G.     As-Built Drawings: Contractor shall maintain on the job site one complete set of the mechanical drawings for this project.  All changes authorized by the Architect as
to the location, sizes, etc., of piping, ductwork, and other mechanical equipment shall be indicated in red ink on the mechanical drawings as the work progresses.  At
the completion of the project, Contractor shall deliver a complete set of "As-Built" prints of the mechanical drawings to the Architect.

H.     Control Drawings:

1.      Before installation of controls, complete submittal data, including equipment specifications, control diagrams, schematic diagrams, internal connections, and
sequence of operation to the Architect for his approval. Diagrams shall show all instruments, devices, tubing, etc.  Set points and actions of instruments,
operating ranges, and normal position of controlled devices shall be indicated.  Operating sequence describing each system shall appear on the same drawing as
the system's control diagram.

2.      Wiring diagrams shall show conduit and wire sizes, transformers, fuses and correct schematic diagrams for each motor starter and magnetic contractor.
Diagram shall be coordinated with the equipment manufacturers involved and shall show the terminal designations for all connections to the equipment and the
manufacturer's approval obtained.

I.       Manual:  Upon completion of this portion of the work, and as a condition of its acceptance, deliver to the Owner through the Architect two copies each of a Manual
compiled in accordance with the provisions of the Architectural Section of these specifications; and also include in each copy of the Manual a copy of the As-Built
Drawings, operating and maintenance instructions, approved control drawings, spare parts lists, name and address of local service representatives and all warranty
certificates for new equipment.

1.11  ELECTRIC WORK

A.     Electrical Contractor will provide the following for the mechanical equipment:

1.      A source of power as required for each electric motor and for each electrical heating and cooling item of equipment installed under the mechanical contract,
including final wiring connections to motor terminals or to terminals in a control panel mounted on each respective unit.

2.      Circuit breaker protection as required for each electric heating and cooling item of equipment installed under the mechanical contract.

3.      Wiring each electric motor and each electrical heating and cooling item of equipment (where applicable) through a magnetic starter or a magnetic contactor
furnished by the Mechanical Contractor.

4.      Wiring each constant speed ceiling exhaust fan through a wall switch furnished by the Electrical contractor.

B.     All motors shall be provided with thermal overload protection either internally or at the starter and all electrical equipment shall be U.L. listed.

C.     In the event Mechanical Contractor proposes to use any items of mechanical equipment which have sizes, numbers of electrical meters, or other electrical
requirements different from those specified on schedules, drawing or elsewhere, Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating these changes with the Electrical
Contractor and he shall reimburse the Electrical Contractor for all additional costs necessitated by these changes.

D.     In general, the Electrical Contractor will do all power wiring for the mechanical equipment as described above, and the Mechanical Contractor shall do all control and
interlock wiring, unless otherwise specified or indicated on drawings.

E.      Consult electrical drawings for extent of electrical work provided for the mechanical equipment.  Verify current characteristics with Electrical Contractor before
ordering any equipment for this project.

F.      Mechanical Contractor shall provide all other wiring not covered above, that is necessary for complete and operating heating and air conditioning systems for the
building, including all control wiring, interlock wiring, conduit, relays, controls, starters, disconnect switches, circuit breakers, control conduit and outlet boxes,
wiring of all applicable control items of equipment, and other electrical work as required.

G.     All wiring shall be run in galvanized or sherardized rigid electrical conduit or E.M.T. where allowed under the electrical section of the specifications, and shall be
concealed in finished areas and occupied spaces.  All conduit shall be attached to ceiling or walls, attachment to or suspension from other equipment will not be
permitted.  If routing of conduit is questionable, verify routing with Engineers before proceeding with installation.  NO PLENUM RATED CABLE WILL BE
ALLOWED ON THIS PROJECT.

H.     The Mechanical Contractor shall provide power wiring from the breaker panel to all control devices including but not limited to control panels, valves, thermostats,
dampers, flow switches and other devices requiring power for a complete and operating mechanical system.

I.       All electrical work required under this Contract shall comply with the National Electrical Code and shall meet all local requirements. All electric equipment shall
bear UL labels.

1.12  GUARANTEES

A.     In addition to the warranty and guarantees under the General Conditions of the contract the Contractor agrees:

1.      To correct defects in workmanship, new materials, new equipment, and the operation of system for a period of one year from date of acceptance. Equipment
and materials, repaired or replaced, are guaranteed for one year following date of correction.

2.      To repair any damage to building and equipment resulting from defects in workmanship, materials, equipment, and system operation.

3.      To remove any item not specified or given approval and replace it with specified or approved item.

4.      Any item submitted for approval that does not conform to these specifications shall have accompanying note of exception.

5.      That the system as installed shall comply with code requirements.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01  EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS

A.     All equipment and materials provided under this section of the specifications shall be new and of the best grade and quality.  Materials and equipment manufactured
outside of the United States will not be acceptable.

B.     The approval of the Architect shall be obtained by the Contractor on all equipment and materials before any installation is made.

C.     Equipment that is installed and then does not perform as represented by selection data or shop drawings shall be replaced with equipment that meets the job
requirements and specifications at no additional cost to the Owner.

D.     All equipment, materials, and work indicated on the drawings or as specified hereinafter is intended to be installed in a manner conforming to the best engineering
practices and all equipment is intended to be complete in every respect to satisfy the job requirements and this specification.  In the event any material or equipment
is indicated to be used or installed contrary to the manufacturer's recommendations, or if any part, control accessory or auxiliary item required for satisfactory and
proper operation and performance of the material and/or equipment is not indicated or specified, it shall be the Contractor's responsibility to notify the Architect in
writing prior to installation.  In the event the Contractor fails to give such notice, he will be required to correct the work and/or furnish items omitted (in the
performance of his work) at no increase in the contract sum.

E.      Upon request from the Architect, the Contractor shall furnish to the Architect a certification on all materials and equipment so designated by the Architect.  The
certification shall be made by the manufacturer of the material and/or equipment; shall be signed by an official of the manufacturing concern; and shall state that the
drawings, specifications, and project requirements have been thoroughly studied by the manufacturer and that the proposed material and/or equipment is
unconditionally guaranteed to operate and/or perform properly as applied.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01  UTILITY CONNECTION AND MODIFICATIONS

A.     It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to determine all requirements regarding utility services to the building.  The Contractor shall verify the exact locations of
stubs provided.

3.02  PROTECTION

A.     The Contractor shall provide adequate protection to all materials, equipments, fixtures, etc. provided under this section of the specifications to prevent damage of any
nature.  The Contractor shall be required to remove and replace, at no additional cost to Owner, any item showing any sign of damage of any nature that cannot be
restored to its new condition and appearance.  Grinding and polishing may be used in the restoration of damaged equipment and materials when approved by the
Architect.

3.03  EXCAVATION AND BACKFILLING

A.     Contractor shall do all excavating and backfilling for installation of work included under this contract and he shall promptly remove from the premises all excess
earth, debris, and trash for which he is responsible. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating cutting and patching excavation conditions with Owner and
Utilities prior to execution of any excavation work.  All work shall comply with section 230500 as well as the General Conditions section of these specifications.

3.04  CUTTING AND PATCHING

A.     The Contractor will do all cutting and patching and construction of chases within building for this installation.

3.05  PENETRATIONS AND CURBING

A.     Contractor shall provide framed openings in roof and walls as required for exhaust fans and louvers.  Contractor shall coordinate sizes and locations of these and all
other necessary penetrations well in advance.

B.     Contractor shall provide all roof curbs for this installation and will flash all roof curbs and penetrations as detailed on drawings.

3.06  MECHANICAL - ELECTRICAL COORDINATION

A.     Mechanical equipment, piping, and ductwork shall be installed with clearances to electrical switchboards, panel boards, power panels, motor control centers, and
transformers.  The clearances shall be the greater of the requirements of the latest editions of the NEC or a minimum of 3'-6" in front of the equipment which ever is
greater.  Equipment, ductwork or piping shall not be installed directly over the electrical gear and not less than 3'-0" horizontally from the top of the electrical gear.

3.07  OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE INSTRUCTIONS

A.     The Contractor shall acquaint and instruct the Owner's representative with all details of performance, operation, and maintenance of the systems. In addition, the
contractor shall furnish two copies of a brochure to the Owner through the Architect, which shall contain printed operating and maintenance instructions, parts list,
control diagram, etc., including a list of spare parts and any special tools recommended by the equipment manufacturers to be stocked by the Owner.  The manuals
shall include a complete set of all approved shop drawings furnished under this section of the specifications.

B.     The basis of Owner's instructions shall be written for inclusion in the maintenance and operating instructions data specified above.  Obtain certificates, signed by the
Owner's representative, that these instructions have been received and understood.

3.08  CLEANING

A.     The Contractor shall keep the job site clean, removing all debris and unused material as they occur.  At the completion of the work, the Contractor shall thoroughly
clean all materials and equipment provided as part of the work.

B.     Prior to testing and adjusting, all piping systems, including all components of systems, shall be thoroughly cleaned inside and out.

C.     All soil, waste, drain and rainwater lines shall be rodded out in the presence of the Architect's representative.  All cleanout plugs shall be removed, lubricated and
replaced.

D.     All piping shall be chemically cleaned prior to final filling and connection to chiller and air handlers.

E.      Painting of the mechanical equipment shall be as specified under other sections of the work.  Removing loose scale, rust, drippings, dirt, etc. in preparation for
painting shall be done under this section of the specifications.

F.      Prior to acceptance of the building, thoroughly clean all exposed portions of the HVAC installation, removing all labels and all traces of foreign substances, using
only a cleaning solution approved by the manufacturer of the item being cleaned.  Caution should be taken to avoid damage to all finished surfaces.

3.09  Mechanical unit shall be protected from dust at all times.  Mechanical units shall not be run during construction installation periods that create dust such as sheetrock
finishing, cabinetry, terrazzo, etc.  When mechanical units are in operation during construction, filters must be in place in the units and over the return air grilles to
protect equipment and return air path from construction debris and dust.  Filters shall be changed by the contractor as frequently as necessary to insure protection of
equipment and ductwork.  If filters are not in place equipment shall not be operated.  Failure of the contractor to comply with these conditions will result in the
contractor bearing any and all costs associated with cleaning of ductwork and equipment prior to final acceptance of systems

3.10  START-UP

A.     The Contractor shall place the systems in full operation before testing begins.  Contractor shall make corrections in the system, including furnishing and installing
drives, motors, dampers, valves, etc., if required to balance the systems.  All such corrections shall be included in the Contractor's base bid and shall be accomplished
at no additional cost to the Owner.  All piping shall be tested before covered with insulation or being concealed.

END OF SECTION 23 02 00

SECTION 23 03 00

PRESSURE TESTING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01     DESCRIPTION

A.     The work in this section includes the pressure testing of all air conditioning systems and includes requirements common to all the mechanical systems.  Provide all
labor, tools instruments, etc. as required to completely test the systems.

B.     Other sections of these specifications are a part of this section.  Refer to all other sections for a complete description of the work.  Work, conditions, and materials
specified in other sections and not duplicated in this section includes, but is not limited to the following:

1.      Mechanical General Provisions.

2.      Basic Materials and Methods.

3.      Refrigeration.

4.      Adjusting Balancing HVAC Systems.

C.     All work provided under these specifications shall be subject to constant inspection and final approval of the Architect and all Code authorities having jurisdiction.
Tests, in addition to these specified herein, required to prove Code compliance shall be provided as required by the Authorities without additional cost to the Owner.
All work found to be defective or indicating leakage shall be repaired or replaced with new materials, as directed by the Architect.  Tests shall be repeated until all
work is proven tight.

1.02     QUALITY CONTROL

A.     All tests shall be conducted by qualified personnel.  When requested the qualifications of individuals shall be submitted to the Architect for approval.

1.03     NOTIFICATION

A.     The Architect shall be notified 5 business days prior to all tests.

B.     The Code Authorities having jurisdiction shall be notified prior to all tests.

C.     Provide documentation of all tests in writing for approval.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01     PROVIDING EQUIPMENT

A.     Provide all material, test equipment, instruments, and labor required for the tests.  All instruments shall be properly calibrated and shall have records on calibration.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01     REFRIGERATION SYSTEMS

A.     The refrigeration systems shall be proven tight in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

3.02     DUCTWORK

A.     Supply ducts shall be tested with a calibrated orifice and fan before grilles, registers, diffusers, and ceiling are installed.  Low pressure sheet metal duct losses shall
not exceed 10% of the design system CFM at 2" W.G.  Seal if required.  Medium pressure ducts shall be tested as recommended by SMACNA Manual.  Fiberglass
ductwork does not require pressure testing.

3.03     REFRIGERANT PIPING PRESSURE TESTING

A.     After Freon piping has been completed and before insulating pipe and enclosing chases, the field installed piping shall be pressure tested at a pressure of 300 psi
(high side) and 150 psi (low side). While the system is being pressure tested, an electronic leak detector shall be used to check for leaks.

B.     Pressure shall be maintained on piping for a minimum of 12 hours. All field installed piping shall be evacuated when surrounding ambient air is not less than 60
degrees F. A minimum vacuum of 2.0 mm of mercury shall be pulled on piping system and maintained for 12 hours. The vacuum pressure displacement shall be not
less than 5 CFM. The vacuum shall be checked with an electronic gauge.

END OF SECTION 23 03 00

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M401

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 S

P
E

C
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

699

Item 5.



SECTION 23 05 00

BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01    DESCRIPTION

A.   The use of the word "PROVIDE" in the specifications and on drawings for work under this section shall mean: Furnish and install complete, supplying all necessary labor
and materials.

B.   This section applies to all sections of Division 23 of this project except as specified otherwise in the individual sections and here-in.  Work described in this section
includes general requirements common to all mechanical systems.  Provisions of this section apply to all mechanical specification sections.  Work described in this
section includes construction materials and methods of installing equipment common to all mechanical systems.  Provisions of the section apply to all Division 23
specifications sections.

C.    Mechanical General Provisions apply to work specified in this section.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS AND METHODS

2.01    FLASHING

A.   Ductwork and HVAC Equipment: Cap flashing for all ducts and other types of ventilating equipment which pass through or mount on the roof shall be furnished and
installed under this section of the specifications.  The material shall be of the same materials as the ducts, etc. to which it shall be fastened unless otherwise noted.  The
cap flashing shall be made tight to the duct, waterproofed, and extended over the base flashing and down the side for not less than 4 inches.  The cap flashing shall be
formed to provide a spring action against the base flashings.  In cases of dissimilar metals between the cap and base flashings, an isolation membrane shall be installed to
prevent electrolysis.

B.   Flashing for pipes passing through the roof shall be provided as indicated on the drawings or as approved by the Architect.

2.02    PIPE SLEEVES

A.   All pipes passing through walls, floors, ceilings, all fire rated partitions, etc. shall be provided with pipe sleeves made of galvanized steel pipe unless specifically noted
otherwise.  Sleeves through partitions and walls shall be of the same length as the wall thickness.  Sleeves set in concrete slabs shall be set flush with the underside of the
slab and shall extend 1/2 inch above the finish on top of the slab.  Where sleeves are in fire rated construction, the voids between the sleeves and the piping passing
through insulated piping shall be of sufficient size to allow insulation to pass through the sleeve freely.  Where pipes pass through walls below grade or through any floor
slabs, the space between the pipe and sleeve shall be finished caulked water tight with G.E. Silicone caulking.

B.   At the Contractor's option sleeves 8 inches in diameter and larger may be formed of 16 gauge galvanized steel with welded butt joints.  The metal finish shall be restored
after welding.

2.03    FIRESTOPPING MATERIALS

A.   Where pipe, ducts, conduit, wiring, or other mechanical equipment passes through fire rated walls, floors, or partitions with ratings of one-hour or greater, firestopping
materials shall be placed in the voids between the equipment and the rated building material.  Sleeves in rated construction shall have voids between sleeves and duct or
pipe filled with firestopping materials.

B.   Firestopping Materials shall have a fire rating equal to or greater than the construction penetrated.  Firestopping material shall not produce toxic smoke when exposed to
flame.  Firestopping shall be unaffected by vibration, normal usage, and shall not deteriorate with time.

C.    Firestopping materials shall be Chase-Foam as manufactured by Chase Technology Corp. or Silicone RTV Foam (3-6548 Silicone) as manufactured by Dow Corning or
3M "CP-25" caulk system.  Where permitted by Code, fire rated mineral wool may be used for applications approved by the Architect.  All fir stopping systems shall be
installed in strict compliance with manufacturer's instructions for compliance with UL listings.

D.   Firestopping in the mechanical room [and elevator machine room] shall be recessed 3/4-inch on both sides and shall be sealed on both sides with 3/4-inch of acoustical
sealant.

2.04    PENETRATIONS AND CURBING

A.   General Contractor shall provide framed openings in roof and walls as required for exhaust fans and louvers.  Mechanical Contractor shall coordinate with General
Contractor and provide General Contractor with sizes and locations of these and all other necessary penetrations well in advance.  Failure to do so will result in
Mechanical Contractor bearing cost of this phase of the work.

B.   Mechanical Contractor shall provide all roof curbs for this installation and General Contractor will flash all roof curbs and penetrations as detailed on drawings.

C.    Mechanical Contractor shall provide all roof equipment support rails for this installation and General Contractor will flash all support rails and penetrations as detailed on
drawings.

D.   Curbs shall be welded galvanized steel construction minimum 18 ga. with wood nailer, 1-1/2" rigid insulation on interior, counter flashing cap, and damper shelf as
required.  Unless specified elsewhere curbs shall be a minimum of 12" high with interior dimensions as required by unit dimensions.  Curbs shall be Creative Metals, Inc.
Series CSSF, Conn-Fab, or approved equal.  Curbs shall be compatible roof system.  Verify roof construction and pitch prior to ordering curbs.  Provisions shall be made
within curbing penetrations for routing of power wiring and control wiring to equipment to prevent the necessity of a second roof penetration for this purpose.  Refer to
Section 230548 for special vibration and seismic requirements of roof curbs.

E.    Equipment Support Rails shall be welded galvanized steel construction minimum 18 ga. with wood nailer, 1-1/2" rigid insulation on interior, counter flashing cap, and
damper shelf as required.  Unless specified elsewhere curbs shall be a minimum of 12" high with interior dimensions as required by unit dimensions.  Curbs shall be
Creative Metals, Inc. Series ESSSF, Conn-Fab, or approved equal.  Support Rails shall be compatible roof system.  Verify roof construction and pitch prior to ordering
rails.

F.    Where walls are penetrated for louvers, ducts, or vents, appropriate lintels shall be provided to support structure and shall comply with the requirements of the structural
drawings and specifications.

2.05    FLOOR, WALL AND CEILING PLATES

A.   General:

1.     Where exposed to view, all piping or duct passing through or into floors, walls, partitions, and ceilings shall be provided with escutcheon plates of flanges.  The
Plates or flanges shall fit snugly around the pipe, or the pipe insulation for insulated lines, and shall cover completely the pipe opening and sleeves.  Plates shall be
fabricated of minimum 16 gauge galvanneal as appropriate to allow field painting.  All plates shall be painted to match surrounding finish.

B.   Unfinished Areas:

1.     In unfinished areas, the plates or flanges shall be constructed of not less than 16 gauge galvanized sheet metal.  Equipment rooms with furred ceilings will be
considered as unfinished areas.

2.06    ACCESS PANELS

A.   Access panels shall be provided for access to all equipment, valves, piping, dampers, etc. furnished under this section of the specifications and requiring access.  Dampers
with operating control through the ceiling will not require access.  The panels shall be located as indicated on the drawings and/or as required for adequate access.  The
exact locations of the access panels shall be as approved by the Architect.

B.   Walls and Ceilings:  Furnish and install steel doors in sidewalls, in walls of chases, in inaccessible ceiling, and other locations as indicated or required for ready access to
service valves, balancing valves, automatic air vents, balancing dampers, and other items as applicable.  Access doors shall be a minimum of 24" x 24" in size where
applicable, and shall be furnished with screwdriver operated cam lock doors and a gray prime coat finish.  Access doors shall have the same fire rating as the walls, floors,
or ceilings in which they are installed.  Access doors shall be Miami-Carey Co. Model HP and (as applicable) or approved equal.

C.    All panels located in fire rated walls or partitions shall be 1-1/2 hour B rated doors.

D.   Ductwork:  Furnish and install steel access doors where indicated and/or required for access to motor operated dampers, controls, filters, louvers, fire dampers, and any
other operable devices.  Access doors shall be minimum 18" x 18" in size and shall be fabricated of minimum 24 gauge galvanized steel hinged to a fastening device to
give an air-tight closure on neoprene or felt gasket.  Doors for insulated duct shall be double panel construction with 1" rigid insulation material between metal panels.
Access doors shall be Ruskin AD-1275, Series ADH-22 or approved equal.

E.    Suppliers of Comparable Products:  Krueger, Miami-Carey, Ruskin.

2.07    PAINTING AND LABELLING

A.   All factory applied finishes on equipment and materials that are damaged in any fashion shall be restored to their original finish in a manner as approved by the Architect.

B.   Where the Interior of any duct is exposed to view or can reflect light as viewed from a habitable space the interior surfaces shall be primed and painted flat black or as
otherwise approved by the Architect.

C.    Where colors or finishes are specified in this section of the specifications to match adjacent surfaces and the colors or finishes of the product installed do not match the
contractor shall repaint or refinish as required to accomplish the desired effect, as approved by the Architect.

D.   All finish painting shall be performed under another section of the specification, except as specified otherwise in this section of the specification.

E.    Mechanical Contractor shall paint all exposed piping, both insulated and uninsulated that is installed under his contract.  Refer to Architectural Section and piping
specifications for painting specifications.

F.    Paint and label all piping or insulation around piping according to existing color scheme.  If no existing color scheme exists, use standard colors as indicated in Chapter
39  (PIPING SYSTEM IDENTIFICATION) of 2021 ASHRAE FUNDEMENTALS.  Submit proposed colors and markings to A/E for approval.

G.   Engraved plastic nameplates shall be provided for each piece of equipment installed on this project.  Lettering shall not be less than one-quarter inch high.  Mechanically
fasten nameplates to fixed surface on equipment or on walls immediately adjacent to each piece of equipment.  Label all equipment with tag indicated on mechanical
schedules and details, i.e., HP-1, AHU-1, CP-1, etc. in addition to this minimum information, where a piece of equipment is dedicated to and individual room or area, the
device label shall include the area designation/room number.  Prior to fabricating labels, contractor shall obtain room/area designations from Engineers for compliance
with final building signage.  Refer to Sections 230503, 232300, 233000, and 230900 for additional labeling requirement for system components.

2.08    EXCAVATION AND BACKFILLING

A.   The Contractor shall carefully plan the excavations to avoid existing trees and plants and shall not approach too close to footings and foundation.  Exact locations of
excavations to be approved by the Architect before performing work.  The excavation shall be only wide and deep enough to provide for the piping, and other subgrade
construction.  All piping shall be installed with a minimum of 24” cover.  For piping located in traffic areas cover shall comply with minimum coverage dictated by
Division 2 Site Work.  Shoring shall be provided and used when the ground and/or the depth of the excavation warrants same.

B.   The piping shall rest on a continuous and firm grade.  Holes shall be cut n the bottom of the excavation for pipe bells.

C.    Where rock is encountered the rock shall be removed to a depth of 6" below the desired depth and replaced with suitable earth.

D.   Backfilling shall be started only after the piping has been completed, tested and inspected.  The backfill shall be free of rocks and debris and shall compacted as the
excavation is filled.  The Contractor shall take ample precaution to prevent damage to the piping.  The compaction of the backfill shall be the same as the adjacent area as
approved by the Architect, unless otherwise indicated.  All backfill shall meet minimum requirements of Division 2 Site Work.  Where Division 2 is not specific, the
backfill material shall meet ASTM D 2487 Soil Classifications Groups CW, GP, SM, SW, SP, and SM and shall be free of rocks, gravel, debris, waste, frozen material,
vegetation, or other deleterious matter.  Fill soil shall have a liquid limit less than 50 and a plasticity index less than 20.

E.    Compaction of backfill shall not be less than 98 percent of maximum dry unit weight according to ASTM D 689.  Place and compact backfill in layers, maximum depth
of each layers shall be 4”.  Where approved by Architect and heavy compaction equipment is utilized layer depth may be increased to 8”.

2.09    OUTDOOR UNIT SUPPORTS

A.   Units on grade: Mechanical Contractor shall provide a reinforced concrete pad for each outdoor unit located on grade.  Concrete shall be reinforced with No. 4 rods
twelve (12) inches on center.  Pad shall extend six (6) inches beyond the edge of the unit.  The top of the pad shall be a minimum of four (4) inches above finished grade.

B.   Units on roof: Mechanical Contractor shall provide equipment support rails for each outdoor unit located on roof.  Equipment support rail shall be as specified here-in.
Mechanical Contractor shall coordinate with General Contractor on support rail placement to insure proper support and installation.

2.10    STRUCTURAL ATTACHMENTS

A.   Concrete fasteners shall be self-drilling type, Locke Mfg. Co. "Bull Dog", Phillips "Red Head", or Diamond "Blue-Cut".

B.   Mechanical Contractor shall provide all supplementary steel, framing members, beam clamps, hanger rods, etc., as required to properly support equipment and ductwork.

C.    Hanger rods shall be selected to safely carry the load to be supported and shall not be less than the diameter listed by the hanger manufacturers for the specific size
hanger used.

D.   Attachment:

1.     Piping and equipment suspended from steel construction shall be suspended from beams from the panel points of the bar joist only.  When the hanger point is not
directly below a structural member of a joist panel point, supplementary supporting steel shall be provided to receive the bridge across the structural member of a
joist as required to receive the hanger.  The hangers and supporting steel shall not be attached to the roof deck construction.

2.    Hangers and supporting steel shall be attached to new concrete construction with continuous metal inserts designed to be used in ceilings, walls, or floors.  In no case
shall the load imposed on an insert exceed the manufacturer's recommended loading.

3.    Hangers and supporting steel shall be attached to existing concrete structure, using concrete drill anchors at location and in a manner as approved by the Architect.
Anchors shall not be loaded beyond their published ratings.

E.    Support ducts from building structure with galvanized steel hangers to each side of duct.  Hangers for ducts up to 60 inches maximum side dimension shall be 1" X 1/8"
galvanized steel band.  Hangers for larger ducts shall be 1-3/8" X 1/8" galvanized steel band.  Space hangers on 8 foot centers with three hangers at each branch or
take-off.

F.    Steel pipe passing through a concrete slab on grade shall have modular expanding seals between pipe and sleeve.  "Link-Seal" or an approved equal.

2.11    FOUNDATIONS, HANGERS, AND SUPPORTS

A.   The Contractor shall provide all necessary hangers, supports, bracing, accessories, etc. required for proper installation of the work.  Pipe hangers shall be spaced close
enough to maintain proper grade and prevent sagging, but in no case shall the hanger spacing be greater than specified hereinafter.  Special care shall be taken in
supporting piping subject to expansion and contraction so that the piping does not become improperly aligned or anchored.

B.   Unless specifically indicated otherwise, all concrete foundations and all structural steel, other than the building structure or special supports provided under another
section of the specifications, required for proper support of piping, equipment, and materials provided under this section of the specifications and shall be furnished and
installed under this section of the specifications and shall comply in strict accordance with all requirements of the Structural and/or Concrete Sections.

C.    All supplementary steel exposed to the weather shall be hot-dipped galvanized.

D.   Unless otherwise indicated, all floor mounted equipment located in the Equipment Room and spaces shall be mounted on 4" high concrete bases extending 6" beyond the
bases of the equipment in each direction.  Concrete shall be reinforced with No. 4 steel rods spaced 12" on center in both directions, except that steel in pump bases shall
be on 6" centers.

2.12    ELECTRICAL

A.   All motors required for all equipment furnished under this section of the specifications shall be provided under this section of the work.  Two speed motors shall be two
winding type unless otherwise indicated.  Unless otherwise indicated under the Electrical work or on the Mechanical Drawing, motors smaller than 1/2 HP shall be for 115
volts, single phase, 60 cycle power, and motors 1/2 HP and larger shall be single or three phase 60 cycle power as indicated on equipment schedules.

B.   All motor starters, both manual and magnetic, and pushbutton stations required for motors furnished under this section of the specifications shall be provided under this
section of the work unless specifically noted or indicated or otherwise in the Electrical section.  All starters shall have "HAND-OFF-ON" switches and auxiliary
contactors.  Control transformers shall be provided as needed to meet control requirements.  All two-speed starters shall be for two winding motors and shall have
decelerating relay between high speed and low speed.  All starters shall have compelling low speed start relay.  All starters shall be installed under the Electrical Section
of the specifications, unless furnished as an integral part of the equipment.  All starters shall be of the same manufacturer as the starters furnished under the Electrical
Section, except starters for water chillers may be of a different manufacturer.  Coordinate with the Electrical Section.

C.    Motors one horsepower and larger, including those used for pumps, air units, fans, etc. shall be designed in accordance with NEMA Standard MGI, Design B, Class B or
F insulation for 40 degrees C temperature rise.  The motor power factor at full load and rated voltage for motors with greater than 1 HP output shall be at least 0.85
Power factor shall be as determined by IEEE Standard 112A Method B.  Apparent efficiency shall meet AHRAE 90 minimum standards

D.   All power wiring shall be provided under the Electrical Section of the specifications, unless specifically noted otherwise in this section of the work.  Power wiring
between starters and applied equipment motors shall be provided under the Electrical Section.  Power wiring that is furnished under the Electrical Section to Packaged
Equipment such as rooftop units, condensing units, electric heating equipment, packaged house pumping systems, etc. shall consist of a single point connection and shall
terminate with the connection to the units. Single point power connection shall be furnished as part of the package or shall be furnished under the Mechanical Section of
the work.

E.    All electrical devices and equipment including, but not limited to, all motors, starters, relays, pushbuttons, wiring, etc. provided under this section of the work shall
comply in all respects with all requirements of the Electrical Section of the Specifications.

F.    Identification labels shall be provided for each starter, control device, etc. showing the instruments function.  Labels shall be in accordance with the requirements for
labels as specified under the Electrical Section of the specifications.

G.   All control wiring shall be provided under this section of the work, unless specifically indicated otherwise under the Electrical Section of the specifications.

H.   Each manufacturer shall certify in writing to the Engineer that the equipment furnished has high efficiency motors as specified hereinbefore.  The certification shall state
motor HP, motor manufacturer, power factor and efficiency.

END OF SECTION 23 05 00

SECTION 23 07 00

INSULATION OF MECHANICAL SYSTEMS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01    GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A.   Trained personnel regularly engaged in the installation of insulation and approved by the insulation manufacturer shall install the insulation in a neat and professional
manner.

B.   Except where specifically specified otherwise, all insulation, adhesives, coverings, and coatings shall be applied in strict accordance with its respective manufacturer's
recommendations.

C.    No wheat paste or organic materials that breed or sustain mold shall be used in conjunction with the insulation work.

D.   The Contractor shall verify that all tests and inspections of the work to be insulated have been completed and approved before the insulation is applied.

E.    Adequate provisions shall be made to protect the premises, equipment, and the work of other trades against all droppings, adhesives and coatings used in the installation.

F.    Pipe unions, strainers and flanges on hot lines shall not be insulated; starting and stopping points for the insulation on hot lines shall be 1 inch on either side and shall be
neatly tapered and tightly sealed.  Cold lines subject to sweating shall be insulated throughout, including unions, flanges and strainers.

G.   Ample provisions shall be made at hanger and support points to prevent the compression of insulation beyond that recommended by the insulation manufacturer for the
application.

H.   All insulation shall have a composite insulation, jacket, binders, and adhesives fire and smoke hazard rating as tested by procedure ASTM E84, NFPA 255, and UL 723,
not exceeding the following values and shall be so listed by UL:

Flame Spread 25

                                         Smoke Developed 50

I.     All accessories, including but not limited to, adhesives, mastics, tapes, shall have the same component ratings.  All materials shall be labeled indicating compliance with
the above requirements.  All treatments used to obtain the required ratings shall be permanent; water-soluble treatments will not be acceptable.   Flexible elastomeric
insulation with smoke developed exceeding 50 is prohibited in ceiling plenums, return air plenums, or ductwork.

1.02    SUBMITTALS

A.   Submit shop drawings and data to prove complete compliance with these specifications on all products and methods of installation.

1.03    SCOPE

A.   Includes but not limited to insulation of the following items:

1.     All supply, return, exhaust and outside air ductwork inside the building. (fiberglass)

2.    All exposed supply, return, exhaust and outside air ductwork. (polystyrene)

3.    Refrigerant lines. (Armaflex)

4.    Condensate drain lines. (Armaflex)

1.04    QUALIFICATIONS

A.   All insulation shall be installed in a workmanlike manner by qualified insulation mechanics. Install all insulation in strict accordance with the manufacturer's
recommendations, using approved type laggings, adhesives, mastics, and other materials as applicable.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01    DUCTWORK INSULATION

A.   Insulate all supply, return, and outside air ducts inside of building with 2-1/4" thick (¾ lb/ft
3density) fiberglass duct insulation Ultralite, or equal.  Insulation shall have .29

maximum K factor (BTU-in.)/(h-ft3-°F) at 75F mean temperature and shall be supplied with reinforced foil-faced vapor barrier.  Insulation as installed shall meet the
minimum requirements of the current edition of the International Energy Conservation Code.

B.   Unexposed low pressure sheet metal supply, return, and exhaust duct shall be internally lined for 10 feet from the unit to reduce sound and prevent any possibility of

sweating.  Internal duct liner shall be 1" thick duct liner equal to "Manville Linacoustic" with Permacote anti-microbial coating.

C.    Exposed low pressure sheet metal supply, return, and exhaust duct shall be internally lined throughout its entire length to reduce sound and prevent any possibility of
sweating.  Internal duct liner shall be 1" thick duct liner equal to "Manville Linacoustic" with Permacote anti-microbial coating.

D.   Insulate all exterior ductwork with 2" thick rigid polystrene insulation and provide a 0.032 aluminum weatherproof enclosure.

2.02    REFRIGERANT LINE INSULATION

A.   Flexible foamed pipe insulation. Foam rubber insulation shall have a maximum k factor of .27 and shall have an operating temperature range of -40 degrees F to 220
degrees F. Insulation shall comply with ASTM C-534 and UL 94-5v. Insulation shall be rated for use in return air plenum and shall have a flame spread rating of 25 or
less and a smoke developed rating of 50 or less. Insulation as installed shall meet the minimum requirements of the current edition of the International Energy
Conservation Code.

B.   Thickness:

1.     1" thick for 1-1/2” outside diameter and smaller pipe.

2.    1-1/2" thick for pipes larger than 1-1/2” outside diameter pipe.

C.    Approved Manufacturers: Armaflex, Rubatex, GSG " Ultrafoam", Halstead "Insul-tube", Manville Aerotube II, Imcolock, or Imcoaflex. Approved adhesives are
Armaflex 520, Manville Micro-Lok 650, BFG Construction adhesive #105, Imcoa fuse seal joining system, or Imcoa Leaktite.

2.03    AIR CONDITIONING CONDENSATE DRAIN LINES

A.   Insulate condensate lines with 3/4" foamed rubber pipe insulation. Foam rubber insulation shall have a flame spread rating of 25 or less and a smoke developed rating of
50 or less as tested by ASTM E 84-75. Seal all seams and joints with adhesive equal to Armstrong 520.

B.   Insulation shall be Armaflex "AP", or equal product by Rubatex, or Manville

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01    GENERAL

A.   Install all insulation in strict accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations, using approved type laggings, adhesives, mastics, and other materials as applicable

3.02    INSULATION OF SHEETMETAL DUCTWORK

A.   Interior sheet metal supply, return and outside air duct shall be internally lined for a minimum of ten feet from the origin to reduce sound and prevent any possibility of
sweating.  The liner shall be secured to duct with 1" fasteners and additionally secured to duct with a coating of duct liner adhesive. Secure to duct with stic-clips, overlap
all seams and joints and staple.  All seams and joints and punctures in vapor barrier shall be sealed with waterproof mastic.

B.   Insulate all supply, return, and outside air ducts inside of building including lined ductwork with 2-1/4" thick duct wrap.

1.     Install duct wrap in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations.

2.    Do not compress insulation except in areas of structural interference.

3.    Secure to duct with stic-clips, overlap all seams and joints and staple.  All seams, joints, and punctures in vapor barrier shall be sealed with waterproof mastic.

4.    The insulation shall be installed with all joints tightly butted or lapped and with the foil vapor barrier lapped at least 2" and taped with glass fabric tape and vapor
barrier mastic.  Duct tape is not acceptable.

5.    The insulation shall be held in place with No. 18 gauge stainless steel wire not greater than 12" on centers.

6.    Welded pins shall be used on the bottom and sides of ducts as required to prevent sagging of insulation, but in no case greater than 12" on centers.

7.    The insulation shall be applied to the duct in a manner so that standing seams, bracing, etc. will not be exposed.

8.    After the insulation is installed, all punctures in the vapor barrier shall be patched with glass fabric and mastic.

9.    Return air ductwork need not be lapped nor sealed with vapor barrier adhesive but shall be tightly butted.

10.   Repair of minor punctures in return air vapor barrier is not required.

3.03    DOUBLE WALLED EXPOSED OVAL DUCTWORK

A.   Double walled oval ductwork comes with insulation integral to the interior and exterior surfaces of the ductwork.  Refer to ductwork specifications for insulation
requirements.  No additional insulation is required for prefabricated double walled spiral ductwork.

B.   All other ductwork that does not come with integral insulation requires exterior insulation and interior insulation for ten feet from each piece of equipment.

3.04    REFRIGERANT PIPING

A.   Insulation shall fit in snug contact with pipe and be installed in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations.

B.   Stagger joints on layered insulation.

C.    Slip insulation on tubing before tubing sections and fittings are assembled keeping slitting of insulation to a minimum.

D.   Seal joints in insulation with Manufacturer's approved adhesive.

E.    Provide six inch long, 20 gauge galvanized steel sleeve around pipe insulation at each support.

F.    Extend insulation through pipe support clamps.

G.   Insulation exposed outside building shall have any required slit joints and seams placed on bottom of pipe and given two coats of gray adhesive finish.

H.   Insulate fittings with sheet insulation and as recommended by Manufacturer.

I.     Paint exterior exposed insulation with two coats of gray finish recommended by Insulation Manufacturer, then finish with a .016" thick aluminum jacket secured with
stainless steel bands.

J.     Underground refrigerant lines shall be run in rigid PVC conduit.  Each line shall be run in a separate conduit of sufficient size to accommodate pipe and insulation.
Where conduit penetrates exterior wall and interior floor slab, it shall be sealed with a water proof mastic.

3.05    CONDENSATE DRAIN LINES

A.   Seal all seams and joints with adhesive.

B.   Where possible, slip insulation on piping without splitting.

END OF SECTION 23 07 00

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M402

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 S

P
E

C
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

700

Item 5.



SECTION 23 23 00
REFRIGERANT PIPING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.01    SPECIAL NOTE

A.   Piping shown on drawings shall be installed complete and shall be of the size shown. When a size is not indicated the Mechanical Contractor shall request the pipe size
from the Architect through the General Contractor. All piping shall be installed parallel or perpendicular to the building construction.

B.   Some refrigerant line lengths and/or vertical lifts may exceed manufacturer's recommendations. Mechanical contractor is responsible for ensuring the equipment
manufacturer sizes all refrigerant lines for these pieces of equipment. Provide suction line accumulators and solenoid valves near the expansion valve if necessary.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.01    REFRIGERANT PIPING

A.   Refrigerant piping package as furnished by unit manufacturer is acceptable. If field fabricated piping is used, all requirements of this section shall be met.

B.   All refrigerant piping shall be type "L-ACR " copper tubing, hard drawn with wrought copper solder type fittings suitable for connection with silver solder.

C.    Refrigerant suction piping shall be trapped at each indoor unit as detailed on drawings. Each liquid line shall be provided with a dryer as specified in the equipment
section of these specifications. Provide all necessary valves to isolate dryer to allow service without losing entire system charge.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.01    REFRIGERANT PIPING JOINTS

A.   All joints in piping shall be silver soldered. The piping shall be charged with dry nitrogen while constructing the joints. Piping within chases in building shall be one
piece, no joints will be allowed in hidden or inaccessible areas.

3.02    PRESSURE TESTING

A.   All refrigerant piping shall be tested in accordance with equipment manufacturer's recommendations and in compliance with Section 230300.

3.03    PIPE HANGERS AND SUPPORTS

A.   The contractor shall furnish all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals and install pipe hangers, supports, concrete inserts, and anchor bolts including all metallic
hanging and supporting devices for supporting exposed piping.

B.   Hangers and supports shall be of approved standard design where possible and shall be adequate to maintain the supported load in proper position under all operating
conditions.  The minimum working factor of safety for pipe supports shall be five (5) times the ultimate strength of the support.  All pipe and appurtenances connected to
equipment shall be supported in such a manner as to prevent any strain being imposed on the equipment.  When manufacturers have indicated requirements that piping
loads shall not be transmitted to their equipment, the contractor shall submit a certification stating that such requirements have been complied with.

C.    Submit to the Engineer for approval shop drawings of all items to be furnished under this section.

D.   Submit to the Engineer samples of all materials specified herein if requested.  All pipe and tubing shall be supported as required to prevent significant stresses in the pipe
or tubing material, valves, and fittings and to support and secure the pipe in the intended position and alignment.  All supports shall be designed to adequately secure the
pipe against excessive dislocation due to thermal expansion and contraction, internal flow forces, and all probable external forces such an equipment, pipe, and personnel
contact.

E.    All materials used in manufacturing hangers and supports shall be capable of meeting the respective ASTM Standard Specifications about tests and physical and chemical
properties.

F.    Hangers and supports shall be spaced in accordance with MSS SP-58.

G.   Pipe hangers and supports shall be as manufactured by B-Line Systems, Inc. or equal by PHD, Grinnell, or Fee and Mason.  Any reference to a specific figure number of a
specific manufacturer is for the purpose of establishing a type and quality of product shall not be considered as proprietary.  Any item comparable in type, style, quality,
design, and performance will be considered for approval.

H.   Hanger rods, nuts, and bolts shall be cadmium plated in mechanical rooms and elsewhere where exposed.  Hardware concealed above ceilings may be standard black
steel.

I.     All supports outside of building shall be galvanized construction.

J.     Pipe Hangers and Supports for Metal Pipe:

1.     Suspended single pipes shall be supported by hangers suspended by steel rods from galvanized concrete inserts, beam clamps, or ceiling mounting bolts as follows:

K.   Hangers:

1.     All hangers and supports shall have some form of adjustment available after installation.  Hanger material shall be compatible with the pipe material.

2.    Hangers for steel pipe shall be B-Line Systems, Inc. figures B3100, B3102, B3170, and B3173 or equal.  B-Line Systems, Inc. figures B3174 and B3198 or equal are
acceptable for use on piping 2 inch and smaller.

3.    Hangers for copper tubing shall be B-Line Systems, Inc. Strut system with Vibra Cushion isolators and B2000 pipe clamps.

4.    Piping hangers shall be installed around the outside of the insulation with protective shields.  Vapor barrier jackets shall not be broken by hanger rods.

5.    Support long horizontal runs of insulated steel piping subject to 1/2" or more longitudinal thermal expansion with B-Line Systems, Inc., figures B3110 or B3114
roller hangers with a figure B3160 series protection saddle or equal.  Cast iron rollers shall not be subjected to temperatures above 450ºF.

L.    Hanger Rods:

1.     Hanger rods shall be B-Line Systems, Inc. figures B3205 and ATR or equal.

2.    Hanger rods shall be subjected to tension only.  Lateral and axial movement shall be accommodated by proper linkage in the rod assemble.

3.    Hanger rod diameters shall be based on MSS SP-58.

M.   Concrete Inserts:

1.     Concrete inserts for pipe hangers shall be continuous metal inserts designed to be used in ceilings, walls, or floors, spot inserts for individual pipe hangers and shall
be as manufactured by B-Line Systems, Inc. or equal and shall be as follows:

a.    Continuous concrete inserts shall be used where applicable and shall be used for hanger rod sizes up to and including 3/4" diameter. Inserts to be used where
supports are parallel to the main slab reinforcement shall be B221, B321, or B521 by B-Line Systems, Inc. or equal.

b.    Spot concrete inserts shall be used where applicable and shall be used for hanger sizes up to and including 7/8" diameter.  Inserts shall be figures B2505 thru
B2508, B2500, or B3014 by B-Line Systems, Inc. or equal.

N.   Welded Steel Brackets:

1.     Wall or column supported pipes shall be supported by welded steel brackets equal to B-Line Systems, Inc. figures B3063, B3066, and B3067 or equal as required for
pipe sizes up to and including 20" diameter.

O.   Stanchions:

1.     Floor supported pipes 3" and larger in diameter shall be supported by either cast-in-place concrete supports or adjustable pipe saddle supports as directed by the
Engineer.  In general, concrete supports shall be used when lateral displacement of the pipes is probable (unless lateral support is provided), and adjustable pipe
saddle type supports shall be used where lateral displacement of the pipes is not probable.

2.    Each adjustable pipe saddle support shall be screwed of welded to the corresponding size base stand.  Supporting pipe shall be of schedule 40 steel pipe construction.
Each base stand shall be secured to the concrete floor by expansion bolts.  Adjustable saddle supports shall be equal to B-Line Systems, Inc. figure B3093 with
B3088T or B3090 with B3088.

P.    Riser Clamps:

1.     Riser piping shall be supported independently of any connected horizontal piping if possible.  Provide supplementary steel or concrete supports for clamps.  The
clamps shall not be supported by the sleeves.

2.    Support all vertical runs of ambient piping at each floor or as specified with B-Line Systems, Inc. figures B3373, B3131, B3373CT as required or equal.

Q.   Pipe Clamps:

1.     Where flexibility in the hanger assembly is required due to horizontal pipe movement, use pipe clamps.  For non-insulated pipe use B-Line Systems, Inc. figures
B3140 or B3142 or equal.  For insulated pipe use B-Line Systems, Inc. figures B3144 or B3146 or equal.

R.   Trapeze Hangers:

1.     Strut channel trapeze hangers shall be used to support parallel piping.  Pipe racks or stanchions fabricated with strut channel shall be used in areas of multiple pipe
runs.  Strut clamps, straps, and rollers will be used to maintain proper alignment.  Strut shall be B22 or heavier as required as manufactured by B-Line systems, Inc.
or equal.  Clamps and straps shall be B2000 series or B2400 series by B-Line Systems, Inc. or equal.  Rollers shall be B-Line Systems, Inc. figures B218, B219,
B379, B479, or B3126 or equal.

S.    Saddles:

1.     Pipe covering protection saddles shall be used in conjunction with all insulated cold pipelines.  All saddles shall be centered on the piping and in the hangers.

2.    Saddles for all insulated piping shall be galvanized sheet metal saddle shields of adequate size to cover the bottom 120 degrees of the pipe insulation.  The shields
shall be properly curved to evenly contact the outside circumference of the insulation and shall have rounded corners (1/2" radius).  The length of the shields shall be
as recommended by the pipe insulation manufacturer for the pipe size, insulation thickness and hanger spacing, but in shields shall be constructed of sheet metal of
gauges not less than that listed below:

Pipe Size Min. Gauge Min. Length

                                                                              Up thru 3"                   18 gauge                                  12" long

                                                                              3-1/2 thru 5"               16 gauge                                  16" long

                                                                              6" and 8"                     14 gauge                                  20" long

                                                                              10" and 12"                 12 gauge                                  24" long

3.04    PIPING shall be installed and connected to the equipment essentially as indicated on the drawings, in a neat and workmanlike manner.  Unless specifically noted
otherwise, all piping shall be concealed above ceilings and in chases.

3.05    ALL PIPING and equipment shall be supported by the building structure.  Unless specifically noted otherwise, no piping or equipment shall be supported from ductwork,
other piping, plenum construction or other equipment.

3.06    ALL PIPING shall be installed and arranged to allow free movement to the piping due to expansion, contraction, building movement, etc. without putting excessive stress
or strain into the piping or equipment.  All piping, risers, runouts, etc. subject to deflection by expansion and contraction shall be cold sprung 50% of the deflection
required to be absorbed.  All sleeves and other openings in the construction shall be of sufficient size and spaced to allow for the necessary pipe movement without undue
stress on piping.  Risers shall be free to travel as required with the horizontal piping.  Piping runouts to and from risers shall be absorbed and still maintain the specified
pitch for the runouts and piping to and from the risers.

3.07    PIPING and equipment suspended from steel construction shall be suspended from beams or from the panel points of the bar joist only.  When the hanger point is not
directly below a structural member or a joist panel point, supplementary supporting steel shall be provided across the structural members or bridge joists as required to
receive the hanger.  The hangers and supporting steel shall not be attached to the roof deck construction.

3.08    ALL VERTICAL PIPING shall be installed plum and true.  Horizontal piping specified to be graded shall be installed at a straight and uniform grade without pockets.
Horizontal piping not specified to be graded, shall be installed in a straight and true manner.

3.09    All piping suspended from structure, where the distance from the top of the duct or equipment to the bottom of the structure is more than twelve (12) inches, and seismic
restraints are required by the International Building Code, shall be provided with seismic cable restraints.  Cabling system shall be sized and installed in strict accordance
with manufacturer's recommendations.

3.10    ALL PIPING SYSTEMS shall be arranged to drain to one or more low points.   Each low point shall be equipped with a hose and valve drain connection.

3.11    UNIONS and/or companion flanges shall be provided at all equipment connections and elsewhere as indicated on the drawings or as required for easy removal of
equipment.

3.12    INSULATION

A.   Insulate refrigerant piping as specified in section 230700 of these specifications.

END OF SECTION 23 23 00

SECTION 23 30 00

AIR DISTRIBUTION

PART 2  PRODUCTS

2.01     SUPPLY DIFFUSERS AND RETURN GRILLES

A.   Material and Finishes:  Construct diffusers, registers, and grilles of aluminum as indicated on drawing schedules.  No steel construction will be allowed on this project.
Exterior and exposed edges shall be rolled, or otherwise stiffened and rounded. Diffusers and grilles located in fire rated ceilings shall be steel construction. Colors shall
be as specified on schedules or as approved by Owner.

B.   Some ceilings within building are part of a UL rated ceiling assembly. In these ceilings, only steel construction diffusers will be allowed. Each of the diffusers installed in
a rated ceiling shall be provided with a ceiling radiation damper as specified elsewhere in this specification.

C.    Sound Pressure Level:  The inlets and outlets shall be sound rated and certified in accordance with ADC 1062 R4, in db of noise criterion (NC) based on sound power
level minus 10 db in each octave band. All devices shall have a sound power level no greater than 35.

D.   Throw:  Defined as distance from the diffuser, register, or grille to the point which the air velocity falls below 50 feet per minute. Throw shall not exceed 1.5 times the
outlet mounting height.

E.    Drop:  Maximum drop of air stream shall not be so great that it is within 6 feet of the floor at the end of the throw.

F.    Ceiling Diffusers:  Equip with baffles or other devices required to provide proper air distribution patterns indicated on drawings.  Provide factory-fabricated, single key,
volume dampers.  Diffuser internal parts shall be removable through the diffuser-neck for access to the duct and without the use of special tools.

G.   Air distribution devices shall be by Price, Titus, Metal Aire, Nailor as indicated on grille and diffuser schedule or approved equals.

2.02     DUCTWORK

A.   Duct to be air tight, smooth on inside and neatly finished on the outside.  Details on construction and materials not specified herein shall be in accordance with
recommendations of latest ASHRAE Guide, or Duct Manual published by the Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors National Association and shall comply to the
International Mechanical Code.

B.   Drawings show general arrangement of ducts, but do not necessarily show all offsets, etc., required to avoid interferences.  Where shape of duct is varied, alter dimensions
to provide equal static pressure drop per unit of length.

C.    Turning vanes must be installed in all square elbows.  Radius elbows are to have a centerline radius of 2-1/2 diameters for round duct.  Radius elbows in rectangular duct
are to have a centerline radius of two duct widths.

D.   Provide splitter dampers for adjustment of distribution to branches where indicated on drawings and elsewhere as required to properly balance system.  Splitters shall be
the same thickness galvanized steel as duct where used but in no case shall the splitter by less than 22 gauge.  Splitter shall be hinged at leaving edge and shall have a
rounded nose at air entering edge.  Length of splitter shall be at least 1-1/2 times the width of smaller branch duct but in no case less than 12".  Splitter shall have a 3/8"
steel rod hinged to air entering edge and passing through a suitable clamp on the side of duct to permit position adjustment and rigid anchor in final position.  Where size
of splitter dictates multiple anchors shall be used.

E.    Provide duct air extractors (DAE) for adjustment of distribution to branches where indicated on drawings and elsewhere as required to properly balance system.
Extractors shall be equal to MetalAire Model 101 or 102 Airtrol.  Extractor shall have a remote operator passing through a suitable clamp on the side of duct to permit
position adjustment and rigid anchor in final position.

F.    Except as specified, all rectangular ductwork shall be galvanized steel fabricated in accordance with latest SMACNA Duct Manual for low pressure ductwork.

G.   All exposed ductwork shall be constructed of "paint grip" or galvanneal steel and shall be field painted to match ceiling structure.

H.   Round flexible duct runouts to diffusers shall be Flexmaster Type 8M acoustical low pressure, flexible duct with galvanized steel helix core, CPE inside liner, 1"
insulation minium R-6, and fire retardant reinforced aluminum vapor barrier jacket (.05 perm per ASTM E96), minimum working pressure 6.0” w.g. positive and -4.0”
w.g. negative, or approved equal by Thermaflex. Flexible duct length shall not exceed 8'. Take off connections from rectangular ducts to flexible round ducts shall be
made with Flexmaster Type FLDE spin-in fittings with extractor and damper or approved equal.

I.     Medium Pressure:

1.     Duct to be air tight, smooth on inside and neatly finished on the outside.  Details on construction and materials not specified herein shall be in accordance with
recommendations of latest ASHRAE Guide, or latest Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors National Association's manual for medium pressure ductwork.

2.    All supply ductwork from the air unit outlet to all variable air volume terminals, including powered mixing boxes, shall be medium pressure fabricated in accordance
with SMACNA pressure, velocity, and seal class indicated below.

3.    Medium pressure round sheet metal duct shall be formed with lock type spiral seams.  Provide not less that 24 inches of straight sheet metal ductwork at each variable
volume terminal inlet.

4.    Medium pressure round branch take-offs shall be conical type.

5.    Spiral duct shall be standardized factory machine formed spiral duct and fittings by Monroe Metals, Inc.  Install all spiral ductwork in strict accordance with
manufacturer's recommendations utilizing factory fabricated fittings and couplings.

6.    Seams and transverse joints of medium pressure rectangular duct and transverse joints of round duct shall be sealed with Benjamin Foster 32-14, Insul-Coustic IC450
or Minnesota Mining EC800.

7.    Provide medium pressure duct listed to UL Class 1 flexible air duct for final connection to the inlets of variable volume terminals.  Inter duct shall be of smooth
airtight polymer film laminated to a galvanized steel wire helix.  Ducts shall have nominal 1" fiberglass blanket with metallized film laminate vapor barrier.  Vinyl
vapor barrier not allowed.  Flexible duct shall be Flexmaster, Clevafles Type KQA, Anaconda Metal Hose, ATCO Rubber Products, Automation Industries, Inc.,
Certainteed Corp., Garlock, General Environmental Corp., Johns-Manville, Krauf Fiberglass, Metalflex Corp., Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp., Porter Co., and
Wiremold Co.

J.     Medium Pressure Ductwork Tests:  Test for air leakage conforming to SMACNA HPDCS, Chapter 10 "Testing for Leakage."  Run tests of ductwork, including duct
main, duct risers, branch ducts, and flexible duct runouts.

K.   All ductwork shall be constructed to the following SMACNA seal, velocity, and pressure classifications:

Duct construction & classification:

                                                                                                                                    SMACNA

                                                                                                                        Pressure                      Velocity                      Seal

                                                                        Application                             Class                           Class FPM                  Class

                                                                        EXHAUST FANS                  -2.00                            2500                            B

                                                                        MISC.LOW PRESS               +2.00                           2500                            B

                                                                        LOW PRESSURE

2.03     CEILING AND CABINET EXHAUST FANS

A.   Furnish and install exhaust fans where shown on plans.  Fan housing shall be heavy gauge galvanized steel and interior shall be lined with a minimum of 1/2" thick
insulation for sound attenuation.  Fan motor shall be vibration isolated and shall have a terminal box for single point power connection.  Fan shall be furnished complete
with integral backdraft, inlet grille, roof curb, and roof cap or wall cap.  Roof cap shall be designed for curb mounting on roof systems. Verify roof type prior to ordering
fan curbs. Fan performance shall be AMCA certified.  Curb shall be pre-fabricated roof curb meeting the requirements of section 15050.

B.   Wire each exhaust fan parallel to light switch in area served by exhaust fan.

C.    Exhaust fans shall be Greenheck model specified, Acme, Cook, Jenn-Aire, Penn, or approved equal.

2.04     AIR FILTERS

A.   Furnish and install three sets of filters for each air handler as provided under the Balancing and Testing portion of these specifications.

B.   Pre-filter shall be UL listed Class 2, filter media shall have an average efficiency of 30-35% when tested in accordance with ASHRAE Test Standard 52-68.  Filters shall
be Farr 30/30, American Air Filter, Continental Filter, or approved equals.

C.    Filters shall be Cam-Farr or approved equal.

2.05     MANUAL DAMPERS

A.   Volume control dampers in ductwork shall be Ruskin No. MD-35, or equal opposed blade type, galvanized steel, with heavy-duty locking quadrant.  Equal products by
National Controlled Air, Pottorff, Louvers and Dampers, Inc., Safe-Aire, Air Balance, Inc., Nailor or approved equals.

2.06     LOUVERS

A.   Furnish and install stationary louvers where indicated on drawings.  Prior to ordering louvers, color chips shall be submitted to the Architect for selection of Kynar paint
color.  Approved equal louvers shall have the same or greater free area as those specified to insure no greater pressure drop or water penetration.  Louvers shall be
furnished complete from manufacturer with any auxiliary supports necessary for structural rigidity.

B.   Louvers shall be Ruskin model specified in schedules on drawings Pottorff, Air Balance, Inc., Louver & Dampers, Inc., Nailor, or approved equals.

2.07     CONTROL DAMPERS

A.   Furnish and install opposed blade type airfoil control dampers of size indicated on drawings.  Dampers frame shall be constructed of minimum 16 gauge galvanized steel
with blade and jamb seals.  Airfoil blades shall be aluminum construction.  Blade seals shall be vinyl and jamb seals shall be flexible metal.  All seals shall be
mechanically fastened to damper, glued in place foal rubber seals are not acceptable.  Damper leakage shall be less than 6 cfm/sq. ft. of damper area at 1" w.g. when
tested in accordance with AMCA standard 500.

B.   Dampers shall be Ruskin model specified on drawings, Pottorff, Louvers and Dampers, Inc., Safe-Aire, Air Balance, Inc., Nailor or approved equals.

B.   Damper actuators shall be electric type furnished by damper manufacturer.

END OF SECTION 23 30 00

SECTION 23 81 43

AIR TO AIR HEAT PUMPS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01     SCOPE

A.   Supply where shown on drawings, split system heat pumps and associated condensing units of size and type specified. Units shall be provided with associated ductwork,
supply and return grilles, and thermostats as indicated for each area of the building. Provide ductless heat pumps together with all necessary thermostats for each unit as
specified and indicated on drawings.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01ALL EQUIPMENT

A.   All electrical equipment shall be UL listed.

2.02     SPLIT SYSTEM HEAT PUMPS WITH ELECTRIC AUXILIARY HEAT

A.   Furnish and install split system heat pumps of model and capacity shown on drawings.  Units are to be furnished complete with all controls and accessories as specified
and required for complete and operating systems.  Each unit shall consist of one (1) indoor fan unit and one (1) outdoor condensing unit.  Indoor unit shall be furnished
complete with filters, fan and drives, starters, and evaporator coil, and supplementary electric heater. Outdoor unit shall be furnished complete with hermetic type
compressor with crankcase heater, condensing coil, refrigerant metering device, and condenser fan and drive. Compressor motor shall be covered by a five-year
protection plan.

B.   Protection devices shall include: liquid line low-pressure switch, suction line accumulator and pressure relief device, automatic defrosting cycle, thermal and current
sensitive overload protection, start assist as required, and rapid recycling protection for compressor.

C.    Thermostats shall be automatic changeover type supplied by unit manufacturer with supplementary electric heat lockout, fan switch, compressor short cycle protection,
and emergency heat switch. Wire thermostats for control sequence recommended by unit manufacturer.

D.   Auxiliary electric resistance heaters shall be provided with an outdoor thermostat.  The outdoor thermostat shall be set to prevent electric heat from being energized unless
the outdoor temperature is below 20EF.  Units shall also be provided with an emergency heat switch which will override outdoor thermostats and provide full electric
resistance heat. Outdoor thermostat shall be overridden by the emergency heat switch and defrost control.

E.    Each air handler is to be supplied with a firestat in return duct to shut system down when firestats sense temperature in excess of 125 Degrees F.

F.    Units installed using field fabricated and installed refrigerant piping will require additional charge of Freon and oil. This should be done after all leak tests have been
completed in accordance with Refrigerant Piping section of these specifications.

G.   Each unit shall be provided with a field fabricated auxiliary condensate drain pan. The drain pan shall be constructed of galvanized steel as detailed on drawings. All
joints and seams in drain pan shall be welded or soldered and shall be painted with galvanneal paint to prevent rust. Pan shall be equipped with a float switch or moisture
sensor to deactivate unit when pan fills with 1" of water.

H.   Units shall be Trane Models specified on drawings or approved equals.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01     OUTDOOR UNIT SUPPORT

A.   Units on grade:  Contractor shall locate and size a concrete pad for each unit located on grade.  Contractor will furnish and install concrete pads. Outdoor units shall be
located where indicated on drawings. Minor adjustments to exact location shall be coordinated with  Owner's Representative and Architect.

B.   Units on roof: Contractor shall provide equipment support rails for all units located on roof. Equipment support rails shall be as specified in Section 15050 and exact
placement shall be coordinated with General Contractor to insure proper support and installation.  Where equipment rails are mounted on pitched roofs, the equipment
rails shall be fabricated to match roof pitch and provide a level platform for mounting equipment.  Verify roof pitch with General Contractor and structural shop drawings
prior to shop drawing submittal and prior to release of equipment orders.

3.02     INDOOR UNIT SUPPORTS AND VIBRATION ISOLATORS

A.   Mechanical Contractor shall furnish and install neoprene-in-shear type vibration isolators for all indoor units. Isolator shall be Vibration Mountings and Controls, Inc.
Type "R" or "RD" for floor mounted units and Type "RH" or "RHD" for suspended units, or equal by Mason Industries, Inc. Korfund, or Amber Booth. Isolators shall be
sized and installed according to manufacturers recommendations for load and deflection. Mechanical Contractor shall furnish and install all supplementary steel, framing
members, beam clamps, hanger rods, etc. as required to properly support units.

B.   Each floor mounted unit shall be provided with a 3-1/2" concrete housekeeping pad.  Dimension of house keeping pad shall be a minimum of 3" larger than equipment
footprint in all directions.

3.03     CONDENSATE DRAINS

A.   Provide a trapped PVC condensate line from each indoor unit to location indicated on drawings. Where routing of condensate line is not indicated on drawings or where
no termination point is indicated for the condensate line, the contractor shall route the line from each indoor unit to the exterior of the building and terminate 6" above
finished grade in a landscaped area.

END OF SECTION 23 81 43

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U

CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 
-

T
H

E
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

WAM

PPC

06/04/2024

1
0

6
/0

4
/2

4
D

E
N

L
A

R
 H

O
O

D
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

M403

M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L
 S

P
E

C
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

701

Item 5.



NOTE 2D.
NOTE 4D.
NOTE 6D.
NOTE 7D.

NOTE 1D.
NOTE 3D.
NOTE 5D.
NOTE 7D.

NOTE 2D.
NOTE 4D.
NOTE 6D.
NOTE 7D.

NOTE 2D.
NOTE 4D.
NOTE 6D.
NOTE 7D.

NOTE 2D.
NOTE 7D.

CWCW

SS SS SS

S
S

DEMO EXISTING WASTE 
PIPING UPSTREAM OF TOILET. 

SS

NOTE 1D.
NOTE 3D.
NOTE 5D.
NOTE 7D.

NOTE 2D.
NOTE 4D.
NOTE 6D.
NOTE 7D.

NEW COLD WATER PIPING

NEW HOT WATER PIPING

NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING

NEW VENT PIPING

NEW PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

EXISTING COLD WATER PIPING

EXISTING HOT WATER PIPING

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING

EXISTING VENT PIPING

EXISTING PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

HW

CW

V

SS

PLUMBING DEMOLITION NOTES:

NOTE 1D. PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
WATER SUPPLY PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW WATER
SUPPLY PIPING. DISPOSE OF EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 2D. PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING WATER SUPPLY PIPING. DISPOSE OF
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 3D. PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
WASTE PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW WASTE
PIPING. DISPOSE OF EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 4D. PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING WASTE PIPING. DISPOSE OF
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 5D. PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT EXISTING
VENT PIPING AND PREPARE EXISTING
PIPING FOR RECONNECTION OF NEW VENT
PIPING. DISPOSE OF EXISTING PIPING,
NO LONGER IN USE, PER OWNERS REQUEST.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 6D. PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP
EXISTING VENT PIPING. DISPOSE OF
EXISTING PIPING, NO LONGER IN USE, PER
OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND
LOCATION IN FIELD.

NOTE 7D. REMOVE EXISTING FIXTURES. DISPOSE OF 
PER OWNERS REQUEST. VERIFY EXACT TYPE 
AND LOCATION IN FIELD.

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P101

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

 D
E

M
O

L
IT

IO
N

 F
L

O
O

R
 P

L
A

N

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

PLUMBING DEMOLITION FLOOR PLAN

702

Item 5.



NEW COLD WATER PIPING

NEW HOT WATER PIPING

NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING

NEW VENT PIPING

NEW PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

EXISTING COLD WATER PIPING

EXISTING HOT WATER PIPING

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING

EXISTING VENT PIPING

EXISTING PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

HW

CW

V

SS

OFFICE

102

OPEN AREA

101

TOILET

104

SIDE EXIT

105

TOILET

106

STORAGE

107

LOBBY

103

KITCHEN

111

UTILITIES

110

MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM

108

P-1A

P-1A
P-2A

P-2A

P-3

P-4

STUDOR VENT/AAV 
AT SINK.

EWH-2

EWH-1

2" VTR.

REFER TO SCHEMATIC ON 
P201 FOR PIPE ROUTING.

REFER TO SCHEMATIC ON 
P201 FOR PIPE ROUTING.

FCO3"

3"

3"

3
"

2
" 

V
2
" 

V

2"

2"

3
"

3
"

NOTE 1.

NOTE 1.

NOTE 1.NOTE 1.

S
S

SSSS

3
"

SS

EXIST.TOILET

109

P-2A

P-1A

NOTE 1: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING TO
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE, LOCATION, DIRECTION
OF FLOW AND INVERT IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 2: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW VENT PIPING TO EXISTING VENT
PIPING. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND 
LOCATION IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 3: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW WATER SUPPLY PIPING TO EXISTING 
WATER SUPPLY PIPING. VERIFY EXACT 
SIZE AND LOCATION IN  FIELD PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION.

PLUMBING NOTES:

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P102

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

 R
E

N
O

V
A

T
IO

N
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N
 -

W
A

S
T

E
/V

E
N

T

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

PLUMBING RENOVATION FLOOR PLAN - WASTE/VENT

703

Item 5.



NEW COLD WATER PIPING

NEW HOT WATER PIPING

NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING

NEW VENT PIPING

NEW PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

EXISTING COLD WATER PIPING

EXISTING HOT WATER PIPING

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING

EXISTING VENT PIPING

EXISTING PLUMBING LINETYPE LEGEND

HW

CW

V

SS

OFFICE

102

OPEN AREA

101

TOILET

104

SIDE EXIT

105

TOILET

106

STORAGE

107

LOBBY

103

KITCHEN

111

EXIST.TOILET

109

UTILITIES

110

MULIT-PURPOSE ROOM

108

P-1A

P-1A
P-2A

P-2A

P-3

P-4

EWH-2

EWH-1

ET

1
/2

"

1
/2

"

1
/2

"

1/2"

WCB

REFER TO SCHEMATIC ON 
P201 FOR PIPE ROUTING.

3/4"

CHECK VALVE ON HOT 
& COLD WATER SUPPLY 
TO UTILITY SINK.

3/4"

3
/4

"

1
/2

"

1
/2

"

1
/2

"

CWCW

EXISTING CW RISER. FIELD 
VERIFY EXACT SIZE & LOCATION.

NOTE 3.

NOTE 3.

NOTE 3.

1
/2

" 
H

W

1
/2

"

1/2"

ET

1
/2

"

1
/2

"

REFER TO SCHEMATIC ON 
P201 FOR PIPE ROUTING.

1
"

1
"

C
W

C
W

P-1A

P-2A

NOTE 1: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW SANITARY SEWER PIPING TO
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING.
VERIFY EXACT SIZE, LOCATION, DIRECTION
OF FLOW AND INVERT IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 2: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW VENT PIPING TO EXISTING VENT
PIPING. VERIFY EXACT SIZE AND 
LOCATION IN FIELD PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

NOTE 3: PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO CONNECT
NEW WATER SUPPLY PIPING TO EXISTING 
WATER SUPPLY PIPING. VERIFY EXACT 
SIZE AND LOCATION IN  FIELD PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION.

PLUMBING NOTES:

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P103

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

 R
E

N
O

V
A

T
IO

N
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N
 -

W
A

T
E

R
 S

U
P

P
L

Y

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

PLUMBING RENOVATION FLOOR PLAN - WATER SUPPLY

704

Item 5.



GENERAL PLUMBING NOTES

ALL VALVES INSTALLED ABOVE CEILINGS SHALL BE EASILY ACCESSIBLE. 
WHERE VALVES ARE INSTALLED ABOVE GYPSUM BOARD CEILINGS, 
PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ACCESS DOOR(S); MINIMUM 
16"x16", TO ALLOW EASY ACCESS.

DIMENSIONS ARE IN INCHES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.  ROUGH FROM ARCHITECTURAL AND/OR EQUIPMENT 
MANUFACTURERS DRAWINGS AND ROUGH IN SPECIFICATIONS.  REFER TO 
ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR LOCATION AND PLACEMENT OF FIXTURES. 

ALL HORIZONTAL SANITARY SEWER, WASTE AND DRAIN PIPING SHOWN ON 
DRAWINGS IS RUN BELOW FLOOR UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON DRAWINGS.

HOSE BIBBS AND/OR WALL HYDRANTS SHALL BE LOCATED 18" ABOVE 
FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL OR GRADE.

ALL WATER, SERVICE AND ROOF DRAIN PIPING SHOWN ON DRAWINGS IS 
RUN ABOVE CEILING UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON DRAWINGS.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ELECTRICAL VOLTAGES WITH 
ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO SUBMITTING SHOP DRAWING AND 
ORDERING EQUIPMENT.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL RATED WALL ASSEMBLIES, 
FLOORS AND ROOF ASSEMBLIES WITH ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS AND 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND SHALL PROVIDE APPROPRIATE 
PENETRATION ASSEMBLY FOR ALL PENETRATIONS OF WALLS, FLOORS 
AND ROOFS WHETHER IDENTIFIED ON DRAWINGS OR NOT.

ALL PIPING SHALL BE SUPPORTED FROM STRUCTURAL STEEL AND/OR 
CONCRETE BEAMS AND STRUCTURE.  PIPING SUPPORTED FROM ROOF 
AND/OR FLOOR METAL DECKING WILL NOT BE ALLOWED.

SLOPE ON ALL SEWER, WASTE AND DRAIN PIPING SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL 
STATE AND LOCAL CODES AND SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 7 OF 
THE 2021 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE.

ALL PLUMBING WORK IS TO BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LATEST 
EDITION OF THE 2021 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE AND IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ALL STATE AND LOCAL REQUIREMENTS.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY LOCATION, ELEVATIONS AND 
INVERTS OF ALL EXISTING SANITARY AND STORM SEWER SYSTEMS 
IDENTIFIED ON THESE DRAWINGS AND SHALL ADVISE ENGINEER OF ANY 
DISCREPANCIES WHICH EXISTS.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE ROUTING OF ALL PIPING 
WITH OTHER DISCIPLINES TO ELIMINATE CONFLICTS.  FAILURE TO DO SO 
WILL RESULT IN PLUMBING CONTRACTOR BEARING EXPENSE OF CHANGE 
ORDERS WHICH MAY RESULT.

ALL FLOOR PENETRATIONS ARE TO BE SEALED WATER TIGHT.  WHERE
PENETRATIONS OCCUR IN RAISED FLOOR ASSEMBLIES, SEALING MUST
CARRY A CLASS 1 "W" RATING.

GENERAL AND PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND APPROVE ALL
SHOP DRAWINGS PRIOR TO SUBMITTING TO ENGINEER/ARCHITECT. PROVIDE
GENERAL & PLUMBING "APPROVED" OR "APPROVED AS NOTED" STAMPS ON
SUBMITTAL PRIOR TO SUBMITTING FOR ENGINEER'S/ARCHITECT'S REVIEW.

ALL WATER PIPING INSTALLED ABOVE GRADE OUTSIDE OF THE BUILDING HEATED 
ENVELOPE IS TO BE HEAT TRACED AND INSULATED. LOCATIONS INCLUDE BUT ARE 
NOT LIMITED TO BUILDING EXTERIOR, ATTICS, CRAWLSPACES, AND GARAGES. 
HEAT TRACE IS TO BE SELF REGULATING RAYCHEM XL TRACE; 5 WATTS/FT; OR 
EQUAL. INSULATION TO BE 1" FIBERGLASS. WHERE INSULATION IS EXPOSED TO 
PRECIPITATION, ALUMINUM JACKET IS TO BE PROVIDED.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR TO FLUSH, CLEAN, AND SCOPE ALL BELOW SLAB WASTE 
PIPING WITH CAMERA PRIOR TO SLAB BEING POURED. CAMERA SCOPE SHALL 
TAKE PLACE IMMEDIATELY AFTER WATER HAS BEEN DRAINED FROM THE PIPE 
AND AFTER BACKFILL AND COMPACTION. AT THE CONTRACTOR'S OPTION, AN 
ADDITIONAL SCOPE MAY BE PERFORMED PRIOR TO BACKFILL. PROVIDE TAPE TO 
ENGINEER FOR REVIEW. IF AREAS OF BELOW SLAB PIPING ARE DETERMINED TO 
BE UNSATISFACTORY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND REPAIR PIPING TO 
A SATISFACTORY CONDITION. UPON COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT, THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL CAMERA BELOW SLAB PIPE, AND PROVIDE A TAPE OF FINAL 
CONDITIONS WITH DESCRIPTION OF PIPE LOCATION TO THE OWNER.

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW ALL PLUMBING AND ARCHITECTURAL 
DRAWINGS PRIOR TO BID DATE AND VERIFY NUMBER AND LOCATION OF ALL 
EQUIPMENT AND FIXTURES.  ANY EQUIPMENT AND/OR FIXTURES INDICATED ON 
ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOT SHOWN ON PLUMBING DRAWINGS 
SHALL BE INCLUDED IN CONTRACTORS BID AND SCOPE OF WORK AND SHALL 
INCLUDE ALL MATERIALS, PIPING AND LABOR REQUIRED TO CONNECT 
EQUIPMENT AND/OR FIXTURES TO NEAREST SERVICE OF ADEQUATE SIZE. 
EQUIPMENT AND/OR FIXTURES SHALL BE AS SPECIFIED OR APPROVED EQUAL.  
PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE ROUTING OF PIPING BELOW 
BUILDING WITH STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS TO AVOID CONFLICTS.

INSULATE ALL WATER PIPE, HORIZONTAL ROOF DRAIN PIPING, AND SANITARY 
SEWER PIPING WHICH RECEIVES CONDENSATE FROM MECHANICAL UNITS AND OR 
DISCHARGE FROM ICE MACHINES/MAKERS, ABOVE GRADE WITH 1" THICK 
FIBERGLASS PIPE INSULATION, 3 LB. DENSITY, GASTON-BARON SNAP-ON, OWENS 
CORNING FIBERGLASS, OR KNAUF WITH STANDARD VAPOR BARRIER 
JACKET. SEAL ALL SEAMS AND JOINTS WITH WATERPROOF MASTIC. IN EXPOSED 
INTERIOR AREAS, SUCH AS MECHANICAL ROOMS, COVER INSULATION WITH 10 OZ. 
CANVAS JACKET SECURED AND TREATED WITH AEROSOL ADHESIVE AND INSTALL 
PVC JACKETS AT ALL ELBOWS, JOINTS ETC. COVER INSULATION IN EXTERIOR 
EXPOSED AREAS WITH .016" CORRUGATED ALUMINUM JACKET. SECURE JACKET 
WITH BANDS AND SEAL WATER TIGHT IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER’S 
INSTRUCTIONS.

NOTE:

VERIFY VOLTAGE WITH ELECTRICAL
CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO ORDERING
EQUIPMENT.

WASTEHWCW
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

CONNECTION
REMARKS

PLUMBING FIXTURE SCHEDULE

P-4

P-3

P-2A

ELECTRIC WATER HEATER

MOP BASIN

KITCHEN SINK

LAVATORY - ADA 1/2" 1/2" 1-1/2"

1/2" 1/2"

1/2" 1/2" 3"

1/2" 1/2"

RECT. WALL MOUNTED w/ MV 

SINGLE BOWL - DROP IN

FREE STANDING

EWH-1 40 GALLON 240v 4.5KW; SET AT 120 °F

1-1/2"

WATER CLOSET - ADA 3" FLOOR MOUNTED TANK TYPE1/2"

POINT-OF-USE MIXING VALVE 1/2" 1/2"MV SYMMONS 8210-CK; SET AT 110 °F

WCB WATER CONNECTION BOX 1/2" FOR REFRIGERATOR

P-1A

ELECTRIC WATER HEATER 1/2" 1/2"EWH-2 20 GALLON 240v 4.5KW; SET AT 120 °F

ET EXPANSION TANK REFER TO SHCEDULE

EXPANSION TANK SCHEDULE

FILL PRESSURE (PSIG)

OPERATING WEIGHT (LBS)

MAXIMUM PRESSURE (PSIG)

SERVICE

REMARKS:

TANK VOLUME (GALLONS)

ACCEPTANCE VOLUME (GAL)

TANK DIAMETER (INCHES)

SYMBOL

TANK HEIGHT (INCHES)

MANUFACTURER

MODEL NUMBER

DOM. HOT WATER

150

60

13"

XYLEM

PT-5

2.0

0.9

8"

ET

12.5

WATER HEATER (EWH-1) SCHEMATIC

MECHANICAL PLATFORM

NO SCALE

1
"

1"

WATER HEATER STAND
BY PLUMBING CONTRACTOR

1" P&T AND PAN, ROUTE 
TO UTILITY SINK.

(4) 3/4" ISOLATION 
PADS INSIDE PAN.

PAN SIZE TO BE 
MINIMUM OF 2" LARGER 
THAN OUTSIDE 
DIAMETER OF TANK.

P&T RELIEF
VALVE.

ELECTRIC 
WATER
HEATER
(EWH-1)

DIELECTRIC UNION
(TYPICAL AS SHOWN)

COLD WATER INLET
HOT WATER OUTLET

THERMOSTAT

BALL VALVE
(TYPICAL)

EXPANSION
TANK (ET)

1/2"
1/2" HOT WATER OUTLET

1/2" COLD WATER INLET

CHECK 
VALVE

VACUUM 
BREAKER

1/2"

INLET 1/2" NPT OR 
5/8" OD. SWEAT 

COMBO 
CONNECTION

1/4" OD COMPRESSION OUTLET FOR 
COFFEE MAKERS AND REFRIGERATORS. 
3/8" FOR ICE MAKERS.

18 GA. STEEL
BOX

WATER CONNECTION (WCB) BOX DETAIL
NO SCALE

WATER HAMMER ARRESTOR 
BY SIOUX CHIEF OR EQUAL 
(MINI-RESTOR.) VERIFY 
MOUNTING POSITION WITH 
MANUFACTURER 
INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS.

NO SCALE

WATER HEATER (EWH-2) SCHEMATIC

1" P&T AND PAN, 
ROUTE TO EXTERIOR.

EQUIPMENT PLATFORM.
"HOLD-RITE" MODEL
50-SWHP-WM.

SECURE PLATFORM BRACKETS
TO WALL PER MANUFACTURES
INSTRUCTIONS.

SEISMIC
STRAPS

(4) 3/4" ISOLATION 
PADS INSIDE PAN.

PAN SIZE TO BE 
MINIMUM OF 2" LARGER 
THAN OUTSIDE 
DIAMETER OF TANK.

VACUUM 
BREAKER 1/2"

CHECK 
VALVE

1/2" COLD WATER INLET

1/2"

1/2"

1
"

P&T RELIEF
VALVE.

ELECTRIC 
WATER
HEATER
(EWH-2)

1"

BALL VALVE
(TYPICAL)

COLD WATER INLET

HOT WATER OUTLET

THERMOSTAT

1/2" 1/2" HOT WATER OUTLET

EXPANISION 
TANK (ET)

DIELECTRIC UNION 
(TYPICAL AS SHOWN)

VENT THROUGH ROOF
NO SCALE

EXISTING
ROOFING
DECKING

SECURE NEW FLASHING TO
EXISTING ROOFING. VERIFY
EXACT CONDITIONS IN FIELD.

TURN FLASHING DOWN 
MIN. 2" INSIDE VENT PIPE.

SIZE PIPING PER
FLOOR PLANS.

LEAD FLASHING

COMPATIBLE ASPHALT
MASTIC/SEALANT

24" SQUARE LEAD
FLASHING BASE

SET FLANGE IN BED OF MASTIC,
PRIME BOTH SIDES OF FLANGE
BEFORE STRIPPING.

8" MIN
NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P201

P
L

U
M

B
IN

G
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L
E

S
 &

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

705

Item 5.



SECTION 22 00 00

PLUMBING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01     SPECIAL NOTE

A. The "General Conditions" and "Supplementary General Conditions" are part of the specifications.  Work under this section of the specifications shall be governed
by requirements thereunder.  The use of the word "PROVIDE" in the specifications and on drawings shall mean:  Furnish and install complete supplying all
necessary labor and materials.

B.  Refer to Section 230200 for general and specific requirements that apply to all sections of Divisions 22 and 23.

1.02     GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Furnish all necessary labor, material, plant and equipment, including materials not specifically mentioned, but necessary to complete the job in a neat, correct and
workmanlike manner.

B.  The drawings and specifications shall be considered as supplementary, one to the other, so that materials and labor indicated, called for, or implied by the one and
not by the other, shall be supplied and installed as though specifically called for by both.

1.03     SCOPE OF WORK

A. The intent of this specification, together with accompanying Plumbing Drawings is to provide a complete and operating plumbing installation, including, but not
limited to the following principal items:

1.   Remove existing plumbing fixtures as indicated on the architectural and plumbing demolition plans.  Remove all existing piping associated with the demolition
that is not being reused or connected to.

2.   Install new plumbing fixtures, piping, valves, fittings, etc. to provide a complete and operating plumbing system.

3.   All fixtures, unless otherwise noted.

4.  All soil, waste, drain, and vent.

5.   Hot and cold water piping.

6.   Connect to existing water supply at the approximate location as indicated on the drawings.  Field verify and coordinate exact locations and sizes.

7.   Replace existing waste piping below slab at existing restrooms to achieve code required slope without bellies.

8.   Connect to existing sanitary sewer at various locations as shown on drawings.  Coordinate and field verify exact locations and inverts.

9.   Connection to existing vent through the roof.  Provide new VTR at new restrooms.  Coordinate and field verify exact locations of existing VTR's.

B.  Bidders shall thoroughly familiarize themselves with conditions affecting this work, visiting the job site if necessary prior to submitting a bid.

1.04     DRAWINGS

A. Drawings are diagrammatic and do not indicate all offsets, fittings, and specialties.  Examine other drawings, investigate conditions to be encountered and arrange
work accordingly, furnishing all fittings, offsets, etc., required without extra charge.

B.  Before construction of project starts, check location and inverts of existing and proposed pipes, sewers, and mains.  Review other drawings for project, checking
grades, elevations, locations of structural elements, locations and sizes of chases, type and method of construction of floors, walls and partitions.  Report to
Architect before start of construction any conflicts or unsatisfactory conditions.  In no case shall Contractor proceed in uncertainty.  No extra charge will be
approved after start of construction for work resulting from failure to follow these instructions.

1.05     PERMITS, LICENSES, AND FEES

A. Plumbing Contractor shall obtain and pay for all permits, licenses, fees and service charges required for execution of this work.  This includes all water and sewer
taps required to provide a complete and operational system.

B.  Work shall be installed according to local Plumbing Code and shall meet Plumbing Inspector's approval.  Local codes shall apply where such codes exceed
requirements of this specification.  In absence of codes or authorities, install all work according to the 2021 International Plumbing Code.

1.06     STANDARD COMPLIANCE

A. Installation of all plumbing and piping system shall also comply with the following criteria:

1.   Gravity sewer system leakage test shall consist of plugging the end of the new sewer piping at the point of connection with the existing sewer piping, filling the
building sewer with water to a minimum of a 10-foot head and maintaining such pressure for fifteen (15) minutes.

2.   A visual inspection of the complete below grade and below slab sanitary sewer system shall be performed by camera as specified in other sections of this
specification.

1.07     MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP

A. All materials and equipment shall be new and free from flaws and defects of any nature.  Materials called for are to be considered as standards of quality; this,
however, implies no right on part of Contractor to substitute other materials and methods without written authority from Architect.

B.  All work shall be performed by skilled mechanics under competent supervision, employing latest and best practices of the trade.

1.08     SUBMITTAL

A.  The Engineer will review and take appropriate action on shop drawings, product data, samples, and other submittals required by the Contract Documents.  Such review shall be for

general compliance with the design and with the information given in the Contract Documents.  It shall not include review of quantities, dimensions, weights, fabrication processes,

construction methods, coordination with the work of other trades, or construction safety precautions, all of which are the sole responsibility of the Contractor.  Engineer's review

shall be conducted with reasonable promptness consistent with sound professional practice.  Review of a specific item shall not indicate acceptance of an assembly of which the

item is a component.  The Engineer shall not be required to review and shall not be responsible for any deviation from the Contract Documents not clearly noted by the Contractor,

nor shall the Engineer be required to review partial submissions or those for which submissions for correlated items have not been made.

B.  Prior to submittal of shop drawings to the Engineer, the General Contractor and the Plumbing Contractor shall review and approve shop drawings.  Shop drawings
which have not been reviewed and approved in writing by the Plumbing Subcontractor will not be reviewed by the Engineer.  Plumbing Contractor shall state in
writing on shop drawings, any proposed deviations from contract documents.  Such deviations, if not stated in shop drawing submittals, shall be the sole
responsibility of the Plumbing Subcontractor.Note:  In addition to the General Contractor's approval and stamp, the first page of each shop drawing
submittal must contain the words "APPROVED" or "APPROVED AS NOTED" and must be signed and dated by the Plumbing Subcontractor before the
Engineer will review them.

C. Review rendered on shop drawings shall not be considered as a guarantee of measurements of building conditions.  Where drawings are reviewed, said review
does not mean that drawings have been checked in detail; said review does not in any way relieve this contractor from his responsibility or necessity of furnishing
material or performing work as required by the contract drawings and specifications.

D.  Architect and/or Engineer are not responsible for number of fixtures, units, etc. designated on Shop Drawings.  Plumbing Contractor shall be fully responsible for
providing the correct quantity to accomplish a complete job as specified and drawn.

E.  Shop Drawings:  After award of Contract, and before any materials of this Section are delivered to the job site, submit Shop Drawings to Architect in accordance
with the requirements listed below and in accordance with the provisions of the Architectural Section of these Specifications.

1.   After securing tentative approval on all items pending shop drawing submission, the contractor shall submit for approval, manufacturer's shop drawings of all
equipment, and shop drawings to scale of all fabricated work furnished under this Section of the specifications including piping, fixtures, fittings, equipment
layouts, supports and equipment foundation pad layout. Shop drawings shall be of scale large enough to clearly indicate all details of work.
Plumbing/Mechanical rooms, pump rooms, water heater/boiler rooms shall be submitted on a scale of not less than 1/4-inch equals one foot.

2.   Where colors or finishes are specified for products, a sample showing the color or finish shall be submitted with the shop drawings.

3.   Where high efficiency motors have been specified, submit certification of motor efficiency with shop drawings for each motor of one horsepower or greater.

F.  Material List:  Accompanying the shop drawings, submit a complete list of all materials proposed to be furnished and installed under this Section, giving
manufacturer's name and catalog number, sizes, capacities, model numbers, accessories and other pertinent information for each item to indicate full compliance
with drawings and specifications; this shall in no way be construed as permitting substitution except as specifically provided in the Architectural Section of these
specifications.  Every device or piece of equipment herein specified by model and manufacturer shall be submitted for approval.  Partial lists submitted from
time-to-time will not be permitted.

G. Plumbing/Electrical Coordination:  Before equipment is ordered and after all motors, loads, controls, and other characteristics of equipment are known, the
Contractor shall review the data shown on the Electrical drawings.  Special attention shall be given to motor size, starters, means of disconnect, control wiring, etc.
that are being furnished under the electrical section of the specifications. At the time of shop drawing submittal, the contractor shall by letter to the Engineer point
out any discrepancies and describe the proposed corrective action.

1.   Prior to start of construction, contractor shall submit a starter schedule for review by Engineers.  This schedule shall contain equipment description, starter
manufacturer and model number, starter accessories, control voltage and source of starter power and control circuitry.

2.   No extra charge will be approved after start of construction for work resulting from failure of contractor to follow these instructions.

H.  Record Drawings:  Contractor shall maintain on the job site one complete set of the plumbing drawings for this project.  All changes authorized by the Architect as
to the location, sizes, etc., of piping, fixtures, and other plumbing equipment shall be indicated in red ink on the plumbing drawings as the work progresses.  At the
completion of the project, Contractor shall deliver a complete set of "Record Drawing" prints of the plumbing drawings to the Architect.

I.   Manual:  Upon completion of this portion of the work, and as a condition of its acceptance, deliver to the Owner through the Architect two copies each of a Manual
compiled in accordance with the provisions of the Architectural Section of these specifications; and also include in each copy of the Manual a copy of the Record
Drawings, operating and maintenance instructions, approved spare parts lists, name and address of local service representatives and all warranty certificates for
new equipment.

1.09     EXCAVATING AND BACKFILLING

A. Plumbing Contractor shall do all excavating and backfilling for installation of work included under this contract and he shall promptly remove from the premises all
excess earth, debris, and trash for which he is responsible.

B.  Install sewer or drainage and water pipes in separate trenches, graded uniformly to provide solid bearing and required fall.  Upon completion of tests and
inspections, backfill with approved material in 6” lifts, tamped to 95% relative compaction as required by the Plumbing Code.  When 12” of compacted soils have
been place on top of the pipe, 12” lifts shall be installed and compacted.  Where pipe manufacturers require other methods of backfilling and compaction, the
contractor shall follow the requirements of each manufacturer.  In all cases, the contractors shall protect the pipe during installation.  Lifts more than 12” must be
approved by the engineer.

C. Flush, clean, and scope all below slab waste piping with camera prior to slab being poured.  Camera scope shall take place immediately after water has been
drained from the pipe and after backfill and compaction.  Provide video to engineer in ample time for review prior to any scheduled slab pour.  If areas of below
slab piping are determined to be unsatisfactory, the contractor shall remove and repair piping to a satisfactory condition.  Upon completion of the project, the
contractor shall camera below slab pipe, and provide a video of final conditions with description of pipe location to the owner through the architect.  All video shall
be provided by electronic media and are to be accompanied by a voice description of the pipe size and location that matches the piping as shown on the plumbing
drawings.

1.10     PROTECTION OF FIXTURES, EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS

A. Protect all fixtures and equipment against damage of any nature.  During construction, pipe openings, drains, etc. shall be protected with plugs or caps.

1.11     SPACE CONDITIONS

A. All materials and equipment shall conform to the space limitations.  Maintain maximum headroom and space clearances at all points.

PART 2 EQUIPMENT

2.01    PIPING

A. Water Piping:

1.   All pipe shall conform to Chapter 6 of the 2021 edition of the International Plumbing Code.

2.   All pipe, fittings, valves, faucets, etc., or any product used for dispensing potable water shall be fully compliant with the “Reduction of Lead in Drinking Water

Act” and shall meet the requirements of NSF 61 and NSF 372 test standards.

3.   Copper pipe shall be as manufactured by Mueller, Cerro, or Howell.  Fittings shall be Nibco or Elkhart.

4.  Provide drains at all low points of water piping.

5.   Unless otherwise noted, piping within building shall be run concealed, installed straight, without sags.  Cut all pipe ends square, ream, and cleaned of all dirt,
scale, etc., before assembly.  Offset pipes as required to pass columns, beams, etc.

6.   All fixtures shall have shock absorbers as specified to prevent "water hammer".  All lavatories and sinks shall be furnished with hot and cold water shock
absorbers by Souix Chief , “mini-rester” size AA, or equal product by PPP or Watts.  All flush valves or other quick-closing devices shall be protected with
specified shock absorbers.  All plumbing fixtures are to be trapped and contain chrome plated stops and nipples on all supplies.

7.   Provide unions and isolation valves at each piece of equipment, tank, or other device requiring removal or isolation for service.

8.   Where valves are installed above hard ceilings, the contractor shall provide paintable galvanized steel access doors large enough for access to and
replacement of each valve.

9.   Install dielectric insulated couplings or unions where joining dissimilar metals in water piping systems.  Dielectric coupling and unions shall be by Epco, Mayco,
or approved equal.

10. Where water pipe is installed outside of the building heated envelope, provide self-regulating heat trace including all connections, terminations, controls, etc. as
required for a fully operating system.  Coordinate heat control / power location with electrical contractor.  Heat trace shall be Thermon BSX self-regulating 5

watts / ft. or approved equal.

11. Furnish and install all water piping as indicated on plans using materials as tabulated below:

a.  Water piping shall be copper, hard drawn, with wrought copper fittings, soldered (95-5). All new water lines above grade, within building shall be Type L.  All
new water lines below grade shall be Type K, copper.

B.  Soil, Waste, Drain, and Vent Piping:

1.   All pipe shall conform to Chapter 7 of the 2021 edition of the International Plumbing Code.

2.   All cast iron soil pipe and fittings shall be marked with the collective trademark of the Cast Iron Soil Pipe Institute (CISPI) and be listed by NSF International.

3.   Cast iron sewer pipe and fittings shall be asphaltum coated, bell and spigot type, conforming to ASTM Specification A-74 with rubber gaskets conforming to
ASTM Specification C-564, or if specified below the no-hub type with stainless steel couplings with neoprene gaskets, conforming to CISPI Specification 301 or
310 and ASME Specification A-888 and C-1277 for shielded no-hub pipe.  Each length of pipe and each fitting shall be plainly marked with the manufacturer's

initials, or registered trademark, and with letters to indicate the proper classification as below:

     SV-------------Service

4.  Plastic drain pipe shall be solid core schedule 40 PVC-DWV pipe, ASTM D-2665.  Cellular core PVC is not acceptable.  Each length of pipe and each fitting

shall be plainly marked with the manufacturer's initials or registered trademark and shall have the NSF seal of approval CS-272-65-5.

5.   All changes in direction of soil, waste, and drain piping shall be made using only sanitary drainage pattern fittings.  Changes in direction shall be made by use
of 45 degree Y's, long sweep quarter, sixth, eighth, or sixteenth bends, or by a combination of these or equivalent fittings.  Short radius quarter bends may be

used only where direction of flow is from horizontal to vertical.  Running threads, bands, saddles, tapped tees, and tapped crosses will not be allowed in
drainage lines.  Tapped sanitary tees and crosses are acceptable where allowable by the plumbing code.  Provide thrust restraint at changes of direction as
specified herein.  Double combinations are not allowed with PVC pipe in a drainage application with a slope of ½” per foot (4%) or less.

6.   Install horizontal soil, waste, and drain piping at a uniform slope of not less than 1/4" per foot for pipe 2" and smaller, and not less than 1/8" per foot for 3” and
larger pipe.

7.   Pitch each vent pipe down in direction of fixture it vents so that no condensation will be trapped.

8.   Connection of soil and waste piping to existing sanitary sewer and fixtures shall be properly adapted for dissimilar materials.

9.   All No-Hub pipe joint connections shall be made with Husky Industries SD-4000 heavy duty bands, or equal by Clamp-All, and gaskets unless approved
otherwise by the Engineer.

10. All No-Hub storm drainage piping and no-hub sanitary piping 5” and larger shall be braced at every branch opening or change of direction by the use of B-Line

3134 pipe clamps with a minimum of two rods or Holdrite Series 117 pipe restraint in addition to the no-hub couplings listed above.

11. Furnish and install all soil, waste, drain, vent, and storm piping as indicated on plans using materials as specified below:

a.  Soil, waste, drain, vent, and storm piping shall be 40 PVC-DWV pipe, ASTM D-2665 with solvent fused DWV fittings.

12. Double combinations of any kind will not be allowed in PVC-DWV piping in the horizontal position.

2.02    PIPE SUPPORTS

A. When copper piping is to be insulated, steel hangers or clamps will be acceptable if a pipe sleeve is provided between the insulation and hanger or clamp.  This
sleeve is required in order to prevent crushing of the insulation.  The acceptable hangers or clamps are those specified above for soil and vent pipe supporting.
Pipe sleeves must be secured to hangers to prevent slipping off hangers or clamps.

B.  All piping buried below grade shall be supported throughout its entire length on a firm bed of earth or with concrete pad as required in order to ensure that pipes
will not settle in the future.

C. All pipe roughing work to final users in metal or wood studded sheet rock walls shall utilize "Holdrite" brackets and inserts or an engineer-approved equal system.
Plumbing Contractor shall be responsible for the proper bracket selection depending on pipe materials being supported.  Contact Engineer if material selection
assistance is required or for approval of alternate support system.

D.  Properly selected pipe clamps, brackets, and bracing shall be utilized for the support of pipe in masonry wall construction.  Carriers shall be used where specified.

E.  Regardless of methods used, final product shall display no movement of the water and waste pipes from the finished side of the wall.

F.  Insulation to run continuous through pipe saddle type hangers.

2.03    SEISMIC RESTRAINTS

A. All piping and equipment suspended from structure, where the distance from the top of the pipe or equipment to the bottom of the structure is more than 12", shall
be provided with seismic cable restraints or other restraints as required by the IBC.  Cabling system shall be sized and installed in accordance with manufacturer's
recommendations for compliance with Chapter 16 of the International Building Code.  Seismic restraint systems shall be by Mason Industries of approved equal,
and shall be designed and sealed by the manufacturer's engineer.

2.04    PIPE HANGERS AND SUPPORTS

A. The contractor shall furnish all labor, materials, equipment and incidentals and install pipe hangers, supports, concrete inserts, and anchor bolts including all
metallic hanging and supporting devices for supporting exposed piping.

B.  Hangers and supports shall be of approved standard design where possible and shall be adequate to maintain the supported load in proper position under all
operating conditions.  The minimum working factor of safety for pipe supports shall be five (5) times the ultimate strength of the support. All pipe and
appurtenances connected to equipment shall be supported in such a manner as to prevent any strain being imposed on the equipment.  When manufacturers have
indicated requirements that piping loads shall not be transmitted to their equipment, the contractor shall submit a certification stating that such requirements have
been complied with.

C. Submit to the Engineer for approval shop drawings of all items to be furnished under this section.

D.  Submit to the Engineer samples of all materials specified herein if requested.  All pipe and tubing shall be supported as required to prevent significant stresses in
the pipe or tubing material, valves, and fittings and to support and secure the pipe in the intended position and alignment.  All supports shall be designed to
adequately secure the pipe against excessive dislocation due to thermal expansion and contraction, internal flow forces, and all probable external forces such as
equipment, pipe and personnel contact.

E.  All materials used in manufacturing hangers and supports shall be capable of meeting the respective ASTM Standard Specifications with regard to tests and
physical and chemical properties, and be in accordance with MSS SP-58.

F.  All hangers, rods, inserts, supports, supplementary steel, and all materials for hanging systems where installed outside of the building conditioned envelope shall
be type 304 stainless steel.

G. Hangers and supports shall be spaced in accordance with MSS SP-69 Table 3.

H.  Pipe hangers and supports shall be as manufactured by B-Line Systems, Inc. or equal by PHD, Anvil, or Erico.  Any reference to a specific figure number of a
specific manufacturer is for the purpose of establishing a type and quality of product shall not be considered as proprietary.  Any item comparable in type, style,
quality, design and performance will be considered for approval.

I.   Pipe Hangers and Supports for Metal Pipe:

1.   Suspended single pipes shall be supported by hangers suspended by steel rods from galvanized concrete inserts, beam clamps, or ceiling mounting bolts as
listed in following sections.

2.   All hangers, rods, inserts, supports, supplementary steel, and all materials for hanging systems where installed outside of the building conditioned envelope
shall be type 304 stainless steel.

2.05    PIPE SLEEVES

A. Whenever pipes pass through masonry walls, floors, and partitions, furnish and install cast iron pipe sleeves of sufficient size to allow bare pipes, or pipes plus
insulation if applicable, to pass through easily.  Fill annular spaces between sleeves and pipes with tightly caulked waterproof compound wherever sleeves are
installed in walls below grade or in concrete floor slabs.  Fill spaces between sleeves and pipes with tightly caulked approved type fireproof compound wherever
sleeves are installed in walls above grade.

B.  All pipe penetrations of fire and or smoke rated walls, floors, and partitions shall be sealed in compliance with U.L. regulations and as detailed on Plumbing
Drawings.  Where details are not shown on drawings, it shall be the contractor's responsibility to comply with the U.L. requirements for sealing penetrations based
on the ratings as indicated on the architectural plans.

C. All below slab pipe sleeves shall be schedule 40 PVC-DWV pipe ASTM D-2665 and shall be sealed water tight.

2.06    ESCUTCHEONS

A. Furnish and install chrome plated floor and ceiling plates where pipes pass through walls, floors, and ceilings in exposed areas.  Plates shall be Crane Co. No.
10-BC, or similar products by Grinnell Co., or approved equal.

B.  All split ring escutcheons shall be secured to wall with screws aligned horizontally for a neat and permanent installation.

C. All slip-on type escutcheons shall be tight and secure to finished wall.

2.07    FLASHING

A. Where pipes pass through roof, flash with a 30" square of four-pound sheet lead or 16 ounce copper. Turn flashing up a minimum of 6", and install flashing sleeve
or turn down lead flashing a minimum of 2" into pipe.  Rubber flashing collars are not acceptable except if required by the roofing system installed.

2.08    CLEANOUTS

A. Furnish and install all cleanouts by Zurn, or approved equals by Jay R. Smith or Josam, as indicated in this specification and on drawings.  Cleanouts shall be
same diameter as lines in which installed up to 4" size, and not less than 4" in size for larger pipe.  Cleanouts to grade shall be set in 18" x 18" x 6" concrete pad.
Where floor cleanouts are installed above slab on grade, provide with clamping collar and 30” square waterproofing membrane.  Membrane shall be compatible
with floor type and shall be sealed to prevent water penetration to the floor below.

2.09    FLOOR DRAINS

A. Floor drains shall be Zurn, or approved equals by Jay R. Smith or Josam, as specified in this specification and on the Plumbing Drawings.  Where floor drains are
installed above slab on grade, provide with clamping collar and 30” square waterproofing membrane.  Membrane shall be compatible with floor type and shall be
sealed to prevent water penetration to the floor below.

2.10    VALVES

A. Valves:

1.   All valves for use in potable water systems shall be fully compliant with the “Reduction of Lead in Drinking Water Act” and shall meet the requirements of NSF
61 and NSF 372 test standards.  Where the manufacturer produces both a compliant and non-compliant valve, the low lead version of the valve shall be used
and shall bear the seal of certification to identify the product.

2.   Valves shall be designed for 125 psi working pressure minimum, and valve bodies shall be stamped accordingly.  Install all valves with stems above horizontal.
Valves shall be Nibco Inc., of size and type indicated below, Milwaukee Valve Co., or approved equals.  All valves for domestic potable water piping 2-1/2” and
smaller shall be two-piece full ported ball valves Nibco 585-66-LF or approved equal.

3.   All ball valves on domestic water piping to be Nibco with blowout proof stems.

4.  All valves to be located within 2ft. of ceiling for ease of access for maintenance purposes.

5.   All valves to be line size unless otherwise noted.

2.11    FIXTURES

A. Unless otherwise specified, all fixtures shall be products of a single manufacturer.  Fixtures shall be new, first quality and complete with supply pipes, stop valves,
traps, faucets, escutcheons, hangers, etc.  All trim and exposed piping shall be chrome plated.

B.  Fixture connections between earthenware fixtures and drainage pipes shall be means of cast brass flanges, caulked, soldered, or screwed to drainage pipes.
Each connection shall be bolted using a graphite asbestos ring gasket fixtures and floor flanges.

C. Equal Products:

1.   Water closet seats may be approved equal by Beneke, Bemis, Church, Olsenite, Centoco or the Fixture Manufacturer.

2.   Faucets and Fittings are specified as Delta.  Approved equals by T&S Brass, Chicago, or Zurn.

3.   Shock absorbers are specified as Souix Chief, but equals by Zurn, Jay R. Smith, Wade, or Josam are acceptable.  All shock absorbers or water hammer
arrestors shall meet the PDI sizing requirements.

4.  Water Coolers are specified as Elkay, equals by Oasis or Murdock are acceptable.

5.   Janitor's sinks and mop basins are specified as Florestone, Stern-Williams or Fiat are acceptable.

6.   Sinks are specified by Elkay, equals by Just are acceptable.

D.  Shop drawings shall be submitted regardless of manufacturer.  Regardless of which manufacturer's product is being submitted the quality of those specified must
be maintained.

E.  Fixtures as specified on Drawings shall be manufactured by Kohler or approved equals by American Standard.

F.  Where sinks are installed in cabinets, contractor shall verify sink dimensions with cabinet shop drawings prior to ordering.  Conflicts between cabinets and sinks
shall be brought to the attention of the architect and engineer.  Failure to follow these instructions shall result in the contractor bearing the cost of replacement in
the event sinks do not fit the cabinets as constructed.

2.12    WATER HEATERS

A. Tank water heater shall be State or approved equal by A.O. Smith as specified in this specification and on Plumbing Drawings.  Each heater shall have UL label
and shall be furnished with ASME rated P&T relief valve and shall meet the thermal efficiency and/or standby loss requirements of the U. S. Department of Energy
and current edition of ASHRAE/IES 90.1.  Water heaters exceeding 120 gallons or 200,000 BTUH input shall be ASME rated and meet all requirements of the
applicable boiler safety code.  Discharge from each relief valve shall be extended with type "l" hard drawn copper, full size of discharge opening, piped to within 6"
of floor and end of pipe cut at 45 degree angle.

B.  IMPORTANT NOTE TO CONTRACTOR - It is the Plumbing Contractors responsibility to verify the exact power supplies to water heater with the Electrical
Contractor prior to ordering and installing units.  Failure to verify voltages and changes to water heater(s) after delivery will be at the Plumbing Contractors
expense, and no change in contract will be allowed, nor will any cost to the Architect, Engineer or Owner be accepted.

C. When a floor drain is not provided for water heater P&T relief valve discharge, water heaters shall rest in either a high impact plastic pan or a 24 gauge galvanized
sheet steel water tight metal pan as specified in this specification and on drawings.

2.13    AIR CHAMBERS

A. Air chambers are not to be installed. Provide and install Souix Chief “mini-retser”, size AA, or equal product by PPP or Watts, on hot and cold water supply pipe to
each fixture or branch of fixtures, except where a water hammer arrester is shown for a bank of fixtures, in place of air chambers.  Water hammer arresters shall be
Souix Chief as specified in this specification and on plumbing drawings, or approved equal by Wade, J. R. Smith, Zurn or Josam.

2.14    INSULATION

A. Insulate all water pipe, horizontal roof drain piping, and sanitary sewer piping which receives condensate from mechanical units and or discharge from ice
machines/makers, above grade with 1" thick fiberglass pipe insulation, 3 lb. density, Gaston-Baron Snap-on, Owens Corning Fiberglass, or Knauf with standard
vapor barrier jacket.  Seal all seams and joints with waterproof mastic.  In exposed interior areas, such as mechanical rooms, cover insulation with 10 oz. canvas
jacket secured and treated with aerosol adhesive and install PVC jackets at all elbows, joints etc.  Cover insulation in exterior exposed areas with .016" corrugated
aluminum jacket.  Secure jacket with bands and seal water tight in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.

B.  Application:

1.   Insulation shall be installed in strict accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations for the application.  Elbow fittings shall be “stovepipe” miter and tees
shall be “fishmouth”/saddle joints.  All butt joints and miter joints shall be sealed with vapor proof mastic and shall be applied in accordance with the
manufacturer's instructions for the pipe type and fluid being conveyed as well as the ambient conditions of application.

2.   Where pipe is installed in block walls, water resistant closed cell foam insulation may be used.  Insulation shall be slid over the pipe to maintain vapor barrier.
Fittings shall be mitered as specified for fiberglass insulation and shall be joined and sealed by the manufacturer's recommended sealant or factory approved
contact adhesive.

3.   Outside supporting hangers shall be designed to resist compression; supporting devices such as short wood dowels or wood blocks shall be used in
combination with galvanized sheet metal hanger shields.  The wood supporting devices shall be the same thickness as the insulation and sealed to the
insulation with factory approved contact adhesive.

C. Insulation on all water piping shall be run continuously.  A steel pipe sleeve or saddle shall be used between the hanger or clamp and insulation to prevent crushing
of the insulation. Insulation of the hanger or clamps will not be required.

2.15    IDENTIFICATION OF PIPING

A.  Label all piping in Equipment Rooms, above "Lay-In" type ceilings and all other accessible locations.  Pipe markers shall conform with Scheme for Identification of Piping Systems

(ANSI A13.1-1956).

B.  Each marker shall show the name of the fluid in the pipe and a directional flow arrow, both superimposed on one of the five basic background colors.  Pipe
markers shall be installed at each service valve, at each mechanical item of equipment, at 20-foot intervals on horizontal runs of piping, and at midpoints of risers
on vertical piping.  Where horizontal runs of piping above the ceilings crosses over multiple rooms, and the room walls run up to the deck, a marker shall be
installed on the pipe in each room regardless of the 20 foot interval requirement.

C. The identifiers shall be plastic strips on which the name of the service shall be printed.  The identifiers shall be installed with an adhesive which will adhere to the
pipe or insulation without deteriorating.  Each piping system shall have a different color code marking.  Colors shall be submitted for approval.  Identification
markers shall be applied over the insulation on insulated pipe. The identifiers shall be Brady or Seton self-sticking pipe markers and combination arrow tape
meeting the requirements of ANSI standards.  Where approved by Engineers stenciled labeling may be accepted.

2.16    VALVE IDENTIFICATION

A. Tag all valves with brass identification tags and provide a typed and laminated valve schedule at locations to be determined by the owner.  A schedule shall be
provided for each project, located in a mechanical room or at a location of owner's request.  Also include valve schedule in each copy of the O & M manual.  Tags
to be 1-1/2” diameter brass tags with 1/4” letters identifying the valve service (PLBG, HW, CW, etc.) above 1/2” valve numbers.  Valves tags to be by Seton or
equal.  A 1” tall white engraved black marker with 1/2” white letters shall be placed on the wall 1” below the ceiling grid or on the ceiling grid at each valve location.
Final location of the valve tags - on wall or grid - shall be approved by the architect.  The tag shall bear the identification mark of the corresponding valve.  Where
hot and cold water valves are located adjacent to each other, only one wall tag is required. The contractor shall provide electronic copy of the valve schedule and
floor plan in PDF format with all water piping shown indicating the locations of each valve by number.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01    TESTS

A. The Contractor shall conduct and bear the cost of all necessary tests of the plumbing   work, furnishing all labor, power and equipment.  The contractor shall notify
the engineer at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to all testing.  Any test conducted without the Engineer present shall be considered as having not been performed,
and such systems shall be retested in the presence of the Engineer at the expense of the contractor.

B.  Any delays or additional cost to the project that result from the failure of the contractor to properly test all systems shall be the sole responsibility of the contractor.

C. Leak test hot and cold water pipes at 150 psi hydrostatic pressure before covering.  Blank off equipment not designed for test pressure.

D.  Test entire sanitary, drainage, and venting systems by plugging all necessary openings, and filling systems with water to the level of the highest vent stack.  Not
less than ten feet of water pressure will be acceptable.  If required by local plumbing code, perform smoke test.

3.02    DISINFECTING WATER PIPING

A. Before being placed in service, all new water piping and repaired portions of existing piping shall be thoroughly flushed then chlorinated with not less than fifty parts
per million (50 ppm) of available chlorine.  Chlorine gas or seventy percent high-test calcium hypochlorite can be used.  Water from the existing distribution system
or other source of supply shall be controlled so as to flow slowly into the newly laid pipeline during the application of chlorine.  The solution shall be retained in the
pipeline for not less than twenty-four (24) hours and a chlorine residual of 10 ppm shall be available at this time.  Then the system shall be flushed with potable
water and the sampling program started.

B.  Sampling shall consist of taking two (2) or more successive sets of samples, taken at 24-hour intervals and tested by a State approved private laboratory.  Test
results shall indicate bacteriologically satisfactory water.  Should any reports be unfavorable, the entire treatment and sampling process shall be repeated.
Satisfactory test results shall be submitted to the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control District Office.

3.03    CLEAN UP

A. Prior to acceptance of the building, thoroughly clean all exposed portions of the plumbing installation, removing all labels and all traces of foreign substances, using
a cleaning solution approved by the manufacturer of the plumbing item and being careful to avoid all damage to finished surfaces.

END OF SECTION

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P301

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

 S
P

E
C

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

706

Item 5.



PLUMBING FIXTURE SCHEDULE

SYMBOL  MANUFACTURER                         MODEL NO.                   DESCRIPTION

P-1A         Kohler               K-3979              HIGHLINE WATER CLOSET

Vitreous china, white, elongated, floor mounted, tank water closet with 12” rough-in, 16-1/2” rim height, and Kohler Class Five flushing system.  Provide
with seat by Bemis 1955SSCT elongated, white, plastic, open front less cover, and closet bolts and bolt caps.  Provide with McGuire LFBV2166
convertible chrome plated brass, quarter turn ball valve ½” IPS x 3/8” compression loose key water closet stop and supply.  Ensure trip lever is installed

on wide side of toilet stall in accordance with ADA requirements.

P-2A         Kohler               K-2005              KINGSTON LAVATORY

Vitreous china, 21-1/4" x 18-1/8", white, wall hung lavatory with overflow.  Provide with Delta 22C151 single lever faucet with ceramic cartridge, 0.50
gpm vandal resistant aerator, and ADA compliant lever handle.  Also provide with Zurn model Z1231 OR Z1251 concealed arm carrier as wall
construction dictates.  Install lavatory with rim height of a maximum of 34” for ADA compliance and install Handi Lav-Guard insulation kit Model No. 102

W (white).

P-3            Elkay                 LRAD3122        KITCHEN SINK

Type 304, 18-8 stainless steel, single bowl ADA compliant sink.  Bowl dimensions are 28” x 16” x 6-1/2" deep.  Provide with Delta Trinsic 9159-DST
chrome plated brass faucet with pull-down spout.  Coordinate sink ledge punch with faucet requirements.  Provide with Model LK35 strainer, and 17
gauge commercial grade chrome plated "P" trap with integral cleanout and commercial grade CP supplies with stops.

P-4            Florestone         FM-1                 UTILITY SINK

Molded free standing utility sink with four heavy duty legs.  Sink dimensions are 23” x 22-1/2” x 14-1/2” deep tub.  Provide with chrome plated strainer
and 2” outlet.  Also provide with Delta 27C4863 deck mounted faucet with lever handles and gooseneck with ¾” hose thread outlet.  Provide with
vacuum breaker, hose and clamp, and mop hanger with three clamps.

EWH-1      A.O. Smith        DEL-40             WATER HEATER

Electric water heater with 40 gallon storage capacity.  Unit power shall be 208/1/60 and shall be coordinated with the electrical contractor prior to

ordering.  Provide heater with two 4500 watt elements wired for non-simultaneous operation.  Water heater shall be UL listed and shall have standby
losses meeting the latest US Department of Energy and ASHRAE requirements.  Also provide with Holdrite Model 40-S-22 “Quick Stand,”  QP Quick
Pan drain pan with metal outlet, and Holdrite QS-50 “Quick Strap” seismic restraint.

EWH-2      A.O. Smith        DEL-20             WATER HEATER

Electric water heater with 20 gallon storage capacity.  Unit power shall be 208/1/60 and shall be coordinated with the electrical contractor prior to

ordering.  Provide heater with one 4500 watt element.  Water heater shall be UL listed and shall have standby losses meeting the latest US Department
of Energy and ASHRAE requirements.  Also provide with Holdrite Model 40-S-22 “Quick Stand,”  QP Quick Pan drain pan with metal outlet, and
Holdrite QS-50 “Quick Strap” seismic restraint.

WCB                 Guy Gray                BIM875SQTSAB               WATER CONNECTION BOX

Hot dipped galvanized 18 steel utility wall box with 1/2" sweat inlet and 1/4" compression outlet bronze angle valve.  Box to be minimum 20 gauge with
18 gauge faceplate.

MV            Symmons         8210CK            MIXING VALVE

Symmons Maxline lead-free brass thermostatic mixing valve with integral spring checks, stainless steel strainer, vandal resistant caps.  Mixing valve
shall meet both ASSE 1017 and 1070 compliance.  Set mixed water temperature at 110°F per ANSI handicap requirements.

FCO                  Zurn                          ZN-1400-2                           FLOOR CLEANOUT

“Level-Trol” adjustable floor cleanout with cast iron body with tapered ABS plug, and nickel bronze top.  For interior carpet areas provide with -CM

carpet marker.  Size per plumbing drawings.

WCO                 Zurn                        ZANB-1460                           WALL CLEANOUT

No hub cast iron body wall cleanout with tapered ABS plug, and nickel bronze square frame with polished stainless steel cover.  Size and locate per plumbing

drawings.

NO. C00097

ASSOCIATES

CONSULTING

ENGINEERING

MECHANICAL

A

A

S

FO

I
T
R
E

C

E
T
A

CI
F

T

O

U
CH

A

U

A
R

O
HT

ZI
N

OI
T

IN

ROL

NO

RS

N

CP.

R

No. 18709

H R

P

E

I

L
I

TSI GE

P
D

EP

O

L

E
N

ER T
Y

A

I

L
A

R

N
G

E

A

S

C
T
U

O EF

H L
O

I

S

ORA

I

04/12/2024

MECA
Mechanical Engineering

Consulting Associates, Inc.

2330 Main St.

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Phone: (803) 765-9421

Designed:

Approved:

Job No.:

Plot Date:

www.mecainc.com

561  JACOBS  MILL  POND  ROAD

JOB #:  

T
H

IS
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
H

O
W

N
 T

H
E

R
E

O
N

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 J
E

F
F

 L
E

W
IS

, 
A

IA
. 

-
T

H
E

 R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
P

Y
IN

G
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 U
S

E
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 W
R

IT
T

E
N

 C
O

N
S

E
N

T
 O

F
 J

E
F

F
 L

E
W

IS
 A

IA
 I
S

 P
R

O
H

IB
IT

E
D

 A
N

D
 I
N

F
R

IN
G

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
IL

L
 B

E
 S

U
B

J
E

C
T

 T
O

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

.

ELGIN, SOUTH CAROLINA   29045

803.960.5026 / jeff@jefflewisaia.com

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

24153

HKB

PPC

06/04/2024

P302

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

 S
P

E
C

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S

22-031-1

T
. 

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K
M

O
D

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 T

O
 B

O
O

K
E

R

04/12/2024

1
4
3
 B

O
O

K
E

R
 T

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 C

IR
C

L
E

 |
 Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
, 
S

C

707

Item 5.



ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - GENERAL ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - LIGHTING SYSTEMS AND ACCESSORIES ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - POWER

ELECTRICAL SYMBOL SCHEDULE - COMMUNICATIONS

ABBREVIATIONS

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-1

T
.
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
P

A
R

K

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O
 
B

O
O

K
E

R

06/04/2024

1
4

3
 
B

O
O

K
E

R
 
T

 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
C

I
R

C
L

E
 
|
 
Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
,
 
S

C

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson D. Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2403-16104

6/4/2024

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
S

Y
M

B
O

L
S

,
 
S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

 
&

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

708

Item 5.



RECESSED LAY-IN FIXTURE DETAIL

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-1

T
.
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
P

A
R

K

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O
 
B

O
O

K
E

R

06/04/2024

1
4

3
 
B

O
O

K
E

R
 
T

 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
C

I
R

C
L

E
 
|
 
Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
,
 
S

C

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson D. Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2403-16104

6/4/2024

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
S

Y
M

B
O

L
S

,
 
S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

 
&

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

709

Item 5.



’

– 

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-1

T
.
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
P

A
R

K

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O
 
B

O
O

K
E

R

06/04/2024

1
4

3
 
B

O
O

K
E

R
 
T

 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
C

I
R

C
L

E
 
|
 
Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
,
 
S

C

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson D. Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2403-16104

6/4/2024

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
S

P
E

C
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

710

Item 5.



JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-1

T
.
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
P

A
R

K

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O
 
B

O
O

K
E

R

06/04/2024

1
4

3
 
B

O
O

K
E

R
 
T

 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
C

I
R

C
L

E
 
|
 
Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
,
 
S

C

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson D. Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2403-16104

6/4/2024

E
L

E
C

T
R

I
C

A
L

 
D

E
M

O
L

I
T

I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1

ED101

ELECTRICAL DEMOLITION PLAN
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

711

Item 5.



STORAGE

107

TOILET

106

SIDE EXIT

105

TOILET

104

OPEN AREA

101

MULIT-PURPOSE

ROOM

108

UTILITIES

110

EXIST.TOILET

109

KITCHEN

111

PANTRY

112

OFFICE

102

LOBBY

103

MECHANICAL PLATFORM,

GYP. BRD. CEILING

BELOW

NO CEILING, EXPOSED

TO STRUCTURE

M
A

I
N

F
R

A
M

E
 
A

B
O

V
E

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-1

T
.
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
P

A
R

K

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O
 
B

O
O

K
E

R

06/04/2024

1
4

3
 
B

O
O

K
E

R
 
T

 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
C

I
R

C
L

E
 
|
 
Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
,
 
S

C

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson D. Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2403-16104

6/4/2024

L
I
G

H
T

I
N

G
 
R

E
N

O
V

A
T

I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1

E101

LIGHTING RENOVATION PLAN
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

712

Item 5.



STORAGE

107

TOILET

106

SIDE EXIT

105

TOILET

104

OPEN AREA

101

MULIT-PURPOSE

ROOM

108

UTILITIES

110

EXIST.TOILET

109

KITCHEN

111

PANTRY

112

OFFICE

102

LOBBY

103

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-1

T
.
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
P

A
R

K

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O
 
B

O
O

K
E

R

06/04/2024

1
4

3
 
B

O
O

K
E

R
 
T

 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
C

I
R

C
L

E
 
|
 
Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
,
 
S

C

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson D. Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2403-16104

6/4/2024

P
O

W
E

R
 
&

 
C

O
M

M
U

N
I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
R

E
N

O
V

A
T

I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1

E201

POWER & COMMUNICATIONS RENOVATION PLAN
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

713

Item 5.



STORAGE

107

TOILET

106

SIDE EXIT

105

TOILET

104

OPEN AREA

101

MULIT-PURPOSE

ROOM

108

UTILITIES

110

EXIST.TOILET

109

KITCHEN

111

PANTRY

112

OFFICE

102

LOBBY

103

JOB #:

R
E

V
D

A
T

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
T

S

22-031-1

T
.
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
P

A
R

K

M
O

D
I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

 
T

O
 
B

O
O

K
E

R

06/04/2024

1
4

3
 
B

O
O

K
E

R
 
T

 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
C

I
R

C
L

E
 
|
 
Y

E
M

A
S

S
E

E
,
 
S

C

5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC  29212
803.233.9396 (Phone)

803.233.4371 (Fax)

Project Manager:
Bryson D. Tucker P.E., x101

ETi #2403-16104

6/4/2024

M
E

C
H

A
N

I
C

A
L

 
W

I
R

I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

1

E301

MECHANICAL WIRING PLAN
APPROXIMATE SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

714

Item 5.



Project Title: Booker T Washington Park Report date: 03/28/24
Data filename: Z:\Projects\2403-16104 Booker T Community Center - JLA\Comcheck\Booker T Community
 Center_Comcheck_240328.cck Page 1 of 4

COMcheck Software Version 4.1.1.0

Interior Lighting Compliance
Certificate

Section 1: Project Information

Energy Code: 2009 IECC
Project Title: Booker T Washington Park
Project Type: Alteration

Construction Site: Owner/Agent: Designer/Contractor:
Bryson D. Tucker, PE
ETI Engineering, LLC
5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC 29212
803.233.9396 x-101
btucker@etiservices.net

Section 2: Interior Lighting and Power Calculation

A
Area Category

B
Floor Area

(ft2)

C
Allowed

Watts / ft2

D
Allowed Watts

(B x C)

Town Hall 2390 1.1 2629

Total Allowed Watts = 2629

Section 3: Interior Lighting Fixture Schedule

A
Fixture ID : Description / Lamp / Wattage Per Lamp / Ballast

B
Lamps/
Fixture

C
# of

Fixtures

D
Fixture
Watt.

E
(C X D)

Town Hall (2390 sq.ft.)

22M: 22M: Other: 1 1 28.8 28.8

24L: 24L: Other: 1 1 30 30

24M: 24M: Other: 1 9 38.9 350.1

24H: 24H: Other: 1 3 49.1 147.3

4CLL: 4CLL: Other: 1 2 24 48

4CLM: 4CLM: Other: 1 1 31.3 31.3

4WM: 4WM: Other: 1 1 29.3 29.3

4WH: 4WH: Other: 1 1 33.3 33.3

4V: 4V: Other: 1 2 39.6 79.2

8SH: 8SH: Other: 1 9 77.9 701.1

Total Proposed Watts = 1478

Section 4: Requirements Checklist

Interior Lighting PASSES

Lighting Wattage:

❑ 1. Total proposed watts must be less than or equal to total allowed watts.
   

      Allowed Watts
     

      Proposed Watts
     

      Complies
     

      2629       1478 Passes

Controls, Switching, and Wiring:

❑ 2. Daylight zones under skylights more than 15 feet from the perimeter have lighting controls separate from daylight zones adjacent to
 vertical fenestration.

❑ 3. Daylight zones have individual lighting controls independent from that of the general area lighting.N/A

715

Item 5.



Project Title: Booker T Washington Park Report date: 03/28/24
Data filename: Z:\Projects\2403-16104 Booker T Community Center - JLA\Comcheck\Booker T Community
 Center_Comcheck_240328.cck Page 2 of 4

    
Exceptions:

❑ Contiguous daylight zones spanning no more than two orientations are allowed to be controlled by a single controlling device.

❑ Daylight spaces enclosed by walls or ceiling height partitions and containing two or fewer light fixtures are not required to have a
 separate switch for general area lighting.

❑ 4. Independent controls for each space (switch/occupancy sensor).
    
Exceptions:

❑ Areas designated as security or emergency areas that must be continuously illuminated.

❑ Lighting in stairways or corridors that are elements of the means of egress.

❑ 5. Master switch at entry to hotel/motel guest room.

❑ 6. Individual dwelling units separately metered.

❑ 7. Medical task lighting or art/history display lighting claimed to be exempt from compliance has a control device independent of the control
 of the nonexempt lighting.

❑ 8. Each space required to have a manual control also allows for reducing the connected lighting load by at least 50 percent by either
 controlling all luminaires, dual switching of alternate rows of luminaires, alternate luminaires, or alternate lamps, switching the middle
 lamp luminaires independently of other lamps, or switching each luminaire or each lamp.
    
Exceptions:

❑ Only one luminaire in space.

❑ An occupant-sensing device controls the area.

❑ The area is a corridor, storeroom, restroom, public lobby or sleeping unit.

❑ Areas that use less than 0.6 Watts/sq.ft.

❑ 9. Automatic lighting shutoff control in buildings larger than 5,000 sq.ft.
    
Exceptions:

❑ Sleeping units, patient care areas; and spaces where automatic shutoff would endanger safety or security.

❑ 10.Photocell/astronomical time switch on exterior lights.
    
Exceptions:

❑ Lighting intended for 24 hour use.

❑ 11.Tandem wired one-lamp and three-lamp ballasted luminaires (No single-lamp ballasts).
    
Exceptions:

❑ Electronic high-frequency ballasts; Luminaires on emergency circuits or with no available pair.

Section 5: Compliance Statement

Compliance Statement:  The proposed lighting alteration project represented in this document is consistent with the building plans,

specifications and other calculations submitted with this permit application. The proposed lighting alteration project has been designed to meet

the 2009 IECC, Chapter 8, requirements in COMcheck Version 4.1.1.0 and to comply with the mandatory requirements in the Requirements

Checklist.

Name - Title Signature Date

N/A

N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

Bryson D. Tucker, PE 03/28/24

716

Item 5.



Project Title: Booker T Washington Park Report date: 03/28/24
Data filename: Z:\Projects\2403-16104 Booker T Community Center - JLA\Comcheck\Booker T Community
 Center_Comcheck_240328.cck Page 3 of 4

COMcheck Software Version 4.1.1.0

Exterior Lighting Compliance
Certificate

Section 1: Project Information

Energy Code: 2009 IECC
Project Title: Booker T Washington Park
Project Type: Alteration
Exterior Lighting Zone:  3 (Other)

Construction Site: Owner/Agent: Designer/Contractor:
Bryson D. Tucker, PE
ETI Engineering, LLC
5725 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC 29212
803.233.9396 x-101
btucker@etiservices.net

Section 2: Exterior Lighting Area/Surface Power Calculation

A
Exterior Area/Surface

B
Quantity

C
Allowed
Watts
/ Unit

D
Tradable
Wattage

E
Allowed
Watts
(B x C)

F
Proposed

Watts

Main entry 3 ft of door width 30 Yes 90 17

Other door (not main entry) 12 ft of door width 20 Yes 240 51

Total Tradable Watts* = 330 68

Total Allowed Watts = 330

Total Allowed Supplemental Watts** = 750
* Wattage tradeoffs are only allowed between tradable areas/surfaces.
** A supplemental allowance equal to 750 watts may be applied toward compliance of both non-tradable and tradable areas/surfaces.

Section 3: Exterior Lighting Fixture Schedule

A
Fixture ID : Description / Lamp / Wattage Per Lamp / Ballast

B
Lamps/
Fixture

C
# of

Fixtures

D
Fixture
Watt.

E
(C X D)

Main entry (3 ft of door width): Tradable Wattage

WP: WP: Other: 1 1 17 17

Other door (not main entry) (12 ft of door width): Tradable Wattage

WP: WP: Other: 1 3 17 51

Total Tradable Proposed Watts = 68

Section 4: Requirements Checklist

Lighting Wattage:

❑ 1. Within each non-tradable area/surface, total proposed watts must be less than or equal to total allowed watts. Across all tradable
 areas/surfaces, total proposed watts must be less than or equal to total allowed watts.

Compliance: Passes.

   

Controls, Switching, and Wiring:

❑ 2. All exemption claims are associated with fixtures that have a control device independent of the control of the nonexempt lighting.

❑ 3. Lighting not designated for dusk-to-dawn operation is controlled by either a a photosensor (with time switch), or an astronomical time
 switch.

717

Item 5.



Project Title: Booker T Washington Park Report date: 03/28/24
Data filename: Z:\Projects\2403-16104 Booker T Community Center - JLA\Comcheck\Booker T Community
 Center_Comcheck_240328.cck Page 4 of 4

❑ 4. Lighting designated for dusk-to-dawn operation is controlled by an astronomical time switch or photosensor.

❑ 5. All time switches are capable of retaining programming and the time setting during loss of power for a period of at least 10 hours.

Exterior Lighting Efficacy:

❑ 6. All exterior building grounds luminaires that operate at greater than 100W have minimum efficacy of 60 lumen/watt.
    
Exceptions:

❑ Lighting that has been claimed as exempt and is identified as such in Section 3 table above.

❑ Lighting that is specifically designated as required by a health or life safety statue, ordinance, or regulation.

❑ Emergency lighting that is automatically off during normal building operation.

❑ Lighting that is controlled by motion sensor.

Exterior Lighting PASSES: Design 94% better than code.

Section 5: Compliance Statement

Compliance Statement:  The proposed exterior lighting design represented in this document is consistent with the building plans, specifications

and other calculations submitted with this permit application. The proposed lighting system has been designed to meet the 2009 IECC

requirements in COMcheck Version 4.1.1.0 and to comply with the mandatory requirements in the Requirements Checklist.

Name - Title Signature Date

Bryson D. Tucker, PE 03/28/24

718

Item 5.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of Contract Award to Fraser Construction and Court Atkins Group for IFB #061824 
Station 39 for the Design portion of this Design/Build project ($397,528.41) 
 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee on Jan. 21, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Gecy, Interim Director, Capital Project Management (5minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County requested proposals for a Design/Build proposal from interested firms for Fire Station #39 in 
Sun City. Seven proposals were received and evaluated by Staff. Final scoring identified the team of Fraser 
Construction and Court Atkins Group as the best suited firm and Fee negotiations resulted in a final fee of 
$361,389.46. Staff would like to add a 10% contingency to the requested amount bringing the total request to 
$397,528.41. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

 
The purpose of this new fire station is to improve response time with Sun City and developments along SC 
170 in Okatie between US 278 and SC 46. Ordinance approved by Beaufort County Council on July 12, 2024 to 
appropriate $5M from the 2017 GO bond to design, engineer, construct, and equip a joint Fire/EMS station in 
Sun City.  Future Operating costs not included since this is part of the BTFD ongoing annual budget. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The contract fee is for Design and Preconstruction services in the amount of $361,389.46 plus a 10% 
contingency ($36,138.95) bringing the total request to $397,528.41  

The funding for this project will be from GO Bond account number 4010-80-0000-54420 with a current balance 
of $5,230,383.56. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of contract to Fraser Construction and Court Atkins Group for IFB #061824 
Station 39 in the amount of $361,389.46 plus a 10% contingency ($36,139.00) bringing the total request to 
$397,528.00. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of award to Fraser Construction and Court Atkins Group for IFB 
#061824 Station 39. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award to Fraser Construction and Court Atkins Group for IFB 
#061824 Station 39 

 

719

Item 6.



No. Task Description Consultant/ Vendor

Design & 

Permitting 

Phase
Project Management-Fraser Const.

1 Desig Phase Project Management Fraser Construction 10,426$                     

2 Prelim., 60% DD and GMP Estimates Fraser Construction 8,688$                       

3 Design & Permitting Scheduling Fraser Construction 4,344$                       

4 Owner, Architect & Design-Builder Meetings Fraser Construction 8,326$                       

5 Blueprints Fraser Construction 1,605$                       

6 Project Management Software Fraser Construction 1,111$                       

7 Tree & Topo Survey Atlas Surveying 12,900$                     

8 Geotechnical Report GHD 11,720$                     

9 Wetland Verification Sligh Environmental 2,000$                       

Architectural Design

10 Architectural Re-use Fee (Station 31) Court Atkins Architects 21,750$                     

11 Structural Engineering (Allowance) Court Atkins Architects 11,000$                     

12 MEP/FP Engineering (Allowance) Court Atkins Architects 33,000$                     

13 Schematic Design Court Atkins Architects 10,000$                     

14 Design Development Court Atkins Architects 20,000$                     

15 Construction Documents Court Atkins Architects 30,000$                     

16 Permit Documents Court Atkins Architects 5,000$                       

17 Sun City Design Approval Court Atkins Architects 3,500$                       

18 Design Rendering Court Atkins Architects -$                                

19 Architect Construction Phase Services Court Atkins Architects

20 Design Reimbursables Court Atkins Architects 1,000$                       

Civil Engineering

21 Land Planning Ward Edwards 10,000$                     

22 Site/Civgil Engineering Ward Edwards 32,000$                     

23 Site Permitting Agency & County Ward Edwards 25,000$                     

24 Civil Engineer Const. Admin. Ward Edwards

25 Constructoin Services Closeout Ward Edwards

26 NDPES Monitoring Ward Edwards

27 Design Reimbursables Ward Edwards 750$                           

28 Landscape Design J. K. Tiller Associates 10,800$                     

29 Site Lighting Design 2,500$                       

30 Sun City ARB Fee Sun City ARB 750$                           

31 Water & Sanitary Sewer Fees-Allowance BJWSA 16,277$                     

32 Beaufort County Development Fees Beaufort County 3,500$                       

33 Road Impact Fee (Light industrial)-Allowance Beaufort County 19,573$                     

34 Fire Impact Fee-Allowance Beaufort County 4,144$                       

35 Sub-Total 321,664$                   

36 Design-Builder Fee 7% Fraser Construction 22,516$                     

37 Contingency 5% Fraser Construction 17,209$                     

38 Total Design & Permitting Contract Sum Fraser Construction 361,389$           

BTFD Station #39 Design & Permitting Phase Budget

720

Item 6.



RFQ 061824

Summary Score Sheet

Round 1 Scoring

Evaluators Name of Company Name of Company Name of Company   Name of Company   2 Name of Company   3 Name of Company   4 Name of Company   5

Caplea Coe Architects CPPI of GA
Fraser Construction 

Co. John W. Spratlin and Son Sherer & Associates Trident Wade Development
Boulware 85 70 90 50 50 45 25
Church 90 70 94 40 60 35 5
Corn 85 60 90 40 40 35 10
Sutton 98 78 97 75 68 96 30

TOTALS: 358 278 371 205 218 211 70

1. Fraser Construction Co. 371
2. Caplea Coe Architects 358
3. CPPI of GA 278
4. Sherer & Associates 218
5. Trident 211
6. John W. Spratlin & Son 205
7. Wade Development 70

Design/Build Bluffton Fire District Station #39

721

Item 6.



RFQ 061824

Summary Score Sheet

Round 2 Scoring

Evaluators Name of Company Name of Company Name of Company   

Caplea Coe 
Architects/Nix CPPI of GA

Fraser Construction 
Co.

Boulware 75 75 95
Church 80 83 95
Corn 80 70 95
Sutton 96 92 97

TOTALS: 331 320 382

1. Fraser Construction 382
2. Caplea Coe/Nix 331
3. CPPI of GA 320

Design/Build Bluffton Fire District Station #39

722

Item 6.



 
 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS  
 

 
Design/Build Bluffton Fire District Station #39 

RFQ # 061824  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by:  Beaufort County Procurement Services 
 
Dated: May 14, 2024  
 
Qualification Due Date:  June 18, 2024

723

Item 6.



RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  1 
 

               COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
                        PROCUREMENT SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
                            106 Industrial Village Road, Bldg. 2 Post Office Drawer 1228 

                                Beaufort, South Carolina 29901-1228 
 

                 

 
QUALIFICATION NOTICE NO. RFQ 061824    

CLOSING DATE AND TIME:  June 18, 2024  

QUALIFICATION TITLE: Design/Build Bluffton Fire District Station #39  
 
 
You are invited to submit a qualification statement, in accordance with the requirements of this 
solicitation which are contained herein. 
 
There will be a Pre-Qualification meeting held virtually on June 4, 2024 at 2:00pm. Please contact 
Victoria Moyer at Victoria.Moyer@bcgov.net All vendors are encouraged to attend. 
 
In order for your qualification statement to be considered, it must be submitted to the Procurement Services 
Department through Vendor Registry no later than June 18, 2024 at 3:00pm, at which time respondents to 
this request will be recorded in the presence of one or more witnesses.  RFQ received by the Procurement 
Services Department after the time specified will not be considered.  Due to the possibility of negotiation 
with all respondents, the identity of any respondents or the contents of any Qualification shall not be public 
information until after the contract award is made; therefore, the public is not invited to the Qualification 
closing.  
 
The qualification statement must be signed by an official authorized to bind the Consultant, and it shall 
contain a statement to the effect that the Qualification is firm for a period of at least 90 days from the closing 
date for submission of Qualification.  Qualification must be submitted through Vendor Registry by 
going to the County Website at www.beaufortcountysc.gov and register as a vendor.  There is no cost 
to register you company.  This will allow you to submit your RFQ electronically. 
 
All submittals (see Submission Requirements) received in response to this Request for Qualification will 
be rated by a Selection Committee, based upon the Evaluation Form contained within this RFQ. If the best 
Qualification respondent is clearly identified from the point summary, there will not be a need for oral 
presentations.  If not, then an oral presentation from a minimum of the top two rated firms shall be required. 
 
This solicitation does not commit Beaufort County to award a contract, to pay any costs incurred in the 
preparation of a Qualification, or to procure or contract for the articles of goods or services.  The County 
reserves the right to accept or reject any or all QUALIFICATIONS received as a result of this request, to 
negotiate with all qualified firms, or to cancel in part or in its entirety this solicitation, if it is in the best 
interests of the County to do so. 
 
“Original Signed” 
 
Dave Thomas 
Procurement Services Director 
(843) 255-2304 
  

724

Item 6.

mailto:Victoria.Moyer@bcgov.net
http://www.bcgov.net/


RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  2 
 

IMPORTANT ELECTRONIC SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS 
In order to do business with the Beaufort County, vendors must register with Procurement 

Services through our Vendor Registration system, powered by Vendor Registry. The County may 
reject any quotes, bids, Qualifications, and qualifications submitted by businesses that are not 
registered. Registering also allows businesses to identify the type of goods and services they provide 
so that they may receive email notifications regarding relevant solicitations out for bid. 
 
To register with the County, go to www.beaufortcountysc.gov and go to the Procurement Services 
Department’s page and click on Vendor Registration. Once registered you may submit your 
Qualification through the solicitation section in Vendor Registry. 
 

IMPORTANT 
ELECTRONIC SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
Response submittals for this Request for Qualifications will ONLY be received electronically and 
must be submitted ONLINE prior to the date and time listed on the cover page of this RFQ 
document. 
All responses must adhere to the following guidelines: 

- Suppliers are encouraged to submit responses as soon as possible. Responses are received into a 
‘lockbox’ folder and cannot be opened prior to the due date and time. The time and date of receipt 
as recorded by the server will serve as the official time of receipt. The County is not responsible 
for late submissions, regardless of the reason. 

- All requested information and forms MUST be uploaded as one file if possible. If necessary 
to have more than one upload, pricing (if applicable), and signed acknowledgements, etc. are 
to be in the first upload and the Pricing Information should be in the second, with each titled 
accordingly. If you have a problem with your upload, you may contact Vendor Registry at 
844-802-9202 or cservice@vendorregistry.com 
 

725

Item 6.

http://www.bcgov.net/
mailto:cservice@vendorregistry.com


RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  3 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
Title VI Statement to Prime Contractors, Subcontractors, Architects, Engineers, and Consultants 

 

 
 
It is the policy of the County Council of Beaufort County, South Carolina, hereafter referred to as “Beaufort County” or “the 
County”, to comply with Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act (Title VI) and its related statutes.  To this end, Beaufort County 
assures that no person shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefit of, or subjected to discrimination under 
any of its programs or activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, sex, disability, religion, or language 
regardless of whether those programs and activities are Federally funded or not.  The County is also committed to assuring 
every effort will be made to prevent the discrimination of low-income and minority populations as a result of any impact of 
its programs or activities.  Beaufort County also assures that every effort will be made to prevent discrimination through the 
impacts of its programs, policies, and activities on minority and low-income populations. Additionally, the County will take 
reasonable steps to provide meaningful access to services for persons with limited English proficiency. In addition, Beaufort 
County will not retaliate against any person who complains of discrimination or who participates in an investigation of 
discrimination.  Beaufort County will, where necessary and appropriate, revise, update, and incorporate nondiscrimination 
requirements into appropriate documents, directives, and regulations. 
 
Pursuant to Title VI requirements, any entity that enters into a contract with Beaufort County including, but not limited to 
Prime Contractors, Subcontractors, Architects, Engineers, and Consultants, may not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, age, sex, disability, religion, or language in their selection and retention of first-tier subcontractors, and first-
tier subcontractors may not discriminate in their election and retention of second-tier subcontractors, including those who 
supply materials and/or lease equipment.  Further, Contractors may not discriminate in their employment practices in 
connection with highway construction projects or other projects assisted by the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) 
and/or the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 
 
In all solicitations either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by the Contractor for work to Beaufort County 
to be performed under a subcontract, including Procurement Servicess of materials or leases of equipment, each 
potential subcontractor or supplier shall be notified by the Contractor of the Contractor's obligations under the 
contract and the Title VI regulations relative to nondiscrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, 
sex, disability, religion, or language by providing such a statement in its bidding and contract documents. 
 
Upon request, the Contractor shall provide all information and reports required by Title VI requirements issued pursuant 
thereto, and shall permit access to its books, records, accounts and other sources of information, and its facilities as may 
be determined by Beaufort County, USDOT, and/or FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such regulations, 
orders, and instructions.  Where any information required of a Contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who fails 
or refuses to furnish this information, the Contractor shall so certify to USDOT or FHWA, as appropriate and via Beaufort 
County, and shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.  In the event of the Contractor's non-compliance 
with nondiscrimination provisions of this contract, USDOT may impose such contract sanctions as it or FHWA may 
determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited to: 
 

• Withholding of payments to the Contractor under the contract until the Contractor complies, and/or 
• Cancellation, termination, or suspension of the contract, in whole or in part. 

 
In the event a Contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or supplier as a result of 
this direction to comply with Title VI, the Contractor may request USDOT to enter into such litigation to protect the interests 
of USDOT and FHWA.  Additionally, the Contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the 
interests of the United States.  Any person or Subcontractor who believes that they have been subjected to an unlawful 
discriminatory practice under Title VI has a right to file a formal complaint within one hundred eighty (180) days following 
the alleged discriminatory action. Any such complaint must be filed in writing or in person: 
 

Beaufort County Government 
Post Office Drawer 1228  Beaufort, SC 29901-1228  

843-255-2304 Telephone  E-mail: dthomas@bcgov.net 

726

Item 6.



RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  4 
 

PROJECT PURPOSE  
 
Beaufort County and Bluffton Township Fire District requests proposals from all interested firms, licensed in 
the State of South Carolina, experienced in providing qualified design-build teams to provide 
architectural design and construction services for a new fire station within the Sun City 
community located at #301 Sun City Blvd, Okatie SC 29909. 
 
Beaufort County and Bluffton Township Fire District are partnering to construct a new Fire/EMS station at 
#301 Sun City Blvd. Okatie SC 29909. In 2021, this partnership was utilized to construct a Fire/EMS station 
located at #31 Red Barn Rd, Okatie, SC 29909. The request is to construct another station similar in design 
and construction for the new location listed. 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The project will be to construct a working Fire/EMS station that is staffed twenty-four hours a day 365 
days a year. The building will need to house one fire apparatus and one transporting ambulance with 
additional space for future responding apparatus. The facility will need to utilize methods and finishes 
similar to those in existing stations that provide long-lasting and ease-of-use capabilities. The project will 
require seven individual sleeping quarters, two supervisor offices, one large common kitchen/dayroom 
area, restroom facilities for men and women with two showers located in each, one oversized laundry 
room that will accommodate two washers and two dryers each, and one large commercial gear extractor 
for personal protective equipment. There will need to be a room dedicated to exercise/weight training, 
closets provided for supplies for both Fire and EMS equipment, and one electrical / information 
technology room that is air-conditioned. In the apparatus bay there will need to be two rooms constructed, 
one for firefighting gear and one for lawn care equipment. 
 
The project site is compromised by an underground sewer line that will need to be relocated to allow for 
the placement of the facility. Designs will need to accommodate emergency response from the facility, 
and allow for employee parking with 10 or more spaces, and allow for public parking with handicapped 
access. The Bluffton Fire District will schedule walk-throughs and meetings to show teams current 
facilities and past projects that are being utilized. 
 
 PHASE 1 – PRE-CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 

1. BUILDING DESIGN 
• Develop 100% Schematic cost estimate and schedule; 
• Develop 50% Construction Document cost estimate and schedule; Reconcile cost 
differences from Previous Phase. 

• Develop 100% Construction Documents cost estimate and schedule; Reconcile cost 
differences from Previous Phase. 

• Regularly attend meetings with the Owner and Architect prior to construction and 
consult with the Owner and the Architect regarding site use, site improvements and 
selection of building materials. 

• Develop a provisional and final CPM schedules indicating methods and sequencing of 
procurement, permitting, construction and closeout of project. Include time 

727

Item 6.



RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  5 
 

requirements for sequences and durations, milestones dates for receipt and approval of 
design documents, receipt of regulatory approvals and permits, preparation and 
processing of shop drawings and samples, delivery schedule of materials or equipment 
requiring long-lead time procurement, project procurement schedule, and installation 
and construction completion. Include critical milestone dates for Owner procured and 
installed fixtures, furnishings and equipment. Provide periodic updates of project 
schedule for Architect’s review and Owner approval. 

• Perform a “constructability” review of the design documents at each phase of design. 
• Provide detailed construction cost estimates, to achieve the Owner’s budget (to be 

sorted by trade bid packages). 
• Assist with final selection of systems and products by providing market intelligence to 

Architect. 
 

2. GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE 
 

• Develop a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) document at 50% construction 
documents that minimizes the use of allowances or plug numbers. 

• Reconcile schedule and cost with Architect and Owner against pre-established budget 
   and schedule. 
• Develop Final Guaranteed Maximum Price document. 
 

B. PHASE 2 – CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
1. CONSTRUCTION PHASE 

 
• Maintain on-site staff for construction management. 
• Establish and maintain coordinating procedures. 
• Develop and maintain a detailed cost-loaded schedule (CPM) including delivery, 

approvals, inspection, testing, construction and occupancy. 
• Conduct and record job meetings. 
• Prepare and submit change order documentation for approval of the Architect and 

Owner. 
• Maintain a system for review and approval of shop drawings, samples and product data, 

to ensure compliance with drawings and specifications. 
• Maintain records and submit formal progress and monthly reports to Architect and 

Owner. 
• Manage and maintain quality control systems and ensure conformity to plans and 

Specifications. 
• Develop a system and provide cost control through periodic progress payment reviews 

and verifications according to the approved schedule and contract amounts. 
• Develop and maintain as-built drawings for the duration of the Project. 
• Coordinate post-completion activities, including the assembly of guarantees, manuals, 

closeout documents, training, regulatory approvals and the Owner’s final acceptance. 
• Coordinate and monitor the resolution of remaining “punch-list” items to the 

satisfaction of the Owner. 
 

2. PROJECT CLOSEOUT/WARRANTY 
 

• Submit record drawings for approval of the Architect and the Owner. 
• Receive, record and address all warranty issues. 
• Resolve all warranty issues to the satisfaction of the Owner.

728

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  6 
 

QUALIFICATION SUBMISSION INSTRUCTIONS 
 

1. Electronically submit file by using the Vendor Registry process through our County Website at 
www.beaufortcountysc.gov. File name must contain the Vendors name and Project name: 

a. Qualification Submittal Contents (items #1-#5 on page 8). 
b. Exhibits A&B 

 
2. Consultant(s) will be emailed a copy of the Statement of Award. 

 
3. Prohibition of Gratuities:  It shall be unethical for any person to offer, or give, or agree to give any 

County employee or former County employee, or for any County employee or former County 
employee to solicit, demand, accept, or agree to accept from another person, a gratuity or an offer 
of employment in connection with any decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, or 
preparation of any part of a purchase request, influencing the content of any specification or 
procurement standard, rendering of advice, investigation, auditing, or in any other advisory 
capacity in any proceeding or application, request for ruling, determination, claim or controversy, 
or other particular matter, pertaining to any program requirement or a contract or subcontract, or to 
any solicitation or Qualification therefore. 

 
4. Questions 

 
a. Submit questions at least ten (10) calendar days prior to Qualification closing date to 

Vendor Registry 
 

b. Answers to questions received that would change and/or clarify this solicitation will be 
provided be posted on Vendor Registry as addendum.  

 
c. Selection Committee members SHALL NOT be contacted during the RFQ process. 

 
5.  In order to do business with the Beaufort County, vendors must register with Procurement 

Services through our Vendor Registration system, powered by Vendor Registry. The County may 
reject any quotes, bids, Qualifications, and qualifications submitted by businesses that are not 
registered. Registering also allows businesses to identify the type of goods and services they 
provide so that they may receive email notifications regarding relevant solicitations out for bid. 

 
To register with the County, go to www.beaufortcountysc.gov and go to the Procurement Services 
Department’s page and click on Vendor Registration.  Once registered you may submit your Qualification 
through the solicitation section in Vendor Registry. 

729

Item 6.

http://www.beaufortcountysc.gov/
http://www.bcgov.net/


 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  7 
 

QUALIFICATION SUBMITTAL CONTENTS 

 
To achieve a uniform review process and allow for adequate comparability, the information is to 
be organized in the manner specified below and the entire package must not exceed 15 double-
sided printed pages excluding Exhibit A and B, cover pages and tabs. 
 
 

1. Executive Summary:  Objectives of the project, scope of work, and related issues which must be 
addressed throughout development stages of the planning.  

 
2. Approach to the Ranking/Planning Process: Explanation of the process to provide a ranking 

system that is equitable and repeatable based on parameters defined in the scope of work.  
 

3. Work Plan and Scheduling – A summary of tasks to be performed from evaluation of data through 
County approval of the final plan. Include a timeline of key milestone dates to include overall 
durations for each major task. 

 
4. Experience and Qualifications:  Experience and qualifications of the team members, with an 

emphasis on similar type project completed within the last five (5) years. Provide an organization 
chart including sub-consultants and contractors.   
 

5. List any exceptions, qualifications, or exclusions to this RFQ: 
 
 

 
 

ALL OTHER PAGES SHALL REMAIN PART OF THE RFQ 
 

BY REFERENCE AND IT IS NOT NECESSARY TO RETURN THESE ITEMS. 
  

730

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  8 
 

Reserved Rights 
 
The County shall not be responsible for any of the costs associated with responding to this request and all 
submitted materials shall become the property of the County. Furthermore, the County expressly reserves 
the right and options to: 

- Reject any or all consultants and re-advertise if deemed necessary 
- Waive any or all formalities and technicalities 
- Approve, disapprove, or cancel all services associated with the project 

 
Selection & Notification 
 
The selected firms will be given written notification of being selected by the County. This work may be 
awarded in whole or in part at the sole discretion of the County. The County will negotiate and execute a 
contract with the selected firm(s) prior to the beginning of the actual services. Should contract 
negotiations fail, the County will negotiate with one or the other highly ranked firms. In general, the 
contract will comply with applicable laws and standard provisions and shall contain the following terms: 

- Detailed scope of services 
- Schedule for providing services 
  

731

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  9 
 

Beaufort County Standards for Contracting 
 
CHAPTER 1.  TYPES OF CONSULTANT SERVICES 
1-1.  Consultant Services  
 
CHAPTER 2.  PROCEDURES FOR SELECTION OF CONSULTANTS 
2-1.  General  
2-2.  Objective  
2-3.  Qualifications-Based Selection Procedures  
2-4.  Selection Criteria 
 
CHAPTER 3.  CONTRACT FORMAT AND PROVISIONS 
3-1.  Mandatory Contract Provisions  
3-2.  Time Overruns Beyond Control of the Consultant  
 
CHAPTER 4.  METHODS OF CONTRACTING AND ALLOWABLE COSTS 
4-1.  Allowable Costs  
4-2. Nonallowable Costs 
4-3. Fixed Payment  
 
CHAPTER 5. BEAUFORT COUNTY STANDARD CLAUSES 
5-1. Contract Requirements 
5-2. Special Instructions 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

732

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  10 
 

CHAPTER 1.  TYPES OF SERVICES REQUIRED: 
 
Beaufort County requests qualifications from all interested Design/Build teams, licensed in the State of 
South Carolina, experienced in providing Design/Build of Fire/EMS building.  
 
CHAPTER 2.  PROCEDURES FOR SELECTION OF DESIGN/BUILD TEAM 
 
2-1.  GENERAL 

Qualifications-based procedures require that a contract for services be awarded pursuant to a fair 
and open selection process based on the qualifications of the team. The fees for such services are 
established following selection of a team through a negotiation process to determine a fair and 
reasonable price. 

 
2-2.  OBJECTIVE 
 Teams employed for work on projects shall be responsible and possess the ability to perform 

successfully under the terms and conditions of the proposed procurement. Consideration shall be 
given to such matters as integrity, record of past performance, extent of experience with the type 
of services required by the sponsor, technical resources, and accessibility to other necessary 
resources. 

 
2-3.  QUALIFICATIONS-BASED SELECTION PROCEDURES. Team shall be selected based on their 

qualifications and experience, with fees determined through negotiations following selection.  The 
highest ranked offeror shall be selected, and price shall be negotiated with highest ranking 
firm as identified through the qualifications-based selection procedure. 

 
2-4.  SELECTION CRITERIA.  Criteria include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

 
a) Experience and knowledge with local, state, and federal regulations and permitting. Team to 

disclose the type and number of projects performed for Beaufort County and/or Fire and EMS 
stations over the past 5 years. 
 

b) Knowledge of local conditions and potential challenges to be considered in developing the project. 
The ability to address and solve challenges in the design process. 

 
c) Ability to provide various design options, to evaluate cost-benefit analysis, taking construction and 

maintenance costs into consideration. 
 

d) Track record in meeting deadlines, achieving positive results, and providing most cost-
effective/best options to implement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

733

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  11 
 

CHAPTER 3.   CONTRACT FORMAT 
 
3-1.  MANDATORY CONTRACT PROVISIONS. All contracts involving State or Federal funds must 

contain the applicable procurement standards in 49 CFR 18.36. Listed below are those provisions 
which pertain to consultant contracts: 

 a.  Contracts shall contain provisions or conditions which will allow for administrative, 
contractual, or legal remedies in instances where contractors violate or breach contract 
terms and provide for sanctions and penalties as may be appropriate. 

 b.  Contracts over $10,000 shall contain suitable provisions for termination by the sponsor, 
including how it will be affected and the basis for settlement. In addition, contracts shall 
describe conditions under which the contract may be terminated for default as well as 
conditions where the contract may be terminated because of circumstances beyond the 
control of the consultant. 

 c.  All negotiated contracts shall include provisions to the effect that sponsors, the Federal 
Department of Transportation, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any of the 
duly authorized representatives shall have access to any books, documents, papers, and 
records of consultants which are directly pertinent to a specific grant program, for the 
purpose of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and transcriptions. Sponsors shall 
require consultants to maintain all required records for 3 years after the sponsor makes final 
payment and all other pending matters are closed. 

 d.  In addition to the requirements contained in 49 CFR Section 23, Participation by Minority 
Business Enterprises in Department of Transportation Programs, and AC 150/5100-15, 
Civil Rights Requirements for the Airport Improvement Program, current edition, the Title 
VI, and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Assurances in Appendix 1 shall be included in 
each contract. 

 
 3-2.  TIME OVERRUNS BEYOND CONTROL OF THE TEAM. Frequently, the consultant is called 

upon to continue technical inspection services on construction contracts--overrunning the program schedule 
contemplated at the time of negotiation. In most instances, the time element is beyond the control of the 
consultant. To provide for the contingency of overrun of time, the agreement between the County and the 
consultant will state the period for which the compensation shall apply and that the consultant shall be 
reimbursed for services in excess of the specified period of time at a mutually acceptable fee negotiated at 
the time all the pertinent circumstances are known. 
 
CHAPTER 4.  METHODS OF CONTRACTING AND ALLOWABLE COSTS 
 
4-1.  ALLOWABLE COSTS.  
 
 a.  Direct Salary Costs. 
  (1)  Direct salary cost is defined as the cost of salaries of engineers, draftsmen, 

surveyors, stenographers, clerks, etc., for time directly chargeable to the project. 
  (2)  Salaries or imputed salaries of partners or principals, to the extent that they perform 

technical or advisory services directly applicable to the project, are to be added to 
salary cost. 

b.  Overhead Costs. Overhead costs include overhead on direct salary costs and general and 
administrative overhead. 

  (1) Labor Overhead. Overhead on direct salary costs includes sick leave, vacation, and 
holiday pay; unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes; contributions for social 
security, employment compensation insurance, retirement benefits, and medical 
insurance benefits; and any other benefits customarily paid to or enjoyed by all 

734

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  12 
 

employees. The allowable percentage for labor overhead allocable to a project is 
the ratio of (a) a firm's total direct labor overhead costs to (b) a firm's total direct 
salary costs (excluding overtime) for a given period, usually the average for the 
past 3 years. 

  (2) General and Administrative Overhead. General and administrative overhead 
includes the following indirect costs which are not directly attributable to specific 
projects. 

 
   (a)  Provisions for office, light, heat, and similar terms for working space, 

depreciation allowances or rental for furniture, drafting equipment and 
engineering instruments, and office and drafting supplies not identifiable 
to specific projects. 

   (b)  Taxes and insurance other than those included as salary cost but excluding 
state and Federal income taxes. 

   (c)  Library and periodical expenses, and other means of keeping abreast of 
advances in engineering such as attendance at technical and professional 
meetings and subscriptions to trade, business, professional, or technical 
periodicals.  

   (d)  Executive, administrative, accounting, legal, stenographic, and clerical 
salaries, and expenses (other than identifiable salaries included in salary 
costs and expenses included in reimbursable non-salary expenses, plus 
salaries or imputed salaries of partners and principals) to the extent that 
they perform general executive and administrative services as 
distinguished from technical or advisory services directly applicable to 
projects. 

   (e)  Costs of memberships in trade, business, technical, and professional 
organizations. 

   (f)  Incentive compensation for management employees, cash bonuses, 
suggestion awards, safety awards, and incentive compensation based on 
production, cost reduction, or efficient performance are allowable to the 
extent that the overall compensation is determined to be reasonable, and 
such costs are paid or accrued pursuant to an agreement entered into in 
good faith between the consultant and the employees before the services 
are rendered or pursuant to an established plan followed by the consultant 
so consistently as to imply, in effect, an agreement to make such payment. 
The allowable percentage for general and administrative overhead 
allocable to a project is the ratio of (a) all general and administrative costs 
to (b) total direct salary costs (excluding overtime) for a given period, 
usually the average for the past 3 years. 

 
 c.  Direct Non-salary Expenses. Direct non-salary expenses usually incurred may include the 

following (detailed records must be kept supporting charges and allow auditing): 
   
(1)  Living and traveling expenses of employees, partners, and principals when away from the home 

office on business connected with the project. (Records must include employee 
name, dates, points of travel, mileage rate, lodging, and meals.) 

  (2)  Identifiable communication expenses such as long-distance telephone, telegraph, 
cable, express charges, and postage, other than for general correspondence. 

  (3)  Services directly applicable to the work such as special legal and accounting 
expenses, computer rental and programming costs, special consultants, borings, 

735

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  13 
 

laboratory charges, commercial printing and bindings, and similar costs that is not 
applicable to general overhead. 

  (4)  Identifiable drafting supplies and stenographic supplies and expenses charged to 
the sponsor's work as distinguished from such supplies and expenses that are 
applicable to two or more projects.  

  (5)  Identifiable reproduction costs applicable to the work such as blueprinting, 
photosetting, mimeographing, printing, etc. 

  (6)  Advertising costs which are solely for the recruitment of personnel required for the 
performance by the consultant of obligations arising under the contract. 

 
4-2.  NON-ALLOWABLE COSTS. The expenses listed below are not allowable for reimbursement: 
 
 a. Costs of amusement and social activities and incidental costs relating thereto such as meals, 

lodging, rentals, transportation, and gratuities. 
 b.  Contributions and donations. 
 c.  Bad debts, including losses due to uncollectible customer's accounts and other claims, 

related collection costs, and related legal costs, arising from other businesses of the 
consultant. 

 d.  Dividend provisions or payments and, in the case of sole proprietors and partners, 
distributions of profit. 

 e.  Interest on borrowed capital. 
 f.  Bonus payment for early completion of work. 
 
4-3.  FIXED PAYMENT. To all the estimated costs, including overhead, a percentage rate is applied to 

determine payment for profit, willingness to serve, and assumption of responsibility. 
 
CHAPTER 5.  BEAUFORT COUNTY STANDARD CLAUSES 
 
CONTRACTUAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
1.0 EXCUSABLE DELAY: The Firm shall not be liable for any excess costs, if the failure to perform 

the contract arises out of causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Firm.  
Such causes may include, but are not restricted to, acts of God or of the public enemy, acts of the 
Government in either its sovereign or contractual capacity, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine 
restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, and unusually severe weather; but in every case the failure 
to perform must be beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Firm.  If the failure 
to perform is caused by the default of a subcontractor, and if such default arises out of causes 
beyond the control of both the Firm and the subcontractor, and without the fault or negligence of 
either of them, the Firm shall not be liable for any excess costs for failure to perform, unless the 
supplies or services to be furnished by the subcontractor were obtainable from other sources in 
sufficient time to permit the Firm to meet the required delivery schedule. 

 
2.0 S.C. LAW CLAUSE: Upon award of a contract under this Request for Qualifications, the person, 

partnership, association, or corporation to whom the award is made must comply with local and 
State laws which require such person or entity to be authorized and/or licensed to do business in 
Beaufort County.  Notwithstanding the fact that applicable statutes may exempt or exclude the 
successful offeror from requirements that it be authorized and/or licensed to do business in Beaufort 
County, by submission of this signed Request for Qualifications the offeror agrees to subject itself 
to the jurisdiction and process of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit Court of Beaufort County, as to all 

736

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  14 
 

matters and disputes arising or to arise under the contract and the performance thereof including 
any questions as to the liability for taxes, licenses, or fees levied by State or local government. 

 
3.0 OFFEROR’S QUALIFICATIONS: Firms must, upon request of the County, furnish satisfactory 

evidence of their ability to furnish services in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Request for Qualifications.  The Procurement Services Department reserves the right to make the 
final determination as to the offeror’s ability to provide the services requested herein, before 
entering into any contract. 

 
4.0 OFFEROR RESPONSIBILITY: Each Firm shall fully acquaint himself with conditions relating to 

the scope and restrictions attending the execution of the work under the conditions of this Request 
for Qualifications.  The failure or omission of an offeror to acquaint themselves with existing 
conditions shall in no way relieve him of any obligation with respect to this Request for 
Qualifications or to the contract. 

 
5.0 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: The Firm will take affirmative action in complying with all Federal 

and State requirements concerning fair employment and employment of the handicapped and 
concerning the treatment of all employees, without regard or discrimination by reason of race, 
religion, sex, national origin, or physical handicap. 

 
6.0 FIRM RESPONSIBILITIES: The Firm will be required to assume sole responsibility for the 

complete effort, as required by this RFQ.  The County will consider the Firm to be the sole point 
of contact with regard to contractual matters. 

 
7.0 SUBCONTRACTING: If any part of the work covered by this RFQ is to be subcontracted, the 

Firm shall identify the subcontracting organization and the contractual arrangements made with 
same.  All subcontractors must be approved, in writing by the County, or when applicable a political 
subdivision within the County with the County’s concurrence.  The successful Firm will also 
furnish the corporate or company name and the names of the officers of any subcontractors engaged 
by the Firm.  The County reserves the right to reject any or all subcontractors and require 
substitution of a firm qualified to participate in the work as specified herein. 

 
8.0 OWNERSHIP OF MATERIAL: Ownership of all data, material, and documentation originated and 

prepared for the County pursuant to this contract shall belong exclusively to the County. 
 
9.0 PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS: (NOT Required for Professional Services) The 

successful Contractor shall furnish, within ten (10) days after written notice of acceptance of 
Request for QUALIFICATIONS, Performance and Payment Bonds.  Contractor shall provide and 
pay the cost of a both bonds.  The Bonds shall be in the amount of one hundred percent (100%) the 
contract, issued by a Surety Company licensed in South Carolina with an “A” minimum rating of 
performance as stated in the most current publication of “Best’s Key Rating Guide, Property 
Liability” which shall show a financial strength rating of at least five (5) times the Contract Price.  
The Bond shall be accompanied by a “Power of Attorney” authorizing the attorney-in-fact to bind 
the surety and certified to include the date of the bond.  

  
10.0 NONRESIDENT TAXPAYERS: If the offeror is a South Carolina nonresident taxpayer and the 

contract amount is $10,000.00 or more, the offeror acknowledges and understands that in the event 
he is awarded a contract offeror shall submit a Nonresident Taxpayer Registration Affidavit (State 
form #1-312-6/94), before a contract can be signed.  Affidavit must certify that the nonresident 

737

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  15 
 

taxpayer is registered with the S.C. Department of Revenue or the S.C. Secretary of State’s Office, 
in accordance with Section 12-9-310(A) (2) (3) of S.C. Code of Laws (1976) as amended. 

 
11.0 BUSINESS LICENSE In accordance with the Beaufort County Business License Ordinance, 99-

36, Article III, as enacted November 22, 1999, any business or individual generating income in the 
unincorporated area of Beaufort County is required to pay an annual license fee and obtain a 
business license.  The ordinance referenced is available on the Beaufort County website at 
www.beaufortcountysc.gov or by calling the Business License Administrator at (843) 255-2270 
for a list of schedules. 

 
12.0 ADDITIONAL ELIGIBILITY: Other Beaufort County Public Procurement units shall, at their 

option, be eligible for use of any contracts awarded pursuant to this Invitation. 
 
13.0 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: Prior to commencing work/delivery hereunder, 

Contractor/Firm, at his expense, shall furnish insurance certification showing the certificate holder 
as Beaufort County, P.O. Drawer 1228, Beaufort, SC 29901-1228, Attention: Procurement Services  
Director and with a special notation naming Beaufort County as an additional insured on the 
liability coverage.  Minimum coverage shall be as follows: 

 
(A) Worker’s Compensation Insurance - Contractor shall have and maintain, during the life of 

this contract, Worker’s Compensation Insurance for his employees connected to the 
work/delivery, in accordance with the Statutes of the State of South Carolina and any 
applicable laws. 

 (B) Commercial General Liability Insurance – Contractor shall have and maintain, during the 
life of this contract, Commercial General Liability Insurance. Said Commercial General 
Liability Policy shall contain Contractual Liability and Products/Completed Operations 
Liability subject to the following minimum limits: $1,000,000 Each Occurrence/ 
$2,000,000 General Aggregate and $2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate 
naming Beaufort County as an additional insured. 

(C) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance - The Contractor shall have and maintain, 
during the life of this contract, Comprehensive Automobile Liability, including non-owned 
and hired vehicle, of at least $500,000 COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT. 

(D) ADDITIONAL INSURANCE REQUIREMENT: Umbrella Liability Insurance – 
Contractor shall have and maintain, during the life of this contract, Umbrella Liability 
Insurance with a minimum limit of $2,000,000 

(E) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions) – The vendor shall maintain a limit no less 
than $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

(F) The required insurance policy at the time of issue must be written by a company licensed 
to do business in the State of South Carolina and be acceptable to the County. 

(G) The Contractor/vendor shall not cause any insurance to be canceled or permit any insurance 
to lapse.  All insurance policies shall contain a clause to the effect that the policy shall not 
be canceled or reduced, restricted, or limited until fifteen (15) days after the County has 
received written notice, as evidenced by return receipt of registered or certified letter. 
Certificates of  

 Insurance shall contain transcript from the proper office of the insurer, the location, and 
the operations to which the insurance applies, the expiration date, and the above-mentioned 
notice of cancellation clause. 

 (H) The information described above sets forth-minimum amounts and coverages and is not to 
be construed in any way as a limitation on the Contractor’s liability. 

 

738

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  16 
 

14.0 INDEMNITY: 
 

The Firm hereby agrees to indemnify and save harmless the County, its officers, agents, and 
employees from and against any and all liability, claims, demands, damages, fines, fees, expenses, 
penalties, suits, proceedings, actions and cost of actions, including attorney’s fees for trial and on 
appeal of any kind and nature arising or growing out of or in any way connected with the 
performance of the Agreement, whether by act of omissions of the Firm, its agents, servants, 
employees or others, or because of or due to the mere existence of the Agreement between the 
parties. 

 
15.0 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT:   
 

15.1 The performance of Work under the Agreement may be terminated by the Procurement 
Services Director, in accordance with this clause, in whole or in part, in writing, whenever 
the Director of Procurement Services shall determine that the Contractor has failed to meet 
the performance requirements of this Agreement. 

 
15.2 The Procurement Services Director has the right to terminate for default, if the Firm fails 

to make delivery of the contracted deliverables or perform the Work, or if the Firm fails to 
perform the Work within the time specified in the Agreement, or if the Firm fails to perform 
any other provisions of the Agreement. 

 
16.0 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE: The County may without cause terminate this contract 

in whole or in part at any time for its convenience.  In such instance, and adjustment shall be made 
to the Firm, for the reasonable costs of the work performed through the date of termination.  
Termination costs do not include lost profits, consequential damages, delay damages, unabsorbed 
or under absorbed overhead of the Firm or its subcontractors, and/or failure to include termination 
for convenience clause into its subcontracts and material purchase orders shall not expose the 
County to liability for lost profits in conjunction with a termination for convenience settlement or 
equitable adjustment.  The Firm expressly waives any claims for lost profit or consequential 
damages, delay damages, or indirect costs which may arise from the County’s election to terminate 
this contract in whole or in part for its convenience. 

17.0 TERMINATION FOR NON-APPROPRIATIONS: Funds for this contract are payable from State 
and/or Federal and/or Beaufort County appropriations. In the event sufficient appropriations are 
not made to pay the charges under the contract it shall terminate without any obligation to Beaufort 
County. 

 
  

739

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  17 
 

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS 
 
1.0 INTENT TO PERFORM: It shall be the team’s responsibility to advise the Procurement Services 

Department if any language, requirements, etc., or any combinations thereof inadvertently restricts 
or limits the requirements stated in this RFQ to a single source.  Such notification must be submitted 
in writing and must be received by the Procurement Services Department not later than ten (10) 
days prior to the Request for Qualifications opening date.  A review of such notifications will be 
made. 

 
2.0 RECEIPT OF REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS: Request for Qualifications, amendments 

thereto, or withdrawal requests received after the time advertised for Request for Qualifications 
opening will be void, regardless of when they were sent. 

 
 

3.0 PREPARATION OF REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS   
   

3.1 All Requests for Qualifications should be complete and carefully worded and must convey 
all the information requested by the County.  If significant errors are found in the offeror’s 
Request for Qualifications, or if the Request for Qualifications fails to conform to the 
essential requirements of the RFQ, the County and the County alone will be the judge as 
to whether that variance is significant enough to reject the Request for Qualifications. 

 
3.2 Request for Qualifications should be prepared simply and economically, providing a 

straightforward, concise description of offerors capabilities to satisfy the requirements of 
the RFQ.  Emphasis should be on completeness and clarity of content. 

 
3.3 Teams Qualifications shall be combined into a single PDF document.  
                           
3.4 If your Request for Qualifications includes any comment over and above the specific 

information requested in our Request for Request for Qualifications (RFQ), you are to 
include this information as a separate appendix to your Request for Qualifications. 

 
4.0 AMENDMENTS: If it becomes necessary to revise any part of the RFQ, an amendment will be 

provided to all offerors who received the original Request for Request for Qualifications.  The 
County shall not be legally bound by an amendment or interpretation that is not in writing. 

 
5.0 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Offerors requiring additional information may submit their 

questions, in writing through Vendor Registry.  Answers to questions received that should change 
and/or clarify this solicitation will be provided in writing to all offerors via an amendment. 

 
6.0 ORAL PRESENTATION/DISCUSSIONS: Any offeror or all offerors may be requested to make 

an oral presentation of their Request for Qualifications to the County, after the Request for 
Qualifications opening.  Discussions may be conducted with responsible teams, who submit 
Request for Qualifications determined to be reasonably susceptible of being selected for award for 
the purpose of clarification to assure full understanding of and responsiveness to the solicitation 
requirement. 
 
 

740

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  18 
 

Teams shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with respect to any opportunity for discussions 
and revision of Request for Qualifications, and such revisions may be permitted after submissions 
and prior to award. The purpose of these presentations/discussions will be to: 

 
(A) Determine in greater detail such offeror’s Qualifications. 
(B) Explore with the team the scope and nature of the project, the offeror’s proposed method 

of performance, and the relative utility of alternative methods of approach. 
(C) Determine that the team will make available the necessary personnel and facilities to 

perform within the required time. 
(D) Agree upon fair and reasonable compensation, taking into account the estimated value of 

the required services, the scope and complexity of proposed project, and nature of such 
services. 

 
7.0 FUNDING: The offeror shall agree that funds expended for the purposes of the contact must be 

appropriated by the County Council for each fiscal year included within the contract period.  
Therefore, the contract shall automatically terminate without penalty or termination costs if such 
funds are not appropriated.  In the event that funds are not appropriated for the contract, the Firm 
shall not prohibit or otherwise limit the County’s right to pursue and contract for alternate solutions 
and remedies, as deemed necessary by the County for the conduct of its affairs.  The requirements 
stated in this paragraph shall apply to any amendment or the execution of any option to extend the 
contract. 

 
8.0 AWARD: An award resulting from this request shall be awarded to the responsive and responsible 

team whose Request for Qualifications is determined to be most advantageous to the County, taking 
into consideration price and the evaluation factors set forth herein; however, the right is reserved 
to reject any and all Request for Qualifications received, and in all cases the County will be the sole 
judge as to whether a Firm’s Request for Qualifications has or has not satisfactorily met the 
requirements of this RFQ. 

 
9.0 PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: No such documents or other 

documents relating to this procurement will be presented or made otherwise available to any other 
person, agency, or organization until after award.  Commercial or financial information obtained 
in response to this RFQ, which is privileged and confidential, will not be disclosed.  Such privileged 
and confidential information includes information which, if disclosed, might cause harm to the 
competitive position of the offeror supplying the information.  All teams, therefore, must visibly 
mark as “Confidential” each part of their Request for Qualifications, which they consider 
containing proprietary information. 

 
10.0 DEVIATIONS: Any deviations from the requirements of this RFQ must be listed separately and 

identified as such in the table of contents. 
 
12.0 GRATUITIES: It shall be unethical for any person to offer, or give, or agree to give any County 

employee or former County employee; or for any County employee or former County employee to 
solicit, demand, accept, or agree to accept from another person a gratuity or an offer of employment 
in connection with any decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, or preparation of any part 
of a program requirement or a purchase request, influencing the content of any specification or 
procurement standard, rendering of advice, investigation, auditing, or in any other advisory 
capacity in any proceeding or application, request for ruling, determination, claim or controversy, 
or other particular matter pertaining to any program requirement, or a contract or subcontract, or to 
any solicitation or Request for Qualifications therefore. 

741

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  19 
 

 
13.0 KICKBACKS: It shall be unethical for any payment, gratuity, or offer of employment to be made 

by or on behalf of a subcontractor under a contract to the prime or higher tier subcontractor, or any 
person associated therewith, as an inducement for the award of a subcontractor order. 

 
14.0 PROTEST PROCEDURES 
 

14.1 Right to Protest:  Any actual or prospective bidder, offeror, or firm, who is aggrieved, in 
connection with the solicitation or award of a contract, may protest to the Procurement 
Services Director.  The protest shall be submitted in writing fourteen (14) days after such 
aggrieved person knows or should have known of the facts giving rise thereto.  The protest 
must be accompanied by a detailed statement, indicating the reasons for such protest. 

 
14.2 Authority to Resolve Protest:  The Procurement Services Director shall have authority, 

prior to the commencement of an action in court concerning the controversy, to settle and 
resolve a protest of an aggrieved bidder, offeror, or contractor; actual or prospective, 
concerning the solicitation or award of a contract. 

 
14.3 Decision:  If the protest is not resolved by mutual agreement, the Procurement Services 

Director shall issue a decision, in writing within ten (10) days.  The decision shall, 
 

(A) State the reasons for the action taken; and 
(B) Inform the protestant of its right to administrative review as provided in this 

Section. 
 

14.4 Notice of Decision:  A decision under Subsection (3) of this Section shall be mailed or 
otherwise furnished immediately to the protestant and any other party intervening. 

 
14.5 Finality of Decision:   A decision under Subsection (3) of this Section shall be final and 

conclusive, unless fraudulent, or 
 

(A) Any person adversely affected by the decision appeals administratively, within ten 
(10) days after receipt of decision under Subsection (3) to the County Council in 
accordance with this Section. 

(B) Any protest taken to the County Council or court shall be subject to the protestant 
paying all administrative costs, attorney fees, and court costs when it is determined 
that the protest is without standing. 

 
 
  

742

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  20 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 

Certification regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and Voluntary 
exclusion 

 
The contractor certifies, by submission of this qualification statement or acceptance of a contract, that 

neither it nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, 
or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any State, Federal department, or agency. 

 
It further agrees by submitting this qualification statement that it will include this clause without 

modification in all lower tier transactions, solicitations, Qualifications, contracts, and subcontracts. Where 
the bidder/contractor or any lower tier participant is unable to certify to this statement, it shall attach an 

explanation to this solicitation/bid. 
 
 

State whether your company has been involved in any litigation within the past five (5) years, 
arising out of your performance.  

 
Circle Yes or No 

 
if you answer yes, explain fully if it has been involved in any litigation involving performance. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

743

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  21 
 

 
 
EXHIBIT B 

 
CERTIFICATION BY CONTRACTOR 

 
Regarding 

 
NON-SEGREGATED FACILITIES 

 
The Bidder certifies that he does not, and will not, provide and maintain segregated facilities for his 
employees at his establishments and, further that he does not, and will not, permit his employees to 
perform their services at those locations, under his control, where segregated facilities are provided and 
maintained. Segregated fountains, transportation, parking, entertainment, recreation, ad housing 
facilities; waiting, rest, wash, dressing, and locker room, and time clock, work, storage, restaurant, and 
other eating areas which are set apart in fact, or by explicit directive, habit, local custom, or otherwise, 
based on color, creed, national origin, and race. The Bidder agrees that, except where he has obtained 
identical certifications from proposed subcontractors for specific time periods, he will obtain identical 
certifications from proposed subcontractors prior to the award of subcontractors exceeding $10,000.00 
which are not exempt from the provisions of the Equal Opportunity clause, and that he will retain such 
certifications in his files. 
 
The Bidder agrees that a breach of this certification is a violation of the Equal Opportunity clause in this 
Contract.  The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in 18 U.S.C. 1001. 
 
 
 
 
 

                              Contractor 
 
 

                      (Signature) 
 
 

Name and Title of Signer 
 
 

           Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

744

Item 6.



 

RFQ #061824 DOCUMENTS Page  22 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT C 
 
 
 
EVALUATION FORM 
 
 
DATE:   ________________________ 
 
RFQ#: ______   TITLE: ___________________  
 
 
OFFEROR:        _____ 

   
  

POINT RANGE POINTS ASSIGNED 

1.0 
Experience and knowledge with local, 
state, and federal regulations and 
permitting. Team to disclose the type and 
number of projects performed for 
Beaufort County and/or Fire and EMS 
stations over the past 5 years. 0-25 Points  

2.0 Knowledge of local conditions and 
potential challenges to be considered in 
developing the project. The ability to 
address and solve challenges in the design 
process. 0-25 Points  

3.0 Ability to provide various design options, 
to evaluate const-benefit analysis, taking 
construction and maintenance costs into 
consideration 0-25 Points  

4.0 Track record in meeting deadlines, 
achieving positive results, and providing 
most cost-effective/best options to 
implement 0-25 Points  

  

TOTAL POINTS OUT 
OF 100  

 

745

Item 6.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of Contract Award to C.E. Bourne & Co Inc for IFB #050824 - Detention Center Stucco 
Repair and Painting ($2,656,585.00) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee – January 21, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Robert Gecy, Interim Director, Capital Projects (5 mins) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

On June 6, 2024, we received a bid of $2,415,078.00 from C.E. Bourne & Co Inc for the Detention Center 
Stucco Repair and Painting. This includes a base bid in the amount of $1,058,769.00 plus 4 alternates totaling 
$1,356,309.00. Staff and the project Architect have reviewed the bid submittal and found the price to be fair 
and reasonable.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

This project would include the repair and upgrade of the exterior stucco/EFIS system on the Beaufort County 
Detention Center, along with painting the exterior windows, doors, and recreation yards. The Detention 
Center was completed in 1991, and the exterior stucco finish suffered significant issues with water intrusion 
and damage due to a faulty product and installation issues. The County Courthouse & Administration Building 
were built using the same EFIS System and were later repaired. The exterior of the building is in extremely 
poor condition, with birds and squirrels now nesting in the stucco, and creating large holes in the exterior of 
the building. The Stucco/EFIS system will be repaired, and a hardened mesh will be installed over the entire 
surface to prevent further issues with water intrusion, animal and impact damage.  

The total funds requested are the bid amount (plus 10% contingency) ($2,415,078.00 + $241,507.80 = 
$2,656,585.80) 

Purchasing has not submitted a draft contract to Legal.  This will occur after contract award.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Funding comes from Detention Center Capital Fund, 4000-80-1250-54420.    

Current account balance is $3,458,200.00. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommend approval of contract to C.E. Bourne & Co Inc for IFB #050824-Detention Center Stucco 
Repair and Painting in the amount of $2,415,078.00 with a $241,507.80 contingency fund for a total of 
$2,656,585.80 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of award C.E. Bourne & Co Inc for IFB #050824 - Detention Center 
Stucco Repair and Painting. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award C.E. Bourne & Co Inc for IFB #050824 - Detention Center 
Stucco Repair and Painting. 

746

Item 7.



 

747

Item 7.



PROJECT SUMMARY  

 

This is for IFB 
 

Project Title: Beaufort County Detention Center, Exterior Facade Repair 

 

Project Description:  

The purpose of this project is to repair the exterior facades of the existing two-story Beaufort 

County Detention Center.  Work occurs on the building exterior facades (including courtyards 

and inmate exercise yards) only. The Detention Center will remain occupied and fully 

operational for the duration of construction.  

 

Scope of Work 

Work includes repair of the existing exterior insulation and finish system (EIFS) surfaces, 

cracks, bird holes and other deficiencies and re-finishing all EIFS surfaces.  It also includes 

removal of the EIFS insulation board at the base of the building and installation of a new metal 

drip edge. 

Alternate Bid Items: 

01 - Installation of EIFS heavy-duty mesh. 

02 - Repair and re-finish hollow metal windows. 

03 - Repair and re-finish hollow metal doors and frames. 

04 – Repair and replace steel tube frame and chain link and expanded metal panels. 

 

Project Administration: Beaufort Design Build will provide construction period services as the 

architect of record.  Robert Gecy is the County’s project manager. 

 

Contract Type: Lump sum, General Contractor (BD4). 

 

Contract Time: 60 calendar days. 
 

Liquidated Damages:  $500.00 per calendar day. 

 

Pre-Bid/Proposal Meeting: Yes. 

 

Mandatory: Yes. 

 

IFB will also need a schedule of values (pricing sheet) submitted with this page.  Probable 

Cost Estimate is attached. 

 

I will also need any specs, drawings, maps, etc.  Drawings and Project Manual will be sent via 

a separate email. 

748

Item 7.



PRELIMINARY BID TABULATION
PURCHASING DEPARTMENT

Project Name:
Beaufort County Detention Center, Exterior 

Façade Repair

Project Number: IFB 050824
Project Budget:
Bid Opening Date: 14-May-24
Time: 3:00:00 PM
Location: Beaufort County
Bid Administrator: Dave Thomas
Bid Recorder: Victoria Moyer

The following bids were received for the above referenced project:

BIDDER 
BID     

FORM
ALL 

ADDENDA
Bid 

Bond
SCH OF 
VALUES

SMBE 
Docs Sub Listing Grand Total Price 

Apex Exteriors LLC X No No X No No
703,575.00$                                                 

Base Bid
947,575.00$                                                 Base Bid with 

Alternates

CE Bourne X X X X  No No  $                                                              1,187,100.00 Base Bid

2,974,270.00$                                              
Base Bid with 
Alternates

Bid Administrator Signature Bid Recorder

Beaufort County posts PRELIMINARY bid tabulation information within 2 business days of the advertised bid opening.  Information on the PRELIMINARY bid 
tabulation is posted as it was read during the bid opening.  Beaufort County makes no guarantees as to the accuracy of any information on the PRELIMINARY 
tabulation.  The bid results indicated here do not necessarily represent the final compliance review by Beaufort County and are subject to change. After the review, 
the final award will be made by Beaufort County Council and a certified bid tab will be posted online. 

5/14/2024
749

Item 7.



IFB#

Beaufort County Detention Center
Exterior Facade Repair

Schedule of Values

Division

No.

Scheduled Value

(Include Sales Tax as
Appropriate)

Description of Work

Base Bid Scope of Work

0^General Conditions (bonds, insurance, supervision,
temporary facilities, etc.).

01.

Ho, OOP,
50j, OOP.

15,000. ^

$02. Mobilization, submittals and mockups.

Demolition (including haul-off and disposal). $03.

Pressure wash and clean exterior EiFS, masonry and
concrete walls, windows and doors.

$04.

opExterior Insulation and Finish System (EIFS) repair and
re-finishing.

$05.

oo

so, OOP
'Of OOP.

Masonry and concrete painting.06.

opSealant installation.

Re-work grade and EIFS at base of exterior wall, install
new drip edge and finish exposed concrete (include fine
grading and seeding).

07.

oo
OOP-$08. Cleanup.

OO
Closeout.09.

esTotal Base Bid Value:

Continued on next page.

17

750

Item 7.



Add Alternate Bid Items

State the additional cost and time to install heavy-
duty. impact-resistant mesh on all EIFS surfaces
prior to installing the finish coat.

Add Alt

Ol.

State the additional cost and time to scrape,
prime, re-glaze and paint the interior and exterior
of all existing steel framed windows.

Add Alt
$

02.

State the additional cost and time to scrape, prime
and paint the interior and exterior of all existing
exterior hollow metal doors and frames.

5^/000. ^
Add Alt

03.

State the additional cost to scrape, prime and
paint the existing steel tube framing located on top
of the masonry walls at all inmate exercise yards
(4 total). Work includes replacement of existing
perforated metal and chain link screening.

Add Alt

SHl.HU.$
04.

Grand Total with Alternates

IS

751

Item 7.



Determination of Price Reasonableness for 
Solicitation
Procurement Services Department

Solicitation Details

Date/Time: *

Jan 9, 2025 12:37 PM

Preparer: *

Gecy, Robert

From: *

Gecy, Robert

Department: *

Capital Projects

Solicitation Number: *

IFB# 050824

Purpose: *

Detention Center Stucco Repair and Painting

Background

Describe the relevant procurement, including a brief description of the product/service/scope of work. *

This project would include the repair and upgrade of the exterior stucco e�s system on the Beaufort County Detention 
Center, along with painting the exterior windows, doors, and recreation yards.

State procurement’s signi�cance to the project or County operations. *

The Beaufort County Detention Center was built in 1991, and the exterior stucco �nish product was found to be faulty and 
had signi�cant issues with moisture and rot. The Administration Building, built using the same stucco product, su�ered the 
same issues, and a settlement was reached with the manufacturer on both, however, the Administration Building was 
repaired but the Detention Center was not. There are now signi�cant issues with birds and squirrels nesting in and removing 
the stucco, along with moisture and water intrusion due to the faulty product.  The exterior of the building is in extremely 
poor condition and needs to be resurfaced and painted. The e�s will be repaired, and a hardened mesh will be installed over 
the entire surface to prevent further issues with birds, squirrels, and damage from mowing. The entire exterior of the 
building will painted, along with the exterior doors and windows.

Outline the procurement method utilized for this contract: (IFB, RFP, RFQ, Quotes). *

The project procurement method was IFB for 30 days. This included an online pre-bid meeting and 2 on-site meetings.

Price Analysis

Summarize the bid (s)/quotes (s) received with their respective amounts. *

There was one quali�ed bid received from CE Bourne with a base bid amount of $1,058,796 and 4 alternates for a total of 
$2,415,078.

If applicable: note any previous price history for similar procurements.

Comparisons with substantially similar items. *

No comparisons in recent years.

Sales of the same item to other purchasers. *

NA

752

Item 7.



Analysis of the cost elements (e.g. labor rate and estimated hours, material rates, indirect costs, reasonable pro�t) *

The cost of labor and materials are in line with the detailed Probable Cost Estimate provided by Beaufort Design Build. The 
probable cost estimate from 2023 for the base bid was $1,052,829.94, with CE Bournes base bid coming in at $1,058,796.

List and explain the benchmarks, market analysis, or other data sources used to evaluate price fairness. *

Architects probable cost estimates, Consultant plans, design and estimated material and labor cost for like projects.

Justi�cation of Acceptance of Single Proposal/Bid

Consideration of re-solicitation?

Yes No

Consideration of reasons for a single applicant?

Yes No

Explain:

This is a very specialized trade, with very few contractors in this area who are capable of handling a job of this size.

Consideration of reasonable search for quali�ed applicants?

Yes No

Explain:

This project was put out for 2 separate times and receive only one quali�ed bid each time from the same vendor.

Cost Analysis (if applicable)

Detail the cost elements (labor, materials, overhead, etc.) provided by the supplier or contractor.

Provide an analysis of the necessity and reasonableness of each cost element.

Vendor's Pricing Strategy (optional)

What is the vendor's pricing strategy?

Department Head Decision

Comments

753

Item 7.



Vendor has held original pricing in place far longer than is customary without escalators to help us get through our 
processes and potentially fund the project.

Approve Disapprove

Department Head Signature

Amundson, Hank

Date/Time

Jan 9, 2025 5:18 PM

Purchasing Decision

Comments

The procurement process for this project complies with our procurement code.  The price is fair and reasonable for this type 
of project. Note �nding quali�ed vendors in our area for this type of work is limited.

Approve Disapprove

Purchasing Signature

Thomas, Dave

Date/Time

Jan 10, 2025 9:18 AM

754

Item 7.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation to award of a sole source contract for Year 8 Rejuvenator to Pavement Technology Inc. 
($440,062.77) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE:  

Public Facilities Committee – January 21, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Bryan Bauer Director, Beaufort County Engineering. 

(5 Mins.) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The asphalt rejuvenator product Reclamite is proprietary and Pavement Technology, Inc. is the sole 
source provider and applicator in this area.  Non-competitive purchase form was submitted on 
January 10, 2025, and approved by purchasing department.  

 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

A pavement condition report for County roads was prepared by F&ME Consultants dated February 
16, 2022, and a condition assessment for SCDOT owned roads was prepared by A. Morton Thomas & 
Associates, Inc. dated October 3, 2022, which serves as a basis for evaluating pavement 
maintenance and preservation methods for the Beaufort County roadway network. On December 19th 
2024, Beaufort County received a proposal from Pavement Technology, Inc for asphalt Rejuvenator. 

This award was presented to County Transportation Committee at the January 15th 2025, meeting and 
approved. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The contract fee is for materials and construction in the amount of $400,057.07. Staff recommends 
a 10% contingency of $40,005.71, bringing the project’s total cost to $440,062.77. The funding for 
this project will be CTC Infrastructure account number 2343-30-0000-54500 with a balance of 
$5,541,909.41  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval to award Year 8 Rejuvenator to Pavement Technology, Inc. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation to award Year 8 Rejuvenator to Pavement Technology, Inc. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award Year 8 Rejuvenator to Pavement Technology, Inc. 

 

755

Item 8.



Pavement 
Technology, 

Inc. 
24144 Detroit Rd. 
Westlake, Ohio  44145 

Phone: 800-333-6309 440-892-1895 
Fax: 440-892-0953 

December 19, 2024 

Mr. Rusty Bratz 
Construction Manager 
Beaufort County Engineering 
104 Industrial Village Road, Bldg. 3 
Beaufort, SC  29906 

Dear Mr. Bratz: 

We are pleased to offer our proposal to apply Reclamite® asphalt rejuvenator and A.R.A.-1 Ti® 

to various streets located in Beaufort County, SC. Our unit price of $1.23 per square yard for 
Reclamite® and of $2.30 per square yard for A.R.A-1 Ti® is inclusive of traffic control, 
notification of residents and all labor and materials necessary to complete the work. 

Actual field measurements will determine final quantities. 

Thank you for your continued interest in pavement preservation. 

Sincerely, 

Ken Holton 

Ken Holton 
kholton@pavetechinc.com 

756

Item 8.

mailto:kholton@pavetechinc.com


ROAD NAME Approx 
Length

TERMINI DESCRIPTION TREATMENT TYPE QTY UNIT COST

Archie Sumpter Rd 0.43 Johnson Rd - Page Point Rd Asphalt Rejuvenator 6,682 SY $8,219.13
Arrow Rd 0.60 Wm  Hilton Pkwy to New Orleans Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,493 SY $1,836.80
Badgers Bend 0.06 Ratel Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 631 SY $776.27
Bajala Dr East 0.19 Old Barn Rd - Causeway Asphalt Rejuvenator 2,596 SY $3,193.08
Baywood Dr 0.90 Simmonsville Rd - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 10,108 SY $12,432.57
Beach City Rd 0.65 Wm  Hilton Pkwy to Traffic Circle  & Circle Asphalt Rejuvenator 18,150 SY $22,324.50
Benton Field Rd 0.19 Ulmer Rd - Devonwood Dr Asphalt Rejuvenator 2,180 SY $2,681.95
Bermuda Bluff Rd 0.74 Lands End Rd - Bermuda Downs Titanium Dioxide 9,282 SY $21,348.60
BrickyaRd Hills Dr 0.81 Brickyard Pt. S - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 4,867 SY $5,986.27
Bridgewater Dr 0.62 Parkside Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 7,473 SY $9,191.38
Calico Ct 0.25 Possum Hill Rd - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 4,167 SY $5,125.00
Christine Dr 0.21 Lucy Creek Dr - Patricia Ct. Asphalt Rejuvenator 7,661 SY $9,423.44
Clydesdale cir 1.00 Forest Fields Dr Asphalt Rejuvenator 13,110 SY $16,124.75
David Green 0.40 Caper Island Rd both ways to Terminus Titanium Dioxide 5,133 SY $11,805.90
Devon Ct 0.03 Bridgewater Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 574 SY $706.57
Ernest Dr 1.23 Club Bridge Dr - Ball Park Rd Asphalt Rejuvenator 15,385 SY $18,923.96
Fiddler Dr 0.88 Brickyard Point Rd S - middle Rd Asphalt Rejuvenator 11,326 SY $13,931.25
H E Cracken 1.00 Buckwalter - Buckwalter Asphalt Rejuvenator 20,448 SY $25,151.04
Harrison Island Rd 0.60 Pinckey Col. Rd - Terminus Titanium Dioxide 9,489 SY $21,824.70
Heartstone Cir 0.67 Willowtrace Ln -Willowtrace Ln Asphalt Rejuvenator 8,824 SY $10,853.93
Hewlett Rd 0.70 Sams Point Rd - Lucy Creek Dr Asphalt Rejuvenator 6,356 SY $7,817.88
Hunter Rd 0.68 Cardinal Rd - Beach City Rd Asphalt Rejuvenator 9,443 SY $11,614.48
Huyde Park Cir 0.13 Bridgewater Dr -Bridewater Dr. Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,679 SY $2,065.58
Indigo Woods Ct 0.07 Prince William Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,190 SY $1,464.25
Island West Park 0.33 Fording Island Rd - Island West Dr Asphalt Rejuvenator 6,322 SY $7,776.33
Juniper Ln 0.06 Baywood Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 973 SY $1,196.65
Kemmerlin Ln 0.20 Lady's Island Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 4,426 SY $5,444.39
Kenton Ct 0.04 Bridgewater Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 768 SY $944.09
Leg O Mutton Rd 0.70 Marshland to Indigo Run traffic Cir not circle Asphalt Rejuvenator 11,772 SY $14,479.83
Lilac Ln 0.11 Baywood Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 642 SY $789.93
Malphrus Rd 1.70 Fording Island - Foreman Hill Asphalt Rejuvenator 18,889 SY $23,233.33
Needles Rd 0.20 Cherokee Farms Rd - Joe Frazier Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,841 SY $2,264.43
New Orleans Rd 0.75 WM Hilton Pkwy - Pope Ave Asphalt Rejuvenator 14,292 SY $17,579.16
Northridge Dr 0.30 Palmetto Pkwy - US 278 Bus Asphalt Rejuvenator 4,858 SY $5,975.61
Orange Ct 0.03 Prince William Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 803 SY $987.28
Pelican  Cir 0.73 Mroz Rd - Mroz Rd Asphalt Rejuvenator 9,255 SY $11,383.24
Planters Cir 0.67 Bluff Rd - Bluff Rd Asphalt Rejuvenator 9,669 SY $11,893.28
Privet Ln 0.32 Baywood Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,036 SY $1,274.83
Southern Magnolia De 0.70 SC 802 - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 11,919 SY $14,660.51
Starfish Dr 0.06 Folly Field - Sand Dollar Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,820 SY $2,238.60
Summer Dr 0.04 Oakmont Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 475 SY $584.25
Surf Watch Way 0.05 Burkes Beach Rd - Gate Asphalt Rejuvenator 800 SY $984.00
Tanglewood Dr 0.45 Mink Point Blvd - Heron Way Asphalt Rejuvenator 5,659 SY $6,960.43
Toyota Dr 0.13 Hampton Pkwy - Island West Park Asphalt Rejuvenator 4,368 SY $5,372.91
Westfield Ct 0.9 Bridgewater Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,120 SY $1,377.60
WexfoRd Dr 0.7 Wm Hilton Pkwy to Traffic Circle Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,613 SY $1,983.85
Wickecliff  Pl 0.1 Palomino Dr - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 741 SY $911.43
Wintergreen Dr 0.65 Mint Farm Dr-Mint Farm Dr Asphalt Rejuvenator 7,844 SY $9,648.39
Woodcroft Ct 0.8 Bridegwater Drive - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 1,092 SY $1,343.16
Wright Pl. 0.3 Squire Pope Rd - Terminus Asphalt Rejuvenator 3,208 SY $3,946.25

24.06 Grand Total 304,455 $400,057.07

1

Schedule of Prices
Bidder: Pavement Technology, Inc. Date: 12/19/24

Beaufort County Roads - Year 8 - Asphalt Rejuvenator

ASPHALT REJUVENATOR

757

Item 8.



758

Item 8.



  
  

1134 Manor St. • Oildale, CA 93308 / P.O. Box 5877 • Bakersfield, CA 93388  

Phone 661.337.9979 – Email: brettt@tricorrefining.com 

  

December 9, 2024 

  

Mr. Rusty Bratz 

Construction Manager 

Beaufort County Engineer 

104 Industrial Village Rd.  Bldg 3 

Beaufort, SC  29906 

 

 

 
  

  

This letter will confirm that Pavement Technology, Inc. with business address location at 24144 Detroit 

Road, Westlake, Ohio 44145 is the approved sole source applicator of Reclamite® asphalt rejuvenator and 

CRF Emulsion in the State of South Carolina.  D&D Emulsions, Inc., Mansfield, Ohio is the approved and 

authorized manufacturer of Reclamite® by Tricor Refining, LLC servicing your market area. Through D&D 

Emulsions, Inc. Tricor Refining, LLC supplies finished emulsion for application by Pavement Technology, 

Inc. There is not another source for Reclamite®or CRF to be supplied into South Carolina.  

  

Tricor Refining, LLC maintains an authorized manufacturing network in North America and through this 

we supply our approved product applicators. The reason for this is to control the emulsion quality and 

correct product application in each region. Pavement Technology, Inc. maintains and operates several 

crews which only apply Reclamite® asphalt rejuvenator.  

  

Please let me know if you need further information or have other questions.  

  

Respectfully,  

 

 

 
 

Brett Towns 

Tricor Refining, LLC  

Specialty Products Sales 
Manager 

 Cell: 530-491-8251 

brettt@tricorrefining.com  

759

Item 8.



��������	
����	
��
�����������������
���
������
�
��	����	�
����������	������
����
���	����	��
�	�����
����	���
�	������������
�����������������������������
��
�
��������	����	�����������
�����������������������������	�
��
��	��
����� ����������	������
����������	���
�	���
��
��	������������
������
������������������	��
����������������������������������	
��������������	
��	������������������	�����������
��������	
��
�!��	�����
�������	
��	��
��������������	
��
�������
�	����
����
������������	����������	
��
���	��
������	
�"��
��	�����������	
��
�"�������#�����������������	
������������
�������
������	���$�
������	��������	���������������
��
%���������&�� ������	�����	���������	����������'��(����	��
��	����
����
���������"�������������
����	
���)����'��	���������������*��������	�������+��
�"��������������	�
����������	�����
�������	������%�����	����������
��	�����'��������	
������������������$������'��	���������	
�	�	������
�������&,-(�##�&(.&,�#����(./&-�#�����������������	
 ������	
�����	����������������
��	���0���
������"�������������������������
����������	������������������	�
���������� ����������	������������	��������������������0���
�����
���������	�������������������	�
�����������	'���������
����������	������
�����+��
��������������
�����
������	���0���
��	�������������	�
�������
��	���&��1�$������
������������	�����������������(���������������$������������$���������������������
���	������������
���*���������
�������
��	���"�����"���
�������������	��
�	����	������2�����
�����
������	�����
���������/���������	�������������������������	������	������
�
��	�������3��4�����	���	��������5��6
���
����	�����	�����������
������
���	��������-������
�����	
���	���������	����������
��	����	���������,��7�������
������
����������
���"�������$��������	���������&8��9��������	������
�������&&���
����������������������������������	��	
��������������&,-(�##�&(.&2�9���:���(888.&�#�&��&.&.8.(888�#����(./&2�;0���
��	���������������&(��<����#�����������������
���������������
������	
������	��
�
�������	
�����	�����&*��7�0���1�	���	�=�
���1�	��	�������
�4��	
�	�	���:�
��
��
�	��	���	���
������
��	����
�����������	��
����������	������
��������$������
���>��
����
����$�������	����������	
����������������������������	�
��
��	��
�������	�
�����0��
���
���
�
��
�����	�
��	�	��������	
������	��	
'����
���������
��	�����
��
��	��������
�'�����
�������
����������������
������	������	����������
��
�����������	����������	
�����������������
������������
�
��	����������
��������	���
���������
�	����������

�	���
���	�
��	����
�����������
��������	����	�����
��������
��	����
�����
��������	
��
������������	��������	�
�����	
��
"�����������	�������
����������������������������	����������	
����������������	����������
���
�
�����	
��
�!��	�����
�������	
��	��
�������
�����	
��
�������
�	�����
����
������������	���
����	
��
���	��
������	
�"��
��	�	��������
�����	
��
�"��������&,-(�##�&(.(8�#����(./&,�;����	����������	
�
760

Item 8.



���������	
��������������������� ���������
�������
����������� �    �!�!  ���������
"���#$%��&
#�'$������������
�(
)���
��
*��+���,�-�./$0�1�
2345$/1
��6%7��$18�9:�;��
<=�
�=�
����
��
���+���
����
(��
>���
���������?�2345$/1
��6%7��$18�
�3
15�
8�����$/
@$/1���
-�4/$.�0��1
A�.5�8/8�'
B@-AC
D8�
��318����
$�E
4��3��7���
15�
E%�$F�/�1'
8D
$345$/1
18
�G1��E
15�
/�D�
8D
15�
�8$EH���������
I�����
J��,�K$7�0��1
A�.5�8/8�'
L�.H���������
I�����
�������,���M��
N�1�8�1
-E
O�31/$P�
Q5�8
��M�!���������
I�����
R=���
J��S��,�T  �����U� V ���������
I�����
9��;
�������,�0$�/18WP58/18�X4$7�1�.5��.H.80Y>��
�(
*��+���
���������
ZR;���
�=����
���[�\8�31�%.1�8� ]��7�.� ]%44/'̂_88E����=�����àbcc
babd
efghijkl
mjhnlo
pkjqjrgstqui���������L1
�3
�81
4833�F/�
18
8F1$��
.804�1�1�8�H
A5���
�3
8�/'
8��
38%�.�
$7$�/$F/�
D8�
15�
3%44/'v
3��7�.�v
8�.8�31�%.1�8�
�1�0H
761

Item 8.



��������	��
������������	������
����
����������
�������������
�
�������������������������������	���������������

������	�����������������������������
��������������������������	����� �����!��"������������#	�������	�������$�������������$��������������������������������$���%	���������������	��������������	�����������
����������������&���
���������'������������������������	�������������	����������
����&���
���������'�����������������������������������������������������	�������������������
�������������	�����	��������(�������	�����
����������������	���	����������������������������	��������	��������������	�%	�����)��	�������	�����"��������������������������$*+,-./-�0-/1234-�35�0-6.3,�67-�8.1692/�2-:;3235<�673/�=;217./-�69�4-�032-16-0�69�67-�/9,-�/9;21->?"���
��������������������������@�������A����
����������������������������(��B����������B�C������������B�D�	����������B�E�����B�F�����B�G�������B�G�����B�"����������B�H���������I����H����� (�����������J
��	����	�����$�����'�
������������������
�������������������
����B������'����$�����������������	����������	������������	����K������������������������������������*L+,-./-�0-/1234-�M7.6�967-2�42.50/�M-2-�-N.O35-0�.50�M7P�M-2-�596�/;36.4,-�892�;/-�4P�67-�19;56P>?��������������D�	����������
� (�������������$����������������������������
�������������������
����������'�����$�������������������������
�����������������������	����K������������������������������������*L+,-./-�0-/1234-�M7.6�967-2�Q-5092/�M-2-�1956.16-0�.50�M7P�M-2-�596�/;36.4,-�892�;/-�4P�67-�19;56P>?C��(�����������������$������������������������������������������������������������

762

Item 8.



� ��������	
������ �	�����
���� ��������������������� �� �	������!���  	"�� #$%&'(�#')$* +$*�,-(�.-./�,-0-1�234567�8797:;7<�:=�>?@9A5B:=C�47D5@6E7=6F������������� 
����������G�	HI����J��� �	������K"	�H"� L�������87;:7M7<�NOF PI"��������� �����������������Q���R7@:S7<�6A56�6A:B�:B�6A7�T=UO�BT?@97FV�� W"XTEE7=6BFY*Z)�[&*\]'�Ẑ_&*̀&�a]�b'][̂\&�aĉ �̀a)b&�]d�']$\�̀&'[̂_&�̂*�efg
>?@9A5B:=C�4:@796T@�479:B:T=F�  	"�� ����  	"�� PI"��������� �����������������Q���hBBT9:567<�87i?:B:6:T=�j?EN7@F hBBT9:567<�XT=6@596�j?EN7@F

763

Item 8.



� ����������	
���� �������������� ������������������� 

764

Item 8.


	Top
	Item 1.	CALL TO ORDER
	Item 2.	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION
	Item 3.	FOIA
	Item 4.	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	12.09.24 County Council Meeting Minutes Document

	Item 6.	ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
	Item 7.	CITIZEN COMMENTS
	01.27.2025 Council CC
	01.27.2025 Michael Hubbard CC

	Item 8.	LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS
	Item 9.	APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA
	Item 10.	THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE (CDC): SECTION A.6.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE COMMUNITY PRESERVATION DISTRICT (DCP) AND SECTION A.7.40 (PERMITTED ACTIVITIES) TO ALLOW LODGING: SHORT-TERM HOUSING RENTAL (STHR) IN DALE MIXED USE DISTRICT (DMU)
	AIS
	Memo Updated
	Ordinance

	Item 13.	SECOND READING APPROVAL OF PLACING LAND PURCHASED BY PROJECT MICRO INTO AN EXISTING MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL PARK – Project Micro
	AIS BCEDC Project Micro Ord-MCIP 12-17
	Ordinance to Approve Beaufort-Jasper MCIP Agreement - Beaufort County (Beaufort) 9550256.1
	MCIP Agreement (Beaufort-Jasper) - Project Micro 9550282.1

	Item 15.	FIRST READING APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO ORDINACE 2024/36, CONVEYING PROPERTY TO BEAUFORT MEMORIAL HOSPITAL FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF AFFORBABLE HOUSING AND MEDICAL OFFICES IN BLUFFTON, SC. LOCATED AT 333 & 335 BUCKWALTER PARKWAY.
	AIS Amendment to Ordinance 2024-36 conveying property known as 333-335 Buckwalter Pkwy for affordable housing development
	Draft Amended Ordinance Buckwatler to BMH 1-7-25

	Item 18.	RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE DOCUMENTS NECESSARY AND TO PROVIDE FUNDS TO CONTRIBUTE TO THE PROCUREMENT OF FEE SIMPLE REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON HILTON HEAD ISLAND, KNOWN AS THE JONESVILLE ROAD TRACT (PIN# R510 007 000 0091 0000), NOT TO EXCEED THE APPRAISED VALUE OF THE PROPERTY ($2,187,000)
	AIS GREENSPACE 1
	Final Resolution - Jonesville Tract
	PDF_Jonesville Road Tract_Map

	Item 23.	ADJOURNMENT
	Item 1.	Copy of JF Public Works - RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A TASK ORDER TO J.H. HIERS, INC OF BEAUFORT, SC FOR HICKORY HILL DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT ($303,831.00)
	CORRECTED AIS_HICKORY HILL TASK ORDER CONTRACT
	Hickory Hill Drainage Improvements BCSW SOW Price Sheet - JH Hiers fee
	Internal Estimate - Hickory Hill Drainage Improvements
	Hickory Hill Drainage Improvements
	Hickory Hill

	Item 2.	Copy of JF Public Works -TASK ORDER TO J.H. HIERS, INC OF BEAUFORT, SC FOR TUXEDO PARK DETENTION POND REHABILITATION PROJECT ($474,590.88)
	AIS_TUXEDO PARK TASK ORDER CONTRACT
	Tuxedo Park Pond Restoration Proposal
	Preliminary Bid Tab - Tuxedo Park ReBidSigned
	Preliminary Bid Tab - Tuxedo Park
	Tuxedo Park Pond
	Tuxedo Park

	Item 3.	Copy of RG CIP - Contract Award to Mitchell Brothers Inc for IFB # 111924 Construction / Renovation of the Administration Building and County Council Chambers ($952,569.36)
	AIS Mitchell Brothers Inc for IFB # 111924 Construction & Renovation of the Administration Bldg & Council Chambers revised
	IFB Scope Page
	Evaluation Tabulation IFB#111924
	21006_Drawings_62124 (2)
	BCC-3001_-_Lectern_-_8-20-2024 (1)
	Admin Bldg Construction-Renovation Fair and Reasonable
	Budget Confirmation 100924

	Item 4.	Copy of EB CIP -Contract Award to Beaufort Construction of SC, LLC for IFB#101824 Bluffton Community Center Renovation
	AIS-Beaufort Construction of SC LLC for IFB#101824 Bluffton Community Center Renovation revised
	Evaluation Tabulation
	Scope of Work  Bluffton Community Center
	Bluffton_Rec_Center_Permit_Bid_Set_(1)_(1)

	Item 5.	Copy of EB CIP -Contract Award to Mitchell Brothers Construction, Inc. for IFB #101724, Booker T. Washington Community Center Renovation.
	AIS-Mitchell Brothers Construction Inc. for IFB #101724 Booker T. Washington Community Center Renovation revised
	Scope of Work Brooker T Washington
	Evaluation Tabulation (5)
	Booker_T_Washington_Permit_Bid_Set_(1)

	Item 6.	Copy of HA CIP - Contract Award to Fraser Construction and Court Atkins Group for IFB #061824 Station 39 ($361,389.46) for the design portion of this Design/Build project
	AIS-Fraser Construction and Court Atkins Group for IFB #061824 Station 39 revised
	Design-Build Budget  10.02.24 updated SOV 10.22.24
	Evaluation Summary Score Sheet Round 1
	Evaluation Summary Score Sheet Round 2
	RFQ Bluffton Fire Station 39

	Item 7.	Copy of HA CIP - Contract Award to C.E. Bourne & Co Inc for IFB #050824 - Detention Center Stucco Repair and Painting ($2,415,078.00)
	AIS C.E. Bourne  Co Inc for IFB #050824 - Detention Center Stucco Repair and Painting revised
	IFB Scope Page
	Preliminary Bid Tab
	C.E. Bourne Schedule of Values
	DETCEN_1

	Item 8.	Copy of BB Engineering - contract for Year 8 Rejuvenator to Pavement Technology Inc. ($440,062.77)
	year 8 rejuvenator AIS
	10288 2025 Beaufort County Proposal
	Rejuvenator Non Competitive

	Bottom

